JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting

Impact Factor (2023): 2.1 Volume 5 (2022), Issue 1 ISSN 2561-6722 Editor in Chief: Sherif Badawy, MS, MD, MBA

Contents

Original Papers

RenderX

Proxy Information Seeking by Users of a Parenting Information Website: Quantitative Observational Study (e32406)	
Reem El Sherif, Pierre Pluye, Tibor Schuster, Roland Grad.	4
Online-Delivered Over Staff-Delivered Parenting Intervention for Young Children With Disruptive Behavior Problems: Cost-Minimization Analysis (e30795)	
Justin Ingels, Phaedra Corso, Ronald Prinz, Carol Metzler, Matthew Sanders.	17
Assessment of the Readability of Web-Based Patient Education Material From Major Canadian Pediatric Associations: Cross-sectional Study (e31820)	27
	21
Locating Youth Exposed to Parental Justice Involvement in the Electronic Health Record: Development of a Natural Language Processing Model (e33614)	
Samantha Boch, Syed-Amad Hussain, Sven Bambach, Cameron DeShetler, Deena Chisolm, Simon Linwood	37
Effectiveness of Pediatric Teleconsultation to Prevent Skin Conditions in Infants and Reduce Parenting Stress in Mothers: Randomized Controlled Trial (e27615)	
Tomohisa Ando, Rintaro Mori, Kenji Takehara, Mari Asukata, Shuichi Ito, Akira Oka.	63
Facebook Support Groups for Pediatric Rare Diseases: Cross-Sectional Study to Investigate Opportunities, Limitations, and Privacy Concerns (e31411)	
Sarah Titgemeyer, Christian Schaaf.	76
Refinement of a Parent–Child Shared Asthma Management Mobile Health App: Human-Centered Design Study (e34117)	
Jennifer Sonney, Emily Cho, Qiming Zheng, Julie Kientz.	86
Multimedia Knowledge Translation Tools for Parents About Childhood Heart Failure: Environmental Scan (e34166)	
Chentel Cunningham, Hyelin Sung, James Benoit, Jennifer Conway, Shannon Scott.	102
Considerations for a Social Media Physical Activity Program: Exploratory Study (e26008) Katherine Scott-Andrews, Annalise Lane, Sarah Rock, Leah Robinson.	111
Community Mental Health Clinicians' Perspectives on Telehealth During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Mixed Methods Study (e29250)	
Simone Schriger, Melanie Klein, Briana Last, Sara Fernandez-Marcote, Natalie Dallard, Bryanna Jones, Rinad Beidas.	124

JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting 2022 | vol. 5 | iss. 1 | p.1

Gender Differences and Associated Factors Influencing Problem Gambling in Adolescents in Sweden: Cross-sectional Investigation (e35207)	
Emma Claesdotter-Knutsson, Frida André, Maria Fridh, Carl Delfin, Anders Håkansson, Martin Lindström.	139
Immersive Reality Experience Technology for Reducing Social Isolation and Improving Social Connectedness and Well-being of Children and Young People Who Are Hospitalized: Open Trial (e29164) Hiran Thabrew, Laura Chubb, Harshali Kumar, Christa Fouché	150
	100
The Development of an mHealth Tool for Children With Long-term Illness to Enable Person-Centered Communication: User-Centered Design Approach (e30364)	
Angelica Wiljén, John Chaplin, Vanessa Crine, William Jobe, Ensa Johnson, Katarina Karlsson, Tomas Lindroth, Anneli Schwarz, Margaretha Stenmarker, Gunilla Thunberg, Joakim Öhlén, Stefan Nilsson.	163
A Digital Health Program Targeting Physical Activity Among Adolescents With Overweight or Obesity: Open Trial (e32420)	
Caroline Cummings, Rebecca Crochiere, Amy Lansing, Riya Patel, Catherine Stanger.	179
Parents' Experience With a Mobile Health Intervention to Influence Human Papillomavirus Vaccination Decision Making: Mixed Methods Study (e30340)	
Elisabeth Becker, Ross Shegog, Lara Savas, Erica Frost, Sharon Coan, C Healy, Stanley Spinner, Sally Vernon.	191
Social Media–Driven Routes to Positive Mental Health Among Youth: Qualitative Enquiry and Concept Mapping Study (e32758)	
Janhavi Vaingankar, Rob van Dam, Ellaisha Samari, Sherilyn Chang, Esmond Seow, Yi Chua, Nan Luo, Swapna Verma, Mythily Subramaniam. 2 0 4	
COVID-19 and Pregnancy: Citation Network Analysis and Evidence Synthesis (e29189)	
Rebeca Ruiz-Roman, Clara Martinez-Perez, Inés Gil Prados, Ignacio Cristóbal, Miguel Sánchez-Tena.	237
Using a Patient Portal to Increase Enrollment in a Newborn Screening Research Study: Observational Study (e30941)	
Lisa Gehtland, Ryan Paquin, Sara Andrews, Adam Lee, Angela Gwaltney, Martin Duparc, Emily Pfaff, Donald Bailey Jr.	252
Listening to Stakeholders Involved in Speech-Language Therapy for Children With Communication Disorders: Content Analysis of Apple App Store Reviews (e28661)	
Yao Du, Sarah Choe, Jennifer Vega, Yusa Liu, Adrienne Trujillo.	266
Using Wearable Cameras to Categorize the Type and Context of Screen-Based Behaviors Among Adolescents: Observational Study (e28208)	
George Thomas, Jason Bennie, Katrien De Cocker, Fitria Dwi Andriyani, Bridget Booker, Stuart Biddle.	282
An Objective System for Quantitative Assessment of Television Viewing Among Children (Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television): System Development Study (e33569)	
Anil Vadathya, Salma Musaad, Alicia Beltran, Oriana Perez, Leo Meister, Tom Baranowski, Sheryl Hughes, Jason Mendoza, Ashutosh Sabharwal, Ashok Veeraraghavan, Teresia O'Connor.	299
Usability Testing of a Patient-Centered Mobile Health App for Supporting and Guiding the Pediatric Emergency Department Patient Journey: Mixed Methods Study (e25540)	
Jessica Rochat, Frédéric Ehrler, Johan Siebert, Arnaud Ricci, Victor Garretas Ruiz, Christian Lovis.	320
Health Care Professional and Caregiver Attitudes Toward and Usage of Medical Podcasting: Questionnaire Study (e29857)	
Clement Lee, Melissa Zhou, Evelyn Wang, Matthew Huber, Katie Lockwood, Joanna Parga.	344

XSL•FO RenderX

Pediatric Tele–Home Care Compared to Usual Care: Cost-Minimization Analysis (e31628)	
Cristina Adroher Mas, Candela Esposito Català, Astrid Batlle Boada, Ricard Casadevall Llandrich, Marta Millet Elizalde, Juan García García, Manel del Castillo Rey, Francesc García Cuyàs, Miquel Pons Serra, Francesc López Seguí	351
Changes in Use of a Leisure Activity Mobile App for Children With Disabilities During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Retrospective Study (e32274)	
Paul Yoo, Mehrnoosh Movahed, Ishana Rue, Carlos Santos, Annette Majnemer, Keiko Shikako.	358
Evidence-Based Behavioral Strategies in Smartphone Apps for Children's Sleep: Content Analysis (e32129)	
Stacey Simon, Jill Kaar, Ishaah Talker, Jennifer Reich.	368
Navigating the Online World of Lifestyle Health Information: Qualitative Study With Adolescents (e35165)	
Rebecca Raeside, Si Jia, Julie Redfern, Stephanie Partridge	377

Reviews

Effectiveness of Mobile Apps in Promoting Healthy Behavior Changes and Preventing Obesity in Children: Systematic Review (e34967) Kiana Yau, Tricia Tang, Matthias Görges, Susan Pinkney, Annie Kim, Angela Kalia, Shazhan Amed	47
Understanding Information Needs and Barriers to Accessing Health Information Across All Stages of Pregnancy: Systematic Review (e32235) Yu Lu, Laura Barrett, Rebecca Lin, Muhammad Amith, Cui Tao, Zhe He.	218



Proxy Information Seeking by Users of a Parenting Information Website: Quantitative Observational Study

Reem El Sherif¹, MBChB, MSc; Pierre Pluye¹, MD, PhD; Tibor Schuster¹, PhD; Roland Grad¹, MD, MSc Department of Family Medicine, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

Corresponding Author: Reem El Sherif, MBChB, MSc Department of Family Medicine McGill University 5858 Ch. de la Côte-des-Neiges, Suite 300 Montreal, QC, H3S 1Z1 Canada Phone: 1 5143987375 Email: reem.elsherif@mail.mcgill.ca

Abstract

Background: One of the largest groups of consumers who seek health information on the internet are parents of young children, as well as people in their social circle. The concept of proxy seeking (on behalf of others) has been explored in the literature, yet little is known about the outcomes.

Objective: The main aim of this study was to describe consumer health information outcomes reported by proxy seekers using a parenting website.

Methods: We conducted a 2-year quantitative observational study. Participants were parents of 0- to 8-year-old children and members of their entourage in Canada who had accessed *Naître et Grandir* through the website or through a weekly newsletter. For each *Naître et Grandir* webpage, participants' perceptions regarding the outcomes of seeking and using specific webpages were gathered using a content-validated Information Assessment Method questionnaire. We compared the outcomes reported by parents with those reported by members of their entourage after consulting a parenting information website and explored if the method of accessing the information by the proxy seekers (website or weekly newsletter) changed the outcomes reported. For key primary survey items, the chi-square test was conducted, and differences in relative frequencies of responses were computed along with confidence intervals.

Results: A total of 51,325 completed questionnaires were included in the analysis, pertaining to 1079 *Naître et Grandir* webpages (mean 48; range 1-637). Compared to parents, individuals in the entourage are more likely to report using the information in discussion with others (mean difference 0.166, 95% CI 0.155-0.176). Parents, on the other hand, were more likely than the entourage to report using the information to better understand (mean difference 0.084, 95% CI 0.073-0.094), to decide to do something (mean difference 0.156, 95% CI 0.146-0.166), or to do something in a different manner (mean difference 0.052, 95% CI 0.042-0.061). In addition, results suggest that the differences in perceived benefits of parenting information by the entourage depend on how they access the information. Respondents who were actively seeking the information (through the website) were more likely to report that the information would help them be less worried (mean difference 0.047; 95% CI 0.024-0.069), handle a problem (mean difference 0.083; 95% CI 0.062-0.104), and decide what to do with someone else (mean difference 0.040, 95% CI 0.020-0.058). Respondents who passively acquired the information (through the newsletter) were more likely to report that the information of the information (through the newsletter) were more likely to report that the information well-being of a child (mean difference 0.090; 95% CI 0.067-0.112).

Conclusions: By better understanding how consumers and their entourages use information, information providers can adapt information to meet both individual and group needs, and health care practitioners can target patients' entourages with web-based health information resources for dissemination and use.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e32406) doi:10.2196/32406

KEYWORDS

RenderX

consumer health information; information seeking behavior; child development; child health; information outcomes; health information; digital health; parenting; online information

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32406

Introduction

Background

In 2017, almost all (99.0%) Canadian households had fixed broadband internet access [1], and 75% to 96% of Canadians aged 15 to 64 years used the internet on a daily basis [2]. This is in line with other Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) countries, in which more than 80% of households have access to high-speed internet [3]. In these countries, the proportion of adults seeking consumer health information on the internet has more than doubled between 2008 and 2017 [4]. The internet is a frequently accessed platform for finding consumer health information, in addition to common health information sources such as health care professionals or members of one's social circle, and other sources such as books and television [5,6]. The use of trustworthy consumer health information from the internet can improve quality of life and is generally associated with increased empowerment of consumers and their families and with improved health outcomes [6-8].

There are, however, still barriers to benefitting from consumer health information from the internet. These include illness challenges, such as someone being too physically or mentally incapacitated to start a search for themselves. A second barrier may be lower eHealth literacy, meaning a consumer's ability to seek, find, understand, and appraise consumer health information from the internet and apply the knowledge gained to addressing health issues. At least one-third of the population of 18 OECD countries may have low health literacy [9]. Moreover, when faced with a stressful situation, consumers may experience transitory low literacy level, as the interdependence between information and emotion is well established in the literature [10]. Finally, there are negative outcomes (or tensions) reported by users seeking consumer health information from the internet and health care practitioners.

Our recent qualitative study [11] described personal tensions, such as increased anxiety and interpersonal tensions between patients and physicians as a result of discussing consumer health information from the internet, and service-related tensions, such as postponing a clinical visit [11]. One strategy to reduce these tensions is discussing the information with someone in one's social circle [11]. Approximately 90% of individuals in OECD countries report having access to social support (eg, relatives or friends) who can help them in times of need [12]. Access to social support is positively linked to internet access and use because these providers of support are internet users themselves and have relevant support and awareness [13]. Proxy consumer health information seeking on the internet is a common phenomenon: almost two-thirds of consumer health information seekers have reported searching on behalf of someone else to provide informational social support [14-16]. This proxy consumer health information seeking on the internet may overcome previously mentioned barriers. This is especially true if the support provider has higher eHealth literacy than the receiver: they are thus better able to explain, contextualize, or validate the information [17,18]. However, while there are several studies [19-21] that explored behavior related to proxy

consumer health information seeking on the internet, few explored how the seeker uses the information with others, and what outcomes they report as a result of this use.

Parents and Proxy Health Information–Seeking Behavior and Outcomes

One of the largest groups of consumers of web health information consumers is parents of young children. A recent systematic review [22] and empirical studies [23,24] on how parents find, use, and evaluate consumer health information from the internet for their children reported that parents worldwide are heavy users across diverse circumstances. Parents find the information themselves or reach out to their social circle (or entourage) for tailored advice, emotional support, and culturally relevant parenting information [25]. A 2015 survey, conducted in Quebec, of a representative sample of 23,693 parents of preschool children showed that only 1.5% of parents do not know where to find information on the internet about children, either directly or mediated by someone else [26] as a proxy—"seeking information in a nonprofessional or informal capacity on behalf (or because) of others without necessarily being asked to do so [27]."

Previous work [28] shows that the use of high-quality parenting consumer health information from the internet by mothers can lead to benefits such as decreased worries and increased self-confidence in decision-making, regardless of socioeconomic status [28]. However, little is known about proxy information seeking by the entourage of parents. The main objective of this study was to explore these outcomes as reported by users of a parenting information website. A secondary objective was to explore if the method of obtaining the information influences the reported outcomes of proxy information seeking on the internet.

Methods

Design

We conducted a 2-year quantitative observational study. Ethical approval was obtained from the institutional review board of the Faculty of Medicine, McGill University, prior to the start of data collection. We used the STROBE (Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology) checklist [29].

Consumer Health Information From the Internet Outcomes

A conceptual framework (Figure 1) was adapted from [30]. There are 4 types of influencing factors: individual characteristics (eg, age and income), sociotechnical factors (eg, eHealth literacy and social support), patient–professional relationships, and education–health–social resources. Together, these factors determine the extent to which information is accessed and how it is used by patients. An information need is a condition in which "certain information contributes to the achievement of a genuine or legitimate information purpose [31]." These needs may be explicitly stated or implicitly understood based on an individual's health status or situation [31]. Seeking consumer health information on the internet is

XSL•FO

purposive and active searching for information as a consequence of an information need or to satisfy a goal [32]. Finally, there are 4 individual levels of web-based consumer health information-seeking outcomes: situational relevance, cognitive impact, and use of information, and health and health care-related outcomes.





Naître et Grandir

The *Naître et Grandir* website provides parents with support in raising their children, from the time they are conceived until they are 8 years old.

Naître et Grandir is funded by the Lucie and André Chagnon Foundation, a philanthropic organization that seeks to contribute to the prevention of poverty through the creation of conditions and environments that are favorable to the educational success of children, specifically, those from socially vulnerable families and communities. Low health literacy levels in parents are detrimental to child health education, healthy behaviors, health, and medication, thus Naître et Grandir is an important resource for French-speaking parents and their entourage [33]. In addition to accessing the website directly, Naître et Grandir readers can sign up to receive a weekly newsletter containing links to Naître et Grandir webpages tailored to their child's age. Naître et Grandir provides free parenting information content produced using an expert-based process and an editorial process that caters to lower health literacy levels (Grade 8 reading levels) with additional audio and video formats [28].

Since 2014, our team at McGill University and *Naître et Grandir* have worked in partnership to implement the Information Assessment Method questionnaire for evaluating the pages of parenting information. In addition, *Naître et Grandir* has been able to improve informational content based on the comments provided by Information Assessment Method users, which are coded by 2 editors in a web-based system. This is referred to as 2-way knowledge translation [34].

Information Assessment Method

The framework is operationalized in the Information Assessment Method questionnaire used to evaluate health information outcomes from the viewpoint of information users (clinicians, managers, patients and public) [35]. The Information Assessment Method questionnaire has been content validated for different audiences using participatory mixed methods (integrating quantitative survey data with qualitative insights [36]). It has been implemented by different information providers to allow information users to rate specific health information content on the internet (eg, a webpage), stimulate their reflection, and collect feedback [35]. Consequently, responses and comments can be used by information providers to improve content.

The validity of the Information Assessment Method has been assessed on 2 occasions: It was first validated specifically for parents in 2015 using quantitative data (raters' responses) and qualitative data (raters' comments and qualitative interviews [37]. It was then validated again in 2019 specifically for parents of lower socioeconomic status using qualitative data from interviews with low-socioeconomic status parents used in this study [28] and was validated in French (as it is implemented with *Naître et Grandir*) and underwent a transcultural adaptation into English (Multimedia Appendix 1). When *Naître et Grandir* readers land on a webpage corresponding to a specific topic (directly or through the newsletter link), a lateral tab appears inviting them to complete a survey (Figure 2).

Figure 2. Screenshot from a Naître et Grandir page.



Study Participants and Data Collection

Data collection was co-constructed with *Naître et Grandir* in the course of the ongoing partnership. The editors of *Naître et Grandir* provided feedback on the questionnaire; however, they did not influence the data analysis and interpretation.

Participants in this study were *Naître et Grandir* readers in Canada and 4 other OECD countries with francophone populations (France, Belgium, Switzerland, and Luxembourg) that have similar health and social systems and comparable average household incomes, internet access, and reported social support levels [12].

Each participant had arrived at a specific Naître et Grandir webpage (either directly through the website), had clicked on the lateral tab, and had completed the Information Assessment Method questionnaire asking them to evaluate that specific Naître et Grandir webpage during the study period (April 13, 2019 to March 30, 2021). All completed questionnaires were included in the analysis. Among them, participants were divided into 2 group-self-identified parents of 0- to 8-year-old children or an entourage member (grandparent, family member, friend, neighbor, or professional working with children). A second analysis was conducted in the entourage group between those who had accessed the Naître et Grandir webpage and Information Assessment Method questionnaire through the weekly newsletter and those who had landed directly on the Naître et Grandir website. Variables included in the analysis correspond to the Information Assessment Method questions. No incentive was provided to participate.

Statistical Analysis

Comparisons (1) between parents and entourage Information Assessment Method responses and (2) between newsletter and website Information Assessment Method responses from entourage were assessed using frequency analyses. Difference in proportions with 95% confidence intervals were calculated [38,39]. To take multiple comparisons into account and retain a global Type I error level of 5%, confidence levels were corrected using Bonferroni adjustment. In addition, the Pearson chi-square test was used to determine whether the differences between 2 groups of participants were statistically significant. Test results were deemed statistically significant when Pvalues<.001. All statistical analyses were completed using SAS software (version 9.4; SAS Institute).

Hypotheses

Based on our previous work exploring information outcomes, we hypothesized that, when the information is considered relevant and easy to understand, the entourage would be more likely to report discussing the information with others. We also hypothesized that, similar to previous work on parents' responses, there would be a difference in entourage responses based on mode of access.

Results

All Respondents

Over the 2-year study period, 69,260 Information Assessment Method questionnaires were completed. Questionnaires completed by participants outside the countries of interest in this study and by participants who did not identify as parents or entourage members were excluded (Figure 3). In total, 51,325

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32406
```

completed Information Assessment Method questionnaires were included in the analysis, pertaining to 1079 *Naître et Grandir* webpages (mean 48; range 1-637). Most respondents were in Canada (29,972/51,325, 58.4%) and France (18,461/51,325, 36%) (Figure 4). Parents comprised 79.2% (40,628/51,325) of

participants, and grandparents were the most common entourage members (6309/51,325, 12.3%), followed by professionals, family, and friends (4388/51,325, 8.5%). The response rates of parents and entourage exhibited similar patterns (Figure 5).

Figure 3. Information Assessment Method (IAM) questionnaires included in the analysis.



Figure 4. Respondent distribution by country.





Figure 5. Response rate by month.



Comparing Parents and Entourage

Of the 51,325 Information Assessment Method questionnaires, 40,628 (79.2%) were completed by parents and 10,697 (20.8%) were completed by entourage members.

Parents were more likely to report using parenting information to better understand (mean difference 0.084, 95% CI 0.073-0.094), to decide to do something (mean difference 0.156, 95% CI 0.146-0.166), or to do something in a different manner (mean difference 0.052, 95% CI 0.042-0.061). They were also more likely to report that it helped them improve the health or well-being of a child (mean difference 0.039, 95% CI 0.028-0.049) and to be less worried (mean difference 0.104, 95% CI 0.093-0.114). The entourage members were more likely to use the information in discussion with someone else (mean difference 0.166, 95% CI 0.155-0.176) and report that the information helped them decide what to do with someone else (Table 1).



El Sherif et al

Table 1. Perceived information outcomes: Information Assessment Method responses of entourage members and parents.

Questions and response options	Entourage members (n=10,697), n (%)	Parents (n=40,628), n (%)	All participants (n=51,325), n (%)		
Q1. Is this information relevant?					
Very relevant (this is the information I expected)	7444 (69.6)	27,817 (68.5)	35,261 (68.7)		
Relevant	2993 (27.9)	11,707 (28.8)	14,700 (28.6)		
Somewhat relevant	123 (1.1)	654 (1.6)	777 (1.5)		
Very little relevant (this is not the information I expected)	137 (1.3)	450 (1.1)	587 (1.1)		
Q2. Did you understand this information?					
Very well (I understood everything)	9870 (92.3)	37,834 (93.1)	47,704 (92.9)		
Well	777 (7.3)	2698 (6.6)	3475 (6.8)		
Poorly	26 (0.2)	51 (0.1)	77 (0.2)		
Very poorly (I did not understand much)	24 (0.2)	45 (0.1)	69 (0.1)		
Q3. What do you think about this information? ^a					
This information allowed me to validate what I do or did	5611 (52.5)*	25,922 (63.8)	31,533 (61.4)		
This information taught me something new	4753 (44.4)*	22,869 (56.3)	27,622 (53.8)		
This information reassured me	2966 (27.7)*	17,037 (41.9)	20,003 (39.0)		
This information refreshed my memory	3811 (35.6)*	9348 (23.0)	13,159 (25.6)		
This information motivated me to learn more	2550 (23.8)*	8846 (21.8)	11,396 (22.2)		
I do not like with this information	204 (1.9)	900 (2.2)	1104 (2.2)		
Q4. Will you use this information?					
Yes	10,082 (94.3)	38,970 (95.9)	49,052 (95.6)		
No	615 (5.8)	1658 (4.1)	2273 (4.4)		
Q4a. How will you use this information for you or for a child in	your care? ^a				
This information will help me to better understand.	4691 (46.5)	21,208 (54.4)	25,899 (52.8)		
I will use this information to do something.	3637 (36.1)	20,143 (51.7)	23,780 (48.5)		
I will use this information to do something in a different mann	er. 3026 (30.0)	13,585 (34.9)	16,611 (33.9)		
I will use this information in a discussion with someone else.	4264 (42.3)	9473 (24.3)	13,737 (28.0)		
I will use this information in another way.	356 (3.5)	760 (1.9)	1116 (2.3)		
Q5. Using this information, do you expect any benefits for you a	and at least one child (0-8 years)?				
Yes	10,044 (93.9)	38,477 (94.7)	48,521 (94.5)		
No	653 (6.1)	2151 (5.3)	2804 (5.5)		
Q5a. Which benefits do you expect for you and at least one chil	d (0-8 years)? ^a				
This information will help me to improve the health or well-be child.	ting of my 6690 (62.5)	26,976 (66.4)	33,666 (65.6)		
This information will help me to be less worried.	3480 (32.5)	17,424 (42.9)	20,904 (40.7)		
This information will help me to prevent a problem or the wor problem.	sening of a 3184 (29.8)	12,406 (30.5)	15,590 (30.4)		
This information will help me to handle a problem.	3226 (30.2)	12,966 (31.9)	16,192 (31.6)		
This information will help me decide what to do with someone	e else. 2137 (20.0)	5597 (13.8)	7734 (15.1)		
Another benefit.	408 (3.8)	871 (2.1)	1279 (2.5)		

^aMore than 1 option could be selected.

XSL•FO RenderX

Comparing Website and Newsletter Respondents

Of 10,697 Information Assessment Method questionnaires completed by the entourage, 1953 (18.3%) accessed the webpage through the newsletter and 8744 (81.7%) directly through the website. Respondents through the newsletter were more likely to report using the information to do something (mean difference 0.117, 95% CI 0.092-0.141) or do something differently (mean difference 0.067, 95% CI 0.044-0.090) and expected that the information would help to improve the health or well-being of

a child (mean difference 0.090; 95% CI 0.067-0.112). Respondents who accessed *Naître et Grandir* directly through the website were more likely to report that using the information would help them be less worried (mean difference 0.047; 95% CI 0.024-0.069), handle a problem (mean difference 0.083; 95% CI 0.062-0.104), and decide what to do with someone else (mean difference 0.040, 95% CI 0.020-0.058). Both groups were equally likely to report using the information in discussion with someone else (mean difference 0.015; 95% CI -0.009-0.040) (Table 2).



El Sherif et al

Table 2. Perceived information outcomes: Information Assessment Method responses of entourage newsletter and website respondents.

	1		1		
Questions and response options	Entourage newsletter (n=1953), n (%)	Entourage website (n=8744), n (%)	All entourage (n=10,697), n (%)		
Q1. Is this information relevant?					
Very relevant (this is the information I expected)	1547 (79.2)	5897 (67.4)	7444 (69.6)		
Relevant	390 (20.0)	2603 (29.8)	2993 (28.0)		
Somewhat relevant	7 (0.4)	116 (1.3)	123 (1.2)		
Very little relevant (this is not the information I expected)	9 (0.5)	128 (1.5)	137 (1.3)		
Q2. Did you understand this information?					
Very well (I understood everything)	1891 (96.8)	7979 (91.3)	9870 (92.3)		
Well	59 (3.0)	718 (8.2)	777 (7.3)		
Poorly	1 (0.1)	25 (0.3)	26 (0.2)		
Very poorly (I did not understand much)	2 (0.1)	22 (0.3)	23 (0.2)		
Q3. What do you think about this information? ^a					
This information allowed me to validate what I do or did	1118 (57.3)	4493 (51.4)	5611 (52.5)		
This information taught me something new	898 (46.0)	3855 (44.1)	4753 (44.4)		
This information reassured me	519 (26.6)	2447 (28.0)	2966 (27.7)		
This information refreshed my memory	839 (43.0)	2972 (34)	3811 (35.6)		
This information motivated me to learn more	427 (21.9)	2123 (24.3)	2550 (23.8)		
I do not like with this information	29 (1.5)	175 (2.0)	204 (1.9)		
Q4. Will you use this information?					
Yes	1902 (97.4)	8180 (93.6)	10,082 (94.3)		
No	51 (2.6)	564 (6.5)	615 (5.8)		
Q4a. How will you use this information for you or for a child in your care? ^a					
This information will help me to better understand.	865 (45.5)	3826 (46.8)	4691 (46.5)		
I will use this information to do something.	850 (44.7)	2787 (34.1)	3637 (36.1)		
I will use this information to do something in a different manner.	659 (34.7)	2367 (28.9)	3026 (30.0)		
I will use this information in a discussion with someone else.	754 (39.6)	3510 (42.9)	4264 (42.3)		
I will use this information in another way.	53 (2.8)	303 (3.7)	356 (3.5)		
Q5. Using this information, do you expect any benefits for you and at le	east one child (0-8 years)?				
Yes	1891 (96.8)	8153 (93.2)	10,044 (93.9)		
No	62 (3.2)	591 (6.8)	653 (6.1)		
Q5a. Which benefits do you expect for you and at least one child (0-8 y	ears)? ^a				
This information will help me to improve the health or well-being of my child.	1365 (69.9)	5325 (60.9)	6690 (62.5)		
This information will help me to be less worried.	561 (28.7)	2919 (33.4)	3480 (32.5)		
This information will help me to prevent a problem or the worsening of a problem.	605 (31.0)	2579 (29.5)	3184 (29.8)		
This information will help me to handle a problem.	456 (23.4)	2770 (31.7)	3226 (30.2)		
This information will help me decide what to do with someone else.	327 (16.7)	1810 (20.7)	2137 (20.0)		
Another benefit.	77 (3.9)	331 (3.8)	408 (3.8)		

^aMore than 1 option could be selected.

XSL•FO RenderX

Principal Findings

Results support our first hypothesis that individuals in the entourage were more likely to report using the information in discussion with others. Parents, on the other hand, were more likely to report using the information to do something. This may reflect the trustworthiness of the information on *Naître et Grandir*—the entourage felt comfortable sharing it and parents feel comfortable applying it.

Our second hypothesis was also supported. Results suggest that the differences in perceived outcomes reported by the entourage depend on how they access the information. When the information is acquired through active seeking by the respondents through the *Naître et Grandir* website, there were differences in the reported use and benefits. These findings can be explained by the literature on information seeking behavior (Table 3), specifically Bates's integrated model of information seeking [40], in which, there are 2 forms of information seeking: directed, through searching and monitoring when there is a known information need, and undirected, through browsing and being unaware when the information need is unknown.

Table 3. Applying of the integrated model of information seeking [40] to this study's context.

Form	Naître et Grandir website	Naître et Grandir newsletter
Information need	Known	Unknown
Information seeking mode	Directed and active	Undirected and passive

In our study, respondents arrived on the website through directed and active searching that was likely triggered by a known information need such as an existing health problem. The entourage members responding through the website were also aware of the information need by the parents, either because it was stated explicitly by the parents or understood implicitly through social interactions. The entourage members in this context may have closer social ties and may be involved in the decision making, either directly or indirectly, by providing social support. The entourage in this group were thus more likely to report that the information they found would help them to be less worried, help them handle a problem, and help them decide what to do with someone else. On the other hand, entourage respondents through the newsletter were less likely to have a known information need and would have clicked on one of the relevant articles out of interest or curiosity (undirected and passive information seeking). This group was more likely to report that the information would help them improve the health or well-being of a child.

Comparison With Prior Work

We identified the role of known and unknown information needs on the outcomes of proxy information seeking by entourage members, by comparing entourage website and newsletter users. This is the first unique contribution of our study, as most similar studies [14-16,19] have focus on directed consumer health information seeking on the internet triggered by a known information need. Our study also describes these outcomes from the entourage or proxy seeker's perspective. Another study [11], which explored negative outcomes of seeking consumer health information on the internet from the individual's perspective, reported that in situations wherein informational support from the entourage is unsolicited and the individual does not feel that the information is relevant to their situation, interpersonal tensions between both parties may develop.

We explored the phenomenon of proxy consumer health information seeking using an evidence-based web-based consumer health information source that caters to lower health literacy. Thus, common barriers to positive outcomes such as health literacy and misinformation were somewhat removed,

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32406
```

and we could describe the outcomes experienced by parents and their entourage in this context. A recent scoping review [41], which explored parents' web-based health information–seeking behaviors to inform vaccination choices for their children, reported significant misinformation on the topic on the internet and suggested parents' digital health literacy may influence their decisions.

Our results are transferable to other contexts. While we do not claim statistical generalizability as the study sample was self-selected, respondents were not limited by demographic criteria and thus represent a diverse sample of parents and their entourage. Moreover, our respondents rated webpages presenting a wide number of health and well-being topics (ie, not focused on any specific illness or condition). A recent systematic review [22], which explored health information seeking on the internet by parents for their children, identified lack of generalizability as the most frequently mentioned limitation of the studies included in the review. In fact, an agenda item for future research studies was the need for studies with generalizable samples outside clinical environments with specific populations of children who are ill [22]. While the review [22] explored parent health information seeking on the internet as a form of proxy seeking, their findings do not apply to other types of proxy seeking [22]. In this study, we provided insight into another type of proxy seeking and the reported outcomes.

Limitations

Our study has 3 main limitations. First, participants were self-selected volunteers who completed one questionnaire at one point of time (a source of selection bias). This likely led to an overestimation of positive outcomes due to social desirability bias [42]. However, this bias will have influenced both parents and the entourage in the same manner and thus did not affect the comparative analysis. Moreover, we cannot assume website users and newsletter users were mutually exclusive. Second, we did not explore variables such as the strength of the social ties between the entourage and the parents and child for whom they were using *Naître et Grandir*. Other studies [16,43,44] have reported that proxy information seekers are likely to have strong ties with the people they are helping and tend to provide

other forms of social support such as emotional support. This limitation will be addressed in a future study with entourage members.

Conclusions

The results will be used to refine and improve the existing conceptual framework on consumer health information outcomes on the internet by filling in the gap on the role of the information need. When information is acquired through active directed seeking by the respondents from the *Naître et Grandir* website, they were likely to use it and report positive outcomes related

to an existing problem. When information is acquired from the weekly newsletter, respondents were more likely to report more general positive outcomes. Regardless of how they accessed information, members of the entourage were likely to discuss it with others. Practical intervention strategies can focus on improving proxy health information seeking on the internet and extend social support networks for people without an effective entourage. Future studies can explore how members of the entourage use the information from *Naître et Grandir* with others in their social circle.

Acknowledgments

This study was sponsored by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research through a Doctoral research award (RS) and by *Naître et Grandir* (Foundation Lucie & André Chagnon). We gratefully acknowledge the contributions of Dr Fidelia Ibekwe (with her permission).

Authors' Contributions

PP, TS, and RG provided supervision. All authors contributed to the study design and review of this manuscript. RES performed the statistical analysis.

Conflicts of Interest

RG and PP are consultants for *Naître et Grandir*.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Information Assessment Method questionnaire. [DOCX File , 16 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e32406_app1.docx]

References

- 1. Communications monitoring report 2019. Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission. URL: <u>https://crtc.gc.ca/eng/publications/reports/policymonitoring/2019/cmr1.htm#a0</u> [accessed 2021-03-31]
- 2. The internet and digital technology. Statistics Canada. 2017 Nov 14. URL: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/11-627-m/11-627-m/</u>[accessed 2021-04-21]
- 3. More than 80% of households in OECD countries have access to high-speed internet. OECD iLibrary. URL: <u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/9870c393-en/index.html?itemId=/content/publication/9870c393-en</u> [accessed 2021-04-10]
- 4. ICT access and usage by households and individuals. OECD iLibrary. 2017. URL: <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/b9823565-en</u> [accessed 2021-04-27]
- 5. Canada's internet factbook. Canadian Internet Registration Authority. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.cira.ca/resources/factbook/</u> <u>canadas-internet-factbook-2020</u> [accessed 2021-03-31]
- Amante DJ, Hogan TP, Pagoto SL, English TM, Lapane KL. Access to care and use of the internet to search for health information: results from the US National Health Interview Survey. J Med Internet Res 2015 Apr 29;17(4):e106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4126] [Medline: 25925943]
- Prescott J, Mackie L. "You sort of go down a rabbit hole...you're just going to keep on searching": a qualitative study of searching online for pregnancy-related information during pregnancy. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jun 05;19(6):e194 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6302] [Medline: 28583906]
- 8. Case D, Given L. Information needs, motivations, and use. In: Looking for information: A Survey of Research on Information Seeking, Needs, and Behavior. 4th ed. UK: Emerald Group Publishing; 2016.
- 9. Moreira L. Health literacy for peoplecentred care: Where do OECD countries stand? OECD iLibrary. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/health-literacy-for-people-centred-care_d8494d3a-en</u> [accessed 2021-04-27]
- Mullen P. Information and emotion: the emergent affective paradigm in information behavior research and theory. Libr Manag 2008 Oct 24;29(8/9):819-820. [doi: <u>10.1108/01435120810917585</u>]
- El Sherif R, Pluye P, Thoër C, Rodriguez C. Reducing negative outcomes of online consumer health information: qualitative interpretive study with clinicians, librarians, and consumers. J Med Internet Res 2018 May 04;20(5):e169 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9326] [Medline: 29728350]

- 12. How's life? measuring well-being. OECD iLibrary. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/content/publication/</u> <u>9870c393-en</u> [accessed 2021-03-21]
- 13. Chen W. The implications of social capital for the digital divides in America. Inf Soc 2013 Jan;29(1):13-25. [doi: 10.1080/01972243.2012.739265]
- 14. Reifegerste D, Bachl M, Baumann E. Surrogate health information seeking in Europe: influence of source type and social network variables. Int J Med Inform 2017 Jul;103:7-14. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2017.04.006] [Medline: 28551004]
- Cutrona SL, Mazor KM, Vieux SN, Luger TM, Volkman JE, Finney Rutten LJ. Health information-seeking on behalf of others: characteristics of "surrogate seekers". J Cancer Educ 2015 Mar 4;30(1):12-19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13187-014-0701-3] [Medline: 24989816]
- 16. Selwyn N, Johnson N, Nemorin S, Knight E. In: Clark N, editor. Going online on behalf of others: an investigation of 'proxy' internet consumers. Sydney, Australia: Australian Communications Consumer Action Network; 2016.
- 17. Agius M, Stangeland H. How does the internet influence the doctor-patient relationship? In: Mucic D, Hilty D, editors. e-Mental Health. Cham: Springer; 2016:251-267.
- 18. Fox S, Duggan M. Health online. Pew Research Center. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2013/01/15/</u> health-online-2013/ [accessed 2021-02-25]
- Cutrona SL, Mazor KM, Agunwamba AA, Valluri S, Wilson PM, Sadasivam RS, et al. Health information brokers in the general population: an analysis of the health information national trends survey 2013-2014. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jun 03;18(6):e123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5447] [Medline: 27260952]
- Reifegerste D, Blech S, Dechant P. Understanding information seeking about the health of others: applying the comprehensive model of information seeking to proxy online health information seeking. J Health Commun 2020 Feb 01;25(2):126-135. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2020.1716280] [Medline: 32009552]
- Sadasivam RS, Kinney RL, Lemon SC, Shimada SL, Allison JJ, Houston TK. Internet health information seeking is a team sport: analysis of the Pew internet survey. Int J Med Inform 2013 Mar;82(3):193-200. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2012.09.008</u>] [Medline: <u>23149121</u>]
- 22. Kubb C, Foran HM. Online health information seeking by parents for their children: systematic review and agenda for further research. J Med Internet Res 2020 Aug 25;22(8):e19985 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19985] [Medline: 32840484]
- 23. Haluza D, Böhm I. Mobile and online health information: exploring digital media use among Austrian parent. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Aug 20;17(17):6053 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17176053] [Medline: 32825293]
- 24. Pehora C, Gajaria N, Stoute M, Fracassa S, Serebale-O'Sullivan R, Matava CT. Are parents getting it right? a survey of parents? internet use for children's health care information. Interact J Med Res 2015 Jun 22;4(2):e12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/ijmr.3790] [Medline: 26099207]
- 25. Kirchner S, Sakaguchi-Tang D, Michelson R, Munson S, Kientz J. "This just felt to me like the right thing to do?" decision-making experiences of parents of young children. 2020 Presented at: ACM Designing Interactive Systems Conference; July 6-10; Eindhoven, the Netherlands. [doi: 10.1145/3357236.3395466]
- 26. Mieux connaître la parentalité au Québec. Institut de la Statistique du Québec. URL: <u>https://statistique.quebec.ca/en/fichier/</u> mieux-connaitre-la-parentalite-au-quebec-un-portrait-a-partir-de-enquete-quebecoise-sur-lexperience-des-parents-denfants-de-0-a-5-ans-2015. pdf [accessed 2022-02-09]
- Abrahamson JA, Fisher KE, Turner AG, Durrance JC, Turner TC. Lay information mediary behavior uncovered: exploring how nonprofessionals seek health information for themselves and others online. J Med Libr Assoc 2008 Oct;96(4):310-323 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3163/1536-5050.96.4.006] [Medline: 18974809]
- 28. Pluye P, El Sherif R, Gonzalez-Reyes A, Turcotte E, Schuster T, Bartlett G, et al. Outcomes of equity-oriented, web-based parenting information in mothers of low socioeconomic status compared to other mothers: participatory mixed methods study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Nov 10;22(11):e22440 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22440] [Medline: 33170125]
- 29. von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP, STROBE Initiative. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. Ann Intern Med 2007 Oct 16;147(8):573-577 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-147-8-200710160-00010] [Medline: 17938396]
- Pluye P, El Sherif R, Granikov V, Hong QN, Vedel I, Galvao MCB, et al. Health outcomes of online consumer health information: a systematic mixed studies review with framework synthesis. J Assoc Inf Sci Technol 2019 Jul 30;70(7):643-659 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/asi.24178] [Medline: 31423458]
- 31. Derr RL. A conceptual analysis of information need. Inf Proc Manag 1983 Jan;19(5):273-278. [doi: 10.1016/0306-4573(83)90001-8]
- 32. Wilson TD. Human information behavior. Inf Sci 2000;3:049-056. [doi: 10.28945/576]
- 33. Connelly R, Turner T, editors. Health Literacy and Child Health Outcomes: Promoting Effective Health Communication Strategies to Improve Quality of Care. USA: Springer Briefs in Public Health; 2017.
- 34. Sherif R, Roy P, Tang DL, Doray G, Dubois M, Bush P, et al. The value of user feedback: parent's comments to online health and well - being information providers. Proc Assoc Info Sci Tech 2017 Oct 24;54(1):662-663. [doi: 10.1002/pra2.2017.14505401107]

- 35. Granikov V, Grad R, El Sherif R, Shulha M, Chaput G, Doray G, et al. The information assessment method: over 15 years of research evaluating the value of health information. EFI 2020 Apr 03;36(1):7-18. [doi: 10.3233/efi-190348]
- 36. Pluye P, Granikov V, Bartlett G, Grad RM, Tang DL, Johnson-Lafleur J, et al. Development and content validation of the information assessment method for patients and consumers. JMIR Res Protoc 2014 Feb 18;3(1):e7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.2908] [Medline: 24550180]
- Bujold M, El Sherif R, Bush P, Johnson-Lafleur J, Doray G, Pluye P. Ecological content validation of the information assessment method for parents (IAM-parent): a mixed methods study. Eval Program Plann 2018 Feb;66:79-88 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2017.09.011] [Medline: 29053984]
- 38. Newcombe RG. Interval estimation for the difference between independent proportions: comparison of eleven methods. Stat Med 1998 Apr 30;17(8):873-890. [doi: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0258(19980430)17:8<873::aid-sim779>3.0.co;2-i] [Medline: 9595617]
- 39. Lowry R. The confidence interval for the difference between two independent proportions web calculator. VassarStats. 2019. URL: <u>http://vassarstats.net/prop2_ind.html</u> [accessed 2021-05-07]
- 40. Bates M. Toward an integrated model of information seeking and searching. 2002 Presented at: Fourth International Conference on Information Needs, Seeking and Use in Different Contexts; September 11; Lisbon, Portugal.
- 41. Ashfield S, Donelle L. Parental online information access and childhood vaccination decisions in North America: scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2020 Oct 13;22(10):e20002 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20002] [Medline: 33048055]
- 42. Nederhof AJ. Methods of coping with social desirability bias: a review. Eur J Soc Psychol 1985 Jul;15(3):263-280. [doi: 10.1002/ejsp.2420150303]
- Criss S, Woo Baidal JA, Goldman RE, Perkins M, Cunningham C, Taveras EM. The role of health information sources in decision-making among Hispanic mothers during their children's first 1000 days of life. Matern Child Health J 2015 Nov 30;19(11):2536-2543 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10995-015-1774-2] [Medline: 26122256]
- 44. Dolničar V, Hrast M, Vehovar V, Petrovčič A. Digital inequality and intergenerational solidarity: the role of social support in proxy internet use. AoIR Selected Papers of Internet Research 2013:IR14 [FREE Full text]

Abbreviations

OECD: Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 26.07.21; peer-reviewed by A Safarnejad, K Latulippe; comments to author 17.08.21; revised version received 19.10.21; accepted 22.10.21; published 04.03.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> El Sherif R, Pluye P, Schuster T, Grad R Proxy Information Seeking by Users of a Parenting Information Website: Quantitative Observational Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e32406 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32406</u> doi:<u>10.2196/32406</u> PMID:<u>35254283</u>

©Reem El Sherif, Pierre Pluye, Tibor Schuster, Roland Grad. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 04.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Online-Delivered Over Staff-Delivered Parenting Intervention for Young Children With Disruptive Behavior Problems: Cost-Minimization Analysis

Justin B Ingels¹, PhD; Phaedra S Corso², MPA, PhD; Ronald J Prinz³, PhD; Carol W Metzler⁴, PhD; Matthew R Sanders⁵, PhD

²Office of Research, Kennesaw State University, Kennesaw, GA, United States

³Center for Research on Child Well-Being, University of South Carolina, Columbia, SC, United States

⁴Oregon Research Institute, Eugene, OR, United States

⁵Parenting & Family Support Centre, Brisbane, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Justin B Ingels, PhD Department of Health Policy and Management College of Public Health University of Georgia 105 Spear Road Athens, GA, 30602 United States Phone: 1 706 713 2738 Email: ingels@uga.edu

Abstract

Background: High-prevalence childhood mental health problems like early-onset disruptive behavior problems (DBPs) pose a significant public health challenge and necessitate interventions with adequate population reach. The treatment approach of choice for childhood DBPs, namely evidence-based parenting intervention, has not been sufficiently disseminated when relying solely on staff-delivered services. Online-delivered parenting intervention is a promising strategy, but the cost minimization of this delivery model for reducing child DBPs is unknown compared with the more traditional staff-delivered modality.

Objective: This study aimed to examine the cost-minimization of an online parenting intervention for childhood disruptive behavior problems compared with the staff-delivered version of the same content. This objective, pursued in the context of a randomized trial, made use of cost data collected from parents and service providers.

Methods: A cost-minimization analysis (CMA) was conducted comparing the online and staff-delivered parenting interventions. Families (N=334) with children 3-7 years old, who exhibited clinically elevated disruptive behavior problems, were randomly assigned to the two parenting interventions. Participants, delivery staff, and administrators provided data for the CMA concerning family participation time and expenses, program delivery time (direct and nondirect), and nonpersonnel resources (eg, space, materials, and access fee). The CMA was conducted using both intent-to-treat and per-protocol analytic approaches.

Results: For the intent-to-treat analyses, the online parenting intervention reflected significantly lower program costs (t_{168} =23.2; P<.001), family costs (t_{185} =9.2; P<.001), and total costs (t_{171} =19.1; P<.001) compared to the staff-delivered intervention. The mean incremental cost difference between the interventions was \$1164 total costs per case. The same pattern of significant differences was confirmed in the per-protocol analysis based on the families who completed their respective intervention, with a mean incremental cost difference of \$1483 per case. All costs were valued or adjusted in 2017 US dollars.

Conclusions: The online-delivered parenting intervention in this randomized study produced substantial cost minimization compared with the staff-delivered intervention providing the same content. Cost minimization was driven primarily by personnel time and, to a lesser extent, by facilities costs and family travel time. The CMA was accomplished with three critical conditions in place: (1) the two intervention delivery modalities (ie, online and staff) held intervention content constant; (2) families were randomized to the two parenting interventions; and (3) the online-delivered intervention was previously confirmed to be non-inferior

¹Department of Health Policy and Management, College of Public Health, University of Georgia, Athens, GA, United States

to the staff-delivered intervention in significantly reducing the primary outcome, child disruptive behavior problems. Given those conditions, cost minimization for the online parenting intervention was unequivocal.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02121431; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02121431

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e30795) doi:10.2196/30795

KEYWORDS

online parenting intervention; child disruptive behavior problems; cost-minimization analysis; online versus staff delivery; evidence-based parenting support; population reach

Introduction

The most prevalent mental health problems in childhood require effective interventions that are deliverable with sufficient population reach in a cost-efficient manner. This need is especially true of early-onset disruptive behavior problems (DBPs), which pose a significant public health challenge. Approximately 10-15% of preschoolers and children at school entry exhibit at least mild to moderately severe DBPs [1]. Early-onset DBPs elevate the risk of a range of adverse outcomes such as subsequent mental health problems, academic failure, substance misuse, delinquency, risky sexual behavior in adolescence, and chronic mental health problems and life consequences in adulthood [2-5]. Parenting and family-focused interventions provide the most robust evidence-based prevention and treatment for DBPs across several contexts and child/family populations [6-9]. Due to the high prevalence of DBPs, there is a substantial need for services; however, too few children with DBPs receive such interventions despite intervention efficacy. Contributing factors include strained resources, understaffing, and low program availability on the programmatic side, while parents encounter barriers to participation, including transportation, childcare, work schedules, and perceived stigma [10,11]. Therefore, the expansion of intervention strategies beyond traditional delivery methods is essential to meet these needs.

Internet delivery of evidence-based parenting interventions for child DBPs could potentially improve the reach of these interventions [12,13]. Therefore, a noninferiority trial was conducted to test whether an online-delivered parenting intervention, derived from the evidence-based Triple P-Positive Parenting Program, performed as well as a staff-delivered version of the same program in addressing child DBPs. The trial involved randomization of 334 children (aged 3-7 years) with clinical levels of DBPs, and their families, to the two intervention arms. DBPs assessed by both independent observation and parental reports defined the primary outcome. Details and results of the trial are reported elsewhere [14]. The main finding was that the online intervention substantially reduced child DBPs to a comparable extent as the staff-delivered intervention. During the trial, pertinent cost data were collected on both interventions and provided the basis for this study.

A cost-minimization analysis (CMA) was determined to be the most appropriate form of economic evaluation for assessing an intervention option that is noninferior in its primary outcome [15]. From this perspective, if two interventions produce similar effects, the less costly option is favorable. This method is standard in pharmaco-economics when comparing two clinically

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30795
```

effective and equivalent therapies. While CMA is less common in other disciplines, it has been recognized as an appropriate method for comparing interventions delivered through technology-based methods against in-person delivery formats [16]. Previous work has identified the importance of evaluating internet-based interventions' costs, not just to the provider but also to those costs that fall on the user [17,18].

Methods

This study's objective is to examine the costs of an online parenting intervention for childhood DBPs compared with a staff-delivered version of the same intervention. A CMA was completed in both intent-to-treat (ITT) and per-protocol (PP) contexts to achieve this objective.

Description of the Online and Comparison Interventions

The online-delivered intervention (ODI) was Triple P Online, derived from the Triple P-Positive Parenting Program system of parenting interventions [19,20]. The ODI content draws on 17 core Triple P positive parenting skills and seeks to promote parental self-regulation. Examples of covered topics include understanding the causes of children's behaviors, strategies for fostering child development and skill acquisition, managing misbehavior effectively, planning to prevent problems, preparing for potential relapses of problematic behavior, and maintaining changes over time. The ODI incorporates video modeling of principles and specific parenting strategies, concrete tasks for parents to undertake with their children, and opportunities to engage in goal setting, constructive self-evaluation, and improvement. Structurally, the ODI consists of 8 modules, which are sequenced and take approximately 45-60 minutes each. The program includes easy navigation, video excerpts, personalized elements (eg, goal setting, content review, feedback, and a customizable workbook), interactive exercises, and downloadable worksheets. Following baseline assessment and randomization, the parent was shown how to access the online program and received a succinct orientation. During ODI implementation, a staff member made brief contact with the parent by phone, email, or text at 2, 4, 8, and 13 weeks to check on technical problems and prompt utilization of the program but did not provide any content coaching or clinical assistance.

The comparison was the staff-delivered intervention (SDI), Level 4 Standard Triple P-Positive Parenting Program, which involves 10 in-person 60-75-minute sessions delivered by a trained and accredited practitioner. The SDI parallels the ODI in terms of parenting principles and strategies imparted,

promotion of parental self-regulation, video modeling within a session, and between-session practice activities for parents.

Study Sample and Clinical Trial Design

The sample consisted of 334 families of children ages 3-7 years who exhibited pronounced levels of oppositional and disruptive behaviors: 63% (212/334) boys and 37% (122/334) girls. The racial distribution for the parents was: 63% (210/334) non-Hispanic White, 21% (69/334) African American, 8% (27/334) Hispanic White, and 8% (27/334) other races. The families included 69% two-parent (230/334) and 31% (104/334) one-parent households. For educational attainment of the participating parents, 14% (47/334) had high-school graduation or less, 28% (92/334) some college, and 57% (192/334) college graduation.

The families were enrolled in a clinical trial in which they were randomly assigned to either the ODI or the SDI for the goal of acquiring positive parenting strategies to reduce child DBPs and improve child and family functioning. Characteristics of the trial included demographic and baseline equivalence across conditions, multi-source outcome measures (ie, observers, parents, and teachers), post-intervention and follow-up (12 months after baseline) outcome assessments, independent assessment of intervention fidelity, and analyses using both ITT and PP methods. A full description of the trial and outcomes is reported elsewhere [14]. The study design for the costing analysis was built on this randomized clinical trial.

The full sample consisted of 168 (50%) and 166 (50%) families for the ODI and SDI groups, respectively; all included in the ITT analysis. The PP-based costing analysis included the 54 (34%) ODI and 106 (66%) SDI families. They had completed their assigned program in its entirety, which met a conservative completion threshold even though other families excluded from the PP sample had completed most but not all of the programs. The critical consideration for this cutoff is to ensure that the PP analysis captures the costs of each intervention when taken to completion.

Study Design for the Costing Analysis

The costing analysis goal was to determine if there was a significant difference in the resources required to administer and deliver the ODI compared with the SDI. The study team designed the collection and analysis of resource utilization data to estimate the incremental differences between the online and staff-delivered versions of the intervention. The identification and measurement of resource utilization were guided by program and participant perspectives.

As is typically the case for parenting interventions with children and families, the bulk of resource utilization was personnel-related, especially for the SDI condition. As a result, the burden of data collection fell on intervention staff who regularly completed written logs to document all time spent on intervention delivery and administration, including clinical supervision. Personnel recorded their time on these logs in 15-minute increments and placed each time segment into one of several activity categories provided on each time log. For family-specific time, staff indicated time for a specific family/case. Intervention staff recorded administrative and supervisory time without reference to any particular family/case. Additionally, each SDI parent completed a brief form to document resource utilization related to their family's participation. These forms were either mailed directly or scanned and emailed to the cost team, where graduate assistants coded the logs into Excel spreadsheets.

Table 1 delineates the activity categories included in each log for each intervention. The direct resource category comprises intervention delivery and communication with each family, including activities before, during, and after intervention sessions. The administrative resource category refers to activities attributable to the intervention (eg, professional supervision) but not to any specific family. The nondirect resource category consists of personnel time spent on behalf of families outside of intervention-session delivery, including travel, waiting on families, and communication about families.

Table 1. Staff activities and resource categories captured on family-specific and administrative log forms in the implementation of the online-delivered (ODI) and staff-delivered (SDI) interventions.

Activity category	Resource category	Family-specific log		Administrative le	og
		SDI	ODI	SDI	ODI
Preparation for session	Direct	\checkmark			
In-person session	Direct	\checkmark			
Orientation session	Direct		\checkmark		
Documentation task	Direct	\checkmark	\checkmark		
Other contact	Direct	\checkmark	\checkmark		
Peer supervision	Administrative				
Individual supervision	Administrative				
Staff meeting	Administrative				\checkmark
Other meeting	Administrative				\checkmark
Consultation with techs	Administrative				\checkmark

Parents receiving the SDI completed a brief meeting form for every session. Parents documented the mode of transportation to and from the session, miles traveled in a personal vehicle, work hours lost to participate, and any other expenses incurred by the family to participate (eg, childcare for other children in the family).

Nonpersonnel resource consumption for the cost analysis included personnel travel costs, meeting space, and office space. Space used for session delivery and other related intervention tasks was also used for purposes other than the ODI and SDI. Therefore, information was collected about the space, and personnel time was used as the driver for the value of space. Finally, two other nonpersonnel costs were added, including \$15 per SDI family for a workbook (Materials category) and \$50 per ODI family for a fee paid to use the online system (Fees category).

The following procedures were followed to estimate total costs from personnel and nonpersonnel resources. All SDI personnel time was valued at \$44 per hour, while ODI direct and nondirect time was valued at \$44 and administrative time at \$32 per hour. All adult family time from intervention participation was valued at \$20 per hour. Participant travel was valued at \$0.55 per mile. Space utilized for SDI delivery, SDI and ODI program introduction (orientation), and support of delivery and administrative personnel was valued at \$0.096 per square foot hour of personnel time based on typical local rates for office space rental. The space used for the SDI sessions and SDI/ODI orientation was 102 square feet, for other SDI personnel was 126 square feet, and for other ODI personnel, time was 112 square feet. Resource consumption data were collected from 2014 to 2017, and salaries reflect an average of how personnel were compensated during this period. All costs were valued or adjusted in 2017 US dollars. Families were in the program for less than one year; therefore, no discounting of costs is included in these estimates. For the primary cost analyses, all families were included regardless of whether a family completed the intervention, which preserved the ITT design. The second set of cost analyses was conducted to gauge the PP costs of the two interventions, including only the families who completed their assigned intervention.

Ethics Approval

Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the University of South Carolina Institutional Review Board on April 11, 2013 (reference Pro00024933).

Results

Personnel Time

To summarize direct, nondirect, and administrative personnel time spent on the intervention, the time reported on all logs was summed by intervention and divided by the number of families participating in each intervention. Table 2 provides a breakdown of the personnel time per family, as reported by intervention staff. On average, personnel spent 17 hours more delivering and administering the SDI than the ODI, most of the difference occurring in the direct personnel time resource category (13.5 more hours). This additional time occurred not just from session delivery (8.2 more hours) but also from other direct times, including preparation, communication with families, and documentation (5.3 more hours). Most of the remaining difference in total personnel time was from 2.6 additional hours per SDI family spent on administrative tasks with less than an hour spent on nondirect tasks.

Table 2. Personnel time per family case (in hours) for online-delivered (ODI) and staff-delivered (SDI) interventions.

Resource category	Intervention Format		Incremental difference (SDI-ODI)
	SDI (n=166)	ODI (n=168)	
Direct personnel time	15.9	2.5	13.4
Session delivery time	8.3	0.0	8.3
Other direct time	7.6	2.5	5.1
Nondirect personnel time	0.6	<0.1	0.6
Administrative personnel time	3.0	0.6	2.4
Total personnel time	19.5	3.1	16.4

Family Time

Total SDI family time spent engaging in the intervention was estimated from personnel-reported logs for sessions. For the ODI, family time spent engaging in the intervention was based on a backend database linked to the delivery platform, which tracked the parent's time logged into the Triple P Online program. On average, SDI families spent 10.5 hours of their own time receiving intervention sessions in-person, while ODI families spent 7.7 hours of their own time receiving the intervention online. Participation in SDI also required participants to travel to the session location. On average, SDI families reported 104 total miles of travel to and from intervention sessions using personal vehicles. Families did not report travel by taxi or bus. Few SDI families (4%) indicated the need to miss work to attend intervention sessions for an average of 10 hours lost per family that reported any time missed and 0.4 hours per family overall. SDI families did not indicate a need to pay any other expenses not included in travel.

Total Costs

The total costs per family for SDI and ODI, including personnel and nonpersonnel resources and participant resources, are delineated in Table 3 for the full sample preserving the ITT

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30795
```

design. In general, the SDI had significantly higher costs per family when compared with the ODI. Incremental cost differences per family for the SDI over the ODI were \$903 for program costs (t_{168} =23.2; *P*<.001); \$262 for family costs

(t_{185} =9.2; *P*<.001); and \$1164 for total costs (t_{171} =19.1; *P*<.001). Incremental program costs, found at the bottom of Table 3, include program costs (personnel and nonpersonnel resources), family costs, and total costs combining both. All costs were valued or adjusted in 2017 US dollars.

Table 3. Comparison of staff-delivered (SDI) and online-delivered (ODI) interventions for program, family, and total costs per case on an intent-to-treat basis.^a

Resource category (costs per family case)	Intervention format		t test (df)	P value
	SDI (n=166)	ODI (n=168)		
Per-family program costs			·	
Personnel				
Direct	\$699	\$107		
Nondirect	\$26	\$0		
Administrative	\$131	\$19		
Total personnel costs	\$856	\$127		
Nonpersonnel				
Space	\$215	\$12		
Fees	\$0	\$50		
Materials	\$15	\$0		
Travel	\$10	\$0		
Total nonpersonnel costs	\$240	\$62		
Total program costs	\$1091 (SD \$499)	\$188 (SD \$51)	23.2 (168)	<.001
Family costs				
Time	\$297	\$144		
Other: travel	\$104	\$0		
Other: lost work	\$8	\$0		
Total family costs	\$405 (SD 357)	\$144 (SD 89)	9.2 (185)	<.001
Total costs per family (program + family costs)	\$1496 (SD 778)	\$332 (SD 108)	19.1 (171)	<.001

^aAll costs were valued or adjusted in 2017 US dollars.

The same cost analysis was repeated focusing exclusively on completer cases in a PP basis and is delineated in Table 4. Incremental cost differences for the SDI over the ODI were \$1171 for program costs (t_{114} =34.0; P<.001); \$312 for family costs (t_{116} =9.2; P<.001; and \$1483 for total costs (t_{115} =26.4; P<.001).



Ingels et al

Table 4. Comparison of staff-delivered (SDI) and online-delivered (ODI) interventions for program, family, and total costs per case on a per-protocol basis (completer cases only).^a

Resource category (costs per family case)	Intervention format		t test (df)	P value
	SDI (n=106)	ODI (n=54)		
Per-family program costs				
Personnel				
Direct	\$903	\$102		
Nondirect	\$31	\$0		
Administrative	\$131	\$19		
Total personnel costs	\$1062	120		
Nonpersonnel				
Space	\$266	\$12		
Fees	\$0	\$50		
Materials	\$15	\$0		
Travel	\$10	\$0		
Total nonpersonnel costs	\$291	\$62		
Total program costs	\$1353 (SD 347)	\$183 (SD 52)	34.0 (114)	<.001
Family costs				
Time	\$412	\$247		
Other: travel	\$142	\$0		
Other: lost work	\$8	\$0		
Total family costs	\$559 (SD 340)	\$247 (SD 55)	9.2 (116)	<.001
Total costs per family (program + family costs)	\$1912 (SD 564)	\$430 (SD 91)	26.4 (115)	<.001

^aAll costs were valued or adjusted in 2017 US dollars.

Discussion

Principal Results

This study provides some of the first data directly comparing resource investments for internet-delivered versus standard staff-delivered behavioral interventions in which programmatic content is held constant. This comparison is important considering the previously reported confirmation that the internet-delivered intervention (Triple P Online) is as efficacious as the well-established, evidence-based standard intervention (Level 4 Standard Triple P) in achieving significant reductions in child behavior problems. The main economic finding is that the internet-delivered program costs were significantly less than the standard staff-delivered program. This cost differential stems from a much smaller investment required for the internet-program provision and a lower burden on internet-program participants. Personnel costs were the most significant drivers of the difference between the delivery modalities. The personnel activities related to direct personnel time, including session delivery and delivery-support tasks such as preparation and documentation, were the most significant drivers of the difference. Internet-program participants reflected a lower burden because of less programming time and travel-related costs.

When comparing interventions from an economic perspective, cost-effectiveness is much more common than CMA because incremental effectiveness and costs are taken into account. In this study, however, CMA is more suitable because the two interventions were comparably efficacious [14], which obviates the need for cost-effectiveness analysis. The apparent simplicity of CMA should not detract from the fact that it rests on the same theoretical underpinnings as more complex economic evaluation methods such as cost-effectiveness analysis [21].

Internet-delivered interventions undoubtedly have the potential to reach a large number of persons in the population, conceivably leading to large-scale positive changes in preventing and reducing childhood problems for a relatively small investment [22] through the provision of evidence-based parenting support [23-25].

Internet-delivered interventions provide an alternative method for families to receive needed evidence-based services with the potential to overcome obstacles to in-person delivery. The flexibility of access promotes a learner-centered approach, enabling participation at a time that suits the parent. Although there is still a cost for online delivery associated with participant time, it is possible that given the flexibility of when this time is expended, that time comes at a lower cost to the participant than the more constrained scheduling of time in staff delivery. Internet-delivered interventions take on even greater importance

when in-person delivery is too difficult or even unsafe such as during a pandemic or adverse weather events that might preclude safe travel to clinical services but do not disrupt internet access.

Comparison With Prior Work

Two problems sometimes encountered with internet-based interventions are low participation rates and high dropout [26-28]. These problems could bias the costs of an internet-based intervention toward being less costly. However, this issue did not bear out with this study, in which cost minimization was greater for PP over ITT analysis. Had high dropout from the ODI biased the results, cost minimization would have been greater for ITT, which retained dropouts in the analysis.

Strengths and Limitations

In a CMA, the most careful consideration of costs is typically confined to categories expected to differ between modalities rather than a complete accounting of all implementation costs. In this study's CMA, all the main program costs for both delivery modalities were likely captured in the analysis. The data describe not only cost minimization but also an accurate estimate of each program's cost. This study was limited to just over 150 participants in each modality. If the program were scaled to include a larger number of participants and implemented similarly as in this study, the cost per family in the ODI would likely stay roughly the same without escalation of administrative costs from scaling up. It is less clear how costs for the SDI might escalate when scaling up.

It is often contended that while the costs of implementing an internet-delivered program are expected to be lower than the staff-delivered counterpart, the development or upfront costs are often higher for such a program. For example, the internet-delivered program in this study required only a modest access fee for implementation. However, program delivery utilized an already developed platform, which did not enter the cost analysis. Development costs were not included in the CMA. However, it is not necessarily the case that the internet program's development costs exceeded those for the staff-delivered program. This study's standard staff-delivered program (Level 4 Standard Triple P) went through more than two decades of content, materials, and component development and validation studies, which undoubtedly contributed substantial costs to program development. The initial training of program personnel similarly contributed to upfront costs that did not enter the CMA.

In some contexts, the inclusion of the development costs might initially suggest that an online-delivered intervention is more costly until a large enough number of individuals receive the intervention to make up for those higher upfront costs. This should not be considered a limitation for this study as the cost of accessing the online program was included in the CMA. A related issue pertains to ongoing developmental costs. Costs can be incurred to update or modify online programs to refresh video content, accommodate platform changes, and keep up with technological advances such as artificial intelligence. Although perhaps not as obvious, in-person programs can also incur costs to remain contemporary and evidence-based.

Two additional limitations relate to potentially peripheral or optional costs. The first involved the availability of onsite childcare during SDI sessions. It is debatable whether this childcare cost during intervention delivery should be attributed to the program costs since the protocol does not specifically reference childcare, and many families did not use it. Given that onsite childcare costs were neither tracked nor included in the CMA, the reported cost differential is likely a conservative estimate that would have been larger if those costs had been included. The second optional cost pertains to the brief telephone contacts by staff to check on technical problems and prompt utilization for the ODI, which were not prescribed in the online program but were included in the present cost evaluation. Had this cost been left out, the ODI direct personnel costs (mean of \$107/family) would have been lower, further increasing the SDI-ODI cost differential.

The proportion of completers in ODI was about half of that in SDI. Several factors might have contributed to this lower completion rate. These include the possibility that parents who have achieved their intended goals, in the absence of a practitioner setting appointment times and creating an expectation that session attendance is necessary, might find it easier to discontinue. There are no sanctions for an early exit from the online-delivered program. Session completion could potentially be improved by providing at least some professional phone support during the intervention [29]. However, the provision of professional support increases delivery costs without necessarily improving child outcomes. However, professional support can potentially improve session completion and child outcomes when a parent enters the program with mental health concerns and low self-efficacy (eg, depression) [27]. Some parents prefer to do the online program independently and are not seeking additional professional support, nor do they accept it when offered.

Within the Triple P system, although Level 4 Standard Triple P is the individual program recommended for children with significant conduct problems, it is possible that briefer lower-intensity versions might also benefit some children. These lighter-touch, low-intensity programs such as Level 2 Positive Parenting Seminars, Level 3 Primary Care Triple P, and Level 3 Brief Discussion Groups have been shown to work primarily as preventive interventions rather than as interventions for children with more severe conduct problems. These briefer variants with fewer sessions are disadvantaged by reduced opportunities for parent coaching and at-home practice.

Conclusions

The online-delivered parenting intervention in this randomized controlled trial produced substantial cost minimization compared with the staff-delivered intervention that provided the same content. The mean differential for total costs was \$1164 per case for the intent-to-treat analysis containing all cases and \$1483 per case for the per-protocol analysis containing only cases where the family completed its assigned intervention. Cost minimization was driven primarily by personnel time and, to a lesser extent, by facilities costs and family travel time. The CMA was accomplished with three critical conditions in place: (1) the two intervention delivery modalities (ie, online and staff) held parenting intervention content constant; (2) families were randomized to the two parenting interventions; and (3) the

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

online-delivered intervention was confirmed to be non-inferior to the well-established evidence-based staff-delivered intervention in significantly reducing the primary outcome,

child disruptive behavior problems. Given those conditions, cost minimization for the online parenting intervention was unequivocal.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Chris Arthun and Rachal Hatton for their contributions to data collection and intervention project management. Research reported in this paper was supported by the National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH)/National Institute of Health (NIH) under award R01MH097699 (principal investigator: RJP). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of NIMH or NIH.

Authors' Contributions

RJP, CWM, MRS, and PSC significantly contributed to the conception and design of this study. JBI, RJP, and CWM acquired the data. JBI and PSC analyzed and interpreted the economic data. JBI and RJP drafted the initial manuscript. All authors were involved with the editing of the manuscript and approved the final version submitted for publication. JBI, RJP, and CWM had access to the data in this study and take responsibility for data integrity and accuracy. As principal investigator, RJP takes responsibility for all aspects of the work.

Conflicts of Interest

JBI, PSC, RJP, and CWM have no conflicts of interest to declare. MRS disclosed that the Parenting and Family Support Centre is partly funded by royalties stemming from published resources of the Triple P-Positive Parenting Program, which was developed and is owned by the University of Queensland (UQ). Royalties are also distributed to the Faculty of Health and Behavioral Sciences at UQ and contributory authors of published Triple P resources. Triple P International (TPI) Pty Ltd is a private company licensed by Uniquest Pty Ltd on behalf of UQ, to publish and disseminate Triple P worldwide. MRS receives royalties and consultancy fees from TPI. TPI had no involvement in the study's design, the collection, analysis, or interpretation of its data, nor in the writing of this article.

References

- 1. Carter AS, Wagmiller RJ, Gray SAO, McCarthy KJ, Horwitz SM, Briggs-Gowan MJ. Prevalence of DSM-IV disorder in a representative, healthy birth cohort at school entry: sociodemographic risks and social adaptation. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2010 Jul;49(7):686-698 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2010.03.018] [Medline: 20610138]
- Wertz J, Agnew-Blais J, Caspi A, Danese A, Fisher HL, Goldman-Mellor S, et al. From childhood conduct problems to poor functioning at age 18 years: Examining explanations in a longitudinal cohort study. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2018 Jan;57(1):54-60.e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2017.09.437] [Medline: 29301670]
- 3. Hawkins JD, Catalano RF, Miller JY. Risk and protective factors for alcohol and other drug problems in adolescence and early adulthood: implications for substance abuse prevention. Psychol Bull 1992 Jul;112(1):64-105. [Medline: <u>1529040</u>]
- 4. Dishion T, Patterson G. The development and ecology of antisocial behavior: Linking etiology, prevention, and treatment. In: Cicchetti D, editor. Developmental Psychopathology: Volume 3. Maladaptation and Psychopathology. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley; 2016:647-678.
- 5. Loeber R, Farrington DP, Stouthamer-Loeber M, Van Kammen WB. Antisocial Behavior and Mental Health Problems: Explanatory Factors in Childhood and Adolescence. New York: Psychology Press; 1998.
- 6. Cornacchio D, Bry LJ, Sanchez AL, Poznanski B, Comer JS. Psychosocial treatment and prevention of conduct problems in early childhood. In: Lochman JE, Matthys W, editors. The Wiley Handbook of Disruptive and Impulse Control Disorders. New York: Wiley; 2017:456-466.
- Piquero A, Jennings W, Diamond B, Farrington D, Tremblay R, Welsh B, et al. A meta-analysis update on the effects of early family/parent training programs on antisocial behavior and delinquency. J Exp Criminol 2016 Apr 13;12(2):229-248 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11292-016-9256-0]
- Mingebach T, Kamp-Becker I, Christiansen H, Weber L. Meta-meta-analysis on the effectiveness of parent-based interventions for the treatment of child externalizing behavior problems. PLoS One 2018;13(9):e0202855 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0202855] [Medline: 30256794]
- 9. Theodore L, editor. Handbook of Evidence-Based Interventions for Children and Adolescents. New York: Springer Publishing Company; 2017.
- Baggett KM, Davis B, Feil EG, Sheeber LB, Landry SH, Carta JJ, et al. Technologies for expanding the reach of evidence-based interventions: Preliminary results for promoting social-emotional development in early childhood. Topics Early Child Spec Educ 2010 Feb 1;29(4):226-238 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0271121409354782] [Medline: 20454545]

- 11. Smokowski P, Corona R, Bacallao M, Fortson BL, Marshall KJ, Yaros A. Addressing barriers to recruitment and retention in the implementation of parenting programs: Lessons learned for effective program delivery in rural and urban areas. J Child Fam Stud 2018 Sep;27(9):2925-2942 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10826-018-1139-8] [Medline: 30100698]
- 12. Nieuwboer C, Fukkink R, Hermanns J. Online programs as tools to improve parenting: A meta-analytic review. Children and Youth Services Review 2013 Nov;35(11):1823-1829 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2013.08.008]
- 13. Spencer CM, Topham GL, King EL. Do online parenting programs create change?: A meta-analysis. J Fam Psychol 2020 Apr;34(3):364-374. [doi: 10.1037/fam0000605] [Medline: 31697102]
- 14. Prinz RJ, Metzler CW, Sanders MR, Rusby JC, Cai C. Online-delivered parenting intervention for young children with disruptive behavior problems: a noninferiority trial focused on child and parent outcomes. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2022 Feb 08;63(2):199-209. [doi: 10.1111/jcpp.13426] [Medline: 33829499]
- 15. Drummond MF, Sculpher MJ, Claxton K, Stoddart GL, Torrance GW. Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2015.
- 16. Bergmo TS. How to measure costs and benefits of eHealth interventions: An overview of methods and frameworks. J Med Internet Res 2015 Nov 09;17(11):e254 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4521] [Medline: 26552360]
- 17. Griffiths F, Lindenmeyer A, Powell J, Lowe P, Thorogood M. Why are health care interventions delivered over the internet? A systematic review of the published literature. J Med Internet Res 2006;8(2):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.2.e10] [Medline: 16867965]
- Tate DF, Finkelstein EA, Khavjou O, Gustafson A. Cost effectiveness of internet interventions: review and recommendations. Ann Behav Med 2009 Aug;38(1):40-45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12160-009-9131-6] [Medline: 19834778]
- 19. Sanders MR. Triple P-Positive Parenting Program as a public health approach to strengthening parenting. J Fam Psychol 2008 Aug;22(4):506-517. [doi: 10.1037/0893-3200.22.3.506] [Medline: 18729665]
- 20. Sanders MR, Baker S, Turner KMT. A randomized controlled trial evaluating the efficacy of Triple P Online with parents of children with early-onset conduct problems. Behav Res Ther 2012 Nov;50(11):675-684. [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2012.07.004] [Medline: 22982082]
- 21. Rai M, Goyal R. Pharmacoeconomics and healthcare. In: Vohora D, Singh G, editors. Pharmaceutical Medicine and Translational Clinical Research. London: Academic Press; 2017:465-472.
- 22. Bennett GG, Glasgow RE. The delivery of public health interventions via the Internet: actualizing their potential. Annu Rev Public Health 2009;30:273-292. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.031308.100235] [Medline: 19296777]
- Harris M, Andrews K, Gonzalez A, Prime H, Atkinson L. Technology-assisted parenting interventions for families experiencing social disadvantage: A meta-analysis. Prev Sci 2020 Jul;21(5):714-727. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11121-020-01128-0</u>] [Medline: <u>32415543</u>]
- 24. Nieuwboer CC, Fukkink RG, Hermanns JM. Online programs as tools to improve parenting: A meta-analytic review. Children and Youth Services Review 2013 Nov;35(11):1823-1829. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.childyouth.2013.08.008</u>]
- 25. Spencer CM, Topham GL, King EL. Do online parenting programs create change?: A meta-analysis. J Fam Psychol 2020 Apr;34(3):364-374. [doi: 10.1037/fam0000605] [Medline: 31697102]
- 26. Dadds MR, Sicouri G, Piotrowska PJ, Collins DAJ, Hawes DJ, Moul C, et al. Keeping parents involved: Predicting attrition in a self-directed, online program for childhood conduct problems. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol 2019;48(6):881-893. [doi: 10.1080/15374416.2018.1485109] [Medline: 30067388]
- Day JJ, Sanders MR. Do Parents benefit from help when completing a self-guided parenting program online? A randomized controlled trial comparing Triple P Online with and without telephone support. Behav Ther 2018 Nov;49(6):1020-1038. [doi: 10.1016/j.beth.2018.03.002] [Medline: 30316482]
- Hall CM, Bierman KL. Technology-assisted interventions for parents of young children: Emerging practices, current research, and future directions. Early Child Res Q 2015;33:21-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ecresq.2015.05.003] [Medline: 27773964]
- 29. Day JJ, Sanders MR. Mediators of parenting change within a web-based parenting program: Evidence from a randomized controlled trial of Triple P Online. Couple and Family Psychology: Research and Practice 2017 Sep;6(3):154-170. [doi: 10.1037/cfp0000083]

Abbreviations

CMA: cost-minimization analysis DBP: disruptive behavior problem ITT: intent-to-treat NIH: National Institute of Health NIMH: National Institute of Mental Health ODI: online-delivered intervention PP: per-protocol SDI: staff-delivered intervention TPI: Triple P International

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30795

UQ: University of Queensland

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 28.05.21; peer-reviewed by M Yap, J Roca; comments to author 02.08.21; revised version received 11.08.21; accepted 17.12.21; published 11.03.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Ingels JB, Corso PS, Prinz RJ, Metzler CW, Sanders MR Online-Delivered Over Staff-Delivered Parenting Intervention for Young Children With Disruptive Behavior Problems: Cost-Minimization Analysis JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e30795 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30795 OURL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30795 PMID:35275084

©Justin B Ingels, Phaedra S Corso, Ronald J Prinz, Carol W Metzler, Matthew R Sanders. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 11.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Assessment of the Readability of Web-Based Patient Education Material From Major Canadian Pediatric Associations: Cross-sectional Study

Alice Man^{1*}, BSc; Courtney van Ballegooie^{1,2*}, BSc

¹Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

²Department of Experimental Therapeutics, British Columbia Cancer Research Institute, Vancouver, BC, Canada

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Courtney van Ballegooie, BSc Department of Experimental Therapeutics British Columbia Cancer Research Institute 675 West 10th Avenue Vancouver, BC, V5Z 1L3 Canada Phone: 1 604 675 8000 ext 7024 Fax: 1 604 675 8183 Email: cballegooie@bccrc.ca

Abstract

Background: Web-based patient education materials (PEMs) are frequently written above the recommended reading level in North America. Poor PEM readability limits the accessibility of medical information for individuals with average literacy levels or lower. Pediatric hospital and association websites have not only been shown to be a preferred source of information among caregivers but have also become a necessity during the COVID-19 pandemic. The readability of Canadian pediatric association websites has not yet been assessed.

Objective: The aim of this study is to determine if the content of PEMs from Canadian pediatric associations is written at a reading level that the majority of Canadians can understand.

Methods: A total of 258 PEMs were extracted from 10 Canadian pediatric associations and evaluated for their reading level using 10 validated readability scales. The PEMs underwent a difficult word analysis and comparisons between PEMs from different associations were conducted.

Results: Web-based PEMs were identified from 3 pediatric association websites, where the reading level (calculated as a grade level) was found to be an average of 8.8 (SD 1.8) for the Caring for Kids website, 9.5 (SD 2.2) for the Pediatric Endocrine Group website, and 13.1 (SD 2.1) for the Atlantic Pediatric Society website. The difficult word analysis identified that 19.9% (SD 6.6%) of words were unfamiliar, with 13.3% (SD 5.3%) and 31.9% (SD 6.1%) of words being considered complex (\geq 3 syllables) and long (\geq 6 letters), respectively.

Conclusions: The web-based PEMs were found to be written above the recommended seventh-grade reading level for Canadians. Consideration should be made to create PEMs at an appropriate reading level for both patients and their caregivers to encourage health literacy and ultimately promote preventative health behaviors and improve child health outcomes.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e31820) doi:10.2196/31820

KEYWORDS

health literacy; accessibility; online health information; pediatrics; patient education

Introduction

RenderX

The internet is a valued source of health care information for patients and caregivers worldwide [1,2]. Patients have been

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e31820

shown to rate web-based health information as one of the most useful health care resources, second only to direct communication from a physician or nurse [3]. The internet not only serves as a source of supplemental reading following a doctor's visit but can also inform patients on best health

practices and encourage them to seek medical treatment for symptoms. This is particularly relevant during the COVID-19 pandemic as patients are seeking information about unprecedented medical concerns with limited access to health care [4,5].

Pediatric hospital and association websites are preferred sources of health information by caregivers among internet resources [6]. It is especially important that these websites are accurate and accessible to prevent misinformation. If the content is too difficult to understand, caregivers and patients may resort to using less accurate internet sources. This may exacerbate disparities in health outcomes since individuals with higher health literacy will have greater functional access to health-related content than those with literary barriers. These disparities have been highlighted through multiple studies, where low caregiver health literacy was shown to be associated with poor preventative health behaviors, increased pediatric emergency department use, nonurgent visits, and poorer child health outcomes [7-9].

In Canada, the average proficiency in literacy corresponds approximately to an eighth- to ninth-grade reading level, where over 45% of Canadian adults have been shown to have low literacy skills [10,11]. The readability of educational material is recommended to be at least 2 or more grade levels below the average Canadian reading level to ensure comprehension [12]. Therefore, all patient-related material should be written at a maximum of a seventh-grade reading level. As health literacy commonly requires the use of a combination of prose literacy, document literacy, and/or numeracy skills, adults may have a harder time understanding health-related content than typical prose [13]. Even with adequate literacy skills, many caregivers still have difficulty understanding well-established health-related information in order to care for their infant [14]. Health-related reading materials should be further simplified to account for these additional challenges.

Pediatric health literacy has been explored globally, focusing on a variety of topics and subspecialties within pediatrics. Overall, studies in North America, France, Australia, the United Arab Emirates, Turkey, and Brazil have found that pediatric health information has been written above an acceptable reading level [15-20]. Topics have ranged from mental health, otolaryngology, orthopedics, oral health, oncology, and consent and discharge forms [21-27]. In Canada, although a variety of topics and subspecialties have been studied as they relate to health literacy, such as oncology, microtia and aural atresia, and emergency medicine [28-30], no study has evaluated the pediatric information developed by major pediatric associations and societies from multiple disciplines. This study aims to evaluate the reading level of the web-based Canadian pediatric patient education material (PEM) from pediatric associations and societies and to provide specific recommendations to improve readability.

Methods

Sample Collection

During May and June 2020, all internet-based PEMs were downloaded from the pediatric associations' websites. A total of 10 national associations were identified and are listed in Table 1 along with the number of unique PEMs obtained from each association. The downloaded PEMs included materials describing any topic with intended use by parents, guardians, or children on the pediatric websites. Therefore, this excluded any material intended for health care providers. PDF files were manually converted to plain text for further analysis. Text sections containing nonmedical information such as page numbers, disclaimers, tables, diagrams, phone numbers, emails, and webpage navigation were removed from each of the PEMs before analysis.

Table 1. A list of the pediatric associations that provide patient education material and the number of documents obtained from each.

Canadian pediatric association	Documents obtained, n
Canadian Pediatric Society	205
Canadian Pediatric Endocrine Group	46
Atlantic Pediatric Society	7
Canadian Association of Pediatric Surgeons	0
Canadian Association of Child Neurology	0
Canadian Pediatric Cardiology Association	0
Canadian Pediatric Anesthesia Society	0
Canadian Association of Pediatric Nephrologists	0
Canadian Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry	0
Canadian Association of Pediatric Ophthalmology	0

Document Readability Analysis

A readability assessment was performed on the PEMs using the software package Readability Studio Professional Edition (version 2019.3; Oleander Software Ltd). The readability scales

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e31820

graphical scales. The 8 readability scales included the Degrees of Reading Power–grade equivalent test (DRP-GE); Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level (FK); Simple Measure of

used to determine the reading level, which was reported as a

grade level, of the PEMs included 8 numerical scales and 2

Man & van Ballegooie

Gobbledygook index (SMOG); Coleman-Liau index (CLI); Gunning Fog index (GF); New Fog Count (NFC); New Dale-Chall readability formula (NDC); and Ford, Caylor, Sticht scale (FORCAST). The 2 graphical scales included the Raygor Readability Estimate Graph (RREG) and the Fry Readability Graph (FRG). These 10 scales are often used when assessing medical text and offer externally validated measures of readability [31-33].

PEMs often contain text that must be modified before the analysis to appropriately apply the readability scales. This includes the removal of charts as well as the modification of bullet points to form complete sentences for analysis. To address the limitation of narrative-based readability scales, PEMs were individually edited to create high- and low-sentence documents, as performed by Perni et al [32]. For example, in high-sentence documents, each individual bullet point was treated as an independent sentence and resulted in a lower grade level estimate. On the other hand, low-sentence documents had each bullet point separated with a comma, with the final bullet point ending the sentence; this resulted in a higher grade level estimate [31,32]. The high- and low-level estimates were then averaged for further analysis. The associations' readability level using the 8 numerical scales can be seen in Figure 1, and the 2 graphical scales can be seen in Figure 2.

Figure 1. The reading level of patient education materials (PEMs) developed by the Atlantic Pediatric Society, Pediatric Endocrine Group, and Canadian Pediatric Society (Caring for Kids) as calculated by various numerical readability scales, compared to the average Canadian reading level and the recommended reading level for PEMs.



Man & van Ballegooie

Figure 2. (A) The Fry Readability Graph of all high-sentence estimate web-based patient education materials (PEMs) collected from Canadian pediatric associations. The Fry Readability Graph visually demonstrates the readability of PEMs by the intersection of the number of syllables per 100 words and the number of sentences per 100 words. (B) The Raygor Readability Estimate Graph of all high-sentence estimate web-based PEMs collected from Canadian pediatric associations. The Raygor Readability Estimate Graph visually demonstrates the readability of the PEMs by the intersection of the number of long words per 100 words and sentences per 100 words. Within both graphs, the numbers within the graph indicate the approximate reading level (reported as a grade level) and the circles indicate reading levels of individual PEMs.



Difficult Word Analysis

A difficult word analysis was performed to identify the number and percentage of complex words (composed of 3 or more syllables), long words (composed of 6 or more letters), and unfamiliar words in each PEM according to the NDC criteria [34,35]. Once all the words were extracted from the PEMs, they were compared to the NDC word list as well as the New General Service List (NGSL). Words that appeared in either of the lists were removed and considered to be nonjargon words. All words that appeared in less than 3 PEMs were excluded from the analysis. Words with 3 or more syllables were then extracted, and the various tenses of the 10 most frequently identified words, where applicable, were combined. Alternative words were then proposed for any 3-syllable word that appeared in 3 or more PEMs, either using the Readability Studio Software,

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e31820
```

XSL•F() RenderX the Merriam-Webster thesaurus, or in consultation with a physician, to identify synonyms that can decrease the difficulty of the word.

Statistical Methods

Graphical data in Figure 1 were reported as the arithmetic means with the error bars representing the standard deviations. Data sets had their normality tested using a Shapiro-Wilk test when central limit theorem conditions were not met. Equal variance was tested using a Brown-Forsythe test to determine if the data would need to be transformed before analysis. Normally distributed data with equal variance then underwent a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). If the data were not normally distributed, then a nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis test was employed. Multiple comparisons tests, such as Tukey tests, were used to identify differences between sample means in the

ANOVA analysis [36]. The data were analyzed using Graph Pad Prism (version 9; GraphPad Software Inc).

Results

Document Readability Analysis

Following conversion to plain text, high- and low-sentence PEMs were subjected to 8 readability tests, including the DRP-GE, FK, SMOG, CLI, GF, NFC, NDC, and FORCAST. Figure 1 illustrates a summary of the results for the pediatric associations. The reading levels (reported as grade levels) measured by the 8 readability scales were averaged for each pediatric association, where the mean and standard deviations are reported as follows: Caring for Kids (8.8, SD 1.8), Pediatric Endocrine Group (9.5, SD 2.2), and the Atlantic Pediatric Society (13.1, SD 2.1). The overall mean was 9.1 (SD 2.4), with a grade-level range of 5 to 17. Note that Caring for Kids is a website developed by the Canadian Pediatric Society.

When the 8 readability scores of the individual PEMs were averaged, only 18 (7%) and 144 (55.8%) of the 258 PEMs, were below a seventh-grade and ninth-grade level, respectively. The RREG score of the high-sentence PEMs (Figure 2) ranges from a third-grade reading level to a grade level equivalent to that in university, with 26 (10.1%) and 127 (49.2%) of the 258 PEMs written at a grade level below 7 and 9, respectively. The FRG score of the high-sentence estimate, as seen in Figure 2, ranges from a third-grade to a 17th-grade (university-educated) reading level, with 14 (5.4%) and 118 (45.7%) of the 258 PEMs written at a grade level below 7 and 9, respectively.

The grade levels calculated by all 8 scales from the Atlantic Pediatric Society's PEMs were also compared to those from Caring for Kids and the Pediatric Endocrine Group. Comparisons with 7 out of 8 reading tests were found to be statistically significant for both pediatric associations, where the NFC test was the only test to show no statistical significance (Table 2).

Table 2. Comparison of the reading level scores calculated by 8 readability scales of patient education materials (PEMs) from the Atlantic Pediatric Society (APS) with 2 other pediatric associations' PEMs.

Readability test	<i>P</i> value across all PEMs	P value for the pairwise comparison of the APS ^a PEMs ^b to other pediatric associations' PEMs ^c		
		Caring for Kids	Pediatric Endocrine Group	
CLI ^d	<.001	<.001	<.001	
NDC ^e	<.001	<.001	.02	
DRP-GE ^f	<.001	<.001	<.001	
FK ^g	<.001	<.001	.001	
FORCAST ^h	<.001	<.001	<.001	
GF^{i}	<.001	<.001	<.001	
NFC ^j	.08	.38	.13	
SMOG ^k	<.001	.003	<.001	

^aAPS: Atlantic Pediatric Society.

^bPEM: patient education material.

 ^{c}P values for comparisons across the different pediatric associations' PEMs were calculated using analysis of variance (ANOVA) with a Welch correction nonparametric equivalent when applicable. *P* values for pairwise comparisons between PEMs were calculated using the Tukey, Tamhane, and Dunnett test.

^dCLI: Coleman-Liau index.

^eNDC: New Dale-Chall readability formula.

^fDRP-GE: Degrees of Reading Power-grade equivalent test.

^gFK: Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level.

^hFORCAST: Ford, Caylor, Sticht scale.

ⁱGF: Gunning Fog index.

^jNFC: New Fog Count.

^kSMOG: Simple Measure of Gobbledygook index.

Difficult Word Analysis

From the difficult word analysis, it was determined that of all the words found in the PEMs, on average, 13.3% (SD 5.3%) were complex words which contained 3 or more syllables, 31.9% (SD 6.1%) contained 6 or more letters, and 19.9% (SD 6.6%)

were unfamiliar words. All PEMs collected had a target audience of caregivers or pediatric patients (described as patients between the ages of 0 and 19). The most frequent terms included cannabis, marijuana, medication(-s), calcium, cortisol, and hepatitis. Table 3 describes the most frequent difficult words in compliance with the criteria described in the methods section.



Table 3. Dif	cult words found	1 in the patien	t education m	aterials analyz	ed, with alterr	native word r	ecommendations.
--------------	------------------	-----------------	---------------	-----------------	-----------------	---------------	-----------------

Organization	Difficult word ^a	Frequency	Alternatives ^b
Atlantic Pediatric Society	Pediatric(-s), Pediatrician(-s)	41	Doctor for kids, doctor
	Adolescent(-s), Adolescence	7	Kids, children, teenage
	Developmental	4	Growth, stage, other abled
Pediatric Endocrine Group	Calcium	226	N/A
	Cortisol	180	Stress hormone
	Puberty, Pubertal, Puberties	161	N/A
	Genital(-s, -ia)	148	Private parts
	Injection(-s), Injectable	148	Shot
	Activate, Activated, Activating	125	Turn on, start, trigger
	Adrenal(-s)	102	N/A
	Vitamin	90	N/A
	Medication(-s)	90	Treatment, drug
	Pituitary	85	Brain gland
Caring for Kids	Cannabis, Marijuana	362	CBD ^c , THC ^d
	Medication(-s)	151	Treatment, drug
	Hepatitis	143	N/A
	Media	137	Online, T.V. ^e , print
	Diabetes	126	High sugars
	Vaccination(-s), Vaccinated	119	Shot
	Influenza	103	Flu
	Vitamin(-s)	101	N/A
	Breastfeeding	99	Nursing, feeding
	Pediatric, Pediatrician(-s)	97	Doctor for kids, doctor

^aThe following inclusion criteria were used for identifying a difficult word: (1) any word with \geq 3 syllables that was used at least once in \geq 3 patient education materials and (2) was unlisted on either the New Dale-Chall list of familiar words or the New General Service List.

^bAlternatives selected are those that are considered synonymous and that decrease the individual word's syllables and/or letter count.

^cCBD: cannabidiol.

^dTHC: tetrahydrocannabinol.

^eT.V.: television.

Discussion

Principal Findings

PEMs found on pediatric associations' websites serve as an important link between health care professionals and caregivers. Through these web-based resources, parents can access reputable information endorsed by health care professionals to inform childcare practices on a day-to-day basis [1-3]. Although these resources are readily available with internet access, they are not always functionally accessible to all caregivers and patients. Pediatric PEMs have consistently been shown globally to be written at higher reading levels than recommended for a public audience, which is consistent with this study's findings [9,15-20].

Based on the analyses using the DRP-GE, FK, SMOG, CLI, GF, NFC, NDC, and FORCAST scales, PEMs available on

RenderX

Canadian pediatric association websites were found to be written at a ninth-grade reading level (mean 9.1, SD 2.4) on average, wherein only 7% (18/258) of PEMs were written below the recommended seventh-grade reading level. Similar results were shown by the RREG and FRG (Figure 2), wherein only 5.4% (14/258) to 10.1% (26/258) of PEMs were found to be written below a seventh-grade reading level. This suggests that the PEMs cannot be easily understood by most Canadians, and even less so by pediatric patients. This is particularly true for the Atlantic Pediatric Society's PEMs, which are written at a university reading level (mean 13.1, SD 2.1). In Table 2, it can be seen that the Atlantic Pediatric Society's PEMs were statistically significantly different from other pediatric associations' PEMs in a majority of the readability tests employed. This suggests that the Atlantic Pediatric Society should consider all parameters used in each readability test, such as word and sentence length, the number of syllables in each word, and the familiarity of the words used, to improve

readability. In addition to reducing the reading level of the text directed to caregivers, pediatric associations should consider stratifying their websites to include simpler educational materials directed to children.

Although the study itself uses 8 numerical and 2 graphical readability indices to better represent the many parameters that are factored into readability, special emphasis should be given toward readability formulas designed for health care materials. This includes the SMOG and FRG, with the SMOG considered as the gold standard by many large institutes such as the National Cancer Institute [37]. When factoring this into account, the average reading level of the PEMs would be closer to an 11th-grade rather than a ninth-grade reading level. Although this study focused on PEMs derived from only Canadian pediatric hospitals and associations, patients retrieve information from a variety of other sources. Health content obtained from common sources, such as Wikipedia and other popular websites containing health information, has also been shown to be written at a reading level far above the seventh grade [38-40]. These findings suggest that even if pediatric patients use education materials outside of those analyzed in this study, they may still face challenges in identifying information that is at an appropriate reading level.

The difficult word analysis revealed long words were the most common type of difficult word in the PEMs. This is in line with another recent Canadian publication on cancer-related PEMs [34]. Difficult terminology should be replaced with more familiar alternatives whenever possible to improve the ease of understanding. For example, "beneficial" could be replaced with "helpful," and "clinician" could be replaced with "doctor" for simplicity. Although the substitution of terminology is ideal, it may not be applicable to cases in which information must be fully and accurately communicated. In these situations, a clear definition should be included when the word is introduced. Although the content of the PEMs was analyzed for reading level and word difficulty in this study, additional factors such as organization, layout, and design can impact PEMs' readability. Therefore, further studies should be undertaken once additional instruments, such as the Suitability Assessment of Materials and PMOSE/IKIRSCH document readability formula, are validated for medical literature [41,42].

Limitations

The readability tests used in this study consider parameters such as word and sentence length, number of syllables per word, words per sentence, and the difficulty level of words [31-33]. Although the use of multiple tests allows for more dimensions of readability to be considered, there are still limitations to using readability tests overall. Tests that assess syllable count may overestimate the readability of the text. Monosyllabic medical terminology, such as the word "stent," contributes to a lower readability score, but that may not necessarily reflect a person's ability to understand the terminology [15,31]. Conversely, tests that assess word familiarity may underestimate the readability of the text. Well-known medical terminology, such as the word "pediatrician," acts to increase readability scores but may not contribute to increased difficulty in understanding the text. Furthermore, the act of defining difficult words within the text, which would greatly improve comprehension, is also not considered to impact readability. Additionally, the readability tests in this study do not account for the formatting of the text or the inclusion of diagrams. Although bullet points were analyzed as both sentences and comma-separated phrases, this does not fully capture the improvement to readability that lists provide. The evaluation of communication tools such as tables and images should be considered for future studies, as they can also serve to improve the ease of understanding [12]. Lastly, interpretations of the results must be taken into context as only Canadian pediatric associations were assessed, with just 3 of the 10 associations having PEMs on their websites. The results are therefore not representative of the totality of the information that caregivers and pediatric patients would be exposed to.

Conclusions

Overall, web-based PEMs developed by Canadian pediatric associations exceed the recommended seventh-grade reading level. Difficult words should be replaced when possible or defined, and educational content directed specifically toward pediatric patients should be included. Additional consideration should be placed on the incorporation of multimedia PEMs [43]. Qualitative studies should be conducted in the future to better understand caregiver and provider information needs, as well as the barriers toward implementing more functionally accessible PEMs on pediatric association websites [44-46]. Additionally, the quality of the PEMs should be evaluated to determine if the information provided is accurate [47-49]. Once collected, this data can be used to inform changes that improve the usefulness, quality, and accessibility of pediatric PEMs. As the role of technology in health care increases, it is important that all individuals are able to understand and use reputable resources on the internet.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank and acknowledge Dr. Peter Hoang for his assistance with the difficult word analysis by providing his perspective as a physician. This research was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (Grant 21R04868) and the University of British Columbia Graduate Fellowships. The funding sources had no role in how the research was conducted or in the preparation of the paper.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

	ш
XSL	FO
Rend	lerX

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e31820

- 1. Rothrock S, Rothrock A, Swetland S, Pagane M, Isaak S, Romney J, et al. Quality, trustworthiness, readability, and accuracy of medical information regarding common pediatric emergency medicine-related complaints on the web. J Emerg Med 2019 Oct;57(4):469-477 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jemermed.2019.06.043] [Medline: 31561928]
- Cocco AM, Zordan R, Taylor DM, Weiland TJ, Dilley SJ, Kant J, et al. Dr Google in the ED: searching for online health information by adult emergency department patients. Med J Aust 2018 Oct 15;209(8):342-347. [doi: 10.5694/mja17.00889] [Medline: 30107763]
- 3. Diaz JA, Griffith RA, Ng JJ, Reinert SE, Friedmann PD, Moulton AW. Patients' use of the internet for medical information. J Gen Intern Med 2002 Mar;17(3):180-185 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2002.10603.x] [Medline: 11929503]
- Chan AKM, Nickson CP, Rudolph JW, Lee A, Joynt GM. Social media for rapid knowledge dissemination: early experience from the COVID-19 pandemic. Anaesthesia 2020 Dec;75(12):1579-1582 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/anae.15057] [Medline: 32227594]
- Farrell TW, Francis L, Brown T, Ferrante LE, Widera E, Rhodes R, et al. Rationing limited healthcare resources in the COVID-19 era and beyond: ethical considerations regarding older adults. J Am Geriatr Soc 2020 Jun;68(6):1143-1149
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jgs.16539] [Medline: 32374466]
- 6. Bernhardt JM, Felter EM. Online pediatric information seeking among mothers of young children: results from a qualitative study using focus groups. J Med Internet Res 2004 Mar 01;6(1):e7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6.1.e7] [Medline: 15111273]
- Morrison AK, Myrvik MP, Brousseau DC, Hoffmann RG, Stanley RM. The relationship between parent health literacy and pediatric emergency department utilization: a systematic review. Acad Pediatr 2013;13(5):421-429. [doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2013.03.001] [Medline: 23680294]
- Morrison AK, Schapira MM, Gorelick MH, Hoffmann RG, Brousseau DC. Low caregiver health literacy is associated with higher pediatric emergency department use and nonurgent visits. Acad Pediatr 2014;14(3):309-314 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2014.01.004] [Medline: 24767784]
- 9. Sanders LM, Federico S, Klass P, Abrams MA, Dreyer B. Literacy and child health: a systematic review. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2009 Feb;163(2):131-140. [doi: 10.1001/archpediatrics.2008.539] [Medline: 19188645]
- 10. OECD Skills Outlook 2013: First results from the survey of adult skills. OECD. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.oecd.org/skills/piaac/Skills%20volume%201%20(eng)--full%20v12--eBook%20(04%2011%202013).pdf</u> [accessed 2022-02-24]
- 11. Bailey PG, Tuinman JJ, Jones S. Literacy. The Canadian Encyclopedia. Toronto, Canada: Historica Canada; 2013. URL: https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/literacy [accessed 2021-12-17]
- 12. Simply put: a guide for creating easy-to-understand materials. US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2009. URL: https://www.cdc.gov/healthliteracy/pdf/simply_put.pdf [accessed 2021-12-17]
- 13. Murray T, Hagey J, Willms D, Shillington R, Desjardins R. Health literacy in Canada: a healthy understanding. eScholarship University of California. 2008. URL: <u>https://escholarship.org/uc/item/890661nm</u> [accessed 2021-12-17]
- Kumar D, Sanders L, Perrin EM, Lokker N, Patterson B, Gunn V, et al. Parental understanding of infant health information: health literacy, numeracy, and the Parental Health Literacy Activities Test (PHLAT). Acad Pediatr 2010;10(5):309-316 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2010.06.007] [Medline: 20674532]
- 15. D'Alessandro DM, Kingsley P, Johnson-West J. The readability of pediatric patient education materials on the World Wide Web. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2001 Jul;155(7):807-812. [doi: <u>10.1001/archpedi.155.7.807</u>] [Medline: <u>11434848</u>]
- Ménoni V, Lucas N, Leforestier J, Doz F, Chatellier G, Jacqz-Aigain E, et al. Readability of the written study information in pediatric research in France. PLoS One 2011 Apr 06;6(4):e18484 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018484] [Medline: 21494689]
- 17. Arora A, Lam AS, Karami Z, Do LG, Harris MF. How readable are Australian paediatric oral health education materials? BMC Oral Health 2014 Sep 02;14(1):111-118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6831-14-111] [Medline: 25183234]
- Al-Yateem N, Rossiter R, Robb W, Ahmad A, Elhalik MS, Albloshi S, et al. Mental health literacy among pediatric hospital staff in the United Arab Emirates. BMC Psychiatry 2017 Dec 08;17(1):390-312 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1556-z] [Medline: 29216871]
- Acar B, Acar M, Ocak E, Kocaöz D, Koksal AO, Karasen RM. Accuracy of internet guidance on pediatric otolaryngology procedures. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2014 Dec;78(12):2190-2192. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijporl.2014.10.009</u>] [Medline: <u>25455527</u>]
- 20. Piña SP, Corrêa CC, Carvalho LRD, Weber SAT. Comprehensiveness, readability, and reliability of Brazilian websites available for lay people's guidance on adenotonsillectomy. Braz J Otorhinolaryngol 2021;87(1):66-73 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bjorl.2019.06.012] [Medline: 31439530]
- Tait AR, Voepel-Lewis T, Malviya S, Philipson SJ. Improving the readability and processability of a pediatric informed consent document: effects on parents' understanding. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2005 Apr;159(4):347-352. [doi: 10.1001/archpedi.159.4.347] [Medline: 15809387]
- 22. Wong K, Levi JR. Readability of pediatric otolaryngology information by children's hospitals and academic institutions. Laryngoscope 2017 Apr;127(4):E138-E144. [doi: <u>10.1002/lary.26359</u>] [Medline: <u>27753115</u>]

- Badarudeen S, Sabharwal S. Readability of patient education materials from the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons and Pediatric Orthopaedic Society of North America web sites. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2008 Jan;90(1):199-204. [doi: <u>10.2106/JBJS.G.00347</u>] [Medline: <u>18171975</u>]
- 24. Hendrickson RL, Huebner CE, Riedy CA. Readability of pediatric health materials for preventive dental care. BMC Oral Health 2006;6:14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6831-6-14] [Medline: 17109743]
- Unaka NI, Statile A, Haney J, Beck AF, Brady PW, Jerardi KE. Assessment of readability, understandability, and completeness of pediatric hospital medicine discharge instructions. J Hosp Med 2017 Feb;12(2):98-101 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.12788/jhm.2688] [Medline: 28182805]
- 26. Yi PH, Yi MM, Nguyen JC. Readability of online information related to pediatric radiation safety From societal websites. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2018 Nov;211(5):1128-1134. [doi: 10.2214/AJR.17.19299] [Medline: 30240293]
- 27. Hargrave DR, Hargrave UA, Bouffet E. Quality of health information on the Internet in pediatric neuro-oncology. Neuro Oncol 2006;8(2):175-182 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1215/15228517-2005-008] [Medline: 16533758]
- Friedman DB, Hoffman-Goetz L. A systematic review of readability and comprehension instruments used for print and web-based cancer information. Health Educ Behav 2006 Jun;33(3):352-373. [doi: <u>10.1177/1090198105277329</u>] [Medline: <u>16699125</u>]
- 29. Alamoudi U, Hong P. Readability and quality assessment of websites related to microtia and aural atresia. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2015 Feb;79(2):151-156. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijporl.2014.11.027] [Medline: 25554575]
- Chacon D, Kissoon N, Rich S. Education attainment level of caregivers versus readability level of written instructions in a pediatric emergency department. Pediatr Emerg Care 1994 Jun;10(3):144-149. [doi: <u>10.1097/00006565-199406000-00006</u>] [Medline: <u>8058557</u>]
- 31. van Ballegooie C, Hoang P. Assessment of the readability of online patient education material from major geriatric associations. J Am Geriatr Soc 2021 Apr;69(4):1051-1056. [doi: <u>10.1111/jgs.16960</u>] [Medline: <u>33236778</u>]
- Perni S, Rooney MK, Horowitz DP, Golden DW, McCall AR, Einstein AJ, et al. Assessment of use, specificity, and readability of written clinical informed consent forms for patients with cancer undergoing radiotherapy. JAMA Oncol 2019 Aug 01;5(8):e190260 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2019.0260] [Medline: 31046122]
- 33. Badarudeen S, Sabharwal S. Assessing readability of patient education materials: current role in orthopaedics. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2010;468(10):2572-2580 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11999-010-1380-y] [Medline: 20496023]
- 34. van Ballegooie C, Hoang P. Health services: a mixed methods assessment of Canadian cancer patient education materials related to the 2019 novel coronavirus. Cancer Control 2021;28:1073274821989709 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1073274821989709] [Medline: 33563050]
- 35. Schnitzler L, Smith SK, Shepherd HL, Shaw J, Dong S, Carpenter DM, et al. Communication during radiation therapy education sessions: the role of medical jargon and emotional support in clarifying patient confusion. Patient Educ Couns 2017 Jan;100(1):112-120. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2016.08.006] [Medline: 27542311]
- 36. van Ballegooie C. Assessment of Canadian patient education material for oncology pharmaceutics. J Oncol Pharm Pract 2021 Oct;27(7):1578-1587. [doi: 10.1177/1078155220960823] [Medline: 33019874]
- 37. National Cancer Institute. Education Resources Information Center. Bethesda: National Cancer Institute; 1994. URL: <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED381691</u> [accessed 2021-12-17]
- Watad A, Bragazzi NL, Brigo F, Sharif K, Amital H, McGonagle D, et al. Readability of Wikipedia pages on autoimmune Disorders: systematic quantitative assessment. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jul 18;19(7):e260 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8225] [Medline: 28720555]
- McInnes N, Haglund BJA. Readability of online health information: implications for health literacy. Inform Health Soc Care 2011 Dec;36(4):173-189. [doi: 10.3109/17538157.2010.542529] [Medline: 21332302]
- 40. Daraz L, Morrow AS, Ponce OJ, Farah W, Katabi A, Majzoub A, et al. Readability of online health information: a meta-narrative systematic review. Am J Med Qual 2018;33(5):487-492. [doi: 10.1177/1062860617751639] [Medline: 29345143]
- Huang G, Fang CH, Agarwal N, Bhagat N, Eloy JA, Langer PD. Assessment of online patient education materials from major ophthalmologic associations. JAMA Ophthalmol 2015 Apr;133(4):449-454. [doi: <u>10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2014.6104</u>] [Medline: <u>25654639</u>]
- 42. Kasabwala K, Agarwal N, Hansberry DR, Baredes S, Eloy JA. Readability assessment of patient education materials from the American Academy of Otolaryngology--Head and Neck Surgery Foundation. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 2012 Sep;147(3):466-471. [doi: 10.1177/0194599812442783] [Medline: 22473833]
- 43. Schooley B, Singh A, Hikmet N, Brookshire R, Patel N. Integrated digital patient education at the bedside for patients with chronic conditions: observational study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Dec 22;8(12):e22947 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22947] [Medline: 33350961]
- 44. Nicholl H, Tracey C, Begley T, King C, Lynch AM. Internet use by parents of children with rare conditions: findings from a study on parents' web information needs. J Med Internet Res 2017 Feb 28;19(2):e51 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5834] [Medline: 28246072]

- 45. Piché-Renaud P, Thibault L, Essouri S, Chainey A, Thériault C, Bernier G, et al. Parents' perspectives, information needs and healthcare preferences when consulting for their children with bronchiolitis: a qualitative study. Acta Paediatr 2021 Mar;110(3):944-951. [doi: 10.1111/apa.15606] [Medline: 33006194]
- 46. Tiase VL, Sward KA, Del Fiol G, Staes C, Weir C, Cummins MR. Patient-generated health data in pediatric asthma: exploratory study of providers' information needs. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2021 Jan 26;4(1):e25413 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/25413] [Medline: 33496674]
- Mishra V, Dexter JP. Comparison of readability of official public health information about COVID-19 on websites of international agencies and the governments of 15 countries. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Aug 03;3(8):e2018033 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.18033] [Medline: 32809028]
- 48. Kloosterboer A, Yannuzzi NA, Patel NA, Kuriyan AE, Sridhar J. Assessment of the quality, content, and readability of freely available online information for patients regarding diabetic retinopathy. JAMA Ophthalmol 2019 Nov 01;137(11):1240-1245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2019.3116] [Medline: 31436789]
- 49. Fefer M, Lamb CC, Shen AH, Clardy P, Muralidhar V, Devlin PM, et al. Multilingual analysis of the quality and readability of online health information on the adverse effects of breast cancer treatments. JAMA Surg 2020 Aug 01;155(8):781-784 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamasurg.2020.1668] [Medline: 32520317]

Abbreviations

ANOVA: analysis of variance CLI: Coleman-Liau index DRP-GE: Degrees of Reading Power–grade equivalent FK: Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level FORCAST: Ford, Caylor, Sticht scale FRG: Fry Readability Graph GF: Gunning Fog index NDC: New Dale-Chall readability formula NFC: New Fog Count NGSL: New general service list PEM: Patient education material RREG: Raygor Readability Estimate Graph SMOG: Simple Measure of Gobbledygook index

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 06.07.21; peer-reviewed by S Rush, B Nievas Soriano; comments to author 08.12.21; revised version received 20.12.21; accepted 28.12.21; published 16.03.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Man A, van Ballegooie C Assessment of the Readability of Web-Based Patient Education Material From Major Canadian Pediatric Associations: Cross-sectional Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e31820 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e31820</u> doi:10.2196/31820 PMID:35293875

©Alice Man, Courtney van Ballegooie. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 16.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.


Original Paper

Locating Youth Exposed to Parental Justice Involvement in the Electronic Health Record: Development of a Natural Language Processing Model

Samantha Boch^{1,2}, RN, PhD; Syed-Amad Hussain³, BSe; Sven Bambach³, PhD; Cameron DeShetler⁴; Deena Chisolm^{3,5}, PhD; Simon Linwood^{6,7}, MBA, MD

¹College of Nursing, University of Cincinnati, Cincinnati, OH, United States

²James M Anderson Center for Health Systems Excellence, Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center, Cincinnati, OH, United States

³IT Research and Innovation, Abigail Wexner Research Institute, Nationwide Children's Hospital, Columbus, OH, United States

⁴Biomedical Engineering Undergraduate Department, Notre Dame University, Notre Dame, IN, United States

⁵College of Medicine and Public Health, College of Nursing, The Ohio State University, Columbus, OH, United States

⁶Nationwide Children's Hospital, Columbus, OH, United States

⁷School of Medicine, University of California, Riverside, CA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Samantha Boch, RN, PhD College of Nursing University of Cincinnati 3110 Vine St Cincinnati, OH, 45221 United States Phone: 1 513 558 5280 Fax: 1 513 558 7523 Email: bochsj@ucmail.uc.edu

Abstract

Background: Parental justice involvement (eg, prison, jail, parole, or probation) is an unfortunately common and disruptive household adversity for many US youths, disproportionately affecting families of color and rural families. Data on this adversity has not been captured routinely in pediatric health care settings, and if it is, it is not discrete nor able to be readily analyzed for purposes of research.

Objective: In this study, we outline our process training a state-of-the-art natural language processing model using unstructured clinician notes of one large pediatric health system to identify patients who have experienced a justice-involved parent.

Methods: Using the electronic health record database of a large Midwestern pediatric hospital-based institution from 2011-2019, we located clinician notes (of any type and written by any type of provider) that were likely to contain such evidence of family justice involvement via a justice-keyword search (eg, prison and jail). To train and validate the model, we used a labeled data set of 7500 clinician notes identifying whether the patient was ever exposed to parental justice involvement. We calculated the precision and recall of the model and compared those rates to the keyword search.

Results: The development of the machine learning model increased the precision (positive predictive value) of locating children affected by parental justice involvement in the electronic health record from 61% (a simple keyword search) to 92%.

Conclusions: The use of machine learning may be a feasible approach to addressing the gaps in our understanding of the health and health services of underrepresented youth who encounter childhood adversities not routinely captured—particularly for children of justice-involved parents.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e33614) doi:10.2196/33614

KEYWORDS

RenderX

parental incarceration; machine learning; natural language processing; parental justice involvement; adverse childhood experiences; pediatrics; pediatric health; parenting; digital health; electronic health record; eHealth

Introduction

Parental justice involvement (eg, prison, jail, parole, or probation) is an unfortunately common and disruptive household adversity for many youths in the United States. Over 5.7 million US children, or nearly 1 in every 14 youth, have experienced a parent's incarceration in jail or prison, and these are disproportionately youth of color, youth in poverty, and youth in rural areas [1]. Even worse, nearly half of all US children have at least one parent with a record of crime which can affect where a family lives, works, and their eligibility for governmental economic assistance [2]. Children of incarcerated parents are at risk for out-of-home placement [3,4], delinquency [5], poor behavioral health symptoms, [5-7], and school problems [8] with challenges lasting through adulthood [9,10]. The National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine (NASEM) [11,12] and the US Department of Health and Human Services [13] have recently advocated for greater information on these youths to inform when, how, and where to best support their health and well-being [11,13]. However, data on this adversity is not routinely collected in pediatric health care settings (and if it is, it is not discrete and unable to be readily analyzed), so we know very little about these youths using reliable measures of health. Because of these gaps [7], few efforts exist to track or facilitate timely follow-up with the remaining children when a parent is arrested (or incarcerated) in order to link comprehensive family support services that could likely mitigate these poor outcomes. Until routine screening on this adversity or novel, cross-sectorial data linkages with justice/court systems become commonplace, leveraging data science tools are feasible, timely, and cost-effective.

Due to advances in artificial intelligence, researchers are learning to leverage clinician notes and other text in the electronic health record to assist in identifying families affected by the social determinants of health. Prior work using natural language processing and machine learning to extract social risk information from clinical notes of adult patients in the United States has been effective [14-17]; however, there is limited use of this work within pediatric settings. The use of machine learning-based algorithms in pediatric medicine has been explored to optimize detection/diagnosis, treatment, and outcome/risk predictions in children who suffer from specific conditions such as severe sepsis [18], autism spectrum disorder [19-22], traumatic brain injuries [23], substance use disorder [24], and asthma [25]. The benefits and drawbacks of their usage in pediatric clinical care have been described by others [26,27]. The application of these techniques to advance our understanding of the health and clinical care of youth who suffer from various adversities holds great promise, yet, few have leveraged such approaches in pediatric research.

To our knowledge, only one study explored the use of natural language processing to locate adults with a history of personal incarceration using the Veterans Administration health record [28]. No study, to date, has examined the use of natural language processing to locate children of justice-involved parents, absent self-report screening tools, nor has research leveraged advanced machine learning models to enhance model accuracy. A recently published study (led by the first author) appears to be the first

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e33614
```

to leverage natural language processing tools to identify children with any type of contact with the justice system (personal or family) in one large pediatric system [29]. Despite these youths making up only 2% of the pediatric population, they accounted for more than half of substance use and trauma-related diagnoses, nearly half of all stress-related diagnoses, and a third of all psychiatric disorders and suicide-related diagnoses within this institution spanning a 14 year time period [29]. A closer review of 1000 random clinician notes pulled from the search revealed that the exposure to parental incarceration was the most frequent type of justice involvement [29]. These findings, in combination with the identified gaps in the sciences on children of justice-involved parents [7], provide a great rationale for the development of machine learning to specifically locate children with a history of parental incarceration.

The first step to validating a machine learning model for exposure to parental justice involvement is understanding whether it can accurately identify the exposure. The development of such a validated model could address research gaps and provide a foundation for exploring how data science can be leveraged to locate other at-risk groups in the pediatric electronic health record. This manuscript describes such a process and validation in hopes to inspire others to think creatively about how to address gaps in our understanding of various types of childhood adversities, specifically on the health of children of justice-involved parents and other at-risk pediatric groups. Doing so creates a novel way to apply these tools to promote child health equity.

Methods

Overview

In this work, we trained a state-of-the-art natural language processing model to automatically retrieve patient notes that contain evidence of parental incarceration. First, we located patient notes that are likely to contain such evidence via a keyword search. Then, we manually reviewed and labeled a large sample of those notes with respect to whether they actually identify the patient as being exposed to justice-involved parents. Finally, we used this labeled data set of notes to train and validate a model that classifies notes as true exposure to a history of parental justice involvement versus no exposure. All study procedures were reviewed and approved by Nationwide Children's Hospital Institutional Review Board.

Setting

We queried EPIC medical records on 1.2 million youth under 18 years of age in the electronic health record database of a large, urban, Midwestern, pediatric hospital-based institution from 2011-2019. The hospital-based system is one of the largest institutions in the United States and includes a network of 13 primary care centers, behavioral health clinics, 7 urgent care clinics, two emergency departments and 527 inpatient beds on the main campus, plus 146 offsite inpatient beds as part of its neonatal network. The institution provides care for about 1.3-1.5 million patient visits annually, including roughly 89,000 annual primary care visits. Medicaid is the primary insurer for half of all patients seen, and nearly 80% of the patients are seen within primary care. Approximately 56% of the current total pediatric

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

population self-identified or family-identified as White, 22% identified as Black or African American, 7% identified as Latino, 3% identified as African, 4% identified as Asian, and 6% identified as Biracial/multi-racial. In addition, English-speaking patients comprised 86% of the total pediatric population, followed by Spanish (5%), Somali (3%), Nepali (1%), and "all other" languages (4%). These racial and ethnic demographic characteristics are in line with the total population characteristics of the city in which this health institution is located.

Selection of Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers

(Bidirectional BERT Encoder Representations from Transformers) is a state-of-the-art natural language processing model based on a neural network (deep learning). It is unique in its ability to pick up contextual information within and across sentences [30] The BERT model expands on the idea of context-free word embeddings (such as word2vec) by quantifying each word within its textual context using a transformer network with attention mechanism. The BERT model also utilizes self-attention to weight its input features (represented as contextualized word tokens). In practice, BERT uses a neural network to create a numerical representation of a chunk of text up to approximately 500 words long, which can then be used for classification.

Query Details and Data Preparation

We conducted an automated search over the free-text clinical notes available within EPIC [31]. Any type of clinician note from any type of medical provider was eligible. Information about personal or familial incarceration is not routinely asked about, and providers were not mandated to document such information. We chose terms to capture the four primary types of justice involvement following arrest in the United States (eg, jail, prison, parole, and probation). Therefore, our text search first identified any note that contained at least one of the following familial terms ("mother" or "mom" or "father" or "dad" or "parent" or "grandpa" or "grandparent"), and at least one of the following justice terms ("prison" or "sentenced" or "incarcerated" or "probation" or "parole" or "jail"). We included grandparent familial terms as previous research via the Bureau of Justice Statistics found that nearly 45% of incarcerated mothers in state prisons and 12% of incarcerated fathers had their children cared for by grandparents during their incarceration [32]. We subsequently filtered out duplicate notes, notes that used justice terms only as part of a default screening sentence (eg, a tuberculosis risk assessment screening that clued providers about how "incarcerated adolescents" is a high-risk group), and notes in which familial terms and justice terms were more than 500 words apart (to comply within the computational requirements in order to apply BERT).

To prepare the notes for training and processing, we broke down each note into individual words (tokenization). The note was then reduced to the 500 tokens (words) window containing the maximal amount of justice keyword terms. The resulting note snippets were then used to train and evaluate the BERT model. To begin our training process, we randomly sampled 7500 notes

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e33614
```

XSL•F() RenderX for manual annotation. Previous work has shown the BERT model can perform well on similar tasks when fine-tuned with as few as 5600 examples [30]. We used a sample size of 7500 to allow for a similar fine-tuning sample size alongside a larger testing and validation sample size for a more robust evaluation. We compiled the notes into a secure database (REDCap Survey) and highlighted the associated familial/justice keywords. A trained undergraduate student manually reviewed and annotated each note as a true or false case of parental justice involvement. To decrease error in inaccurate annotation, the student was able to flag a note to prompt the first author (a previous prison nurse familiar with justice-based language) to review if assistance was needed in deciphering whether a note contained a true case of parental justice involvement. In addition, the first author randomly selected 500 notes (using a random number generator via Python) to verify appropriate annotation for parental justice involvement. Along with parental justice involvement, we also recorded other types of familial or personal justice-system involvement (eg, by a different family member), if applicable.

Model Development and Training Plan

We used a publicly available BERT implementation [30] that was pretrained with a large corpus of clinical notes [33]. We adjusted the neural network output to perform a binary classification and then fine-tuned the whole network with our data set of notes that contained documented exposure to parental justice involvement. To avoid overfitting, we used 80% of the data for training, 10% for internal validation (ie, determining the number of training epochs), and 10% to test model performance. To increase robustness against the inherent randomness of neural network optimization, we repeated this process in a 10-rep, 10-fold cross-validation scheme (a common split for model training) [34] and reported average results across all folds and repetitions.

Statistical Analysis for Algorithm Performance

We begin by reporting descriptive statistics of the manual review of the 7500 notes. In addition, we also report the average number of total words per clinician note and the percentage of notes containing each of the keywords of interest stratified by evidence of justice involvement (all notes, clinician notes with evidence of justice involvement, and clinician notes with no evidence of justice involvement). Then, we evaluate the BERT model in terms of its precision (or positive predictive value) and recall (or sensitivity). Precision is measured as the fraction of notes retrieved by the algorithm (true positives and false positives) that actually contain evidence of parental justice involvement according to our chart review (true positives). Recall is measured as the fraction of all notes with evidence of parental incarceration (true positives and false negatives) that is retrieved by the algorithm (true positives). We report the precision-recall curve (averaged across 10 training repetitions), as well as the ideal F1 score (a balanced measure of recall and precision). Finally, we use our additional manual chart review to report descriptive statistics of the false positive notes retrieved by our model.

Results

Keyword Search and Manual Chart Review Annotation Results

Approximately 0.2% of the total clinician notes (N=133,211) contained the justice and family keywords and resulted in about 38,614 unique patients (or 3.30% of the total patient population during 2011-2019). Figure 1 summarizes the results of our manual review of 7459 randomly selected clinician notes (after 41 duplicate notes were excluded). Of these 7459 notes, 5926 (79.4%) notes contained evidence that the patient had exposure to some type of contact with the justice system (personal, familial, and nonfamilial). The majority (4554/7459, 61.1%) of the notes indicated exposure to a parental justice involvement (biological or step), followed by self or personal justice involvement (57/7459, 10.1%) and other family member justice involvement (451/7459, 6.0%). Paternal (biological or step) involvement with the justice system was found in approximately 2909 (39.0%) notes, while maternal (biological or step) involvement was found in 1328 (17.8%) notes, and 306 (4.1%) notes indicated more than one parent. In addition, less than 4 (0.1%) of the notes were flagged by the annotator as "unclear" and verified as "unclear" by the first author. Of the 500 notes that were randomly selected to be reviewed by the first author to assess the accuracy of notation, none were annotated incorrectly for parental justice involvement exposure. These results suggest that our initial keyword search was effective at retrieving notes of interest but also retrieved a large proportion of "false positives," which we aimed to further filter out by training a natural language processing model.

Figure 1) Manual chart review results from a sample of notes that matched our keyword search (any clinician note that contained at least one familial term ("mother" or "mom" or "father" or "dad" or "parent" or "grandpa" or "grandma" or "grandparent"), and at least one justice term ("prison" or "sentenced" or "incarcerated" or "probation" or "parole" or "jail"). All percentages are relative to 7,459 notes. Table 1 outlines the clinician note characteristics such as the average number of total words per note and the percentage of notes containing each of the keywords of interest stratified by evidence of any type of justice involvement. The average number of total words per clinician note that contained evidence of justice involvement was higher than the average word count per note of those that did not contain evidence of justice involvement (1121.9 words per note compared to 977.6 words per note, respectively). In addition, notes with evidence contained a higher percentage of all of the family-related keywords, with "mother" being the most frequent family term. The family terms "grandpa," "grandma," and "grandparent" were twice as frequent in the notes that contained evidence of justice involvement. In addition, the most frequent justice-related keyword was "incarcerated." The justice-related keywords "jail" and "sentenced" appeared more frequently in notes that contained no evidence.

Figure 1. Manual chart review results from a sample of notes that matched our keyword search (any clinician note that contained at least one familial term ("mother" or "mom" or "father" or "dad" or "parent" or "grandpa" or "grandpa" or "grandparent"), and at least one justice term ("prison" or "sentenced" or "incarcerated" or "probation" or "parent"). All percentages are relative to 7459 notes.





Boch et al

Table 1. Clinician note characteristics, including the average number of words and percentage of keywords in each clinician note.

Clinician note characteristics	Total clinician notes (N=7459)	Clinician notes with evidence of any type of justice involvement (n=5926)	Clinician notes with no evidence of justice involvement (n=1529)
Number of words per note, mean (SD)	1084.3 (776.5)	1121.9 (781.3)	977.6 (752.5)
Notes containing family keyw	ords (%)		
Mother	86.3	88.4	78.0
Father	67.3	71.9	49.6
Parent	62.6	63.7	58.1
Mom	56.3	57.2	53.0
Dad	36.6	38.5	29.2
Grandpa	9.1	10.3	4.7
Grandma	7.6	8.4	4.6
Grandparent	7.2	8.1	3.7
Notes containing justice keyw	rords (%)		
Incarcerated	41.0	43.3	32.2
Jail	37.1	34.6	46.8
Prison	20.7	22.4	14.2
Probation	15.9	18.2	7.0
Parole	2.2	2.5	1.0
Sentenced	1.6	1.4	2.5

Model Performance

Figure 2 summarizes the note retrieval performance of our keyword search and subsequent BERT model. Under the assumption that the keyword search is perfectly sensitive (ie, it is unlikely that a note contains clear evidence of parental justice involvement but at the same time does not contain any of our

keywords), the keyword search alone can be considered as having a recall of 1, precision of 0.611, and a resulting F1 score of 0.758. Application of the BERT model on all retrieved notes increased overall precision while only sacrificing a small amount of recall. For example, a decision threshold that optimizes BERT's F1 score to 0.925 results in a precision of 0.918 (50.2% increase) and a recall of 0.932 (6.8% decrease).

Figure 2. Cross-validated precision-recall curve for identifying notes with evidence of parental justice involvement for the BERT model, compared to keyword search. The curve depicts average performance of 10 independent training runs, with shaded areas indicating a 95% CI. AUC: area under the curve; BERT: Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers; Pre: precision; Rec: recall.



False Positive Analysis

Utilizing the note annotations summarized in Figure 1, we found that 53.8% (208/387) of all notes that our BERT model falsely flagged for exposure to parental justice involvement still contained evidence of other types of contact with the justice system (eg, sibling, self, etc). This percentage was higher than the baseline proportion of such notes that were retrieved by the keyword search (1324/7459, 17.6%).

Discussion

Principal Findings

In this paper, we applied the use of natural language processing (NLP) and machine learning to locate children ever exposed to parental justice involvement in the electronic health record of a large Midwestern pediatric health system—an innovative approach to aggregating health data on an understudied and stigmatizing childhood adversity. The use of machine learning greatly improved the precision of locating children who have justice-involved parents from 61% (using a keyword search) to 92%. To our knowledge, only one study has validated the use of NLP to locate adults with a history of personal incarceration using the Veterans Administration health record.[28] In their study, the NLP keyword search resulted in an F1-score (a balanced measure of recall and precision) of 0.58; and after integrating NLP and a simplistic machine learning approach, the F-1 score improved to 0.75 [28]. Our study achieved a similar increase, but our keyword search resulted in an F-1 score of 0.76, and after integrating BERT, the F-1 score improved to 0.93.

Our findings also revealed that when notes were falsely flagged by the model for exposure to parental justice involvement, a much higher percentage of notes flagged still contained evidence of another type of contact with the justice system compared to such notes located by the basic keyword search. In addition, compared to notes with no evidence, clinician notes with evidence of justice involvement were slightly longer and had a higher frequency of all family- and justice-related keywords except for the justice keywords "jail" and "sentenced." This may relate to the number of notes that contained evidence of personal youth involvement with the justice system, rather than parental (as youth typically have shorter sentences that align with "jail"). Importantly, the grandparent-related terms were nearly double in frequency and are in line with research noting that nearly half of all youth with incarcerated mothers are cared for by grandparents [32]. Other keywords such as "caregiver" and "legal guardian," "justice," "legal," and "crime/criminal" may also be important to include in future research.

We are among the first to leverage data science approaches to address gaps in the pediatric health sciences related to underrepresented groups of youth. The total time for the development of our machine learning model included several weeks to annotate clinician notes, 2 months of data scientist work, and cost about \$12,000 at this particular institution. The computer code associated with this model will remain publicly available at no cost to those who are interested in testing its application in other pediatric electronic health record systems [35] (please email if the web address embedded in the citation

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e33614
```

becomes faulty). Cost-effective, less-invasive, and time-saving approaches to cohort identification could surely advance our understanding and advocacy of historically marginalized and underrepresented groups of youth and families. The child health consequences of complex social phenomena such as mass incarceration must be explored, and efficient approaches to recognition in the clinical setting can aid in that process as we await wide-scale screening of childhood adversities within health care systems and settings.

Further validation with multiple data sources is needed (eg, comparison of findings to those youth identified with exposure to parental justice involvement using adverse childhood experiences screening tool checklists, or other cross-sector administration data to verify parental contact with the system) to strengthen its future use and will be an important next step. Eventual integration of these models in larger pediatric learning health systems such as PEDSnet (a multi-specialty network that conducts observational research and clinical trials across multiple children's hospital health systems) [36] could also be explored to understand whether differences in care and health care use exist for youth who have a justice-involved parent across systems. Once these models are extensively researched and validated, the use of these techniques could extend beyond cohort identification and eventually be used to link families to supportive behavioral health treatment, case management social services, and other positive prosocial or community resources to mitigate child stress and adversity.

The underlying approach has the potential to be extended to the identification of other types of childhood adversity (eg, sex trafficking). Until routine screening for adverse childhood experiences becomes commonplace, artificial intelligence could be an important tool to accelerate efforts for greater understanding of at-risk populations. Implications for doing so are great, as better science and greater understanding of children of justice-involved parents could spur greater investment and intervention development designed to improve their health and well-being and decrease their risk for future justice system involvement. As NASEM recommends in their latest report on increasing opportunity for all youth, we need "greater collaboration among our health, justice, and child welfare systems to transform child health"[11]. We feel strongly that the use of artificial intelligence within pediatric health settings could accelerate these collaborative cross-sector efforts.

It is important to note that the use and application of artificial intelligence and algorithms to address the needs of our justice system (eg, risk prediction and prediction of public threats to safety) are widely investigated and contested [37]. The use of such algorithms in pediatric health care settings to identify and locate patients with varying exposures to the justice system is novel and certainly warrants similar investigation and ethical scrutiny. It would be important to consider when, why, and who should be able to access and use data on health-related social risk factors such as familial justice involvement [38]. While all personal arrests and incarcerations are public knowledge, the use of this information in pediatric research is novel. Most institutional review boards have additional regulatory procedures or special review processes to ensure protections of justice-involved youth and adults in research, but youth who

XSL•FO RenderX

have family members who are justice-involved are not typically considered. Addressing the ethical challenges related to the development and implementation of machine learning to identify children of justice-involved parents is imperative and necessitates the engagement and involvement of these youth and their caregivers. Future research in this area could benefit from comparative investigations of other types of machine learning models and the integration of emerging frameworks designed to facilitate responsible and ethical digital technology for research purposes [39,40]. More research is also needed (and underway) to better understand family perceptions and attitudes surrounding the use of artificial intelligence to mine sensitive and stigmatizing information even amid the best intentions of bettering care and assisting these youths.

Limitations

Our study is not without limitations. It is important to note that all estimates of youth exposed to parental justice involvement are unverified and only captured (1) families that disclosed and (2) a provider who was willing to document the exposure. Potential selection biases in our model may exist as there may be differences in providers who ask about justice involvement compared to those who do not, providers who choose to record the information received compared to those who do not, and families who feel comfortable or safe providing such information compared to those who feel discriminated, ostracized, ashamed, or stigmatized in systems not designed to support or assist families affected by justice involvement. Our results likely underestimate the total number of children who have experienced justice-involved parents seen in our system and may represent a subset for which clinicians have a higher index of suspicion. Even given the potential biases in the identified population, our model improves the accuracy of locating patients who are apt to disclose parental justice involvement (with or without direct questioning of a provider) and allows identification of a high-risk cohort for research. Last, we were unable to verify our machine learning algorithm with the "ground truth" because screening for adverse childhood experiences such as parental incarceration is not routinely conducted in any setting of care within this institution. Apart from these important limitations, we feel our study has provided an important innovation to pediatric research.

Conclusions

Machine learning is a novel cohort identification method that may be able to fulfill the gaps in the sciences related to our understanding of the health of children of justice-involved parents. Doing so could inform intervention development and effective policy creation to improve the cross-sector care and health of children of justice-involved parents—and other youth with various types of justice system involvement.

Acknowledgments

The project described in this study was supported by the National Center For Advancing Translational Sciences (award UL1TR002733; co-principal investiagors: SB and DC). The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Center For Advancing Translational Sciences or the National Institutes of Health.

The search engine described in this study is supported through a Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute (award ME-2017C1-6413) under the name of "Unlocking Clinical Text in EMR by Query Refinement Using Both Knowledge Bases and Word Embedding" (principal investigator: SL). All statements in this report, including its findings and conclusions, are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of the Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute, its Board of Governors, or Methodology Committee.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Murphey D, Cooper M. Parents Behind Bars: What Happens to Their Children? Report.: Child Trends; 2015. URL: <u>https://www.childtrends.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/2015-42ParentsBehindBars.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-03-10]
- Vallas R, Boteach M, West R, Odum J. Removing Barriers to Opportunity for Parents With Criminal Records and Their Children: A Two Generation Approach. Report. URL: <u>https://cdn.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/09060720/CriminalRecords-report2.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-03-10]
- Gibbs D, Burfeind C, Tueller S. Parental incarceration and children in nonparental care. ASPE Research Brief. Washington DC: Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2016. URL: <u>https://aspe.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/migrated_legacy_files//179021/ParentalIncarcerationChildrenNonparentalCare.</u> pdf.pdf [accessed 2022-03-10]
- 4. Shaw TV, Bright CL, Sharpe TL. Child welfare outcomes for youth in care as a result of parental death or parental incarceration. Child Abuse Negl 2015 Apr;42:112-120. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.01.002</u>] [Medline: <u>25641050</u>]
- Aaron L, Dallaire DH. Parental incarceration and multiple risk experiences: effects on family dynamics and children's delinquency. J Youth Adolesc 2010 Dec;39(12):1471-1484. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10964-009-9458-0</u>] [Medline: <u>19834796</u>]

- Gifford EJ, Eldred Kozecke L, Golonka M, Hill SN, Costello EJ, Shanahan L, et al. Association of Parental Incarceration With Psychiatric and Functional Outcomes of Young Adults. JAMA Netw Open 2019 Aug 02;2(8):e1910005 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.10005] [Medline: 31441942]
- Wildeman C, Goldman AW, Turney K. Parental Incarceration and Child Health in the United States. Epidemiol Rev 2018 Jun 01;40(1):146-156. [doi: <u>10.1093/epirev/mxx013</u>] [Medline: <u>29635444</u>]
- 8. Testa A, Jackson DB. Parental Incarceration and School Readiness: Findings From the 2016 to 2018 National Survey of Children's Health. Acad Pediatr 2021 Apr;21(3):534-541. [doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2020.08.016] [Medline: 32861805]
- 9. Lee RD, Fang X, Luo F. The impact of parental incarceration on the physical and mental health of young adults. Pediatrics 2013 Apr;131(4):e1188-e1195 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-0627] [Medline: 23509174]
- Boch SJ, Ford JL. C-Reactive Protein Levels Among U.S. Adults Exposed to Parental Incarceration. Biol Res Nurs 2015 Oct;17(5):574-584 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1099800414564011] [Medline: 25539769]
- National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, Medicine. The Promise of Adolescence: Realizing Opportunity for All Youth. https://www.nap.edu/catalog/25388/the-promise-of-adolescence-realizing-opportunity-for-all-youth 2019:1-492 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>31449373</u>]
- 12. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, Medicine. Addressing the Drivers of Criminal Justice Involvement to Advance Racial Equity: Proceedings of a Workshop? In: National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, Medicine. Washington DC: The National Academies Press; 2021. [doi: 10.17226/26151]
- 13. McCormick M, Bright S, Brennan E. Promising Practices for Strengthening Families Affected by Parental Incarceration: A Review of the Literature. In: OPRE Report 2021-2025. Washington DC: Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation, Administration for Children and Families, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2021:1-61 URL: <u>https://www.acf.hhs.gov/opre/report/promising-practices-strengthening-families-affected-parental-incarceration-review</u>
- Bejan CA, Angiolillo J, Conway D, Nash R, Shirey-Rice JK, Lipworth L, et al. Mining 100 million notes to find homelessness and adverse childhood experiences: 2 case studies of rare and severe social determinants of health in electronic health records. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2018 Jan 01;25(1):61-71 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocx059] [Medline: 29016793]
- 15. Bettencourt-Silva J, Mulligan N, Cullen C, Kotoulas S. Bridging Clinical and Social Determinants of Health Using Unstructured Data. Stud Health Technol Inform 2018;255:70-74. [Medline: <u>30306909</u>]
- Bhavsar NA, Gao A, Phelan M, Pagidipati NJ, Goldstein BA. Value of Neighborhood Socioeconomic Status in Predicting Risk of Outcomes in Studies That Use Electronic Health Record Data. JAMA Netw Open 2018 Sep 07;1(5):e182716 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.2716] [Medline: 30646172]
- Hatef E, Rouhizadeh M, Tia I, Lasser E, Hill-Briggs F, Marsteller J, et al. Assessing the Availability of Data on Social and Behavioral Determinants in Structured and Unstructured Electronic Health Records: A Retrospective Analysis of a Multilevel Health Care System. JMIR Med Inform 2019 Aug 02;7(3):e13802 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13802] [Medline: 31376277]
- 18. Le S, Hoffman J, Barton C, Fitzgerald JC, Allen A, Pellegrini E, et al. Pediatric Severe Sepsis Prediction Using Machine Learning. Front Pediatr 2019;7:413 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fped.2019.00413] [Medline: 31681711]
- Alcañiz Raya M, Marín-Morales J, Minissi ME, Teruel Garcia G, Abad L, Chicchi Giglioli IA. Machine Learning and Virtual Reality on Body Movements' Behaviors to Classify Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Clin Med 2020 Apr 26;9(5):1-20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/jcm9051260] [Medline: 32357517]
- Ben-Sasson A, Robins DL, Yom-Tov E. Risk Assessment for Parents Who Suspect Their Child Has Autism Spectrum Disorder: Machine Learning Approach. J Med Internet Res 2018 Apr 24;20(4):e134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9496] [Medline: 29691210]
- 21. Kang J, Han X, Hu J, Feng H, Li X. The study of the differences between low-functioning autistic children and typically developing children in the processing of the own-race and other-race faces by the machine learning approach. J Clin Neurosci 2020 Nov;81:54-60. [doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2020.09.039] [Medline: 33222968]
- 22. Lai M, Lee J, Chiu S, Charm J, So WY, Yuen FP, et al. A machine learning approach for retinal images analysis as an objective screening method for children with autism spectrum disorder. EClinicalMedicine 2020 Nov;28:100588 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100588] [Medline: 33294809]
- 23. Hale AT, Stonko DP, Brown A, Lim J, Voce DJ, Gannon SR, et al. Machine-learning analysis outperforms conventional statistical models and CT classification systems in predicting 6-month outcomes in pediatric patients sustaining traumatic brain injury. Neurosurg Focus 2018 Nov 01;45(5):E2. [doi: 10.3171/2018.8.FOCUS17773] [Medline: 30453455]
- 24. Jing Y, Hu Z, Fan P, Xue Y, Wang L, Tarter RE, et al. Analysis of substance use and its outcomes by machine learning I. Childhood evaluation of liability to substance use disorder. Drug Alcohol Depend 2020 Jan 01;206:107605 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.107605] [Medline: 31839402]
- Patel SJ, Chamberlain DB, Chamberlain JM. A Machine Learning Approach to Predicting Need for Hospitalization for Pediatric Asthma Exacerbation at the Time of Emergency Department Triage. Acad Emerg Med 2018 Dec;25(12):1463-1470 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/acem.13655] [Medline: 30382605]

- 26. Goulooze SC, Zwep LB, Vogt JE, Krekels EHJ, Hankemeier T, van den Anker JN, et al. Beyond the Randomized Clinical Trial: Innovative Data Science to Close the Pediatric Evidence Gap. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2020 Apr;107(4):786-795. [doi: 10.1002/cpt.1744] [Medline: 31863465]
- 27. Liang H, Tsui BY, Ni H, Valentim CCS, Baxter SL, Liu G, et al. Evaluation and accurate diagnoses of pediatric diseases using artificial intelligence. Nat Med 2019 Mar;25(3):433-438. [doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0335-9] [Medline: 30742121]
- Wang EA, Long JB, McGinnis KA, Wang KH, Wildeman CJ, Kim C, et al. Measuring Exposure to Incarceration Using the Electronic Health Record. Med Care 2019 Jun;57 Suppl 6 Suppl 2:S157-S163 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MLR.00000000001049] [Medline: 31095055]
- Boch S, Sezgin E, Ruch D, Kelleher K, Chisolm D, Lin S. Unjust: the health records of youth with personal/family justice involvement in a large pediatric health system. Health Justice 2021 Aug 01;9(1):20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s40352-021-00147-5] [Medline: 34337696]
- 30. Alsentzer E, Murphy J, Boag W, Weng W, Jin D, Naumann T, et al. Publicly Available Clinical BERT Embeddings. arXiv:1904.03323 [cs] 2019:1-7. [doi: <u>10.18653/v1/w19-1909</u>]
- Moosavinasab S, Sezgin E, Sun H, Hoffman J, Huang Y, Lin S. DeepSuggest: Using Neural Networks to Suggest Related Keywords for a Comprehensive Search of Clinical Notes. ACI Open 2021 Jun 06;05(01):e1-e12. [doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1729982]
- 32. Glaze L, M. Parents in prisontheir minor children. Bureau of Justice Statistics. Washington DC: US Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs; 2008. URL: <u>https://bjs.ojp.gov/content/pub/pdf/pptmc.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-03-10]
- 33. Devlin J, Chang M, Kenton L, Toutanova K. BERT: Pre-training of Deep Bidirectional Transformers for Language Understanding. arXiv:1810.04805v2 [cs] 2019:1-16.
- 34. Wong T. Performance evaluation of classification algorithms by k-fold and leave-one-out cross validation. Pattern Recognition 2015 Sep;48(9):2839-2846 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.patcog.2015.03.009]
- 35. Hussain SA. Parental Incarceration Detection Algorithm. Github 2021:1-1 [FREE Full text]
- Forrest CB, Margolis PA, Bailey LC, Marsolo K, Del Beccaro MA, Finkelstein JA, et al. PEDSnet: a National Pediatric Learning Health System. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2014;21(4):602-606 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2014-002743] [Medline: 24821737]
- Završnik A. Algorithmic justice: Algorithms and big data in criminal justice settings. European Journal of Criminology 2019 Sep 18;18(5):623-642 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1477370819876762]
- 38. D'Ignazio C. In: Klein L, editor. Data Feminism. Cambridge, Massachusetts: The MIT Press; Feb 23, 2022:1-3.
- Nebeker C, Bartlett Ellis RJ, Torous J. Development of a decision-making checklist tool to support technology selection in digital health research. Transl Behav Med 2020 Oct 08;10(4):1004-1015 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibz074] [Medline: <u>31120511</u>]
- 40. Dankwa-Mullan I, Scheufele EL, Matheny ME, Quintana Y, Chapman WW, Jackson G, et al. A Proposed Framework on Integrating Health Equity and Racial Justice into the Artificial Intelligence Development Lifecycle. Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved 2021;32(2S):300-317. [doi: 10.1353/hpu.2021.0065]

Abbreviations

BERT: Bidirectional Encoder Representations from Transformers **NASEM:** National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine **NLP:** natural language processing

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 15.09.21; peer-reviewed by B Nievas Soriano, Z Ren; comments to author 09.11.21; revised version received 16.01.22; accepted 25.01.22; published 21.03.22.

Please cite as: Boch S, Hussain SA, Bambach S, DeShetler C, Chisolm D, Linwood S Locating Youth Exposed to Parental Justice Involvement in the Electronic Health Record: Development of a Natural Language Processing Model JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e33614 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e33614 doi:10.2196/33614 PMID:35311681

©Samantha Boch, Syed-Amad Hussain, Sven Bambach, Cameron DeShetler, Deena Chisolm, Simon Linwood. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 21.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits

unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Review

Effectiveness of Mobile Apps in Promoting Healthy Behavior Changes and Preventing Obesity in Children: Systematic Review

Kiana W Yau^{1,2}, MSc; Tricia S Tang^{1,2}, PhD; Matthias Görges^{2,3}, PhD; Susan Pinkney^{2,4}, MA; Annie D Kim⁴, BHSc; Angela Kalia⁴, MD; Shazhan Amed^{2,4}, MD

¹Department of Medicine, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

²Research Institute, BC Children's Hospital, Vancouver, BC, Canada

⁴Department of Pediatrics, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Corresponding Author:

Shazhan Amed, MD Research Institute BC Children's Hospital A4-196 950 West 28 Avenue Vancouver, BC, V5Z 4H4 Canada Phone: 1 604 875 3113 Email: SAmed@cw.bc.ca

Abstract

Background: Mobile apps have been increasingly incorporated into healthy behavior promotion interventions targeting childhood obesity. However, their effectiveness remains unclear.

Objective: This paper aims to conduct a systematic review examining the effectiveness of mobile apps aimed at preventing childhood obesity by promoting health behavior changes in diet, physical activity, or sedentary behavior in children aged 8 to 12 years.

Methods: MEDLINE, Embase, PsycINFO, CINAHL, and ERIC were systematically searched for peer-reviewed primary studies from January 2008 to July 2021, which included children aged 8 to 12 years; involved mobile app use; and targeted at least one obesity-related factor, including diet, physical activity, or sedentary behavior. Data extraction and risk of bias assessments were conducted by 2 authors.

Results: Of the 13 studies identified, most used a quasi-experimental design (n=8, 62%). Significant improvements in physical activity (4/8, 50% studies), dietary outcomes (5/6, 83% studies), and BMI (2/6, 33% studies) were reported. All 6 multicomponent interventions and 57% (4/7) of standalone interventions reported significant outcomes in \geq 1 behavioral change outcome measured (anthropometric, physical activity, dietary, and screen time outcomes). Gamification, behavioral monitoring, and goal setting were common features of the mobile apps used in these studies.

Conclusions: Apps for health behavior promotion interventions have the potential to increase the adoption of healthy behaviors among children; however, their effectiveness in improving anthropometric measures remains unclear. Further investigation of studies that use more rigorous study designs, as well as mobile apps as a standalone intervention, is needed.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e34967) doi:10.2196/34967

KEYWORDS

childhood obesity; mobile health; health behaviors; prevention; study design; systematic review; mobile phone

Introduction

RenderX

An estimated 150 million children worldwide currently live with obesity, and this number is projected to increase to 254 million by 2030 [1]. Childhood obesity, which tends to persist

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e34967

into adulthood [2], is one of the most pressing public health challenges of the 21st century. It is associated with an increased risk of developing lifelong chronic conditions such as type 2 diabetes, hypertension, and cardiovascular disease [3], as well

³Department of Anesthesiology, Pharmacology and Therapeutics, The University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

as psychosocial consequences such as depression and anxiety [4].

Concurrent with the rising rates of childhood obesity, the adoption of mobile devices, such as smartphones and tablets, and the use of mobile apps on these devices, have also increased among children of all ages [5]. For example, in the United States, rates of smartphone ownership among children aged 8 to 12 years and 13 to 18 years have grown substantially from 25% to 41% and from 67% to 84%, respectively, from 2015 to 2019 [5]. Furthermore, 41% and 52% of Canadian children, aged 9 to 11 years and 12 to 14 years, respectively, reported playing games or using apps on electronic devices at least 5 days a week [6]. Owing to the increasing popularity of mobile devices and apps, many health and fitness apps targeting key modifiable risk factors such as diet, physical activity, and reduction of sedentary behavior have been developed and used in health promotion interventions for children [7]. These interventions tend to be (1) based on at least one behavioral change theory; (2) targeted at ≥ 1 behavioral, anthropometric, psychological, or process outcomes; and (3) multicomponent, where mobile apps are used in addition to other intervention components such as physical games, food or physical activity diaries, wearable technology, and SMS text messaging [8].

To date, studies have shown mobile apps have a promising role in increasing motivation and promoting goal-setting behavior to address childhood obesity [9]. Multicomponent intervention bundles involving mobile apps appear to be more effective than standalone mobile app interventions in addressing behavioral outcomes such as diet, physical activity, and sedentary behavior [10]. However, the results from these studies have generally been inconsistent, and the efficacy (performance of an intervention under ideal circumstances) and effectiveness (performance of an intervention in real-life conditions) of mobile apps in delivering interventions to address childhood obesity remain unclear [11]. Most studies have focused on investigating the feasibility, usability, and acceptability of mobile health interventions rather than assessing efficacy and effectiveness via controlled trials [8].

Systematic reviews have focused on mobile health interventions that target diet, physical activity, and sedentary behavior, which are factors associated with childhood obesity; however, most examined mobile apps in combination with other interventions such as exergames (digital games that involve physical movements for active gameplay), video games, websites, and SMS text messaging [12-15]. Of the few reviews that focused solely on mobile apps, most involved adolescents [9,15] or a mix of pediatric and adult populations [10]. Therefore, there is a knowledge gap in the literature on the effectiveness of mobile health technologies that promote healthy behavior change to prevent childhood obesity in school-aged children (8 to 12 years), which is a critical period for children to develop positive habits and behaviors as they form their own identities. The objective of this study is to conduct a systematic review to examine the effectiveness of mobile apps that promote healthy behavior changes in diet, physical activity, or sedentary behavior in children aged 8 to 12 years.

Methods

Literature Search

This systematic literature review was conducted and is reported according to the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) statement [16]; the protocol was not preregistered in any database. Medical Subject Heading terms and keywords related to (1) mobile app development, (2) obesity prevention and healthy behaviors, and (2) mixed methods research interventions were identified with guidance from a research librarian (CP). The search strategy was designed such that the results contained at least one search term from each of these 3 categories. Using this strategy, the electronic databases MEDLINE, Embase, PsycINFO, CINAHL, and ERIC were searched in July 2021 to identify records published between January 2008 and June 2021. The year 2008 was selected as the lower limit of publication years as it coincides with the launch of both the Android market [17] and Apple App Store [18], which are platforms for users to download apps on their digital devices. To retrieve pediatric articles, search filters were used for MEDLINE [19], Embase [20], and CINAHL [21], whereas age groups and education level limiters were used for PsycINFO and ERIC, respectively. The complete search strategy is presented in Multimedia Appendix 1. Gray literature was searched by screening the reference lists of the included articles, research studies listed in the US National Library of Medicine clinical trials database (using search terms Obesity, Childhood, and Mobilehealth), the first 100 results from a search of keywords childhood obesity and mobilehealth on Google Scholar, and results from the title and abstract search of ProQuest Dissertations and Theses Global with search terms childhood obesity and mobile. Only peer-reviewed studies resulting from the gray literature search were considered.

Eligibility Criteria

The eligibility criteria for articles included (1) peer-reviewed primary studies written in English; (2) published between January 2008 and the end of June 2021; (3) children aged 8 to 12 years as participants (studies with children participants outside the age range but with some within the target age range were deemed eligible); (4) the use of a mobile app by children and their immediate caregivers; and (5) targeting behavior change in at least one obesity-related factor, including diet, physical activity, or sedentary behavior. Participants of all health statuses-healthy weight, at risk, or with obesity or overweight-were considered. To provide a broad overview of the current published literature, experimental (eg, randomized controlled trial [RCT]), quasi-experimental, observational, and mixed methods studies were included. Articles that described only the use of websites, email, or SMS text message-based interventions were excluded.

Study Selection

After removing duplicates, a single author (KWY) performed an initial screening based on the title and abstract to identify full-text articles for assessment of eligibility. Any uncertainty that arose from this process was discussed with SA, and decisions were made by consensus. Articles that could not be excluded based on the information provided in the title and

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e34967
```

XSL•F() RenderX

abstract were included in the full-text review. KWY and AK then reviewed the full-text articles independently, after which they compared their decisions on eligibility, discussed and resolved any discrepancies by consensus, and finalized the list of articles to be included in this review.

Data Extraction and Quality Assessment

Information on study design, inclusion criteria, sample size, sociodemographic characteristics of participants, study details (eg, behavior change theory and study length), description of the mobile app, and outcome measures (eg, anthropometry, physical activity, diet, screen time, sedentary behavior, and process evaluation) were independently extracted by KWY, AK, and ADK, following a predetermined data extraction template developed by KWY based on interventions and outcomes identified during the development of the research aim, eligibility criteria, and search strategy (Multimedia Appendix 2). Discussions between KWY, AK, ADK, and SA (as needed) occurred regularly to reach a consensus in cases of disagreement. KWY and ADK independently assessed the risk of bias of the included studies using the Cochrane Risk of Bias 2 tool for randomized trials [22] and the Risk of Bias in Nonrandomized Studies of Interventions tool for observational and quasi-experimental studies [23]. Any discrepancies in the ratings were resolved via discussion between the authors until a consensus was reached.

Results

Study Characteristics

A total of 13 studies met the eligibility criteria (Figure 1), of which 8 (62%) were from the United States [24-31], and the remaining 5 (38%) studies were from Australia [32], Canada [33], the Netherlands [34], New Caledonia (Overseas France) [35], and Portugal [36]. The number of participants per study ranged from 18 to 2477, with 15% (2/13) of studies including only male [32] or only female [27] participants. The age of the participants ranged from 4 to 21 years, with 46% (6/13) of studies involving only adolescents (aged >10 years) [25,28,32,34-36]. Across the studies, there were diverse representations from various racial or ethnic minority groups, including African [31,32], African American [25-27,30], American Indian or Alaska native [27,31], Asian [26,32], Hispanic [25,26,31,32], Pacific Islander [27,35], and Middle Eastern [32]. In 38% (5/13) of studies, more than half of the study participants were from racial or ethnic minority populations [25-27,29,31]. Targeted recruitment of participants from low socioeconomic backgrounds was conducted in 38% (5/13) of studies [27,29-32]. Approximately 15% (2/13) of studies included only participants who were at risk for developing obesity, as determined by their failure to meet international physical activity or screen time guidelines [32] and positive results on a food addiction scale [25]. Of the 13 studies, 4 (31%) were randomized intervention studies [27,28,32,34].

Figure 1. PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Item for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) flow diagram summarizing the study selection process.



Risk of Bias Assessment

Of the 4 randomized intervention studies included, 3 (75%) were rated as having some concerns regarding their overall bias [27,28,34], whereas 1 (25%) study had a low risk of bias [32] (Table 1). A potential major source of bias in the 31% (4/13) of studies that used an RCT design [27,28,32,34] was from the randomization process itself; 75% (3/4) of studies [23,24,28] did not elaborate on the randomization methods other than providing a statement that the study was randomized. Owing to the nature of the interventions, blinding of participants and those delivering the intervention from group allocation were impossible for all studies. Of the 4 RCT studies, 1 (25%) attempted to blind assessors from treatment allocations but were only successful at baseline and not at follow-up [32]. Only 75% (3/4) of RCT studies reported incomplete outcome data because of participant absence on the day of data collection [32,34], loss to follow-up [27,32], withdrawal from the study [32], and malfunctioning of the measuring devices [34]. 50% (2/4) of

RenderX

RCT studies reported objective measures, such as BMI and step count, as primary outcomes [32,34]. The prespecified intentions for data analysis were only available for 50% (2/4) of the RCT studies in the form of a clinical trial register [37] and a published protocol [38].

Of the 9 nonrandomized intervention studies, 5 (56%) were assessed as having a moderate risk of bias [24,30,31,33,35] and 4 (44%) as having a serious risk of bias [25,26,29,36] (Table 2). Baseline confounding was found to be a serious risk of bias in 33% (3/9) of studies, with 67% (2/3) of studies measuring but not controlling for potential confounding factors [25,29] and 33% (1/3) of studies neglecting to consider previous exposure to interventions as a potential confounder for a small subset of participants in a retrial [26]. Of the 9 studies, all but 1 (11%) study [36] scored a low or moderate risk for missing data. A prespecified analysis plan was available for 22% (2/9) of studies in the form of a trial register [39] and study protocol [40].

Table 1. Risk of bias assessment scores for randomized trial
--

Study	Randomization process	Deviations from in- tended interventions	Missing outcome data	Measurement of the outcome	Selection of the reported result	Overall bias
Byrne et al [28]	Some concerns	Low	Low	Low	Some concerns	Some concerns
Nollen et al [27]	Some concerns	Low	Some concerns	Low	Some concerns	Some concerns
Smith et al [32]	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
van Woudenberg et al [34]	Some concerns	Low	Low	Low	Low	Some concerns

 Table 2. Risk of bias assessment scores for nonrandomized trials.

Study	Confounding	Selection of participants	Intervention classification	Deviations from intended inter- vention	Missing data	Measurement of outcomes	Selection of reported result	Overall bias
Bell et al [31]	Moderate	Low	Low	Low	Low	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate
Blackman et al [29]	Serious	Low	Low	Low	Moderate	Low	Moderate	Serious
Dunton et al [26]	Serious	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Moderate	Serious
Galy et al [35]	Moderate	Moderate	Low	Low	Moderate	Low	Moderate	Moderate
Patten et al [33]	Moderate	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Moderate
Pretlow et al [24]	Moderate	Low	Low	Low	Low	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate
Sousa et al [36]	Moderate	Low	Low	Low	Serious	Moderate	Low	Serious
Struempler et al [30]	Moderate	Low	Low	Low	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate
Vidmar et al [25]	Serious	Low	Moderate	Low	Low	Low	Low	Serious

Study and Intervention Design

Table 3 outlines the study and the intervention design features. Quasi-experimental study designs were the most prevalent (8/13, 62%) and included within-subject design (1/8, 13%) [33], one-group posttest-only design (1/8, 13%) [26], and pretest–posttest designs (6/8, 75%) [24,25,29-31,36]. The remaining 38% (5/13) of studies were cluster RCTs [32,34], RCTs [27,28], and an exploratory study [35] (which was used during a preliminary investigation of a research question with minimal available published evidence). The intervention duration ranged from <1 month (5/13, 38%) [26,28,31,33,34], with one of the studies testing a suite of imagination-based mobile games lasting 1 hour [33]; between 1 month and 3 months (3/13, 23%) [27,29,35]; and between 3 and 6 months (5/13, 38%) [24,25,30,32,36]. Only one of the studies included

a follow-up assessment to determine the sustainability of changes 8 months after the end of a 20-week intervention [32]. Of the 13 studies, 2 (15%) were treatment interventions for overweightness or obesity [24,25], 3 (23%) were obesity prevention interventions [27,30,32], and 8 (62%) were healthy behavior promotion interventions [26,28,29,31,33-36]. The targeted healthy behaviors included physical activity [26,29,31-35], screen time or sedentary behavior [26,29,32], and nutritional intake [24,25,27,28,30-32]. Most studies targeted only a single healthy behavior. All studies included apps developed solely for the purpose of their intervention. Of the 13 studies, 11 (85%) included the use of only a single app, whereas 1 (8%) study used a collection of 4 apps [29], and another used a collection of 7 apps [30] as part of the intervention.



Yau et al

Table 3. Study design and intervention type of studies included.

Study	dy Study design Intervention type					Multicom- ponent	Duration	Behavior change theory			
	Quasi-exp	erimental		RCT ^a	Exploratory	Healthy behavior promo- tion	Obesity preven- tion	Obesity treat- ment			
	Within- subject	One- group posttest- only	Pretest- posttest								
Bell et al [31]			✓ (con- trol)			✓			1	3 weeks	Self-determina- tion theory; social cogni- tive theory
Blackman et al [29]			1			1				6 weeks	Fogg Behav- ior Model
Byrne et al [28]				1		1				9 days	Social cogni- tive theory
Dunton et al [26]		1				1				1 day	N/A ^b
Galy et al [35]					1	1				4 weeks	N/A
Nollen et al [27]				✓			1			12 weeks	Behavioral weight control principles
Patten et al [33]	✓					1				1 hour	N/A
Pretlow et al [24]			1					1	✓	20 weeks	Addiction treatment model
Sousa et al [36]			✔ (con- trol)			1			1	6 months	N/A
Smith et al [32]				✓ (clus- ter)			✓		1	20 weeks	Social cogni- tive theory; self-determina- tion theory
Struempler et al [30]			1				1		1	17 weeks	Experiential learning theo- ry
Vidmar et al [25]			√					1	1	26.1 weeks	Addiction treatment model
van Wouden- berg et al [34]				✓ (clus- ter)		✓				1 week	Self-determina- tion theory

^aRCT: randomized controlled trial.

^bN/A: not applicable.

Behavior Change Theory

Of the 13 studies, all but 4 (31%) studies [26,33,35,36] used a behavior change theory as the foundation for app and intervention design to promote healthy behavior change among participants (Table 3); 8 different behavior change theories were reported, with 7 (54%) studies using 1 behavior change theory [24,25,27-30,34], and 2 (15%) studies combining 2 behavior

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e34967

XSL•FO RenderX change theories [31,32]. Approximately 23% (3/13) of interventions [28,31,32] used social cognitive theory [41], which suggests that learning and acquiring certain behaviors occur through reciprocal interactions between individuals and their environment. Another 15% (2/13) of studies [24,25] used the same app and adopted an addiction treatment model [42]. Other behavior change theories included the self-determination theory

[31,32,34], behavioral weight control principles [27], the Fogg Behavior Model [29], and the experiential learning theory [30].

App Design Features

The most common app design feature was gamification (7/13, 54%), whereby healthy behavior promotion was integrated into the app via digital pets [28], simulated gardening [31], on-screen instructions for individual and small-group play [29,33], and team challenges [35]. User progress was rewarded through song-based rewards [27], a wall of fame [36], and augmented reality trophies [31]. Another common design feature was behavioral monitoring (6/13, 46%), which included self-reporting via questionnaire administration [24-26,34]; self-monitoring of healthy behaviors and anthropometric measures [36]; and collection of information from accelerometers [32,34], food scales [24,25], and body weight scales [24,25]. Another common feature was goal setting (5/13, 38%) for physical activity [32,35]; screen time [27,32]; fruits and vegetables [27]; sugar-sweetened beverages [27]; and the reduction in food amounts, food problems, and snacking [24,25]. Push notifications [32,34], SMS text messages [24,25], and emails [28] were used to deliver tailored motivational messages. When a participant experienced excessive weight loss, one of the apps automatically alerted the research team [24,25]. Approximately 38% (5/13) of studies representing 4 apps incorporated social support features, including peer assessments [32], peer nominations for influence agents [34], app bulletin boards [24,25], discussion forums [36], and in-app chat groups [24,25,36]. A total of 2 apps from 23% (3/13) of studies [24,25,28] allowed users to take photographs of their meals in the app and submit them to a research server for review and scoring.

Outcome Measures

A summary of the reported outcome measures is presented in Table 4 and Table 5. Approximately 62% (8/13) of studies reported significant improvements in at least one of the measured healthy behaviors. Measures of physical activity were the most commonly reported outcomes in the intervention studies [26,29,32-36]. Of the 7 studies that included physical activity as an outcome, 4 (57%) reported statistically significant increases in physical activity levels following app use, as measured by moderate to vigorous physical activity (MVPA) via estimation from heart rate [33] and accelerometry [26,32], number of steps [26,32], and metabolic equivalents as determined by accelerometry [29]. Participants who used Biba Games, a suite of mobile apps aimed at encouraging imagination-based outdoor play via playful directives, displayed greater amounts of MVPA than regular playground gameplay, as demonstrated by a significant increase in heart rate measured in beats per minute (mean change 17.8, SD 28.3%; P<.05) [33]. In a 6-week smartphone game-based app program aimed at promoting physical activity in an afterschool program, participants achieved greater metabolic equivalents during gameplay with mobile app games than with nonguided free play

(*P*=.02) [29]. The investigation of the acceptability and validity of a 4-day ecological momentary assessment protocol using mobile surveys to measure physical activity and sedentary behavior in children revealed significantly higher step counts (*P*<.001) and the likelihood of \geq 5 minutes of MVPA (*P*<.001) during ecological momentary assessment–reported physical activity [26]. Finally, in Active Teen Leaders Avoiding Screen-time (ATLAS), which was a 20-week multicomponent obesity prevention intervention using smartphone technology, significant intervention effects were found for muscular fitness (mean 0.90, SE 0.49 repetitions; *P*=.04) and resistance training skills (mean 5.70, SE 0.67 units; *P*=.001) [32].

Dietary outcomes were reported in 46% (6/13) of intervention studies and included fruit and vegetable intake [27,30,31], sugar-sweetened beverage intake [27,31,32], the likelihood of eating breakfast [28], self-efficacy toward fruit and vegetable consumption [31], and attitude toward healthy eating [36]. Of the 4 studies that measured at least one dietary intake outcome, 2 (50%) reported significant improvements in fruit and vegetable intake [30] and sugar-sweetened beverage consumption [32], both of which were measured using self-reported questionnaires. Body Quest: Food of the Warrior [30] is a multicomponent elementary school-based childhood obesity prevention program aimed at increasing fruit and vegetable consumption, increasing physical activity, and promoting family involvement via a mix of traditional curriculum teaching, iPad app-based education, weekly fruit and vegetable tastings, and weekly take-home activities. Intervention participants demonstrated significant increases in fruit (P < .01) and vegetable (P < .001) consumption over the course of the program, increasing from 7 to 8 weekly fruit and vegetable servings in total. At the end of the program, participants consumed significantly more weekly servings of fruits (P < .001) and vegetables (P < .001) than the control group. In ATLAS [32], participants demonstrated a significant reduction in sugar-sweetened beverage consumption, as measured by the number of glasses per day (mean 0.60, SE 0.26 glasses per day; P=.01), after the 20-week intervention. The use of a mobile app as a standalone childhood obesity prevention tool resulted in a mix of nonsignificant and significant intervention effects. In a 12-week mobile technology intervention for obesity prevention among girls of diverse racial and ethnic backgrounds [27], participants tested a mobile app that facilitated goal setting, self-monitoring, and positive reinforcement to promote healthy behaviors. A 24-hour dietary recall failed to detect any significant improvements in fruit and vegetable consumption and sugar-sweetened beverage consumption. However, participants who tested a digital pet mobile game app aimed at improving eating behaviors demonstrated a significant increase in their likelihood of consuming breakfast (P < .05) [28]. All 23% (3/13) of studies that measured changes in the perception of healthy diet practices reported significant improvements, including adopting a more positive perception toward healthy dietary changes [28,31,36] and an increased likelihood of consuming breakfast [28].



Yau et al

Table 4. Measured anthropometry and physical activity outcomes and effect size of included studies.

Study	Anthropometry					Physical activity				
	BMI	BMI z score	BMI per- centile	Waist cir- cumference	Body fat per- centage	MVPA ^a	Step count	MET ^b	Physical strength or fitness	Attitude or perception
Bell et al [31]			·		·				·	
Significance		NS ^c	NS							
Statistics		<i>P</i> =.30	<i>P</i> =.32							
Blackman et al [29]										
Significance								1		
Statistics								<i>P</i> =.02		
Byrne et al [<mark>28</mark>]										
Significance										
Statistics										
Dunton et al [26]										
Significance						1	✓			
Statistics						P<.001	P<.001			
Galy et al [<mark>35</mark>]										
Significance						NS	NS		NS	NS
Statistics										
Nollen et al [27]										
Significance	NS									
Statistics	<i>d</i> =0.03; <i>P</i> =.91									
Patten et al [33]										
Significance						1				
Statistics						<i>d</i> =0.53; <i>P</i> <.05				
Pretlow et al [24]										
Significance			1							
Statistics			<i>P</i> <.01							
Sousa et al [<mark>36</mark>]										
Significance										NS
Statistics										η _p ² =0.01; <i>P</i> =.19
Smith et al [32]										
Significance	NS			NS	NS	NS	NS		1	
Statistics	<i>P</i> =.84			<i>P</i> =.16	P=.99	P=.14 (weekday); P=.80 (weekend)	<i>P</i> =.41 (week- day); <i>P</i> =.57 (week- end)		P=.04 (muscular fit); P<.001 (RT ^d)	
Struempler et al [30	1)			
Significance										
Statistics										
Vidmar at al [25]										

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e34967

XSL•FO RenderX

Yau	et	al
Tau	υı	aı

Study	Anthro	Anthropometry				Physical activity				
	BMI	BMI z score	BMI per- centile	Waist cir- cumference	Body fat per- centage	MVPA ^a	Step count	MET ^b	Physical strength or fitness	Attitude or perception
Significance		1	1							
Statistics		<i>P</i> <.001	P<.001							
van Woudenberg et	al [<mark>34</mark>]									
Significance							NS			
Statistics							<i>P</i> =.66			

^aMVPA: moderate to vigorous physical activity.

^bMET: metabolic equivalent.

^cNS: nonsignificance.

^dRT: resistance training.



Yau et al

Table 5. Measured dietary, screen time, feasibility and process evaluation outcomes and effect size of included studies.

Study	Dietary				Screen time	Feasibility or pro- cess evaluation	
	Fruits and vegetables	Sugar-sweetened beverages	Breakfast like- lihood	Attitude or per- ception			
Bell et al [31]		•	-				
Significance	NS ^a	NS		1			
Statistics	P=.41 (fruit); P=.38 (vegetable)	<i>P</i> =.75		<i>P</i> =.01			
Blackman et al [29]							
Significance						1	
Statistics							
Byrne et al [28]							
Significance			1	1		1	
Statistics			${\eta_p}^2 = 0.20;$ P<.05	$\eta_p^2 = 0.23;$ P<.05			
Dunton et al [26]							
Significance							
Statistics							
Galy et al [35]							
Significance						1	
Statistics							
Nollen et al [27]							
Significance	NS	NS			NS		
Statistics	<i>d</i> =0.44; <i>P</i> =.13	<i>d</i> =–0.34; <i>P</i> =.09			<i>d</i> =0.09; <i>P</i> =.76		
Patten et al [33]							
Significance							
Statistics							
Pretlow et al [24]							
Significance						1	
Statistics							
Sousa et al [36]							
Significance				✓			
Statistics				$\eta_p^2 = 0.03;$ P=.03			
Smith et al [32]							
Significance		1			1	1	
Statistics		P=.01			<i>P</i> =.03		
Struempler et al [30]							
Significance	1						
Statistics	<i>P</i> <.001 (fruit); <i>P</i> <.001 (vegetable)						
Vidmar et al [25]							
Significance						1	
Statistics							

 $\label{eq:https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e34967} \texttt{XSL} \bullet FO$

IMID DEDIATDICS AND DADENTING

MIRTEDIATRICS AN	DIARENTING					Tau et al
Study	Dietary				Screen time	Feasibility or pro- cess evaluation
	Fruits and vegetables	Sugar-sweetened beverages	Breakfast like- lihood	Attitude or per- ception		
van Woudenberg et al [34]						
Significance						
Statistics						

^aNS: nonsignificance.

BMI or BMI-derived measures were reported in 38% (5/13) of studies and included BMI [27,32], BMI z score (zBMI) [25,31], BMI percentile [31], and percentage over BMI relative to the 95th percentile ((BMI_{p95}) [25] and 50th percentile ((BMI_{p50}) [24], all of which were derived from height and weight data measured by trained research personnel. Of the 5 studies, 2 (40%) reported significant improvements [24,25]; both reported on the same weight loss intervention but in different settings-clinical [25] and community [24]-and measured various BMI-derived measures from baseline to program completion. The intervention was a multicomponent program based on an addiction treatment model that involved app use, as well as weekly phone meetings and group meetings to guide participants into staged, incremental food withdrawal to address problem foods, snacking, and meal size reduction. In the community setting, participants demonstrated a significant decrease in % BMI_{p50} from baseline to the end of the intervention (baseline: mean -0.051, SD 0.013 %BMI_{p50} per day; P<.01). In addition, participants in the health care setting [25] also experienced significant decrease а in %BMI_{p95} (coefficient=-0.02; 95% CI -0.03 to -0.01; P<.001), which is a more stringent measure, upon program completion compared with age-matched controls, with a significant decrease noted at 1, 3, and 6 months. Approximately 15% (2/13) of other studies that reported BMI only [27,32] found no significant differences in intervention completion despite comparable intervention durations (between 12 and 20 weeks).

Other reported measures included waist circumference [32], body fat percentage [32], strength and fitness measurements [32,35], recreational screen time [27,32], importance of eating healthy [28], attitudes and perceptions toward physical activity [35,36], and nutrition [31,36]. In an app-based digital pet intervention, when asked about the importance of healthy eating, participants who received only positive feedback from their digital pets (ie, happy pet avatar) reported viewing healthy eating as less important than those who received both positive and negative feedback (ie, sad pet avatar; P < .01), illustrating the motivational value of negative feedback [28]. Significant intervention effects were found for screen time (mean -30.00, SE 10.08 minutes per day; P=.03) in ATLAS [32]. Intervention participants of Virtual Sprouts, a 3-week intervention that involved a mobile gardening game and a classroom component, compared with the control group, achieved significant improvements in self-efficacy to eat (+1.6% vs - 10.3%; P=.01)and cooking (+2.9% vs -5.0%; P=.05) fruits and vegetables [31]. A significant effect on the self-reported perception of nutrition (mean change 0.02, SD 0.48; P=.03) was reported

among participants of TeenPower, a mobile health intervention aimed at promoting healthy behaviors in adolescence [36], compared with the control group (mean change -0.07, SD 0.42). No relationship was found between intervention effectiveness, as indicated by significant changes in reported outcome measures, and study quality, as assessed by the risk of bias assessment (Table 1 and Table 2).

Feasibility and Process Evaluation

Feasibility and process evaluation data were reported in 46% (6/13) of studies. Of the 3 studies that examined program satisfaction via surveys [32] and semistructured focus groups [29], 3 (67%) reported high levels of satisfaction. Approximately 31% (4/13) of studies measured user enjoyment, of which 75% (3/4) reported high levels of participant enjoyment [28,29,35], and 25% (1/4) reported that only 44% of participants agreed that the intervention was enjoyable [32]. Other feasibility measures included ease of use, perspectives on app features [29], and sustained interest in the intervention [28,35]. Approximately 23% (3/13) of studies reported on process indicators, including compliance measured via attendance tracking [32], recruitment and retention rates [25], and facilitator rating of participant compliance [24,25].

Discussion

Principal Findings

Interventions that used mobile health apps and included children aged 8 to 12 years were effective in improving healthy behaviors associated with childhood obesity, such as diet, physical activity, and sedentary behavior, with 62% (8/13) of studies reporting significant positive changes in at least one healthy behavior outcome. However, there was a lack of strong evidence to suggest the effectiveness of these interventions in improving anthropometric measures, with only 40% (2/5) of studies, both describing the same intervention but performed in different settings (clinical and community), reporting at least one significant change in BMI z score [25] and BMI percentile This discrepancy between healthy behavior [24,25]. improvements and insignificant improvements in anthropometric measures may be accounted for by the use of different assessment methods. Except for physical activity, measures of healthy behaviors tended to be assessed by self-report questionnaires, which may be more prone to bias and inaccuracy than anthropometric outcomes, which are typically measured by trained research personnel.

Of the 13 studies included in this review, 8 (62%) described healthy behavior promotion interventions [26,28,29,31,33-36],



Van at al

which is indicative of the gradual shift in focus from treatment to preventive health. Although mobile apps have the potential to improve healthy behaviors, our review indicates that not all apps are equal in their effectiveness. Of the 12 apps included in this review, 9 (75%) apps (of the 13 studies, 10 (77%) studies represented these apps) reported significant results in ≥ 1 outcome measure [24-26,28-33,36]. Approximately 46% (6/13) of studies [24-26,28,29,33] found significant results in all outcome measures assessed and targeted no more than 2 outcomes, suggesting the increased effectiveness of apps with a narrow behavior change target. Automatic data collection [24,25,32] and gamification [27-29,31,33,35,36] were the key features of apps that resulted in effective interventions. Multicomponent interventions appear to be superior compared with standalone app interventions.

Quasi-Experimental Designs Provide Flexibility for Proof-of-Concept Studies

Quasi-experimental study designs were the most common among the interventions described, with the one-group pre-posttest design being the most popular [24,25,29,30]. With a multitude of possible study designs (eg, interrupted time series and designs with or without control groups), quasi-experimental designs provide versatility, particularly in the context of limited resources. RCTs may require a large sample size and, as a result, greater amounts of resources such as funds and research personnel [43]. Researchers may have considered the unethical nature of performing randomization in at-risk populations, which could have been addressed by a stepped-wedge or waitlist study design but at the cost of a delay in treatment in the waitlist control group [44]. Quasi-experimental experiments can provide insight into correlation because of their design flexibility in the inclusion of retrospective control groups and multiple measures over time and can inform researchers whether it is worthwhile to conduct an RCT afterward to confirm causation [45].

Behavioral Versus Adiposity Measures for Evaluation of Childhood Obesity Interventions

Although only 33% (2/6) of studies reported significant improvements in adiposity measures [24,25], 73% (8/11) of studies reported significant improvements in at least one healthy behavior outcome, such as physical activity and fruit and vegetable intake. This absence of significant improvements in adiposity measures in the presence of improvements in behavioral measures has been previously reported [12] and may be explained by the limited duration of the reported interventions, as many were considered proof-of-concept studies with limited resources. For instance, participants in the pilot study by Patten et al [33] engaged in only 2 separate 20-minute play sessions (with and without the use of the mobile app) separated by 10- to 15-minute breaks. Given the pilot nature of the study, the authors discussed the limited budget as a potential challenge and further acknowledged that the results may be insufficient to support the presence of meaningful interactions and generalizability to the population of interest. Using solely adiposity measures, such as BMI and other BMI-derived measures (eg, zBMI, %BMI_{p95}, and %BMI_{p50}), has been found to be insufficient for evaluating the effects of interventions for childhood obesity [46]. For example, results from a 9-week

multicomponent, community-based childhood obesity intervention indicated that changes in zBMI were independent of changes in important health outcomes, such as cardiovascular fitness and physical activity, upon intervention completion [46].

Effectiveness of Multicomponent Versus Standalone App Interventions

Although the aim of this review was to determine the effectiveness of mobile apps in promoting healthy behaviors, with 46% (6/13) of studies being multicomponent interventions, it is difficult to identify the unique contribution to behavior change associated with the app versus other intervention components. All 6 multicomponent intervention studies reported at least one significant outcome, whereas only 57% (4/7) of standalone intervention studies reported significant outcomes. This observation is consistent with the results of other systematic reviews of heathy behavior change interventions [10,47] and suggests that the inclusion of an app in a multicomponent intervention may result in greater effectiveness in achieving healthy behavior changes. In our review, multicomponent interventions tended to be longer (17 weeks to 6 months) than standalone interventions (1 hour to 12 weeks). Previous literature has noted the correlation between a longer follow-up period for multicomponent interventions and their efficacy [47]. Furthermore, given the difficulty in conducting intensive interventions (eg, on a daily basis) because of resource and time constraints, the inclusion of a mobile app in a multicomponent intervention may potentially serve as a tool that consistently motivates healthy behavior changes between intervention and study visits. However, results from activities multicomponent intervention studies should be interpreted with caution as they may be biased or underpowered [48].

The tendency for multicomponent interventions to be more efficient has been described previously [49]; however, few studies have directly investigated the effect of the individual components of a multicomponent intervention. Therefore, the effects of the multicomponent interventions reported in this review cannot be attributed solely to the inclusion of the apps. Other intervention components or combinations of components, such as intervention length, irrespective of app use, may have contributed to the reported intervention effects [50].

App Features of Effective Interventions

The inclusion of certain features in an app may increase the effectiveness of the interventions [51]. The ability of an app to automatically collect and record health data using wirelessly connected devices such as accelerometers and scales may make it more convenient for users to keep track of their progress and receive continuous feedback and, thus, serve as an enabling factor for healthy behavior changes, as they facilitate personalized experiences based on users' preferences and needs [52]. Furthermore, 30% (3/10) [24,25,32] of studies reporting at least one significant outcome incorporated the use of wireless technology to gather data from an external device directly to a mobile device. In accordance with the Fogg Behavior Model [53], decreasing barriers to use (via automatic data collection and data integration) may decrease the level of effort required by users and, in turn, increase the likelihood that users will engage in healthy behavior changes.

XSL•FO

The incorporation of gamification in apps has previously been found to be associated with increased motivation and the establishment of long-lasting habits [54]. Approximately 71% (5/7) of studies that incorporated elements of gamification reported at least one significant healthy behavior outcome [28,29,31,33,36]. The analysis of health and fitness apps related to diet and physical activity by Lister et al [55] suggests that the use of gamification to increase motivation may only lead to temporary healthy behavior changes, as gamification often fails to address the individual's *ability* and the *presence of triggers* (cues to prompt target behavior), which when combined with motivation, form the 3 elements of the Fogg Behavior Model [53]. Mobile app developers are encouraged to integrate key aspects of behavior change theories to promote healthy behavior changes; 75% (3/4) [28,29,31] of studies included in this review that incorporated gamification and at least one behavior change theory in its app design reported at least one significant healthy behavior outcome.

Strengths and Limitations

This review was conducted under the guidance of a research librarian to ensure thoroughness of the search following PRISMA guidelines [16]. Study screening, data extraction, and risk of bias assessments were performed by at least two independent reviewers and discussed until consensus was reached. The narrow scope of this review provides a thorough overview of the literature to those interested in healthy behavior promotion studies targeting children that focused on mobile apps rather than other eHealth technologies such as SMS text messages and web-based technologies. Limitations are that because of the limited evidence base that is currently available, most studies included were quasi-experimental, and as evident from the risk of bias assessment, approximately half of the studies were rated as having a serious risk of bias. Even among the 4 RCTs, 3 (75%) were rated as having concerns regarding their risk of bias. Given that all but one of the studies included in this review were conducted in Western countries, this review may not be generalizable to the larger global community. It should also be noted that a meta-analysis was not completed because of the diverse nature of the outcomes and the reporting of the studies included in this review. Our results may be limited by our choice, the number of databases searched, and publication bias. Finally, we were unable to retrieve the relevant data specifically for the subgroups of children aged 8 to 12 years, as not all included studies reported the breakdown of participants' ages, and thus, our assessment may be more generalizable to children outside this age group. Future studies should include a formal evaluation of behavior change theory application to measure the extent of theory application in mobile apps and intervention designs.

Conclusions

The results of this systematic review suggest the potential of apps as components of healthy behavior promotion interventions to increase the adoption of healthy behaviors among children. However, the effectiveness of these mobile health interventions in improving anthropometric measures remains unclear. Dietary factors and physical activity measures emerged as the most common significant outcomes reported; gamification, wireless connection to external sensors, goal setting, and social support were common app features of interventions that reported significant outcomes. Further investigation is needed to determine the effectiveness of mobile apps as standalone interventions. With most of the literature comprising quasi-experimental studies that were relatively short in duration, future research in this area should use more rigorous study designs and be longer in duration (ie, >1 year) to truly generate a comprehensive understanding of the efficacy of mobile apps in healthy behavior promotion interventions for children.

Acknowledgments

This review formed part of KWY's master's thesis (doi 10.14288/1.0392508), is part of the Live 5-2-1-0 eHealth App project, and was funded by a Personalized Health Catalyst grant from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (PCG-155551; principal investigator: SA). MG holds a Michael Smith Foundation for Health Research Scholar award. The authors wish to thank Colleen Pawliuk, a librarian at the BC Children's Hospital Research Institute, for her guidance in developing the search strategy.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Literature search strategy. [DOCX File , 23 KB - pediatrics v5i1e34967 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Data extraction template. [DOCX File , 18 KB - pediatrics v5i1e34967 app2.docx]

References

 Lobstein T, Brinsden H. Atlas of childhood obesity. World Obesity. 2019. URL: <u>https://s3-eu-west-1.amazonaws.com/</u> wof-files/WOF_Childhood_Obesity_Atlas_Report_Oct19_V2.pdf [accessed 2020-04-21]

- Nader PR, O'Brien M, Houts R, Bradley R, Belsky J, Crosnoe R, National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Early Child Care Research Network. Identifying risk for obesity in early childhood. Pediatrics 2006;118(3):e594-e601. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-2801] [Medline: 16950951]
- 3. Sahoo K, Sahoo B, Choudhury AK, Sofi NY, Kumar R, Bhadoria AS. Childhood obesity: causes and consequences. J Family Med Prim Care 2015;4(2):187-192 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4103/2249-4863.154628] [Medline: 25949965]
- 4. De Niet JE, Naiman DI. Psychosocial aspects of childhood obesity. Minerva Pediatr 2011;63(6):491-505. [Medline: 22075804]
- 5. Rideout V, Robb MB. The common sense census: media use by tweens and teens, 2019. Common Sense Media. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.commonsensemedia.org/research/the-common-sense-census-media-use-by-tweens-and-teens-2019</u> [accessed 2021-09-28]
- 6. Kids and family reading report Canadian edition. Scholastic. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.scholastic.ca/readingreport/files/</u> KFRR 2017 Book FINAL CAN.pdf [accessed 2021-10-05]
- 7. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/childhood/causes.html</u> [accessed 2020-04-22]
- 8. Tully L, Burls A, Sorensen J, El-Moslemany R, O'Malley G. Mobile health for pediatric weight management: systematic scoping review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(6):e16214 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16214] [Medline: 32490849]
- 9. Quelly SB, Norris AE, DiPietro JL. Impact of mobile apps to combat obesity in children and adolescents: a systematic literature review. J Spec Pediatr Nurs 2016;21(1):5-17. [doi: 10.1111/jspn.12134] [Medline: 26494019]
- Schoeppe S, Alley S, Van Lippevelde W, Bray NA, Williams SL, Duncan MJ, et al. Efficacy of interventions that use apps to improve diet, physical activity and sedentary behaviour: a systematic review. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2016;13(1):127 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-016-0454-y] [Medline: 27927218]
- 11. Böhm B, Karwiese SD, Böhm H, Oberhoffer R. Effects of mobile health including wearable activity trackers to increase physical activity outcomes among healthy children and adolescents: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019;7(4):e8298 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8298] [Medline: 31038460]
- 12. Turner T, Spruijt-Metz D, Wen CK, Hingle MD. Prevention and treatment of pediatric obesity using mobile and wireless technologies: a systematic review. Pediatr Obes 2015;10(6):403-409 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ijpo.12002] [Medline: 25641770]
- 13. Mack I, Bayer C, Schäffeler N, Reiband N, Brölz E, Zurstiege G, et al. Chances and limitations of video games in the fight against childhood obesity-a systematic review. Eur Eat Disord Rev 2017;25(4):237-267. [doi: 10.1002/erv.2514] [Medline: 28467004]
- 14. Pakarinen A, Parisod H, Smed J, Salanterä S. Health game interventions to enhance physical activity self-efficacy of children: a quantitative systematic review. J Adv Nurs 2017;73(4):794-811. [doi: 10.1111/jan.13160] [Medline: 27688056]
- Rose T, Barker M, Maria Jacob C, Morrison L, Lawrence W, Strömmer S, et al. A systematic review of digital interventions for improving the diet and physical activity behaviors of adolescents. J Adolesc Health 2017;61(6):669-677 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.05.024] [Medline: 28822682]
- 16. Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. PLoS Med 2009;6(7):e1000100 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000100] [Medline: 19621070]
- 17. Callaham J. From Android market to Google Play: a brief history of the Play Store. Android Authority. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.androidauthority.com/android-market-google-play-history-754989/</u> [accessed 2021-09-27]
- 18. The App Store turns 10. Apple. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.apple.com/newsroom/2018/07/app-store-turns-10/</u> [accessed 2021-09-27]
- Tjosvold L, Campbell S, Dorgan M. Filter to retrieve pediatrics articles in OVID Medline. University of Alberta. 2020. URL: <u>https://docs.google.com/document/d/1Q3MLfUolWe9q33JdAIzmVK0vi_ieC2Z60e9QvzTgkU8/edit</u> [accessed 2021-07-14]
- 20. Desmeules R. Filter to retrieve pediatric articles in the OVID EMBASE database. University of Alberta. 2020. URL: <u>https://docs.google.com/document/d/1NjuPye2VEI7eIJXOE5Zr-ZJVbFFvAeIBFY9Oq-Jrwto/edit</u> [accessed 2020-04-22]
- 21. Campbell S. Filter to retrieve pediatrics articles in EBSCO CINAHL database. University of Alberta. 2020. URL: <u>https://docs.google.com/document/d/1HBmwNb0NXPVBudA_w8UsjfkJdF73p9fWR0uX_OX8-8s/edit</u> [accessed 2021-07-14]
- 22. Sterne JA, Savović J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Blencowe NS, Boutron I, et al. RoB 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. BMJ 2019;366:14898. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.14898] [Medline: 31462531]
- 23. Sterne JA, Hernán MA, Reeves BC, Savović J, Berkman ND, Viswanathan M, et al. ROBINS-I: a tool for assessing risk of bias in non-randomised studies of interventions. BMJ 2016;355:i4919 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.i4919] [Medline: 27733354]
- 24. Pretlow RA, Stock CM, Allison S, Roeger L. Treatment of child/adolescent obesity using the addiction model: a smartphone app pilot study. Child Obes 2015;11(3):248-259 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/chi.2014.0124] [Medline: 25760813]
- Vidmar AP, Pretlow R, Borzutzky C, Wee CP, Fox DS, Fink C, et al. An addiction model-based mobile health weight loss intervention in adolescents with obesity. Pediatr Obes 2019;14(2):e12464 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/ijpo.12464] [Medline: 30117309]

- 26. Dunton GF, Liao Y, Intille SS, Spruijt-Metz D, Pentz M. Investigating children's physical activity and sedentary behavior using ecological momentary assessment with mobile phones. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2011;19(6):1205-1212 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/oby.2010.302] [Medline: 21164502]
- 27. Nollen NL, Mayo MS, Carlson SE, Rapoff MA, Goggin KJ, Ellerbeck EF. Mobile technology for obesity prevention: a randomized pilot study in racial- and ethnic-minority girls. Am J Prev Med 2014;46(4):404-408 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2013.12.011] [Medline: 24650843]
- 28. Byrne S, Gay G, Pollack JP, Gonzales A, Retelny D, Lee T, et al. Caring for mobile phone-based virtual pets can influence youth eating behaviors. J Child Media 2012;6(1):83-99. [doi: 10.1080/17482798.2011.633410]
- Blackman KC, Zoellner J, Kadir A, Dockery B, Johnson SB, Almeida FA, et al. Examining the feasibility of smartphone game applications for physical activity promotion in middle school students. Games Health J 2015;4(5):409-419. [doi: 10.1089/g4h.2014.0120] [Medline: 26287931]
- Struempler BJ, Parmer SM, Mastropietro LM, Arsiwalla D, Bubb RR. Changes in fruit and vegetable consumption of third-grade students in body quest: food of the warrior, a 17-class childhood obesity prevention program. J Nutr Educ Behav 2014;46(4):286-292. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jneb.2014.03.001</u>] [Medline: <u>24767729</u>]
- Bell BM, Martinez L, Gotsis M, Lane HC, Davis JN, Antunez-Castillo L, et al. Virtual sprouts: a virtual gardening pilot intervention increases self-efficacy to cook and eat fruits and vegetables in minority youth. Games Health J 2018;7(2):127-135 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/g4h.2017.0102] [Medline: 29394102]
- Smith JJ, Morgan PJ, Plotnikoff RC, Dally KA, Salmon J, Okely AD, et al. Smart-phone obesity prevention trial for adolescent boys in low-income communities: the ATLAS RCT. Pediatrics 2014;134(3):e723-e731. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-1012] [Medline: 25157000]
- 33. Patten JW, Iarocci G, Bojin N. A pilot study of children's physical activity levels during imagination-based mobile games. J Child Health Care 2017;21(3):292-300. [doi: 10.1177/1367493517708477] [Medline: 29119828]
- 34. van Woudenberg TJ, Bevelander KE, Burk WJ, Smit CR, Buijs L, Buijzen M. A randomized controlled trial testing a social network intervention to promote physical activity among adolescents. BMC Public Health 2018;18(1):542 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5451-4] [Medline: 29685112]
- 35. Galy O, Yacef K, Caillaud C. Improving Pacific adolescents' physical activity toward international recommendations: exploratory study of a digital education app coupled with activity trackers. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019;7(12):e14854 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14854] [Medline: 31825319]
- Sousa P, Martinho R, Reis CI, Dias SS, Gaspar PJ, Dixe MD, et al. Controlled trial of an mHealth intervention to promote healthy behaviours in adolescence (TeenPower): effectiveness analysis. J Adv Nurs 2020;76(4):1057-1068. [doi: 10.1111/jan.14301] [Medline: 31880009]
- 37. Van Woudenberg T. Trial NL6042: promoting physical activity among youth: strategic places in the classroom. Netherlands Trial Register. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.trialregister.nl/trial/6042</u> [accessed 2020-07-17]
- Smith JJ, Morgan PJ, Plotnikoff RC, Dally KA, Salmon J, Okely AD, et al. Rationale and study protocol for the 'active teen leaders avoiding screen-time' (ATLAS) group randomized controlled trial: an obesity prevention intervention for adolescent boys from schools in low-income communities. Contemp Clin Trials 2014;37(1):106-119. [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2013.11.008] [Medline: 24291151]
- 39. Vidmar AP, Salvy SJ, Pretlow R, Mittelman SD, Wee CP, Fink C, et al. An addiction-based mobile health weight loss intervention: protocol of a randomized controlled trial. Contemp Clin Trials 2019;78:11-19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2019.01.008] [Medline: 30654026]
- Sousa P, Duarte E, Ferreira R, Esperança A, Frontini R, Santos-Rocha R, et al. An mHealth intervention programme to promote healthy behaviours and prevent adolescent obesity (TeenPower): a study protocol. J Adv Nurs 2019;75(3):683-691. [doi: 10.1111/jan.13905] [Medline: 30397934]
- 41. Bandura A. Social foundations of thought and action: a social cognitive theory. 2nd edition. Hoboken, NJ: Prentice-Hall; 1986.
- 42. Pretlow RA. Addiction to highly pleasurable food as a cause of the childhood obesity epidemic: a qualitative internet study. Eat Disord 2011;19(4):295-307 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/10640266.2011.584803] [Medline: 22352970]
- 43. Harris AD, Bradham DD, Baumgarten M, Zuckerman IH, Fink JC, Perencevich EN. The use and interpretation of quasi-experimental studies in infectious diseases. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38(11):1586-1591. [doi: 10.1086/420936] [Medline: 15156447]
- 44. Hoagwood K, Jensen PS, Fisher CB. Ethical issues in mental health research with children and adolescents. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates; 1996.
- 45. Schweizer ML, Braun BI, Milstone AM. Research methods in healthcare epidemiology and antimicrobial stewardship-quasi-experimental designs. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2016;37(10):1135-1140 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/ice.2016.117] [Medline: 27267457]
- Kolotourou M, Radley D, Chadwick P, Smith L, Orfanos S, Kapetanakis V, et al. Is BMI alone a sufficient outcome to evaluate interventions for child obesity? Child Obes 2013;9(4):350-356 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/chi.2013.0019] [Medline: 23767805]

- 47. Evans CE, Christian MS, Cleghorn CL, Greenwood DC, Cade JE. Systematic review and meta-analysis of school-based interventions to improve daily fruit and vegetable intake in children aged 5 to 12 y. Am J Clin Nutr 2012;96(4):889-901. [doi: 10.3945/ajcn.111.030270] [Medline: 22952187]
- 48. Ioannidis JP. Why most published research findings are false. PLoS Med 2005;2(8):e124 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0020124] [Medline: 16060722]
- 49. Fiore MC, Jaén CR, Baker TB. Treating tobacco use and dependence: 2008 update. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2008.
- 50. Collins LM, Trail JB, Kugler KC, Baker TB, Piper ME, Mermelstein RJ. Evaluating individual intervention components: making decisions based on the results of a factorial screening experiment. Transl Behav Med 2014;4(3):238-251 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s13142-013-0239-7] [Medline: 25264464]
- 51. Lee M, Lee H, Kim Y, Kim J, Cho M, Jang J, et al. Mobile app-based health promotion programs: a systematic review of the literature. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2018;15(12):2838 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph15122838] [Medline: 30551555]
- 52. Wang A, An N, Lu X, Chen H, Li C, Levkoff S. A classification scheme for analyzing mobile apps used to prevent and manage disease in late life. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014;2(1):e6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.2877] [Medline: 25098687]
- 53. Fogg BJ. A behavior model for persuasive design. In: Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Persuasive Technology. 2009 Presented at: Persuasive '09; April 26-29, 2009; Claremont, CA p. 1-7. [doi: 10.1145/1541948.1541999]
- 54. King D, Greaves F, Exeter C, Darzi A. 'Gamification': influencing health behaviours with games. J R Soc Med 2013;106(3):76-78 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0141076813480996] [Medline: 23481424]
- 55. Lister C, West JH, Cannon B, Sax T, Brodegard D. Just a fad? Gamification in health and fitness apps. JMIR Serious Games 2014;2(2):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/games.3413] [Medline: 25654660]

Abbreviations

%BMI_{p50}: percentage over BMI relative to the 50th percentile %BMI_{p95}: percentage over BMI relative to the 95th percentile ATLAS: Active Teen Leaders Avoiding Screen-time MVPA: moderate to vigorous physical activity PRISMA: Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses RCT: randomized controlled trial zBMI: BMI *z* score

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 20.11.21; peer-reviewed by JS Jerng, E Hohman; comments to author 18.01.22; revised version received 08.02.22; accepted 21.02.22; published 28.03.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

 Yau KW, Tang TS, Görges M, Pinkney S, Kim AD, Kalia A, Amed S

 Effectiveness of Mobile Apps in Promoting Healthy Behavior Changes and Preventing Obesity in Children: Systematic Review

 JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e34967

 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e34967

 doi:10.2196/34967

 PMID:35343908

©Kiana W Yau, Tricia S Tang, Matthias Görges, Susan Pinkney, Annie D Kim, Angela Kalia, Shazhan Amed. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 28.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Effectiveness of Pediatric Teleconsultation to Prevent Skin Conditions in Infants and Reduce Parenting Stress in Mothers: Randomized Controlled Trial

Tomohisa Ando^{1,2}, MD, PhD; Rintaro Mori³, MSc, MD, PhD; Kenji Takehara², PhD; Mari Asukata⁴, MD; Shuichi Ito⁵, MD, PhD; Akira Oka¹, MD, PhD

¹Department of Pediatrics, University of Tokyo, Tokyo, Japan

²Department of Health Policy, National Center for Child Health and Development, Tokyo, Japan

³Population Ageing and Sustainable Development, Asia and the Pacific Regional Office, United Nations Population Fund, Bangkok, Thailand

⁴Tsurumi Ward Administration Office, Yokohama, Japan

⁵Department of Pediatrics, Graduate School of Medicine, Yokohama City University, Yokohama, Japan

Corresponding Author:

Tomohisa Ando, MD, PhD Department of Health Policy National Center for Child Health and Development 2-10-1 Okura Setagaya-ku Tokyo, 157-8535 Japan Phone: 81 334170181 Fax: 81 334172694 Email: ando-tm@ncchd.go.jp

Related Article:

This is a corrected version. See correction statement: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/2/e38059

Abstract

Background: In Japan, eHealth for infants and mothers is currently an important aspect, but its effectiveness has rarely been examined. For infants, skin problems, including atopic dermatitis (AD), which is known to lead to other allergic diseases, are one of the most common conditions. Mothers of infants are prone to experiencing parenting stress, which adversely affects mothers' and children's well-being. Additionally, studies have reported that AD among offspring enhances parenting stress, and postnatal maternal psychological problems can increase the risk of AD in children.

Objective: This study evaluated the effectiveness of pediatric teleconsultation for preventing AD in infants and reducing parenting stress in mothers in Japan.

Methods: The study was an open-label, randomized, parallel-armed controlled trial. In total, 318 pairs of infants and mothers in the Yokohama City Sakae Ward were recruited when they submitted birth cards to the ward, received the explanation about the trial, and provided informed consent on the website for this trial. Eligible pairs of infants and mothers were randomly assigned to the intervention group (n=140) or the control group (n=138). Participants in the intervention and control groups received routine postnatal care from local government services. In addition, participants in the intervention group had the option to combine routine pediatric services with teleconsultation and email newsletters without charge from the date of registration until the infant turned 4 months. Primary outcomes were (1) the prevalence of AD in infants diagnosed based on the United Kingdom Working Party criteria and (2) parenting stress and mental status of mothers assessed using the Parenting Stress Index-Short Form (PSI-SF) and General Health Questionnaire-12 (GHQ-12). Data were collected by the ward office staff and researcher during the 4-month checkup.

Results: The prevalence of AD in infants was significantly lower in the intervention group than in the control group during the 4-month checkup (20% vs 33%, P=.02; relative risk ratio, 0.709 [95% CI 0.519-0.969]). No significant differences were observed

in the PSI-SF and GHQ-12 scores between the 2 groups. There was a significant difference in the prevalence of AD between participants who used teleconsultation services and email newsletters, participants who did not use teleconsultation services but received email newsletters, and participants who neither received nor used either service (18% vs 22% vs 33%, P=.048).

Conclusions: This is the first randomized controlled trial demonstrating that routine pediatric care combined with teleconsultation and email newsletters was effective in reducing the prevalence of AD in infants. The findings highlight the potential of pediatric eHealth to become a useful new strategy for preventing AD.

Trial Registration: University Hospital Medical Information Network Clinical Trials Registry UMIN000029774; https://upload.umin.ac.jp/cgi-open-bin/ctr_e/ctr_view.cgi?recptno=R000034022

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e27615) doi:10.2196/27615

KEYWORDS

teleconsultation; email newsletters; eHealth; pediatrician; infant; mother; atopic dermatitis; parenting stress; randomized controlled trial; stress; dermatitis; parenting; pediatrics; email; children; Japan

Introduction

The exchange of valid health-related information between health care professionals and their patients can facilitate successful diagnosis, treatment, and prevention as well as research and evaluation, thereby advancing the health of individuals and communities. In this context, telemedicine and eHealth refer to the location-independent delivery of health care services through information and communication technologies. Telemedicine and eHealth are widely used services due to their functionality, ease of use, cost-effectiveness, time-saving features, and accessibility for patients who live far from health care facilities [1-3]. eHealth for expectant or nursing mothers has attracted particular attention because women of reproductive age are particularly frequent users of the internet, social media, and smartphone apps and thus appear to be prime candidates for this form of health care delivery [4].

Telemedicine and eHealth intervention services provided to pediatric patients with conditions such as autism, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, and chronic diseases have been demonstrated to positively influence pediatric patients as well as families and health care providers [5-8]. Systematic reviews have indicated that telemedicine services for pediatric care result in comparable or improved outcomes relative to in-person services [7,8]. Moreover, parents have reported experiencing actual and perceived benefits of eHealth services, including ease of use, higher confidence in and satisfaction with infant care, and efficient knowledge transmission [9].

In Japan, a few reports have described the use of perinatal eHealth services provided by health care providers, such as telediagnosis for fetal cardiac diseases [10-12], construction of electronic medical records for perinatal care [13], and digitalization of a maternal and child health handbook [14]. Moreover, no randomized controlled trial (RCT) has examined the effectiveness of eHealth for infants and mothers.

As one of the most common conditions afflicting newborns and young infants, skin disorders appear to be prime candidates for telemedicine services. More than 50% of newborns and young infants have skin conditions such as infantile eczema, diaper dermatitis, intertrigo, and seborrheic dermatitis [15]. In particular, atopic dermatitis (AD) or skin inflammation should be prevented because it may increase the risk of other allergic

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e27615
```

diseases [16]. Previous RCTs on eHealth for AD have focused on patients [17,18], the feasibility of web-based consultations [19], or equivalence to ordinary in-person care [20]. However, to date, no study has examined whether eHealth can prevent infants from developing AD.

Parents of children with AD encounter significant and persistent challenges to successfully manage the condition [21]. Mothers, who are often the primary caregivers, experience a higher degree of psychological stress while raising offspring with serious illnesses, with corresponding negative impacts on parents' and children's well-being [22]. A mother's mental state—manifested in low maternal sensitivity, perinatal anxiety, or postpartum depression—is a modifiable risk factor for the development of childhood AD [23-25]. Recent studies have emphasized the need for and usefulness of parenting training programs as easily accessible interventions to help reduce parental stress [26,27]. Thus, adequate psychological support and training would help in reducing parental stress and in better management of the condition of atopic children.

In Japan, reports from the Sukoyaka (meaning "healthy and happy" in Japanese) Family 21, a national campaign for maternal and child health, have highlighted the ineffectiveness of current measures to improve women's mental health, the insufficiency of childcare and development consultation services, and the necessity of support from pediatricians as well as obstetricians, midwives, and public nurses [28,29]. Studies conducted in other countries indicate that the use of eHealth-based services in such scenarios can effectively and feasibly address problems among parents of children with AD [30-33]. Accordingly, we propose that telemedicine services could reduce parental vulnerability by addressing knowledge deficits regarding disease management and parenting methods while also alleviating stress-inducing logistical barriers such as travel, time, and cost.

In this study, we implemented pediatric teleconsultation and evaluated its effectiveness for improving skin conditions in infants, especially in terms of preventing AD and reducing parenting stress in mothers in Japan. Compared with the control group receiving routine postnatal care via local government services, we hypothesized that the additional service comprising teleconsultation and email newsletters provided by pediatricians would be an effective strategy for preventing AD in infants and reducing parenting stress in mothers at 4 months postpartum.

XSL•FO RenderX

Methods

Study Design

This study was an open-label, randomized, parallel-armed, controlled trial. Data collection was blinded to the intervention assignment of the participants. We registered this trial design, including the hypotheses and outcome measures, at the University Hospital Medical Information Network Clinical Trials Registry (trial registration number: UMIN000029774), although we did not publish the protocol paper of this study.

Participants, Recruitment, and Randomization

The study participants were infant and mother dyads in the Yokohama City Sakae Ward. The pairs were recruited when mothers submitted their infants' birth cards (a document submitted to the local government upon an infant's birth) at the Yokohama City Sakae Ward Office, received an explanation about the study, and provided informed consent on the Sakae Infants and Mothers with the Pediatric Teleconsultation (SIMPLE) Study website that was exclusively set up for this study. Recruitment took place from November 1, 2017, to May 31, 2018. There were no other specific inclusion criteria for the trial.

Exclusion criteria included the unwillingness or inability to comply with the study requirements and procedures; a discretionary decision by study staff that either the mother or the infant might not be suitable for participating in this trial; a mother's inability to understand Japanese (although communication through a Japanese interpreter could be performed in exceptional circumstances); infants born before 37 weeks of gestation; infants born after 42 weeks of gestation; twins or multiple births; and infants needing neonatal intensive care. These criteria were available for review on the SIMPLE Study website. We did not exclude any infant-mother pairs following the development of maternal mental health problems or infant skin problems.

Shortly after enrollment, a simple randomization method was used to assign participants to the intervention or control group with a ratio of 1:1 in the order of registration on the SIMPLE Study website.

Intervention

In addition to routine postnatal care through local government services such as home visits by public nurses and breastfeeding consultation services by midwives, participants in the intervention group had the option to use a pediatric teleconsultation service named "Syounika (meaning "pediatric" in Japanese) Online" and receive email newsletters without any charge from the time of registration to 4 months of age. The email newsletters were delivered once every 3 days (30 times in total) during the intervention period.

The Syounika Online Service was launched by Kids Public Inc in 2016. The core service is teleconsultation through video calls, voice calls, or text messages via smartphones. Users can consult with pediatricians about any matters regarding their children's health and parenting for 10 minutes from 6 PM to 10 PM on weekdays (Figure 1). Syounika Online also delivers email newsletters containing useful information about children's health and parenting, such as infant skin care, breastfeeding, and maternal self-care. Syounika Online collaborated with local governments, companies, health insurance providers, and paid subscribers to recruit users across the country.

All data were collected by the ward office staff and the researcher at the community health center in the Yokohama City Sakae Ward when participants visited there for the 4-month checkup. Figure 2 describes the flow of the study.



Figure 1. Syounika Online Service (translated from Japanese to English). Skype was no longer available during the trial.



Figure 2. Outline of the study flow.



Primary Outcomes

The primary outcomes were the prevalence of AD in infants, parenting stress, and mothers' mental health status at the 4-month checkup.

Prevalence of AD in Infants

The diagnosis of AD was based on the United Kingdom Working Party (UKWP) criteria [34]. In addition to itchy skin in the last 12 months, the infant should meet at least three of the following criteria: (1) history of skin creases, such as in the folds of the elbows, behind the knees, fronts of the ankles, or around the neck (including the cheeks in children under 10

years); (2) a personal history of asthma or hay fever (or history of atopic disease in a first-degree relative for children under 4 years); (3) a history of generally dry skin in the last year; (4) visible flexural eczema (or eczema involving the cheeks or forehead and the outer limbs in children under 4 years); (5) onset under the age of 2 years (not applicable if child is currently under 4 years). All the infants were assessed by 1 pediatrician who was blinded to the intervention assignment of participants to ascertain whether there was visible flexural eczema.

Parenting Stress and Mental Status of Mothers

Parenting stress was measured using the original Japanese version of the Parenting Stress Index-Short Form (PSI-SF; 19 items)—an abridged version of the full-length PSI [35]—which was developed in 1983 for screening and triage purposes to evaluate the parenting system and identify issues that may cause problems in the child's or parent's behavior. The Japanese version of the PSI-SF has been demonstrated as a valid and reliable tool, and it consists of 19 items and 2 subscales, namely parental stress and child-related stress [36,37]. Higher PSI-SF scores indicated higher levels of parental stress. Araki et al reported a Cronbach alpha coefficient of .82 for the total PSI-SF score [36]. The Cronbach alpha coefficient in this study was .873.

Current mental health was measured using the General Health Questionnaire-12 (GHQ-12; 12 items) [38]. GHQ-12 is a valid, internationally used measure of mental status in a population and has been used in several studies to assess the medium- and long-term postpartum mental health status of mothers [39]. Participants with GHQ-12 scores \geq 4 were classified as the high GHQ score group [40]. Higher GHQ-12 scores indicated higher severity of a mental health problem. The Cronbach alpha coefficient in this study was .774.

Secondary Outcomes

Secondary outcomes were breastfeeding rates and the developmental quotient (DQ) of infants, which were examined by a pediatrician through questionnaires at the 4-month checkup. Breastfeeding rates were determined by asking mothers through a questionnaire about the proportion of time spent on breastfeeding the infants (100%, 80%-99%, 20%-79%, 1%-19%, or 0%). The DQ was assessed using the Enjoji Scales of Infant Analytical Development, which has been universally used in Japan [41]. This test can be administered to infants and children ranging from newborns to 4 years and 7 months, and it assesses 6 categories (locomotor, manual activity, language, emotional status, intelligence, and social behavior). The DQ was calculated using the following formula: $DQ = (assessed age / real age) \times 100$.

Sample Size

Because no previous studies have examined the effectiveness of eHealth in this setting, we estimated the required sample size from the limited data on the prevalence of AD and the PSI-SF total scores presented in previous studies [37,42].

Based on the prevalence of AD at the 4-month checkup, we estimated a sample size of 132 infants per group, with an AD prevalence of 18% in the intervention group and 33% in the

control group, α =.05, and a power of 80% ([1- β] × 100, where β =.2).

Based on the PSI-SF total scores at the 4-month checkup, we estimated a sample size of 86 mothers per group with the mean and SD of the PSI-SF total scores being 37 and 7, respectively, in the intervention group and 40 and 7, respectively, in the control group, along with α =.05 and β =.2. These values were approximated by referring to the PSI parenting stress index handbook [37].

Overall, we expected a dropout rate of approximately 10% and set the target number of participants to 300, which was estimated as follows: There were an estimated 132 infants per group, thus making 264 dyads. Assuming a 10% nonresponse rate, 264 would correspond to 90% of the study participants. To factor in nonresponses, the sample size was inflated by a factor of 0.9, that is 293 (264/0.9), which was rounded up to 300. This sample size was insufficient for detailed analysis of GHQ-12 score groups, but we expect our data to contribute to future meta-analyses on this topic.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed by intention-to-treat using SPSS version 25.0 (IBM Corporation). For categorical and count characteristic variables (AD, GHQ-12≥4, and breastfeeding rate), we used the Pearson chi-square or Fisher exact test to detect statistical differences in the distributions between the intervention and control groups. For continuous characteristic variables (PSI-SF total stress, child domain, parent domain, locomotion, hand exercise, common practice, human interaction, speech, language comprehension, and average of DQ), we tested for differences between the 2 groups using the t test for normally distributed variables and the Mann-Whitney U test for non-normally distributed variables. The results of the outcomes assessed at the 4-month checkups were analyzed using a per-protocol analysis to examine the individual effectiveness of the teleconsultation and email newsletters by comparing three groups: participants who received and used teleconsultation services and email newsletters; participants who did not use teleconsultation services but received email newsletters; and participants who neither received nor used either service.

In presenting the differences between the groups, we calculated the differences as follows: For categorical variables, we calculated differences in percentages; for continuous variables, we calculated differences between means. We set the level of statistical significance at 0.05.

Ethical Considerations

This study received ethical approval from the institutional review board of the National Center for Child Health and Development before participant recruitment commenced (approval number: 1570). We obtained informed consent on the internet from the adult participants at the time of enrollment. The protocol for this study is available on the SIMPLE Study website. We arranged for participants in the control group to have access to Syounika Online without charge from 5 to 8 months of age. We did not prohibit any participants from using Syounika Online at their own expense.

```
XSL•FO
```

Results

Participant Details

Among the 440 pairs of infants and mothers who submitted their birth cards to the Yokohama City Sakae Ward Office during the recruitment period, we assessed the eligibility of the 318 pairs who accessed the SIMPLE Study website to receive an explanation of this study (Figure 3). In total, 23 pairs were excluded because infants were born before 37 weeks or after 42 weeks of gestation, and there were twins or multiple births, or infants requiring neonatal intensive care. Further, 17 pairs

Figure 3. Participant flowchart.

declined participation. Finally, 278 infant-mother pairs were enrolled. We allocated 140 pairs to the intervention group and 138 pairs to the control group. Furthermore, 13 pairs were excluded from the analysis because 6 moved out of the city, 5 withdrew participation voluntarily, and 2 postponed their 4-month checkups. No pairs crossed over between trial arms. Finally, we analyzed the data of 265 infant-mother dyads among the 278 pairs (95.3%).

Table 1 summarizes the characteristics of the participants and their families. We detected no significant differences in their characteristics.





Table 1.	Characteristics	of infants and	l mothers in	intervention an	d control	groups	(N=265)
----------	-----------------	----------------	--------------	-----------------	-----------	--------	---------

Characteristics	Intervention		Control		P value ^a
	Values	n ^b	Values	n	
Infants	-				
Female, n (%)	67 (48.6)	138	52 (40.9)	127	.22
Birth weight (g), mean (SD)	3102 (359.8)	138	3060 (391.8)	127	.45
Birth height (cm), mean (SD)	49.4 (1.8)	138	49.3 (1.9)	127	.75
Neonatal problem, n (%)	18 (13.1)	137	21 (16.5)	127	.49
Mothers					
Age (years), mean (SD)	33.0 (4.8)	138	33.0 (5.0)	127	.90
Employment, n (%)	68 (50.4)	135	61 (49.2)	124	.90
History of hospitalization or long-term treatment, n (%)	30 (21.7)	138	28 (22.1)	127	.99
Current illness, n (%)	13 (9.5)	137	15 (11.8)	127	.56
Parity: primiparous, n (%)	67 (48.6)	138	63 (49.6)	127	.90
Gravidity, mean (SD)	1.9 (1.0)	137	2.1 (1.5)	127	.62
Threatened abortion or premature delivery, n (%)	19 (14.0)	136	11 (8.7)	127	.24
Gestational age (weeks), mean (SD)	39.0 (1.1)	138	39.0 (1.1)	127	.88
Method of birth, n (%)					.99
Spontaneous vaginal birth	102 (73.9)	138	94 (74.0)	127	
Instrumental vaginal birth	14 (10.1)	138	13 (10.2)	127	
Cesarean section	22 (15.9)	138	20 (15.8)	127	
Delivery location, n (%)					.85
Hospital	70 (50.7)	138	64 (50.8)	126	
Clinic	68 (49.3)	138	61 (48.4)	126	
Maternity home	0 (0.0)	138	1 (0.8)	126	
Families					
Father's age (years), mean (SD)	34.6 (6.2)	138	34.6 (5.8)	127	.98
Father's employment, n (%)	132 (97.8)	135	126 (99.2)	127	.62
Family members who smoke, n (%)	39 (28.3)	138	36 (28.4)	127	.99
Family history of atopic dermatitis, n (%)	32 (23.2)	138	40 (31.5)	127	.17
Family history of bronchial asthma, n (%)	38 (27.7)	137	30 (23.6)	127	.48

 ^{a}P values for categorical variables were calculated using either the Pearson chi- square or Fisher exact test; P values for continuous variables were calculated using t tests.

^bSome n values are lower than others due to missing data.

Usage Status of Syounika Online

Among the 138 intervention group participants, 59 (42.4%) used the teleconsultation service 116 times. Skin problems in infants (n=32, 28%) were the most common reasons for consultations, followed by gastrointestinal problems (n=26, 22%) and breastfeeding problems (n=15, 13%). In the control group, 1 participant used the teleconsultation service 17 times at her own expense.

The email newsletters from Syounika Online were delivered 30 times and contained 28 pieces of advice on skin care in infants and 25 pieces of advice on breastfeeding. Overall, the 138

```
participants in the intervention group and 1 participant in the control group received the newsletters, and their opening rates were 30% to 58%.
```

Main Analysis

The results of the primary and secondary outcomes are summarized in Table 2.

Analysis of the primary outcomes revealed that the prevalence of AD was significantly lower in the intervention group than in the control group (20% vs 33%, P=.02; relative risk ratio, 0.709 [95% CI 0.519-0.969]).

XSL•FO RenderX

Table 2. Primary and secondary outcomes assessed at the 4-month checkups (N=265).

Outcomes	Intervention (n=138)	Control (n=127)	Difference (95% CI)	P value
Atopic dermatitis, n (%)	28 (20)	42 (33)	-0.13 (-0.23 to -0.02)	.02
Parenting stress and mental status of mothers	5			
PSI-SF ^a (total stress), mean (SD)	39.1 (9.8)	37.1 (9.1)	1.95 (-0.34 to 4.25)	.10
PSI-SF (child domain), mean (SD)	18.2 (5.4)	17.3 (5.0)	0.89 (-0.36 to 2.14)	.20
PSI-SF (parent domain), mean (SD)	20.9 (5.7)	19.8 (5.3)	1.07 (-0.27 to 2.41)	.18
GHQ-12 ^b \geq 4, n (%)	45 (33)	44 (35)	0.02 (-0.09 to 0.13)	.79
Developmental quotient				
Locomotion, mean (SD)	100 (28)	102 (28)	-1.97 (-8.79 to 4.84)	.37
Hand exercise, mean (SD)	112 (24)	105 (28)	6.92 (0.52 to 13.33)	.08
Common practice, mean (SD)	65 (21)	65 (21)	0.43 (-4.57 to 5.43)	.87
Human interaction, mean (SD)	118 (21)	116 (23)	2.22 (-3.05 to 7.48)	.61
Speech, mean (SD)	110 (26)	105 (25)	5.10 (-1.16 to 11.36)	.11
Language comprehension, mean (SD)	55 (41)	54 (39)	1.18 (-8.53 to 10.88)	.99
Average ^c	93 (16)	91 (18)	2.31 (-1.87 to 6.49)	.28
Breastfeeding rate				
100%, n (%)	79 (57)	59 (46)	0.11 (-0.01 to 0.23)	.09
≧80%, n (%)	104 (75)	95 (75)	0.01 (-0.10 to 0.11)	.99
0%, n (%)	8 (6)	9 (7)	-0.01 (-0.07 to 0.05)	.80

^aPSI-SF: Parenting Stress Index-Short Form.

^bGHQ: General Health Questionnaire.

^cThis value represents the average of the 6 subscores of the developmental quotient.

Discussion

Prevalence of AD in Infants

This study found that the teleconsultation service targeting mothers significantly reduced the prevalence of AD among infants in the intervention group relative to those in the control group. The findings highlight the significance of eHealth and teleconsultation service as an effective management strategy for pediatric AD. Preventing skin problems among infants enhances their quality of life and mitigates against the future development of other allergic diseases [43,44]. Infants with an early eczema onset, especially within 4 months after birth, are at an increased risk of developing food allergies at 3 years of age [45]. Moreover, AD is also known to decrease quality of life among family members and caregivers, deteriorating personal relationships, psychosocial functioning, sleep, and finances [46-48]; the parents' ability to manage their children's behavior and illness is influenced by the severity of AD [49]. Our findings show that interventions that facilitate parents' active engagement can improve treatment outcomes and the holistic well-being of the family.

The intention-to-treat analysis showed that the prevalence of AD based on the United Kingdom Working Party criteria was significantly lower in the intervention group than in the control group at the 4-month checkup. This result suggests that combining typical pediatric services with teleconsultation and email newsletters is effective in preventing AD in infants. We attribute the reduced prevalence of AD in the intervention group to several possible reasons. One reason may be that Syounika Online recommends daily moisturizing skin care based on the reports that this can reduce the risk of AD or eczema and improve skin barrier function [42,50]. Participants who adhered to the service's advice may have prevented the onset of AD. Another reason may be that frequent email newsletters with advice on skin care for infants might increase parents' awareness about the importance of infant skin problems or trigger them to visit the hospital earlier than when they otherwise might.

The per-protocol analysis comparing the 3 groups showed a significant difference in the prevalence of AD among them, which suggests that the combined service with teleconsultation and email newsletters and the service with email newsletters alone could be effective in reducing the prevalence of AD. This finding is supported by Santer et al, who reported that a web-based intervention to support families of children with AD had the potential to improve Patient-Oriented Eczema Measure scores [18].

If we consider that fewer participants in the intervention group dropped out than in the control group, then assuming that the 2 dropouts in the former developed AD and the 11 dropouts in the latter did not, the prevalence of AD would be 21% in the

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

intervention group and 30% in the control group. This does not seem inconsistent with the original result, although the difference in the dropout rates is a limitation of this study.

Parenting Stress and Mental Status of Mothers

The PSI-SF scores observed in the groups of our study were similar to those in a normal population, as indicated by a previous study that reported mean PSI-SF scores of 17.0 in the child domain and 19.4 in the parent domain [51] at 4 months. In contrast, the prevalence of high GHQ-12 scores was over 30% in the intervention and control groups, which is substantially higher than the 7.7% that Yamamoto et al found among postpartum Japanese women at 4 months after delivery [40]. The higher level of parental or psychological stress observed in the mothers in our study indicates the need for further interventions to reduce the stress level among this population.

The lack of difference in maternal scores related to parenting stress and mental health status across the intervention and control groups suggests that although the combination of typical pediatric services with teleconsultation and email newsletters may be ineffective for reducing parenting stress, it does not burden mothers with the information delivered via the service. In addition, we could not assess the impact of the telehealth interventions because logistical difficulties prevented us from being able to collect baseline data on maternal mental health. The intervention group may have contained a higher proportion of stressed mothers than the control group despite the randomization procedure.

Second, PSI-SF and GHQ-12 scores might be inappropriate outcome measures for this study. Ngai et al reported that telephone-based cognitive behavioral therapy was associated with significantly lower levels of parenting stress using the Chinese version of the PSI-SF [30]; however, we used the Japanese version of PSI-SF, which consists of a different number of items. Notably, our teleconsultation service did not specifically target maternal mental health, but it rather focused more broadly on pediatric health and parenting. Sawyer et al reported that an app-based nurse-moderated program was not effective in reducing depressive symptoms measured using the Parenting Sense of Competence Scale and did not improve maternal caregiving measured using the PSI [31]. In contrast, Shorey et al reported that a technology-based supportive educational parenting program was effective in enhancing parenting self-efficacy measured using the Parenting Efficacy Scale, parental bonding measured using the Parent-to-Infant Bonding Questionnaire, perceived social support measured using the Perceived Social Support for Parenting, and parenting satisfaction measured using an evaluation subscale of the What Being a Parent of a Baby Is Like in reducing postnatal depression measured using the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale and postnatal anxiety measured using the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory [32]. Future research should have a different perspective on the parenting stress observed in this study and use appropriate measurements such as the Parenting Efficacy Scale, Parent-to-Infant Bonding Questionnaire, Perceived Social Support for Parenting, What Being a Parent of a Baby Is Like,

Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale, or State-Trait Anxiety Inventory to assess the postpartum mental status of mothers.

Limitations

There were several limitations in this study. First, more participants in the intervention group than in the control group dropped out, although this may not have had a profound impact on the results according to the imputation. Second, the participants with a family history of AD were less common in the intervention group; however, the subgroup analysis showed that there was no significant difference in the prevalence of AD. Third, because we adopted a combined service with teleconsultation and email newsletters as the intervention, it was not possible to deduce the individual effectiveness of the interventions. Fourth, due to the limited duration of this study, we collected the outcome data only once and could not follow up on the participants for a longer period. Fifth, we could not collect the skin treatment history of the infants and baseline data on maternal mental health. Future studies are required spanning a longer duration at multiple sites to provide evidence for long-term effectiveness and more detailed information.

Overview

This study examined the effectiveness of a combined pediatric service with teleconsultation and email newsletters among infants and mothers in Japan. As we recruited pairs of infants and mothers from a whole ward and 60% of these recruited pairs were analyzed, our findings should be generalizable to many other areas in Japan whose surroundings are similar. The intervention to support infants and mothers by pediatricians via smartphone-based internet services was novel in Japan. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first RCT to show an association between eHealth and a reduced prevalence of AD in infants.

Others: DQ of Infants and Breastfeeding Rates

There was no difference in the DQ between the intervention and control groups. The DQ of hand exercise in the intervention group tended to be higher; however, the difference has little clinical relevance. As the DQ is based on developmental and chronological ages, a longitudinal study might provide more accurate information about the long-term effects of interventions on the DQ. Future studies should investigate long-term effectiveness because we assessed infants' development only at 4 months of age.

Although there was also no difference in breastfeeding rates between the intervention and the control groups, more infants in the intervention group tended to receive exclusive breastfeeding and fewer tended to receive exclusive formula feeding. This distinction may indicate that a combined pediatric service with teleconsultation and email newsletters could encourage mothers to breastfeed. Future research should incorporate larger studies to address this topic.

Adverse Events

There were no adverse events in this trial.



Conclusions

Although a combined pediatric service with teleconsultation and email newsletters was not effective in reducing parenting stress in mothers, this is the first RCT to demonstrate that telehealth was effective in reducing the prevalence of AD in infants. Such educational programs are a necessary complement to clinical and public services attempting to improve skin conditions in infants. We hope that pediatric eHealth will become a new, widely used strategy for preventing AD, which may also lead to a reduction in other allergic diseases.

Acknowledgments

Editorial support, in the form of medical writing, assembling tables, and creating high-resolution images based on authors' detailed directions, collating author comments, copyediting, fact-checking, and referencing, was provided by Editage, Cactus Communications, and self-funded. The authors would also like to thank the staff of the Yokohama City Sakae Ward Office for their help with recruitment into the study and assistance with the 4-month checkups. The Yokohama City Sakae Ward Office covered the costs related to recruitment and assistance at the 4-month checkup. Kids Public Inc covered the costs related to teleconsultations and email newsletter services, including the development of the trial website. The Department of Health Policy, National Center for Child Health and Development Department of Pediatrics at The University of Tokyo covered the cost related to the planning and overall conduction of the trial.

Conflicts of Interest

TA received payment for writing from Kids Public Inc. The other authors report no conflicts of interest.

Multimedia Appendix 1 CONSORT-eHEALTH checklist (V 1.6.1). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 1144 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e27615_app1.pdf]

References

- 1. Akiyama M, Yoo B. A systematic review of the economic evaluation of telemedicine in Japan. J Prev Med Public Health 2016 Jul;49(4):183-196 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3961/jpmph.16.043] [Medline: 27499161]
- 2. Hardiker NR, Grant MJ. Factors that influence public engagement with eHealth: a literature review. Int J Med Inform 2011 Jan;80(1):1-12. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2010.10.017] [Medline: 21112244]
- Carter J, Sandall J, Shennan AH, Tribe RM. Mobile phone apps for clinical decision support in pregnancy: a scoping review. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2019 Nov;19(1):219 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-019-0954-1] [Medline: 31718627]
- 4. van den Heuvel JF, Groenhof TK, Veerbeek JH, van Solinge WW, Lely AT, Franx A, et al. eHealth as the next-generation perinatal care: an overview of the literature. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jun;20(6):e202 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9262] [Medline: 29871855]
- 5. Little L, Wallisch A, Pope E, Dunn W. Acceptability and cost comparison of a telehealth intervention for families of children with autism. Infants Young Children 2018 Oct;31(4):275-286 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/IYC.00000000000126]
- 6. Pappalardo M, Fanelli U, Chiné V, Neglia C, Gramegna A, Argentiero A, et al. Telemedicine in pediatric infectious diseases. Children (Basel) 2021 Mar;8(4):260 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/children8040260] [Medline: 33800549]
- Shah AC, Badawy SM. Telemedicine in pediatrics: systematic review of randomized controlled trials. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2021 Feb;4(1):e22696 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22696] [Medline: 33556030]
- Shah AC, O'Dwyer LC, Badawy SM. Telemedicine in malignant and nonmalignant hematology: systematic review of pediatric and adult studies. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Jul;9(7):e29619 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/29619] [Medline: 34255706]
- 9. Anwar Siani S, Dol J, Campbell-Yeo M. Impact of parent-targeted eHealth on parent and infant health outcomes: a scoping review. J Perinat Neonatal Nurs 2017 Oct;31(4):332-340. [doi: 10.1097/JPN.0000000000265] [Medline: 28621700]
- Hishitani T, Fujimoto Y, Saito Y, Sugamoto K, Hoshino K, Ogawa K. A medical link between local maternity hospitals and a tertiary center using telediagnosis with fetal cardiac ultrasound image transmission. Pediatr Cardiol 2014 Apr;35(4):652-657. [doi: 10.1007/s00246-013-0834-x] [Medline: 24259010]
- Hishitani T, Fujimoto Y, Saito Y, Sugamoto K, Hoshino K, Ogawa K. Accuracy of telediagnosis of fetal heart disease using ultrasound images transmitted via the internet. Pediatr Int 2014 Apr;56(2):289-291. [doi: <u>10.1111/ped.12318</u>] [Medline: <u>24730637</u>]
- Hishitani T, Kawachi F, Fujimoto Y, Sugamoto K, Hoshino K, Ogawa K. Increased satisfaction of maternity hospital staff involved in fetal telediagnosis. Pediatr Int 2014 Aug;56(4):644-646. [doi: <u>10.1111/ped.12393</u>] [Medline: <u>25252060</u>]
- Ogasawara T. The usefulness of telemedicine in perinatal medicine. Progress in Medicine (in Japanese) 2018;38(11):1197-1200 [FREE Full text]
- 14. Hara K. Applications of the maternal and child health handbook: transition to an electronic maternal and child health handbook. Perinatal Medicine (in Japanese) 2017;47(6):733-735 [FREE Full text]
- 15. Matsumoto K, Shimanouchi Y, Kawakubo K, Oishi N, Wakiguchi H, Futamura K, et al. Infantile eczema at one month of age is associated with cord blood eosinophilia and subsequent development of atopic dermatitis and wheezing illness until two years of age. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2005 Jun;137 Suppl 1:69-76. [doi: 10.1159/000085435] [Medline: 15947488]
- Lowe AJ, Leung DYM, Tang MLK, Su JC, Allen KJ. The skin as a target for prevention of the atopic march. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2018 Feb;120(2):145-151. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.anai.2017.11.023</u>] [Medline: <u>29413338</u>]
- 17. Schopf T, Flytkjaer V. Impact of interactive web-based education with mobile and email-based support of general practitioners on treatment and referral patterns of patients with atopic dermatitis: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2012 Dec;14(6):e171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2359] [Medline: 23249479]
- Santer M, Muller I, Yardley L, Burgess H, Selinger H, Stuart BL, et al. Supporting self-care for families of children with eczema with a web-based intervention plus health care professional support: pilot randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2014 Mar;16(3):e70 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3035] [Medline: 24594972]
- Bergmo TS, Wangberg SC, Schopf TR, Solvoll T. Web-based consultations for parents of children with atopic dermatitis: results of a randomized controlled trial. Acta Paediatr 2009 Feb;98(2):316-320. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1651-2227.2008.01033.x</u>] [Medline: <u>18795905</u>]
- 20. Armstrong AW, Johnson MA, Lin S, Maverakis E, Fazel N, Liu F. Patient-centered, direct-access online care for management of atopic dermatitis: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Dermatol 2015 Feb;151(2):154-160. [doi: 10.1001/jamadermatol.2014.2299] [Medline: 25338198]
- Epifanio MS, Genna V, De Luca C, Roccella M, La Grutta S. Paternal and maternal transition to parenthood: the risk of postpartum depression and parenting stress. Pediatr Rep 2015 May;7(2):38-44 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4081/pr.2015.5872] [Medline: 26266033]
- 22. Mitchell AE, Fraser JA, Ramsbotham J, Morawska A, Yates P. Childhood atopic dermatitis: a cross-sectional study of relationships between child and parent factors, atopic dermatitis management, and disease severity. Int J Nurs Stud 2015 Jan;52(1):216-228. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.09.008] [Medline: 25441758]
- Wang IJ, Wen HJ, Chiang TL, Lin SJ, Guo YL. Maternal psychologic problems increased the risk of childhood atopic dermatitis. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2016 Mar;27(2):169-176. [doi: <u>10.1111/pai.12518</u>] [Medline: <u>26647908</u>]
- 24. Letourneau NL, Kozyrskyj AL, Cosic N, Ntanda HN, Anis L, Hart MJ, APrON Team. Maternal sensitivity and social support protect against childhood atopic dermatitis. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol 2017 May;13:26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13223-017-0199-4] [Medline: 28559916]
- 25. El-Heis S, Crozier SR, Healy E, Robinson SM, Harvey NC, Cooper C, Southampton Women's Survey Study Group, et al. Maternal stress and psychological distress preconception: association with offspring atopic eczema at age 12 months. Clin Exp Allergy 2017 Jun;47(6):760-769 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/cea.12910] [Medline: 28218994]
- 26. Carr A, Hartnett D, Brosnan E, Sharry J. Parents plus systemic, solution-focused parent training programs: description, review of the evidence base, and meta-analysis. Fam Process 2017 Sep;56(3):652-668. [doi: 10.1111/famp.12225] [Medline: 27232287]
- 27. Potharst ES, Boekhorst MGBM, Cuijlits I, van Broekhoven KEM, Jacobs A, Spek V, et al. A randomized control trial evaluating an online mindful parenting training for mothers with elevated parental stress. Front Psychol 2019;10:1550 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01550] [Medline: 31379646]
- 28. "Healthy Parents and Children 21" Report on the final evaluation. Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare, Equal Employment, Children and Families Bureau, Maternal and Child Health Division. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.mhlw.go.jp/stf/shingi/0000030713.html</u> [accessed 2021-01-23]
- 29. Tachibana Y, Koizumi N, Akanuma C, Tarui H, Ishii E, Hoshina T, et al. Integrated mental health care in a multidisciplinary maternal and child health service in the community: the findings from the Suzaka trial. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2019 Feb;19(1):58 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-019-2179-9] [Medline: 30727996]
- 30. Ngai FW, Wong PW, Chung KF, Leung KY. The effect of telephone-based cognitive-behavioural therapy on parenting stress: a randomised controlled trial. J Psychosom Res 2016 Jul;86:34-38. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jpsychores.2016.03.016</u>] [Medline: <u>27302544</u>]
- 31. Sawyer A, Kaim A, Le H, McDonald D, Mittinty M, Lynch J, et al. The effectiveness of an app-based nurse-moderated program for new mothers with depression and parenting problems (eMums Plus): pragmatic randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2019 Jun;21(6):e13689 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13689] [Medline: 31165715]
- 32. Shorey S, Ng YPM, Ng ED, Siew AL, Mörelius E, Yoong J, et al. Effectiveness of a technology-based supportive educational parenting program on parental outcomes (Part 1): randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2019 Feb;21(2):e10816 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10816] [Medline: 30758289]
- Shorey S, Lau Y, Dennis C, Chan YS, Tam WWS, Chan YH. A randomized-controlled trial to examine the effectiveness of the 'Home-but not Alone' mobile-health application educational programme on parental outcomes. J Adv Nurs 2017 Sep;73(9):2103-2117. [doi: 10.1111/jan.13293] [Medline: 28276086]
- 34. Williams HC, Burney PG, Pembroke AC, Hay RJ. The U.K. working party's diagnostic criteria for atopic dermatitis. III. Independent hospital validation. Br J Dermatol 1994 Sep;131(3):406-416. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2133.1994.tb08532.x</u>] [Medline: <u>7918017</u>]

- 35. Abidin RR. Parenting Stress Index (PSI-4). 4th edition. PAR. Odessa, FL: PAR; 2012. URL: <u>https://www.parinc.com/</u> products/pkey/333 [accessed 2021-01-23]
- 36. Araki A. A study for developing parenting stress-short form scale. J Child Health (in Japanese) 2005;64(3):408-416 [FREE Full text]
- Abidin R, Kanematsu Y, Araki A. PSI Parenting Stress Index Handbook. 2nd Edition.: Employment Research Corporation; 2015. URL: <u>http://www.koyoerc.or.jp/assessment_tool/data/250.html</u> [accessed 2021-01-23]
- 38. Goldberg D. Manual of the General Health Questionnaire. Windsor, Canada: NFER; 1978.
- Goldberg DP, Gater R, Sartorius N, Ustun TB, Piccinelli M, Gureje O, et al. The validity of two versions of the GHQ in the WHO study of mental illness in general health care. Psychol Med 1997 Jan;27(1):191-197. [doi: 10.1017/S0033291796004242] [Medline: 9122299]
- Yamamoto N, Abe Y, Arima K, Nishimura T, Akahoshi E, Oishi K, et al. Mental health problems and influencing factors in Japanese women 4 months after delivery. J Physiol Anthropol 2014 Oct;33:32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1880-6805-33-32] [Medline: 25351243]
- 41. Enjoji M. Infant Analytic Developmental Test of the Enjoji-New Revised Edition Type-Pediatrics Department in Kyushu University, Keio University, Tokyo, Japan. Tokyo: Keio University Press, Inc; 2009.
- 42. Horimukai K, Morita K, Narita M, Kondo M, Kitazawa H, Nozaki M, et al. Application of moisturizer to neonates prevents development of atopic dermatitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2014 Oct;134(4):824-830.e6 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014.07.060] [Medline: 25282564]
- 43. Yonezawa K, Haruna M. Short-term skin problems in infants aged 0-3 months affect food allergies or atopic dermatitis until 2 years of age, among infants of the general population. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol 2019 Nov;15:74 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13223-019-0385-7] [Medline: 31788007]
- Ražnatović Đurović M, Janković J, Tomić Spirić V, Relić M, Sojević Timotijević Z, Ćirković A, et al. Does age influence the quality of life in children with atopic dermatitis? PLoS One 2019 Nov;14(11):e0224618 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0224618] [Medline: 31725802]
- 45. Shoda T, Futamura M, Yang L, Yamamoto-Hanada K, Narita M, Saito H, et al. Timing of eczema onset and risk of food allergy at 3 years of age: a hospital-based prospective birth cohort study. J Dermatol Sci 2016 Nov;84(2):144-148. [doi: 10.1016/j.jdermsci.2016.08.003] [Medline: 27523805]
- Meltzer LJ, Flewelling KD, Jump S, Gyorkos E, White M, Hauk PJ. Impact of atopic dermatitis treatment on child and parent sleep, daytime functioning, and quality of life. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2020 Apr;124(4):385-392. [doi: 10.1016/j.anai.2019.12.024] [Medline: <u>31923547</u>]
- 47. Yang EJ, Beck KM, Sekhon S, Bhutani T, Koo J. The impact of pediatric atopic dermatitis on families: a review. Pediatr Dermatol 2019 Jan;36(1):66-71. [doi: 10.1111/pde.13727] [Medline: 30556595]
- Lifschitz C. The impact of atopic dermatitis on quality of life. Ann Nutr Metab 2015 Apr;66 Suppl 1:34-40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000370226] [Medline: 25925339]
- Mitchell AE, Fraser JA, Morawska A, Ramsbotham J, Yates P. Parenting and childhood atopic dermatitis: a cross-sectional study of relationships between parenting behaviour, skin care management, and disease severity in young children. Int J Nurs Stud 2016 Dec;64:72-85. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.09.016</u>] [Medline: <u>27693983</u>]
- 50. Yonezawa K, Haruna M, Matsuzaki M, Shiraishi M, Kojima R. Effects of moisturizing skincare on skin barrier function and the prevention of skin problems in 3-month-old infants: A randomized controlled trial. J Dermatol 2018 Jan;45(1):24-30. [doi: 10.1111/1346-8138.14080] [Medline: 28983938]
- 51. Maehara K, Mori E, Iwata H, Sakajo A, Aoki K, Morita A. Postpartum maternal function and parenting stress: comparison by feeding methods. Int J Nurs Pract 2017 Jun;23(S1):e12549. [doi: <u>10.1111/ijn.12549</u>] [Medline: <u>28635064</u>]

Abbreviations

AD: atopic dermatitis DQ: developmental quotient GHQ-12: General Health Questionnaire-12 PSI-SF: Parenting Stress Index-Short Form RCT: randomized controlled trial SIMPLE: Sakae Infants and Mothers with the Pediatric Teleconsultation



Edited by S Badawy; submitted 20.02.21; peer-reviewed by A Sawyer, A Woolard; comments to author 13.04.21; revised version received 02.06.21; accepted 22.10.21; published 17.02.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Ando T, Mori R, Takehara K, Asukata M, Ito S, Oka A Effectiveness of Pediatric Teleconsultation to Prevent Skin Conditions in Infants and Reduce Parenting Stress in Mothers: Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e27615

URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e27615</u> doi:<u>10.2196/27615</u> PMID:<u>34678753</u>

©Tomohisa Ando, Rintaro Mori, Kenji Takehara, Mari Asukata, Shuichi Ito, Akira Oka. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 17.02.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Facebook Support Groups for Pediatric Rare Diseases: Cross-Sectional Study to Investigate Opportunities, Limitations, and Privacy Concerns

Sarah Catrin Titgemeyer¹; Christian P Schaaf², MD, PhD, FACMG

¹University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany ²Institute of Human Genetics, Heidelberg University, Heidelberg, Germany

Corresponding Author: Christian P Schaaf, MD, PhD, FACMG Institute of Human Genetics Heidelberg University Im Neuenheimer Feld 366 Heidelberg, 69120 Germany Phone: 49 6221 56 5151 Email: christian.schaaf@med.uni-heidelberg.de

Abstract

Background: Because of the nature of rare diseases with affected individuals being widely geographically dispersed, finding an in-person/offline support group itself can be a challenge. Affected individuals therefore turn to social networking platforms such as Facebook for online support groups.

Objective: We aim to put into perspective the opportunities Facebook offers as a tool for pediatric rare disease support groups by investigating its use, advantages, and limitations including privacy concerns. We analyze group accessibility and usage, advantages specific to rare diseases, perceived privacy, and views on using Facebook for communication between health professionals and parents, pharmaceutical companies, and study recruitment.

Methods: We contacted 12 Facebook support groups for 12 respective rare diseases with pediatric onset and invited group members to participate in a cross-sectional online survey.

Results: Of 231 respondents, 87.0% (n=201) of respondents were female, 12.6% (n=29) were male, and 0.4% reported another sex (n=1). Respondents' mean age was 41.56 years (SD 9.375); 91.3% (n=211) of respondents were parents (183 mothers, 27 fathers, 1 other sex); 59.7% (n=138) reported a self-initiated search for the Facebook group, 24.2% (n=56) received recommendations from their health professionals, and 12.6% (n=29) recommendations from someone else affected by the disease. On average, support group members visited Facebook at least once a day, visited and passively participated (read/liked posts) several times a week, and participated actively (commented/posted) once a month. As much as 79.2% (183/231) agreed that they would like to have health professionals as members of the respective Facebook group. Group members expressed more concern about privacy issues on Facebook in general than in their respective Facebook support groups, with concerns mostly related to Facebook itself and nongroup members.

Conclusions: Our study confirmed that Facebook enhances support group accessibility for parents of children with rare diseases. Group participants perceive a reduction and elimination of distance, a common challenge in rare disease, and Facebook support groups create an environment of perceived privacy. The group's privacy setting can be a critical factor for active support group participation. Sharing personal information and pictures on Facebook is very common among group participants, which shows the importance of discussing and protecting children's privacy rights in this context.

TrialRegistration:GermanClinicalTrialsRegisterDRKS00016067;https://www.drks.de/drks_web/navigate.do?navigationId=trial.HTML&TRIAL_ID=DRKS00016067DRKS00016067

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e31411) doi:10.2196/31411

KEYWORDS

RenderX

Facebook; support group; parental support; pediatric rare diseases; privacy paradox; children's privacy

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e31411

Titgemeyer & Schaaf

Introduction

The types of emotions most frequently expressed by parents of children with a rare disease include fear, worry, frustration, uncertainty, helplessness, and vulnerability [1]. Parents often feel dissatisfied with the overall level of support for their child with a rare disease [1]. Affected individuals are often geographically dispersed, because rare diseases by definition have a very low prevalence. According to the European definition, a disease is considered rare when its prevalence is below 1 in 2000 [2]. Therefore, many parents have never come into contact with another parent taking care of a child with a similar condition [1]. Social isolation and the feeling of being disconnected from society are common experiences [3]. For many rare diseases, medical and scientific knowledge remains scarce [2]. At the same time, these diseases are often serious and chronic, thereby increasing psychological, social, economic, and cultural vulnerability [2]. Consequently, parents of children with rare diseases encounter substantial challenges and have special supportive care needs [1,3].

Support groups offer improved social support [1,4,5] through befriending other people with similar experiences; learning about the disease, treatments, and coping skills; emotional support; and feeling empowered [4]. However, due to the nature of rare diseases with affected individuals being widely geographically dispersed, finding an in-person/offline support group itself can be a challenge. Affected individuals therefore turn to social networking platforms such as Facebook for online support groups. The use of social media for health communication offers increased interactions; more available, shared, and tailored information; and peer, emotional, and social support [6].

Facebook is one of the longest existing social networking platforms [7], and with more than 2.4 billion monthly active users also one of the largest [8]. In March 2019, Facebook support groups were available for more than 4000 pediatric rare diseases with approximately 1.8 million group members in more than 6000 groups [9]. Facebook has an international scope, provides options for individual and group communication [7], offers an unlimited number of participants, and is very cost-effective [10]. Nevertheless, Facebook support group accessibility is limited by access to a computer and the internet [10], related handling skills, and age restrictions. Concerning informational exchanges on social media, the reliability [6], accuracy [10], quality [11], application to personal situations [6], and the possible misinterpretation [10] of information found online and on social media have been questioned. Especially considering how frequently Facebook is being used for support groups, an investigation into whether Facebook represents a suitable tool for pediatric rare disease support groups is needed to improve the much needed support for parents of children with rare diseases.

The usage of Facebook for parent support groups can involve sharing a child's personal health information online. Sharing information online can be potentially harmful due to the ability to identify individuals and the potential misuse of this information by organizations and individuals [12]. Known negative consequences of sharing information about a child on social media include embarrassment, humiliation, and bullying [13]. The evolvement of sharing private information about children online thus encloses a controversial discussion on a child's digital identity and protecting children's rights online [13].

Integrative privacy theories define privacy as a right that should be protected and as individual control of personal information in the form of restricted access [14,15]. Information and communication have been identified as the most relevant dimension of privacy when discussing internet privacy [16]. While the United Nations' Convention on the Rights of the Child protects children's privacy, honor, and reputation [17], only little guidance is provided by specific privacy laws regarding children's need for protection from their parents' online disclosure [13]. When considering how to protect a child's privacy online, different approaches to decision making on online information disclosure can play a role, such as decision making based on risk-benefit calculations or decision making based on benefits with little to no risk assessment [18]. A discrepancy between expressed privacy concerns and actual information disclosure, which often becomes evident in online communication, is described as the privacy paradox [18].

It is important to analyze how privacy dimensions, approaches to decision making on online information disclosure, and the privacy paradox play a role in the use of Facebook as a tool for pediatric rare disease support groups to improve the protection of children's privacy rights and awareness of the risks related to sharing information online.

The role of health professionals in Facebook support groups has not yet been defined. To date, only few studies have examined the opportunities Facebook offers for a communication between parents and health professionals, pharmaceutical companies, and study recruitment [19-24]. Social media can improve patient-to-patient and patient-to-health professional dialogue and can be used for data collection, intervention, promotion, and education [6]. A study on support groups for autism spectrum disorder showed that parents whose diagnosing clinician had referred them to a support group were more likely support group participants [25]. Furthermore, Facebook has been successfully used for study recruitment in rare diseases, resulting in high numbers of study participants with low associated costs, thus improving recruitment for rare disease research [21]. Social media can be used for recruitment of geographically dispersed [20] and socially and culturally diverse [19] individuals. Given all these opportunities, it is of interest to gain insights into group participants' perspective toward involvement of health professionals and the instrumentalization of Facebook for study recruitment and by pharmaceutical companies.

Only little research exploring the topic of online support groups for pediatric rare diseases has been conducted so far. A few analyses of specific online and Facebook support groups have been performed, for example, on groups for cleft lip and palate [22], clubfoot [5], Hirschsprung disease [23], and autism spectrum disorders [24,25]. These analyses have shown support group benefits which can be classified into the following 3 main

```
XSL•FO
```

categories: informational support, emotional support, and connecting with others. Our prior large quantitative analysis regarding the extent of Facebook support groups for pediatric rare diseases has shown that both the total number of support groups and the number of diseases for which a support group can be found have increased [9]. With two-thirds of these groups being private Facebook groups, we found that the need for privacy should be further explored [9]. Also, given the already widespread use of Facebook as a tool for support groups for pediatric rare diseases, an analysis of its strengths and limitations could allow health professionals to improve their understanding of this tool and, consequently, use Facebook more meaningfully in their counseling and guidance of affected individuals and their family members [9].

With this study, we therefore aim to put into perspective the opportunities Facebook offers as a tool for pediatric rare disease support groups by investigating its use, advantages, and limitations including privacy concerns. We analyze group accessibility and usage, advantages specific to rare diseases, perceived privacy, and views on using Facebook for communication between health professionals and parents, pharmaceutical companies, and study recruitment.

Our results can offer improved knowledge about the opportunities of Facebook support groups as well as their disadvantages. These findings may allow Facebook and similar

Table 1. List of each disease for which a Facebook group was contacted.

social media platforms to discover starting points for improving their toolkits and offerings. Parents and caretakers of children with rare diseases can directly or indirectly benefit from this increase in information directly or indirectly through receiving guidance on important points to be considered prior to joining a group from their treating physicians when searching for ways to receive much-needed social support. By informing medical professionals and, subsequently, parents about potential privacy concerns, active decision making on online information disclosure considering children's privacy rights can be initiated.

Methods

We contacted 12 Facebook support groups for 12 respective rare diseases with pediatric onset and invited group members to participate in a cross-sectional online survey. For each of these diseases a Facebook group was contacted (Table 1). Group administrators were contacted by either email or Facebook messenger. The members of the respective groups were subsequently invited through a wall post within the actual closed Facebook groups.

The date of first enrolment was July 19, 2019, while the survey was closed on October 10, 2019. Respondents had to be group members of Facebook support groups for rare diseases with childhood onset; this inclusion criterion had to be confirmed in the questionnaire.

Orphanet disease description	Orphanet disease synonym	ORPHAcode	OMIM ^a number
15q13.3 Microdeletion syndrome	Del(15)(q13.3)	199318	612001
Lamb-Shaffer syndrome	SOX5 haploinsufficiency syndrome	530983	616803
$\label{eq:alacrimia-choreoathetosis-liver} dysfunction\ syndrome$	NGLY1 deficiency	404454	615273
Optic atrophy-intellectual disability syndrome	BBSOAS	401777	615722
17p11.2 microduplication syndrome	Potocki–Lupski syndrome	1713	610883
Prader–Willi syndrome	Prader-Labhart-Willi syndrome	739	610883
Rare nonsyndromic intellectual disability	CHAMP1 variant	101685	616579
Rett syndrome	_	778	312750
MAGEL2-related Prader-Willi-like syndrome	Schaaf-Yang syndrome	398069	615547
Smith–Magenis syndrome	17p11.2 microdeletion syndrome	819	182290
16p13.2 Microdeletion syndrome	Del(16)(p13.2)	500055	602519
White–Sutton syndrome	Intellectual disability-microcephaly-strabis- mus-behavioral abnormalities syndrome	468678	616364

^aOMIM: Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man.

We developed the survey according to the information needed from participants to evaluate usage, advantages, and limitations with a focus on privacy concerns. It included 3 demographic questions, 11 questions about frequency and details of group usage, 9 statements on positive/negative aspects and privacy concerns, and 3 statements on involvement of medical professionals. Opinions on attitudinal/opinion-based questions were elicited using a 5-point Likert scale or binary (yes/no) scale (Multimedia Appendix 1). The online survey was provided using SurveyMonkey [26]. Prior to participation, respondents were informed about the research project's purpose and the voluntary and anonymous nature of their participation. Respondents were informed that withdrawal was possible at any given time and without consequences. No further incentive or reimbursement was given. Starting the questionnaire constituted informed consent to study participation.

By contacting 12 groups we expected to reach the target sample size of 100 respondents. This sample size was thought to provide a sufficient overview of usage data trends and the range of opinions about positive and negative aspects of Facebook usage

for childhood rare disease support groups. Being a purely descriptive study, power calculations were not needed. Effectively, exceeding these expectations, a sample size of 238 respondents was reached, of whom 7 were excluded as the inclusion criterion question had not been answered.

The study and recruitment method have been reviewed by the Ethics Commission of Cologne University's Faculty of Medicine (19-1027) and all research had been carried out within the scope of the approved study.

Survey answers were statistically analyzed by standard descriptive statistical methods using IBM SPSS statistics version 26. Metric data (age) were presented using mean and SD, ordinal data by the median and IQR, and binary and categorical variables using counts and percentages. Kendall τ was used to calculate rank correlations.

Results

Overview

In total, 231 respondents affirmed participation in a Facebook support group for a rare disorder; 7 did not respond to this question and were thus removed from the sample. Of the total respondents, 87.0% (n=201) were female, 12.6% (n=29) were male, and 0.4% reported another sex (n=1). Respondents' mean age was 41.56 years (SD 9.375), with a median of 39 years (range 21-80 years) and an IQR of 10 years (Q1=35, median=39, Q3=45).

Of the 231 study respondents, 91.3% (n=211) were parents (183 mothers, 27 fathers, and 1 other sex), 5.6% (n=13) other relatives (eg, grandmothers, child), 1.7% (n=4) patients, 1 friend, 1 health professional, and 1 with no specified connection (0.4% each).

As much as 59.7% (138/231) reported a self-initiated search for the Facebook group, 24.2% (56/231) received recommendations from their health professionals, and 12.6% (29/231) recommendations from someone else affected by the disease. A total of 5/231 respondents created the group (2.2%), 1/231 respondent found the group via disease-related website (0.4%), and 1/231 via Facebook post (0.4%).

Accessibility and Group Usage

On average, support group members visited Facebook at least once a day, visited and passively participated (read/liked posts) several times a week, and participated actively (commented/posted) once a month. Answers ranged from less than every 3 months to at least once a day for all questions (Table 2). Kendall τ showed a weak positive correlation between overall Facebook usage and support group usage (r=0.334, *P*<.0001).

Most members used the Facebook group to find medical information about the disease, to read about personal experiences concerning the disease, to get advice on caring for someone with this disease, and to share their personal experiences concerning the disease. They agreed that Facebook reduces and eliminates the problem of distance between people affected by rare diseases (Figure 1).

Table 2. Facebook overall and Facebook support group usage frequencies (N=231).

Frequency Overall Facebook usage, Facebook support group Passive participation, n Active participation, n usage, n (%) n (%) (%) (%) At least once a day 175 (75.8) 89 (38.5) 71 (30.7) 20 (8.7) Several times per week 38 (16.5) 88 (38.1) 100 (43.3) 38 (16.5) Once a week 7 (3.0) 31 (13.4) 34 (14.7) 41 (17.7) Once a month 2 (0.9) 9 (3.9) 9 (3.9) 62 (26.8) Once every 3 months 0(0.0)3 (1.3) 3(1.3)27 (11.7) Less than once every 3 months 2 (0.9) 5 (2.2) 5 (2.2) 34 (14.7) 7 (3.0) 9 (3.9) 9 (3.9) No answer 6 (2.6) Total 231 (100.0) 231 (100.0) 231 (100.0) 231 (100.0) Median At least once a day Several times per week Several times per week Once a month 0 IQR Several times per week Several times per week Once every 3 months to to at least once a day to at least once a day several times per week



Titgemeyer & Schaaf





Support Group Benefits

In our survey, we investigated 3 main categories of perceived benefits: informational support (finding medical information,

getting advice on caring for someone with this disease), emotional support (reading or sharing personal experiences), and connecting with others (Figure 2).



100



Privacy Perception and Concerns

Information shared in a public Facebook group is accessible to every Facebook user worldwide; however, a private group offers a more selected audience. Group members expressed more concern about privacy issues on Facebook in general than in their respective Facebook support groups, with concerns mostly related to Facebook itself and nongroup members. Twice as many respondents agreed to being concerned about privacy matters on Facebook in general than to being concerned about privacy matters in their Facebook group (Figure 1).

Using Facebook for Communication With Health Professionals, Pharmaceutical Companies, and Study Recruitment

Concerning group member's perspectives on being contacted through their respective group, 67.1% (155/231) and 7.4% (17/231) fully and partly agreed, respectively, that they would be interested in being contacted through this group for the purpose of recruitment for medical studies and 34.2% (79/231) and 4.8% (11/231) fully and partly agreed, respectively, that they would be interested in being contacted by pharmaceutical companies. As much as 74.5% (172/231) and 4.8% (11/231) fully and partly agreed, respectively that they would be interested in being contacted by pharmaceutical companies. As much as 74.5% (172/231) and 4.8% (11/231) fully and partly agreed, respectively, that they would like to have health professionals as members of the respective Facebook group (Figure 3).



Titgemeyer & Schaaf

Figure 3. Group member's perspective on involvement of health professionals, pharmaceutical companies and study recruitment in Facebook support groups for pediatric rare diseases.



Discussion

Accessibility and Group Usage

Our study confirmed that Facebook enhances support group accessibility for parents of children with rare diseases. For most participants (196/231, 84.8%) it was easier to join a Facebook group than to attend a support group meeting in person. Reasons may include lack of in-person support group due to large geographic distances, limited time, and means of transportation. This increased accessibility is an important advantage specifically for the field of rare diseases with often large geographic distances between affected individuals.

Group members' regular participation rates (Table 2) likely indicate high accessibility and practicality. Only 31.6% (73/231) of respondents agreed to finding it easier to share a private experience in a support group meeting than in a Facebook group, suggesting that Facebook support groups could possibly be considered an equally adequate setting for support groups. By providing options for both passive (read/like) and active (comment/post) participation, Facebook allows different degrees of involvement, which can facilitate group participation.

Support Group Benefits

These 3 main categories of perceived benefit (informational support, emotional support, and connecting with others) are common benefit categories previously investigated in studies on pediatric rare diseases or online support [1,4-6,11,22-24].

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e31411

Informational Support

As 77.9% (180/231) of respondents used their Facebook group to find medical information about the respective disease, our study strengthens previous studies' findings that social media, including Facebook, is being used to search for medical information [5,6,11,22,23]. Increased knowledge can reduce stress related to parental incompetence and may result in better use of resources in the family [27]. Disease-specific Facebook support groups also facilitate the exchange of personal experiences in caring for someone affected; 88.7% (205/231) of respondents to our survey used their Facebook group to obtain advice on caretaking. This can ultimately improve parental management and care of rare conditions and have an empowering effect on parents who can become experts in their child's care [11].

Emotional Support

Reading and sharing personal experiences is a starting point for emotional support in patient-to-patient communication. Seeing others' similar experiences can install a sense of belonging [25], seeing same struggles can make one feel less alone, and seeing others' positive developments can give hope. Almost all group members (222/231, 96.1%) used the Facebook group to read personal experiences and 78.8% (182/231) also shared personal experiences. About 70.6% (163/231) had already posted a personal picture in their group (Figures 1 and 2). Group participants' frequent reading and sharing of personal experiences confirm that emotional support is a fundamental element of support groups, including support groups for rare diseases [4,6,22,24].

Connecting With Others

Facebook support groups and social media in general enable parents to connect with others [1,4,6,11,22,28]. This is especially important for those affected by rare diseases, because distance between affected individuals is a challenge in rare diseases which highly contributes to social isolation. Most respondents to our study agreed that Facebook reduces (200/231, 86.6%) and even eliminates (192/231, 83.1%) the problem of distance between people affected by rare diseases (Figure 2).

Facebook provides multiple communication functions including group and individual communication [7]. Usage of these functions is evident in our study: all respondents participated in group communication and 74.9% (173/231) reported direct contact to another group member via personal messaging services. Connections are also reported outside the virtual world: about 40.3% (9/231) had already met another group member in person (Figure 2). A study on online support groups for autism spectrum disorders indicated that a connection via Facebook could also be the starting point of organizing meetings for particular events [24].

These findings underline that parents and caregivers of children with rare diseases use Facebook support groups to connect and build relationships, and that Facebook is particularly useful for connecting with others affected by rare diseases by addressing the problem of distance between affected individuals.

Privacy

Two-thirds of support groups for pediatric rare diseases on Facebook are private groups [9], reflecting on members' need for privacy when sharing personal information and experiences online. In our survey, participants were divided about whether or not they would share personal experiences in a public group. About 41.1% (95/231) would share personal experiences in a public Facebook group, whereas 38.5% (89/231) would not, while 13.9% (32/231) remained neutral (Figure 1). These negative answers showed that privacy setting can be decisive for active support group participation. Privacy concerns generally appear to be mostly directed at Facebook itself and users who are not involved in the group: while only 29.9% (69/231) were concerned about privacy matters in their Facebook group, 61.5% (142/231) were concerned about privacy matters on Facebook in general and 32.5% (75/231) worried that Facebook might use information they shared in their group compared with 20.3% (47/231) who worried that other members might use this information (Figure 1). This suggests that their Facebook groups achieve a certain environment of perceived privacy.

As we have shown, most respondents of this study shared private information on Facebook, even though they had privacy concerns. This shows that the privacy paradox, which describes the discrepancy between expressed privacy concerns and actual information disclosure [18], is also applicable to pediatric rare disease support group members. More discussions on actual privacy, perceived privacy, and responsible decision making on online information disclosure with regard to protecting children's privacy rights are needed. With an increasing number of Facebook support groups and increasing relevance for affected families, ultimately, guidelines on sharing children's personal information online will be needed.

Using Facebook for Communication With Health Professionals, Pharmaceutical Companies, and Study Recruitment

Giving recommendations to look for a Facebook group appears to be common practice, with 24.2% (56/231) of the participants having been referred to the Facebook group by a health professional (Figure 3). Having investigated the opportunities and limitations of Facebook support groups, our study can improve health professional's knowledge on this type of support group on Facebook, health professionals can use this knowledge to inform individuals about the points that should be considered prior to joining a group, which include benefits that are to be expected, which prerequisites and limitations could possibly be encountered, and that sharing personal (health) information online requires careful consideration.

Study Strengths and Limitations

Our study had a larger than expected sample size, with various diseases and support groups being represented. There were only few ethical implications because data were collected anonymously and respondents were given the option to omit questions if they did not feel comfortable answering. This may result in a low social desirability bias and central coherence bias. Nevertheless, representability and external validity can be questioned. Only groups addressing 12 pediatric rare diseases were invited, and our demographic analysis shows that males were under-represented. The study results might be influenced by a response/selection bias, because anyone completing the survey self-selected to do so, especially regarding the question on study recruitment. Future research should involve a more in-depth analysis of participant's privacy concerns and behavior, including participant's decision-making process on online information disclosure with regard to children's privacy rights.

Conclusion

We have shown that Facebook is a suitable tool for pediatric rare disease support groups, offering the distinct advantages of high accessibility and practicality. Group participants perceive a reduction and elimination of distance between affected individuals, a common challenge in rare disease, and Facebook support groups create an environment of perceived privacy allowing participants to share personal experiences and pictures.

We confirmed that participants of Facebook support groups for pediatric rare diseases benefit from informative support, emotional support, and the opportunity to connect with others. Our study has confirmed that most support group members use their Facebook group to find medical information, and further research is needed regarding how parents process and apply information found in online support groups to evaluate the risk of information inaccuracy and misinterpretation. Through our recruitment methods we provide an example of how Facebook support groups can be used for study recruitment and our survey showed that many group participants are in favor of study recruitment through their Facebook support groups.

XSL•FO

We found that a group's privacy setting can be a critical factor for active support group participation. Furthermore, we have shown the importance of discussing children's privacy rights: sharing personal information and pictures on Facebook is very common among group participants. Group member's privacy concerns appear to be mostly directed at Facebook itself and to users not involved in the group, which offers potential starting points for improving privacy in Facebook support groups. Our study showed that the privacy paradox is applicable to group members' online information disclosure habits: parents share private information even though they are concerned about privacy matters on Facebook. Parents could benefit from guidance on responsible decision making about online information disclosure with regard to protecting children's privacy rights. Ultimately, guidelines on sharing children's personal information online could be a useful tool for finding the right balance between the risks of information disclosure and the benefits of participating in a support group on Facebook.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Rebecca Roth, Dr. sc. hum., Institute of Medical Statistics and Bioinformatics, Medical Faculty, University of Cologne, for the statistical consultancy support.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Questionnaire: Pediatric rare disease support groups on Facebook. [DOCX File , 19 KB - pediatrics v5i1e31411 app1.docx]

References

- Pelentsov LJ, Fielder AL, Laws TA, Esterman AJ. The supportive care needs of parents with a child with a rare disease: results of an online survey. BMC Fam Pract 2016 Jul 21;17:88 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12875-016-0488-x] [Medline: 27439905]
- 2. Orphanet. About Rare Diseases. The Portal for Rare Diseases and Orphan Drugs. URL: <u>https://www.orpha.net/consor/cgi-bin/Education_AboutRareDiseases.php?lng=EN</u> [accessed 2021-12-22]
- 3. Pelentsov LJ, Fielder AL, Esterman AJ. The Supportive Care Needs of Parents With a Child With a Rare Disease: A Qualitative Descriptive Study. J Pediatr Nurs 2016;31(3):e207-e218. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2015.10.022] [Medline: 26651231]
- Delisle VC, Gumuchian ST, Rice DB, Levis AW, Kloda LA, Körner A, et al. Perceived Benefits and Factors that Influence the Ability to Establish and Maintain Patient Support Groups in Rare Diseases: A Scoping Review. Patient 2017 Jun;10(3):283-293. [doi: 10.1007/s40271-016-0213-9] [Medline: 28004275]
- 5. Oprescu F, Campo S, Lowe J, Andsager J, Morcuende JA. Online information exchanges for parents of children with a rare health condition: key findings from an online support community. J Med Internet Res 2013 Jan 22;15(1):e16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2423] [Medline: 23470259]
- Moorhead SA, Hazlett DE, Harrison L, Carroll JK, Irwin A, Hoving C. A new dimension of health care: systematic review of the uses, benefits, and limitations of social media for health communication. J Med Internet Res 2013 Apr 23;15(4):e85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1933] [Medline: 23615206]
- Rocha HM, Savatt JM, Riggs ER, Wagner JK, Faucett WA, Martin CL. Incorporating Social Media into your Support Tool Box: Points to Consider from Genetics-Based Communities. J Genet Couns 2018 Apr;27(2):470-480 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10897-017-0170-z] [Medline: 29130143]
- 8. Facebook Inc. Facebook Reports Second Quarter 2019 Results. 2019. URL: <u>https://investor.fb.com/investor-news/</u> press-release-details/2019/Facebook-Reports-Second-Quarter-2019-Results/default.aspx [accessed 2021-12-25]
- 9. Titgemeyer SC, Schaaf CP. Facebook Support Groups for Rare Pediatric Diseases: Quantitative Analysis. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020 Nov 19;3(2):e21694 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21694] [Medline: 33211019]
- White M, Dorman SM. Receiving social support online: implications for health education. Health Educ Res 2001 Dec;16(6):693-707. [doi: 10.1093/her/16.6.693] [Medline: 11780708]
- Nicholl H, Tracey C, Begley T, King C, Lynch AM. Internet Use by Parents of Children With Rare Conditions: Findings From a Study on Parents' Web Information Needs. J Med Internet Res 2017 Feb 28;19(2):e51 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5834] [Medline: 28246072]
- 12. Househ M. Sharing sensitive personal health information through Facebook: the unintended consequences. Stud Health Technol Inform 2011;169:616-620. [Medline: 21893822]
- Steinberg S. Sharenting: Children's Privacy in the Age of Social Media. Emory Law Journal 2017;66(839):839 [FREE Full text]
- 14. Allmer T. Critical Internet Privacy Studies. FC 2013;10(1):71-80. [doi: 10.32855/fcapital.201301.007]

- 15. Tavani HT. Philosophical Theories of Privacy: Implications for an adequate online privacy policy. Metaphilosophy 2007 Jan;38(1):1-22. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9973.2006.00474.x]
- 16. Fuchs C. An Alternative View of Privacy on Facebook. Information 2011 Feb 09;2(1):140-165. [doi: 10.3390/info2010140]
- 17. UN General Assembly. Convention on the Rights of the Child. 1989. URL: <u>https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/</u> <u>ProfessionalInterest/crc.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-12-25]
- Barth S, de Jong MD. The privacy paradox Investigating discrepancies between expressed privacy concerns and actual online behavior A systematic literature review. Telematics and Informatics 2017 Nov;34(7):1038-1058. [doi: 10.1016/j.tele.2017.04.013]
- 19. Davies W. Insights into rare diseases from social media surveys. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2016 Nov 09;11(1):151 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13023-016-0532-x] [Medline: 27829465]
- 20. Milne C, Ni W. The Use of Social Media in Orphan Drug Development. Clin Ther 2017 Nov;39(11):2173-2180. [doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2017.08.016] [Medline: 28942336]
- Schumacher KR, Stringer KA, Donohue JE, Yu S, Shaver A, Caruthers RL, et al. Social media methods for studying rare diseases. Pediatrics 2014 May;133(5):e1345-e1353 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-2966] [Medline: 24733869]
- Stock NM, Martindale A, Cunniffe C, VTCT Foundation Research Team at the Centre for Appearance Research. #CleftProud: A Content Analysis and Online Survey of 2 Cleft Lip and Palate Facebook Groups. Cleft Palate Craniofac J 2018 Nov;55(10):1339-1349. [doi: 10.1177/1055665618764737] [Medline: 29570382]
- Wittmeier K, Holland C, Hobbs-Murison K, Crawford E, Beauchamp C, Milne B, et al. Analysis of a parent-initiated social media campaign for Hirschsprung's disease. J Med Internet Res 2014 Dec 11;16(12):e288 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3200] [Medline: 25499427]
- 24. Mohd Roffeei SH, Abdullah N, Basar SKR. Seeking social support on Facebook for children with Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASDs). Int J Med Inform 2015 May;84(5):375-385. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2015.01.015] [Medline: 25701266]
- 25. Mandell DS, Salzer MS. Who joins support groups among parents of children with autism? Autism 2007 Mar;11(2):111-122 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1362361307077506] [Medline: 17353212]
- 26. SurveyMonkey. URL: <u>https://www.surveymonkey.com/</u> [accessed 2021-12-25]
- Dellve L, Samuelsson L, Tallborn A, Fasth A, Hallberg LR. Stress and well-being among parents of children with rare diseases: a prospective intervention study. J Adv Nurs 2006 Feb;53(4):392-402. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2648.2006.03736.x</u>] [Medline: <u>16448482</u>]
- Tozzi AE, Mingarelli R, Agricola E, Gonfiantini M, Pandolfi E, Carloni E, et al. The internet user profile of Italian families of patients with rare diseases: a web survey. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2013 May 16;8:76 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1750-1172-8-76] [Medline: 23680013]

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 21.06.21; peer-reviewed by A Kulanthaivel, K Kishore, M Salimi; comments to author 26.07.21; revised version received 13.09.21; accepted 12.10.21; published 06.01.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Titgemeyer SC, Schaaf CP Facebook Support Groups for Pediatric Rare Diseases: Cross-Sectional Study to Investigate Opportunities, Limitations, and Privacy Concerns JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e31411 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e31411</u> doi:10.2196/31411 PMID:34989690

©Sarah Catrin Titgemeyer, Christian P Schaaf. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 06.01.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Refinement of a Parent–Child Shared Asthma Management Mobile Health App: Human-Centered Design Study

Jennifer Sonney^{1,2}, PhD, APRN; Emily E Cho², MS; Qiming Zheng², MS; Julie A Kientz², PhD

¹Department of Child, Family, and Population Health Nursing, School of Nursing, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States ²Department of Human Centered Design and Engineering, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Jennifer Sonney, PhD, APRN Department of Child, Family, and Population Health Nursing School of Nursing University of Washington 1959 NE Pacific Street Box 357262 Seattle, WA, 98195 United States Phone: 1 206 685 2161 Email: jsonney@uw.edu

Abstract

Background: The school-age years, approximately ages 7 through 11, represent a natural transition when children begin assuming some responsibility for their asthma management. Previously, we designed a theoretically derived, tailored parent–child shared asthma management mobile health app prototype, Improving Asthma Care Together (IMPACT).

Objective: The purpose of this study was to use human-centered design (HCD) to iteratively refine IMPACT to optimize user experience and incorporate evidence-based longitudinal engagement strategies.

Methods: This study used a mixed methods design from December 2019 to April 2021. Our app refinement used the HCD process of research, ideation, design, evaluation, and implementation, including 6 cycles of design and evaluation. The design and evaluation cycles focused on core app functionality, child engagement, and overall refinement. Evaluation with parent–child dyads entailed in-person and remote concept testing and usability testing sessions, after which rapid cycle thematic analyses identified key insights that informed future design refinement.

Results: Twelve parent–child dyads enrolled in at least one round of this study. Eight of the 12 child participants were male with a mean age of 9.9 (SD 1.6) years and all parent participants were female. Throughout evaluation cycles, dyads selected preferred app layouts, gamification concepts, and overall features with a final design prototype emerging for full-scale development and implementation.

Conclusions: A theoretically derived, evidence-based shared asthma management app was co-designed with end users to address real-world pain points and priorities. An 8-week pilot study testing app feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary efficacy is forthcoming.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e34117) doi:10.2196/34117

KEYWORDS

parent-child shared management; school-age children; asthma; participatory design; mHealth; prototype; usability; family health informatics

Introduction

RenderX

Over 5 million children in the United States have asthma, making it the most common chronic condition of childhood [1]. Asthma management is largely dependent upon symptom recognition, monitoring, and response as well as timely and

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e34117

appropriate medication use [2,3]. Despite national asthma management guidelines, it is estimated that over 50% of US children with asthma are uncontrolled, placing them at higher risk of exacerbation and poorer outcomes [4]. Childhood asthma exacerbations account for 767,000 emergency department visits, 74,000 hospitalizations, and 13.8 million missed school days

annually [1]. As a consequence, children with poor asthma control and their parents experience lower quality of life and negative academic and work performance [5-7].

The school-age years, approximately ages 7 through 11, represent a natural transition in asthma management responsibility. School-age children must start assuming some responsibility for asthma-related care as they spend increasing time away from parents at school and other extracurricular activities [8]. Unfortunately, there is frequent disagreement between parents and children with respect to asthma symptom frequency and severity, asthma management practices, and overall level of control, with parents often reporting fewer symptoms, higher medication adherence, and better control than their children [9-12]. This disagreement may be contributing to an overestimation of childhood asthma control and subsequent undertreatment. Careful and deliberate parent-child shared asthma responsibility improves asthma symptom assessment, medication adherence, and overall asthma control [13-15]. A critical gap among existing asthma management interventions is the failure to account for and facilitate shared management responsibility. A parent-child shared asthma management solution is needed to facilitate optimal comanagement of asthma and to prepare the child to assume increasing asthma management responsibility.

With an estimated 85% of US adults owning a smartphone [16] and 69% tracking their health online [17], the ubiquity of smartphones has led to an explosion of mobile health (mHealth) self-management apps. Among adults with asthma, effective mHealth interventions combine medical guidelines, personalized self-monitoring, and behavior change techniques [18-20]. Presently, there are far fewer mHealth asthma apps for youth, with the majority specifically designed for adolescents [21-23]. While many of these apps have demonstrated preliminary efficacy [23], they are designed to support self-management versus parent-child shared asthma management, which limits their utility in school-age children. Among the apps specifically developed for children, they are almost entirely focused on education rather than engaging the child in assuming some responsibility for monitoring their own health [21]. While school-age children are often familiar with using a smartphone, only an estimated 17% of US children have their own smartphone [24], therefore an app designed for a parent and child to use together to support asthma management represents an important area of opportunity. To that end, there is now a need for mHealth interventions that leverage lessons learned from the adult literature and are specifically designed to facilitate parent-child shared management of asthma.

Human-centered design (HCD) is an approach to participatory design wherein end users are engaged throughout the iterative design process [25,26]. Previously, we reported on our use of HCD to develop a preliminary prototype of a parent–child shared asthma management mHealth intervention and companion wearable device [27]. The prototype features and functions were developed to address asthma management needs and priorities identified by parent–child dyads. These app features and functions were also evaluated and approved by an asthma clinician to ensure they aligned with the national asthma management guidelines [2,3]. Likewise, the prototype was

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e34117
```

XSL•FO

theoretically derived from Social Cognitive Theory and the Common Sense Model of Parent–Child Shared Regulation [28,29]. Social Cognitive Theory stresses that goal setting, action planning, and self-monitoring are important behavior change processes. The Common Sense Model of Parent–Child Shared Regulation emphasizes the contributions that both parent and child make toward shared management of health. Therefore, the app was specifically designed for parent–child dyads to use together to facilitate shared management; each week, parents and children select a small, achievable shared management goal, review goal-specific guidance, anticipate barriers, and monitor their goal progress on the subsequent week. Notably, this original prototype prioritized the integration of behavior change, personalized self-monitoring, and medical guidelines [27,30].

The true viability of any mHealth behavior change intervention app is dependent upon ongoing use. While our study team iteratively developed the features and functions of the original app prototype, in-depth usability testing of user experience (UX) and subsequent design iteration were beyond the scope of the original project. Refinement was necessary to ensure that the UX was optimized. Similarly, the literature has clearly shown that overall mHealth app engagement wanes over time, thus limiting the potential efficacy of any app [31]. Given that this mHealth app was designed to function as a behavioral health intervention, integration of engagement strategies was also necessary to promote longitudinal engagement with app. Therefore, before proceeding to full-scale app development and pilot testing, the purpose of this study was to use HCD to refine the original parent-child shared asthma management mHealth prototype, Improving Asthma Care Together (IMPACT), to optimize UX and engagement. The specific aims were to (1) assess and iteratively refine the mHealth app based upon usability findings, (2) incorporate longitudinal engagement strategies within the app, and (3) innovate a home-based multimodal solution to overcome barriers imposed by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methods

Design and Sample

This study used a mixed methods design and included a series of design-evaluation cycles from December 2019 to April 2021. Study recruitment occurred from December 2019 to December 2020. A convenience sample of fourteen 7- to 11-year-old children with asthma and one of their parents was recruited from the principal investigator's (JS) research database, which includes parent-child dyads who have participated in previous studies for school-age children with asthma. Recruitment for these prior studies included flyer distribution by school nurses as well as study flyer posting in pediatric provider offices, community locations (eg, libraries, Boys and Girls clubs), and social media. Child eligibility included (1) age 7-11 years, (2) parent-reported asthma diagnosis, (3) parent-reported prescription for daily asthma medication, and (4) able to speak and understand English. The prescription for daily asthma medication was used as a proxy to indicate persistent asthma, considered more severe than intermittent or exercise-induced asthma [3]. Parent/caregiver inclusion criteria included (1) 18

years or older, (2) child's primary caregiver, (3) able to understand and read English, (4) reside with the child for at least 50% of the time, and (5) a legal guardian who may consent for the child to participate. Exclusion criteria included prior participation in the original prototype development as well as current asthma exacerbation, such as wheezing or respiratory distress, as this is a serious health event that requires careful monitoring and would distract dyads from participation. However, dyads were eligible to participate once the exacerbation resolved.

Ethics

The University of Washington Human Subjects Division reviewed this study and deemed it as exempt (#00003144). Written informed consent was obtained from all parent participants, on behalf of themselves and their child, and assent from all child participants.

Original IMPACT Prototype

IMPACT was designed to serve as an asthma monitoring system as well as behavioral intervention to promote parent-child shared asthma management. The original IMPACT prototype comprised 3 key features: asthma symptom tracking, asthma control (measured by the Childhood Asthma Control Test or C-ACT [32]), and asthma shared management goal setting and progress reporting. Child-reported asthma symptom events are tracked with the app dashboard in graphical format. Likewise, the app was designed to prompt parent-child dyads to complete Sonney et al

the C-ACT weekly, with scores visualized over time in the app dashboard. Finally, each week, parent-child dyads would select 1 or 2 asthma shared management goals that were provided by the app. The following week, dyads would report on their goal progress. Overall, shared management was supported by gradually transferring asthma management responsibility to the child while supported and supervised by the parent. Within the app, the parent-child dyad selects a weekly asthma management task or activity for which the child will begin assuming responsibility. Goal-specific guidance and support (when available) are provided, such as scheduling medication reminders, to assist the dyad with achieving the goal. Such intentional shifting of asthma management responsibility through mutual goal setting ensures the child learns critical management tasks and skills while supported by the parent [9,10,29].

App Refinement Process

Overview

A hallmark of HCD is design iteration that follows a cyclic as opposed to linear process (Figure 1). The core study team included a designer (QZ), a pediatric asthma clinician-scientist (JS), a UX researcher (EEC), and a senior HCD expert (JAK). This study followed the HCD process steps: research, ideate, design, evaluate, and implement to refine the IMPACT prototype and incorporate longitudinal engagement strategies [25,33]. The app refinement process required numerous cycles of design and evaluation, which is expected in HCD.

Figure 1. Human Centered Design Process. Research Implement Ideate IMPACT Prototype Cycles Design 1-6

Research

RenderX

During this phase, our team conducted a scoping literature review of mHealth app engagement strategies. Next, our team conducted a market research review to understand existing apps designed for use by school-age children, including health- and

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e34117
```

non-health-related apps. We then assessed the extent to which existing asthma apps facilitated parent-child shared management.



Ideation

The ideation phase of HCD entails generating ideas and solutions to address user needs and priorities [33]. To guide our work in designing for engagement, our team conducted a literature review of common approaches to promoting app engagement [18,24,30,34,35]. Based upon this review, our team decided to incorporate gamification to promote app engagement and subsequently adopted the Octalysis Framework for Gamification and Behavioral Design [36]. Guided by the concept of motivation from social psychology, the Octalysis Framework intentionally accounts for intrinsic, extrinsic, positive, and negative motivations. Intrinsic motivation refers to activities performed out of pure enjoyment with no tangible rewards, whereas extrinsic motivation refers to behaviors performed in pursuit of tangible external rewards [37,38]. Positive motivators stimulate positive emotions such as joy, satisfaction, and a sense of meaning, whereas negative motivators may elicit feelings such as surprise, fear, or concern for a loss of progress or reward. The Octalysis Framework is depicted as an octagon with each side representing 1 of 8 core drives (CDs) of motivation (Figure 2) [36]. CDs associated with extrinsic motivation (CD 2, 4, 6) are located to the left of the model, whereas those associated with intrinsic motivation are represented on the right (CD 3, 5, 7). Positive motivators are located at the top of the model (CD 1, 2, 3), whereas the bottom portion of the model represents negative motivators (CD 6, 7, 8; Figure 2).

Guided by the Octalysis Framework, the study team conducted brainstorming sessions for new features and enhancements of the IMPACT app, using rough sketches and short descriptions to communicate and align ideas across the team. Next, we employed affinity mapping, where ideas were grouped into themes, and team members ultimately voted on their top engagement ideas. Finally, we used effort versus impact matrices to prioritize design ideas and refinements. Although parent–child dyads were not engaged in the initial ideation phase, their feedback from subsequent stages, including new app features or concepts, were prioritized in future design iterations (see the "Results" section for details).

Figure 2. Octalysis framework and core drive motivations. Adapted, with permission, from [38].





Design

The original mHealth IMPACT app prototype was developed using Figma, a digital design and prototyping platform that supports the prototyping spectrum from wireframes through high-fidelity interactive prototypes (Figma, Inc). Given that the original prototype was housed within Figma, the designer (QZ) continued to use Figma for subsequent design ideas to facilitate a cohesive UX. During the design phase, the designer digitally drafted the prioritized design ideas, usually providing 2 or 3 variations. The study team reviewed the designs together and typically selected 2 versions to move forward to user testing in the evaluation phase. The inclusion of the asthma clinician-scientist study team member during such early design stages ensured that prospective designs represented asthma management best practices. As is depicted in Figure 1, numerous rounds of design and evaluation occurred as the app was progressively refined. Initial design rounds used low-fidelity

RenderX

wireframes to depict the basic app structure (information architecture) and functionality (eg, screens showing paths users take, or "user flows"). Later design rounds focused on visual design and microinteractions of the app features, which necessitated high-fidelity prototyping within Figma.

Evaluate

The study team used numerous techniques within the evaluation stage, including concept testing, usability testing, and semistructured interviews [33,39,40]. Concept testing entails seeking feedback and preferences from users about specific concepts and designs. For example, presenting different layouts of a dashboard to determine which was more effective for users, a technique known as parallel prototyping [41]. We also used card sorting, which entailed presenting numerous feature options generated from the ideation phase to users and asking them to categorize their preferences in order of importance.

Usability testing, by contrast, was used to test specific tasks within the app to determine whether users were able to use the app as intended [33,39,40]. These tasks are referred to as "flows," representing the series of screens users encounter as they perform a task. Usability sessions were moderated by the UX researcher (EC) and observed by the designer, which facilitated understanding user feedback. Through the use of the "think-aloud" technique, a cognitive interviewing method, participants were asked to perform a task within the app while the researcher observed [42]. Users were asked to describe their use of the app as they performed the tasks, including what they liked or disliked, what was confusing, and whether they would change anything. All evaluation sessions also incorporated semistructured interviews to elicit any user feedback, suggestions, or other comments.

Following each evaluation session, the UX researcher and designer debriefed the session and discussed their takeaways from the session (eg, user preferences for specific designs, or challenges using a specific flow). As is typical in HCD, each usability testing cycle was followed by rapid thematic analyses to identify key insights [25]. Key insights were then translated into recommended refinements by the UX researcher. These refinements were prioritized using a common usability scoring system (1=highest priority, 4=lowest priority) [43]. Level 1 (high priority) items prevent users from completing a task, Level 2 items create a significant delay in task completion, Level 3 have minor effects on usability, and Level 4 (lowest priority) are subtle with minimal effects. For this project, high-priority items reflected essential functions, new features, or other substantive app changes. Substantive design changes always were tested in a future evaluation cycle. Conversely, lower-priority items-often minor functionality issues such as type of clock face or button-were revised without further testing. Depending on the evaluation findings, the study team decided to either iterate the design further (re-enter the design phase) or move the prototype to implementation. We originally planned 3 cycles of design and evaluation, but as a result of delayed study timelines due to the COVID-19 pandemic, we extended our threshold for concluding iterations to Spring 2021.

Implement

Implementation entails handoff of the final designs to the developer team for full-scale development of the app. Implementation usually follows numerous rounds of design and evaluations until a final design emerges.

Procedures for Evaluation and Refinement

As depicted in Figure 1, this study consisted of research, ideation, numerous design, and evaluation cycles, followed by implementation. Study participants were directly involved in evaluation sessions. Procedures for engagement with study participants during evaluation sessions are herein described. For each session, the UX researcher generated an evaluation session plan including introductory script, task planning (concept testing or usability testing), and open-ended questions for the semistructured interview. Sessions were planned such that child activities were prioritized first to retain their attention.

Once the session plan was complete, the UX researcher contacted the parent of prospective parent–child study participants in the principal investigator's research database via email. Those who were interested scheduled a study session with the UX researcher. Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, study sessions were conducted at participant homes or a community library. Participant use of the Figma prototype app was recorded using Mr. Tappy (Mr. Tappy), a kit comprising a magnetic base that attaches to a mobile device with a digital camera on an adjustable metal arm. The UX researcher was able to view the user's actions via the Mr. Tappy browser-based viewer.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, the stay-at-home orders necessitated to transition to a remote study protocol. All remote study sessions were conducted via Zoom videoconference (Zoom Video Communications, Inc.). As an alternative to Mr. Tappy, which would require mailing to and from participant homes, the UX researcher would access the Figma app prototype, share their screen, and enable "remote control" of their mouse and keyboard. These settings allowed users to freely control their engagement with the app while Zoom recorded the session.

Following informed consent and child assent (electronic consent and assent for remote sessions), the UX researcher moderated the study session following the session plan while the designer observed and took notes. Sessions were approximately 60 minutes in duration. Rapid cycle thematic analyses were completed after each session, as discussed earlier, which informed the subsequent design refinements. Parent–child dyads received US \$50 digital gift card following each evaluation session.

Results

Participants

Twelve parent-child dyads enrolled in at least one round of this study. Eight of the 12 child participants were male with a mean age of 9.9 (SD 1.6) years. Nine of the child participants identified as White, 2 as Black, and 1 as mixed race. All of the parent participants identified as female, which is consistent with our prior study samples. Nine parent participants identified as White, 2 as Black, and 1 as mixed race. None of the study participants identified as Hispanic or Latinx.

Sample sizes for the 6 evaluation cycles ranged from 3 to 6 dyads. Usability best practices call for 4 or 5 participants per session, which typically will identify 80% of usability problems [44,45]. Larger samples are generally considered overly burdensome, redundant, and time-consuming. Parent–child dyads participated in at least one evaluation session, with 1 dyad participating in 5 sessions (Table 1). The inclusion of some dyads in multiple cycles was beneficial as it ensured they were familiar with the app objectives and core functionality, allowing them to swiftly focus on new design enhancements and changes. By contrast, inclusion of novel dyad users within study cycles, particularly later cycles, ensured we had diverse perspectives and feedback.



Table 1.	Dyad	participation	by	v evaluation	cycle	(N=12	parent-chi	ild dy	yads).	•
----------	------	---------------	----	--------------	-------	-------	------------	--------	--------	---

Dyad number	Evaluation cycle	
1	1, 3, 4, 5, 6	
2	1, 2, 4, 6	
3	1, 3, 4, 5, 6	
4	4, 5, 6	
5	1	
6	4	
7	5, 6	
8	5	
9	2	
10	1	
11	1, 3	
12	2,4	

Research

Engagement Strategies

We found that gamification, or the incorporation of gaming elements in nongaming uses, is increasingly employed in the mHealth market [35,46]. Originating from the videogaming industry, gamification integrates fun elements and human motivation to maintain user engagement. Gamification strategies appear highly variable and dependent upon the user, context, and activity or goal. Some examples include badges, leader boards, social engagement, and challenges or quests [35]. Despite this variability, gamification shares the ultimate goal of motivating users to continue using the app [47].

Existing Apps for Children

Among existing apps for children, we found several common strategies, including the use of avatars, badges, and streaks. Similarly, child-facing app designs were streamlined, colorful, and intuitive with emphasis on visuals. Notably, mHealth apps designed for childhood asthma were predominantly educational, affirming our unique perspective targeting parent—child shared management responsibility.

Ideation

Using the detailed Octalysis Framework (Figure 3), which provides feature examples mapped to each CD, the study team brainstormed and then prioritized various concepts that could be incorporated into our app (Table 2).

Figure 3. Octalysis Framework for gamification and behavioral design. Reproduced, with permission, from [38]. UI: user interface.



Table 2. Ideation phase: gamification brainstorming results

Sonney et al

Core drive and concept brainstorm Priority ^a						
CD 1 ^b : Epic meaning (positive motivation)						
N/A ^c	N/A					
CD 2: Development (extrinsic, positive motivation)						
Setting and achieving measurable goals (promotes accomplishment) ^d	1					
Positive reinforcement (congratulations when goal met) ^d	1					
Leveling up or other reward system ^d	2					
Progress bar for rewards ^d	2					
Badges for achievements	2					
To-do list for app activities ^d	3					
Step-by-step onboarding ^d	4					
Hotspots during onboarding ^d	4					
CD 3: Empowerment (intrinsic, positive motivation)						
Choice of a list of recommended goals and option to write own goals (blank fill) ^d	1					
Real-time feedback during goal progress reports ^d	1					
Customize app backgrounds or decor with accumulated rewards	4					
CD 4: Ownership (extrinsic)						
Customize profile with avatar ^d	1					
Virtual pet or mascot ^d	2					
Accumulated rewards as currency for a virtual "good"	2					
CD 5: Social influence (intrinsic)						
Shared app engagement with parent and child ^d	1					
Option to share results with health care provider ^d	3					
Asthma tips from health care professionals (mentorship)	4					
Chat forum (collaboration)	4					
Leaderboard to inspire competition	4					
CD 6: Scarcity (extrinsic, negative motivation)						
Progressively more difficult to earn rewards ^d	2					
Reward options progressively expand with ongoing use ^d	2					
CD 7: Unpredictability (intrinsic, negative motivation)						
Unlocking new rewards ^d	2					
Streaks	3					
CD 8: Avoidance (negative motivation)						
Surprise rewards	3					

^a1=highest priority and 4=lowest priority.

^bCD: core drive.

^cN/A: not applicable.

^dDepicts concepts that emerged in the final prototype.

Design

Overview

As depicted in Figure 1, this project entailed 6 cycles of design and evaluation such that insights from evaluation informed future design refinements. The design foci, evaluation methods, and key insights of each cycle are discussed below and in Table 3. Several concepts were never prototyped, including chat forums and leaderboards, due to patient privacy concerns. Expert asthma tips were not prototyped as these are redundant with existing asthma apps. We primarily used medium-fidelity Figma prototyping during design (and evaluation), which entails certain clickable elements within the design. For the last design and evaluation cycle, a high-fidelity Figma prototype was used, which had fully integrated clickable elements such that users could simulate real-world use and navigate as if it were a real app.

Table 3. Design foci, evaluation, and key insights by cycle (N=12 dyads).

Cycle	Participants and visit type	Design foci	Evaluation	Key insights
1	n=6 dyads In-person	 Baseline mid-fidelity prototype functionality and layout: Dashboard: Asthma Symptoms and C- ACT^a Goal-setting flow Progress reporting flow 	 Concept test: Dashboard display for asthma symptoms and C-ACT (PP^b) Usability test: Goal-setting flow (TA^c, SS^d) Progress report flow (TA, SS) 	 <i>Concept test:</i> Separate symptom and C-ACT graphical displays. Simplify layout. Modify color scheme. <i>Usability test:</i> Retain goal choices, improve flow. Response or celebration for achieved goal. Need more child engagement. Good parent-child interaction during use.
2	n=3 dyads In-person	 <i>Mid-fidelity prototype functionality and layout:</i> Add avatar for user profiles Simplified dashboard Revised goal-setting flow Enhanced progress reporting flow C-ACT flow 	 <i>Concept test:</i> Various avatar options (PP) <i>Usability test:</i> Goal-setting flow (TA, SS) Progress report flow (TA, SS) ACT completion and interpretation (TA, SS) 	 <i>Concept test:</i> Preferred animal avatars. Liked ability to customize. <i>Usability test:</i> Flows improved and clear. Love celebration response when goal achieved. Color schemes much improved. Add legend for C-ACT interpretation.
3	n=3 dyads Remote	 <i>Mid-fidelity prototype and child engagement strategies:</i> Introduce animal mascot and reward system concepts Revise C-ACT flow with legend 	 <i>Concept test:</i> Animal mascots (PP) Color themes (PP) Reward systems (TA) <i>Usability test:</i> Legend for C-ACT (TA, SS) 	 <i>Concept test:</i> Love the animal mascot and rewards, preferred dog theme. Integrate animal mascot with reward system. <i>Usability test:</i> C-ACT legend is clear. Show symptoms first on dashboard. New feature suggestions—medication tracking, data export.
4	n=6 dyads Remote	<i>Mid-fidelity prototype and animal mascot:</i>Introduce home spirometer conceptRefined dog mascot and reward theme	 <i>Concept test:</i> Spirometer integration with app (SS) <i>Usability test:</i> Dog mascot with bone reward system (TA, SS) 	 <i>Concept test:</i> All participants desire home spirometer integration. <i>Usability test:</i> Children love dog mascot that grows with rewards. Easily understood reward system, progress bars.
5	n=5 dyads Remote	 <i>Mid-fidelity prototype and introduce concepts:</i> Onboarding To-do list New background or accessories Streak Medication tracking Spirometer in dashboard and performance incentive 	 Concept test: Onboarding (PP) To-do list (PP) Background and accessories (TA, SS) Streak (PP, SS) Medication tracking (PP, SS) Spirometer in dashboard (TA, SS) 	 Dyads preferred sequential onboarding flow with prompts. Scrollable to-do list with "done" checkmarks. Add prompt on dashboard if there are items to do. Children did not care for new backgrounds or accessories. Prefer additional pets/mascots. Children did care for streaks. Dyads prefer calendar plus reminders for medication tracking. Spirometer tracking needs to be

be improved.

XSL•FO RenderX

Sonney et al

Cycle	Participants and visit type	Design foci	Evaluation	Key insights
6	n=5 dyads Remote	 High-fidelity prototype: Introduce: Animal mascot unlocks "Maintenance phase" Refine: Onboarding To-do list Medication tracking Spirometer incentive and tracking 	 <i>Concept test (TA, SS):</i> New animal mascot unlocks (TA, SS) Maintenance phase concept (TA, SS) <i>Usability test:</i> Onboarding (TA, SS) To-do list (TA, SS) Medication tracking (TA, SS) Spirometer incentive and tracking (TA, SS) 	 <i>Concept test:</i> Love animal mascot unlocks. Love maintenance phase concept, suggest "mute" for goals, retain everything else. <i>Usability test:</i> Refinements were all clear. Keep calendar for medication use and add option for medication reminders. Consider minor edits for consistent language, color scheme.

^aC-ACT: Childhood Asthma Control Test.

^bPP: parallel prototyping.

^cTA: think aloud.

^dSS: semistructured interview.

Cycles 1 and 2

The highest priority items from the ideation phase related to core functions within the app, specifically evaluating goal setting, the interaction between parent and child, and a new priority, an avatar for child users to excite them about ongoing use of the app. These items cross numerous CDs. Based upon these priorities, the designer expanded the original prototype to include positive reinforcement when a dyad reported successful achievement of a goal. An avatar concept was also prototyped to customize user profiles, with various options including animals, robots, dinosaurs, and monsters. These priority items were tested with users in cycles 1 and 2, with

refinements made after each cycle based upon user feedback (described in the "Evaluation" section).

Cycles 3 and 4

The next batch of priority concepts related to developing a virtual pet or mascot and reward system for app usage, with the intent to promote and maintain child user engagement. Numerous prototypes were developed with animal or creature mascots, including a monkey, underwater theme, animated lungs, monster, and a dog (Figure 4). Several rewards systems were similarly developed such that users earned rewards for various goal achievements. A variety of progress bars, displays options, and rewards were prototyped around the mascot concept.

Figure 4. App mascot prototypes.



Cycles 5 and 6

RenderX

The final design cycles focused on several of the items from Table 2, including 2 versions of a to-do list, onboarding

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e34117

guidance, and several longitudinal app engagement concepts. Onboarding guidance prototypes included carousels of app features, spotlights on app functionality, and options for video tutorials. Longitudinal engagement strategies included

expanding the animal mascot concept to provide options for unlocking additional mascots, using accumulated rewards to purchase new app backgrounds or accessories for the animal, and the concept of streaks. We also designed for integration of a home-based spirometer within the app, which emerged from parent participant feedback during prior remote evaluation sessions amidst the COVID-19 pandemic. The study team developed a spirometry tracking graph within the IMPACT app dashboard as well as visual incentives for optimal spirometry performance. Finally, we designed an export feature, which would provide users the option to export app data (C-ACT, spirometry results, etc.) to their health care provider.

Evaluation

Overview

Most evaluation cycles used concept testing, to determine specific concepts to integrate within the app, as well as usability testing, to determine whether users were able to use the implemented concepts as intended. Overall, evaluation cycles initially prioritized core app functionality, then child engagement, and finally integration of all concepts and refinement (Figure 5). Key insights by cycle are presented in Table 3.





Cycles 1 and 2

To test the core app functionality, cycles 1 and 2 prioritized evaluating the original prototype dashboard and goal-setting flows. The dashboard, or home screen, depicts graphical representations of the child's asthma symptoms and a weekly C-ACT. Concept testing was used to determine parent and child preferences for dashboard layout and color schemes.

I would totally have nothing on here except the symptom box and move everything down to the navigation bar...so you are only focusing on which is important, which is symptoms. [P3]

We also concept tested avatar options with child participants, with animal avatars emerging as preferred.

Usability testing was used to test the goal setting, progress report, and ACT flows. The goal-setting flow was very clear, with one parent commenting,

Oh boy, I love these goals! [P2]

During the semistructured interview, another parent asked what would happen after dyads completed the intervention. This parent suggested that the team consider an additional app phase that did not focus on changing shared management behaviors, but rather on maintaining them along with ongoing asthma symptom and control tracking (later addressed in design cycle 6). The remaining flows tested well with minor refinements recommended.

Cycles 3 and 4

Cycles 3 and 4 focused on evaluating the animal mascot and reward system child engagement strategies. A series of parallel prototyping concept tests revealed that dyads strongly preferred a dog mascot and that the reward system be cohesive with the mascot. Ultimately, a dog bone reward scheme was selected. During the interview, one child suggested we build on the dog mascot concept:

You can feed the animals to make them bigger and better...and they can get different colors. [C3, 11 years, during cycle 3]

This suggestion was integrated into cycle 4, with the dog mascot initially displayed as a puppy that progressively grows through reward achievements. Usability testing revealed the growing puppy mascot was unanimously favored.

Amidst the COVID-19 pandemic, many parents with children with asthma expressed concern about decreased access to their health care provider. A specific concern was restrictions placed on spirometry, which is an aerosolizing procedure. In light of these parent-identified concerns, we introduced an additional concept for testing, home spirometry. One parent commented,

Yes, that would be extremely useful. That would give us the information to decide whether to go to the doctors or emergency. [P1]

Another shared,

I think this would be great! It also generates more data to give to the doctor...He [the child] might be



fine when he goes to see the doctor once a year, but the rest of the year he wheezes, and I worry. [P2]

Finally, interviews revealed that dyads would also like to see the app incorporate medication tracking and reminders.

Medication reminders. We need a reminder...that's what we need more than anything. [P1]

Cycles 5 and 6

Cycle 5 was entirely focused on concept testing various options for onboarding, app tasks, streaks, medication tracking, and spirometry integration. Dyads were very decisive on preferred formats. Child participants clearly did not care for the streak concept,

Streaks just feel more like work. [C4, 10 years]

Children also preferred that we expand the mascots to allow for additional dog "unlocks" within the reward system as opposed to earning accessories or app background changes. The introduction of medication reminders and tracking as well as spirometry were both unanimously favored.

Cycle 6 concept testing evaluated the maintenance phase concept to follow intervention completion, which originated from a parent participant, whereby the goal setting was muted, and dyads may continue to use the other app features long term. Dyads loved this addition as it would enable ongoing app use even after the intervention was complete. High-fidelity usability testing revealed only minor refinements, indicating readiness to move to implementation.

Implementation

Once the high-fidelity prototype was finalized, the study team worked alongside the engineering team to construct user stories that specify feature requirements within the app. User stories are written from the perspective of the user, such as "as a user, I want to be able to track my asthma control within the app" [48]. Screenshots, Figma prototype links, and descriptions of the related prototype features often accompanied the user stories. Globally, user stories help provide the "why" for software developers alongside the prototype [49]. Practically, they constitute a step-by-step guide for development of a product and subsequent internal testing to ensure the developed app functions as intended [48-50]. Developer effort and timelines are also estimated based upon user stories. Given that the development and study teams co-constructed the user stories, any questions or clarifications related to the proposed design were addressed collaboratively. In total, these user stories constitute the design specifications for the engineering team.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The purpose of this study was to use HCD to refine the original parent-child shared asthma management IMPACT app and to incorporate longitudinal app engagement strategies. The study team successfully refined the app, incorporated longitudinal engagement strategies, and added dyad-prioritized new features. Final testing indicated that parent-child dyads found the refined

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e34117

XSL•F() RenderX IMPACT prototype addressed their prevailing asthma needs and priorities in an engaging, easy-to-use app.

Partnering with our end users ensured that our final design met the needs and priorities of children with asthma and their parents. Evidence has shown that such participatory design practices increase the likelihood of intervention uptake and efficacy [51,52]. Our participants were very clear that they did not desire another educational intervention, but rather a system to address challenges in monitoring symptoms and transitioning asthma responsibility to the child in a safe manner. Parent participants were especially enthusiastic about the shared management goals, which break down key asthma management tasks while facilitating parent-child shared monitoring and management. The incorporation of spirometry was also in direct response to a serious parental concern about barriers to health care access amidst the COVID-19 pandemic. Our study also serves as an example for integrating other mHealth best practices, including theoretically informed intervention techniques, clinical guidelines, and validated assessment tools [53-55].

Drawing upon the Octalysis Framework, our final design successfully integrated concepts from 6 of the 8 gamification CDs, excluding CD 1 (epic meaning) and CD 8 (loss and avoidance). Epic meaning, or being part of something bigger than oneself, does not align well with an mHealth app, which is specifically designed to support an individual's health. We concept tested a CD 8 concept, streaks, though none of our participants recommended retaining the concept. The final IMPACT design included more extrinsic than intrinsic motivations, though both are accounted for in the design. This is not unexpected as extrinsic motivations, such as tangible rewards, are more straightforward for children and frequently used in child-facing gamified systems [34,56-58]. Similarly, some intrinsic motivations, such as social sharing, are inappropriate for mHealth apps due to patient confidentiality concerns. However, an ideal gamified system does not need to integrate all CDs, but rather ensure each of the 4 motivation dimensions are accounted for in the design [36].

Despite the surge in mHealth interventions, to our knowledge, none have been designed to promote parent-child shared asthma management. Just as children need to learn self-care practices in a stepwise fashion (ie, feeding, dressing), so too do they need to learn self-management in a similar progression. Unfortunately, evidence shows that youth often abruptly assume complete management of their asthma during adolescence, often resulting in worsened health status and poor health outcomes [11]. Despite this evidence, guidance facilitating parent-child shared asthma management is lacking in the literature and existing mHealth apps [11]. Interventions specifically designed to facilitate safe and intentional parent-child shared management through concrete, task-based goal setting represent a novel approach to teaching children essential asthma management skills while still under the supervision of their parent. Such innovations hold the promise of improving a child's health in the present as well as building lifelong self-management skills.

To our knowledge, there are few, if any, studies describing the iterative design of a dyadic health management app [59]. Our

study represents an exemplar for integrating mHealth best practices, particularly behavior change, personalized self-monitoring, and medical guidelines [27,30], while concurrently accounting for a dyad's unique circumstances, family needs and priorities, and social environment [45,59]. As equal participants, parent and child feedback was carefully considered and incorporated into the app to ensure that the needs of both types of users are accounted for. While we anticipated parental hesitation to allow their child to assume asthma responsibility, we actually found that most were relieved and excited to be developing an app that would meet their needs. Multiple rounds of design and evaluation were necessary to successfully incorporate these preferences within the app; dyads often would resolve disagreements about app designs without study team facilitation. The result was an mHealth solution that represents not only a solution to dyad-identified needs and priorities, but also one that models a paradigm shift from personal to family informatics [59]. Such solutions hold tremendous promise in supporting families in navigating parent-child shared management of health.

Limitations

While this study has many strengths, there are important limitations that warrant consideration. The convenience sample of parent-child dyads was small and somewhat homogenous (primarily male children and female parents), which limits generalizability of study findings. The sample was recruited from the principal investigator's research database, which is not representative of all school-age children and their parents and did not screen for other comorbidities. It is also possible that study dyads experienced social desirability bias. Finally, our recruitment was confined to one geographic area, again limiting potential generalizability of our findings.

Conclusions

The final IMPACT app is a theoretically derived, tailored parent-child shared asthma management intervention and monitoring system. IMPACT was iteratively co-designed by our interdisciplinary study team as well as end users to ensure that the app meets the needs and priorities of children with asthma and their parents. The final IMPACT prototype is presently being fully developed for an anticipated 8-week pilot RCT in which we will test the feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary efficacy of the app.

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge the parents and children who participated in this study as well as the students who worked on the University of Washington Directed Research Group supporting this project. This project was supported by NINR R21NR019328 and NCATS KL2TR002317. JS also receives funding support from HRSA T72MC00007 (principal investigator, Redding) and the Elizabeth C. Giblin Endowed Professorship in Symptom Science. The study sponsors did not play any role in the study design, conduct or analysis and interpretation of data, or writing of this report. Information or content and conclusions are those of the authors and should not be construed as the official position or policy of the study sponsors nor should any endorsements be inferred.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control (CDC). Most Recent National Asthma Data. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/asthma/</u> most_recent_national_asthma_data.htm [accessed 2021-05-18]
- Expert Panel Working Group of the National Heart, Lung, Blood Institute (NHLBI) administered coordinated National Asthma EducationPrevention Program Coordinating Committee (NAEPPCC), Cloutier MM, Baptist AP, Blake KV, Brooks EG, Bryant-Stephens T, et al. 2020 Focused Updates to the Asthma Management Guidelines: A Report from the National Asthma Education and Prevention Program Coordinating Committee Expert Panel Working Group. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2020 Dec;146(6):1217-1270 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2020.10.003] [Medline: 33280709]
- National Asthma Education and Prevention Program. Expert Panel Report 3 (EPR-3): Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Management of Asthma-Summary Report 2007. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007 Nov;120(5 Suppl):S94-138. [doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2007.09.043] [Medline: 17983880]
- 4. Centers for Disease Control (CDC). Uncontrolled Asthma Among Children, 2012-2014. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/asthma/asthma_stats/uncontrolled-asthma-children.htm</u> [accessed 2021-05-20]
- 5. Juniper EF, Guyatt GH, Feeny DH, Ferrie PJ, Griffith LE, Townsend M. Measuring quality of life in children with asthma. Qual Life Res 1996 Feb;5(1):35-46. [doi: 10.1007/BF00435967] [Medline: 8901365]
- 6. Juniper EF, Guyatt GH, Feeny DH, Ferrie PJ, Griffith LE, Townsend M. Measuring quality of life in the parents of children with asthma. Qual Life Res 1996 Feb;5(1):27-34. [doi: 10.1007/bf00435966] [Medline: 8901365]
- Tsakiris A, Iordanidou M, Paraskakis E, Tsalkidis A, Rigas A, Zimeras S, et al. The presence of asthma, the use of inhaled steroids, and parental education level affect school performance in children. Biomed Res Int 2013;2013:762805 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2013/762805] [Medline: 23936846]

- 8. Buford TA. Transfer of asthma management responsibility from parents to their school-age children. J Pediatr Nurs 2004 Feb;19(1):3-12. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pedn.2003.09.002</u>] [Medline: <u>14963865</u>]
- Sonney J, Insel KC, Segrin C, Gerald LB, Ki Moore IM. Association of Asthma Illness Representations and Reported Controller Medication Adherence Among School-Aged Children and Their Parents. J Pediatr Health Care 2017;31(6):703-712. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2017.06.002] [Medline: 28734618]
- Sonney J, Segrin C, Kolstad T. Parent- and Child-Reported Asthma Responsibility in School-Age Children: Examining Agreement, Disagreement, and Family Functioning. J Pediatr Health Care 2019;33(4):386-393. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2018.11.005] [Medline: 30661865]
- Sonney JT, Gerald LB, Insel KC. Parent and child asthma illness representations: a systematic review. J Asthma 2016 Jun;53(5):510-516. [doi: 10.3109/02770903.2015.1116088] [Medline: 26785738]
- 12. Yoos HL, Kitzman H, McMullen A, Sidora K. Symptom perception in childhood asthma: how accurate are children and their parents? J Asthma 2003 Mar;40(1):27-39. [doi: 10.1081/jas-120017204] [Medline: 12699209]
- McQuaid EL, Koinis Mitchell D, Walders N, Nassau JH, Kopel SJ, Klein RB, et al. Pediatric asthma morbidity: the importance of symptom perception and family response to symptoms. J Pediatr Psychol 2007 Mar;32(2):167-177. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsj112</u>] [Medline: <u>16717140</u>]
- McQuaid EL, Walders N, Kopel SJ, Fritz GK, Klinnert MD. Pediatric asthma management in the family context: the family asthma management system scale. J Pediatr Psychol 2005 Sep;30(6):492-502. [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsi074</u>] [Medline: <u>16055487</u>]
- Celano M, Klinnert MD, Holsey CN, McQuaid EL. Validity of the Family Asthma Management System Scale with an urban African-American sample. J Pediatr Psychol 2011 Jun;36(5):576-585 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsp083] [Medline: 19776230]
- 16. Pew Research Center. Mobile Fact Sheet. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/mobile/</u> [accessed 2021-06-01]
- 17. Fox S, Duggan M. Tracking for Health. 2013 Jan 28. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2013/01/28/tracking-for-health/</u> [accessed 2018-05-29]
- Tinschert P, Jakob R, Barata F, Kramer J, Kowatsch T. The Potential of Mobile Apps for Improving Asthma Self-Management: A Review of Publicly Available and Well-Adopted Asthma Apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Aug 02;5(8):e113 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7177] [Medline: 28768606]
- Ramsey RR, Caromody JK, Voorhees SE, Warning A, Cushing CC, Guilbert TW, et al. A Systematic Evaluation of Asthma Management Apps Examining Behavior Change Techniques. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2019;7(8):2583-2591. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaip.2019.03.041</u>] [Medline: <u>30954644</u>]
- 20. Huckvale K, Morrison C, Ouyang J, Ghaghda A, Car J. The evolution of mobile apps for asthma: an updated systematic assessment of content and tools. BMC Med 2015;13:58 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12916-015-0303-x] [Medline: 25857569]
- 21. Wu AC, Carpenter JF, Himes BE. Mobile health applications for asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol Pract 2015;3(3):446-8.e1. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jaip.2014.12.011</u>] [Medline: <u>25725939</u>]
- 22. Fedele DA, Cushing CC, Fritz A, Amaro CM, Ortega A. Mobile Health Interventions for Improving Health Outcomes in Youth: A Meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr 2017 May 01;171(5):461-469. [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.0042] [Medline: 28319239]
- Alquran A, Lambert KA, Farouque A, Holland A, Davies J, Lampugnani ER, et al. Smartphone Applications for Encouraging Asthma Self-Management in Adolescents: A Systematic Review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2018 Oct 29;15(11):2403 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph15112403] [Medline: 30380692]
- 24. Pew Research Center. Children's Engagement With Digital Devices, Screen Time. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/</u> internet/2020/07/28/childrens-engagement-with-digital-devices-screen-time/ [accessed 2021-12-08]
- 25. Hasso Plattner Institutte of Design. An Introduction to Design Thinking Process Guide. Santa Clara County, CA: Stanford University URL: <u>https://dschool-old.stanford.edu/sandbox/groups/designresources/wiki/36873/attachments/74b3d/</u> ModeGuideBOOTCAMP2010L.pdf [accessed 2017-10-05]
- 26. McCurdie T, Taneva S, Casselman M, Yeung M, McDaniel C, Ho W, et al. mHealth consumer apps: the case for user-centered design. Biomed Instrum Technol 2012;Suppl:49-56. [doi: <u>10.2345/0899-8205-46.s2.49</u>] [Medline: <u>23039777</u>]
- Sonney J, Duffy M, Hoogerheyde LX, Langhauser E, Teska D. Applying Human-Centered Design to the Development of an Asthma Essentials Kit for School-Aged Children and Their Parents. J Pediatr Health Care 2019;33(2):169-177. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2018.07.008] [Medline: 30228032]
- 28. Bandura A. Social cognitive theory: an agentic perspective. Annu Rev Psychol 2001;52:1-26. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.1] [Medline: 11148297]
- 29. Sonney JT, Insel KC. Reformulating the Common Sense Model of Self-Regulation: Toward Parent-Child Shared Regulation. Nurs Sci Q 2016 Apr;29(2):154-159. [doi: 10.1177/0894318416630091] [Medline: 26980895]
- 30. Druce KL, Dixon WG, McBeth J. Maximizing Engagement in Mobile Health Studies: Lessons Learned and Future Directions. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 2019 May;45(2):159-172 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2019.01.004] [Medline: 30952390]

- 31. Eysenbach G. The law of attrition. J Med Internet Res 2005;7(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.1.e11] [Medline: 15829473]
- 32. Liu AH, Zeiger RS, Sorkness CA, Ostrom NK, Chipps BE, Rosa K, et al. The Childhood Asthma Control Test: retrospective determination and clinical validation of a cut point to identify children with very poorly controlled asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2010 Aug;126(2):267-73, 273.e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.05.031] [Medline: 20624640]
- 33. Moggridge B. People and prototypes. In: Designing Interactions. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press; 2007:641-736.
- Ahn S, Johnsen K, Ball C. Points-Based Reward Systems in Gamification Impact Children's Physical Activity Strategies and Psychological Needs. Health Educ Behav 2019 Jun 24;46(3):417-425 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1090198118818241] [Medline: 30678507]
- 35. Miller AS, Cafazzo JA, Seto E. A game plan: Gamification design principles in mHealth applications for chronic disease management. Health Informatics J 2016 Jun;22(2):184-193 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1460458214537511] [Medline: 24986104]
- 36. Chou Y. Actionable gamification: beyond points, badges, and leaderboards.: Octalysis Media; 2015. URL: <u>https://problem.</u> ir/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Actionable-Gamification-by-Yu-kai-Chou.pdf [accessed 2022-02-22]
- Murphy, Alexander. A Motivated Exploration of Motivation Terminology. Contemp Educ Psychol 2000 Jan;25(1):3-53. [doi: <u>10.1006/ceps.1999.1019</u>] [Medline: <u>10620380</u>]
- 38. Chou Y. The Octalysis Framework for Gamification & Behavioral Design. URL: <u>https://yukaichou.com/gamification-examples/octalysis-complete-gamification-framework/</u> [accessed 2019-11-03]
- Kaufman DR, Patel VL, Hilliman C, Morin PC, Pevzner J, Weinstock RS, et al. Usability in the real world: assessing medical information technologies in patients' homes. J Biomed Inform 2003;36(1-2):45-60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/s1532-0464(03)00056-x] [Medline: 14552846]
- 40. Kushniruk A. Evaluation in the design of health information systems: application of approaches emerging from usability engineering. Comput Biol Med 2002 May;32(3):141-149. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0010-4825(02)00011-2</u>] [Medline: <u>11922931</u>]
- Dow SP, Glassco A, Kass J, Schwarz M, Schwartz DL, Klemmer SR. Parallel prototyping leads to better design results, more divergence, and increased self-efficacy. ACM Trans. Comput.-Hum. Interact 2010 Dec;17(4):1-24. [doi: 10.1145/1879831.1879836]
- 42. Charters E. The Use of Think-aloud Methods in Qualitative Research An Introduction to Think-aloud Methods. Brock Education Journal 2003 Jul 01;12(2):68-82. [doi: <u>10.26522/brocked.v12i2.38</u>]
- 43. Dumas JS, Redish JC. A Practical Guide to Usability Testing, Revised Edition. Bristol, UK: Intellect Books; 1999.
- 44. Virzi RA. Refining the Test Phase of Usability Evaluation: How Many Subjects Is Enough? Hum Factors 2016 Nov 23;34(4):457-468. [doi: 10.1177/001872089203400407]
- 45. Macefield R. How to specify the participant group size for usability studies: A practitioner's guide. Journal of Usability Studies 2009;5(1):34-45 [FREE Full text]
- 46. Schmidt-Kraepelin M, Toussaint PA, Thiebes S, Hamari J, Sunyaev A. Archetypes of Gamification: Analysis of mHealth Apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Oct 19;8(10):e19280 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19280] [Medline: 33074155]
- 47. Sailer M, Hense JU, Mayr SK, Mandl H. How gamification motivates: An experimental study of the effects of specific game design elements on psychological need satisfaction. Computers in Human Behavior 2017 Apr;69:371-380. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.12.033]
- 48. Rehkopf M. User stories with examples and a template. Atlassian. URL: <u>https://www.atlassian.com/agile/project-management/user-stories</u> [accessed 2021-12-03]
- 49. Krasadakis G. User stories in Agile: the whys and hows. URL: <u>https://www.theinnovationmode.com/the-innovation-blog/user-stories-in-agile-the-whys-and-hows</u> [accessed 2021-12-03]
- 50. Atlassian. What is Agile?. URL: <u>https://www.atlassian.com/agile</u> [accessed 2021-12-03]
- 51. Neuhauser L. Integrating Participatory Design and Health Literacy to Improve Research and Interventions. Stud Health Technol Inform 2017;240:303-329. [Medline: <u>28972525</u>]
- 52. Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M, Medical Research Council Guidance. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. BMJ 2008 Sep 29;337:a1655 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.a1655] [Medline: 18824488]
- Al-Durra M, Torio M, Cafazzo JA. The use of behavior change theory in Internet-based asthma self-management interventions: a systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2015 Apr 02;17(4):e89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4110] [Medline: 25835564]
- Lycett HJ, Raebel EM, Wildman EK, Guitart J, Kenny T, Sherlock J, et al. Theory-Based Digital Interventions to Improve Asthma Self-Management Outcomes: Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res 2018 Dec 12;20(12):e293 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9666] [Medline: 30541741]
- 55. Pingree S, Hawkins R, Baker T, duBenske L, Roberts LJ, Gustafson DH. The value of theory for enhancing and understanding e-health interventions. Am J Prev Med 2010 Jan;38(1):103-109 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.09.035] [Medline: 20117565]
- 56. Ewais S, Alluhaidan A. Classification of stress management mHealth apps based on Octalysis framework. 2015 Presented at: AMCIS; August 13-15, 2015; Fajardo, Puerto Rico p. 1-8.

- 57. Dodero G, Gennari R, Melonio A, Torello S. Towards tangible gamified co-design at school. New York, NY: ACM; 2014 Presented at: CHI-Play 2014; October 19-22, 2014; Toronto, ON p. 77-86 URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/56v8semm</u> [doi: 10.1145/2658537.2658688]
- Lewis ZH, Swartz MC, Lyons EJ. What's the Point?: A Review of Reward Systems Implemented in Gamification Interventions. Games Health J 2016 Apr;5(2):93-99. [doi: <u>10.1089/g4h.2015.0078</u>] [Medline: <u>26812253</u>]
- 59. Pina L, Sien S, Ward T, Yip J, Munson S, Fogarty J, et al. From personal informatics to family informatics: Understanding family practices around health monitoring. New York, NY: ACM; 2017 Feb Presented at: ACM International Conference on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work Social Computing (CSCW 2017); February 25 to March 17, 2017; Portland, OR p. 2300-2315 URL: <u>https://dl.acm.org/doi/pdf/10.1145/2998181.2998362</u> [doi: 10.1145/2998181.2998362]

Abbreviations

AM: affinity mapping C-ACT: Childhood Asthma Control Test CD: core drive HCD: human-centered design IMPACT: Improving Asthma Care Together mHealth: mobile health PP: parallel prototyping SS: semistructured interview TA: think aloud UX: user experience

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 07.10.21; peer-reviewed by B Chaudhry, R Ramsey, L Elsey; comments to author 29.10.21; revised version received 22.12.21; accepted 12.01.22; published 17.02.22.

Please cite as:

Sonney J, Cho EE, Zheng Q, Kientz JA Refinement of a Parent–Child Shared Asthma Management Mobile Health App: Human-Centered Design Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e34117 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e34117 doi:10.2196/34117 PMID:35175214

©Jennifer Sonney, Emily E Cho, Qiming Zheng, Julie A Kientz. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 17.02.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Multimedia Knowledge Translation Tools for Parents About Childhood Heart Failure: Environmental Scan

Chentel Cunningham^{1*}, MN, NP; Hyelin Sung^{1*}; James Benoit^{1*}, PhD; Jennifer Conway^{2*}, MSc, MD; Shannon D Scott¹, PhD, RN

¹Faculty of Nursing, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

²Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Shannon D Scott, PhD, RN Faculty of Nursing University of Alberta 5-187 Edmonton Clinic Health Academy 11405-87 Ave NW Edmonton, AB, T6G 1C9 Canada Phone: 1 780 492 1037 Fax: 1 780 492 2551 Email: shannon.scott@ualberta.ca

Related Article:

This is a corrected version. See correction statement: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/2/e39049

Abstract

Background: Childhood heart failure is a factor in many hospital admissions each year. It can impose a steep learning curve for parents who need to learn the key information to care for their child at home. In this study, we conducted an environmental scan to identify and assess web-based knowledge translation tools about childhood heart failure for parent audiences developed within North America.

Objective: The aim of this study is to inventory tools publicly available to parents about childhood heart failure from popular web-based venues, assess how each tool communicates health information, and explore how they were developed.

Methods: Our search strategy included two commonly used multimedia-based platforms: two app stores (Google Play and Apple App Store) and one search engine (Advanced Google Search). Common search terms were used, and results were uploaded to Microsoft Excel for screening between 2 reviewers. The inclusion criteria for the tools were as follows: content focused on educating parents about their child's heart failure, developed in the English language, and originating within Canada and the United States. A total of 2 reviewers screened the app store and internet search results for relevant tools. Each tool was assessed using the Suitability Assessment of Materials (SAM), a validated tool that objectively assesses the suitability of how health information is communicated to a particular audience. Key informants who were involved in tool development were identified and invited for a qualitative interview using a semistructured format to provide data about the development process. Key themes were identified in the semistructured interview process.

Results: Frequencies and SAM percent ratings of eligible tools were reported. No apps exist for parents relating to pediatric heart failure. Overall, 17 relevant internet tools were identified, and their suitability was assessed for the parent audience. Most tools scored well in layout and type, but they scored lower in readability and graphics. Qualitative interviews with key informants revealed three key themes: timely and introductory knowledge, credible and trustworthy knowledge, and challenges and evolution in knowledge.

Conclusions: This is the first environmental scan looking for parent tools relating to childhood heart failure in Canada and the United States. Findings from this study reveal that there are no apps on this topic and there is a small number of tools for parents on the internet (n=17). Using the SAM, no tools scored in the superior range, and further work in knowledge translation strategies

needs to be done in this area to improve more effective education to parents and caregivers who have a child with heart failure. These findings will inform the development of a new resource on children's heart failure that targets parents and caregiver audiences.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e34166) doi:10.2196/34166

KEYWORDS

environmental scan; pediatrics heart failure; parent audience; knowledge translation; web-based educational tools

Introduction

Background

Parents who have a child with heart failure need understandable and reliable knowledge. Approximately 11,000 to 14,000 annual pediatric hospitalizations in the United States are due to children's heart failure, with 87% of all initial cases diagnosed after an exacerbation in heart failure symptoms requiring invasive, life-saving medical intervention [1]. Heart failure in children can invoke uncertainty, heighten stress levels, and impose a steep learning curve on parents.

Since the release of North American evidence-based guidelines [2,3], more children with heart failure have been surviving, and parents have been caring for them in the outpatient setting. Parents are in the unique position of being termed proxy health information seekers, as they require advanced and ongoing information to provide day-to-day management for their ill child [4,5]. Aside from their health care team, a source where parents rely heavily upon for health information to make daily decisions about their child's care is the internet [5]. Parents who have children with chronic health conditions have identified they require adequate and appropriate information to care for their child [6]. However, despite the call for this necessary information among parents, the literature still suggests that they feel generally unsupported in their quest for health information [7]. Undoubtedly, this need exists for parents of children with heart failure given the scarce amount of literature on this topic.

Multimedia-based educational tools (eg, e-books, apps, videos, and whiteboard animations) posted on the internet are novel strategies that can fill this knowledge gap by providing easy to access educational content to parents and caregivers who need it [8]. These tools have the ability to creatively accentuate evidence-based health information, resulting in better uptake by parent audiences [9]. They positively influence learning styles by providing complex information that is palatable, relevant, and understandable [10]. Knowledge translation tools have been created for parent audiences in other contexts and have been shown to provide understandable, accessible, and evidence-based knowledge that helps improve care [11]. Multimedia-based knowledge translation tools have not been widely explored in the context of childhood heart failure. To date, there is currently no understanding of what web-based knowledge translation tools exist for parent audiences about pediatric heart failure and how they are rated in terms of how they communicate medical information to parent audiences.

Objectives

XSL•FO

Our research seeks to better understand what tools are currently available for parents who have a child with heart failure and to

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e34166
```

assess each tool's ability to enhance their knowledge. Therefore, the aim of our study is to understand what publicly available educational tools are available to parents of children with heart failure on the web and app stores.

Methods

Overview

The environmental scan (ES) methodology is used to scan the *scan the environment* in an organized manner for gray information pertaining to a specific topic or context [12]. Our ES was conducted in 4 stages searching Canadian and US-based educational tools for children's heart failure that targeted parental audiences in June 2020.

A multimedia tool was included if it (1) was developed in either Canada or the United States, (2) focused solely on children's heart failure content, (3) was developed in English language, and (4) targeted a parent or caregiver audience. Tools were only included if they were from Canada and the United States to preserve the feasibility of the study. Duplicate tools were excluded. Given the anticipated limitation in tools, a date range was not applied to the internet search to maximize our findings.

Data collection occurred in four separate phases: (1) app search, (2) internet search, (3) Suitability Assessment of Materials (SAM) evaluation, and (4) key informant interviews. Key informant interviewers serve to augment the findings of the search as they will provide richer detail about each resource's development process. Multimedia Appendix 1 outlines the screening process of the app and internet search.

Ethics Approval

As our study included a qualitative interview component with key informants, ethical approval was obtained from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Office (Pro00106559).

Phase 1: App Search

Two app stores (Apple App Store and Google Play) were searched using the broad layman search term *heart failure* by the primary researcher (CC). Using the same term, a second researcher (JB) used a web scraping search strategy to ensure comprehensiveness. Web scraping is the systematic process of using a web *bot* (or software agent) to produce more comprehensive search results [13]. Searches were limited in the advanced search function to either Canada or the United States, totaling 2 searches. Modeled after previous ES methods [14], only the first 50 apps from the Canadian and US search in each app store were archived for review. The primary reviewer (CC) complied all the internet and app results into Microsoft Excel spreadsheets for screening. Screening for eligibility was

completed by the primary reviewer, and all data were verified independently by a second reviewer (HS) to ensure accuracy.

Phase 2: Internet Search

The primary reviewer (CC) performed the search using three broad laymen's search terms in the *all these words* function of Google Advanced Search: (1) *child heart failure*, (2) *pediatric heart failure*, and (3) *child heart failure guidelines*. The primary reviewer ran each term separately for each country (eg, Canada or the United States), resulting in 6 separate searches. Other strategies to increase search results included disabling cookies and turning off personalization to help reduce search bias. Again, no date restriction was placed to maximize our search results. To keep the search feasible, the search was limited to English language tools and within Canada and the United States. Another reason to limit the search to any North American tools was to tailor our findings to apply to an educational tool we are developing about children's heart failure that will be used in this area.

Similar to other ES methods [12], the first 100 webpage results from each search string were archived using screenshots and uploaded into a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet for screening by two reviewers (CC and HS). Adapted from methods used for data extraction and screening in systematic review processes to avoid data extraction errors [15], CC completed the initial screen and data extraction, and HS verified all data line by line. All discrepancies in data extraction and relevancy were flagged and discussed between the 2 reviewers, with no disagreements needing to be brought forth to the senior author (SDS). To increase the quality and accuracy in data collection, CC (an experienced pediatric heart failure clinician) educated the second reviewer about children's heart failure [15]. All included internet educational tools were downloaded and examined in detail.

To prevent missing any relevant educational tools in the search process, the primary reviewer also consulted with a subject expert (JC) in the field of pediatric heart failure (eg, pediatric cardiologist) to review the list of screened websites, identifying any further relevant tools that may exist but were missed. An additional tool was identified by our subject expert (April 2020). This tool was posted to the web after the date of our initial search, and it was added to our relevant list of tools for health literacy appraisal.

Descriptive statistics and frequencies in Microsoft Excel were used to analyze the characteristics of both app and internet resources. A list of any relevant web-based tools in either the app or internet search was reported for the apps and web-based tools.

Phase 3: SAM

All relevant internet and app resources that met the inclusion criteria were downloaded in full and scored independently by two reviewers (CC and HS) using the SAM scoresheet. The SAM assessment is a validated tool, developed by experts in health education for adults, that assesses the readability, usability, and suitability of health information [16]. SAM evaluation can pinpoint specific strengths or deficiencies in educational materials or compare different education materials for specific patient populations and suggest areas of

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e34166
```

improvement or refinement [16]. This method of scoring has not been applied in the pediatric heart failure context but in other pediatric contexts [17,18]. The original SAM scoring tool was developed by Doak et al [16] and was subsequently adapted with permission by Smith [19]. The version developed by Doak et al [16] includes 6 domains with 22 subfactors. The updated version by Smith [19] includes the 6 domains but with only 21 subfactors, omitting the scope evaluation within the content section. The modified version by Smith [19] was used, as the scope of this assessment was already tailored to include only tools about children's heart failure that specifically educated the parental audience.

A rating score was obtained from each assessment (not suitable=0, adequate=1, and superior=2). Scores were then transformed into percentages (percent ratings; eg, 0%-39%=not suitable material, 40%-69%=adequate material, and 70%-100%=superior material). A rating of not suitable would indicate that a web-based resource requires some refinement to make it more suitable for the intended audience, whereas a superior rating would indicate that no further refinements are needed and a high level of health literacy [16]. Resources were not excluded from inclusion based on their SAM score, but rather the assessment was completed to provide a sense of the overall scope and quality of educational content that is available to parents who care for a child with heart failure. To ensure minimal bias in the review process [20], CC and HS both independently SAM rated each relevant educational tool, and then scores were disclosed and discussed. Any highly discrepant scores (>10 points difference) were discussed in detail among reviewers to understand the large variability in scores (eg, errors in scoring). Given the subjective nature of this scoring tool, an average overall rating between both reviewers for each domain was generated, giving an average SAM score for each resource.

Phase 4: Key Informant Qualitative Interviews

Key informant interviews were conducted to complement the SAM ratings and add depth about the characteristics, distribution, and development process of each tool. Interviews with key interviewees were conducted by CC who contacted organizations from the information provided on the webpage. To maximize the number of informant responses, 3 attempts were made to contact each key informant (n=17) either by phone or by the email provided on the tool's webpage. This approach was modeled after the method developed by Dillman [21] for achieving responsiveness in the context of surveys. All interviews were conducted and recorded using the Zoom video conference platform [22]. All interviews were live coded to allow for context and meaning to be present in the results [23]. All participants provided written consent before the interview.

Data collection and analysis occurred iteratively, allowing for a more precise and purposeful process. The number of interviews achieved was not decided based on data saturation but on the positive responses accepting the invitation to participate in a qualitative interview by key informants who played an integral role in tool development.

Thematic analysis was used to synthesize and identify common themes among key informants described in the semistructured interviews. Thematic analysis was modeled after the study by

XSL•FO

Braun and Clarke [24]. Outlined in their approach are four key stages: familiarization with the data, initial coding, searching for categories among the initial open codes, and constructing final major themes that best represented the data. A data-driven inductive approach was used to link the developed codes and themes to the data themselves [25]. The interviewer became immersed in the data through repeated listening of the recorded video interviews with live coding into summary tables. Codes remained genuine as they stayed as close to the participants' own words. Codes started more general and became more focused as they were grouped into categories and then major themes. All codes and videos were then re-examined to ensure consistency and accuracy of the interpretation.

Results

Overview

A detailed flowchart outlining the screening process is presented in Multimedia Appendix 1. The screening and SAM ratings occurred over a 9-month period (July 2020 to March 2021).

Phase 1: App Search

The app search was conducted in July 2020. In total, 112 apps were retrieved, 89 from the layman search strategy, and 24 additional from the scraper method. Unfortunately, no apps met the inclusion criteria, highlighting a knowledge gap in this platform for parents and caregivers about children's heart failure.

Phase 2: Internet Search

The internet search was completed in August 2020. A combined total of 575 websites were retrieved across 6 search terms. Screening of the 455 websites occurred between two screeners (CC and HS). Details of the included web-based pediatric heart failure tools are shown in Multimedia Appendix 2. A total of 16 relevant tools met the inclusion criteria, 13 from the United States and 3 from Canada. An additional relevant tool from the United States was identified following consultation with a subject expert (JC) in the field of children's heart failure. This tool was not missed in the original search; it was developed and posted on the internet after August 2020. The most relevant internet tools were in the form of webpages (n=13) and handouts (n=3). The content for the relevant tools focused on a varying range of information (eg, general information, symptoms, treatment strategies, and testing).

Phase 3: SAM Evaluation Rating Scores

The average overall SAM factor rating between the 2 reviewers ranged from a low suitability score of 38% (16/42) to a high score of 62% (26/42; Multimedia Appendix 3). The total possible SAM suitability scores were out of 42 (100%). No tool scored 100% (26/26). Overall, 15 tools' ratings were in the adequate range (40%-69%), and 2 tools' ratings were in the not suitable range (0%-39%). No tools scored within the superior range (70%-100%).

Each tool was scored individually according to each of the 6 SAM factors in each domain (eg, content, literacy demand, graphics, layout and typography, learning stimulation and motivation, and cultural appropriateness). Raw scores for each factor of the 17 tools were combined on each SAM factor, and

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e34166
```

XSL•FC

a percentage score was calculated, demonstrating the overall current state of web-based tools included in this ES (Multimedia Appendix 4). Overall, most of the tools had a higher reading level than recommended, averaging over a ninth-grade reading level (13/17, 76%). Layout and type scores were all within the superior range—typography (17/17, 100%), layout (10.5/17, 62%), and subheadings (7/17, 41%). In contrast, all graphic scores were in the not suitable range—cover graphics (12.5/17, 74%), type of illustrations (10.5/17, 62%), relevance of graphics (10.5/17, 62%), graphic explanation (17/17, 100%), and graphic caption (16/17, 94%).

Phase 4: Key Informant Interviews

Overview

Key informant interviews were conducted between April and June 2021. Of the 17 relevant webpage educational tools, only 16 (94%) had contact information available. In addition, 1 tool only included a *customer support* tab as opposed to a contact tab (eg, Contact Us or phone number). When the customer support tab was clicked on, the researcher was directed to a generic table of contents related to the website with no further contact information provided. After 3 attempts, 41% (7/17) of the organizations did not respond. In addition, 29% (5/17) of the organizations declined an interview with the rationale that their tool was developed by an outside vendor (n=4) or that the individual who made the tool was no longer employed at the organizations (n=1). Of the key informants who agreed to an interview, an average of 2 attempts were made before a response was received. Of the 17 key organizations, 4 (24%) agreed to participate in a qualitative interview. Moreover, 3 interviews had 1 participant, and the fourth interview had 3 participants. From all 4 interviews, interviewees were either medical professionals (n=4) or employed in leadership roles within the organization (n=2; eg, manager or director).

In total, 3 major themes arose from the semistructured qualitative interviews, which focused on the content, knowledge distribution and development process, and perceived impact. These three major themes are as follows: timely and introductory knowledge, credible and trustworthy knowledge, and challenges or evolution. Interviews were assigned a reference marker (eg, 12) for quotes present in support of the themes identified in our results.

Timely Introductory Knowledge

Participants in this study agreed that the knowledge included in their tools was very timely and focused more on the introductory phase, meaning that this tool was typically used shortly after the child was diagnosed with heart failure. However, participants did express that this tool could be provided to parents at times when they needed a review of the information. A participant explicitly stated, "the tool is mostly intended to be given at diagnosis but can be distributed for a refresher if needed" [I4].

Another participant highlighted that they also revise or add content to their tool based on trends from social media posts or parent inquiries to their foundation, highlighting that their tool was timely by addressing current parent questions, "Content in the tool is based on social media posts" [I1].

To also ensure that parents were not overloaded with too much information at the time of diagnosis, other key informants strategically placed knowledge in small chunks to avoid overwhelming parents. This was highlighted with the quote: "From our parent meetings, parents prefer knowledge in bite-size pieces" [I4]. This was a strategy that allowed parents to build on their knowledge rather than try to learn it all at once, demonstrating that key informants were aware of the huge learning curve that happens with parents who are in this situation.

Credible and Trustworthy Knowledge

All the participants in the interviews described the information presented in their tools as evidence-based. A participant shared that "guidelines are biggest go-to for information" [I2], meaning that they drew most of their information from published peer-reviewed material, along with some anecdotal knowledge from years of clinical experience. A second participant also confirmed that their tool was also "most based off medical guidelines" [I2 and I4].

Participants indicated that their information was mostly distributed in the hospital setting despite being posted on the web. They indicated that their information could be handed out in the form of printouts or families can be shown how to access digital or multimedia tools that were posted on their hospital webpage or reputable organization by hospital staff on the parent's mobile device. A participant stated:

I share the website with the parent using their phone. They search on their phone, and I confirm it is the correct website. This is so they can find the information in the future. [14]

Challenges and Evolution in Knowledge

Despite the good intentions of health care professionals to share complex knowledge with parents in easier-to-understand formats, this piece is complex and presents challenges. Some of the challenges were issues related to the web-based sharing of information. A challenge that inherently comes with web-based knowledge sharing is optimizing search engines. A participant shared that their organization is working with the Google search engine as they acknowledged that their tool is not easily found on the first few pages of results, affecting the reach to their intended parent audience. They highlighted that they are "working with Google to improve their search optimization so parents can find their tools" [I4].

Another challenge faced by developers of the tools in our interviews is that the tools often do not include credible references, making it difficult for parents to discern whether the information is evidence-based. A participant acknowledged this, saying that "we do not include the references in our tools we distribute to families" [I3].

An additional challenge outlined in the interviews was related to having the tools available in only the English language when there are families where English is not their first language. This posed a challenge to the health care providers in the interviews because they felt that perhaps their tool was not as effective at translating that critical knowledge. At times, a participant stated that they would have to spend more time with the parents to ensure they understood the material because they could not read or write in the English language. A participant expressed, "Our Center has a large population of individuals fluent in Spanish. There are times we have read the pamphlets to families because they could not read English themselves" [I4].

The last challenge that participants outlined was making the time for refinements or updates to their tools. A participant described, "Heart failure is a complex disease so we are always looking to refine our tools." [I2]. All participants acknowledged that they do not have regular set time intervals for editing and updating their tools. They all typically completed this task when they "thought about it" or when clinical practice changes occurred (I1, I2, I3, and I4). Some of the participants work with others who could alert them when updates were needed (eg, nursing staff or family comments) or simply relied on memory to update the documents.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This is the first ES to conduct a search for internet sources for parent audiences relating to children's heart failure within North America. First, our ES identified that no apps exist on this topic, highlighting a significant knowledge gap for parents who are trying to seek information from this digital platform. Furthermore, our research highlighted that 17 web-based tools about children's heart failure exist tools and were assessed to be adequate using SAM percent ratings.

We have highlighted that a modest number of relevant educational tools exist from our internet search (n=17), with varying degrees of content and health literacy for parent audiences. Notably, 88% (15/17) of the tools found appeared to be developed by clinicians for parents, instead of having parents actively involved in the development process. There were 2 tools that involved parent recommendations and feedback from a parent advisory group but were not created using parent experience evidence. Given the complexity of health journeys for families who have a child with heart failure, there is a critical need and gap to develop a tool based on parents' lived experience to help deliver tools that are relevant and applicable to parent needs.

Of the relevant internet-based parent tools, no tool scored in the superior range, highlighting that work in the area of health communication and literacy could be improved upon. Most tools scored lower in the summary and review subsection, literacy subsection, and overall graphics section. Improving on these key aspects will provide parents, especially parents with lower literacy skills, information that is easier to understand with improved repetition of key information. However, the field of pediatric cardiology poses its own unique challenge in that this field contains many words with >2 to 3 syllables (eg, echocardiogram or cardiomyopathy). This aspect undoubtedly played a factor that increased the reading level and reduced the score in many of the tools. One of the key informants in the qualitative interviews highlighted their process for dealing with complex medical language to ensure that language was

XSL•FO

consistent, well defined in simpler terms, and providing information in *bite-size pieces* for parents and caregivers to enhance their uptake.

In the category of graphics, SAM scores identified that major refinements are needed in this area. An explanation for this lower score was that all relevant tools were website based and it was difficult to score these tools in relation to a graphic cover as suggested in the tools' instructions. The recommended illustrations that Doak et al [16] outlined in their tool stated that simple line drawings can promote realism without distracting the details. As noted, this tool was developed in 1996 and intended mostly for print materials, so reviewers acknowledge that technology has advanced to include more digitalized, web-based infographics that can be just as impactful as line drawings. Infographics in today's educational materials involve simpler computer infographics with more vivid, crisp colors that attracts the reader's attention. Perhaps, updating of the assessment tool to include those aspects would have scored a few of the tools in the superior range, as reviewers found some of the graphics to be well done.

It is imperative that we improve knowledge translation strategies to improve the health literacy of parents and caregivers who care for children with heart failure in the home environment. Knowledge translation strategies that include parents as cocreators bring their unique perspective or lived experience that will improve uptake and understanding, as families in similar contexts will likely share similar knowledge needs [26]. When parents have a lack of understanding toward treatments or health conditions, worse outcomes occur in children's health [27]. One way to mitigate these poor outcomes is to have robust health information available on the internet, and in alternative formats, that is based on research knowledge and parental lived experience. This is done through the avenues of improving parental and caregiver knowledge bases to make better decisions, reducing parental stress levels and invoking improved conversations with their child's health provider through questions [28,29]. In addition, when clinicians are armed with credible and effective sources of information that can be easily shared with their parent audience, better relationships will result as parents will have more confidence in their health care provider.

As all tools did not include evidence-based references to indicate that they were developed from peer-reviewed research, the average parent would have difficulty discerning if the material from any of the tools were credible or even evidence-based. Recent published literature has demonstrated that a large portion of parents who searched the internet had difficulty discerning if the literature they found was from a credible source; furthermore, they were not confident in bringing it to a trusted health care professional [29]. Even more troubling is the fact that parents will make health decisions based on the information they find on the internet [28], which may or may not be based on the most credible sources. Despite clinicians' good intentions of simplifying information to parents by not citing the source of their information, diligently citing evidence where they derived the material may relieve the stress of parents trying to discern whether the tool is evidence-based material.

Limitations

As this search was conducted in July 2020, it is possible that more tools are now available to parents and caregivers or that the current tools scored in our search have now been updated to reflect different or enhanced content. As we know, the internet and app stores are rapidly adding more content or updating existing materials daily. Our search was only a snapshot in time and would be difficult to replicate the same results.

A limitation of our search was the use of only a single search engine (Google) to provide results, which may have exposed our results to an element of search bias. Published literature on search engines, such as Google, has suggested that theories relating to filter bubbles or personalized algorithms can change results based on who searches for health information [30-32]. Although we took steps to reduce this bias, by deleting cookies and turning off personalization, this is not a perfect process. Another solution would be to use engines, in addition to Google, in the web-based search process to provide more robust results.

Although the scoring of health information was performed using a validated SAM instrument, limitations still remain. We noticed that updates to the tool may be required in some sections that scored lower (eg, type of illustration) as the tool gave a higher score for simple adult-appropriate line drawings that are not congruent with today's color infographics that can be generated from graphic artists. Current graphics are now designed as colorful infographics and characters, rather than simple line drawings or sketches, which the authors thought to be distracting. Scoring methods indicate that line drawings provide the least amount of distraction [16]. There would have been an improvement in scores if the tool had been updated to include simple computer infographics that are now commonly designed in current educational materials.

In addition, the 2 reviewers found the culture section in the instrument very difficult to score. This was evidenced by the similarity and lack of variability of scores. Culture within the context of children's heart failure was very difficult to define within the context of pediatric heart failure solely based on a web-based tool or handout. Perhaps more detailed instructions and a definition for culture could be provided, making it more user-friendly. We did find that most graphics included varying types of races and genders among the photos of parents and children. Perhaps if there were tools included in video format, culture scores would vary more as there would be an increased presence of tone and gender role presentations.

Conclusions

This ES sought to explore what multimedia educational information or tools existed on the internet and within app stores for parent audiences about children's heart failure. From our search, we found 17 parent tools and no apps relating to children's heart failure that were developed in Canada and the United States. This highlights a gap in knowledge for parents who prefer this type of web-based content for learning about this important topic. Using SAM scoring, most web-based tools scored overall in the adequate range, meaning that they were adequate to teach parents, but there are some key improvements, especially in reading level and graphics, that can be made to

maximize their educational effectiveness. The qualitative interviews with key informants who developed the tools highlight three key themes: timely introductory knowledge, credible and trustworthy knowledge, and challenges and points in how organizations plan to evolve this knowledge in the future. Further research is required to evaluate the effectiveness of such parent-targeted tools and their impact on parents' ability to learn and care for these children more confidently in the home setting.

Acknowledgments

CC has been funded for this research through the generous support of Stollery Children's Hospital Foundation through the Women's and Children's Health Research Institute (WCHRI). The senior author and primary supervisor (SDS) is supported and funded by the Canadian Research Chair for Knowledge Translation Research in Child Health. SDS is also a distinguished researcher supported by the Stollery Children's Hospital Foundation. JB is supported by a WCHRI Postdoctoral Fellowship award that has been funded through the generous support of the Stollery Children's Hospital Foundation through WCHRI.

The authors would also like to acknowledge all the developers of each tool for taking the time to share their experiences with tool development.

Authors' Contributions

CC and SDS led the design of the study, and CC was the primary reviewer and drafted the manuscript. SDS contributed to the design of the study with her vast experience in this area and provided revisions on the draft manuscript. HS was the secondary reviewer and evaluator of the relevant app and internet resources. JB, who has expertise in internet searches, completed the web scraper app search. JC was the substantive expert who reviewed the search results, made suggestions for an additional resource, and provided feedback for the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Screening of apps and web-based tools. [DOCX File , 40 KB - pediatrics v5i1e34166 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 List of included web-based pediatric heart failure tools (n=17). [DOCX File , 16 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e34166_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Average overall Suitability Assessment of Materials percent rating for individual web-based tools. [DOCX File , 14 KB - pediatrics v5i1e34166 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4

Combined average Suitability Assessment of Materials percent rating score for all web-based tools (n=17) categorized by domain. [DOCX File , 15 KB - pediatrics v5i1e34166 app4.docx]

References

- Rossano JW, Kim JJ, Decker JA, Price JF, Zafar F, Graves DE, et al. Prevalence, morbidity, and mortality of heart failure-related hospitalizations in children in the United States: a population-based study. J Card Fail 2012 Jun;18(6):459-470. [doi: 10.1016/j.cardfail.2012.03.001] [Medline: 22633303]
- Kirk R, Dipchand AI, Rosenthal DN, Addonizio L, Burch M, Chrisant M, et al. The international society for heart and lung transplantation guidelines for the management of pediatric heart failure: executive summary. [Corrected]. J Heart Lung Transplant 2014 Sep;33(9):888-909. [doi: 10.1016/j.healun.2014.06.002] [Medline: 25110323]
- Kantor PF, Lougheed J, Dancea A, McGillion M, Barbosa N, Chan C, Children's Heart Failure Study Group. Presentation, diagnosis, and medical management of heart failure in children: Canadian Cardiovascular Society guidelines. Can J Cardiol 2013 Dec;29(12):1535-1552. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.cjca.2013.08.008</u>] [Medline: <u>24267800</u>]
- 4. Reifegerste D, Blech S, Dechant P. Understanding information seeking about the health of others: applying the comprehensive model of information seeking to proxy online health information seeking. J Health Commun 2020 Feb 01;25(2):126-135. [doi: 10.1080/10810730.2020.1716280] [Medline: 32009552]
- 5. Kubb C, Foran HM. Online health information seeking by parents for their children: systematic review and agenda for further research. J Med Internet Res 2020 Aug 25;22(8):e19985 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19985] [Medline: 32840484]
- Fisher HR. The needs of parents with chronically sick children: a literature review. J Adv Nurs 2001 Nov;36(4):600-607.
 [doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.2001.02013.x] [Medline: 11703555]
- Smith J, Cheater F, Bekker H. Parents' experiences of living with a child with a long-term condition: a rapid structured review of the literature. Health Expect 2015 Aug;18(4):452-474 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/hex.12040] [Medline: 23311692]
- 8. Stevenson I. Tool, tutor, environment or resource: exploring metaphors for digital technology and pedagogy using activity theory. Comput Edu 2008 Sep;51(2):836-853. [doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2007.09.001]
- 9. Archibald M, Scott SD, Hartling L. Mapping the waters: a scoping review of the use of visual arts in pediatric populations with health conditions. Arts Health 2013 Jan 29;6(1):5-23. [doi: 10.1080/17533015.2012.759980]
- 10. Archibald MM, Scott SD. Learning from usability testing of an arts-based knowledge translation tool for parents of a child with asthma. Nurs Open 2019 Oct;6(4):1615-1625 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/nop2.369] [Medline: 31660190]
- Reid K, Hartling L, Ali S, Le A, Norris A, Scott SD. Development and usability evaluation of an art and narrative-based knowledge translation tool for parents with a child with pediatric chronic pain: multi-method study. J Med Internet Res 2017 Dec 14;19(12):e412 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8877] [Medline: 29242180]
- 12. Modanloo S, Stacey D, Dunn S, Choueiry J, Harrison D. Parent resources for early childhood vaccination: an online environmental scan. Vaccine 2019 Dec 03;37(51):7493-7500. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.09.075</u>] [Medline: <u>31590931</u>]
- Glez-Peña D, Lourenço A, López-Fernández H, Reboiro-Jato M, Fdez-Riverola F. Web scraping technologies in an API world. Brief Bioinform 2014 Sep;15(5):788-797. [doi: <u>10.1093/bib/bbt026</u>] [Medline: <u>23632294</u>]
- Donnelly KZ, Thompson R. Medical versus surgical methods of early abortion: protocol for a systematic review and environmental scan of patient decision aids. BMJ Open 2015 Jul 14;5(7):e007966 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-007966] [Medline: 26173718]
- Mathes T, Klaßen P, Pieper D. Frequency of data extraction errors and methods to increase data extraction quality: a methodological review. BMC Med Res Methodol 2017 Nov 28;17(1):152 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12874-017-0431-4] [Medline: 29179685]
- 16. Doak CC, Doak LG, Root JH. Teaching patients with low literacy skills. Am J Nurs 1996;96(12):16M. [doi: 10.1097/00000446-199612000-00022]
- 17. Morowatisharifabad M, Yoshany N, Sharma M, Bahri N, Jambarsang S. Readability and suitability assessment of educational materials in promoting the quality of life for postmenopausal women. Prz Menopauzalny 2020 Jul;19(2):80-89 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5114/pm.2020.97850] [Medline: 32802018]
- Tian C, Champlin S, Mackert M, Lazard A, Agrawal D. Readability, suitability, and health content assessment of web-based patient education materials on colorectal cancer screening. Gastrointest Endosc 2014 Aug;80(2):284-290. [doi: 10.1016/j.gie.2014.01.034] [Medline: 24674352]
- 19. Smith S. Suitability assessment of materials for evaluation of health-related information for adults. Practice Development, Inc. 2008. URL: <u>http://aspiruslibrary.org/literacy/sam.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-06-30]
- Waffenschmidt S, Knelangen M, Sieben W, Bühn S, Pieper D. Single screening versus conventional double screening for study selection in systematic reviews: a methodological systematic review. BMC Med Res Methodol 2019 Jun 28;19(1):132
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12874-019-0782-0] [Medline: 31253092]
- 21. Dillman D. Mail and Internet Surveys: The Tailored Design Method. 2nd Edition. Hoboken, New Jersey, United States: John Wiley & Sons, Inc; 1999:22-23.
- 22. Chiasserini CF. Video teleconferencing. Comput Commun 1984 Apr;7(2):97. [doi: 10.1016/0140-3664(84)90140-3]
- 23. Parameswaran UD, Ozawa-Kirk JL, Latendresse G. To live (code) or to not: a new method for coding in qualitative research. Qual Soc Work 2019 Apr 20;19(4):630-644. [doi: 10.1177/1473325019840394]
- 24. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- 25. Willig C. The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research in Psychology. 2nd Edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2017:17-37.
- 26. Shieh C, Hosei B. Printed health information materials: evaluation of readability and suitability. J Community Health Nurs 2008;25(2):73-90. [doi: 10.1080/07370010802017083] [Medline: 18449833]
- 27. Lee HY, Zhou AQ, Lee RM, Dillon AL. Parents' functional health literacy is associated with children's health outcomes: implications for health practice, policy, and research. Child Youth Serv Rev 2020 Mar;110:104801. [doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.104801]
- 28. Kasparian NA, Lieu N, Winlaw DS, Cole A, Kirk E, Sholler GF. eHealth literacy and preferences for eHealth resources in parents of children with complex CHD. Cardiol Young 2016 Sep 19;27(4):722-730. [doi: 10.1017/s1047951116001177]
- 29. Yardi S, Caldwell PH, Barnes EH, Scott KM. Determining parents' patterns of behaviour when searching for online information on their child's health. J Paediatr Child Health 2018 Nov;54(11):1246-1254. [doi: 10.1111/jpc.14068] [Medline: 29864197]
- 30. Pariser E. The Filter Bubble: What the Internet Is Hiding from You. London: Penguin Press; 2011:294.
- 31. Haim M, Graefe A, Brosius H. Burst of the filter bubble? Digit Journalism 2017 Jul 06;6(3):330-343. [doi: 10.1080/21670811.2017.1338145]

Holone H. The filter bubble and its effect on online personal health information. Croat Med J 2016 Jun 30;57(3):298-301
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3325/cmj.2016.57.298] [Medline: 27374832]

Abbreviations

ES: environmental scan SAM: Suitability Assessment of Materials WCHRI: Women's and Children's Health Research Institute

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 13.10.21; peer-reviewed by S Gilbert, G Engvall; comments to author 06.01.22; revised version received 18.01.22; accepted 18.01.22; published 21.03.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Cunningham C, Sung H, Benoit J, Conway J, Scott SD Multimedia Knowledge Translation Tools for Parents About Childhood Heart Failure: Environmental Scan JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e34166 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e34166</u> doi:10.2196/34166 PMID:35311676

©Chentel Cunningham, Hyelin Sung, James Benoit, Jennifer Conway, Shannon D Scott. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 21.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Considerations for a Social Media Physical Activity Program: Exploratory Study

Katherine Q Scott-Andrews^{1*}, PhD; Annalise Lane^{1*}, BS; Sarah Rock^{1*}, BS; Leah E Robinson^{1*}, PhD

School of Kinesiology, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, United States ^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author: Leah E Robinson, PhD School of Kinesiology University of Michigan 830 N University Ave Ann Arbor, MI, 48109 United States Phone: 1 734 647 7645 Email: <u>lerobin@umich.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Social media may be a powerful platform to combat parents' and children's low physical activity levels.

Objective: This study surveyed parents' beliefs about physical activity in order to expand the extant literature concerning the interest in and the design of an effective and feasible social media physical activity (SMPA) program.

Methods: Primary caregivers (n=250; 215 [86%] mothers, 164 [65.6%] White) of children aged 6-12 years completed an online questionnaire. Interest was examined through responses on the questionnaire; beliefs (ie, perceptions, knowledge, and support) about physical activity were examined using Spearman correlations; and to support the SMPA program design, researchers examined a combination of multiple-choice and free-response questions. For the free-response questions, the researchers performed open coding related to perceived benefits, barriers, and motivators.

Results: Parent respondents (n=215, 86%) were interested in a SMPA program tailored for families. Regarding beliefs, parents exhibited a monotonic relationship between 2 questions related to perceptions of physical activity levels in their children ($r_{s(250)}$ =.310, *P*<.001), knowledge about physical activity and motor skills ($r_{s(250)}$ =.328, *P*<.001), and support of physical activity and motor skills ($r_{s(250)}$ =.328, *P*<.001), and support of physical activity and motor skills ($r_{s(250)}$ =.328, *P*<.001). Parents perceived benefits of a SMPA program, highlighting family time and health. Barriers included time constraints, a lack of motivation, and environmental factors.

Conclusions: Parents are interested in supporting healthy family behaviors using a SMPA program. An effective program should emphasize motor skill activities, be fun and family oriented, and incorporate incentives, goal setting, and advice and tips. SMPA also needs to address identified barriers, such as those regarding time and environment.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e26008) doi:10.2196/26008

KEYWORDS

physical activity; motor skills; programs and interventions; social media

Introduction

Physical activity is defined as any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that results in energy expenditure above the resting metabolic rate [1], often categorized into light (minimal energy expenditure), moderate (requires some effort), and vigorous (activities that lead to harder breathing, puffing, and panting). Currently, physical activity levels are extremely low for children [2] and adults [3] in the United States. Only 42% of children aged 6-11 years achieve the recommended goal of

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e26008

RenderX

60 minutes per day of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) each day [2]. In comparison, merely 11% of adults achieve the recommended goal of 150 minutes of MVPA or 75 minutes of vigorous physical activity (VPA) per week [3]. Even further reductions in physical activity levels have been observed in both adults [4] and children [5] during the COVID-19 pandemic, which has limited physical activity opportunities (eg, sports and physical education). Such data are concerning in the light of evidence supporting that low physical activity levels adversely affect physical and mental health [6]. Thus, increasing

the avenues for physical activity is a pertinent concern in our evolving society. This need is also supported by Chen et al [7], who highlighted the need for physical activity during the COVID-19 pandemic, with access to programming that is simple and can be completed in the home.

It is imperative to incorporate families in the design and implementation of health programs. Most aspects of health (eg, health socialization, disease prevention, and recuperative care) are centered and accomplished within families [8]. Additionally, children's lives are generally structured within a family, and children tend to emulate their parents' (or caregivers') habits, including physical activity behaviors [9]. Research indicates that physical activity programs that incorporate families, especially those tailored to the participating children, effectively increase physical activity in children [10,11] and adults [12]. Although families are an ideal setting for understanding and intervening on child physical activity, they are complex and multidimensional social groups in terms of their composition, structure, and functions. Defining "family" is challenging because families are diverse, and the term "family" holds different meanings and functions for every individual. In research that focuses on family-based interventions, family is often defined differently but incorporates at least 1 parent and 1 child [12]. It is important to note that as children transition into adulthood, the influence of parents on children's physical activity decreases [13]. Therefore, family physical activity interventions are generally conducted in children versus adolescents [9,10]. Moreover, family involvement in children's physical activity programs is a critical determinant and best practice [14,15]. However, despite positive findings, the components of an effective physical activity program for families are not yet agreed upon due to heterogeneity among studies, such as the length of intervention and methodological quality [12].

The use of technology to promote physical activity has become increasingly popular. For example, virtual reality applications, such as Pokémon Go, have been shown to increase physical activity levels of its users by an average of nearly 1500 steps per day in 30 days [16]. More specifically, social media has grown as a flexible, popular platform consisting of social networks, supports, connections, or social interactions [17] among people [18]. The idea that social media is characterized by "user generated" content [17], a term that has existed for at least a decade [17], remains well accepted today [18]. Through social media, users can share information with others, provide social support, and access programs [19]. Although an increasing variety of applications can be considered social media, or used to access social media, only applications and platforms with the qualities mentioned earlier are considered social media for this paper's purposes. It should be noted that this excludes virtual reality and exergaming applications [20]. Under this definition, some of the most popular platforms are Facebook, YouTube, and Instagram [21]. In the past 15 years, adult Americans' social media usage increased from 5% usage in 2005 to approximately 72% in February 2019 [21]. Researchers have begun leveraging these cost-effective cyber environments to promote health behaviors and aid in behavior change [19]. However, social media has not been highly utilized to target low levels of physical activity [19,22,23]. More insight related to social media usage and perceptions of target audiences is needed to inform the development of a program delivered to families via social media platforms that are designed to increase physical activity in both parents and their children (ie, a social media physical activity [SMPA] program for families).

From a feasibility standpoint, it is also critical to measure parental interest in a SMPA program, understand what families believe will support their engagement in such a program, and incorporate these factors into program design. However, little research has used and assessed SMPA programs [22,23], with most queries focused on internet- and technology-based programs [12,24]. Robbins et al [22] evaluated the feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary efficacy of a 12-week social media intervention on adolescents' (aged 10-13 years) BMI, physical activity, and diet quality [22]. The intervention included an after-school club for adolescents, parent-adolescent meetings, and a parent Facebook group. This study found that adolescents had significantly greater autonomous motivation for physical activity after completing the intervention. Additionally, Wojcicki et al [23] investigated the feasibility of an 8-week Facebook physical activity intervention for teenagers (aged 13-15 years) exhibiting low levels of physical activity. The intervention consisted of access to a private Facebook group with 2 daily wall posts containing youth-based physical activity information and resources [23]. There were no changes in objective physical activity (ie, measured by an accelerometer); however, adolescents reported increases in subjective physical activity (ie, self-reported) [23]. In both these studies, Facebook was a feasible delivery mode and was supported by both parents and children.

Physical activity programs for families have been delivered online or through eHealth applications. However, it is essential to note that these programs do not incorporate social media elements, such as user-generated information, social support, or participant interaction [12,24]. In a systematic review of physical activity programs for families, 6 (13%) of the 47 studies were delivered online and 1 (2%) communicated with participants through email [12]. Notably, 4 (67%) of the 6 studies cited positive effects and 5 (83%) of the 6 studies were favored by participants [12]. Another systematic review specifically examined eHealth programs for families, and 6 (86%) of the 7 studies included had additional components besides online delivery (eg, face-to-face and telephonic components) [24]. Interestingly, the 1 (14%) study that was conducted entirely online was the only one that found significant BMI changes [24]. Even though only 1 (14%) study found significant effects, overall study participants favored the internet as a medium for health programs [24]. These findings demonstrate that online programs tailored for families are feasible and highly favored, but social media has not been a widely utilized platform.

Given that SMPA programs have not been broadly implemented for families, it is vital to understand parental interest and program design considerations to support buy-in for a SMPA program. In addition to understanding parents' interest in a SMPA program, it is also critical to understand their viewpoints on such programs' targeted behaviors that are critical to

XSL•FO

children's healthy growth and development, specifically physical activity and secondarily gross motor skills. Motor skills are defined as the "building blocks" of more advanced, complex movements required to participate in sports, games, or other physical activities [25]. Motor skills are included as a secondary targeted behavior of a physical activity program because of their essential role in supporting movement and their associations with positive trajectories of health [26]. Motor skills are defined as movement behaviors required to participate in sports, games, and other context-specific physical activities [26]. The literature supports that proficiency in a wide range of motor skills, often called motor competence, is needed to support lifelong movement and physical activity [26]. Motor skills are positively associated with physical activity, health-related fitness, perceived motor competence, weight status, and academic performance in children [26].

The research on parents' beliefs of their children's physical activity and motor skills is sparse [27], and the limited findings in this area are mixed [28-35]. Evidence supports that those parents who are knowledgeable about physical activity and motor skills are more likely to support these behaviors in their children [28,29] and that their children are more likely to have greater motor abilities [30]. However, research has found that parents hold inaccurate perceptions about physical activity and motor skills, as they tend to overestimate their children's physical activity [31-33] and motor abilities [34,35]. More research is needed to measure parents' beliefs of their child's engagement in motor skills and physical activity in order to determine the extent to which families believe that participating in a physical activity program is essential and would be beneficial.

This study aims to (1) gauge interest in a SMPA program delivered to families, (2) examine parental beliefs about physical activity (as a proxy measure for buy-in to a SMPA program), and (3) gather information to inform the design of SMPA programs to best suit the needs of their participants, thereby maximizing efficacy and feasibility. These aims were addressed by a questionnaire designed to elucidate the relationship between parental beliefs about physical activity and motor skills in their children and gain insight into the benefits parents perceived could be gleaned from program participation and the motivators/barriers parents perceived to program engagement.

Methods

Study Approval

The institutional review board (health sciences and behavioral sciences) at the University of Michigan reviewed this study and approved it with exemption (HUM00161089). The study was conducted entirely online, and no identifying data were collected.

Measures

XSI•FC

Experts in the fields of kinesiology and public health developed an online questionnaire to assess parent beliefs. The group of 3 experts included a professor of kinesiology with over 15 years of experience working in the field of motor development who conducts motor skill interventions in children, a professor of

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e26008
```

health behavior research who has more than 10 years of experience in scientific and clinical aspects of behavioral medicine and public health, and a PhD candidate who holds a Certified Health Education Specialist (CHES) certification and a master's degree in health behavior and health education with over 6 years of experience working with children. The questionnaire was developed through extensive literature review and screening, piloting to families, and reworking. The questionnaire consisted of 42 questions (ie, 39 multiple-choice and 3 free-response questions) divided into 3 sections: demographics, beliefs about physical activity and motor skills, and social media use and interest in a SMPA program. The questionnaire was distributed through an online platform Qualtrics (Provo, UT, USA) and took approximately 23 minutes to complete. It should be noted that the survey inquired about parents' interest in a SMPA program for families, but there was no clear definition for what this social media program would look like nor was a definition of "family" provided. We sought to receive input about program design from their perspective and allow parents to offer opinions and ideas unrestrictedly.

Participants

Participants were a convenience sample who self-selected to participate in this study. Participants were recruited in the summer of 2019 through flyers placed around the community, a posting on the university research registry, and emails sent to a listserv for a local summer camp program. The questionnaire was available from June to August 2019. Inclusion criteria were being the parent or primary guardian of a child aged 6-12 years and residing in Michigan.

Data Analyses

Quantitative data were analyzed using IBM SPSS Statistics (version 26), with α levels set to .05 a priori. Qualitative data were analyzed using qualitative analysis software NVivo 12 (QSR International, Doncaster, Australia). Data analysis was conducted using the grounded theory methodology outlined by Charmaz [36], utilizing line-by-line coding and constant comparative methods. This process involves taking an inductive approach to understanding and learning from the data. Coding was conducted by the first and third authors (KS and SR). The authors first engaged in line-by-line coding of all the responses, developed focused codes, and then derived themes about each of the 3 questions' responses, comparing across all responses. The 2 authors had 91% agreement in coding across the 3 qualitative questions analyzed (ie, question about benefits, 92%; question about barriers, 91%; and question about motivation, 90%). Discrepancies were discussed and resolved among the 2 authors.

Interest

Interest was examined using percentages of responses to the 2 multiple-choice questions, *Are you interested in participating in a family-based physical activity program through social media?*, with the choices being *not interested*, *somewhat interested*, and *very interested*, and *What do you usually do on the internet? Check all that apply. (Email, browse on the web, social media, text messaging, other).*

Beliefs About Physical Activity and Motor Skills

Spearman correlations were used to examine beliefs about physical activity and motor skills or specifically the associations between multiple-choice questions asking about parents' perceptions, knowledge, and support of physical activity and motor skills: values of \geq .80 were considered very strong; .60-.79, strong; .40-.59, moderate; .20-.39, weak; and 0-.19, very weak [37]. For parental perceptions, the association between the 2 questions How physically active would you say your child is?, measured on a 5-point Likert scale (eg, very inactive to very active), and Do you think your child needs to be more physically active?, measured with a dichotomous response (ie, yes or no), was examined. To compare these questions, responses to the former question was dichotomized into 2 variables (ie, active and inactive), with the neutral statement being categorized as inactive. Follow-up sensitivity analyses were conducted to examine the effect on Spearman correlation results if neutral answers were categorized as active instead of inactive. For parental knowledge, the association between the 2 questions Do you think your child needs to be more physically active? and Do you think your child needs improvements in their motor skills?, both measured dichotomously, was examined. Parental support of physical activity and motor skills was analyzed via the association between the 2 questions How often do you give your child opportunities to engage in physical activity? and How often do you encourage your child to develop motor skills? Possible answer choices to both questions were every day, 2-3 times per week, once a week, a few times a month, once a month, and never.

Program Design

Program design was examined through 3 multiple-choice questions and coding of 3 free-response questions to help inform the program design for SMPA programs. The 3 multiple-choice

questions were How often did you use social media platforms (Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, texting apps, and fitness apps) in the past month?, with choices being never, rarely, sometimes, very often, and always; What information or content would be most helpful for your family?, with choices being goal setting, family activities, advice and tips, educational videos, social support, and other; and How would you like to receive this information?, with choices being email, text messages, social media messaging, social media group, and other. Participants were permitted to select multiple choices for the latter 2 questions. The 3 coded free-response questions were What are some of the benefits you foresee for your family to be part of a social media-based physical activity and fundamental motor skill program?, What are some of the barriers you foresee for your family to be part of a social media-based physical activity and fundamental motor skill program?, and What would motivate you and your family to be involved in a social media-based physical activity and fundamental motor skill program?.

Results

Participant Details

A total of 335 participants started the questionnaire. Of these, 65 (19.4%) were removed because they completed less than 34% of the questionnaire (ie, completed only the demographic section or less), 9 (2.7%) whose child was not within the age range were removed, and 11 (3.3%) who did not reside in Michigan were removed. There were a total of 250 primary caregivers (215 [86%] mothers, 105 [42%] aged 30-39 years; see Table 1) included in the data analyses. Children of parent respondents had a mean age of 8.7 years, and 139 (55%) were girls.



 Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of participants (N=250).

Characteristics	n (%)
Relationship to the child	
Mother	215 (86.0)
Father	18 (7.2)
Grandparent	3 (1.2)
Legal guardian	6 (2.4)
Other	8 (3.3)
Parents' age (years)	
20-29	30 (12.0)
30-39	105 (42.0)
40-49	90 (36.0)
50-59	21 (8.4)
60-69	3 (1.2)
≥70	1 (0.4)
Child's race/ethnicity	
White	164 (65.6)
Hispanic or Latinx	13 (5.2)
Black or African American	26 (10.4)
Native American Indian	1 (0.4)
Asian	5 (2.4)
Other/biracial	40 (16)
Parents' highest level of education	
Less than high school degree	5 (2.0)
High school degree or equivalent	14 (5.6)
Some college but no degree	46 (18.4)
Associate degree	25 (10.0)
Bachelor's degree	69 (27.6)
Graduate degree	87 (34.8)
Other	4 (1.6)
Total number of adults in the household	
1	30 (12.1)
2	190 (76.3)
3	24 (9.6)
4	4 (1.6)
≥5	1 (0.4)
Total household income (US \$)	
≤24,999	34 (13.6)
25,000-49,999	42 (16.8)
50,000-99,999	74 (29.6)
100,000-149,999	49 (19.6)
≥150,000	50 (20.0)
Total number of children in the household	
1	48 (19.2)

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e26008

XSL•FO RenderX

Scott-Andrews et al

Characteristics	n (%)
2	104 (41.6)
3	51 (20.4)
4	26 (10.4)
≥5	21 (8.4)

Interest

Of the 250 parents who completed the survey, 214 (85.6%) were interested in a family-based SMPA program. Of these, 97 (45.2%) were somewhat interested and 86 (40.4%) were very interested, while 178 (83.2%) of parents reported that they usually engage in social media use.

Beliefs About Physical Activity and Motor Skills

There was a weak but significant positive association between the 2 questions on parents' perceptions of their child's physical activity (r_{s(250)}=.310, P<.001). We found that 204 (81.6%) of the 250 parents responded that their child was active and 125 (50%) responded that their child needs to improve their physical activity levels. When neutral answers were categorized as active instead of inactive for the sensitivity analysis, there was a slight change in the Spearman correlation ($r_{s(250)}$ =.136, P<.03). Although dichotomizing the neutral answers in the opposite direction did produce slightly different statistics, the primary findings remained the same. There was a weak but significant positive association between the questions regarding parents' knowledge of their child's physical activity and motor skills $(r_{s(250)}=.328, P<.001)$. We found that 125 (50%) of the parents responded that their child does not need to be more physically active, and 131 (52.4%) of the parents responded that their child does not need to improve motor skills. Additionally, 220 (88%) of the parents acknowledged a difference between physical activity and motor competence, and 249 (99.6%) responded that motor competence supports healthy development. There was also a weak but significant positive association between the questions about parents' support of their child's physical activity and motor skill behaviors ($r_{s(250)}$ =.385, P<.001). We found that 207 (82.8%) of the parents reported providing their child with physical activity opportunities every day, while only 136 (54.5%) of the parents reported providing their children with motor skill opportunities every day. In addition, 21 (8.4%) of the parents responded that they encourage motor skills a few times a month to never, while only 2 (0.8%) of the parents responded that they promote physical activity a few times a month to never.

Program Design

Quantitative Feedback

In response to the questions about social media use, 212 (84.8%) of the 250 parents responded that within the past month, they use Facebook *sometimes*, *very often*, or *always*. Within the past month, 209 (83.6%) of the parents responded that they used

texting apps (eg, text messaging, iMessage, WeChat, and WhatsApp) *sometimes*, *very often*, or *always*. Parents also indicated that they used fitness apps, such as MyFitnessPal, Strava, RunKeeper, and Nike Training Club (n=112, 44.8%); Instagram (n=96, 38.4%); and Twitter (n=41, 16.4%) *sometimes*, *very often*, or *always*. In response to the questions regarding SMPA program content, parents responded that it would be helpful to provide materials and information regarding *goal setting* (n=154, 61.6%), *family activities* (n=191, 76.4%), *advice and tips* (n=133, 53.2%), *social support* (n=90, 36%), and *educational videos* (n=86, 34.4%). Regarding how often parents would like to receive physical activity and motor skills content, 137 (54.9%) of the parents preferred *email*, 85 (34%) preferred *social media groups*, 82 (32.8%) preferred *text messages*, and 45 (18%) preferred *social media messaging*.

Qualitative Feedback

Qualitative analysis of the 3 free-response questions yielded predominant themes about program design, including benefits, barriers, and motivators (see Table 2). Parents who responded to the question Do you think your child needs to be more physically active? with yes or no both contributed equally (n=123 [49%] said yes) to the qualitative responses. For question 9, regarding benefits, 7 themes were derived from 212 responses: family time, health improvement, accountability and motivation, fun and enjoyment, community relationships, modeling, and no benefit. Within these responses, 128 (60.4%) were related to the theme of family time, 112 (52.8%) to health improvement, 37 (17.5%) to accountability, 28 (13.2%) to fun and enjoyment, 18 (8.5%) to community relationships, 17 (8%) to modeling, and 7 (3.3%) to no benefit. Question 10, concerning barriers, revealed 7 main themes from a total of 207 responses: time, environment, motivation and interest, technology, health concern, money issues, and no barrier. Within these responses, 137 (66.2%) encompassed the theme of time, 60 (28.9%) encompassed motivation and interest, 56 (27.1%) encompassed environment, 19 (9.2%) encompassed technology, 8 (3.9%) encompassed health concern, 7 (3.4%) encompassed money issues, and 12 (5.8%) encompassed no barrier. From Question 11, about motivators, 8 prominent themes arose from 195 total responses: social support, health benefits, incentive, tracking and goal setting, cost, ease of use and access, fun and competition, and does not know. Among these responses, 70 (35.9%) were related to incentives, 52 (26.7%) to fun and competition, 39 (20%) to social support, 26 (13.3%) to ease of use and access, 24 (12.3%) to health benefits, 20 (10.3%) to tracking and goal setting, 18 (9.2%) to does not know, and 7 (3.6%) to *cost*.



 Table 2. Interest in a social media program.

Theme	Definition	Examples	Responses, n (%)
Question 9. What are some of the motor skill program? (N=212)	benefits you foresee for your family to be p	part of a social media–based physical activi	ty and fundamental
Family time	Building better family relationships and spending more quality time together	• Spending time together would be number one. We love to connect as a family.	128 (60.4)
Health improvement	An array of health benefits, such as increas- ing physical activity, overall health, en- durance, and strength	Getting healthy together.Better mental and physical health.	112 (52.8)
Accountability and motivation	A way to be held to a certain standard or be motivated to participate in certain tasks	• Having something for the whole family keeps everyone accountable.	37 (17.5)
Fun and enjoyment	A fun way to spend time with family mem- bers and bring happiness to those involved	• It seems like it would be more fun to do it together. We could motivate and encourage each other.	28 (13.2)
Community relationships	Creating new relationships and friends with community members	 Connecting with other families, a sense of community. Creating new friendships. 	18 (8.5)
Modeling	Demonstrating the importance of physical activity	 Showing that being active is important for adults and kids. Being a role model. 	17 (8.0)
No benefit	Not foreseeing any benefit to the program	• I don't think we could benefit from so- cial media activities.	7 (3.3)

Question 10. What are some of the barriers you foresee for your family to be part of a social media-based physical activity and fundamental motor skill program? (N=207)

Time	An inability to find time to participate in the program due to school/work schedules	•	Finding the time and weather are our biggest barriers.	137 (66.2)
Motivation and interest	A lack of motivation, interest, or energy due to busy lives	•	My child not being interested, me los- ing motivation.	60 (28.9)
Environment	Environmental factors that are a concern, such as location, weather, and access to safe areas	•	We do not have sidewalks where we live.	56 (27.1)
Technology	Issues with technology, privacy, or social media	•	Invasion of privacy. Our kids are not on social media yet, due to age.	19 (9.2)
Health concern	Underlying health conditions that could be a problem when participating	•	My current fitness/health level not be- ing optimal.	8 (3.9)
Money issues	The price of the program as a financial bar- rier	•	Extra costs will affect our ability to participate.	7 (3.4)
No barrier	No barriers foreseen	•	We are active already.	12 (5.8)
uestion 11. What would motivat rogram? (N=195)	e you and your family to be involved in a so	cial r	nedia based–physical activity and fund	lamental motor

Q r skill pr

Incentive	A tangible object/monetary reward as com- pensation for completing portions of the program	•	Some sort of reward would be the highest motivator. Maybe earning rewards or "badges."	70 (35.9)
Fun and engaging	Incorporating aspects of fun and competi- tion into the program to make it more entic- ing to participants	•	If my child sees it as fun. It has to be engaging.	52 (26.7)

Scott-Andrews et al

Theme	Definition	Exa	mples	Responses, n (%)
Social support	Increased support from a social circle that allows participants to connect in new ways	•	I think if there were accountability partners, I would be motivated to par- ticipate. Friends have a way of keeping you honest.	39 (20.0)
Ease of use and access	Allowing the program to be easy to use, accessible to all, and carefully planned out	•	Knowing more about the program and being aware of what was going to be posted ahead of time.	26 (13.3)
Health benefits	Health improvements from participation	•	Seeing how it could keep my child healthy. Improving our health.	24 (12.3)
Tracking and goal setting	Using various tracking and goal-setting mechanisms to actively see progress over time	•	Goal setting with daily/weekly check ins. Keeping track of progress.	20 (10.3)
Does not know	Uncertain or unsure of what would motivate the participants	•	Not sure.	18 (9.2)
Cost	Making the price of the program fair and flexible for participants	•	The program is free and interesting to kids and adults.	7 (3.6)

Discussion

Principal Findings

The purpose of this study was to gauge interest in a SMPA program for families, examine parental beliefs about physical activity and motor skills, and gather information to inform the design of a SMPA program. Through the use of an online questionnaire, it was found that a large majority of parents (214/250, 85.6%) are interested in a family-based SMPA program. Previous research supports our findings—that parents and children favor online physical activity programs, including SMPA programs for families [12,22-24].

This study found that parents hold accurate beliefs based on their perceptions, knowledge, and support of physical activity and motor skills. Parents had accurate perceptions that their child's physical activity and motor skills are associated, demonstrated knowledge that there is a difference between motor skills and physical activity, and supported physical activity and motor skills. Despite a large number of responses indicating that parents thought their child achieves the daily amount of physical activity recommended, it is important to note that approximately 125 (50%) of the parents believed that their child needed to increase their physical activity levels or motor skills. Responses indicated that at least half (n=125, 50%) of the parents had the motive to buy-in to a SMPA program. Based on research illustrating low levels of physical activity [2] and motor skills [38] in children, and that parents overestimate their children's physical activity levels [31-33] and motor skills [34,35], it is likely that some parents perceive their children as more active than they actually are or to have more advanced motor skills than they actually do. Thus, it can be reasonably assumed that the percentage of parents whose children need to increase their physical activity levels or motor skills to meet national recommendations [2] is more significant than this study found.

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e26008
```

XSL•F() RenderX Based on the findings that more parents provide their children with daily physical activity opportunities compared to motor skill opportunities (n=207 [82.8%] vs n=136 [54.5%]), and that a larger percentage of parents indicated that their child needed to be more physically active relative to the percentage of parents who indicated that their child needed to improve their motor skills (n=125 [50%] vs n=119 [47.6%]), it appears that parents may regard physical activity as more important than motor skills. Interestingly, 220 (88%) of the 250 parents acknowledged a difference between physical activity and motor competence, and 249 (99.6%) correctly responded that motor skills support healthy development. These findings are supported by a recent study that examined the relationship between motor skills and the home environment, which found that parents recognize motor skills as critical underlying factors regarding physical activity [30]. These findings suggest that parents may intend to provide their children with the same quantity of motor skill development opportunities as physical activity opportunities. Still, they lack the knowledge regarding how to do so. Although research is limited on parents' knowledge of physical activity and motor skills [27], we know that knowledgeable parents are more likely to support physical activity and motor skills in their children [28,29] and parents of children who value motor skills have higher motor skill proficiency [30]. Such research emphasizes the importance of educating parents about motor skills and providing motor skill opportunities for their children.

Parents' responses to the various closed and open-ended questions provide key elements that should be incorporated into the program design of a SMPA program. First, given the importance of motor skills [26] and the finding that physical activity opportunities are more commonly provided than motor skill opportunities, a SMPA program must include components that will educate parents about motor skills and incorporate motor skill opportunities. Next, most parents responded that content focusing on family activities would be helpful and that family time would benefit from a SMPA program. About half

of the parents (133/250, 53%) responded that they are interested in *health* components as well. However, previous research supports that physical activity programs may be efficacious to emphasize components and content unrelated to weight loss or health improvement [12]. Thus, SMPA should predominately feature fun and family-oriented content. Lastly, parents indicated that they would like the content of a SMPA program to focus on goal setting and program advice and tips. Incorporating goal setting and program advice and recommendations has been shown to be successful in previous online interventions for children [24]. Thus, we recommend that a SMPA program include fun activities that promote the use of motor skills, involve multiple or all family members to encourage together-time, and deliver goal-setting prompts and tips to help families maximize participation in and benefit from the program.

Parents also highlighted barriers and motivators that should be incorporated into program design. The most prevalent barriers to program participation that parents identified were time, motivation and interest, and environmental factors. Parents noted being unable to find the time to complete the program, having a lack of motivation, and limitations due to environmental factors, such as cold winter weather and a lack of safe outdoor space. Thus, a SMPA program should feature physical activity and motor skill activities of various durations and include workouts that can be done both indoors and in a variety of outdoor environments, especially given that access to exercise facilities/opportunities has been shown to dictate the use of these environments for exercise and physical activity [39]. Environmental factors impacting Michiganders' participation in a SMPA program may differ from families in other regions. A program that is fun and engaging and promotes together-time, as suggested earlier, as well as one that considers various environmental and time constraints, is likely to consequently minimize the barrier of motivation and interest. With regard to motivators to program participation, incentives, fun and engaging, and social support were among the top 3 themes of free-response answers. Incorporating rewards into physical activity interventions for families has previously been found to significantly increase the pedometer step count in children compared to the control group [40]. It has been suggested as a means of augmenting motivation elsewhere [12].

Further, our study found that parents participating in the questionnaire were already active on varying social media platforms, with Facebook being the most often utilized. Our results align with Pew Research that social media is popular among adults and that Facebook is the most utilized platform [21]. However, Pew Research cited that Instagram and YouTube were the subsequent 2 most utilized platforms [21]. In this study, only 96 (38.5%) of the 250 parents reported using Instagram sometimes, often, and always. Although a specific option to choose YouTube was not included, participants were provided an opportunity to name any social media platform for the question How would you like to receive this information? [21]. However, no participants wrote YouTube. The finding that parents were highly active on social media supports the idea that Facebook is a promising and favorable mechanism to deliver a SMPA program, which has been previously established [19,22,23]. However, participants of this study demonstrated a

XSL•FO

preference for email delivery of physical activity and motor skill programs when asked directly. This platform is easily accessible for parents, and children do not necessarily have to be on social media to participate in the program, as the mode of delivery would be via parents. Given that a wide variety of social media platforms have been found to be effective in eHealth interventions, such as text messaging, web-based chat groups, and mobile phone applications [24], any form of social media used in a SMPA program would likely be both accessible and successful in the dissemination of physical activity and motor skill program content. Finding the best social media platform for such a program should involve both parents and children, as they are the stakeholders [41].

Importantly, this study shows that there is both widespread interest in and potential program buy-in for the largely unstudied concept of a SMPA program for families, particularly among a Michigan sample of parents. We also interpreted various novel feedback and insight about a SMPA program specifically tailored to families into meaningful advice for researchers seeking to design such a program. In particular, we found that a SMPA program should include motor skill–focused educational content, activities that promote together-time, advice and tips, and prompts for regular goal setting, environmentally and time conscious workouts, and incentives. Ideal mediums for content delivery were found to be Facebook and email.

Strengths

The strengths of this study include a large, diverse sample of 250 participants whose characteristics of ethnicity and income brackets aligned with US Census data [42] for Michigan. It is important to note that our sample does not align as well with national US Census data and the National Health and Nutrition and Examination Survey, as we had overrepresentation of Whites and a lower representation of Hispanic or Latinx and Asians [43,44]. Another strength is that independent coders were used to examine the free-response questions. This study aimed to understand the feasibility of a SMPA program designed based on families' needs.

Limitations

This study was conducted using an online questionnaire through Qualtrics. There are advantages and disadvantages to using an online platform for data collection. A large, diverse sample of participants from across Michigan was able to be obtained. Since the data were collected via a convenience sample, it is important to acknowledge that it is possible that the questionnaire was completed by parents who have a high level of knowledge about and support of motor skills and physical activity regarding healthy development or whose children engage in above-average levels of physical activity or motor skills. We understand that the recruiting methods may have biased the type of parents who responded [39]. It is commonly known that participants of higher socioeconomic status and higher education levels may have more knowledge and opportunities.

Further, we acknowledge that gauging interest in a program that offers appealing health and activity benefits is likely to yield high interest rates, as seen in this study. However, given

that interest rates are also likely influenced by perceptions of exercise, which can often be negative [45], the authors feel the interest rates presented are not biased. Additionally, since all data were collected via a questionnaire, no comparisons to actual physical activity levels and motor skill abilities could be made. Caution must be taken in generalizing the results of this study, given that the sample was limited to Michigan residents and not fully representative of national demographics of parents of children aged 6-12 years. It is recommended that future research be conducted on a broader scale to expand the understanding of feasibility and interest in SMPA programs for families in populations this study did not adequately represent. A larger-scale study is critical important, given that the perceptions of and the ability to participate in physical activity can vary depending upon social determinants of health, as well as race and ethnicity [46,47]. Nevertheless, these findings will meaningfully assist in the development of a SMPA program.

Conclusion

Social media has become a popular medium for communication and information dissemination over the past 15 years [21]. The current COVID-19 pandemic has particularly emphasized the importance of technology, including social media, to facilitate social connections and engagement in different health behaviors. The benefits of social media may be a powerful tool to support a physical activity program for families [19]. This study found a need for the development of a social media program to support families' physical activity. This study also found that an effective SMPA program should emphasize motor skill activities, be family oriented, and incorporate incentives, goal setting, and advice and tips. A SMPA program must be developed with identified barriers, such as the environment (eg, weather, space, and accessibility), time (eg, duration and ease of use), and type of program (eg, fun and engaging), in mind. Future research and program development should continue to centralize best practices and rigor while tailoring programs to the needs of those receiving them [9].

Acknowledgments

This study was conducted at the University of Michigan in the Child, Movement, and Developmental Health Laboratory, with support from a team at D'Youville College: Dr Brian Wrotniak, PhD; Jennifer Switzer; and Dennis Hernandez.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Caspersen CJ, Powell KE, Christenson GM. Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. Public Health Rep 1985;100(2):126-131 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>3920711</u>]
- Troiano R, Berrigan D, Dodd K, Mâsse LC, Tilert T, McDowell M. Physical activity in the United States measured by accelerometer. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2008 Jan;40(1):181-188 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e31815a51b3] [Medline: 18091006]
- 3. Tucker J, Welk G, Beyler N. Physical activity in U.S.: adults compliance with the Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans. Am J Prev Med 2011 Apr;40(4):454-461 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2010.12.016] [Medline: 21406280]
- 4. Puccinelli P, da Costa TS, Seffrin A, de Lira CAB, Vancini RL, Nikolaidis PT, et al. Reduced level of physical activity during COVID-19 pandemic is associated with depression and anxiety levels: an internet-based survey. BMC Public Health 2021 Mar 01;21(1):425 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10470-z] [Medline: 33648487]
- Dunton G, Do B, Wang S. Early effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on physical activity and sedentary behavior in children living in the U.S. BMC Public Health 2020 Sep 04;20(1):1351-1313 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09429-3] [Medline: 32887592]
- 6. US Department of Health and Human Services. Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans. 2nd ed. Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2018.
- Chen P, Mao L, Nassis G, Harmer P, Ainsworth B, Li F. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19): the need to maintain regular physical activity while taking precautions. J Sport Health Sci 2020 Mar;9(2):103-104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jshs.2020.02.001] [Medline: 32099716]
- Hanson C, Crandall A, Barnes M, Magnusson B, Novilla M, King J. Family-focused public health: supporting homes and families in policy and practice. Front Public Health 2019;7:59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2019.00059] [Medline: 30949468]
- 9. Hutchens A, Lee. Parenting practices and children's physical activity: an integrative review. J Sch Nurs 2018 Feb;34(1):68-85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1059840517714852] [Medline: 28631518]
- Rhodes R, Blanchard C, Quinlan A, Naylor P, Warburton D. Family physical activity planning and child physical activity outcomes: a randomized trial. Am J Prev Med 2019 Aug;57(2):135-144 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2019.03.007] [Medline: 31248744]

- Chen J, Weiss S, Heyman M, Cooper B, Lustig RH. The efficacy of the web-based childhood obesity prevention program in Chinese American adolescents (Web ABC study). J Adolesc Health 2011 Aug;49(2):148-154 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2010.11.243] [Medline: 21783046]
- 12. Brown H, Atkin A, Panter J, Wong G, Chinapaw M, van Sluijs EMF. Family-based interventions to increase physical activity in children: a systematic review, meta-analysis and realist synthesis. Obes Rev 2016 Apr;17(4):345-360 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/obr.12362] [Medline: 26756281]
- Pate R, Dowda M, Dishman R, Colabianchi N, Saunders R, McIver KL. Change in children's physical activity: predictors in the transition from elementary to middle school. Am J Prev Med 2019 Mar;56(3):e65-e73 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2018.10.012] [Medline: 30655084]
- 14. Pratt K, Cotto J, Goodway J. Engaging the family to promote child physical activity. ACSMs Health Fit J 2017;21(5):27-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1249/FIT.0000000000325]
- 15. Horodyska K, Luszczynska A, van den Berg M, Hendriksen M, Roos G, De Bourdeaudhuij I, et al. Good practice characteristics of diet and physical activity interventions and policies: an umbrella review. BMC Public Health 2015 Jan 21;15:19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-1354-9] [Medline: 25604454]
- 16. Althoff T, White RW, Horvitz E. Influence of Pokémon Go on physical activity: study and implications. J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 06;18(12):e315 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6759] [Medline: 27923778]
- 17. Kaplan A, Haenlein M. Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of social media. Bus Horiz 2010 Jan;53(1):59-68 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bushor.2009.09.003]
- Verma S, Yadav N. Past, present, and future of electronic word of mouth (EWOM). J Interact Mark 2021 Feb;53:111-128 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.intmar.2020.07.001]
- Moorhead S, Hazlett D, Harrison L, Carroll J, Irwin A, Hoving C. A new dimension of health care: systematic review of the uses, benefits, and limitations of social media for health communication. J Med Internet Res 2013 Apr 23;15(4):e85-e85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1933] [Medline: 23615206]
- Siani A, Marley SA. Impact of the recreational use of virtual reality on physical and mental wellbeing during the Covid-19 lockdown. Health Technol (Berl) 2021 Feb 14:1-11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12553-021-00528-8] [Medline: 33614391]
- 21. Demographics of Social Media Users and Adoption in the United States. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/</u><u>fact-sheet/social-media/</u> [accessed 2022-02-08]
- Robbins LB, Ling J, Clevenger K, Voskuil VR, Wasilevich E, Kerver JM, et al. A school- and home-based intervention to improve adolescents' physical activity and healthy eating: a pilot study. J Sch Nurs 2020 Apr;36(2):121-134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1059840518791290] [Medline: 30068245]
- 23. Wójcicki TR, Grigsby-Toussaint D, Hillman CH, Huhman M, McAuley E. Promoting physical activity in low-active adolescents via Facebook: a pilot randomized controlled trial to test feasibility. JMIR Res Protoc 2014 Oct 30;3(4):e56 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.3013] [Medline: 25357008]
- 24. Hammersley M, Jones R, Okely A. Parent-focused childhood and adolescent overweight and obesity eHealth interventions: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2016 Jul 21;18(7):e203 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5893] [Medline: 27443862]
- 25. Gallahue D, Ozmun JC, Goodway J. Understanding Motor Development: Infants, Children Adolescents, Adults. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill; Jan 01, 2012.
- Robinson L, Stodden D, Barnett L, Lopes VP, Logan SW, Rodrigues LP, et al. Motor competence and its effect on positive developmental trajectories of health. Sports Med 2015 Sep;45(9):1273-1284 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40279-015-0351-6] [Medline: 26201678]
- 27. Thompson J, Jago R, Brockman R, Cartwright K, Page A, Fox K. Physically active families: de-bunking the myth? A qualitative study of family participation in physical activity. Child Care Health Dev 2010 Mar;36(2):265-274 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2214.2009.01051.x] [Medline: 20047594]
- Haddad J, Ullah S, Bell L, Leslie E, Magarey A. The influence of home and school environments on children's diet and physical activity, and body mass index: a structural equation modelling approach. Matern Child Health J 2018 Mar;22(3):364-375 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10995-017-2386-9] [Medline: 29094228]
- 29. Sawyer A, Smith L, Schrempft S, van Jaarsveld CHM, Wardle J, Fisher A. Primary caregiver knowledge of paediatric physical activity recommendations in the United Kingdom and its association with caregiver behaviour: an observational study. BMC Public Health 2014 Aug 04;14:795 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-795] [Medline: 25092511]
- 30. Jarvis S, Williams M, Rainer P, Saunders J, Mullen R. The relationship of family characteristics, parental beliefs and parenting behaviours with the fundamental movement proficiency of primary school children in South East Wales. Eur Phys Educ Rev 2020 Apr 02;26(4):970-986 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1356336x20915225]
- 31. Corder K, Crespo N, van Sluijs EMF, Lopez N, Elder J. Parent awareness of young children's physical activity. Prev Med 2012 Sep;55(3):201-205 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2012.06.021] [Medline: 22766008]
- 32. Corder K, van Sluijs EM, McMinn AM, Ekelund U, Cassidy A, Griffin SJ. Perception versus reality: awareness of physical activity levels of British children. Am J Prev Med 2010;38(1):1-8 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4016/14790.01]

- Greca J, Arruda G, Coledam D, Pires Junior R, Teixeira M, Oliveira A. Student and parental perception about physical activity in children and adolescents. Rev Andal Med Deporte 2016 Mar;9(1):12-16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ramd.2015.05.005]
- 34. Silva S, Flôres FS, Corrêa SL, Cordovil R, Copetti F. Mother's perception of children's motor development in Southern Brazil. Percept Mot Skills 2017 Feb;124(1):72-85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0031512516676203] [Medline: 27807180]
- 35. Zysset A, Kakebeeke T, Messerli-Bürgy N, Meyer AH, Stülb K, Leeger-Aschmann CS, et al. The validity of parental reports on motor skills performance level in preschool children: a comparison with a standardized motor test. Eur J Pediatr 2018 May;177(5):715-722 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00431-017-3078-6] [Medline: 29427041]
- 36. Charmaz K. Constructing Grounded Theory: 2nd Edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage; 2014.
- Wuensch KL, Evans JD. Straightforward statistics for the behavioral sciences. J Am Stat Assoc 1996 Dec;91(436):1750. [doi: <u>10.2307/2291607</u>]
- Brian A, Pennell A, Taunton S, Starrett A, Howard-Shaughnessy C, Goodway JD, et al. Motor competence levels and developmental delay in early childhood: a multicenter cross-sectional study conducted in the USA. Sports Med 2019 Oct 12;49(10):1609-1618. [doi: 10.1007/s40279-019-01150-5] [Medline: 31301035]
- Giles-Corti B, Donovan R. The relative influence of individual, social and physical environment determinants of physical activity. Soc Sci Med 2002 Jun;54(12):1793-1812 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/s0277-9536(01)00150-2]
- 40. Finkelstein E, Tan Y, Malhotra R, Lee C, Goh S, Saw S. A cluster randomized controlled trial of an incentive-based outdoor physical activity program. J Pediatr 2013 Jul;163(1):167-72.e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.01.009] [Medline: 23415616]
- 41. Rhodes R, Naylor P, McKay H. Pilot study of a family physical activity planning intervention among parents and their children. J Behav Med 2010 Apr;33(2):91-100 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10865-009-9237-0] [Medline: 19937106]
- 42. US Census Bureau. QuickFacts: Michigan. URL: https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/MI [accessed 2022-02-08]
- 43. US Census Bureau. QuickFacts: United States. URL: <u>https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/US/PST045219</u> [accessed 2022-02-08]
- 44. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey: NHANES 2017-2018 Demographics Data. URL: <u>https://wwwn.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes/Search/DataPage.</u> <u>aspx?Component=Demographics&CycleBeginYear=2017</u> [accessed 2022-02-08]
- 45. Nelson T, Benson E, Jensen C. Negative attitudes toward physical activity: measurement and role in predicting physical activity levels among preadolescents. J Pediatr Psychol 2010;35(1):89-98 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsp040] [Medline: 19447878]
- 46. Barr-Anderson D, Flynn J, Dowda M, Taverno Ross SE, Schenkelberg M, Reid L, et al. The modifying effects of race/ethnicity and socioeconomic status on the change in physical activity from elementary to middle school. J Adolesc Health 2017 Nov;61(5):562-570 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.05.007] [Medline: 28732715]
- Ball K, Carver A, Downing K, Jackson M, O'Rourke K. Addressing the social determinants of inequities in physical activity and sedentary behaviours. Health Promot Int 2015 Sep 07;30 Suppl 2(suppl 2):ii18-ii19 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/heapro/dav022] [Medline: 25855784]

Abbreviations

MVPA: moderate-to-vigorous physical activity SMPA: social media physical activity VPA: vigorous physical activity

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 24.11.20; peer-reviewed by R Halkes, AM Auvinen, A Roundtree; comments to author 15.03.21; revised version received 04.05.21; accepted 16.12.21; published 14.02.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Scott-Andrews KQ, Lane A, Rock S, Robinson LE Considerations for a Social Media Physical Activity Program: Exploratory Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e26008 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e26008</u> doi:10.2196/26008 PMID:<u>35156926</u>

©Katherine Q Scott-Andrews, Annalise Lane, Sarah Rock, Leah E Robinson. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 14.02.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and

reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Community Mental Health Clinicians' Perspectives on Telehealth During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Mixed Methods Study

Simone H Schriger¹, MA; Melanie R Klein², PhD; Briana S Last¹, MA; Sara Fernandez-Marcote³, LPC; Natalie Dallard³, MA; Bryanna Jones³, BA; Rinad S Beidas^{2,4,5,6,7,8}, PhD

¹Department of Psychology, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

²Department of Psychiatry, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

³Community Behavioral Health, Philadelphia, PA, United States

⁴Department of Medical Ethics and Health Policy, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

⁵Department of Medicine, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

⁶Penn Implementation Science Center at the Leonard Davis Institute of Health Economics, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States ⁷Penn Medicine Nudge Unit, University of Pennsylvania Health System, Philadelphia, PA, United States

⁸Center for Health Incentives and Behavioral Economics, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Simone H Schriger, MA Department of Psychology University of Pennsylvania 425 S University Ave Stephen A Levin Building Philadelphia, PA, 19104-6241 United States Phone: 1 215 898 7300 Email: schriger@sas.upenn.edu

Abstract

Background: In March 2020, a rapid shift to telehealth occurred in community mental health settings in response to the need for physical distancing to decrease transmission of the virus causing COVID-19. Whereas treatment delivered over telehealth was previously utilized sparingly in community settings, it quickly became the primary mode of treatment delivery for the vast majority of clinicians, many of whom had little time to prepare for this shift and limited to no experience using telehealth. Little is known about community mental health clinicians' experiences using telehealth. Although telehealth may make mental health treatment more accessible for some clients, it may create additional barriers for others given the high rates of poverty among individuals seeking treatment from community mental health centers.

Objective: We examined community mental health clinicians' perspectives on using telehealth to deliver trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy to youth. We sought to better understand the acceptability of using telehealth, as well as barriers and facilitators to usage.

Methods: We surveyed 45 clinicians across 15 community clinics in Philadelphia. Clinicians rated their satisfaction with telehealth using a quantitative scale and shared their perspectives on telehealth in response to open-ended questions. Therapists' responses were coded using an open-coding approach wherein coders generated domains, themes, and subthemes.

Results: Clinicians rated telehealth relatively positively on the quantitative survey, expressing overall satisfaction with their current use of telehealth during the pandemic, and endorsing telehealth as a helpful mode of connecting with clients. Responses to open-ended questions fell into five domains. Clinicians noted that (1) telehealth affects the content (ie, what is discussed) and process (ie, how it is discussed) of therapy; (2) telehealth alters engagement, retention, and attendance; (3) technology is a crucial component of utilizing telehealth; (4) training, resources, and support are needed to facilitate telehealth usage; and (5) the barriers, facilitators, and level of acceptability of telehealth differ across individual clinicians and clients.

Conclusions: First, telehealth is likely a better fit for some clients and clinicians than others, and attention should be given to better understanding who is most likely to succeed using this modality. Second, although telehealth increased convenience and accessibility of treatment, clinicians noted that across the board, it was difficult to engage clients (eg, young clients were easily distracted), and further work is needed to identify better telehealth engagement strategies. Third, for many clients, the telehealth

modality may actually create an additional barrier to care, as children from families living in poverty may not have the requisite devices or quality broadband connection to make telehealth workable. Better strategies to address disparities in access to and quality of digital technologies are needed to render telehealth an equitable option for all youth seeking mental health services.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e29250) doi:10.2196/29250

KEYWORDS

telehealth; COVID-19; evidence-based practice; community mental health; trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy; implementation science; youth mental health

Introduction

The public health response to the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in a rapid transformation in mental health care delivery of psychosocial treatments. Within a matter of days in the spring of 2020, clinicians went from primarily treating clients in their offices to almost exclusively treating clients via telehealth (ie, telecommunications platforms through which mental health treatments can be delivered; also referred to as telemental therapy, virtual therapy, and teletherapy). Although real-time (ie, not prerecorded) clinician delivery of evidence-based practices (EBPs) using telehealth are effective for several mental health conditions for adults (eg, anxiety disorders, depression, obsessive-compulsive disorder [OCD], panic disorder, posttraumatic stress disorder [PTSD], psychotic disorders) and children (eg, depression, OCD, PTSD, tic disorders), this treatment modality was not widely adopted by US health systems prior to the pandemic [1-15].

In light of this rapid transformation, the American Psychological Association (APA) conducted surveys of its members to understand telehealth use prior to and after the pandemic, which captured this surge in use. Prior to 2020, only 1% of clinicians saw clients exclusively over telehealth and only 20% used telehealth with any of their clients [16,17]. Within 3 months of the start of the pandemic, 92% of clinicians were seeing clients over telehealth, and within 6 months, this proportion had risen to 96%. Even the Veteran's Health Administration system, which had a robust telehealth system prior to the pandemic, increased their telemedicine use by 12-fold [18], with over 1 million mental health telephone and video encounters with veterans occurring in a single month of the pandemic [19]. The unprecedented shift toward telehealth has been made possible in large part due to the temporary lifting of regulatory barriers such as billing, insurance coverage, insurance reimbursement, and licensure regulations that limit treatment of clients across state lines [20]. For example, in the United States, emergency mandates and policies allow for temporary reimbursement of remote mental health services and for practice across state lines (eg, a clinician licensed in Pennsylvania can see a client located in New Jersey). The uptake in the use of telehealth has been accompanied by expansions in telehealth infrastructure and advances in telehealth technology, which are ongoing [21]. Some have suggested that even when the pandemic is over and the state of emergency has passed, a full return to in-person services is unlikely [22].

Telehealth is often described as a tool to reduce barriers to care for clients who may otherwise have difficulty attending appointments. For some clients, however, telehealth and

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e29250

technology-based services may actually exacerbate existing socioeconomic disparities, particularly within low-income populations such as those seeking treatment in community mental health (CMH) settings [23]. Digital disparities, including differential access to technological devices and quality internet, and disparities in technological literacy, may exacerbate inequities in access to mental health treatment. Although 75% of US adults have access to broadband internet in their homes, the 25% who lack access have disproportionately lower income and education, and are more likely to be racial minorities, older, rural residents, widowed, and living with disabilities [24]. Given the sociodemographic characteristics of clients who seek care in CMH settings, inequitable care is an urgent concern, particularly because reliable access to the internet has been characterized as a "super-determinant" of health [25]. A recent study found that within a sample of Medicare beneficiaries, around 40% lacked access to either a computer with high-speed internet or a smartphone with a data plan and 26% lacked access to both, and these patterns of inequity exist for children as well [26,27]. This level of access may be even lower among Medicaid beneficiaries.

These access issues are particularly important to address in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, in response to which there is a rising need for mental health care. The rise in telehealth use during the pandemic is likely due not only to safety issues associated with in-person care (due to needs for physical distancing to decrease transmission of the virus) but also to the increased incidence of mental disorders such as anxiety and depression [28]. In addition to the increase in common mental disorders, the changes brought about by the pandemic (such as stay-at-home orders) have also been associated with an increase in traumatic incidents, many of which involve or are witnessed by youth [29]. Thus, there is a need for delivery of trauma-informed EBPs to youth, particularly in CMH settings, where baseline rates of trauma in youth seeking treatment are high. One EBP that has been widely rolled out in the United States, trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy (TF-CBT), is particularly relevant. TF-CBT is an evidence-based, short-term intervention for youth exposed to trauma that typically involves weekly 60-minute sessions delivered over the course of 12-25 sessions and involves participation of caregivers [30]. TF-CBT involves collaboration among the clinician, client, and caregiver to provide the client with psychoeducation and skills in a supportive environment through which the client can process traumatic memories. TF-CBT, the core components of which are often referred to with the acronym "PRACTICE," includes psychoeducation and parenting skills, relaxation techniques, and support in affective expression, among other skills. Central to the intervention is the use of exposure to upsetting memories

(via the trauma narrative) and exposure to trauma reminders (via in vivo exposure) to support clients in becoming less fearful. Studies suggest that TF-CBT can be effectively delivered via telehealth with children at school and at home [14]. However, certain adaptations to TF-CBT are needed, particularly to components that fall within the "adaptable periphery" of the intervention (ie, elements of an intervention or how it is delivered that can be altered while maintaining treatment fidelity) rather than the "core components" (ie, the crucial and unexchangeable elements of the intervention that underlie its effectiveness) [31-33]. Particular consideration must be given to the trauma narrative, a core exposure-based treatment element wherein the client creates and shares a narrative of the traumatic event that occurred. Although the trauma narrative can take multiple forms, clients typically choose to create a written narrative. In the context of telehealth, clients may dictate the trauma narrative while the clinician types it and shares their screen. Clinicians have documented their adaptations to exposure-based treatments using telehealth [34].

Even when adaptations are made to facilitate delivery of TF-CBT via telehealth, additional challenges remain [35,36]. For example, clients may have attention difficulties that impair their ability to engage in therapy, or may struggle to secure a safe and private place to engage in therapy at home or school. These challenges may impair their ability to speak freely and may necessitate shorter sessions. Additionally, children and the adults supervising them may not have the skills to easily navigate digital platforms. The virtual format also presents particular challenges to the delivery of the trauma narrative. For example, clinicians may find it challenging to read clients' body language and affect or to identify their dissociation over the screen, making it difficult to assess clients' level of distress and to modulate exposure potency accordingly. Clinicians may also find it challenging to help clients regulate their affect via the telehealth format.

Although previous studies have illuminated some of the challenges associated with delivery of TF-CBT via telehealth, these studies were carried out in an academic medical setting and within a context that provided clients with access to technological devices and internet connectivity. Studies on clinician satisfaction with and ratings of telehealth acceptability have largely been conducted in private systems, which may differ substantially from community clinics given the higher resources, lower caseloads, and less complex clients compared with those of public systems [37]. Thus, little is known about CMH clinicians' perspectives on delivering EBPs through a virtual platform within the context of usual care.

In this study, we focused on clinician perspectives on telehealth delivery of TF-CBT with a CMH population within the first 6 months of the COVID-19 pandemic. Given the widespread implementation of TF-CBT nationally and the similarity in implementation barriers faced across EBPs and across CMH settings, we view this study as a potential exemplar for understanding how clinicians delivering EBPs in CMH settings more broadly experienced this shift to telehealth [38-40]. We also view this survey as an opportunity to identify and highlight considerations for future directions in improving and sustaining telehealth delivery within the CMH context.

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e29250
```

Methods

Study Setting

This study was conducted in the Community Behavioral Health (CBH) network of public behavioral health clinics in Philadelphia. CBH is a not-for-profit contracting organization that serves as the exclusive payer for Medicaid-funded services in Philadelphia, and has supported the implementation of EBPs in CMH organizations since 2007. As a response to high rates of youth trauma exposure, the Philadelphia Department of Behavioral Health and Intellectual Disability Services (DBHIDS) developed a comprehensive trauma-informed public behavioral health system in 2011, and in 2012, DBHIDS was awarded a National Child Traumatic Stress Initiative Community Treatment and Service Center grant to form the Philadelphia Alliance for Child Trauma Services (PACTS). This initiative is centered around increasing the number of children in Philadelphia receiving evidence-based trauma treatment such as TF-CBT [41]. To date, PACTS has trained 11 cohorts of clinicians in TF-CBT across both outpatient and residential CMH agencies.

Study Procedures

Study procedures were approved by the City of Philadelphia Department of Public Health and the University of Pennsylvania Institutional Review Boards. As part of a survey to broadly assess TF-CBT clinicians' experiences during the first 6 months of the COVID-19 pandemic, all clinicians who had been trained through the PACTS initiative (N=198) and were currently treating at least one youth (aged 3-21 years) using TF-CBT within the CBH clinic network were invited by email to participate, and if they chose to participate were asked a number of questions about their perspectives on telehealth [42]. Recruitment was carried out using a modified tailored design, which involved incorporating stakeholders into survey recruitment and providing a strong rationale for the utility of the survey data for clinicians and clients [43]. Clinicians received an email 1 week before the survey was distributed and were sent reminder emails 1 and 3 weeks after distribution. The survey was hosted on Qualtrics, a secure online service platform, and included an electronic informed consent form that stated that the survey would take approximately 30-40 minutes to complete. The survey was tested for usability on both computer and cellular platforms prior to distributing it to clinicians. Items appeared in the same order for each participant and all participants received the same questions. Survey items were distributed across multiple screens to decrease the number of questions per page and increase usability. At any time prior to submitting their responses, respondents could return to any previous screen and adjust their responses. To maintain anonymity, neither cookies nor IP addresses were used to identify duplicate responders, although upon revision of the completed surveys, there was no indication of duplicate survey entries by a single user. Clinicians completed the survey in July and August of 2020 and received a US \$25 gift card for participating.

XSL•FO RenderX

Measures

Perspectives on Telehealth

Clinicians' ratings of telehealth were measured using a survey instrument developed by Becevic et al [44] measuring clinician satisfaction with telehealth, and through several short-answer open-ended questions added by the authors. The Provider Survey was developed based on a literature review and the analysis of the role of the provider in telehealth delivery, which included 12 items: the first item asked clinicians whether or not they use telehealth, and the following 11 items asked about the extent to which they agreed with statements about telehealth on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly agree) to 5 (strongly disagree). In responding to the survey questions, clinicians were instructed to consider any telehealth sessions they were conducting with clients via phone or video conference. In our sample, internal consistency of the scale was high (α =.89). Following the 12 items, we included 4 open-ended questions that assessed clinicians' perspectives on how telehealth compares to in-person therapy ("What differences have you noticed in how you deliver treatment via telehealth compared to in-person?"), barriers to delivering treatment via telehealth ("Please report your top two barriers to delivering treatment via telehealth [ie, things that make it hard to deliver treatment via telehealth]"), facilitators to delivering treatment via telehealth ("Please report your top two facilitators to delivering treatment via telehealth [ie, things that make delivering telehealth easier]"), and how they could be supported in utilizing telehealth ("How can the PACTS team support you in delivering treatment via telehealth?"). Response rates to the 4 open-ended questions were high (range 36-45 respondents per question; total of 164 responses across questions).

Demographics

Clinicians completed a brief demographic questionnaire that included questions about age, gender, race, licensure status, years at current organization, and number of clients. This questionnaire also asked clinicians whether they were a salaried full-time worker or an independent contractor (ie, clinicians who contract with an organization but are paid per session rather than salaried).

Analysis Plan

Quantitative Data

Demographic data were analyzed using descriptive statistics. Survey items were analyzed individually as well as by using a mean score of the 11 items. We also carried out exploratory posthoc correlation analyses to examine relationships among the mean score and the clinicians' age, employment status, and number of clients.

Qualitative Data

Open-ended responses were analyzed using thematic analysis based on best practices and guiding principles in qualitative coding, and involved categorization of responses and coding of response frequency [45-47]. Content from open-ended responses was imported into Microsoft Excel (version 16.55), with one response per cell, and was first mapped onto different categories of repeating ideas that were derived from the data that were then formed into subthemes. Each response was coded using an open coding procedure; there were no predetermined categories and more than one code could be applied if warranted. Through an iterative process, each of the subthemes were then grouped into larger themes, and themes were grouped into domains. Frequencies were calculated for each domain. Following recommended qualitative research practices, a second coder coded 20% of the data and percent agreement was calculated using the total number of agreements divided by the total number of possible agreements [48]. Percent agreement was very high (96%) and the two coders reviewed and discussed discrepant codes until consensus was reached.

Reporting

We use the Checklist for Reporting Results of Internet E-Surveys (CHERRIES) to guide our reporting of survey characteristics and results [49].

Results

Sample Characteristics

We received responses from 67 of the 198 clinicians contacted (response rate 34%); the 18 surveys with less than 50% of the items complete were not included, leaving 49 respondents (completion rate 25%). Although we reviewed timestamps of survey responses, responses were not eliminated due to long timestamps as clinicians were not instructed to complete the survey in a single sitting. Four of the remaining 49 respondents had never used telehealth, leaving a total of 45 clinicians (including staff with multiple clinical, supervisory, and administrative roles) in the study. These respondents were predominantly female (82%), master's-level (93%) clinicians in their mid-30s (mean age 36 years); see Table 1 for detailed clinician demographics. They worked at 15 different agencies in Philadelphia (one agency had seven survey respondents, two had five respondents, two had four respondents, and the rest had three or less).



Table 1. Clinician demographics.

Schriger et al

Characteristic	Respondents, n	Value
Age (years), mean (SD), range	42	36 (10), 25-64
Gender, n (%) ^a	44	
Female		37 (82)
Male		6 (13)
Chose not to disclose		1 (2)
Race, n (%)	44	
White		35 (78)
Black		4 (9)
Asian		2 (4)
Mixed race or other race		2 (4)
Chose not to disclose		1 (2)
Ethnicity, n (%)	44	
Not Latinx		38 (84)
Latinx		3 (7)
Chose not to disclose		3 (7)
Position type, n (%)	44	
Master's-level clinician		25 (56)
Social worker		8 (18)
Other position		8 (18)
Marriage and family clinician		2 (4)
Psychologist		1 (2)
In a role with a supervisory or administrative component	45	18 (40)
Employment status, n (%)	45	
Salaried full-time		28 (62)
Independent contractor/fee-for-service		16 (36)
Other		1 (2)
Highest degree completed, n (%)	44	
Master's degree		42 (93)
Doctoral degree		2 (4)
Licensure status, n (%)		
Licensed		23 (51)
Not licensed		12 (27)
In process		9 (20)
Clients seen per week, mean (SD), range	45	14 (8), 1-30
Hours worked per week across all jobs, mean (SD), range	45	39 (11), 5-60
Years of experience in full-time human services work, mean (SD), range	44	10 (8), 2-30
Years of experience in role of clinician, mean (SD), range	44	9 (8), 1-30
Years worked at present agency, mean (SD), range	44	5 (4), 1-16

^aPercentages were calculated using a denominator of the 45 clinicians who responded.

XSL•FO RenderX

Quantitative Results

All 45 clinicians completed each of the telehealth survey items; there were no missing data (see Table 2). Across items, clinicians tended to agree with the statements presented in the survey, with mean responses falling between "neutral" and "agree" on 7 (64%) items. Clinicians agreed more strongly with two statements in particular: "Telehealth helps me to converse with my clients" (mean 2.0, SD 0.7) and "For the moment, I am satisfied with the work I've done through telehealth" (mean 2.0, SD 0.6). Clinicians also responded with more neutrality to

one item ("The images and sounds of telehealth gear are clear and crisp"; mean 3.0, SD 1.0) and more disagreement to one item ("I prefer telehealth visits over visits that are in person"; mean 3.8, SD 1.0). Posthoc exploratory correlational analyses did not suggest a relationship between clinician telehealth ratings and their age or number of clients. However, clinician employment type appeared to be associated with the mean telehealth score, with independent contractors rating telehealth more positively compared to full-time salaried employees (B=-0.32, 95% CI -0.47 to -0.02; P=.03).

Table 2. Clinicians' ratings of telehealth $(N=45)^{a}$.

Survey item	Mean (SD)	Mode (range)
It is easy to run and use the telehealth system	2.4 (0.9)	2 (1-4)
I am confident and feel at ease when I use the telehealth system	2.5 (1.0)	2 (1-5)
Telehealth gives me the chance to build and keep a personal bond with each of my clients	2.3 (0.9)	2 (1-5)
Telehealth fits well with each day's workflow	2.3 (0.8)	2 (1-4)
The images and sounds of telehealth gear are clear and crisp	3.0 (1.0)	3 (1-5)
I get more done in my day when I see clients through telehealth	2.8 (1.1)	3 and 4 (1-5)
Telehealth helps me to converse with my clients	2.0 (0.7)	2 (1-4)
Telehealth allows me to see more clients	2.4 (1.1)	1 and 3 (1-4)
I am able to treat my clients' needs well through telehealth	2.4 (0.8)	2 (1-4)
I prefer telehealth visits over visits that are in person	3.8 (1.0)	4 (1-5)
For the moment, I am satisfied with the work I've done through telehealth	2.0 (0.6)	2 (1-4)
Mean score	2.5 (0.6)	2.5 (1.1-3.8)

^a1=strongly agree, 2=agree, 3=neutral, 4=disagree, and 5=strongly disagree.

Qualitative Results

We developed five domains based on the data, each comprised of multiple themes and, within those themes, subthemes (see Table 3 for domains, themes, and subthemes; see Multimedia Appendix 1 for additional examples). The domain most frequently mentioned by clinicians (n=68 responses) was changes to therapy process and content, which involved clinicians' observations about the ways in which telehealth has changed the process of carrying out therapy (ie, therapy process) as well as the nature of the therapy content itself (ie, therapy content). This domain included observations about the pros and cons to the virtual therapy process. Some clinicians noted that teletherapy offers an opportunity for more creativity and collaboration than in-person therapy, such as in jointly coming up with realistic plans for coping based on the clients' home environment. However, they also noted risks associated with the shift to telehealth, including no longer sharing physical space with clients and a lack of nonverbal communication. Some clinicians also noted ways in which delivering treatment over telehealth appears to be slowing the pace of therapy. Clinicians also noted the need for adaptation of and modification to the therapeutic intervention being used. They also noted additional challenges, including difficulty with implementing core TF-CBT practice elements over telehealth (eg, trauma narrative), limitations in the use of physical tools and supplies that they typically rely upon (eg, games and physical books), changes to

RenderX

the content of their sessions and the aspects most emphasized (eg, less emphasis on mindfulness), and changes to the format of therapy (eg, shorter sessions).

Clinicians' responses also frequently fell into the domain of engagement, retention, and attendance (n=59 responses). Many clinicians noted changes in attendance and retention associated with the shift to telehealth, with most identifying an increase in attendance and retention, and greater ease of scheduling (although a few cited a decrease in attendance and retention with certain clients). Clinicians also noted differential engagement challenges across clients. Although across the board there were widespread challenges with engagement, some clients were particularly hard to engage (especially young children), whereas in select cases, clients were more engaged (eg, some teenagers, some children with higher anxiety). Additionally, respondents observed an increase in caregiver engagement, including more consistent involvement of caregivers in therapy and specific ways in which caregivers impacted client engagement.

We developed a third domain around technology (n=57 responses). Clinicians noted the indispensability of access to technological devices, the frequent problem of internet access, and the presence of digital disparities. Clinicians noted that it is essential that clients and clinicians have the devices needed to access telehealth, such as a computer with a webcam, and the platforms needed to carry out telehealth visits. Clinicians

also noted the frequency of internet connectivity issues and the ways in which these issues have an adverse effect on therapy. They also highlighted digital disparities that negatively impact low-income clients; in the context of telehealth, lack of access to crucial resources may mean inability to access mental health services altogether.

The importance of training, resources, and support was identified as a fourth domain (n=52 responses). Many clinicians highlighted the need for more guidance pertaining to telehealth, including didactic trainings and supervision and consultation. Clinicians also noted the need for resources and funding specific to telehealth, including provision of telehealth-compatible physical supplies, telehealth-specific funding and incentives, and provision of technological devices and internet access, particularly to low-income clients. Many also highlighted the value of shared telehealth information and tools through their organization or via email, including recommendations for creative online resources, distribution of telehealth tips between clinicians, and online materials shared with clients. Finally, clinicians' responses highlighted a fifth domain pertaining to barriers and facilitators to telehealth (n=43 responses). Clinicians noted that the individual characteristics of clinicians, clients, and caregivers can serve to facilitate or hinder successful therapy. For example, clinicians who are creative and flexible may have an easier time implementing treatment over telehealth, as will those with greater motivation and greater bandwidth. Additionally, caregiver support of clients is impactful in facilitating success. Many responses also highlighted drawbacks and limitations of telehealth; even in the best of circumstances, telehealth increases certain burdens on clinicians and poses logistical limitations, leaving some clinicians feeling exhausted. Finally, telehealth is more acceptable to some clients and clinicians than to others. Many clients find telehealth to be convenient, although some may find it more challenging and uncomfortable. Additionally, clinicians suggested that the acceptability of telehealth is not a constant and may increase as time passes.



Schriger et al

Domains, themes, and subthemes	Fyamples
Changes to therapy process and content	
Altered therapy process has most and cons	
Loss of shared physical space	Lack of in-person contact feels different
Hindered nonverbal communication	Can't read body language or body cues
Opportunity for creativity, collaboration, and coopportive planning	Easier identification of realistic plans for coning
Potential effect on page of therapy	Progress moving slower
Need for adaptation and modification of content for talehealth	riogress moving slower
Difficulty implementing core practice elements	Challenging to get child input in trauma parrative
Inability to use preferred tools and supplies	The therapy tools feasible over telebealth are less engaging
Changes in the any content and technique	Using more visuals, discussion questions, and planned activities
Changes in therapy process format and structure	Clients want check ins and not full sessions
Engagement retention and attendance	chefts want check-ins and not full sessions
Changes in attendance and retention	
General increase in attendance and retention	Decreased no-shows
Greater scheduling flexibility	Easier to reschedule if needed
Occasional negative impact on attendance and retention	Some clients are forgetful and need more reminders
Differential engagement challenges across clients	
Widespread challenges with engagement across many clients	Difficulty paying attention
Some groups particularly hard to engage	Particular difficulty engaging young clients
Small subset have increased engagement	Some clients able to open up more over telehealth compared to in person
Caregiver engagement and involvement has generally increased	
More direct and consistent contact with caregivers	Easier for caregivers to be involved
Caregivers can aid in client engagement	Caregivers can increase buy-
Technology	
Access to and facility with technological devices and platforms is crucia	al
Need for appropriate devices and accessories	Both clients and clinicians require devices with video capabilities
Need for access to specific programs and capabilities	Access to HIPAA ^b -compliant video platforms (preferably with paid subscription) is essential
Internet access is a problem	
Many clients have connectivity issues	Access to stable internet not always available
Connectivity issues have adverse effect on therapy	Poor network connections (frequent glitches, bad lags) and internet interruptions (calls dropping in middle of session) are disruptive to therapy
Digital disparities are undeniable	
Technological issues disproportionately affect low-income clients	Access to technology limited among low-income clients
Those without access to telehealth may be unable to receive care	Without stable internet or phone connection, telehealth becomes inaccessible
Training, resources, and support	
Clinicians want more training and support in telehealth	
Clinicians want didactic trainings	Desire for webinars
Need for supervision and consultation	Support from colleagues and employer makes a difference
Provision of resources, funding, and incentives is needed	

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e29250

XSL-FO RenderX JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022 | vol. 5 | iss. 1 |e29250 | p.131 (page number not for citation purposes)

Domains, themes, and subthemes	Examples
Physical supplies can still be used	Physical items can be sent to clients
Need for funding and incentives	Clinicians and clients can benefit from funds allocated toward supplies
Technological devices and internet access is a must	Clients need access to appropriate devices for telehealth
Desire for continued sharing of information, suggestions, and tools for	telehealth
Use online resources creatively	Make use of websites, apps, worksheets, books
Distribute telehealth tips between clinicians	Tips for how to support (young) children and parents using telehealth
Share materials with clients	Provide clients with interactive materials and worksheets
Differential barriers, facilitators, and acceptability across clinicians and cli	ents
Individual characteristics of clinicians, clients, and caregivers can facil	itate or hinder successful therapy
Creativity and flexibility are key	Clinician and client creativity are key to successful telehealth use
Motivation matters for clinicians, caregivers, and clients	High motivation and drive from client and family facilitates success
Logistics and bandwidth make a difference	Clinicians who have time to prepare in advance may find telehealth easier
Caregiver support and involvement in therapy is a huge facilitator	Caregivers can create a safe space for therapy
Telehealth has drawbacks and limitations	
Telehealth increases burden on clinicians	Increased preparation and planning required
Limitations exists even when done well	Many tangible tools and games cannot be used
Differential acceptability of telehealth across clients and clinicians	
Increased convenience and comfort for some clients and clinicians	Many clients and families find telehealth to be more convenient
Telehealth can be challenging and uncomfortable	Telehealth feels limited to many clinicians
Acceptability may change over time	Getting easier over time and clinicians getting better and more con- fident

^aAdditional examples of each subtheme can be found in Multimedia Appendix 1.

^bHIPAA: Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act.

Discussion

Principal Findings

The perspectives shared by the clinicians in our sample highlight an array of insights that may reveal common challenges and benefits to EBP delivery via telehealth in CMH settings. They also point to the next steps for practice and directions for future research. Clinicians observed that telehealth has pros and cons, and may better fit some clients than others. They also made clear the distinction between access to telehealth and engagement in telehealth; while session attendance is important, it is only half the battle. In order for clients to benefit from therapy, they must also be engaged. Finally, although telehealth may be a more convenient option for families who can access it, there are many clients, particularly those from low-income families, for whom it is not available due to lack of internet access or lack of privacy, among other reasons. Given that TF-CBT is widely implemented on a national level and that the challenges to implementing TF-CBT in our sample may be similar to challenges that arise in implementing EBPs more broadly in other CMH settings, these findings may be useful in informing and facilitating implementation of EBPs across CMH settings nationally. Further, it is likely that the barriers faced by clinicians in our sample reflect those faced by clinicians in

RenderX

other CMH settings where resources are limited, and caseloads and administrative burdens are relatively high. Suggestions made by clinicians in our sample may be useful in supporting clinicians in other CMH settings in delivering EBPs over telehealth.

Telehealth May Be a Better Fit for Some Clients and Clinicians Than for Others

Our data suggest that clinicians do not view telehealth as a one-size-fits-all modality for treatment delivery. Clinicians broadly reported that telehealth can be a good option for many clients in that it is convenient, generally acceptable, and may even provide surprising benefits such as increased creativity and collaboration, increased parental involvement, and an ability for clinicians to gain a more intimate understanding of their clients' home environment (ie, more ecological validity), which can provide clinically important information that would not otherwise be available. These benefits are supported by other studies [50,51], and provide promising implications regarding the potential for the longstanding use of telehealth for clients who prefer this modality. Positive views about telehealth are also reflected in our quantitative data, which show relatively favorable ratings of telehealth, especially when considering the quick pivot and lack of preparation. It is unclear, however, whether these perspectives would be held outside of the context

of a pandemic or if clinicians are merely "finding a silver lining" in the midst of an otherwise difficult set of circumstances. Future research should investigate how acceptable and satisfactory telehealth-delivered EBPs are to clinicians and clients postpandemic. It may be that there is differential effectiveness of telehealth wherein individuals who find it more acceptable have better therapy outcomes than those who find it less acceptable. Future research should address this question.

Despite these positive elements of telehealth, clinicians noted additional challenges to both clients and clinicians. Some clinicians reported feeling more burdened and exhausted than when delivering therapy in person. Although clinicians tended to agree that telehealth is a good solution "for the moment," the survey item with the greatest disagreement was "I prefer telehealth visits over visits that are in person." It seems that clinicians may be accepting telehealth as a short-term solution without necessarily preferring it. This contrasts with findings within a sample of clinicians at a nonprofit hospital system serving predominantly privately insured clients, as roughly half indicated that they would like to continue using telehealth after the pandemic [37]. It may be that utilization of telehealth in a CMH clinic puts higher burdens on clinicians than in higher-resourced systems. More work is needed to identify how to best support CMH clinicians in delivering treatment via telehealth. It is also possible that there are individual differences across clinicians that determine the acceptability of telehealth, including differences in personality or differences in job characteristics. For example, in our sample, clinicians who were independent contractors rated telehealth more highly than did full-time salaried clinicians. We hypothesize that for independent contractors, the reduction in transportation time may make a greater difference than for salaried clinicians, particularly if they are accustomed to traveling between agencies. It may also be that the general flexibility and variability in independent contractor positions prepared these clinicians well to adapt to a novel situation. Future work harnessing their insights may be beneficial in identifying further ways to improve telehealth and to optimize the experience of salaried full-time workers.

Telehealth raises a number of challenges that may not be mutable even in the best of circumstances, such as the lack of confidentiality in households without a private space, the inability to read body language, and the fact that some clients may simply be too young to engage in telehealth. Future research should examine the question of what aspects of treatment can be best carried out using telehealth, and whether, analogous to the question of what forms of psychotherapy work best for which clients, we can gain greater insight into "personalized telehealth" and identify for whom telehealth is best suited [52,53]. It may be that at least some of the challenges highlighted in these data can be overcome through provision of supplies and through dissemination of information. This can come in various forms, including didactic webinars, shared resources, and consultation and supervision, all of which the clinicians in our sample highlighted as a desired form of support. For example, our system sponsored a webinar led by a clinical director at one of the agencies highlighting creative ways in which to enact telehealth. The APA has compiled a list of

XSL•FO

telehealth resources, including other webinars and information about regulatory guidelines. There are also TF-CBT-specific resources about telehealth, such as the Telehealth Outreach Program [54] and the National Therapist Certification Program [55] from the Medical University of South Carolina. Similar telehealth resources for clinicians are available for a broad array of treatments and disorders. Previous work has also examined the ways in which training in delivering treatment via telehealth may be integrated into graduate training, which may be a proactive way to prepare future clinicians [56].

The challenges that clinicians reported with regard to burden may be due to the abrupt shift to telehealth and stage of maturation when clinicians were surveyed. Clinicians were surveyed within the first 6 months of the shift to telehealth, and their perspectives may have changed with further experience. Indeed, there is evidence to support the notion that telehealth gets easier with time. A systematic review of clinician attitudes toward telehealth revealed that those who had more experience with the modality felt more positively about it than those who did not use it or were new to it [57].

The extent to which telehealth continues to be utilized in the future will depend not only on how acceptable it is to clients and clinicians but also on regulatory factors such as reimbursement from payors and licensure restrictions [58]. Although it is unclear whether the temporary allowances made in the context of a global pandemic will continue, there is promising data to suggest that this time of increased telehealth use has resulted in a ramp-up in telehealth infrastructure and a decrease in some of the barriers that existed previously [59]. It may be that with sufficient interest and attention given to strengthening telehealth systems, and with research to support effectiveness of its use, sufficient pressure will be put on policymakers and payors to make this modality a sustainable long-term option.

Attendance Is Necessary but Not Sufficient

Important questions remain with regard to engagement and parental involvement. Telehealth may reduce barriers in accessing care, such as transportation barriers, and our findings are consistent with previous work that noted less attrition with depressed clients when using telehealth [35,60,61]. Factoring in clients' busy schedules as well as the technological advances and relative accessibility of internet connection, telehealth may make it easier for many clients to attend sessions regularly. However, for these clients who find telehealth more convenient, the extent to which they successfully engaged in sessions remains unclear. Many clinicians noted that engagement in sessions remains a challenge, particularly for younger children. Future research should compare client attendance, engagement, and outcomes of in-person versus telehealth-delivered therapy sessions to better understand how telehealth influences these factors. Despite challenges with client engagement, there was unanimous agreement among the clinicians who commented on parental engagement that telehealth facilitates involvement of parents. Clinicians indicated that when parents are involved, therapy seems to go better. Even if telehealth does not remain the first-line mode of treatment, it may be worth investigating

whether, even within the context of the return to face-to-face therapy with clients, parents can continue to engage virtually.

Digital Disparities Must Be Addressed

Even if the shift to telehealth increases access for some clients, attention must be paid to digital disparities. Clinicians noted the ways in which digital disparities create issues with access to therapy, and that among the clients who can access therapy, a subset may have impaired quality of connectivity. Disruptions in connectivity are not conducive to therapeutic progress, and in many cases make it more difficult to foster a strong therapeutic alliance. This was reflected in the clinicians' relatively low agreement on the quantitative survey that telehealth is "clean and crisp." Although families that are in a low-income category may benefit, in theory, from the elimination of transportation barriers in accessing care, if they do not have reliable internet access, then telehealth is not a solution. It is important to note that the challenges associated with digital disparities are rooted in far wider-reaching issues of inequity that must be addressed for longstanding change to occur. Recent work has focused on mitigating digital disparities through the lens of health equity. Future implementation of telehealth should be guided by consideration of how to reduce digital disparities across the individual, institutional, and broader social levels [62]. In the interim, there may be creative solutions to help reduce these disparities within existing systems, including allowing clients without home internet access to engage in therapy at school. Additional short-term solutions include leveraging auxiliary staff or community health workers to aid families in accessing telehealth, or in providing families with temporary devices and internet access to engage in care, as was successfully demonstrated in one study [13,63,64].

Limitations

This study has several limitations. First, and most importantly, the shift to telehealth occurred within the context of a global pandemic, and therefore the generalizability of these observations to more typical circumstances is unknown. Second, the clinicians all belong to one public mental health system, and the extent to which their perspectives can be generalized to other settings is unclear. For example, there may be idiosyncrasies to the Philadelphia youth community behavioral health system that are unique, and the perspectives of these clinicians may not capture challenges in other settings such as rural areas. Of note, a recent study of clinician attitudes toward telehealth in a rural CMH setting found that clinicians' concerns were similar to those of clinicians in our sample [65]. Third, although our sample included therapists from a diverse set of agencies, some agencies were more represented than others and

we did not account for nesting in our analyses due to power limitations. Fourth, the response rate to the survey was low (although typical for online surveys), and the sample may be biased toward clinicians who were functioning more highly and thus not representative of the broader sample of clinicians invited to participate [66,67]. However, demographic characteristics of the clinicians in our sample were reflective of those of the broader public mental health workforce of Philadelphia, providing some support for generalizability [68]. Fifth, although our intention was to understand clinicians' perspectives and we see self-report as a strength, there are potential response biases, blind spots, and limitations associated with self-reporting. Although the anonymity of a survey may serve to reduce certain types of response biases, the data are not as extensive as those obtained with an in-depth interview. Nonetheless, we found a lot of overlap in clinicians' responses, suggesting that theoretical saturation had been reached. Sixth, the Provider Survey used to capture clinicians' ratings of telehealth has not yet been validated. We selected this measure due to the relative death of surveys on provider perspectives on telehealth; thus, we opted to use a published measure rather than creating our own. Finally, this study does not include client and family perspectives, and future qualitative work with these groups will be important, not only in understanding how much they like or dislike telehealth but also in allowing their views to help shape future developments in telehealth systems to increase acceptability.

Conclusion

This study examined the perspectives of clinicians working in a public mental health system providing TF-CBT via telehealth. Our findings lend insight into the challenges and benefits associated with delivering EBP via telehealth in the context of a system that shifted rapidly into this new delivery modality. Future work should determine which clinicians and clients are best suited for telehealth, identify how to better engage clients, and reduce digital disparities. The future of telehealth delivery within public mental health systems will depend largely on reimbursement streams, and the extent to which these services will be utilized more permanently may be revealed once it becomes safe to resume in-person therapy. Although the long-term trajectory of telehealth is largely unknown and our findings are derived from a single sample of clinicians, there is likely some universality to their observations, particularly in urban CMH settings. The insights and recommendations of the clinicians in our sample may help to inform future research and strengthen telehealth services for youth in need of mental health care.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Domains, themes, and subthemes with additional examples. [DOCX File , 22 KB - pediatrics v5i1e29250 app1.docx]



References

- Tuerk PW, Keller SM, Acierno R. Treatment for anxiety and depression via clinical videoconferencing: evidence base and barriers to expanded access in practice. Focus (Am Psychiatr Publ) 2018 Oct;16(4):363-369 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1176/appi.focus.20180027] [Medline: <u>31975928</u>]
- Khatri N, Marziali E, Tchernikov I, Shepherd N. Comparing telehealth-based and clinic-based group cognitive behavioral therapy for adults with depression and anxiety: a pilot study. Clin Interv Aging 2014;9:765-770. [doi: <u>10.2147/CIA.S57832</u>] [Medline: <u>24855345</u>]
- 3. Stubbings DR, Rees CS, Roberts LD, Kane RT. Comparing in-person to videoconference-based cognitive behavioral therapy for mood and anxiety disorders: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2013 Nov 19;15(11):e258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2564] [Medline: 24252663]
- Vogel PA, Solem S, Hagen K, Moen EM, Launes G, Håland Å, et al. A pilot randomized controlled trial of videoconference-assisted treatment for obsessive-compulsive disorder. Behav Res Ther 2014 Dec;63:162-168. [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2014.10.007] [Medline: 25461792]
- Lovell K, Cox D, Haddock G, Jones C, Raines D, Garvey R, et al. Telephone administered cognitive behaviour therapy for treatment of obsessive compulsive disorder: randomised controlled non-inferiority trial. BMJ 2006 Oct 28;333(7574):883
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.38940.355602.80] [Medline: 16935946]
- Bouchard S, Paquin B, Payeur R, Allard M, Rivard V, Fournier T, et al. Delivering cognitive-behavior therapy for panic disorder with agoraphobia in videoconference. Telemed J E Health 2004;10(1):13-25. [doi: <u>10.1089/153056204773644535</u>] [Medline: <u>15104911</u>]
- Acierno R, Knapp R, Tuerk P, Gilmore AK, Lejuez C, Ruggiero K, et al. A non-inferiority trial of Prolonged Exposure for posttraumatic stress disorder: In person versus home-based telehealth. Behav Res Ther 2017 Feb;89:57-65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2016.11.009] [Medline: 27894058]
- Maieritsch KP, Smith TL, Hessinger JD, Ahearn EP, Eickhoff JC, Zhao Q. Randomized controlled equivalence trial comparing videoconference and in person delivery of cognitive processing therapy for PTSD. J Telemed Telecare 2016 Jun;22(4):238-243. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X15596109] [Medline: 26231819]
- 9. Morland LA, Mackintosh M, Greene CJ, Rosen CS, Chard KM, Resick P, et al. Cognitive processing therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder delivered to rural veterans via telemental health: a randomized noninferiority clinical trial. J Clin Psychiatry 2014 May;75(5):470-476. [doi: 10.4088/JCP.13m08842] [Medline: 24922484]
- Lecomte T, Abdel-Baki A, Francoeur A, Cloutier B, Leboeuf A, Abadie P, et al. Group therapy via videoconferencing for individuals with early psychosis: A pilot study. Early Interv Psychiatry 2021 Dec;15(6):1595-1601. [doi: <u>10.1111/eip.13099</u>] [Medline: <u>33354926</u>]
- Nelson E, Barnard M, Cain S. Treating childhood depression over videoconferencing. Telemed J E Health 2003;9(1):49-55. [doi: <u>10.1089/153056203763317648</u>] [Medline: <u>12699607</u>]
- Storch EA, Caporino NE, Morgan JR, Lewin AB, Rojas A, Brauer L, et al. Preliminary investigation of web-camera delivered cognitive-behavioral therapy for youth with obsessive-compulsive disorder. Psychiatry Res 2011 Oct 30;189(3):407-412. [doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2011.05.047] [Medline: 21684018]
- 13. Stewart RW, Orengo-Aguayo R, Young J, Wallace MM, Cohen JA, Mannarino AP, et al. Feasibility and effectiveness of a telehealth service delivery model for treating childhood posttraumatic stress: a community-based, open pilot trial of trauma-focused cognitive–behavioral therapy. J Psychother Integr 2020 Jun;30(2):274-289. [doi: 10.1037/int0000225]
- Stewart RW, Orengo-Aguayo RE, Cohen JA, Mannarino AP, de Arellano MA. A pilot study of trauma-focused cognitive-behavioral therapy delivered via telehealth technology. Child Maltreat 2017 Nov;22(4):324-333. [doi: <u>10.1177/1077559517725403</u>] [Medline: <u>28868894</u>]
- Himle MB, Freitag M, Walther M, Franklin SA, Ely L, Woods DW. A randomized pilot trial comparing videoconference versus face-to-face delivery of behavior therapy for childhood tic disorders. Behav Res Ther 2012 Sep;50(9):565-570. [doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2012.05.009] [Medline: 22743661]
- 16. Psychologists embrace telehealth to prevent the spread of COVID-19. American Psychological Association. 2020 Jun 05. URL: <u>http://www.apaservices.org/practice/legal/technology/psychologists-embrace-telehealth</u> [accessed 2021-03-30]
- 17. Canady VA. APA survey finds spike in treatment demand, telehealth use. Mental Health Weekly 2020 Nov 20;30(45):4-5. [doi: 10.1002/mhw.32596]
- Pierce BS, Perrin PB, Tyler CM, McKee GB, Watson JD. The COVID-19 telepsychology revolution: A national study of pandemic-based changes in U.S. mental health care delivery. Am Psychol 2021 Jan;76(1):14-25. [doi: <u>10.1037/amp0000722</u>] [Medline: <u>32816503</u>]
- Rosen CS, Morland LA, Glassman LH, Marx BP, Weaver K, Smith CA, et al. Virtual mental health care in the Veterans Health Administration's immediate response to coronavirus disease-19. Am Psychol 2021 Jan;76(1):26-38. [doi: <u>10.1037/amp0000751</u>] [Medline: <u>33119331</u>]
- 20. Kramer GM, Kinn JT, Mishkind MC. Legal, regulatory, and risk management issues in the use of technology to deliver mental health care. Cogn Behav Pract 2015 Aug;22(3):258-268. [doi: 10.1016/j.cbpra.2014.04.008]
- 21. Perrin PB, Pierce BS, Elliott TR. COVID-19 and telemedicine: a revolution in healthcare delivery is at hand. Health Sci Rep 2020 Jun;3(2):e166. [doi: 10.1002/hsr2.166] [Medline: 32500101]

- 22. Ben-Zeev D. The digital mental health genie is out of the bottle. Psychiatr Serv 2020 Dec 01;71(12):1212-1213. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.202000306] [Medline: 32576123]
- 23. Robotham D, Satkunanathan S, Doughty L, Wykes T. Do we still have a digital divide in mental health? a five-year survey follow-up. J Med Internet Res 2016 Nov 22;18(11):e309 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6511] [Medline: 27876684]
- 24. Internet/broadband fact sheet. Pew Research Center. 2019 Jun. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/</u> [accessed 2021-03-30]
- 25. Bauerly BC, McCord RF, Hulkower R, Pepin D. Broadband access as a public health issue: the role of law in expanding broadband access and connecting underserved communities for better health outcomes. J Law Med Ethics 2019 Jun 01;47(2_suppl):39-42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1073110519857314] [Medline: 31298126]
- Roberts ET, Mehrotra A. Assessment of disparities in digital access among Medicare beneficiaries and implications for telemedicine. JAMA Intern Med 2020 Oct 01;180(10):1386-1389 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.2666] [Medline: 32744601]
- 27. Sen A, Tucker CE. Social distancing and school closures: documenting disparity in internet access among school children. SSRN. 2020 Apr 26. URL: <u>https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3572922</u> [accessed 2021-03-30]
- 28. Psychologists report large increase in demand for anxiety, depression treatment. American Psychological Association. 2020 Nov 17. URL: <u>http://www.apa.org/news/press/releases/2020/11/anxiety-depression-treatment</u> [accessed 2021-03-30]
- 29. Collin-Vézina D, Brend D, Beeman I. When it counts the most: trauma-informed care and the COVID-19 global pandemic. Dev Child Welfare 2020 Aug 04;2(3):172-179. [doi: 10.1177/2516103220942530]
- 30. Cohen JA, Mannarino AP. Trauma-focused cognitive behavior therapy for traumatized children and families. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am 2015 Jul;24(3):557-570 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2015.02.005] [Medline: 26092739]
- 31. Damschroder LJ, Aron DC, Keith RE, Kirsh SR, Alexander JA, Lowery JC. Fostering implementation of health services research findings into practice: a consolidated framework for advancing implementation science. Implement Sci 2009 Aug 07;4:50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-4-50] [Medline: 19664226]
- 32. Stewart RW, Orengo-Aguayo R, Wallace M, Metzger IW, Rheingold AA. Leveraging technology and cultural adaptations to increase access and engagement among trauma-exposed African American youth: exploratory study of school-based telehealth delivery of trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy. J Interpers Violence 2021 Aug;36(15-16):7090-7109. [doi: 10.1177/0886260519831380] [Medline: 30827141]
- Jones AM, Shealy KM, Reid-Quiñones K, Moreland AD, Davidson TM, López CM, et al. Guidelines for establishing a telemental health program to provide evidence-based therapy for trauma-exposed children and families. Psychol Serv 2014 Nov;11(4):398-409 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0034963] [Medline: 24320994]
- 34. Khan AN, Bilek E, Tomlinson RC, Becker-Haimes EM. Treating social anxiety in an era of social distancing: adapting exposure therapy for youth during COVID-19. Cognitive and behavioral practice 2021;28(4):669-678 [FREE Full text]
- 35. Racine N, Hartwick C, Collin-Vézina D, Madigan S. Telemental health for child trauma treatment during and post-COVID-19: Limitations and considerations. Child Abuse and Neglect 2020;110(2):104698 [FREE Full text]
- 36. Orengo-Aguayo R, Stewart RW, Villalobos BT, Hernandez Rodriguez J, Dueweke AR, de Arellano MA, et al. Listen, don't tell: partnership and adaptation to implement trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy in low-resourced settings. Am Psychol 2020 Nov;75(8):1158-1174. [doi: 10.1037/amp0000691] [Medline: 33252952]
- 37. Gentry MT, Puspitasari AJ, McKean AJ, Williams MD, Breitinger S, Geske JR, et al. Clinician satisfaction with rapid adoption and implementation of telehealth services during the COVID-19 pandemic. Telemed J E Health 2021 Dec 19;27(12):1385-1392. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2020.0575] [Medline: 33606560]
- Sigel BA, Benton AH, Lynch CE, Kramer TL. Characteristics of 17 statewide initiatives to disseminate trauma-focused cognitive-behavioral therapy (TF-CBT). Psychol Trauma: Theory Res Pract Policy 2013 Jul;5(4):323-333. [doi: 10.1037/a0029095]
- Aarons GA, Wells RS, Zagursky K, Fettes DL, Palinkas LA. Implementing evidence-based practice in community mental health agencies: a multiple stakeholder analysis. Am J Public Health 2009 Nov;99(11):2087-2095. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2009.161711] [Medline: 19762654]
- 40. Cohen J, Mannarino AP. Disseminating and implementing trauma-focused CBT in community settings. Trauma Violence Abuse 2008 Oct;9(4):214-226. [doi: 10.1177/1524838008324336] [Medline: 18936280]
- 41. Beidas RS, Adams DR, Kratz HE, Jackson K, Berkowitz S, Zinny A, et al. Lessons learned while building a trauma-informed public behavioral health system in the City of Philadelphia. Eval Program Plann 2016 Dec;59:21-32 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2016.07.004] [Medline: 27501466]
- 42. Last BS, Schriger SH, Becker-Haimes EM, Fernandez-Marcote S, Dallard N, Jones B, et al. Economic precarity, financial strain, and job-related stress among Philadelphia's public mental health clinicians. Psychiatr Serv 2021 Nov 29:appips202100276. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.202100276] [Medline: 34839673]
- 43. Dillman DA, Smyth JD, Christian LM. Internet, phone, mail, and mixed-mode surveys: the tailored design method. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons; 2014.
- 44. Becevic M, Boren S, Mutrux R, Shah Z, Banerjee S. User satisfaction with telehealth: study of patients, providers, and coordinators. Health Care Manag (Frederick) 2015;34(4):337-349. [doi: <u>10.1097/HCM.00000000000081</u>] [Medline: <u>26506296</u>]

- 45. Braun V, Clarke V. Thematic analysis. In: Cooper H, Camic PM, Long DL, Panter AT, Rindskopf D, Sher KJ, editors. APA handbook of research methods in psychology, Vol. 2. Research designs: Quantitative, qualitative, neuropsychological, and biological. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association; 2012:57-71.
- 46. Woike B. Content coding of open-ended responses. In: Robins RW, Fraley RC, Krueger RF, editors. Handbook of research methods in personality psychology. New York: Guilford Press; 2007:292-307.
- 47. Auerbach C, Silverstein LB. Qualitative data: an introduction to coding and analysis. New York: NYU Press; 2003.
- 48. O'Connor C, Joffe H. Intercoder reliability in qualitative research: debates and practical guidelines. Int J Qual Methods 2020 Jan 22;19:160940691989922. [doi: 10.1177/1609406919899220]
- 49. Eysenbach G. Improving the quality of web surveys: the Checklist for Reporting Results of Internet E-Surveys (CHERRIES). J Med Internet Res 2004 Sep 29;6(3):e34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6.3.e34] [Medline: 15471760]
- 50. Ros-DeMarize R, Chung P, Stewart R. Pediatric behavioral telehealth in the age of COVID-19: brief evidence review and practice considerations. Curr Probl Pediatr Adolesc Health Care 2021 Jan;51(1):100949 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cppeds.2021.100949] [Medline: <u>33436319</u>]
- 51. Madigan S, Racine N, Cooke JE, Korczak DJ. COVID-19 and telemental health: benefits, challenges, and future directions. Can Psychol 2021 Feb 26;62(1):5-11. [doi: 10.1037/cap0000259]
- 52. Cohen ZD, DeRubeis RJ. Treatment selection in depression. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2018 May 07;14:209-236. [doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050817-084746] [Medline: 29494258]
- 53. Urwin C. Revisiting 'What works for whom?': a qualitative framework for evaluating clinical effectiveness in child psychotherapy. J Child Psychother 2007 Aug;33(2):134-160. [doi: 10.1080/00754170701431370]
- 54. Telehealth Outreach Program. Medical University of South Carolina. URL: <u>https://telehealthfortrauma.com/</u> [accessed 2022-02-11]
- 55. TF-CBT Telehealth Resources. National Therapist Certification Program. URL: <u>https://tfcbt.org/telehealth-resources/</u> [accessed 2022-02-11]
- 56. Colbow AJ. Looking to the future: integrating telemental health therapy into psychologist training. Train Educ Profes Psychol 2013 Aug;7(3):155-165. [doi: 10.1037/a0033454]
- 57. Connolly SL, Miller CJ, Lindsay JA, Bauer MS. A systematic review of providers' attitudes toward telemental health via videoconferencing. Clin Psychol Sci Pract 2020 Jun 06;27(2):e12311. [doi: 10.1111/cpsp.12311]
- 58. Fischer SH, Ray KN, Mehrotra A, Bloom EL, Uscher-Pines L. Prevalence and characteristics of telehealth utilization in the United States. JAMA Netw Open 2020 Oct 01;3(10):e2022302 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.22302] [Medline: 33104208]
- Connolly SL, Stolzmann KL, Heyworth L, Weaver KR, Bauer MS, Miller CJ. Rapid increase in telemental health within the Department of Veterans Affairs during the COVID-19 pandemic. Telemed J E Health 2021 Apr;27(4):454-458. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2020.0233] [Medline: 32926664]
- 60. Stewart RW, Orengo-Aguayo RE, Gilmore AK, de Arellano M. Addressing barriers to care among Hispanic youth: telehealth delivery of trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy. Behav Ther 2017 Mar;40(3):112-118 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 28670047]
- Mohr DC, Ho J, Duffecy J, Reifler D, Sokol L, Burns MN, et al. Effect of telephone-administered vs face-to-face cognitive behavioral therapy on adherence to therapy and depression outcomes among primary care patients: a randomized trial. JAMA 2012 Jun 06;307(21):2278-2285 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2012.5588] [Medline: 22706833]
- 62. Crawford A, Serhal E. Digital health equity and COVID-19: the innovation curve cannot reinforce the social gradient of health. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jun 02;22(6):e19361 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19361] [Medline: 32452816]
- 63. Kim JH, Desai E, Cole MB. How the rapid shift to telehealth leaves many community health centers behind during the COVID-19 pandemic. Health Affairs Blog. 2020 Jun 02. URL: <u>https://www.healthaffairs.org/do/10.1377/</u> hblog20200529.449762/full/ [accessed 2021-03-30]
- 64. Katzow MW, Steinway C, Jan S. Telemedicine and health disparities during COVID-19. Pediatrics 2020 Aug;146(2):e20201586. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2020-1586] [Medline: 32747592]
- 65. McClellan MJ, Florell D, Palmer J, Kidder C. Clinician telehealth attitudes in a rural community mental health center setting. J Rural Mental Health 2020 Jan;44(1):62-73. [doi: 10.1037/rmh0000127]
- 66. Manfreda KL, Bosnjak M, Berzelak J, Haas I, Vehovar V. Web surveys versus other survey modes: a meta-analysis comparing response rates. Int J Market Res 2008 Jan 01;50(1):79-104. [doi: 10.1177/147078530805000107]
- 67. Shih T, Fan X. Comparing response rates in e-mail and paper surveys: a meta-analysis. Educ Res Rev 2009 Jan;4(1):26-40. [doi: 10.1016/j.edurev.2008.01.003]
- Beidas RS, Williams NJ, Becker-Haimes EM, Aarons GA, Barg FK, Evans AC, et al. A repeated cross-sectional study of clinicians' use of psychotherapy techniques during 5 years of a system-wide effort to implement evidence-based practices in Philadelphia. Implement Sci 2019 Jun 21;14(1):67 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13012-019-0912-4] [Medline: 31226992]

Abbreviations

APA: American Psychological Association
CBH: Community Behavioral Health
CHERRIES: Checklist for Reporting Results of Internet E-Surveys
CMH: community mental health
DBHIDS: Department of Behavioral Health and Intellectual Disability Services
EBP: evidence-based practice
OCD: obsessive-compulsive disorder
PACTS: Philadelphia Alliance for Child Trauma Services
PTSD: posttraumatic stress disorder
TF-CBT: trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 31.03.21; peer-reviewed by K Ray, N Kozloff, J Lipschitz; comments to author 30.07.21; revised version received 19.12.21; accepted 04.01.22; published 03.03.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Schriger SH, Klein MR, Last BS, Fernandez-Marcote S, Dallard N, Jones B, Beidas RS Community Mental Health Clinicians' Perspectives on Telehealth During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Mixed Methods Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e29250 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e29250</u> doi:10.2196/29250 PMID:35023839

©Simone H Schriger, Melanie R Klein, Briana S Last, Sara Fernandez-Marcote, Natalie Dallard, Bryanna Jones, Rinad S Beidas. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 03.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Gender Differences and Associated Factors Influencing Problem Gambling in Adolescents in Sweden: Cross-sectional Investigation

Emma Claesdotter-Knutsson¹, MD, PhD; Frida André², MD; Maria Fridh³, MD, PhD; Carl Delfin¹, PhD; Anders Håkansson², MD, PhD; Martin Lindström^{3,4}, MD, PhD

¹Lund Clinical Research on Externalizing and Developmental Psychopathology (LU-CRED), Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Section IV, Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund, Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

²Clinical Addiction Research Unit, Psychiatry (Lund), Section IV, Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund, Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Lund, Sweden

³Social Medicine and Health Policy, Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmo, Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden ⁴Center for Primary Health Care Research (CPF), Malmö, Sweden

Corresponding Author:

Emma Claesdotter-Knutsson, MD, PhD Lund Clinical Research on Externalizing and Developmental Psychopathology (LU-CRED) Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, Section IV, Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund, Faculty of Medicine Lund University Sofia v 2E Lund, 221 85 Sweden Phone: 46 768871765 Email: emma.claesdotter-knutsson@med.lu.se

Abstract

Background: Although gambling disorder is traditionally considered an adult phenomenon, the behavior usually begins in childhood or adolescence.

Objective: The aim of this study was to explore the frequency of problem gambling among Swedish adolescents and the suspected associated factors.

Methods: This study was based on data collected through a public health survey distributed in 2016 to pupils in ninth grade of primary school and in second grade of secondary school in Sweden. Bayesian binomial regression models, with weakly informative priors, were used to examine whether the frequency of the associated factors differed between those with and without problem gambling.

Results: Approximately 11.7% (469/4002) of the boys in ninth grade of primary school and 13.9% (472/3407) of the boys in second grade of secondary school were classified as problem gamblers. For girls, the corresponding frequencies were 1.2% (48/4167) and 0.7% (27/3634), respectively. The overall response rate was 77% (9143/11,868) among ninth grade pupils and 73.4% (7949/10,832) among second grade pupils, resulting in a total of 17,092 responses. Problem gambling was associated with poor sleep and having tried smoking, alcohol, and other substances among both boys and girls in ninth grade of primary school and boys in second grade of secondary school. Problem gambling among girls in second grade of secondary school was associated with an increased prevalence of having tried smoking and other substances and an increased prevalence of poor sleep.

Conclusions: Using a large representative sample of Swedish adolescents, we found that problem gambling was robustly associated with a substantially increased prevalence of poor sleep and having tried smoking, alcohol, and other substances among both boys and girls in ninth grade of primary school as well as among boys in second grade of secondary school. Our study adds important information for policy makers pointing at vulnerable groups to be considered in their work to prevent problem gambling.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e35207) doi:10.2196/35207

KEYWORDS

gambling; cross-sectional study; adolescents; sleep; alcohol; smoking; pediatrics; parenting; mental health; addiction; children

Introduction

Behavioral or nonsubstance addictions have relatively been formally acknowledged recently [1,2]. The fifth edition of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders includes a new diagnostic category "Substance-Related and Addictive Disorders," listing not only alcohol and drug abuse but also gambling disorder [1]. Although gambling disorder is traditionally considered an adult phenomenon, the behavior usually begins in childhood or adolescence and more frequently in younger ages among males, in resemblance with both substance use disorders and pathological gaming [2]. Gambling disorder is the most established and most thoroughly investigated behavioral addiction based on a formal diagnosis and founded diagnostic criteria [1]. The research on gambling is rather extensive and includes literature focusing on the Swedish population [3,4], though mainly among adults. The severity of this behavior is currently uncontroversial, as this condition has been associated with negative psychological consequences, including an increased risk of suicide [4-6]. Previous research also demonstrates that gambling disorder shows great comorbidity with various psychiatric conditions such as depression, anxiety disorders, low impulse control, and bipolar disorder as well as alcohol, substance, and nicotine use [2,6,7]. Kessler et al [8] showed that nicotine, alcohol, and drug dependence elevated the odds of pathological gambling. The behavior is traditionally considered mainly an adult problem, but research has shown that problem gamblers debut in gambling at a younger age than nonproblem gamblers [8]. Additionally, previous research concerning comorbidity relies on treatment-seeking samples [4,6,7], and as little is known about gambling in a younger population, this study adds to the knowledge about gambling by addressing early debuting gambling among girls and boys in an ordinary school setting. The psychological health among adolescents is on the decline in the western world, and recent research suggests that this decline is associated with the digital technological development, known as "digital depression" [9,10]. A major study in the United States showed that about 22% of teenagers exhibit multiple symptoms of depression, whereas the lifetime overall US prevalence rate of a full clinical depressive episode is 5%-10% [9,10]. Psychological well-being among adolescents has been reported as poorer among those who spend more hours on electronic communication and in front of screens (eg, social media, gaming, internet, texting) [10].

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is an impairing and heterogeneous neurodevelopmental disorder with an early onset and a worldwide prevalence of 1%-3% [11]. This disorder is characterized by social impairments, communication difficulties, altered sensory processing, and repetitive and restricted behaviors [11]. Studies have shown possible social gains for online gamers, decreased feelings of loneliness, increased feelings of connectedness to friends, increased social capital between players, and increased social bridging between players [12]. Based on the design of the games with repetitions and immediate reinforcement, it can be assumed that patients with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)/ASD have an increased risk of developing problem gambling [13].

XSL•FO

We wanted to explore the frequency of problem gambling among Swedish pupils and examine whether the frequency of the suspected associated factors outlined below differed among those with and without problem gambling. Specifically, using a large sample of Swedish pupils from primary and secondary school, we investigated whether those with and without problem gambling differed in the frequency of (1) often feeling low, (2) often feeling anxious, (3) self-reported ADHD, (4) self-reported ASD, (5) being satisfied with one's own general health, (6) poor sleep, (7) loneliness, and having tried (8) smoking, (9) alcohol, and (10) other substances.

Methods

Participants and Procedures

This study is based on data collected through a public health survey distributed in 2016 to pupils in ninth grade in primary school and in second grade of secondary school. The survey was distributed in all 33 municipalities in Skåne, a region in southern Sweden, with a response rate of 77% (9143/11,868) in ninth grade and 73.4% (7949/10,832) in second grade. Information about gender was missing for 86 respondents, resulting in a total sample size of 17,006. The purpose of the survey was to investigate the current health, way of life, health hazards, and social factors among teenagers and adolescents, and was provided by Region Skåne in cooperation with the municipal association of Skåne. The survey was answered anonymously on computers in classroom settings. Participation was voluntary, all measures were based on self-reports, and all questions were described as optional. In addition to answering questions about problem gambling, respondents were extensively asked about various life circumstances, physical and psychological health factors, and different risk-taking behaviors.

Measures

Problem Gambling

The Lie/Bet questionnaire was used to identify respondents with gambling problems [14,15]. This brief yet diagnostically accurate screening instrument [16] contains only 2 questions (answers: "yes" or "no"): (1) having felt a need to gamble an increasing amount of money in the hopes of winning back what has been lost and (2) lying about the amount of gambling to people of personal importance. Problem gambling was defined as endorsing at least one of these 2 questions.

Associated Factors

Based on previous research and clinical experience, we wanted to examine a broad range of suspected associated factors related to overall well-being, mental health, and adverse behaviors. In order to examine the frequency of each factor, new binary variables were created from the available survey questions. Two items based on the Health Behavior in School-aged Children symptom checklist were used to assess respondents' psychological health, both with separately verified satisfactory test-retest reliability [17]. Respondents rated how often they had "felt low" and "anxious/worried" during the past 6 months on a 5-point scale (about every day, more than once a week, about every week, about every month, rarely or never). Two new binary variables labelled "often feeling low" and "often

feeling anxious" were created, where those who answered "about every day" or "more than once a week" were categorized as "yes" and all others as "no." The survey included several questions on long-term somatic or psychiatric disorders. Respondents were asked whether they had "ADHD or attention-deficit disorder" and "autism/Asperger syndrome." Two new binary variables labelled ADHD and ASD were created, where those who affirmed ADHD/attention-deficit disorder or ASD were categorized as yes and all others as no. Respondents were asked to rate their general health status on a 5-point scale (very good, rather good, neither good nor poor, rather poor, poor) using the Self-Rated Health instrument [18]. A new binary variable labelled "satisfied with health" was created, with those answering "very good" or "rather good" classified as yes and all others as no. Respondents were asked to rate how many hours a night they usually sleep on weekdays on a 3-point scale (less than 7 hours, 7-9 hours, more than 9 hours). A new binary variable labelled "poor sleep" was created, with those answering "less than 7 hours" classified as yes and all others as no. Respondents were asked to rate on a 4-point scale (have no close friend, have one close friend, have two close friends, have several close friends) whether they presently have a close friend with whom they could talk in confidence about almost any personal matter. A new binary variable labelled "loneliness" was created, with those answering "have no close friend" classified as yes and all others as no. Respondents were asked several questions about smoking, alcohol habits, and illicit substances. Three new binary variables labelled "tried smoking," "tried alcohol," and "tried other substances" were created, with affirming of any kind of frequency classified as yes and all other responses as no.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were carried out using the R statistical programming language, version 4.0.4 [19], and several functions from the R package tidyverse [20] were used during data processing. Owing to its many advantages over the traditional frequentist approach, including the possibility of making genuine probabilistic statements about estimated parameters [21], we opted for a fully Bayesian approach to statistical analysis. The

Claesdotter-Knutsson et al

R package brms [22], which interfaces R with the Stan probabilistic programming language [23], was used to specify Bayesian models. Bayesian binomial regression models with weakly informative priors centered around zero, which should have minimal impact on the obtained estimates while still providing moderate regularization [24], were used to assess whether the frequency of a suspected associated factor was different among those with and without problem gambling. The R package emmeans [25] was used for postprocessing of results. Differences are presented as estimated median absolute percentage differences along with associated odds ratios, both with 95% highest density intervals (HDIs) presented within parentheses. An advantage of the HDI is that, in contrast to a frequentist confidence interval, a 95% HDI actually has a 95% probability of containing the values inside it [26]. Finally, since there is no notion of "statistical significance" in the Bayesian framework, we used the region of practical equivalence in conjunction with the 95% HDI as a decision boundary [26] in order to establish whether an estimated difference between those with and without problem gambling was of practical clinical importance. We considered an estimated difference of 5% (or -5%) as the minimal difference for "practical equivalence," and if the 95% HDI was not beyond this cutoff, we deemed the results as uncertain in terms of practical importance.

Results

Frequency of Problem Gambling Among Swedish School Pupils

Approximately 11.7% (469/4002) of boys in ninth grade of primary school and 13.9% (472/3407) of the boys in second grade of secondary school were classified as problem gamblers. For girls, the corresponding frequencies were 1.2% (48/4167) and 0.7% (27/3634), respectively. Additional details, including the number of valid responses in each group, are presented in Table 1. Overall, 4 factors emerged as robustly more frequent among respondents with problem gambling (although the results varied depending on sex and grade): poor sleep and having tried smoking, alcohol, and other substances.

Table 1. Freque	ncy of problem	gambling among	g school pupils in	n southern Sweden	based on data colle	ected in 2016.
-----------------	----------------	----------------	--------------------	-------------------	---------------------	----------------

School grade and gender	Respondents (N)	Valid responses, n (%)	Problem gambling, n (%)	No problem gambling, n (%)
Boys in ninth grade of primary school	4609	4002 (86.8)	469 (11.7)	3533 (88.3)
Girls in ninth grade of primary school	4497	4167 (92.7)	48 (1.2)	4119 (98.8)
Boys in second grade of secondary school	3945	3407 (86.4)	472 (13.9)	2935 (86.1)
Girls in second grade of secondary school	3955	3634 (91.9)	27 (0.7)	3607 (99.3)

Problem Gambling and Associated Factors Among Boys in Ninth Grade of Primary School

In ninth grade of primary school, 43.3% (202/466) of boys with problem gambling were classified as having poor sleep compared to 25.5% (897/3513) of those without problem gambling, with an estimated difference of 17.8% (14%-21.9%) and a corresponding odds ratio of 2.23 (95% CI 1.86-2.61). Findings were similar for having tried smoking, alcohol, and other substances. Almost half (226/458, 49.3%) of all boys with

RenderX

problem gambling had tried smoking compared to about one-fourth (963/3482, 27.7%) of those without problem gambling, with an estimated difference of 21.7% (17.7%-25.8%) and a corresponding odds ratio of 2.55 (95% CI 2.14-2.98). As for having tried alcohol, this was true for 77.3% (357/462) of those with problem gambling and 52.8% (1857/3514) for those without, with an estimated difference of 24.5% (20.9%-27.9%) and a corresponding odds ratio of 3.04 (95% CI 2.49-3.66). Finally, 15.9% (73/459) of boys with problem gambling had

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e35207

tried other substances compared to 4.9% (172/3480) of those without, with an estimated difference of 10.9% (8.1%-13.8%) and an associated odds ratio of 3.63 (95% CI 2.78-4.56). In addition, there was a robust although smaller group difference

for all remaining suspected associated factors except for ADHD and ASD, but the estimated differences were not robustly beyond 5%. Further details are presented in Table 2 and Figure 1A.

Table 2. Problem gambling and associated factors among boys in ninth grade of primary school based on data collected in southern Sweden in 2016.

Factors ^a	Boys (n)	Problem gambling, n (%)	No problem gambling, n (%)	Estimated difference in per- cent (95% highest density interval) ^b	Odds ratio (95% highest density interval)
Often feeling low	3855	52 (11.6)	278 (8.2)	3.4 (0.8 to 6.0)	1.47 (1.10 to 1.87)
Often feeling anxious	3845	46 (10.3)	225 (6.6)	3.6 (1.2 to 6.1)	1.61 (1.18 to 2.08)
Satisfied with health	3919	404 (88.2)	3257 (94.1)	-5.8 (-8.4 to -3.3)	0.47 (0.35 to 0.60)
Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder	3852	16 (3.6)	81 (2.4)	1.1 (-0.3 to 2.7)	1.50 (0.85 to 2.22)
Autism spectrum disorder	3853	13 (3)	67 (2)	0.9 (-0.4 to 2.3)	1.49 (0.79 to 2.30)
Poor sleep	3979	202 (43.3)	897 (25.5)	17.8 (14.0 to 21.9)	2.23 (1.86 to 2.61)
Loneliness	3964	58 (12.5)	276 (7.9)	4.5 (2.0 to 7.2)	1.66 (1.25 to 2.09)
Tried smoking	3940	226 (49.3)	963 (27.7)	21.7 (17.7 to 25.8)	2.55 (2.14 to 2.98)
Tried alcohol	3976	357 (77.3)	1857 (52.8)	24.5 (20.9 to 27.9)	3.04 (2.49 to 3.66)
Tried other substances	3939	73 (15.9)	172 (4.9)	10.9 (8.1 to 13.8)	3.63 (2.78 to 4.56)

^aThe number of respondents with problem gambling and no problem gambling differ for each factor owing to missing data. The number of respondents for each factor are provided in Table S1 of Multimedia Appendix 1.

^bEstimated differences and odds ratios with 95% probability that are above the prespecified cutoff for practical equivalence are in italics.



Claesdotter-Knutsson et al

Figure 1. Estimated differences in prevalence of factors that may be associated with problem gambling. Dots represent the posterior median estimate, and bars represent 95% highest density intervals. Shaded regions indicate the region of practical equivalence (ie, a 5% difference in absolute terms). Estimates that with 95% probability are above the region of practical equivalence are shown in green, whereas estimates that with 95% probability are above zero are shown in blue, and estimates that are not, with 95% probability, above zero are shown in orange. Estimates are based on data collected among school pupils in southern Sweden in 2016. ADHD: attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder; ASD: autism spectrum disorder.



Problem Gambling and Associated Factors Among Girls in Ninth Grade of Primary School

Girls in ninth grade of primary school classified as problem gamblers had a higher frequency of poor sleep and having tried smoking and other substances than boys in ninth grade, although the frequency of having tried alcohol was similar. Approximately 58% (28/48) of girls with problem gambling were classified as having poor sleep compared to 35.7% (1460/4094) among those without, with an estimated difference of 22.8% (10.9%-34.1%) and an associated odds ratio of 2.54 (95% CI 1.42-3.9). Furthermore, 63% (29/46) of those with problem gambling had tried smoking compared to 31.7% (1306/4082) of those without, resulting in an estimated difference of 31.2% (19.7%-42.9%) and an associated odds ratio of 3.65 (95% CI 1.94-5.71). Almost 4 out of 5, 77% (37/48) of girls with problem gambling had tried alcohol compared to a bit more than half (2252/4102, 54.9%) among girls without, with an estimated difference of 22.5% (12.5%-32.2%) and an associated odds ratio of 2.82 (95% CI 1.35-4.62). Finally, 28% (13/46) of girls with problem gambling had tried other substances compared to 4% (165/4078) of those without, with an estimated difference of 24% (13.4%-35%) and a corresponding odds ratio of 9.25 (95% CI 4.54-14.89). Note, however, that the HDIs presented here are wider than the corresponding HDIs among ninth grade boys owing to the lower number of girls reporting problem gambling. Thus, these estimates are more uncertain. Girls with problem gambling had a higher prevalence of ASD and were less satisfied with their health compared to girls without problem gambling, although these estimates were not robustly beyond 5%. Detailed results are presented in Table 3 and Figure 1B.



Claesdotter-Knutsson et al

Table 3. Problem gambling and associated factors among girls in ninth grade of primary school based on data collected in southern Sweden in 2016.

Factors ^a	Girls (n)	Problem gambling, n (%)	No problem gambling, n (%)	Estimated difference in per- cent (95% highest density interval) ^b	Odds ratio (95% highest density interval)
Often feeling low	4076	10 (22.2)	955 (23.7)	-1.9 (-11.9 to 8.3)	0.9 (0.42 to 1.49)
Often feeling anxious	4071	9 (20)	770 (19.1)	0.4 (-8.8 to 10.2)	1.02 (0.45 to 1.70)
Satisfied with health	4104	35 (74.5)	3449 (85)	-10.2 (-21.0 to -0.2)	0.52 (0.26 to 0.86)
Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder	4047	4 (8.9)	118 (2.9)	5.4 (-0.7 to 12.3)	3 (0.69 to 5.92)
Autism spectrum disorder	4032	4 (9.1)	37 (0.9)	7.6 (1.3 to 14.6)	10.09 (2.21 to 20.3)
Poor sleep	4142	28 (58.3)	1460 (35.7)	22.8 (10.9 to 34.1)	2.54 (1.42 to 3.90)
Loneliness	4142	2 (4.3)	245 (6)	-2.2 (-5.9 to 2.5)	0.61 (0.04 to 1.46)
Tried smoking	4128	29 (63)	1306 (32)	31.2 (19.7 to 42.9)	3.65 (1.94 to 5.71)
Tried alcohol	4150	37 (77.1)	2252 (54.9)	22.5 (12.5 to 32.2)	2.82 (1.35 to 4.62)
Tried other substances	4124	13 (28.3)	165 (4)	24 (13.4 to 35)	9.25 (4.54 to 14.89)

^aThe number of respondents with problem gambling and no problem gambling differ for each factor owing to missing data. The number of respondents for each factor are provided in Table S2 of Multimedia Appendix 1.

^bEstimated differences and odds ratios with 95% probability that are above the prespecified cutoff for practical equivalence are in italics.

Problem Gambling and Associated Factors Among Boys in Second Grade of Secondary School

Notably, differences between those with and without problem gambling were smaller for poor sleep and having tried smoking and alcohol among boys in second grade of secondary school than among boys in ninth grade of primary school, while the difference for having tried other substances stayed more or less the same. Approximately 51.6% (241/467) of boys with problem gambling were classified as having poor sleep compared to 39.9% (1167/2924) of those without, with an estimated difference of 11.7% (7.5%-15.7%) and a corresponding odds ratio of 1.61 (95% CI 1.34-1.87). Furthermore, 66.2% (307/464)

of boys with gambling problems had tried smoking, while the same was true for 53.3% (1564/2897) of those without, with an estimated difference of 12.2% (8.4%-16.2%) and a corresponding odds ratio of 1.67 (95% CI 1.38-1.96). The vast majority of boys with (425/464, 91.6%) and without (2380/2915, 81.6%) problem gambling had tried alcohol, with an estimated difference of 10% (7.5%-12.3%) and an associated odds ratio of 2.46 (95% CI 1.78-3.2). Finally, 28.2% (130/461) of those with problem gambling had tried other substances compared to 14.8% (428/2895) of those without, with an estimated difference of 13.4% (9.8%-17%) and an associated odds ratio of 2.26 (95% CI 1.85-2.71). Detailed results are presented in Table 4 and Figure 1C.
Claesdotter-Knutsson et al

 Table 4.
 Problem gambling and associated factors among boys in second grade of secondary school based on data collected in southern Sweden in 2016.

Factors ^a	Boys (n)	Problem gambling, n (%)	No problem gambling, n (%)	Estimated difference in per- cent (95% highest density interval) ^b	Odds ratio (95% highest density interval)
Often feeling low	3308	63 (13.8)	318 (11.2)	2.5 (0.1 to 5.5)	1.27 (0.97 to 1.59)
Often feeling anxious	3313	50 (11)	263 (9.2)	1.7 (-0.8 to 4.4)	1.21 (0.9 to 1.55)
Satisfied with health	3351	406 (88.3)	2630 (91)	-2.7 (-5.2 to 0.0)	0.75 (0.56 to 0.95)
Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder	3309	12 (2.7)	76 (2.7)	-0.1 (-1.3 to 1.3)	0.98 (0.49 to 1.5)
Autism spectrum disorder	3311	7 (1.5)	78 (2.7)	-1.2 (-2.2 to -0.1)	0.54 (0.22 to 0.92)
Poor sleep	3391	241 (51.6)	1167 (39.9)	11.7 (7.5 to 15.7)	1.61 (1.34 to 1.87)
Loneliness	3381	39 (8.3)	212 (7.3)	1 (-1.3 to 3.2)	1.15 (0.81 to 1.5)
Tried smoking	3361	307 (66.2)	1564 (54)	12.2 (8.4 to 16.2)	1.67 (1.38 to 1.96)
Tried alcohol	3379	425 (91.6)	2380 (81.6)	10 (7.5 to 12.3)	2.46 (1.78 to 3.2)
Tried other substances	3356	130 (28.2)	428 (14.8)	13.4 (9.8 to 17.0)	2.26 (1.85 to 2.71)

^aThe number of respondents with problem gambling and no problem gambling differ for each factor owing to missing data. The number of respondents for each factor are provided in Table S3 of Multimedia Appendix 1.

^bEstimated differences and odds ratios with 95% probability that are above the prespecified cutoff for practical equivalence are in italics.

Problem Gambling and Associated Factors Among Girls in Second Grade of Secondary School

Again, owing to the low number of girls with problem gambling in second grade of secondary school, several estimates were uncertain. For instance, while 63% (17/27) of girls with problem gambling and 43.7% (1578/3590) without were classified as having poor sleep, the estimated difference of 19.3% (4%-34%) was not, with 95% probability, above the prespecified cutoff for practical equivalence (although the estimated difference was, with 95% probability, still above zero). As for having tried smoking, this was affirmed by 77% (20/26) of girls with and 51.8% (1857/3585) of girls without problem gambling, with an estimated difference of 25.8% (12%-38.3%) and an associated odds ratio of 3.23 (95% CI 1.09-6.28). Notably, the difference in having tried alcohol was negligible, while 42% (11/26) of girls with and 10.9% (393/3574) of girls without problem gambling had tried other substances, with an estimated difference of 31.1% (16.1%-47.3%) and an associated odds ratio of 5.9 (95% CI 2.5-10.36). Detailed results are presented in Table 5 and Figure 1D.

 Table 5. Problem gambling and associated factors among girls in second grade of secondary school based on data collected in southern Sweden in 2016.

Factors ^a	Girls (n)	Problem gambling, n (%)	No problem gambling, n (%)	Estimated difference in per- cent (95% highest density interval) ^b	Odds ratio (95% highest density interval)
Often feeling low	3579	9 (33.3)	1011 (28.5)	4.4 (-9.9 to 19.1)	1.23 (0.49 to 2.15)
Often feeling anxious	3585	9 (33.3)	795 (22.3)	10.6 (-3.9 to 25.3)	1.71 (0.66 to 2.96)
Satisfied with health	3570	20 (76.9)	2918 (82.3)	-4.8 (-18.2 to 8.1)	0.74 (0.26 to 1.46)
Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder	3560	3 (12)	118 (3.3)	7.7 (-1.4 to 18.1)	3.61 (0.48 to 7.9)
Autism spectrum disorder	3560	1 (4)	28 (0.8)	2.2 (-1.0 to 8.7)	3.94 (0 to 13.63)
Poor sleep	3617	17 (63)	1578 (44)	19.3 (4 to 34)	2.19 (0.88 to 3.84)
Loneliness	3629	2 (7.4)	186 (5.2)	1.3 (-4.8 to 9.4)	1.27 (0.05 to 3.09)
Tried smoking	3611	20 (76.9)	1857 (51.8)	25.8 (12 to 38.3)	3.23 (1.09 to 6.28)
Tried alcohol	3620	22 (84.6)	2935 (81.7)	3.8 (-7.8 to 14)	1.32 (0.38 to 2.96)
Tried other substances	3600	11 (42.3)	393 (11)	31.1 (16.1 to 47.3)	5.9 (2.5 to 10.36)

^aThe number of respondents with problem gambling and no problem gambling differ for each factor owing to missing data. The number of respondents for each factor are provided in Table S4 of Multimedia Appendix 1.

^bEstimated differences and odds ratios with 95% probability that are above the prespecified cutoff for practical equivalence are in italics.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Given the increasing interest in behavioral addictions and alarming reports on consequences of screen time and adolescents increasing psychological complaints [2,9,10], this study aimed to describe problem gambling and suspected associated factors within a population of Swedish pupils in an ordinary school setting, targeting adolescents in ninth grade of primary school and in second grade of secondary school. Our study adds to the knowledge of pathological gambling by investigating male and female characteristics. The interest in behavioral addiction is increasing, but there are still gaps to be filled. Gambling addiction is the most established and researched behavioral addiction, but the phenomenon is mainly investigated among adults or within populations of care-seeking gamblers [4,6,7]. Games with or without money constitute adjacent phenomena in the sense that monetary elements such as so-called loot boxes common in computer games or through more are computer-game-like virtual environments where games about money take place. One possibility for affirmation of gambling among adolescents younger than 18 years of age could be that the participants meant games containing such monetary elements when endorsing items on gambling in the questionnaire. The difference in the frequency between girls with and without problem gambling was notably larger than the difference between boys with and without problem gambling for several variables. For instance, the estimated difference in having tried other substances was 11% among boys in ninth grade and 24%, more than double, among girls in ninth grade (see Tables 2 and 3). This might be explained by the fact that girls with problem gambling are fewer but exhibit more severe psychiatric health problems [27,28].

Behavioral and substance addictions have previously been reported as robustly related [2]. Correspondingly, we observed that both male and female problem gamblers in ninth grade displayed a disproportionately high prevalence of having tried cigarettes, alcohol, and illicit drugs. The overrepresentation was seen among male and female problem gamblers in second grade of secondary school, with the exception of the female experience of alcohol. This is well in line with previous research showing that male gamblers drink more and female gamblers less [29]. Owing to legal regulations on gambling, most of the studies were conducted on adult populations, but several studies-some as early as those in 1998 [30]-showed that adolescent gamblers were more likely to drink alcohol, smoke tobacco, and take drugs compared to nongamblers [31]. Theories regarding the relationship between gambling and experience of cigarettes, alcohol, and illicit drugs have been suggested to be excitement-seeking and risk-taking personalities having similar social, environmental, neurobiological, and genetic features [31-34]. Petruzelka et al [35] suggest that the socioeconomic status plays an important role in this bad marriage. Díaz and Pérez [34] found that tobacco and alcohol users are more likely to gamble and spend more on gambling products. Further research is needed to increase the understanding of the causality.

ASD is an impairing and heterogeneous neurodevelopmental disorder with an early onset, which affects 1%-3% of the population [11]. ASD is characterized by social impairments, communication difficulties, altered sensory processing, and repetitive and restricted behaviors [11]. Studies have shown the following possible social gains for online gamers: decreased feelings of loneliness, increased feelings of connectedness to friends, increased social capital between players, and increased social bridging between players [12]. Based on previous research [36,37], we had expected a higher prevalence of gambling in the ASD group but we only found such a relationship among girls in ninth grade. This group had a higher prevalence of ASD and were less satisfied with their health compared to girls without problem gambling. In our study, the total number of participants with ASD was too small (n=20) to draw any conclusions. There is a notable comorbidity between ADHD and ASD [38] and as we only logged the main diagnosis, there might be a possibility that there are some participants with ASD among participants with ADHD and vice versa. Looking at neurodevelopmental disorders from the ESSENCE (Early Symptomatic Syndromes Eliciting Neurodevelopmental Clinical Examinations) perspective, we could have created a group consisting of participants with ASD plus ADHD to obtain a more realistic picture [39]. ASD does not belong to the most frequent conditions investigated in the relationship to a problem or addictive gambling and even less to a potential gender discrepancy. Our results warrant a more thorough investigation of the potential link between neuropsychiatric conditions and problem gambling among female adolescents.

Previous research reports on a relationship between problem gambling and both bad sleeping habits and sleeping difficulties [40]. The association between screen time and sleeping difficulties is established and highly clinically relevant since previous research describes how insufficient sleep is associated with both mental health problems and poor academic performance [41,42]. Concordantly, respondents in our material with problem gambling showed a positive association with <7 hours of sleep per night among female and male ninth graders and among male second graders. Girls with problem gambling showed the same tendency, and it cannot be ruled out that an association would have been seen in a larger data material.

Strengths and Limitations

Among the strengths of this study are the large, representative sample size, the fact that the study is population-based, and the use of a Bayesian statistical approach, which allowed us to make genuine probabilistic statements about our obtained estimates. However, notwithstanding the strengths of a fully Bayesian approach, the number of girls with problem gambling was relatively small (n=75), and thus, the number of girls with both problem gambling and the presence of an associated factor was even smaller. As indicated by the wider HDIs, our findings pertaining to girls are therefore less robust than those pertaining to boys.

This study has several limitations. First, all measures used were based on self-report, which entails a risk for recall bias that could influence our findings. This study also shows considerable strengths. The survey was population-based and included a large

number of individuals and a relatively high response rate, which reduces the risk of selection bias. The only question regarding sleep was "How many hours do you sleep during a weekday?" with 3 fixed alternatives "less than 7 hours," "7-9 hours," and "more than 9 hours." This item might have specified whether the sleep was continuous or intermittent, and a continuous scale for the numbers of hours of sleep during a normal weekday might have been included. However, the sleep item is part of a general public health questionnaire for adolescents in schools in southern Sweden with the aim of reporting the general public health status of this group regarding school, family, demographic, socioeconomic, social capital, social cohesion, social support, social participation/social networks, bullying (physical and cyber bullying), health behavior, somatic health status, psychological health status, exposure to crime, sex habits, and beliefs about the future in a comprehensive and reasonably short questionnaire. Furthermore, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to highlight problem gambling and associated factors among Swedish teenagers.

Conclusion

Using a large representative sample of Swedish adolescents, we found that problem gambling was robustly associated with a substantially increased prevalence of poor sleep and having tried smoking, alcohol, and other substances among both boys and girls in ninth grade of primary school as well as among boys in second grade of secondary school. Owing to the small number of girls with problem gambling in second grade of secondary school, our estimates were less certain, but problem gambling was nevertheless robustly associated with a substantially increased prevalence of having tried smoking and having tried other substances, as well as (less robustly) with an increased prevalence of poor sleep. Furthermore, teenagers with ASD should possible be considered as more likely to engage in problem gambling, specifically girls. Important and clinically relevant questions have been revealed for future studies to answer. Our study adds important information for policy makers pointing at vulnerable groups to be considered in their work to prevent problem gambling.

Conflicts of Interest

AH has a researcher position at Lund University, which is sponsored by the gambling operator AB Svenska Spel. AB Svenska Spel is entirely owned by the Swedish state and is a part of that body's responsible gambling policies. AH also has funding from the independent research council of Svenska Spel and the research council of the Swedish alcohol monopoly Systembolaget. These organizations are not involved in this project in any aspect.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Supplementary data for tables. [DOCX File, 17 KB - pediatrics v5i1e35207 app1.docx]

References

- 1. American PA. Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed). Psychiatry Online 2013:1-372. [doi: 10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596]
- 2. Yau YHC, Potenza MN. Gambling disorder and other behavioral addictions: recognition and treatment. Harv Rev Psychiatry 2015 Jan 01;23(2):134-146 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/HRP.000000000000051] [Medline: 25747926]
- Widinghoff C, Håkansson AC. Gambling disorder a current issue in Sweden. Lakartidningen 2018 Nov 14;115:FCDM [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>30457662</u>]
- Karlsson A, Håkansson A. Gambling disorder, increased mortality, suicidality, and associated comorbidity: A longitudinal nationwide register study. J Behav Addict 2018 Dec 01;7(4):1091-1099 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1556/2006.7.2018.112] [Medline: 30427214]
- Black DW, Coryell W, Crowe R, McCormick B, Shaw M, Allen J. Suicide Ideations, Suicide Attempts, and Completed Suicide in Persons with Pathological Gambling and Their First-Degree Relatives. Suicide Life Threat Behav 2015 Dec;45(6):700-709 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/sltb.12162] [Medline: 25845522]
- Sharman S, Murphy R, Turner JJ, Roberts A. Trends and patterns in UK treatment seeking gamblers: 2000-2015. Addict Behav 2019 Feb;89:51-56. [doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.09.009] [Medline: 30248548]
- Lorains FK, Cowlishaw S, Thomas SA. Prevalence of comorbid disorders in problem and pathological gambling: systematic review and meta-analysis of population surveys. Addiction 2011 Mar 12;106(3):490-498. [doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.03300.x] [Medline: 21210880]
- 8. Kessler R, Hwang I, LaBrie R, Petukhova M, Sampson N, Winters K, et al. DSM-IV pathological gambling in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. Psychol. Med 2008 Feb 07;38(9):1351-1360. [doi: 10.1017/s0033291708002900]
- 9. Ghaemi SN. Digital depression: a new disease of the millennium? Acta Psychiatr Scand 2020 Apr 10;141(4):356-361. [doi: 10.1111/acps.13151] [Medline: 31955405]
- Twenge JM, Martin GN, Campbell WK. Decreases in psychological well-being among American adolescents after 2012 and links to screen time during the rise of smartphone technology. Emotion 2018 Sep 10;18(6):765-780. [doi: <u>10.1037/emo0000403</u>] [Medline: <u>29355336</u>]

- Baron-Cohen S, Scott FJ, Allison C, Williams J, Bolton P, Matthews FE, et al. Prevalence of autism-spectrum conditions: UK school-based population study. Br J Psychiatry 2009 Jun 10;194(6):500-509. [doi: <u>10.1192/bjp.bp.108.059345</u>] [Medline: <u>19478287</u>]
- 12. Martončik M, Lokša J. Do World of Warcraft (MMORPG) players experience less loneliness and social anxiety in online world (virtual environment) than in real world (offline)? Computers in Human Behavior 2016 Mar 10;56:127-134. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.11.035]
- 13. Durkin K. Videogames and Young People with Developmental Disorders. Review of General Psychology 2010 Jun 01;14(2):122-140. [doi: 10.1037/a0019438]
- 14. Johnson EE, Hamer R, Nora RM, Tan B, Eisenstein N, Engelhart C. The Lie/Bet Questionnaire for screening pathological gamblers. Psychol Rep 1997 Feb;80(1):83-88. [doi: 10.2466/pr0.1997.80.1.83] [Medline: 9122356]
- 15. Johnson EE, Hamer RM, Nora RM. The Lie/Bet Questionnaire for screening pathological gamblers: a follow-up study. Psychol Rep 1998 Dec;83(3 Pt 2):1219-1224. [doi: 10.2466/pr0.1998.83.3f.1219] [Medline: 10079719]
- 16. Dowling NA, Merkouris SS, Dias S, Rodda SN, Manning V, Youssef GJ, et al. The diagnostic accuracy of brief screening instruments for problem gambling: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Psychol Rev 2019 Dec;74:101784 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2019.101784] [Medline: 31759246]
- 17. Haugland S, Wold B. Subjective health complaints in adolescence--reliability and validity of survey methods. J Adolesc 2001 Oct 10;24(5):611-624. [doi: 10.1006/jado.2000.0393] [Medline: 11676508]
- 18. Eriksson I, Undén AL, Elofsson S. Self-rated health. Comparisons between three different measures. Results from a population study. Int J Epidemiol 2001 Apr 10;30(2):326-333. [doi: <u>10.1093/ije/30.2.326</u>] [Medline: <u>11369738</u>]
- 19. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Team R. URL: <u>https://www.gbif.org/tool/81287/</u> <u>r-a-language-and-environment-for-statistical-computing</u> [accessed 2022-03-03]
- 20. Wickham H, Averick M, Bryan J, Chang W, McGowan L, François R, et al. Welcome to the Tidyverse. JOSS 2019 Nov;4(43):1686-1687. [doi: <u>10.21105/joss.01686</u>]
- Wagenmakers E, Marsman M, Jamil T, Ly A, Verhagen J, Love J, et al. Bayesian inference for psychology. Part I: Theoretical advantages and practical ramifications. Psychon Bull Rev 2018 Feb 10;25(1):35-57 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3758/s13423-017-1343-3] [Medline: 28779455]
- 22. Bürkner P. brms: An R Package for Bayesian Multilevel Models Using Stan. J Stat Soft 2017 Jan 01;80(1):1-10. [doi: 10.18637/jss.v080.i01]
- 23. Carpenter B, Gelman A, Hoffman MD, Lee D, Goodrich B, Betancourt M, et al. A Probabilistic Programming Language. J Stat Soft 2017 Jan 01;76(1):1-10. [doi: 10.18637/jss.v076.i01]
- 24. Gelman A, Simpson D, Betancourt M. The Prior Can Often Only Be Understood in the Context of the Likelihood. Entropy 2017 Oct 19;19(10):555-556. [doi: 10.3390/e19100555]
- 25. Lenth R, Singmann H, Love J, Buerkner P, Herve M. Estimated marginal means, aka least-squares means. Package Emmeans. URL: <u>https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/emmeans/emmeans.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-03-07]
- 26. Kruschke JK. Rejecting or Accepting Parameter Values in Bayesian Estimation. Advances in Methods and Practices in Psychological Science 2018 May 08;1(2):270-280. [doi: 10.1177/2515245918771304]
- 27. Chaumeton NR, Ramowski SK, Nystrom RJ. Correlates of gambling among eighth-grade boys and girls. J Sch Health 2011 Jul 01;81(7):374-385. [doi: 10.1111/j.1746-1561.2011.00605.x] [Medline: 21668877]
- 28. Räsänen T, Lintonen T, Joronen K, Konu A. Girls and boys gambling with health and well-being in Finland. J Sch Health 2015 Apr 01;85(4):214-222. [doi: 10.1111/josh.12246] [Medline: 25731195]
- 29. Griffiths M, Wardle H, Orford J, Sproston K, Erens B. Gambling, alcohol, consumption, cigarette smoking and health: Findings from the 2007 British Gambling Prevalence Survey. Addiction Research & Theory 2010 Mar 10;18(2):208-223. [doi: 10.3109/16066350902928569]
- 30. Griffiths M, Sutherland I. Adolescent gambling and drug use. J Community Appl Soc Psychol 1998 Nov 01;8(6):423-427. [doi: 10.1002/(sici)1099-1298(199811/12)8:6<423::aid-casp499>3.0.co;2-b]
- Buja A, Mortali C, Mastrobattista L, De Battisti E, Minutillo A, Pichini S, et al. Stimulant substance use and gambling behaviour in adolescents. Gambling and stimulant use. Adicciones 2020 Nov 17;32(4):273-280 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.20882/adicciones.1312] [Medline: 32677692]
- 32. Buja A, Mortali C, Mastrobattista L, Minutillo A, Pichini S, Genetti B, et al. Pathways connecting socioeconomic variables, substance abuse and gambling behaviour: a cross-sectional study on a sample of Italian high-school students. BMJ Open 2019 Nov 11;9(11):e031737-e031737 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-031737] [Medline: 31719086]
- Farhat LC, Wampler J, Steinberg MA, Krishnan-Sarin S, Hoff RA, Potenza MN. Excitement-Seeking Gambling in Adolescents: Health Correlates and Gambling-Related Attitudes and Behaviors. J Gambl Stud 2021 Mar 20;37(1):43-57. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10899-020-09960-3</u>] [Medline: <u>32691199</u>]
- 34. Díaz A, Pérez L. Gambling and substance use: A cross-consumption analysis of tobacco smoking, alcohol drinking and gambling. Subst Abus 2021 Jan;42(4):1016-1021. [doi: <u>10.1080/08897077.2021.1903657</u>] [Medline: <u>33798010</u>]
- 35. Petruzelka B, Vacek J, Gavurova B, Kubak M, Gabrhelik R, Rogalewicz V, et al. Interaction of Socioeconomic Status with Risky Internet Use, Gambling and Substance Use in Adolescents from a Structurally Disadvantaged Region in Central Europe. IJERPH 2020 Jul 03;17(13):4803-4807. [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17134803]

- 36. Sundberg M. Online gaming, loneliness and friendships among adolescents and adults with ASD. Computers in Human Behavior 2018 Feb 01;79:105-110. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2017.10.020]
- 37. Trepte S, Reinecke L, Juechems K. The social side of gaming: How playing online computer games creates online and offline social support. Computers in Human Behavior 2012 May 01;28(3):832-839. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2011.12.003]
- Jang J, Matson JL, Williams LW, Tureck K, Goldin RL, Cervantes PE. Rates of comorbid symptoms in children with ASD, ADHD, and comorbid ASD and ADHD. Res Dev Disabil 2013 Aug 01;34(8):2369-2378. [doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2013.04.021] [Medline: 23708709]
- 39. Gillberg C. The ESSENCE in child psychiatry: Early Symptomatic Syndromes Eliciting Neurodevelopmental Clinical Examinations. Res Dev Disabil 2010;31(6):1543-1551. [doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2010.06.002] [Medline: 20634041]
- 40. Loft MH, Loo JMY. Understanding the Mechanisms Underlying Gambling Behaviour and Sleep. J Gambl Stud 2015 Dec 01;31(4):1273-1286. [doi: 10.1007/s10899-014-9514-x] [Medline: 25381635]
- 41. Stormark KM, Fosse HE, Pallesen S, Hysing M. The association between sleep problems and academic performance in primary school-aged children: Findings from a Norwegian longitudinal population-based study. PLoS One 2019 Jan 01;14(11):e0224139-e0224139 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0224139] [Medline: 31697711]
- 42. Hale L, Guan S. Screen time and sleep among school-aged children and adolescents: a systematic literature review. Sleep Med Rev 2015 Jun 01;21:50-59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2014.07.007] [Medline: 25193149]

Abbreviations

ADHD: attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder ASD: autism spectrum disorder ESSENCE: Early Symptomatic Syndromes Eliciting Neurodevelopmental Clinical Examinations HDI: highest density interval

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 25.11.21; peer-reviewed by N Maglaveras; comments to author 02.01.22; revised version received 04.01.22; accepted 18.01.22; published 17.03.22.

Please cite as:

Claesdotter-Knutsson E, André F, Fridh M, Delfin C, Håkansson A, Lindström M Gender Differences and Associated Factors Influencing Problem Gambling in Adolescents in Sweden: Cross-sectional Investigation JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e35207 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e35207</u> doi:10.2196/35207 PMID:<u>35297770</u>

©Emma Claesdotter-Knutsson, Frida André, Maria Fridh, Carl Delfin, Anders Håkansson, Martin Lindström. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 17.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Immersive Reality Experience Technology for Reducing Social Isolation and Improving Social Connectedness and Well-being of Children and Young People Who Are Hospitalized: Open Trial

Hiran Thabrew¹, BM, PhD; Laura A Chubb², PhD; Harshali Kumar¹, BSc; Christa Fouché², PhD

¹The Werry Centre, Department of Psychological Medicine, Faculty of Medical and Health Sciences, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand ²Faculty of Education and Social Work, The University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand

Corresponding Author: Hiran Thabrew, BM, PhD The Werry Centre, Department of Psychological Medicine Faculty of Medical and Health Sciences University of Auckland 20-22 Park Road Grafton Auckland, 1142 New Zealand Phone: 64 21 402 055 Email: <u>h.thabrew@auckland.ac.nz</u>

Abstract

Background: Children and young people who are hospitalized can feel disconnected from their peers and families, which can, in turn, predispose them to psychological problems, including anxiety and depression. Immersive reality experience technology, recently developed by the New Zealand Patience Project Charitable Trust, may help to overcome these issues. Immersive reality experience technology uses immersive 360° live streaming and a virtual reality headset to enable children and young people who are hospitalized to connect through cameras located in either their school or home environment and via SMS text messaging with a designated buddy.

Objective: This trial aims to expand qualitative findings from a previous smaller *proof of concept* trial to ascertain the views of New Zealand children and young people who are hospitalized, their caregivers, and teachers regarding immersive reality experience technology and quantitatively evaluate the effectiveness of immersive reality experience technology in reducing social isolation and improving social connectedness and well-being using validated outcome measures.

Methods: An open trial of immersive reality experience technology was conducted between December 2019 and December 2020 for which 19 New Zealand children and young people aged 13 to 18 years who had been hospitalized at Starship Hospital—a specialist pediatric hospital in Auckland—for at least 2 weeks were recruited. All young people completed the Short Warwick–Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale, an abbreviated version of the Social Connectedness Scale, and the Social Inclusion Scale at baseline. Of the 19 participants, 10 (53%) used immersive reality experience technology as often as they wished over a 6-week period and completed postintervention measures. Semistructured interviews with a subset of the 10 young people, 4 caregivers, and 6 teachers were conducted immediately after the intervention.

Results: Participants reported improvements in social inclusion (mean change 3.9, SD 2.8; P=.06), social connectedness (mean change 14.2, SD 10.0; P=.002), and well-being (mean change 5.7, SD 4.0; P=.001). Key themes from interviews with participants, caregivers, and teachers were the importance of support for using immersive reality experience technology, connecting versus connectedness, choice and connection, and the value of setting it up and getting it right. Recommendations for improving connectedness via immersive reality experience and related technologies were also provided.

Conclusions: Immersive reality experience technology can improve the social inclusion, social connectedness, and well-being of New Zealand children and young people who are hospitalized. With some technological modifications and simplified implementation, immersive reality experience and related technology could become part of standard care and support children and young people who are hospitalized in New Zealand and elsewhere to sustain family and peer cohesion, experience fewer psychological problems, and more easily return to normal life following the completion of treatment.

Trial Registration: Australian New Zealand Clinical Trials Network Registry ACTRN12619000252112; https://www.anzctr.org.au/Trial/Registration/TrialReview.aspx?id=376837&isReview=true

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e29164) doi:10.2196/29164

KEYWORDS

immersive reality experiences; social isolation; hospitalized children; well-being; social connectedness; immersive reality; virtual reality; serious games; pediatrics; mental health; isolation; hospitalized patients; adolescents

Introduction

Background

Between 10% and 12% of children and young people worldwide, and up to 22% of New Zealand Māori taitamariki (children and young people), experience long-term physical conditions (chronic illnesses) such as cancer, diabetes, and cystic fibrosis [1]. Many spend weeks or months in hospitals, disconnected from their wider families, peers, and schools [2]. Social disruption and exclusion may be related to psychological problems, including anxiety and depression, and may be associated with reduced academic achievement [3-5]. Conversely, social inclusion during treatment may be associated with improved psychosocial functioning [6]. Psychosocial support offered to children and young people who are hospitalized varies widely [7]. For example, many rural institutions or those in lower income countries offer minimal formal support, whereas specialist pediatric centers in others have access to multiple resources (eg, on-site consultation liaison, mental health teams, play specialists, and volunteer organizations). Despite the support available in more developed countries, resources are usually focused on supporting medical treatment rather than improving social connections [8].

Over the past few decades, advances in technology have led to the development of a wide array of eHealth interventions, including websites, self-help apps, health games, and devices that provide immersive reality experiences [9]. A number of these were developed for, or trialed with, children and young people with long-term physical conditions [10]. Immersive reality experience technology engages users in an alternate, real environment, virtual environment, or a combination of real and virtual environments [11]. Immersive reality experience technology has been shown to reduce psychological stress and improve mental health in adults [12,13], children with disabilities [14], and older adults [15]. In some cases, immersive reality experience technology has been shown to enhance engagement in schoolwork and improve emotional well-being in children and young people with long-term physical conditions [14-17]. However, factors affecting the use of immersive reality experience technology by this group, such as hardware issues, privacy concerns, and the impact of health status and hospitalization, are not well-described in the literature.

In 2018, the Patience Project, a New Zealand charitable organization headed by one of the members of our research group (BM), developed a virtual reality (VR) environment–based system of immersive reality experience technology to connect children who are hospitalized with peers at home and school. Two-way communication was possible through the young person using the immersive reality experience

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e29164

technology texting a designated buddy in their school environment to ask questions to the teacher on behalf of the absent young person or strike up a conversation with their peers. This was the first intervention of its kind in New Zealand. A formative assessment of the Patience Project was conducted with 15 participants in 2018 [18] and aimed at developing an understanding of the perceived strengths and weaknesses of the project to inform future directions. A total of 5 children receiving oncological treatment at Starship Hospital, a tertiary pediatric hospital in Auckland, New Zealand, along with their teachers and caregivers, comprised the sample. Despite the small sample, the formative assessment elicited valuable information about young people who experience social disruption and the potential for immersive technology to facilitate and sustain connectedness to familiar environments and to peers. This exploratory investigation supported the viability of undertaking a more formal open trial described in this paper.

Objectives

This trial was conceptualized by two authors (HT and CF) with the following aims:

- 1. To investigate the acceptability of immersive reality experience technology for children who are hospitalized, families, and school staff
- To examine the effectiveness of this technology in improving social connectedness, reducing social isolation, and improving the well-being of children who are hospitalized
- 3. To provide information regarding the feasibility of a more definitive randomized controlled trial (RCT)

Methods

Recruitment and Sample

A mixed methods trial design was used. We aimed to recruit a convenience sample of up to 40 children and young people admitted to Starship Hospital, a tertiary pediatric hospital in Auckland, New Zealand, between December 2019 and December 2020. However, because of the COVID-19 pandemic and its potential risks to the young people in our sample who already have compromised immune systems, we were unable to recruit all 40 potential participants for 6 months between March and September 2020. This led to the final recruitment of 19 young people to trial the immersive reality experience technology, 10 (53%) of whom felt well enough to complete the intervention. In addition to the study participants, we also aimed to recruit up to 10 caregivers and 10 school staff who supported the young person's participation in the classroom to take part in semistructured interviews after the intervention. Of these 10 young people, 4 (40%) young people and their

XSL•FO RenderX

respective caregivers, together with 7 teachers, provided in-depth feedback. Fortunately, this number was sufficient for us to obtain rich qualitative data regarding the acceptability of immersive reality experience technology and some quantitative data regarding its effectiveness.

The participants were provided with information about the trial via their clinical teams. Participating teachers were actively recruited by a research assistant. All other participants learned about the project through waiting room conversations at the hospital with a physician or nurse or, in one case, a television advertisement. The required inclusion criteria for young people to participate in this trial were as follows: (1) aged 13 to 18 years, (2) presence of any medical condition, and (3) admitted to Starship Hospital for more than a 2-week period or intermittently over a 6-month time frame. Three exclusion criteria were set as follows: (1) children aged <13 years or adults aged >18 years, (2) individuals with a physical or mental health issue that prevented exposure to immersive reality experience technology (eg, severe seizures), and (3) those not able to provide informed consent (or assent with caregiver consent). All participants received a US \$25 gift voucher for their participation.

A total of 19 young people were recruited via their usual clinicians at Starship Hospital, of which 10 (53%) used the intervention. Of the 9 young people who did not use immersive reality experience technology, 2 (22%) reportedly found it too difficult to use, 1 (11%) was too unwell for the duration of the trial, 1 (11%) left the hospital sooner than expected, 1 (11%) did not provide a reason, and the schools of 4 (44%) other young people declined to allow immersive reality experience technology to be used in their classrooms despite ethics committee approval of the project and personal explanation by a research assistant.

All 19 young people completed preintervention questionnaires at the time of recruitment, and the 10 young people who completed the intervention filled out postintervention questionnaires. Only 40% (4/10) of young people took part in semistructured interviews; thus, their data were analyzed alongside those of caregivers and teachers. Characteristics of all the recruited young people are further described in Table 1. To maximize confidentiality, no data were collected regarding the type of long-term physical condition or conditions participants were experiencing.

Table 1. Characteristics of participants.

Ch	aracteristics	All participa	ints		Participants who completed the inter- vention		Participants who completed inter- views			
		Young peo- ple (n=19)	Caregivers (n=4)	Teachers (n=6)	Young peo- ple (n=10)	Caregivers	Teachers	Young peo- ple (n=4)	Caregivers (n=4)	Teachers (n=6)
Ag ran	e (years), mean (SD; ge)	14.3 (1.3; 12-17)	N/A ^a	N/A	14.2 (1.0; 13-16)	N/A	N/A	14.3 (1.0; 13-15)	N/R ^b	N/R
Se	x, n (%)									
	Male	9 (45)	0 (0)	3 (50)	5 (50)	N/A	N/A	1 (25)	0 (0)	3 (50)
	Female	10 (50)	4 (100)	3 (50)	5 (50)	N/A	N/A	3 (75)	4 (100)	(50)
Etl	nnicity, n (%)									
	New Zealand European	5 (26)	3 (75)	6 (100)	3 (30)	N/A	N/A	3 (75)	3 (75)	6 (100)
	New Zealand Māori	5 (26)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (10)	N/A	N/A	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
	Pacific Islander	5 (26)	0 (0)	0 (0)	3 (30)	N/A	N/A	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
	Asian	3 (16)	1 (25)	0 (0)	3 (30)	N/A	N/A	1 (25)	1 (25)	0 (0)
	Other	1 (5)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	N/A	N/A	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)

^aN/A: not applicable.

^bN/R: not recorded.

Intervention

The used immersive reality experience hardware included an Oculus Go (Meta Platforms) all-in-one VR headset and laptop, either of which could be used by children who are hospitalized to see and hear others, and an Insta 360 Pro 360° revolving camera and screen that could be situated in homes or schools for a young person who was absent from that environment to virtually see and move around the environment. In addition, the intervention included a buddy system, whereby a designated individual could communicate with the young person who is hospitalized via text. The young person who is hospitalized would contact the teacher in advance of a scheduled lesson.

RenderX

Cameras were turned on by the teacher at the start of the class and left on until the young person no longer felt like participating. The equipment had no recording capability.

Data Collection

Following the completion of consent procedures and paper-based outcome measures, for the quantitative portion of this study, young people were given access to immersive reality experience technology for a 6-week period, and then the outcome measures were repeated. We used the following outcome measures: the Short Warwick–Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale (SWEMWBS), Social Connectedness Scale, and Social Inclusion Scale. The SWEMWBS is a short version of the

14-item Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale, which comprises positively worded items measuring different aspects of positive mental health [19,20]. The SWEMWBS is a 7-item scale that asks participants to rate their experience of a range of thoughts and feelings (eg, "I've been dealing with problems well") over the past 2 weeks on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (none of the time) to 5 (all of the time). The score is calculated by summing the individual ratings and transforming the total into a metric score using a transformation provided by the scale authors. Scores range from 7 to 35, with higher scores indicating greater positive mental well-being. The original scale has demonstrated good content validity and is correlated with other mental health and well-being measures [19]. The short version has demonstrated similar reliability and validity to the full version (α =.84) and is suitable for use by adolescents [21,22]. The Social Connectedness Scale is a 20-item scale measuring the degree of interpersonal closeness that individuals feel between themselves and other people, both friends and society. Sample items include I feel disconnected from the world around me and I don't feel related to anyone. Items are rated from 0 to 6, with higher scores representing a stronger sense of belonging. The scale has been shown to have good internal and test-retest reliability [23,24]. We used an abbreviated version of the scale, comprising the first 8 positively framed items, with a total score of 48. The Social Inclusion Scale is a 22-item scale for measuring social inclusion that has been validated in young adults and contains three subscales for social isolation, relations, and acceptance [25]. We adapted some of the language for use with our adolescent population but did not change any of the actual items.

Qualitative data were collected through separate semistructured interviews, lasting between 30 and 45 minutes each, and were then undertaken by two members of the research team (CF and LAC) with 16 participants, including 4 (25%) young people (3, 75% female and 1, 25% male), 4 (25%) caregivers (all mothers), and 7 teachers (4, 57% female and 1, 43% male), as well as the project custodian. The aim of the interviews was to understand views on the acceptability and usefulness of the immersive reality experience technology. Interviewees reported that the number of engagements (ie, times the young person connected to their classroom via immersive reality experience technology) varied between 3 and 12 sessions. The typical length of each engagement was between 30 and 60 minutes. Engagements were usually shorter when students were in the hospital and received treatment on the day.

Data Analysis

Quantitative data were analyzed by two members of the research team (HT and HK) using Microsoft Excel (version 16) and IBM SPSS (version 25). Quantitative analyses included basic descriptive statistics (eg, changes in scores on validated scales and demographic characteristics of the sample), and changes in

social connectedness, well-being, and social inclusion were evaluated using the nonparametric Wilcoxon signed-rank test. A *P* value of <.05 was taken to indicate statistical significance, and 95% CIs were used to establish the extent of any difference between before and after measures. A sample size of 40 was calculated a priori using Strata (version 15) software to enable detection of changes of 0.5 SD in the primary measure of well-being (using the SWEMWBS) with 80% power. Interviews were audiotaped using a Phillips VoiceTracer digital recorder. The recordings were transcribed, and the transcripts were deidentified by a registered transcriber who had signed a confidentiality agreement with the University of Auckland. To analyze the data, individual transcripts were coded thematically using a 6-step coding process using NVivo 12 software (QSR International) [26]. After transcript familiarization, separate codes were linked to one of three separate case groupings distinguished as either caregiver, teacher, or young people's reflections on the project. Under each of these groups, the codes were arranged into categories based on the relationships established among them. The initial categories and subcategories were refined by 2 authors (CF and LAC), only including codes in a category if ≥ 2 interviewees referred to the idea. Any differences were resolved by consensus. All authors were involved in drafting and reviewing the manuscript.

Ethical Issues

The study received ethical approval from the New Zealand Health and Disability Ethics Committee in December 2018 (reference: 18/NTB/241). Participants were approached via their clinical teams rather than directly by the research team to minimize coercion. Consent for participation was obtained directly for those aged >16 years and via caregivers with participant assent for those aged <16 years. Consent for participation in semistructured interviews by young people, caregivers, and teachers was obtained separately. School principals provided signed consent for their teachers and students to be involved in the trial. Participants were informed that they were free to depart from the trial at any stage. All data were deidentified before analysis and publication.

Results

Quantitative Results

At baseline, participants reported moderate levels of well-being, social connectedness, and social inclusion. Following the use of immersive reality experience technology, 70% (7/10) of participants reported improved social inclusion, 80% (8/10) of participants reported improved well-being, and all participants reported improvement in social connectedness. Changes in social connectedness (P<.05) were statistically significant, as described in Table 2.



Thabrew et al

Table 2. Changes in social isolation, social connectedness, and well-being following the use of immersive reality experience technology (N=10).

Measures	SWEMWBS ^a		SCS ^b		SIS ^c	
	Before	After	Before	After	Before	After
Values, mean (SD; range)	22.4 (5.2; 17-32)	28.1 (4.5; 20-35)	27.6 (11.2; 10-45)	41.8 (6.9; 29-48)	42.1 (4.8; 34-49)	46 (4.2; 40-54)
Values, mean difference (SD)	N/A ^d	5.7 (4.0)	N/A	14.2 (10.0)	N/A	3.9 (2.8)
Wilcoxon signed-rank test						
Negative ranks	N/A	0 ^e	N/A	0 ^e	N/A	3 ^e
Positive ranks	N/A	8 ^f	N/A	$10^{\rm f}$	N/A	7 ^f
Ties	N/A	2 ^g	N/A	0^{g}	N/A	0 ^g
Total	N/A	10	N/A	10	N/A	10
P value	N/A	.12	N/A	.01	N/A	.07

^aSWEMWBS: Short Warwick–Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale.

^bSCS: Social Connectedness Scale.

^cSIS: Social Inclusion Scale.

^dN/A: not applicable.

^ePost-immersive reality experience scores lesser than pre-immersive reality experience scores.

^fPost-immersive reality experience scores greater than pre-immersive reality experience scores.

^gPost-immersive reality experience scores equal to pre-immersive reality experience scores.

Qualitative Results

Four major themes were derived from the experiences of young people, caregivers, and teachers involved in the trial:

- 1. Support for immersive reality experience technology
- 2. Connecting versus connectedness
- 3. Choice and connection
- 4. Setting it up and getting it right

All participant quotes are distinguished by the following: young person, caregiver, and teacher.

Support for Immersive Reality Experience Technology

Young people in this project echoed the sentiments of those who trialed the equipment assessment in 2018 in terms of their support for the technology [18]. Immersive feelings of *being there (in the chosen environment)* and the project as *cool* were still prevalent descriptors about the appeal of the technology by young people:

It feels like you're kind of there, so I think that was really cool, when you think about it...I was fascinated about the idea, you know? On the headset...you could watch things...there were games and stuff. So, it was pretty cool doing that. [young person 4]

I talked to my friends, and they said that it was pretty cool, and they would love to do it. [young person 19]

Caregivers also expressed the same enthusiasm for the technology:

Funnily enough at parent interviews lots of parents have said, "hey my daughter had come home" even though she wasn't in that particular Year 9 maths class, "and talked about this camera. I think it's amazing that your school has taken this on board!" [teacher 18]

Contributing specifically to the appeal of the technology was its ease of setup, as noted by different teachers:

It would take all of about a minute to get going and I didn't feel that was too time-consuming. [teacher 24]

The camera is easy, it was all plugged in, you just had to press the button. [teacher 13]

The camera obviously was very unobtrusive, so it created no real difficulties for me in the classroom. It's just a very small device on a stand that we positioned in the middle of the class...it gave no real concerns about us getting around it. [teacher 18]

Barriers to support for the technology in schools were initially encountered in terms of the ethical concerns related to recording children. However, this was resolved swiftly once permissions were obtained, and staff were briefed on how the technology would function:

Other than the fact that the school had to sort permissions and stuff, but once they realized classes won't be recorded, there were no problems. [teacher 3]

Several teachers noted the capacity of the technology in the classroom to generate opportunities for improved understanding about fellow students who were homebound or hospitalized. A teacher recalled a discussion about inclusion and isolation with her students:

The biggest thing is that I saw it as a learning opportunity for the other students in the class. We had some really nice conversations about inclusion...When they see it there, they think, oh is

that [name of young person who is home or hospital-bound]? And then my other students would notice the camera, particularly Year 12 or Year 10 and it's like, "what's that?" I'd explain to them what it is, and they're like, "What? So, she still has to do her homework?...Like oh that's ridiculous, you can't even escape it in hospital." I'm like, no—I explained it's not for learning. They're like "Oh Wow." And then they realize the real reason...That opens up conversations about isolation and how fortunate they are to be in school, healthy, with their friends, all that stuff. [teacher 6]

All caregivers and teachers acknowledged that they would not hesitate to tell other families about the Patience Project as it helps young people retain a sense of familiarity with the learning environment and their peers. Young people echoed these sentiments, as best exemplified by the following participant:

Everyone who's in hospital and going through the same thing, just to catch up with your friends and feel

Thabrew et al

like you're kind of connected in the same way. It's just good...'cause you don't wanna miss out on being with your friends [young person 4]

Connecting Versus Connectedness

Although the immersive reality experience technology enabled young people to connect to their chosen environments, connecting did not always result in the sense of connectedness. Caregivers shared mixed perceptions (Textbox 1) on whether the technology had significantly affected the young person's connectedness to their peers or made or was making their ability to return to school easier. Some caregivers concluded that there was no significant impact in these areas and suggested there might even be an increase in stress because of a sense of obligation to participate. Others described the connections made to the classroom as beneficial to break up the monotony of hospital and recovery days. In a few instances, the same caregiver noted that the connectedness capacity felt a little superficial from their perception but also acknowledged the joy experienced through participating.

Textbox 1. Caregivers' mixed perceptions of participation benefits for the young person.

Participation as beneficial for connectedness

- "My opinion is that even if you're [the YP] just there in the lesson it's better than not being there, because you'll pick up something rather than nothing." [caregiver 20]
- "I was in tears, tears of joy rather. Not sadness, joy. Thinking wow, there's something for kids who really do feel isolated. Because [she] was having a really tough time. And the first time when she connected I think I had the biggest smile on my face, seeing her smile." [caregiver 5]
- "I guess with the camera, the kids hadn't forgotten him." [caregiver 29]
- "I think there's been one child, one or two children who came and met her at hospital, which means that this connection does help. Because in the past we've really never had many people come and visit from school." [caregiver 5]

Participation as nonsignificant for connectedness

- "You know they may have anxiety about, 'well I'm on this and I'm supposed to be doing this so many times a week. And it's not happening'. So yeah, I guess in some ways it could add to a bit of stress, feeling like they have to make sure they're on it." [caregiver 2]
- "I don't think that it built...any new friendships or anything like that. I don't think that the camera would have helped him feel like he can fit in again...I think it's superficial and I also think it's a huge novelty at the start." [caregiver 29]
- "I don't think it's really made a major significant difference to be honest." [caregiver 2]
- "She was excited the first time. The second time she was like 'Mum, it's boring. Cause English is boring.' She was only connecting because she had friends in that class. And the thing is, because the class is still going, you're not able to have a specific conversation with your friend, right?" [caregiver 5]

Caregivers predominantly held a help-more-than-hinder attitude toward the technology. However, the acknowledgment that some aspects of the experience and the context within which it was engaged might be limiting is an important reminder that technology might interrupt or reduce feelings of isolation but not always incite a sense of connection. Two young people also reiterated the fact that the novelty of participating wears off, as exemplified by the following quote:

I kind of just got used to it. Turned it on, texted me just through text for a bit. And then when class started, they'd get back into it, they would be doing their work and I would be doing nothing much. [young person 19]

These connecting experiences were also influenced by a number of factors, including whether the connection was stable, whether

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e29164

the young person's buddy was reliable, the effectiveness of the interaction loop (ie, between the young person, their buddy, and the teacher), and whether the young person was feeling unwell on the day they chose to connect. Despite these factors, and in light of the insights regarding participation as potentially nonsignificant for connectedness, future adaptions of the project should consider actions to enhance the formation of strong connections, as shared by the following young person:

It would've been nice to be able to shift classes and maybe even be able to participate a bit more or something like that. Maybe even be able to have like a virtual worksheet or something that I could do along with the class. Instead of sitting there watching them do the work. [young person 28]

The need for more interactive participation was stated by all the young people.

Although not producing a sense of connectedness in all instances, all participants in semistructured interviews acknowledged that using the immersive reality experience technology was beneficial as a means of maintaining a connection with the school environment, which is best represented by the following quote:

I was able to connect with my teachers a bit more. And about who they are a bit and understand what their expectations or something are. They can get to know me and everything too. So, it was much more comforting than showing up to the first day of class and just being shocked because some teacher might yell at you for using the wrong kind of pencil or something like that. [young person 28]

Caregivers also saw gaining familiarity with the school environment through the camera as facilitating the return to school:

I think it would help her in the sense that she knows what's been going on. So, you know you'd hope that she'd be able to slot back in quite easily. [caregiver 2]

Building on the idea of maintaining a connection, teachers noted the technology as a good way of easing back into school life after extended periods away through maintenance of connections with peers:

The girls were very engaging with the camera, they would talk to her in the camera, I would call her name out on the role every day. We'd all wave to her...She couldn't talk back to the girls, but they would say, hey what are you doing? How's it going? We're doing this in class. Oh, we've got a mufti (casual attire) day today because of da, da, da. All that type of thing and then occasionally she'd message the buddy back on her computer and just say, hey, nice to see everyone, wish I was there, say hello to everyone for me. But instantly there was that connection going backwards and forwards, which was fantastic. [teacher 18]

Another teacher noted that education was a secondary benefit of using the technology:

I think some of these kids are so sick, who cares if they're not doing the work...it's a connectedness, the feeling of belonging, able to see their peers through that lens, able to feel like they're part of that classroom again. It might just be a little, you know, half an hour of their day which they feel like a normal teenager. [teacher 18]

Caregivers shared similar sentiments about the purpose of the technology to be more about peer connections than education:

It's not about learning English. It's more about connecting with your friends and being able to, as I said, go back and find it easier to go back. [caregiver 5]

Choice and Connection

For the young person, connecting and building connectedness was centered on choice (ie, who, what, when, where, and how of their choices).

When and Where to Connect?

Timing is crucial for young people wanting to and feeling physically able to connect. Young people predominantly made a choice to connect to the classroom where they could spend the most time (ie, choosing English, as that class was also the young person's homeroom where they could have informal conversations). However, sometimes the choice of room or timing did not equate to a satisfying participation experience, as noted by the following young person:

It was a very hit or miss sort of deal. Because, of course, if I had social studies in first period, I needed to make sure that I was up, like, by 9 o'clock, get on everything, do all that, especially considering when I first woke up, I would get, yeah, nausea, just a bit of sort of, like, not feeling great. And then you hop into virtual reality and you're surrounded by all this noise, and it's just sort of hard, yeah. [young person 28]

A caregiver reiterated this young person's sentiment in describing her daughters' hit or miss experience:

When you've got a sick child it's actually day by day. So the practicality of it—we'd wake up some days and she would be like yeah, I'm good to go...other days she'd wake up and go no, I'm not getting out of bed today..., it's one of those things. [caregiver 20]

Having increased possibilities for when to connect may foster a sense of control or power over aspects of daily life that have been lost with the illness.

How and With Whom to Connect?

Considering the social nature of the Patience Project, it is imperative to understand the different types of dynamics at play, including the fact that there is a buddy system. In particular, it is important to consider how decisions about the buddy system are determined and perceptions of friendships are formed by other students. Some participants described very positive experiences with their buddy, whereas others noted jealousy arising among peers in the classroom, who assumed they should be the designated buddy, with some disturbances arising in the friendships:

At one stage, one was definitely on the outer. But I'm not sure. I wondered if it was because [the buddy] had been chosen as [the young person's] buddy. I even wondered if there was a little bit of jealousy there, I'll be honest...I did alert the dean to it just in case she could have a quiet word. [teacher 21]

Other disturbances to friendships were also expressed. A young person noted their disappointment after their chosen buddies stopped communicating frequently:

My close friends...didn't come and I was just really upset about that. I didn't really wanna talk to all of

them then, and I was just really upset because I would always put it in the group chat and be like, "hey guys, you wanna come over?"...My friends that were really nice and wanted to come are on my headset thing. And none of my other friends really knew about it. But when I tried to tell them...it felt like their lives just kept going and they didn't really care about me. [young person 4]

This young person's experience is an important reminder to not underestimate the fact that when young people have choices with technology, it may come with risks.

Why Connect?

All caregivers and young people similarly stressed the need to view the project as noncompulsory, as conveyed in the following statement:

I do recommend it to someone for socialisation. But I would probably stress to them, like, heavily stress to them it's not compulsory, it's not for education, it's for socialisation. [young person 28]

However, some caregivers and young people conveyed difficulty in engaging out of a sense of obligation because of the opportunity versus genuine motivation on the day:

This is purely from us and not from [project custodian] because I think she goes through so much trouble having it all set up and this camera couriering around the country, and the school setting it up and all of that. I think that you feel "I really should [connect]." Like all this trouble's happened for me. Not that there's any pressure at all put on from the Patience Project end. But I think that's just natural human nature, that if somebody's done something for you—you want to make the most of it. [caregiver 29]

Setting It Up and Getting It Right

Overview

When it comes to enhancing the experience of using the immersive reality experience technology to connect and build connectedness, participants asserted the need to get it fully right from the initial setup. Otherwise, it may become *a bridge too far*. A young person's ability to engage was conveyed as hinging on three important factors:

- 1. The technology must work well every time. Participants in all groups recalled technical glitches in terms of noise, connection difficulties, and inability to see the board or teacher effectively at some points.
- 2. To maximize the use of technology, it needs to be easily movable.

This factor builds on the findings previously mentioned and aims to put power back into the hands of the young person, allowing them to facilitate choice over the environment for the camera. Teachers communicated that the increased mobility of the camera might enhance the educational capacity of the technology.

3. The ease of use for all parties involved is imperative.

Participants indicated that if they had to struggle with any part of the process of connecting, they would give up and consider trying another time.

Participants across all groups suggested ideas concerning these three factors, which they viewed as potentially enhancing the experience from the start, each fitting within one of the five categories:

- 1. Connecting participating teachers
- 2. Formation of bonds
- 3. Mock sessions before participation
- 4. Device mobility
- 5. Education about virtual connections

Connecting Participating Teachers

This involves a channel to share specifics of the process and any inclusive activities to engage students on the other side of the camera.

Formation of Bonds

Bonds with the teacher and a buddy were central to the project's success and moved it from the aforementioned *a bridge too far*. From the young person's perspective, when a buddy was unreliable, their connecting experience was compromised. Young people reported mixed experiences in this regard:

Because my buddy just really wasn't in touch at all. And then I couldn't find when my class. [young person 1]

versus

She turned it on and she turned it off. She was fun. She was a lot of fun in the class, so she could text me and I could text her. [young person 19]

Two caregivers suggested that it might be best for the teacher to choose someone they perceive would be a reliable buddy so as to not risk existing friendships and create opportunities to build new connections. Caregivers indicated that an individual such as the project custodian is imperative to young people's engagement and ensuring that buddies and teachers fulfill their roles. Both caregivers and young people were appreciative of the participating teachers, specifically those who embraced a new way for young people to connect to the classroom. Participants deemed it essential to have a competent teacher who will make the most of the technology and use the experience to educate other students about illness and isolation. Gauging this enthusiasm early may be a good indication of the type of interaction loop that will arise between the young person, the buddy, and their teacher.

Mock Sessions Before Participation

Having an understanding of what the young person could see on the other side of the camera was described as an important consideration for teachers to understand the experience more holistically so that they can serve the students' learning and connecting needs more effectively (ie, is board work clear? Is the camera close enough to see the content?). The idea of participating in mock sessions was also proposed as a support to help the chosen buddy grasp the importance of the session.

Device Mobility

It was unanimously suggested that if the device were easily mobile, the number of engagements would be far greater, and the student's experience would perhaps be increasingly meaningful.

Education About Virtual Connection

Participants referred to the need for education about the project and education about virtual inclusion initiatives. A teacher described their future tips for class education as being central to getting it right from the beginning:

...the teacher needs to spend the time explaining the meaning behind it, why has it been designed, if you were in the students shoes do you think it would be helpful for you? Show the clip, Ben explaining his reasons for developing it...when the kids have full context they engage with it, they're completely on your side, they engage with the participant and then I think they get 100 times more out of it. Being totally honest and upfront with the class from the beginning I think gives you the best possible outcome. [teacher 18]

Two teachers described how in parent-teacher interviews, caregivers said, "I think it's amazing that your school's taken this onboard" after expressing their child had come home describing the technology and its purpose. Young people also highlighted the need for further training on how to use the technology:

There was a bit of a problem with the VR set...because I didn't know how to make it 360, I couldn't find the setting. So it was just on a big screen. I was on my laptop. So, yeah. But it was fine other than that. [young person 19]

Both teachers and caregivers noted initial concerns about who else would see into the classroom, whether the sessions were being recorded, and whether the teacher was being judged by onlookers. The Patience Project was designed for the child's eyes only, and after speaking with the project custodian, teachers and students in the classroom felt assured that privacy would be upheld.

Adding to a need for education, encouraging the heads of schools to use the project as a tool to bridge unmet needs was also described by a caregiver. Helping teachers and heads of school move beyond *the too hard basket* mentality when it comes to children who are home and hospital bound was a significant concern of a few caregivers who struggled to find support for their children upon initial diagnosis. Thus, the Patience Project helped with connection to educational and social environments, even if only for familiarity purposes—a need not previously met, as described by a caregiver:

About October she was feeling better and she goes "mum, can you get me some work?"...I contacted her teacher and no one would get back to us. It was in the too hard basket for them. I asked, "Can these kids not Skype into their classrooms? We Skype all the time and you're telling me we can't do this?" [caregiver 2]

Educating the staff (head teachers to classroom teachers) was also noted as a way of fostering supportive environments for the immersive reality experience technology for schools:

I spoke at a staff afterschool meeting, talked about it and showed how it worked...did some photos, did a little video clip of how it works in my general day to day class room and explained it to our staff of 120. And at the end they were...blown away! I guess, by the technology and the opportunity that students like [she] could get by having that camera in the class. [teacher 18]

These education sessions often turned into curiosity about the technology, as another teacher noted the following:

I obviously briefed all the teachers; told them about the camera in my class and the reason for it etcetera. They thought it was a worthwhile initiative and some came round to have a look at how it worked. [teacher 3]

Aside from one teacher who was respecting the privacy of the participant, all participants described sharing with staff and students as a positive experience, and all stated that they would happily be involved again.

Discussion

Principal Findings

Our results provide valuable information regarding the acceptability of immersive reality experience technology and what might be required for its successful implementation. The technology appealed to many of our trial participants, and there was an acknowledgment of its potential to facilitate learning and ease the transition back to normal life, particularly school following an illness. Our findings also provide a preliminary indication of its effectiveness at improving well-being and social connectedness and, to a lesser extent, improving social inclusion and disrupting social isolation for young people with long-term physical conditions.

A handful of other devices and web-based and text-, audio-, and video-based technologies have been trialed over the past couple of decades to connect children who are hospitalized with schools and meet their academic and social needs in international contexts outside New Zealand [27]. These include a communication app for young people with cystic fibrosis [28], an ambient technology-based orb in the classroom [29], and the Presence app [30]. To date, no studies have used virtual or immersive reality. Most previously studied interventions demonstrated similar qualitative acceptability to that of immersive reality experience technology [14,31]. Only one open trial of the 2-way, web-based Bednet tool [32] demonstrated improved social connectedness using a Likert scale, and a nonrandomized trial of a CareRabbit robot that helps children stay in touch with family and friends [33] has demonstrated nonsignificant differences in well-being between groups. Thus, our study is the first trial of a hospital to school communication

system to demonstrate improvements in both social connectedness and well-being.

A number of participants in our trial experienced personal, health-related, technological challenges and school-related barriers to its use. Some simply did not find the technology engaging enough to continue using it. Others experienced challenges in getting the equipment to work. Duration and frequency of use were often related to users' state of health or treatment schedules, with greater use on days when they were feeling well or not attending medical appointments. Acceptance of cameras in classrooms, knowing how to use them, and socializing classroom buddies and fellow students also proved difficult for some schools. These issues have all been experienced by the developers of similar interventions [27] and, rather than being reasons for their disuse, are probably key barriers to target during implementations. They are also issues to consider during the design of a more definitive RCT. Allowing greater time, sourcing participants from a larger catchment, and engaging schools in advance of participant recruitment would be useful.

Young people's sense of connectedness appeared to be dependent on everyone else's connection and ability to foster connectedness (eg, the buddy connecting, friends continuing to engage with them through the device, family or whanau communicating with teachers when a child is unwell, and teachers communicating classroom activities and checking in via the device). For some, the social connectedness they experienced was superficial; however, they still embraced the moments of interrupted isolation the technology offered. For others, it worked exceptionally well, indicating that all the dependent factors functioned in cohesion. It was reassuring that most caregivers and teachers supported the use of the immersive reality experience technology. Although some caregivers were focused on the educational benefits of connection between hospitals and schools, most appreciated the value of social connectedness for their children's well-being. Teachers were also positive about the child's right to inclusivity and the formation of new, and maintenance of old, friendships between students in the classroom and young people who are hospitalized. This may be attributed to the fact that they were witnessing (at least in part) what the young person was seeing on the other side of the camera in terms of peers in the classroom speaking to the camera, asking questions about the situation, and seeing the 2-way communication loop (ie, texting) between the buddy and young person occur. Effective education regarding the purpose of the trial and training in how to use immersive reality experience equipment were key parts of this process.

VR-based technology is not new. It has been shown to be useful for distraction, pain reduction, and relaxation during the treatment of children and young people who are hospitalized and has improved in quality over the past decade [34,35]. Illness or treatment-related nausea reportedly detracts a subset from fully engaging with the immersive reality experience technology. A future trial that includes VR and non-VR arms would help clarify the additive value of VR headsets. Having a reliable *buddy* at the other end of the connection was a more relevant issue for most participants. Being able to connect in a flexible manner, including being able to choose between the use of VR and non-VR methods, also probably helped to foster a sense of control or power over aspects of daily life that have been lost with illness. The reliability of technology appeared to be especially important for participants, with connection difficulties and inability to see the teacher or board and inability to move the camera sometimes proving to be *a bridge too far*. Although the COVID-19 pandemic significantly affected recruitment, it may also have normalized children's access to educational environments through virtual media. Evident from the increasing openness of teachers to immersive reality experience technology toward the end of the trial, this phenomenon deserves greater investigation.

The strengths of this trial include participation by young people with a range of long-term physical conditions, the collection of both quantitative and qualitative data with which to better understand the experience of individuals using immersive reality experience technology, and triangulation of participant views with those of their caregivers and teachers. Low recruitment because of COVID-19-related restrictions in access to patients who are hospitalized and the consequent absence of any participants aged 17 to 18 years were the main limitations of this trial, as was the absence of any qualitative data from participants who did not use the intervention and those who were too unwell or elected not to be interviewed, which might have provided less favorable perspectives. Nonetheless, we were pleased to observe qualitative evidence of acceptability and improvement in all quantitative outcomes. The generalization of trial results to other settings cannot be assumed from our findings, nor can effectiveness and acceptability to individuals from different cultural backgrounds. A larger trial is needed to confirm our preliminary quantitative results. It would also be useful to collect objective data regarding the actual time spent using the immersive reality experience technology. A more in-depth analysis of hospital and school-related factors affecting engagement and setup; the impact of COVID-19 on openness to virtual communication between hospitals and schools; the use of e-mentors, as suggested by Ellis et al [36]; and the value of liaison workers in schools (eg, health school staff and health school teachers) [37] would be useful to augment the effective use of immersive reality experience. Considering feedback to date, immersive reality experience technology is being adapted and integrated into lower cost, multimodal communication by the Patience Project Charitable Trust. This should improve its portability and applicability to a greater number of users.

Conclusions

This trial demonstrates that immersive reality experience technology has the potential to improve the well-being, social connectedness, and social inclusion of New Zealand children and young people who are hospitalized. It also provides valuable information regarding the feasibility of a more definitive RCT. With some technological modifications and simplified implementation, immersive reality experience and related communication technology could become part of standard care and support children and young people who are hospitalized in New Zealand and elsewhere to sustain family and peer cohesion,

XSL•FO RenderX

experience fewer psychological problems, and more easily return to school and normal life following completion of treatment.

Acknowledgments

The authors sincerely thank the Starship Foundation for their sponsorship of this project (grant A+8661) and all the young people, caregivers, and teachers who provided their time and valuable feedback. The authors would also like to thank Dr Alana Cavadino for her statistical advice, Stacey Yates for her efforts in maintaining recruitment during the initial phase of the pandemic, and Ben Martel for developing the immersive reality experience technology. The technology, methods, and processes developed during this research are available upon request to any other party who wishes to extend or implement their own immersive reality experience engagement.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Crengle S, Clark TC, Robinson E, Bullen P, Dyson B, Denny S, The Adolescent Health Research Group. The Health and Wellbeing of Māori New Zealand Secondary School Students in 2012. Te Ara Whakapiki Taitamariki: Youth'12. Auckland, New Zealand: The University of Auckland; 2013.
- 2. Gilmour M, Hopkins L, Meyers G, Nell C, Stafford N. School Connection for Seriously Sick Kids. Who Are They, How Do We Know What Works, and Whose Job Is It?. Canberra, Australia: Australian Research Alliance for Children and Youth (ARACY); 2015.
- 3. Eiser C. Effects of chronic illness on children and their families. Adv Psychiatr Treat 2018 Jan 02;3(4):204-210. [doi: 10.1192/apt.3.4.204]
- Park C, Majeed A, Gill H, Tamura J, Ho RC, Mansur RB, et al. The effect of loneliness on distinct health outcomes: a comprehensive review and meta-analysis. Psychiatry Res 2020 Dec;294:113514. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113514</u>] [Medline: <u>33130511</u>]
- Loades ME, Chatburn E, Higson-Sweeney N, Reynolds S, Shafran R, Brigden A, et al. Rapid systematic review: the impact of social isolation and loneliness on the mental health of children and adolescents in the context of COVID-19. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2020 Nov;59(11):1218-1239 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2020.05.009] [Medline: 32504808]
- 6. Muntaner JJ, Forteza D, Salom M. The inclusion of students with chronic diseases in regular schools. Procedia Soc Behav Sci 2014 May;132:74-79. [doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.04.280]
- 7. Mitchell W, Clarke S, Sloper P. Survey of psychosocial support provided by UK paediatric oncology centres. Arch Dis Child 2005 Aug 01;90(8):796-800 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/adc.2004.065177] [Medline: 15855177]
- Anderson M, Elliott EJ, Zurynski YA. Australian families living with rare disease: experiences of diagnosis, health services use and needs for psychosocial support. Orphanet J Rare Dis 2013 Feb 11;8(1):22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1750-1172-8-22] [Medline: 23398775]
- 9. Lal S, Adair CE. E-mental health: a rapid review of the literature. Psychiatr Serv 2014 Jan 01;65(1):24-32. [doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.201300009] [Medline: 24081188]
- Thabrew H, Stasiak K, Hetrick S, Wong S, Huss J, Merry S. E-Health interventions for anxiety and depression in children and adolescents with long-term physical conditions. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018 Aug 15;8:CD012489 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD012489.pub2] [Medline: 30110718]
- 11. Flavián C, Ibáñez-Sánchez S, Orús C. The impact of virtual, augmented and mixed reality technologies on the customer experience. J Bus Res 2019 Jul;100:547-560. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2018.10.050]
- Bowler DE, Buyung-Ali LM, Knight TM, Pullin AS. A systematic review of evidence for the added benefits to health of exposure to natural environments. BMC Public Health 2010 Aug 04;10(1):456 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-10-456] [Medline: 20684754]
- 13. Coon JT, Boddy K, Stein K, Whear R, Barton J, Depledge MH. Does participating in physical activity in outdoor natural environments have a greater effect on physical and mental wellbeing than physical activity indoors? A systematic review. Environ Sci Technol 2011 Mar 01;45(5):1761-1772. [doi: 10.1021/es102947t] [Medline: 21291246]
- Hopkins L, Wadley G, Vetere F, Fong M, Green J. Utilising technology to connect the hospital and the classroom: maintaining connections using tablet computers and a 'Presence' App. Aus J Edu 2014 Jul 03;58(3):278-296. [doi: 10.1177/0004944114542660]
- 15. Soares N, Kay JC, Craven G. Mobile robotic telepresence solutions for the education of hospitalized children. Perspect Health Inf Manag 2017;14(Fall):1e [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29118682]
- Beeman RY, Henderson CJ. Video-conferencing technology brings a homebound middle grades student to the classroom. Middle School J 2015 Aug 26;43(5):26-33. [doi: 10.1080/00940771.2012.11461826]

- 17. Lombaert E, Veevaete P, Schuurman D, Hauttekeete L, Valcke M. A special tool for special children: creating an ICT tool to fulfil the educational and social needs of long-term or chronic sick children. Current Developments in Technology-Assisted Education. 2006. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/2p8834dc</u> [accessed 2022-02-18]
- 18. Chubb LA, Fouché CB, Agee M, Thompson A. 'Being there': technology to reduce isolation for young people with significant illness. Int J Inclus Edu 2021 Apr 22:1-18. [doi: 10.1080/13603116.2021.1916106]
- Tennant R, Hiller L, Fishwick R, Platt S, Joseph S, Weich S, et al. The Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (WEMWBS): development and UK validation. Health Qual Life Outcomes 2007 Nov 27;5(1):63 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-5-63] [Medline: 18042300]
- 20. Ng Fat L, Scholes S, Boniface S, Mindell J, Stewart-Brown S. Evaluating and establishing national norms for mental wellbeing using the short Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (SWEMWBS): findings from the Health Survey for England. Qual Life Res 2017 May 16;26(5):1129-1144 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11136-016-1454-8] [Medline: 27853963]
- McKay MT, Andretta JR. Evidence for the psychometric validity, internal consistency, and measurement invariance of Warwick Edinburgh mental well-being scale scores in Scottish and Irish adolescents. Psychiatry Res 2017 Sep;255:382-386. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.psychres.2017.06.071</u>] [Medline: <u>28666244</u>]
- Ringdal R, Eilertsen MB, Bjørnsen HN, Espnes GA, Moksnes UK. Validation of two versions of the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale among Norwegian adolescents. Scand J Public Health 2018 Nov 10;46(7):718-725. [doi: 10.1177/1403494817735391] [Medline: 29017402]
- 23. Lee RM, Robbins SB. Measuring belongingness: The Social Connectedness and the Social Assurance scales. J Counsel Psychol 1995 Apr;42(2):232-241. [doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.42.2.232]
- 24. Lee RM, Robbins SB. The relationship between social connectedness and anxiety, self-esteem, and social identity. J Counsel Psychol 1998 Jul;45(3):338-345. [doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.45.3.338]
- 25. Wilson C, Secker J. Validation of the Social Inclusion Scale with students. Soc Incl 2015 Jul 24;3(4):52-62. [doi: 10.17645/si.v3i4.121]
- 26. Braun V, Clarke V. Successful Qualitative Research: A Practical Guide for Beginners. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2013.
- 27. Maor D, Mitchem K. Can technologies make a difference for hospitalized youth: findings from research. J Comput Assist Learn 2015 Oct 15;31(6):690-705. [doi: 10.1111/jcal.12112]
- Francis J, Cross D, Schultz A, Armstrong D, Nguyen R, Branch-Smith C. Developing a smartphone application to support social connectedness and wellbeing in young people with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros 2020 Mar;19(2):277-283. [doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2019.12.011] [Medline: <u>31917112</u>]
- 29. Vetere F, Green J, Nisselle A, Thu Dang X, Zazryn T, Peng Deng P. Inclusion during school absence: using ambient technology to create a classroom presence for hospitalised children. Telecommun J Aus 2012 Nov 08;62(5). [doi: 10.7790/tja.v62i5.353]
- 30. Wadley G, Vetere F, Hopkins L, Green J, Kulik L. Exploring ambient technology for connecting hospitalised children with school and home. Int J Hum-Comput Stud 2014 Aug;72(8-9):640-653. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijhcs.2014.04.003]
- 31. Maor D, Mitchem K. Hospitalized adolescents' use of mobile technologies for learning, communication, and well-being. J Adolesc Res 2018 Feb 27;35(2):225-247. [doi: 10.1177/0743558417753953]
- 32. Zhu C, Van Winkel L. Using an ICT tool as a solution for the educational and social needs of long-term sick adolescents. Technol Pedag Edu 2014 Jan 24;24(2):231-245. [doi: <u>10.1080/1475939x.2013.856339</u>]
- Blom S, Boere-Boonekamp MM, Stegwee RA. Social connectedness through ICT and the influence on wellbeing: the case of the CareRabbit. Stud Health Technol Inform 2011;169:78-82. [Medline: <u>21893718</u>]
- 34. Yap KY, Koh DW, Lee VS, Wong LL. Use of virtual reality in the supportive care management of paediatric patients with cancer. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2020 Dec;4(12):899-908. [doi: 10.1016/s2352-4642(20)30240-6]
- 35. Tennant M, Youssef GJ, McGillivray J, Clark T, McMillan L, McCarthy MC. Exploring the use of immersive virtual reality to enhance psychological well-being in pediatric oncology: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2020 Oct;48:101804. [doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2020.101804] [Medline: 32949941]
- Ellis SJ, Drew D, Wakefield CE, Saikal SL, Punch D, Cohn RJ. Results of a nurse-led intervention: connecting pediatric cancer patients from the hospital to the school using videoconferencing technologies. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2013 Dec 26;30(6):333-341. [doi: 10.1177/1043454213514633] [Medline: 24371261]
- 37. Hopkins L, Green J, Henry J, Edwards B, Wong S. Staying engaged: the role of teachers and schools in keeping young people with health conditions engaged in education. Aust Educ Res 2013 Apr 25;41(1):25-41. [doi: 10.1007/s13384-013-0096-x]

Abbreviations

RenderX

RCT: randomized controlled trial **SWEMWBS:** Short Warwick–Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale **VR:** virtual reality Edited by S Badawy; submitted 29.03.21; peer-reviewed by E Hopkins, L Jesus, K Yong; comments to author 20.05.21; revised version received 30.06.21; accepted 20.12.21; published 25.03.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Thabrew H, Chubb LA, Kumar H, Fouché C Immersive Reality Experience Technology for Reducing Social Isolation and Improving Social Connectedness and Well-being of Children and Young People Who Are Hospitalized: Open Trial JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e29164 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e29164 doi:10.2196/29164 PMID:35333184

©Hiran Thabrew, Laura A Chubb, Harshali Kumar, Christa Fouché. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 25.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

The Development of an mHealth Tool for Children With Long-term Illness to Enable Person-Centered Communication: User-Centered Design Approach

Angelica Wiljén^{1,2,3}, MSc; John Eric Chaplin⁴, PhD; Vanessa Crine², MSc; William Jobe⁵, PhD; Ensa Johnson^{6,7}, PhD; Katarina Karlsson⁸, PhD; Tomas Lindroth⁹, PhD; Anneli Schwarz¹⁰, PhD; Margaretha Stenmarker^{4,11,12}, PhD; Gunilla Thunberg^{2,13,14}, PhD; Joakim Öhlén^{1,2,15}, PhD; Stefan Nilsson^{1,2}, PhD

- ⁵Department of Informatics, School of Business, Economics and IT, University West, Trollhättan, Sweden
- ⁶Centre for Augmentative and Alternative Communication, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa
- ⁷Department of Inclusive Education, University of South Africa, Pretoria, South Africa
- ⁸Department of Health Sciences, Faculty of Caring Science, Work Life and Social Welfare, University of Borås, Borås, Sweden
- ⁹Department of Applied Information Technology, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden
- ¹⁰Department of Research, Education and Innovation, Region Västra Götaland, Södra Älvsborg Hospital, Borås, Sweden

¹³Dart Centre for Augmentative and Alternative Communication and Assistive Technology, Sahlgrenska University Hospital, Gothenburg, Sweden

Corresponding Author:

Stefan Nilsson, PhD Institute of Health and Care Sciences Sahlgrenska Academy University of Gothenburg Box 457 Gothenburg, 405 30 Sweden Phone: 46 738538951 Email: <u>stefan.nilsson.4@gu.se</u>

Abstract

Background: Children with long-term illnesses frequently experience symptoms that could negatively affect their daily lives. These symptoms are often underreported in health care. Despite a large number of mobile health (mHealth) tools, few are based on a theoretical framework or supported by scientific knowledge. Incorporating universal design when developing a product can promote accessibility and facilitate person-centered communication.

Objective: The aim of this study is to identify the symptom-reporting needs of children with cancer and congenital heart defects that could be satisfied by using a mobile app. Another aim is to evaluate how the child might interact with the app by considering universal design principles and to identify parents' views and health care professionals' expectations and requirements for an mHealth tool.

Methods: User-centered design is an iterative process that focuses on an understanding of the users. The adapted user-centered design process includes 2 phases with 4 stages. Phase 1 involved interviews with 7 children with long-term illnesses, 8 parents, and 19 health care professionals to determine their needs and wishes for support; a workshop with 19 researchers to deepen our understanding of the needs; and a workshop with developers to establish a preliminary tool to further investigate needs and

¹Institute of Health and Care Sciences, Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden

²University of Gothenburg Centre for Person-Centred Care, Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden

³Department of Paediatrics, Region Västra Götaland, Södra Älvsborg Hospital, Borås, Sweden

⁴Department of Paediatrics, Institute for Clinical Sciences, Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden

¹¹Department of Paediatrics, Region Jönköping County, Jönköping, Sweden

¹²Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden

¹⁴Speech and Language Pathology Unit, Institute of Neuroscience and Physiology, Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden

¹⁵Palliative Centre, Sahlgrenska University Hospital Region Västra Götaland, Gothenburg, Sweden

behaviors. Phase 2 involved interviews with 10 children with long-term illnesses, 9 parents, and 21 health care professionals to evaluate the mock-up (prototype) of the mHealth tool. Data were synthesized using the interpretive description technique.

Results: A total of 4 aspects of needs emerged from the synthesis of the data, as follows: different perspectives on provided and perceived support; the need for an easy-to-use, non-clinic-based tool to self-report symptoms and to facilitate communication; the need for safety by being in control and reaching the child's voice; and a way of mapping the illness journey to facilitate recall and improve diagnostics. The children with long-term illnesses expressed a need to not only communicate about pain but also communicate about anxiety, fatigue, fear, and nausea.

Conclusions: The findings of this study indicated that the PicPecc (Pictorial Support in Person-Centered Care for Children) app is a potential solution for providing communicative support to children with long-term illnesses dealing with multiple symptoms and conditions. The interview data also highlighted symptoms that are at risk of being overlooked if they are not included in the mobile app. Further studies are needed to include usability testing and evaluation in hospitals and home care settings.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e30364) doi:10.2196/30364

KEYWORDS

children; communication; long-term illness; mHealth; pediatric care; person-centered care; symptom assessment; universal design

Introduction

Background

Children with long-term illnesses such as cancer [1] and congenital heart defects [2] have multiple symptoms that cause discomfort and negatively affect their daily lives. These children have a significantly lower health-related quality of life (HrQoL) than that of healthy controls [3,4]. Children experiencing multiple symptoms also have lower HrQoL than that of children with fewer symptoms [5]. Parents of children with long-term illnesses, such as cancer, confirmed that they experience challenges in identifying symptoms—specifically pain-related symptoms are often underreported and not identified [8,9], treated, or relieved [10], causing children unnecessary distress and pain.

Symptom assessment is a key to symptom relief, and children should have the opportunity to self-assess and report their symptoms. However, such reporting may be limited by the children's ability to measure and describe distinct cancer-related symptoms, which can further affect the ability of parents or health care professionals to provide the necessary supportive care [11]. Evidence to show that exclusive use of rating scales makes a difference in the management of symptoms, such as pediatric pain, is limited [12]. More knowledge is needed about how symptom assessment could be combined with other measures to reduce symptom intensity and improve function [12]. There is also a need to ensure valuable apps continue to be used by children and are usable by providing access to maintenance and updates [13,14]. Therefore, finding an appropriate means of facilitating children's self-reported communication of symptoms is important. Bernier Carney et al [15] and Wesley and Fizur [16] proposed the use of mobile health (mHealth) tools such as mobile gamified apps that include creative approaches to symptom assessment to enable health care professionals and parents to capture self-reported data of children's symptoms.

In existing apps, pain is often considered as a core symptom to be monitored via self-report [15]. Apps can even help to significantly reduce cancer-related pain scores, especially when

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30364
```

they offer instant messaging modules [17]. Besides pain, other symptoms such as changes in appetite, cough, dizziness, nausea, fatigue, difficulty sleeping, vomiting, and well-being are also represented in apps [18-20]. In general, the willingness to use these apps is high because of developmentally appropriate interfaces and features that ensure child-centered self-reporting [17-21]. No specific symptom management app was found for children with congenital heart defects.

When developing an mHealth supportive tool or app for children, it is important to consider children's diagnoses and their cognitive, developmental, and language levels [22,23]. It is also necessary to take into account children's experiences and suggestions. However, children are rarely invited to participate in the development of such tools [24]. According to a qualitative evaluation of existing apps for pain management (n=36), it was stated that most apps were developed without end user and clinician involvement. In addition, the apps had security problems, lacked graphical data visualization, and did not include instruments used in clinical settings [25]. Moreover, measures are generally created for adults and simplified at a later stage to accommodate use by children under the assumption that children and adults share the same concerns [26].

To ensure that children's preferences and needs are incorporated in the mHealth tool, it is important to include children, as well as other stakeholders, in its development. This process is referred to as user-centered design (UCD) and involves all stakeholders working together as equal partners to contribute to the design of a new product (eg, mHealth tool) in an attempt to develop an efficient and feasible tool for a specific population [27,28]. When designing an app that can be used by various people in different situations, it is important to take human abilities, needs, and requirements into account. As such, universal design (UD) or *inclusive design* aims to facilitate accessibility for users with all kinds of abilities and needs [29]. Accessibility could be provided through the use of pictures, audio, and easy-to-read texts [30-32].

Three different approaches to centeredness exist in pediatric health care: child, family, or person [33]. This study focuses on person-centeredness, as this closely follows the caring process

XSL•FO RenderX

and includes the child and the family [34]. In pediatric symptom assessment, a person-centered approach could help in selecting and providing optimal treatments [26,35]. In health care, the need to implement person-centered care is growing [36,37]. Person-centered care aims to create partnerships among patients, families, carers, and health care professionals [34,37]. As defined by the Gothenburg model for person-centered care, the three routines of this approach are as follows: (1) initiating a partnership by eliciting the patient's narrative, including goals, capabilities, and limitations; (2) building the partnership through the cocreation of a health plan promoting the patient's self-efficacy and self-care; and (3) safeguarding the partnership by documenting the patient's story and health plan to support the continuity of care [37,38]. A European Union standard for patient involvement has recently been launched to facilitate pediatric person-centered care [34,39].

Objective

This study is based on the child's perspective, meaning that the child's needs and experiences are central. It strives for a child-centered approach by listening to the child's preferences and taking into account the adults' views on what is in the best interests of the child [34,39,40]. Research shows that parent-centered communication styles can feel disempowering for children, whereas communication tailored to child-centric communicative and developmental needs gives them a sense of respect, safety, and control. In turn, empowering children and promoting their autonomy and partnership may be beneficial for their quality of care, health outcomes, and well-being [1].

First, our study aims to identify the symptom-reporting needs of children with cancer and congenital heart defects, with and without communication challenges, to inform the design of a tool that could be used in a mobile app to meet the child's requirements in order for them to feel safe in its use to communicate their symptoms. As most apps are focused on pain and not necessarily on other symptoms such as anxiety, nausea, and fear, this study aims to describe the initial development of a person-centered communication support mHealth tool (ie, PicPecc [Pictorial Support in Person-Centered Care for Children]) intended for use as a self-report device by children with long-term illnesses to report and manage their symptoms at a hospital or at home. Children with cancer and children with congenital heart defects were chosen as they often experience multiple symptoms, which would test the functionality of the app. The subsequently developed app is called PicPecc.

Second, this study aims to evaluate how the child might interact with the app, considering UD principles, and to identify parents' views and health care professionals' expectations and requirements for an mHealth tool.

Methods

The Adapted UCD Process

UCD is an iterative process that focuses on an understanding of the users and their context in all stages of design and development. In UCD, the design project is based on an explicit understanding of the users, tasks, and environments. Therefore, the team involved in the design process should include a range of professionals across multiple disciplines, as well as domain experts, stakeholders, and the users themselves [41,42]. This is a way of increasing the impact of mHealth tool usability for children and adolescents [27,28]. During the development process of PicPecc, a set of key principles were in focus: dynamism, iteration, creativity, openness to change, and a look forward toward future evaluation and implementation [43].

From a user-centered perspective, it is central to not only involve the user but also to have a point of departure in the existing practice where the artifact is intended to be used [44]. Thus, being user-centered means having a focus on multiple users and on the context in which the use takes place. Thus, in a care situation involving children, it is central to weave in the experiences of children, their parents, and health care professionals [41]. In addition to users, UCD stresses the importance of having different types of experts in the design process. We are not referring primarily to information technology experts but to experts in the areas that the design process may affect.

From a UCD perspective, design is not just the activities conducted together with a user or activities for which the digital artifact is developed. A central part of the process is to set the framework for the project and define its starting point. It is said that design is vision driven and intentional, meaning it is consciously aimed toward change [45]. Thus, the design process starts as soon as the principles for the project are defined and data are collected and lasts beyond the implementation of the artifact in the practice it was designed for.

In this study, the starting point was a design approach that departs from 3 child-centered standpoints. The first is to design a solution that solves the problem of children's symptoms being underreported and not identified [8,9], treated, or relieved [10], causing children to experience unnecessary distress. The second is symptom assessment being key to symptom relief, whereby children should have the opportunity to self-assess and report their symptoms. Thus, this study centers on children's ability to self-report their symptoms. The third standpoint was to follow the principles of UD to identify the expectations and requirements of the health care professionals who would analyze the data and the parents' attitude toward using the app and, finally, to use a mock-up of the app to evaluate how children from different long-term illnesses benefit from the app.

Inspired by previous research, the UCD process included feedback, suggestions, and observations from a multidisciplinary research team, children, parents, and health care professionals in 2 phases [46]. Figure 1 shows a visual presentation of the 2 phases.



Figure 1. A visual presentation of the two phases of the study. PicPecc: Pictorial Support in Person-Centered Care for Children.



Children with cancer could not participate in all stages of UCD for medical and ethical reasons. An adapted version of UCD was used where the children's, parents', and health care professionals' voices were represented in stages 2 and 3 via interview data. Subsequently, the adapted UCD was followed in the development of the PicPecc mHealth tool, comprising 2 sequential phases.

Phase 1 involved 3 stages. For example, in stage 1 of phase 1, interviews with children with long-term illnesses and their parents were conducted, with participants sharing their lived experiences to guide the development of the PicPecc app. Health care professionals who worked within the system also provided input on their needs and the perceived needs of the children when caring for them. The children's needs and wishes were the departure points for all the following design activities, followed by the results from the parents and health care professionals.

Stage 2 of phase 1 involved a workshop where researchers with theoretical and clinical intervention knowledge presented information on person-centered care, UD, and evidence-based practices on the use of mHealth tools in various settings, such as high-, low-, and middle-income countries, to inform the development needs of the specific intervention (PicPecc).

In stage 3 of phase 1, a workshop was held with the design team (information technology personnel). These designers provided valuable input in terms of which electronic platforms might best

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30364
```

RenderX

suit the needs of the specific tool (PicPecc). In addition, this stage involved using the analyzed data from the first 2 stages as guidance for the development of PicPecc. The task of the experts and developers was to highlight existing evidence and indicate what technical possibilities were available to meet the children's requirements. The design of the app was decided along with experts in UD [47] to facilitate accessibility for all users, regardless of their ability and needs.

In phase 2, we followed principles from previous research and included a pilot test with children, parents, and health care professionals who tested our ideas for the first time with a mock-up (prototype) of the developed PicPecc [48]. Stage 1 (forming part of phase 2) involved interviews with children, parents, and health care professionals to evaluate the PicPecc app (Figure 1). The participants tested the ideas and reflected on the flow of the PicPecc app, commenting on whether the app was easy or fun to use. The participants also described whether the app was adaptable to their individual needs.

The Shier [49] Pathway to Participation model (2001) is often used to assess commitment to youth participation. The model contains 5 levels of participation, where level 5 means that children share power and responsibility in the development of an intervention. The present adapted UCD reaches level 3 on the Shier [49] model; that is, children's voices are taken into account in the process of developing the intervention.

Ethical Approval

After ethical approval was obtained from the Swedish Ethical Review Authority (reference 2019-02392; 2020-02601; 2020-06226), children and parents were contacted and informed about the study through assigned persons working in the pediatric wards where the children were treated. Each assigned person was informed about the study by the researchers.

Phase 1

Stage 1 Semistructured Interviews and a Focus Group

Research Question

How do children with long-term illnesses, their parents, and health care professionals prefer to communicate about symptoms and symptom relief, and what symptoms are important to talk about?

Participants

Participants were recruited from 5 different hospitals in Sweden. Purposive sampling of children, parents, and health care professionals was used according to the following eligibility criteria: (1) an understanding of Swedish or English, (2) an age of 5 to 17 years, (3) a cancer or congenital heart defects diagnosis, and (4) an experience of illness. We chose to include children with an expected experience of a range of symptoms. Children in need of end-of-life care were excluded. Parents of children diagnosed with cancer or congenital heart defects, as well as health care professionals working with children with these diagnoses, were also involved in this study. Health care professionals with <6 months of work experience in pediatrics were excluded. Participants in this first stage of phase 1 included 7 children with cancer, 8 parents, and 19 health care professionals (Table 1).

Table 1. Characteristics of participants in phase 1 (stage 1) and phase 2 (stage 1).

Characteristics of health care professionals	Phase 1 (stage 1), n/N (%)	Phase 2 (stage 1), n/N (%)	Participants who participated in both phases, n/N (%)
Health care professionals			
Gender			
Female	15/19 (79)	18/21 (86)	9/11 (82)
Male	4/19 (21)	3/21 (14)	2/11 (18)
Registered nurse	11/19 (58)	17/21 (81)	7/11 (64)
Assistant nurse	3/19 (16)	1/21 (5)	1/11 (9)
Physician	5/19 (26)	3/21 (14)	3/11 (27)
Working years in the same workplace			
0-5	4/19 (21)	9/21 (43)	3/11 (27)
6-15	6/19 (32)	2/21 (10)	1/11 (9)
≥16	9/19 (47)	10/21 (48)	7/11 (64)
Children and parents			
Children	7/15 (47)	10/19 (53)	6/11 (55)
Parents	8/15 (53)	9/19 (47)	5/11 (45)
Age (years) of the child during the time of data coll	lection		
7-11	2/7 (29)	4/10 (40)	2/6 (33)
12-14	4/7 (57)	5/10 (50)	3/6 (50)
≥15	1/7 (14)	1/10 (10)	1/6 (17)
Diagnosis of the child at the time of data collection			
Leukemia (ALL ^a or AML ^b)	5/7 (71)	6/10 (60)	5/6 (83)
Solid tumor	2/7 (29)	2/10 (20)	1/6 (17)
Congenital heart defects	0/7 (0)	2/10 (20)	0/6 (0)
Time since diagnosis at the time of data collection ((months)		
0-3	2/7 (29)	0/10 (0)	0/6 (0)
4-8	4/7 (57)	1/10 (10)	0/6 (0)
≥9	1/7 (14)	9/10 (90)	6/6 (100)

^aALL: acute lymphoblastic leukemia.

^bAML: acute myeloid leukemia.

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30364

Procedure

The health care professionals were contacted by the last author (SN) and invited to participate. Interviews were conducted with children and parents at the hospital where the child had a scheduled appointment for treatment. Written consent was obtained from health care professionals and parents, and assent was obtained from each child. The interviews were conducted by the first (AW) and last authors (SN) and were audio recorded or video recorded (Textbox 1). The young children were given the option to be interviewed together with their parents or to be interviewed alone. To hear the child's own voice, the child was asked to answer the question first, after which the parent could

answer the question to add depth to what the child said and to add the parents' view. Some health care professionals also chose to do their interviews in dyads, as they often worked together. Upon receiving consent, a suitable time and a meeting place were decided. The health care professionals' interviews were conducted at their workplace. A focus group with 4 health care professionals was also conducted, where the first author (AW) was the moderator and the last author (SN) was an observer. At the end of each interview, all participants were asked to prioritize the different symptoms according to their importance on a 5-point Likert scale (Table 2). The symptoms were identified as important, in accordance with previous literature [50].

Textbox 1. Topics and questions of the semistructured interviews.

Dat	ta collection	
•	Stage 1 (phase 1)	
Гој	pics	
•	Existing support, existing scales, and experiences of symptoms and conditions	
•	A communicative support tool as support when dealing with multiple symptoms and conditions	
Qu	estions	
	Tell me about a good and a bad care situation?	
•	What symptoms have you experienced (children), and which symptoms do you see (adults)?	
	How do you measure what the child feels (adults)?	
•	What kind of support is there when dealing with multiple symptoms and conditions?	
		i i

Symptoms	Strongly disagree (1), n (%)	Disagree (2), n (%)	Neutral (3), n (%)	Agree (4), n (%)	Strongly agree (5), n (%)	Values, mean (SD)
Anxiety	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (4)	10 (37)	16 (59)	4.56 (0.57)
Fatigue	0 (0)	3 (11)	8 (30)	11 (41)	5 (19)	3.67 (0.90)
Fear	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (4)	14 (52)	12 (44)	4.41 (0.56)
Nausea	1 (4)	5 (19)	5 (19)	6 (22)	10 (37)	3.70 (1.24)
Pain	2 (7)	5 (19)	6 (22)	8 (30)	6 (22)	3.41 (1.23)
Well-being	0 (0)	1 (4)	4 (15)	16 (59)	6 (22)	4 (0.72)

Table 2. Prioritization of symptoms that need to be assessed in a new way (N=27).

Multi-perspective data with children, parents, and health care professionals were collected through semistructured interviews—one-on-one children–parent, parent-parent, and health care professional dyads and in a focus group. Multiple data collection approaches were a viable option to ensure different perspectives [51]. Multi-perspective data also enabled us to compare different participants' perspectives and feelings regarding symptom relief and explore the possible underlying reasons for differences.

The individual interviews with the children (4/7, 57%) lasted between 17 and 44 minutes (mean 35, SD 10.56 minutes) and interviews with the parents (5/8, 63%) lasted between 26 and 37 minutes (mean 30.40, SD 5.39 minutes), one of the interviews were a dyad interview with a mom and a dad. The dyad interviews with the child and parent (3/12, 25%) lasted between 29 and 60 minutes (mean 45.33, SD 12.71 minutes). The individual interviews with health care professionals (11/19, 58%) varied in length from 28 to 53 minutes (mean 38.36, SD 8.16 minutes). The health care professionals' dyad interviews were 53 minutes and 58 minutes long (mean 55.50, SD 2.5 minutes), respectively. A focus group was conducted with 21% (4/19) of the health care professionals to generate more variation and multiple perspectives in the collected data. The length of the focus group interview was 66 minutes.

Data Analysis: Qualitative Data

All audio data were transcribed verbatim and complemented with video recorded information. The qualitative analysis software NVivo 12 Pro (QSR International) was used to arrange and rearrange the codes into patterns and relationships.

The analysis process started with the transcribed interviews being read intensely by the first (AW) and third (VC) authors to obtain a sense of the whole, in accordance with interpretive description [51]. During the preliminary reading, words and sentences that corresponded to the aim of the analysis were underlined according to a broad inductive coding. The different groups of participants were first coded sequentially, starting with the children's interviews, followed by the parents, and finally, the health care professionals. The initial coding was used as a basis for subsequent coding; however, new codes were added for parents' and health care professionals' interview data. Tentative patterns and relationships were identified. A broader analysis was subsequently made where questions such as, "What does it mean?" and "What are they talking about?" were asked. Continued synthesis of the tentative patterns facilitated the understanding of various interpretations of the topic. The data reflected not only common patterns but also ideas and beliefs. The final step of the analysis was the definition of themes [52].

During the analytical process, the researchers were mindful that their preunderstanding could affect the data and, therefore, returned to the data repeatedly for confirmation of the emerging patterns and relationships. These patterns and relationships were discussed within the research team to reach a consensus about relevant findings and to ask, "What are we not seeing?" The analytical process from the first phase gave us an understanding of the unmet needs and wishes mentioned by participants when dealing with multiple symptoms.

Member checking was conducted with the participants as an important step to improve qualitative validity [51].

Interpretive description supports a credible and transparent process in qualitative research [52,53]. The researchers need to make their preconceptions regarding the research topic transparent; that is, recognize that these preconceptions can influence data collection or data analysis. This was performed in an interdisciplinary research group with members who had several years of experience in interaction design, information systems, nursing sciences, pediatric oncology care, psychology, communication, and UD. We strove to be as open as possible to the participants' perspectives and experiences.

Data Analysis: Quantitative Data

All assessments from the participants were described using descriptive statistics; that is, with numbers, percentages, and means.

Stage 2 Workshop

The project team arranged a workshop to ensure theoretical relevance and anchoring regarding relevant clinical, person-centered, and design-related perspectives.

Research Question

Which theoretical knowledge and findings from the research are relevant to consider in the development and research of the app?

The workshop was designed explicitly to prevent such shortcomings from occurring in this project. To ensure that our app of UD principles was acceptable in a different societal context, a collaboration was established with university partners

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30364
```

RenderX

in South Africa. We wanted to investigate whether our app based on the principles of UD was acceptable in a completely different context. This context also includes a multilingual and multicultural environment that poses additional challenges.

Participants

The workshop was attended by 19 researchers, 12 health care professionals, and 8 postgraduate students from Sweden and South Africa in areas related to the project.

Procedures

Topics of discussion involved person-centered care, communication of children in health care settings, principles of UD and communication support, and the design and development of mHealth tools.

The workshop was video recorded, and notes were taken; mapping of relevant theoretical perspectives and patterns were conducted.

Data Analysis

The data collected from the workshop were analyzed using manifest analysis [54]. In the analysis process, important areas were selected to be used in stage 3. This workshop provided knowledge of the conditions for using an app in low- and middle-income countries. The workshop also mapped existing apps and in-depth knowledge of person-centered care and UD.

Stage 3 Workshop

We determined the possible user journey for the PicPecc app by means of a user experience (UX) workshop.

Research Question

What is a possible user journey for the PicPecc app?

Participants

Throughout the project, the children were included in the research and design whenever possible. However, these children had decreased immune function and experienced fatigue. This made it difficult to include them in design events such as workshops. However, other users of the mHealth tool (eg, nurses) participated in the design workshop. Web-based participation was considered and can be of value [55,56]. However, some activities were not suited for web-based settings, and web-based participatory design settings have proved to be challenging [57].

A total of 3 UX specialists, 2 speech and language therapists (a PhD and an associate professor), 3 pediatric nurses (a PhD student, a PhD, and an associate professor), 2 researchers in information systems (both PhDs), and a health psychologist specialist (an associate professor) participated in stage 3.

Procedures

A full day, face-to-face interprofessional workshop was held in Gothenburg, Sweden, to collate the assumptions of the different researchers into a design report. The workshop had a structured agenda comprising 3 distinct parts. The first part comprised a value proposition canvas with the purpose of pinpointing the value offering [58]. The second part focused on impact mapping with the purpose of tracing how and who created the impact [59]. Finally, a user journey was undertaken to create a

visualization of a user's possible interaction with the app over time [60].

Data Analysis

This workshop provided knowledge for the developers and gave them a basis for developing a mock-up.

Phase 2—Stage 1 Semistructured Interviews and Focus Groups

Phase 2 involved only 1 stage where children with cancer or congenital heart defects, their parents, and health care professionals provided input on the mock-up version of the PicPecc app.

Research Question

How can the PicPecc app provide children, parents, and health care professionals support when communicating about symptoms and symptom relief?

Textbox 2. Topics and questions of the semistructured interviews.

Dat	Data collection				
•	Stage 1 (phase 2)				
Тор	ics				
•	Process of engaging with the communicative support tool				
•	Existing websites for support and tips when dealing with symptoms and conditions				

Questions

- What do you want to know from the support tool?
- What do you want help with? -
- What motivations do you and the children need to use it? •
- When can it be useful?
- Did you understand everything?

The individual interviews with the children (7/10, 70%) varied from 18 to 57 minutes (mean 37.29, SD 11.80 minutes), the individual interviews with the parents (6/9, 67%) varied from 19 to 62 minutes (mean 37.67, SD 13.77 minutes), and the dyad interviews with a child and a parent (3/16, 19%) were between 23 and 41 minutes (mean 32.33, SD 7.36 minutes). The individual interviews with the health care professionals (11/21,52%) varied from 26 to 71 minutes (mean 44.82, SD 10.60 minutes) and the 2 focus group interviews with health care professionals (10/21, 48%) lasted between 37 and 75 minutes (mean 56, SD 19 minutes). In the 2 focus groups, 30% (3/10) of participants took part in the first focus group, and 70% (7/10) of participants took part in the second focus group.

Data Analysis: Qualitative Data

In stage 1 of phase 2, all participants were presented with the prototype of the mHealth tool that was developed according to the key findings of the first phase.

We followed the same data analysis procedures as in stage 1 of phase 1.

Participants

Participants were recruited from 5 different hospitals in Sweden. The recruitment process was similar to stage 1 of phase 1. These participants were also invited to participate in phase 2, resulting in 6 children, 5 parents, and 11 health care professionals (Table 1) taking part in both phases. Additional recruitment of participants was conducted. Finally, the sample comprised 10 children with cancer or congenital heart defects, 9 parents, and 21 health care professionals (Table 1).

Procedure

The procedure was similar to stage 1 (phase 1), apart from using the mock-up as stimuli material (Textbox 2).

Results

Phase 1

Stage 1—Qualitative Findings

The results are presented with quotations, which are presented with a unique code and general information about the speaker.

Significant Standpoints to Address

Children and parents emphasized a need to address both the positive and negative sides of daily life. Health care professionals focused to a higher degree on symptoms in need of treatment and requested valid instruments. Participants stressed highlighting symptoms beyond pain; for example, anxiety or fear.

All participants talked about the ways in which symptoms interrupt the child's life. Self-care strategies are needed to help children cope:

Not meeting friends and not even doing...video games make them feel sick. That's it. And some of them feel

ill as long as the therapy lasts. [310; female pediatrician]

Different Perspectives on Provided and Perceived Support

Children expressed a wish to receive support for self-care; however, there seems to be a disparity between what children want and what health care professionals provide. Parents experienced a lack of support from health care professionals who worked closely with the child. Health care professionals focused more on physiological symptoms, whereas children and parents indicated that they also needed psychosocial support. Children and parents also appreciated when the nurses provided emotional support and took time and stayed a little longer to talk about entertaining topics such as movies or books:

For me it was most useful and valuable when the nurses stayed for a bit and just talked. I saw that some of the nurses had an easy way of talking with my daughter about movies and...they were more open for conversations. [202; mother of a 14-year-old girl]

Need for an Easy Tool to Assess Symptoms and Facilitate Communication

Children, parents, and health care professionals expressed a need for an easy way of assessing the child's symptoms in a reliable manner based on multimodal strategies. For example, health care professionals were satisfied with existing pain scales but at the same time stated that these scales were not used as often as they could be. Health care professionals needed an easy way of assessing pain or other symptoms, as they sometimes doubted the assessment given by the child, based on the signs and behavior they could observe. Parents wished that they could facilitate the children's expression of how tired or how much pain they experienced in different ways, such as via visual support. The children wanted to use an easy tool that helped them explain how they felt, sometimes even without having to talk because of feeling tired or experiencing pain:

It would be easier, instead of talking all the time, you could just show them. [104; boy, 16 years]

If you have a bad day, then you may not want someone to ask how you feel. Then you can write it in the app. That would be a smart thing. [102; girl, 14 years]

Creating Safety and Reaching the Child's Voice

All participants stressed the importance of safety in the situation. From the child's perspective, this was expressed as a need to feel that they have control over the situation. Parents and health care professionals described wanting to access the child's needs and wishes; that is, get to the primary source. Children wanted to feel safe and have a sense of control over the situation. When they knew what to expect, children could handle their treatment-related procedures better. Health care professionals felt they were able to listen to the child's needs and wishes and, thereby, provide appropriate help:

I believe in the visual for a child...That the child has a way to show and express, so that you don't lean too much on the parent's interpretation. [309; female pediatrician]

Mapping the Journey to Facilitate Recall

The ability to visualize and thereby easily remember the child's journey was emphasized. Children, parents, and health care professionals wanted to measure the aspects of well-being and not only the negative experiences, as described by the following adolescent:

It would have been good to have a positive thing, so that you can see that sometimes you feel well, so you can see which days during the week are the better ones. [104; boy, 16 years]

Another perspective mentioned by health care professionals was the need to retrieve information with the purpose of providing appropriate symptom relief to the individual child.

Parents stressed the need to strengthen their child's self-efficacy using an mHealth tool to prompt and support the child in symptom relief.

Quantitative Results

All symptoms were found to be important, as shown in Table 2.

Stage 2

The presentations and the following discussion created a common ground regarding four areas. (1) The discussion resulted in a mutual understanding of the most relevant symptoms (anxiety, fatigue, fear, nausea, and pain), the assessment of symptoms (Visual Analog Scale, Numerical Rating Scale, Faces Pain Scale-revised, and Wong-Baker Faces Pain Rating Scale), and management of symptoms. Regarding the assessment of symptoms, for instance, the project identified a need for digital assessment of pain that aligned with the current assessment method at different hospitals. (2) There was also a focus on children's rights, person-centered care, and UD from an augmentative and alternative communication perspective. This discussion emphasized the development of an mHealth tool with communication support and illustrations of specific actions and text-augmented communication for children of different ages, cultures, and cognitive capabilities. The idea of a UD perspective focused on alternative communication became a central thesis for this project. (3) Another outcome was a deeper understanding of UCD, where the focus is on the use situation and how the mHealth tool also must fit into a larger context of information systems to stay relevant beyond the study phase. (4) Finally, there was a slightly different discussion on how to measure the effect of the intervention from a neurochemistry perspective; that is, the possibility to measure the effects of the intervention in blood samples.

A meta outcome of the second phase acknowledged the complexity of the intervention at hand. Designing a research-anchored mHealth tool from a UD perspective is a great challenge in itself. Designing something that fits into the existing care practices and information systems at different locations increased the complexity even further.

Stage 3

Although the children did not participate in this stage, their perspectives were central throughout the workshop. From stage



1, the children's needs and wishes were fundamental to each part of this study.

The value proposition canvas summarized the different stakeholders and their pains, gains, and actions. For instance, from the child's perspective, a typical symptom would be fear in relation to the disease. A typical gain would be a visualization of their symptom journey, and a typical action would be to assess their well-being. This was followed by detailing the possible impacts of the app.

The outcome from the workshop was translated into a number of user stories (participant journeys); that is, a set of requirements based on different actions that different users want to perform with the system to fulfill certain goals. These user stories were grouped into themes. These themes could be general; for example, *user management* and *calendar*. More specific ones were *gamification*, *my pets*, *avatar system*, and an *assessment system*. *My pets* and the *avatar system* are related to the personalization of the system. *Gamification* is related to motivating the child to perform the assessments (Multimedia Appendix 1).

Phase 2

Stage 1

In stage 1 (also referred to as phase 2), children, their parents, and health care professionals provided input on the mock-up version of the PicPecc app.

Different Perspectives on Provided and Perceived Support

Health care professionals in this phase also focused more on physiological symptoms, whereas children and parents indicated that they also needed psychosocial support (Multimedia Appendix 2). The children talked about how the PicPecc app could be a way of communicating without having to speak to either their parents or health care professionals. Children also said that this could help them express how they feel and help them manage their symptoms:

It helps you to say how you feel, and the tips on what you can do to lessen the pain or lessen the nausea; it's good to get help with that because sometimes it feels like nothing works. But if you have tips, maybe you will find one that works for you. [101; girl, 14 years]

Health care professionals also emphasized the child's self-care and further wanted the PicPecc app to provide professional support, such as the next dose of medication, preparations for procedures, and information about possible side effects.

The health care professionals thought they could see the PicPecc app being useful during medical rounds to follow up on symptoms to guide treatment and prepare the child for treatment and procedures. This was facilitated by a function in the app; that is, diagrams.

Need for an Easy Tool to Assess Symptoms and Facilitate Communication

Children thought that gamification (eg, in PicPecc, the use of the app enabled collection of pets) could motivate the use of the app. Health care professionals were also of the opinion that

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30364
```

RenderX

a reward system was a positive motivator for children to use the app. Older children stated that the app was an easy way of informing health care professionals and parents about how they felt. The children also felt that their parents might ask fewer questions if they (the parents) could have access to the information on how their child assessed his or her symptoms in PicPecc:

This app could make mum and dad stop asking how I feel all the time; instead I can go in here and press from time to time how I feel, so they can see. [101; girl, 14 years]

Health care professionals and older children thought the calendar or schedule was also a motivator as it would help the children during hospital visits. This was also verified by a parent:

I've been giving my child medicine now at two o'clock and the next one comes at eight o'clock. And she wanted to know that because then she knew she'll feel better then. [201; mother of a 14-year-old girl]

The health care professionals mentioned that PicPecc might clarify their communication with the children and especially envisioned using it with children who found expressing their opinions challenging. The PicPecc app can also facilitate understanding of the child:

It will probably be easier to ask the child than...Now you ask the parents, even if the child can talk. So, you don't reach the child, it's the parents. Here I think I can reach them. [316; focus group, nurse in pediatric cardiology]

The colors and faces added to the thermometer in PicPecc helped with the understanding of the thermometer scale. Most symptoms were easy to assess, ranging from feeling good (green and smiley face) to worse (red, sad, and crying face), except for the symbol *appetite*, where the participants found this kind of scale difficult to use.

The health care professionals liked that the mock-up included a page called *my page*, where the child could write their requests and wishes for their care. However, some parents doubted that their child would use that function. Nevertheless, the health care professionals saw it as a means of helping the child to become more involved in their own care.

Parents appreciated the diagram function and the possibility for the child to assess symptoms using the body figure. The feedback provided by PicPecc could help the child to realize that they need help with symptom management. The feedback option may also offer a way for the parent to help explain feelings that the child might find difficult to express clearly.

The word *anxiety* was not problematic for the children. However, health care professionals and parents were unsure if the word *anxiety* was the correct term to use, although they highlighted the children's need for psychosocial support in the first phase. The adults were of the opinion that the word *anxiety* may be too strong a term to use when talking to young children and that they might find it challenging to understand the meaning of anxiety:

No, I don't know. But anxiety is one of those adult words. "Oh, I have anxiety". But it's almost like a...anxiety, it should be classified as anxiety, but worry is something...I think children will recognize. [209; mother of a 12-year-old boy]

Mapping the Journey to Facilitate Recall

The children liked features such as the schedule and the calendar that could help them remember what was planned, how the treatment worked, and how they felt each day. The schedule was regarded as a way of offering the children and parents a simple overview of the week:

You can see what's going on and that the doctor can put in, yes, but around this time I'll come in and talk to you, and around this time you'll change the infusion (drip) or something. [101; girl, 14 years]

The health care professionals were positive about the additional notes feature, as it was a way of getting to know the child and allowed them to tell their narrative. Meanwhile, parents saw it as a personal space for their child to make short notes that he or she could remember and write questions. They also saw the notes feature as a possibility for the child to document their treatment journey and write down things they were looking forward to.

The children proposed features that, in their opinion, were lacking in the design, such as being able to check off parts that had been completed on the schedule. The children also suggested the inclusion of information about their disease, common symptoms, and a treatment plan, so that they could understand themselves how their bodies are going to change and easily explain this to their friends:

Friends ask day in, day out, day in, day out. And it's really hard because it's so hard to explain. [110; girl, 7 years]

Design of the Mock-up

The health care professionals and the parents wondered if the PicPecc app needed to be age adjusted; for example, if the pets and pictures were too childish for older children. Some parents thought it was too childish for adolescents, whereas others thought it looked good. The children themselves thought the design was simple and easy to understand but not childish:

I think it's very nicely laid out and looks good etc. It's not too difficult for five-year-olds and not too childish then for those who are older. [102; girl, 14 years]

The health care professionals and parents felt that the design of the PicPecc app facilitated user-friendliness and appreciated the read-aloud feature.

The children wanted different ways of personalizing their avatars and pets, with both real and fantasy animals in the pet section. They also talked about being able to name and change different features of their pets.

All groups commented on the chosen symbols, as they found them difficult to interpret and thought that if pictures and picture schedules were used, they needed to be accurate. The children

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30364
```

needed to see what was going to happen to feel safe. They also had difficulty in understanding some of the words used in the mock-up version of PicPecc; for example, care plan and estimates.

A part of the mock-up included creating a care plan. Children and parents found it difficult to understand the usefulness of this part. Children struggled with the word *estimates* and suggested that *estimates* be rewritten as *how do you feel*?

The PicPecc App

The mobile PicPecc app comprises a number of pages where children can describe how they are feeling using icons and a faces thermometer scale. On the home page, there are three options—record symptoms, access the gaming function (collecting animal icons that can be included in the child's profile), and access an area where the data are displayed in the form of customizable statistics. A setting function also allows for customization of the sounds, spoken text, or notifications. The child is represented in the app by an avatar of their choice. Symptom location can be described on a body outline. There is a support and help page where the child can obtain information about their condition and tips and ideas about how to feel better. This can be linked to an external webpage.

Discussion

Principal Findings

There were 2 phases in this study. In the first phase, information from participants in stage 1 and experts from stage 2 formed a PicPecc mock-up in collaboration with UX specialists in stage 3. Both participants from stage 1 (phase 1) and new participants tested the mock-up in phase 2. The participants in phase 2 stated that the mock-up was accessible, affordable (in this case, the value of spending personal resources and time with the app), and acceptable. The results generally emphasized that the potential to support symptom management was a beneficial aspect of PicPecc and that children can find symptom relief within the app. Symptom relief is an important aspect of pediatric care and an essential part of the care process [61].

In stage 1, the children with long-term illness wanted to describe symptoms beyond pain, and parents and health care professionals confirmed the relevance of including anxiety, fatigue, fear, and nausea. This is consistent with previous work examining symptom distress in children with cancer [8]. The most frequently prioritized symptom assessed by the participants was anxiety, followed by fear. Similar findings have been highlighted in previous research [8,62]. PicPecc aims to support the child and the parents in discussing distressing issues and support the health care professionals in raising issues other than pain and nausea. PicPecc strives to facilitate communication and has the potential to be a tool that helps health care professionals listen to the child.

In stages 2 and 3 of phase 1, researchers cooperated with the participants to innovatively translate their needs into the PicPecc mock-up. Adaptations were made based on UD and person-centered care. The participants suggested that digitalization may facilitate the assessment of symptoms using a faces thermometer scale, which the participants described as

useful in assessment, ranging from feeling good (green and smiley face) to worse (red, sad, and crying face). This type of traffic light system has previously been described to manage symptoms such as pain on a scale of 0 to 10 but is sometimes not enough to reflect the intensity level [63].

In stage 1 (phase 2), the children commented that the PicPecc mock-up was not too childish. This is in line with previous research identifying determinants that might have an impact on access to health care [64]. The design of the mock-up was accessible and acceptable to all children; it was simple and easy to use. UD might improve accessibility by adding sound, easy-to-read texts, and pictures that could facilitate communication across languages, cognitive developmental stages, or disabilities. This corresponds well with a study by Rodgers et al [22], stating that the method of assessing symptoms needs to be on a level that equals the child's cognitive and developmental level. However, some of the parents and health care professionals in our study were concerned that the design was too childish. UD is a design that should not present an obstacle but rather use symbols and pictures to make the content more accessible for all people. Adults may see symbols and pictures as something for young children; however, as the results show, children of various ages can see the benefits of visualization.

In this study, a person-centered approach was adapted to pediatric care, which emphasizes the purpose of accessing the child's stories [34]. The goal of such an approach is to empower the child to become more independent in their own care. Lin et al [1] stated a need for tools to enhance communication with health care professionals as children value empathic and respectful communication. Feelings of powerlessness and anxiety may arise when communication is perceived to be parent-centered or paternalistic [1]. PicPecc may have the potential to bridge the gap and open a dialog between the child and health care professionals. This dialog might help the child feel more independent, relieving the parents of the responsibility of being that bridge. Information and communication technologies can be a bridge between users who do not know the culture or language and the health care professionals [65]. The children in our study generally expressed a wish for autonomy and a possibility for communicating directly with the health care professionals about symptoms through mHealth tools.

In PicPecc, the story is told through the child's own estimations and the note function, which can hopefully help the health care professionals recognize the child's symptoms and focus on them. PicPecc intends to facilitate a supportive approach, which may enable more person-centered care. In addition, PicPecc is an attempt to create a digital tool that supports the child in expressing what they are feeling and provides information that may help them manage some of their symptoms. Symptom relief is a prerequisite for reducing long-term problems. For example, chronic pain in adulthood can progress from acute pain in childhood [26]. Thus, there is a need for a tool that helps children with symptom relief early and that is immediately available when a symptom occurs.

Limitations

Six main limitations can be identified in this study. First, there is a risk of population selection bias, as the children and parents were recruited by the health care professionals who were treating them. Second, no child with congenital heart defects participated in phase 1 (stage 1). Third, the parents could have influenced the children's answers, and fourth, it would have been valuable to have had a wider range of ages, as most of the participants were adolescents. Fifth, it is a limitation that the end users (ie, children, parents, and health care professionals) did not themselves participate in stages 2 and 3. Finally, the sixth limitation is that this is a description and mock-up of an app, and we have not yet been able to test the final version of PicPecc.

Conclusions

The results from our study reveal a need for a tool that facilitates communication between children and health care professionals. Both parents and children stressed the importance of communication about feelings beyond symptoms of pain. With the potential to facilitate person-centered communication through UD, PicPecc is an advanced first attempt on how to provide support when dealing with multiple symptoms and conditions. PicPecc has the potential to open a dialog between the child and the health care professionals and addresses symptoms that may otherwise be overlooked. Over the past decade, the use of digitalization has expanded within health care. This study demonstrated the potential for using PicPecc as a digital support in clinical practice. Future phases should include usability testing and evaluation of the effects in hospitals and in home care settings.

The effectiveness of PicPecc to communicate symptoms and lead to symptom alleviation, thereby improving well-being and HrQoL, will be assessed in the next phase of the project. Representative populations of children in Sweden and South Africa will be identified through a randomization method and invited to participate in an evaluation study. In addition to PicPecc, standardized instruments for measuring symptoms and well-being will be administered to a group using PicPecc and a control group.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the children, parents, and health care professionals who participated in this research. The authors would also like to thank Professor Jennifer Chipps, University of the Western Cape, South Africa. This study was funded by Barncancerfonden (grants TJ2017-0028, KP2018-0023, and MTI2019-0011); Vinnova (grant MTI2019-0011); the Swedish Foundation for International Cooperation in Research and Higher Education (STINT), Vetenskapsrådet, Forte (grant SA2018-7681); STNT180705349550; South Africa–Sweden University Forum; the University of Gothenburg Centre for Person-centered Care, which is funded by the Swedish Government's grant for Strategic Research Areas (Care Sciences) and the University of Gothenburg;

XSL•FO

Region Västra Götaland, Södra Älvsborg Hospital, and Department of Research Education and Innovation, Borås; the Borås Research and Development Fund against Cancer; and Alice Swenzon's foundation. The authors are also very grateful to Odd Fellow fraternity camp number 18 Sjuhäradsbygden.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Parts of the mock-up. [DOCX File , 669 KB - pediatrics v5i1e30364 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Results of stage 1, phase 2. [DOCX File , 520 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e30364_app2.docx]

References

- 1. Lin B, Gutman T, Hanson CS, Ju A, Manera K, Butow P, et al. Communication during childhood cancer: systematic review of patient perspectives. Cancer 2020;126(4):701-716 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/cncr.32637] [Medline: 31821552]
- Chong LS, Fitzgerald DA, Craig JC, Manera KE, Hanson CS, Celermajer D, et al. Children's experiences of congenital heart disease: a systematic review of qualitative studies. Eur J Pediatr 2018;177(3):319-336. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00431-017-3081-y</u>] [Medline: <u>29327140</u>]
- Fardell JE, Vetsch J, Trahair T, Mateos MK, Grootenhuis MA, Touyz LM, et al. Health-related quality of life of children on treatment for acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a systematic review. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2017;64(9):e26489. [doi: 10.1002/pbc.26489] [Medline: 28266135]
- 4. Mellion K, Uzark K, Cassedy A, Drotar D, Wernovsky G, Newburger JW, Pediatric Cardiac Quality of Life Inventory Testing Study Consortium. Health-related quality of life outcomes in children and adolescents with congenital heart disease. J Pediatr 2014;164(4):781-8.e1. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2013.11.066] [Medline: 24412135]
- 5. Rodgers CC, Hooke MC, Taylor OA, Koerner KM, Mitby PA, Moore IM, et al. Childhood cancer symptom cluster: leukemia and health-related quality of life. Oncol Nurs Forum 2019;46(2):228-237 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1188/19.ONF.228-237] [Medline: 30767969]
- Bettle A, Latimer M, Fernandez C, Hughes J. Supporting parents' pain care involvement with their children with acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a qualitative interpretive description. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2018;35(1):43-55. [doi: 10.1177/1043454217727518] [Medline: 28849687]
- Twycross A, Parker R, Williams A, Gibson F. Cancer-related pain and pain management: sources, prevalence, and the experiences of children and parents. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2015;32(6):369-384. [doi: <u>10.1177/1043454214563751</u>] [Medline: <u>25736032</u>]
- Skeens MA, Cullen P, Stanek J, Hockenberry M. Perspectives of childhood cancer symptom-related distress: results of the state of the science survey. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2019;36(4):287-293 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1043454219858608] [Medline: 31307322]
- 9. Pinheiro LC, McFatrich M, Lucas N, Walker JS, Withycombe JS, Hinds PS, et al. Child and adolescent self-report symptom measurement in pediatric oncology research: a systematic literature review. Qual Life Res 2018;27(2):291-319 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11136-017-1692-4] [Medline: 28879501]
- 10. Hockenberry M, Hooke MC. Symptom clusters in children with cancer. Semin Oncol Nurs 2007;23(2):152-157. [doi: 10.1016/j.soncn.2007.01.001] [Medline: 17512443]
- 11. Leahy AB, Feudtner C, Basch E. Symptom monitoring in pediatric oncology using patient-reported outcomes: why, how, and where next. Patient 2018;11(2):147-153 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40271-017-0279-z] [Medline: 29071524]
- Andersen RD, Olsson E, Eriksson M. The evidence supporting the association between the use of pain scales and outcomes in hospitalized children: a systematic review. Int J Nurs Stud 2021;115:103840. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2020.103840</u>] [Medline: <u>33360247</u>]
- 13. de la Vega R, Miró J. mHealth: a strategic field without a solid scientific soul. A systematic review of pain-related apps. PLoS One 2014;9(7):e101312 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0101312] [Medline: 24999983]
- 14. Higgins KS, Tutelman PR, Chambers CT, Witteman HO, Barwick M, Corkum P, et al. Availability of researcher-led eHealth tools for pain assessment and management: barriers, facilitators, costs, and design. Pain Rep 2018;3(Suppl 1):e686 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/PR9.0000000000686] [Medline: 30324177]
- Bernier Carney KM, Jung SH, Iacob E, Lewis M, Linder LA. Communication of pain by school-age children with cancer using a game-based symptom assessment app: a secondary analysis. Eur J Oncol Nurs 2021;52:101949. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejon.2021.101949</u>] [Medline: <u>33813185</u>]

- 16. Wesley KM, Fizur PJ. A review of mobile applications to help adolescent and young adult cancer patients. Adolesc Health Med Ther 2015;6:141-148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/AHMT.S69209] [Medline: 26316835]
- 17. Zheng C, Chen X, Weng L, Guo L, Xu H, Lin M, et al. Benefits of mobile apps for cancer pain management: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(1):e17055 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17055] [Medline: 32012088]
- Linder LA, Newman AR, Stegenga K, Chiu YS, Wawrzynski SE, Kramer H, et al. Feasibility and acceptability of a game-based symptom-reporting app for children with cancer: perspectives of children and parents. Support Care Cancer 2021;29(1):301-310. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00520-020-05495-w</u>] [Medline: <u>32358779</u>]
- 19. Baggott C, Gibson F, Coll B, Kletter R, Zeltzer P, Miaskowski C. Initial evaluation of an electronic symptom diary for adolescents with cancer. JMIR Res Protoc 2012;1(2):e23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/resprot.2175] [Medline: 23612521]
- Lawitschka A, Buehrer S, Bauer D, Peters K, Silbernagl M, Zubarovskaya N, et al. A Web-based mobile app (INTERACCT app) for adolescents undergoing cancer and hematopoietic stem cell transplantation aftercare to improve the quality of medical information for clinicians: observational study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020;8(6):e18781 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18781] [Medline: <u>32602847</u>]
- O'Sullivan C, Lee Dupuis L, Gibson P, Johnston DL, Baggott C, Portwine C, et al. Evaluation of the electronic self-report Symptom Screening in Pediatrics Tool (SSPedi). BMJ Support Palliat Care 2018;8(1):110-116. [doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2015-001084] [Medline: 27803061]
- 22. Rodgers C, Hooke MC, Ward J, Linder LA. Symptom clusters in children and adolescents with cancer. Semin Oncol Nurs 2016;32(4):394-404. [doi: 10.1016/j.soncn.2016.08.005] [Medline: 27776834]
- 23. Nilsson S, Holstensson J, Johansson C, Thunberg G. Children's perceptions of pictures intended to measure anxiety during hospitalization. J Pediatr Nurs 2019;44:63-73. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pedn.2018.10.015</u>] [Medline: <u>30683283</u>]
- 24. Larsson I, Staland-Nyman C, Svedberg P, Nygren JM, Carlsson IM. Children and young people's participation in developing interventions in health and well-being: a scoping review. BMC Health Serv Res 2018;18(1):507 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-3219-2] [Medline: 29954392]
- 25. Zhao P, Yoo I, Lancey R, Varghese E. Mobile applications for pain management: an app analysis for clinical usage. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2019;19(1):106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12911-019-0827-7] [Medline: 31146739]
- Eccleston C, Fisher E, Howard RF, Slater R, Forgeron P, Palermo TM, et al. Delivering transformative action in paediatric pain: a Lancet Child & Adolescent Health Commission. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2021;5(1):47-87. [doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(20)30277-7] [Medline: <u>33064998</u>]
- 27. Desai AD, Wang G, Wignall J, Kinard D, Singh V, Adams S, et al. User-centered design of a longitudinal care plan for children with medical complexity. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2020;27(12):1860-1870. [doi: <u>10.1093/jamia/ocaa193</u>] [Medline: <u>33043368</u>]
- Kinzie MB, Cohn WF, Julian MF, Knaus WA. A user-centered model for web site design: needs assessment, user interface design, and rapid prototyping. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2002;9(4):320-330 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1197/jamia.m0822] [Medline: 12087113]
- Musthafa NH, Sulaiman S. A review on accessible design requirement for mobile application among physically impaired users. In: Proceedings of the 3rd International Conference on Applied Science and Technology. College Park: AIP Publishing; 2018 Presented at: ICAST'18; April 10-12, 2018; Penang p. 020107. [doi: <u>10.1063/1.5055509</u>]
- 30. Convention on the rights of persons with disabilities. United Nations. 2006. URL: <u>https://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/</u> <u>CRPD/Pages/ConventionRightsPersonsWithDisabilities.aspx</u> [accessed 2022-02-07]
- 31. Convention on the rights of the child. United Nations. 1989. URL: <u>https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/</u> <u>crc.aspx</u> [accessed 2022-02-07]
- 32. Persson H, Åhman H, Yngling AA, Gulliksen J. Universal design, inclusive design, accessible design, design for all: different concepts—one goal? On the concept of accessibility—historical, methodological and philosophical aspects. Univ Access Inf Soc 2015;14(4):505-526. [doi: 10.1007/s10209-014-0358-z]
- 33. Coyne I, Holmström I, Söderbäck M. Centeredness in healthcare: a concept synthesis of family-centered care, person-centered care and child-centered care. J Pediatr Nurs 2018;42:45-56. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pedn.2018.07.001</u>] [Medline: <u>30219299</u>]
- Thunberg G, Johnson E, Bornman J, Öhlén J, Nilsson S. Being heard supporting person-centred communication in paediatric care using augmentative and alternative communication as universal design: a position paper. Nurs Inq 2021:e12426. [doi: 10.1111/nin.12426] [Medline: 34076320]
- 35. Wu WW, Lin KC, Liang SY, Jou ST. Using a patient-centered approach to identify symptom clusters among adolescents with cancer. Cancer Nurs 2019;42(3):198-207. [doi: 10.1097/NCC.00000000000587] [Medline: 29601360]
- 36. Britten N, Moore L, Lydahl D, Naldemirci O, Elam M, Wolf A. Elaboration of the Gothenburg model of person-centred care. Health Expect 2017;20(3):407-418 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/hex.12468] [Medline: 27193725]
- 37. Britten N, Ekman I, Naldemirci Ö, Javinger M, Hedman H, Wolf A. Learning from Gothenburg model of person centred healthcare. BMJ 2020;370:m2738. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m2738] [Medline: 32873594]
- 38. Ekman I, Swedberg K, Taft C, Lindseth A, Norberg A, Brink E, et al. Person-centered care--ready for prime time. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 2011;10(4):248-251. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ejcnurse.2011.06.008</u>] [Medline: <u>21764386</u>]

- 39. Patient involvement in health care minimum requirements for person-centred care. Swedish institute for standards. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.sis.se/produkter/halso-och-sjukvard/medicin-allmant/halso-och-sjukvardstjanster-allmant/ss-en-1739820202/</u> [accessed 2022-02-07]
- 40. Söderbäck M, Coyne I, Harder M. The importance of including both a child perspective and the child's perspective within health care settings to provide truly child-centred care. J Child Health Care 2011;15(2):99-106. [doi: 10.1177/1367493510397624] [Medline: 21685225]
- 41. Sharp H, Preece J, Rogers Y. Interaction design: beyond human-computer interaction. 5th edition. Hoboken: John Wiley Sons; 2019.
- 42. Simonsen J, Robertson T. Routledge international handbook of participatory design. New York: Routledge; 2013.
- O'Cathain A, Croot L, Duncan E, Rousseau N, Sworn K, Turner KM, et al. Guidance on how to develop complex interventions to improve health and healthcare. BMJ Open 2019;9(8):e029954 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2019-029954] [Medline: 31420394]
- 44. Holtzblatt K, Beyer H. Contextual design: evolved. Synth Lect Hum-Cent Inform 2014;7(4):1-91. [doi: 10.2200/s00597ed1v01y201409hci024]
- 45. Löwgren J, Stolterman E. Thoughtful interaction design: a design perspective on information technology. Cambridge: MIT Press; 2004.
- 46. Zhang P, Schmidt D, White J, Mulvaney S. Towards precision behavioral medicine with IoT: iterative design and optimization of a self-management tool for type 1 diabetes. In: 2018 IEEE International Conference on Healthcare Informatics. 2018 Presented at: ICHI'18; June 4-7, 2018; New York city p. 64-74. [doi: 10.1109/ichi.2018.00015]
- 47. The principles of universal design. NC State University. 1997. URL: <u>https://projects.ncsu.edu/ncsu/design/cud/about_ud/udprinciplestext.htm</u> [accessed 2022-02-07]
- 48. Ozgur AG, Wessel MJ, Johal W, Sharma K, Özgür A, Vuadens P, et al. Iterative design of an upper limb rehabilitation game with tangible robots. In: 13th annual ACM/IEEE international conference on human robot interaction. 2018 Presented at: HRI'18; March 5-8, 2018; Chicago p. 241-250. [doi: 10.1145/3171221.3171262]
- 49. Shier H. Pathways to participation: openings, opportunities and obligations. Child Soc 2001;15(2):107-117. [doi: 10.1002/chi.617]
- 50. Withycombe JS, Haugen M, Zupanec S, Macpherson CF, Landier W. Consensus recommendations from the children's oncology group nursing discipline's state of the science symposium: symptom assessment during childhood cancer treatment. J Pediatr Oncol Nurs 2019;36(4):294-299 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1043454219854983] [Medline: 31307318]
- 51. Thorne S. Interpretive description: qualitative research for applied practice. 2nd edition. New York city: Routledge; 2016.
- 52. Thompson Burdine J, Thorne S, Sandhu G. Interpretive description: a flexible qualitative methodology for medical education research. Med Educ 2021;55(3):336-343. [doi: <u>10.1111/medu.14380</u>] [Medline: <u>32967042</u>]
- Morse JM. Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. Qual Health Res 2015;25(9):1212-1222. [doi: <u>10.1177/1049732315588501</u>] [Medline: <u>26184336</u>]
- 54. Graneheim UH, Lundman B. Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness. Nurse Educ Today 2004;24(2):105-112. [doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2003.10.001] [Medline: 14769454]
- 55. Mastaneh Z, Mouseli A. Technology and its solutions in the era of COVID-19 crisis: a review of literature. Evid Based Health Policy Manag Econ 2020;4(2):138-149. [doi: 10.18502/jebhpme.v4i2.3438]
- 56. Greenhalgh T, Koh GC, Car J. Covid-19: a remote assessment in primary care. BMJ 2020;368:m1182. [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1182] [Medline: 32213507]
- 57. Bakırlıoğlu Y, Ramírez Galleguillos ML, Coşkun A. Dreaming of immersive interactions to navigate forced distributed collaboration during Covid-19. Interactions 2020;27(5):20-21. [doi: 10.1145/3414462]
- 58. Osterwalder A, Pigneur Y, Bernarda G, Smith A, Papadakos T. Value proposition design: how to create products and services customers want. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons; 2014.
- 59. Persson J, Arvola M, Holmlid S. Impact methods for making a change. In: International Association of Societies of Design Research Conference 2019. 2019 Presented at: IASDR'19; September 2-5, 2019; Manchester.
- 60. Rogers Y, Sharp H, Preece J. Interaction design: beyond human-computer interaction. 3rd edition. Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons; 2011.
- 61. Nilsson S, Eriksson A, Sörman A, Kreicbergs U, Lövgren M, Nolbris MJ. Children's and adolescents' experiences of living with cancer. Nurs Child Young People 2021;33(3):10-16. [doi: <u>10.7748/ncyp.2020.e1304</u>] [Medline: <u>33225673</u>]
- 62. van der Geest IM, Bindels PJ, Pluijm SM, Michiels EM, van der Heide A, Pieters R, et al. Home-based palliative care for children with incurable cancer: long-term perspectives of and impact on general practitioners. J Pain Symptom Manage 2017;53(3):578-587 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2016.09.012] [Medline: 28042078]
- Marissa Lagman-Bartolome A, Lay C. The traffic light of headache: simplifying acute migraine management for physicians and patients using the Canadian headache society guidelines. Headache 2019;59(2):250-252. [doi: <u>10.1111/head.13428</u>] [Medline: <u>30367814</u>]
- 64. Levesque JF, Harris MF, Russell G. Patient-centred access to health care: conceptualising access at the interface of health systems and populations. Int J Equity Health 2013;12:18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1475-9276-12-18] [Medline: 23496984]

65. Berbyuk Lindström N, Rodríguez Pozo R. Perspectives of nurses and doulas on the use of information and communication technology in intercultural pediatric care: qualitative pilot study. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020;3(1):e16545. [doi: 10.2196/16545] [Medline: 32181748]

Abbreviations

HrQoL: health-related quality of life
mHealth: mobile health
PicPecc: Pictorial Support in Person-Centered Care for Children
UCD: user-centered design
UD: universal design
UX: user experience

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 12.05.21; peer-reviewed by M Metcalf, T Fleming, J Nygren; comments to author 02.07.21; revised version received 19.08.21; accepted 07.11.21; published 08.03.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Wiljén A, Chaplin JE, Crine V, Jobe W, Johnson E, Karlsson K, Lindroth T, Schwarz A, Stenmarker M, Thunberg G, Öhlén J, Nilsson S The Development of an mHealth Tool for Children With Long-term Illness to Enable Person-Centered Communication: User-Centered Design Approach JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e30364 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30364</u> doi:10.2196/30364 PMID:<u>35258466</u>

©Angelica Wiljén, John Eric Chaplin, Vanessa Crine, William Jobe, Ensa Johnson, Katarina Karlsson, Tomas Lindroth, Anneli Schwarz, Margaretha Stenmarker, Gunilla Thunberg, Joakim Öhlén, Stefan Nilsson. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 08.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



A Digital Health Program Targeting Physical Activity Among Adolescents With Overweight or Obesity: Open Trial

Caroline Cummings^{1*}, PhD; Rebecca Crochiere^{2*}, MS; Amy Hughes Lansing³, PhD; Riya Patel², BS; Catherine Stanger⁴, PhD

¹Department of Psychological Sciences, Texas Tech University, Lubbock, TX, United States

- ³Department of Psychological Science, University of Vermont, Burlington, VT, United States
- ⁴Geisel School of Medicine, Dartmouth College, Hanover, NH, United States

*these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Caroline Cummings, PhD Department of Psychological Sciences Texas Tech University PO Box 42051 Lubbock, TX, 79409 United States Phone: 1 8068340931 Email: <u>carolicu@ttu.edu</u>

Abstract

Background: Prior studies suggest that mobile health physical activity programs that provide only weekly or daily text-based health coaching evidence limit the efficacy in improving physical activity in adolescents with overweight or obesity. It is possible that incentives, combined with health coaching and daily feedback on goal success, may increase program efficacy; however, such programs have not yet been tested with adolescents with overweight and obesity.

Objective: This study aims to examine the feasibility and acceptability of a 12-week, incentive-based, mobile health physical activity program with text-based health coaching, goal setting, and self-monitoring for adolescents with overweight or obesity. Program adherence and changes in tracked physical activity (ie, steps and active minutes while wearing a Fitbit [Google LLC]), body mass, and body fat are assessed.

Methods: A total of 28 adolescents aged 13 to 18 years with a BMI \geq 90th percentile participated in the program. Of the 28 participants, 2 (7%) were lost to follow-up; thus, data from 26 (93%) participants were used in analyses.

Results: Participant-reported acceptability was high, with all mean ratings of text-based coaching, Fitbit use, and the overall program being >5 on a 7-point scale. In addition, 85% (23/26) of participants reported that they would like to continue to wear the Fitbit. Program adherence was also high, as participants wore the Fitbit on 91.1% (SD 12.6%) of days on average and met their weekly goals for an average of 7 (SD 3.5) of 11 possible weeks. There were no demographic (ie, sex, age, and baseline body mass) differences in the percentage of days participants wore their Fitbit. Across the 12-week study, there were significant improvements in tracked daily active minutes (P=.006) and steps (P<.001) and significant pre- to posttest improvements in body fat percentage (P=.04).

Conclusions: The pilot program improved adolescent physical activity and physical health. A larger factorial design trial with adaptive daily goals may clarify the role of each program component in driving physical activity.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e32420) doi:10.2196/32420

KEYWORDS

RenderX

mHealth program; physical activity; adolescent overweight; adolescent obesity; incentives; mobile phone

²Department of Psychological and Brain Sciences, Drexel University, Philadelphia, PA, United States

Introduction

Adolescence is a high-risk period to have overweight and obesity [1], which may be in part attributable to a decline in physical activity found in this age group. Addressing having overweight and obesity during adolescence is imperative to reduce the risk of continued overweight and obesity-and their common comorbid health conditions-into adulthood [2]. Fewer than 40% of adolescent girls and 30% of adolescent boys meet physical activity recommendations, yielding <10,000 steps per day or 60 minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activity [3]. Traditionally, physical activity intervention programs targeting overweight or obesity among adolescents include in-person, scheduled, activity-based intervention programs to support physical activity habit formation and demonstrate notable downstream improvements in body fat [4] and equivocal efficacy in improving body mass [5-7]. However, despite the general successes of physical activity intervention programs, adolescents with overweight or obesity and their families struggle with accessing and completing such intervention programs, limiting treatment benefits [8,9]. The two major reasons for attrition are a lack of motivation or interest in increasing physical activity and a lack of time to dedicate to participating in a physical activity intervention [10]. Thus, there is a need to test highly scalable intervention programs designed to promote physical activity in adolescents with overweight and obesity, which may also produce secondary effects on body mass and body fat. Importantly, considerations of how to motivate physical activity change must be made during the program development process to reduce the risk of attrition. This study included the pilot-testing of a mobile health (mHealth) program that incentivizes an increase in tracked physical activity in adolescents with overweight or obesity. Program acceptability, program adherence, and changes in physical activity (ie, increase in tracked active minutes and steps) were assessed. A series of exploratory analyses assessed possible changes in body mass and body fat from baseline to after the intervention.

mHealth physical activity intervention programs can reduce the cost and time burden for participants [11], and the inclusion of electronic feedback with goal setting may further improve intervention effects. mHealth programs are uniquely suited to improve adolescent health behavior, as a high percentage of adolescents have access to mobile technologies and report a preference for mHealth programs [12]. Within mHealth physical activity programs, specifically, there is a reliance on an array of remote components, including passive sensing to track behavior (eg, momentary feedback via a pedometer) [13-15] and text-based coaching with goal setting [16,17]. Unfortunately, mHealth physical activity programs that provide only weekly or daily text-delivered messages to adolescents evidence limited efficacy in improving physical activity [16,17]. In contrast, in adult samples, physical activity-promoting mHealth programs that use adaptive goal setting and incentives are efficacious in increasing physical activity [13]. In addition to electronic tracking and feedback, the application of incentives within an mHealth program may further enhance physical activity goal achievement in adolescents with overweight and obesity.

Incentives may be an effective method of increasing engagement in health behaviors in adolescents [18], and incentives for meeting adaptive goals may support improved physical activity in adolescents with overweight and obesity. Incentives that are tied to an individual's success in meeting a specific behavioral goal are hypothesized to be a more effective method than incentives delivered for intervention participation alone [18]. Incentives have been effective in facilitating health behavior change in adolescents with chronic health conditions, such as type 1 diabetes [19,20]. A recent meta-analysis found that incentives also promote improved physical activity goal achievement for adults participating in a physical activity intervention program [21]. On the basis of behavioral principles (ie, operant conditioning), researchers theorize that incentives support immediate improvements in physical activity through the use of positive reinforcement (ie, provision of monetary rewards) that is provided with high frequency (ie, daily or weekly) and predictability (ie, always after a set number of times the individual meets the physical activity goal) [22]. Moreover, the provision of incentives for meeting adaptive rather than static goals has been shown to yield the greatest improvements in physical activity [13], although a decline in activity may be found in the later phases of an intervention [23]. Therefore, to generate robust physical activity change that persists across a program, there may need to be two key features—(1) a shaping phase to incrementally establish a physical activity habit by providing immediate rewards in response to meeting increasingly challenging behavioral goals and (2) continued support for short-term and long-term preservation of habitual physical activity engagement through providing immediate rewards for continued goal success (ie, maintenance phase) and then delayed rewards for continued goal success (ie, fading phase) [24]. However, the provision of incentives in response to physical activity goal success within a scalable, mHealth physical activity program has not yet been tested with a sample of adolescents with overweight and obesity.

This manuscript describes the pilot-testing of a 12-week mHealth incentive program, which targets increased physical activity in adolescents with overweight or obesity. This study is a single group, pre-post pilot of a physical activity program with fixed daily and adaptive weekly physical activity goals, incentives for meeting goals, daily text-based feedback about goal success, and weekly text-based supportive coaching. The primary aim is to examine program acceptability (ie, perceived helpfulness of the text-based coaching, enjoyment of Fitbit (Google LLC) use, and overall program impressions). Secondary aims are to examine (1) program adherence (ie, goal attainment and incentive earnings), including demographic factors related to Fitbit use, and (2) changes in physical activity (ie, increase in tracked active minutes and steps). Finally, an exploratory aim is to identify the possible benefits of this program on body mass and body fat.

Methods

Participants

Participants included (N=28) adolescents with overweight or obesity (15/27, 54% male; mean age 14.81, SD 1.59; mean BMI

XSL•FO
percentile 97.07, SD 1.85; 26/27, 93% White). Most participants (21/27, 78%) reported having private health insurance. Inclusion criteria included the following: age 13 to 18 years; BMI percentile >90; having broadband wireless internet at home; living at home; and permission from the pediatrician to engage in a physical activity program (eg, physical education or sports), which was noted in electronic health records. Although the 85th and 95th percentile are the standard cutoffs for having overweight and obesity [25], respectively, criteria were modified to include those participants who had obesity or who were at least at moderate or high risk of obesity (ie, at or above the top half of the BMI percentile range for having overweight). Participation in this study also included neuroimaging; thus, exclusion criteria included the following: contraindicated metallic objects in their bodies, psychiatric medication, pregnancy, neurological or health problems (other than obesity), morbid obesity that prevented entering scanner, and visual acuity that could not be corrected to normal.

Ethics Approval

Ethics approval was received from the Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center institutional review board (study ID 29591). The pilot trial protocol is available by contacting the corresponding author. At the time of the study, a registry of pilot trials was not required. In addition, this was an open trial; thus, preregistration did not occur.

Procedures

A partial Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act waiver was obtained, which allowed for the recruitment of participants from a general pediatric clinic at Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center using data from electronic medical records to identify potentially eligible adolescents based on age and BMI. Letters were sent to parents of potentially eligible adolescents, which provided instructions on how to opt out of the recruitment process (by calling a study coordinator within 2 weeks). After the 2-week opt-out period, research staff called families to tell them more about the study, assess their interest in participating, and determine eligibility (see Figure 1 for participant flow). Briefly, out of 100 adolescents who completed a phone screen, 28 (28%) adolescents enrolled in the study. Study recruitment took place between November 2016 and March 2017. Recruitment ended once 30% (30/100) of adolescents either enrolled or expressed strong interest in doing so. Intakes were conducted between December 2016 and March 2017. Participants completed the program on a rolling basis between winter 2016 and spring 2017. Follow-up assessments occurred throughout June 2017. Of the 28 participants, 26 (93%) completed their follow-up visits, 1 (3%) was lost to follow-up, and 1 (3%) withdrew from the study.

Informed consent and assent were obtained from parents and adolescents, respectively. All participants completed a baseline, in-person assessment that included a body composition assessment, web-based questionnaires, and computer tasks. Next, participants were provided a Fitbit Charge HR (Google LLC) to self-monitor their activity levels throughout the program. Participants then downloaded the Fitbit mobile application on their smartphone and created a Fitbit account, the credentials of which were shared with study staff for

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32420
```

monitoring. The staff ensured that the Fitbit was set to track daily goals of 60 moderate to vigorous minutes, as recommended by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [26] and American Heart Association [27]. Although there is a lack of consistent activity guidelines, some prior studies have indicated that there is a correlation between 60 active minutes and a minimum of 10,000 steps in adolescents [3]. Therefore, step counts ($\geq 10,000$ steps) were included in the adolescents' daily goals. Moreover, consistent with the self-determination theory, adolescent engagement in physical activity programs can be improved through supporting the basic psychological needs of adolescents, including autonomy [28]. Accordingly, the adolescents were given the opportunity to select whether to work toward their active minutes goal or their step goal each day. Adolescents were instructed on how to view daily progress toward exercise goals and incentives. Families were provided information on how to charge and wear the Fitbit (eg, wearing the device at all times when awake except when showering or otherwise exposed to water). Approximately 11% (3/28) of adolescents were loaned an iPod Touch as they did not have a smartphone on which to track their active minutes or receive daily text and email reminders.

An incentive program commenced on the first Monday following completion of the baseline visit to ensure consistency of feedback across participants. Table 1 shows program phases, weekly goals, and maximum incentives. Briefly, adolescents were provided a daily goal of >60 active minutes or 10,000 steps of exercise per day and weekly goals that depended upon the level of activity in the prior weeks. Adolescents were asked to sync their Fitbits at least once daily (either in the morning or at the end of the day) so that research staff could view their steps or active minutes from the previous day and to prevent loss of data (Fitbits store 30 days of data). Tuesday through Friday, texts informed adolescents about whether they met their active minute or step goal the previous day and praised them if they met their goal; if adolescents did not meet their goal or sync their Fitbit the previous day, texts reminded them to do so. In this pilot research phase, coaches only worked on weekdays; thus, feedback regarding goal success on Friday, Saturday, and Sunday were not delivered until the following Monday. Once per week texts on Monday informed adolescents about whether they met their weekly goal, praising them if they did and providing encouragement if they did not; these texts also informed adolescents of the amount of incentives earned that week, if applicable, and the goal for the upcoming week. SMS text message content was standardized and focused specifically on activity goals. However, if technical problems emerged with using or syncing the Fitbit, coaches provided support to adolescents and parents in navigating the technology. To provide immediate monetary reinforcement during the baseline and shaping phases, incentives for adherence to program weekly goals were loaded onto a reloadable debit card once per week for the first 9 weeks. To assess whether physical activity habits were formed rather than activity levels being contingent upon immediate monetary reinforcement, incentives for adherence to program weekly goals were only loaded at the end of the final week for the last 3 weeks in the program (ie, week 12, using a fading strategy).

XSL•FO RenderX

Following the program, adolescents and parents attended a poststudy assessment and returned the Fitbit and Fitbit charger and iPod Touch if distributed. Adolescents earned US \$100 for completing each assessment that included a lengthy functional

magnetic resonance imaging session (US \$200 total for baseline and poststudy assessment), although functional magnetic resonance imaging data were not analyzed in this study.







Cummings et al

Table 1.	Program phases	, weekly goals, and	I maximum incentives	(total US \$510).
----------	----------------	---------------------	----------------------	-------------------

Week	Phase	Goal	Incentive if goal is met (US \$)	Incentive if goal is exceeded (US \$)	Incentives (US \$ per week)	Total incentives paid (US \$)
1	Baseline	Sync Fitbit ≥5 of 7 days to establish starting level for weekly goals	10	a	10	10
2	Shaping	Individualized exercise goal: meet daily goal 1 day more than the prior week (maximum 5 days)	20	10	30	30
3	Shaping	If goal met, goal for next week increases by 1 day (maximum 5 days); if goal not met, new goal is to match prior week	25	10	35	35
4	Shaping	If goal met, goal for next week increases by 1 day (maximum 5 days); if goal not met, a new goal is to match prior week	30	10	40	40
5	Shaping	If goal met, goal for next week increases by 1 day (maximum 5 days); if goal not met, a new goal is to match prior week	35	10	45	45
6	Shaping	If goal met, goal for next week increases by 1 day (maximum 5 days); if goal not met, a new goal is to match prior week	40	10	50	50
7	Maintenance	≥60 minutes of exercise (or 10,000 steps), 5 days per week	40	10	50	50
8	Maintenance	≥60 minutes of exercise (or 10,000 steps), 5 days per week	40	10	50	50
9	Maintenance	≥60 minutes of exercise (or 10,000 steps), 5 days per week	40	10	50	50
10	Fading	≥60 minutes of exercise (or 10,000 steps), 5 days per week; incentives paid at the end of 3-week period	40	10	50	_
11	Fading	≥60 minutes of exercise (or 10,000 steps), 5 days per week; incentives paid at the end of 3-week period	40	10	50	_
12	Fading	≥60 minutes of exercise (or 10,000 steps), 5 days per week; incentives paid at the end of 3-week period	40	10	50	150

^aNot available (weeks in which there was no weekly goal bonus or incentives were not delivered).

Measures

Program Acceptability

Program acceptability was assessed via participant report of the helpfulness of the text-based coaching (ie, "How helpful did you find our texts?"), experience of using the Fitbit (ie, "How much did you enjoy wearing the Fitbit?") and overall experience with the program (ie, "How did you like the program?"). Participants rated each question on a 7-item scale, with higher scores indicating more positive experiences. In addition, participants were given a Fitbit Charge HR to track their activity, including active minutes and steps. At the end of the intervention, participants indicated whether they would like to continue wearing the Fitbit after the end of the program.

Program Adherence

Program adherence was assessed via the percentage of days participants wore their Fitbit (ie, Fitbit adherence) and the number of weeks each participant met their goals and obtained bonuses. Accordingly, participants' earning totals were considered as indicators of program adherence.

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32420
```

RenderX

Physical Activity

As described above, all participants were provided with a Fitbit Charge HR as part of the program. Steps and active minutes were tracked while the Fitbit was worn. Fitbit's algorithm considers active minutes to be those with ≥ 3 metabolic equivalents and only calculates active minutes after 10 minutes of continuous activity. Steps and active minutes were automatically summed daily. The Fitbit Charge has been used in prior studies to measure tracked activity, and a *valid* day of Fitbit use is often characterized as having at least 1500 steps tracked [29,30]. On the basis of this metric, in this study, with 2184 possible data points (26 participants \times 84 days), 1989 (91.1%) days of activity tracking met this criterion.

Body Mass and Body Fat

A Tanita TBF-300A scale was used to measure body fat and weight at baseline and after the program. The Tanita scale uses bioelectrical impedance analysis, or gentle electric signals through the body, to measure body fat. The Tanita TBF-300A scale has been shown to be a reliable and valid measure of body fat [31,32] and weight [33]. Height was measured using a

stadiometer. Data were collected by research staff once at the initial intake and once at the follow-up (post program) session. Data were manually documented in participants' study records. According to the Freeman et al [34] equation, BMI and Centers for Disease Control and Prevention growth charts were used to compute the percentage of the 95th BMI percentile for age and sex.

Analysis Plan

First, descriptive statistics were used to examine program acceptability and adherence. Second, to further characterize adherence to daily Fitbit use, correlations and two-tailed *t* tests were also used and compared the percentage of days participants wore their Fitbit based on sex, age, and percentage of the 95th BMI percentile for age and sex. Third, program adherence subgroups were identified, as determined by participants' weekly activity goal success during the first and second half of the program. Fourth, to assess changes in tracked daily active minutes (dependent variable) and steps taken (dependent variable) during participation in the program, multilevel growth modeling was used. Time (ie, day 1 to day 84) was included as an independent variable. Due to the small sample size,

steps. To improve model fit, for the model with steps as the dependent variable, the step count variable was transformed, with participants' daily step count divided by 100. Full information maximum likelihood estimation was used to account for missing data (<10%). Finally, paired-sample *t* tests were used to examine changes in body mass (ie, percentage of the 95th BMI percentile for age and sex) and body fat from baseline to after the intervention. Change scores were used (ie, week 12 – week 1), with negative change scores indicating decreases in body mass and body fat.

demographic covariates were not included in the multilevel

models. A separate model was computed for active minutes and

Results

Program Acceptability

Full descriptive statistics of program acceptability are documented in Table 2. Briefly, participants rated the text-based coaching, Fitbit enjoyment, and overall program highly. In addition, out of 26 participants, 23 (85%) reported that they would like to continue to wear the Fitbit.

Table 2. Program acceptability and adherence.

Measures	Values, mean (SD)
How helpful were the SMS text messages? (scale of 1 to 7)	5.8 (1.3)
How much did you enjoy wearing the Fitbit? (scale of 1 to 7)	6.2 (1.3)
How did you like the program? (scale of 1 to 7)	6.6 (0.7)
Weeks (maximum of 11) that participants met the weekly goal	7.2 (3.5)
Weeks (maximum of 11) that participants met the weekly bonus	5.3 (3.8)
Total incentives (US \$) earned during the program (maximum of US \$500)	302.04 (163.85)

Program Adherence

Full descriptive statistics of program adherence are documented in Table 2. Briefly, participants wore the Fitbit on 91.1% (SD 12.6%) of days on average, with a range of 85.2% (week 11) to 95.6% (week 4) and no notable decreases in Fitbit adherence from week 1 (92.9%) to week 12 (86.6%). There were no differences in the average percentage of days the Fitbit was worn based on sex (female: mean 87.99, SD 13.78; male: mean 93.33, SD 11.55; 2-tailed *t* test t_{24} =-1.08; *P*=.29), age (*r*=-0.01; *P*=.97), or percentage of the 95th BMI percentile for age and sex (*r*=0.08; *P*=.72). Participants also met their weekly goals and bonus goals for an average of 7 (SD=3.5) and 5 (SD=3.8) of 11 possible weeks, respectively, each earning an average of approximately US \$300 of the US \$510 maximum.

Three program adherence subgroups were identified: sustained program adherence, nonsustained program adherence, and limited program adherence. Participants categorized as exhibiting sustained program adherence (11/26, 42%) included participants who met at least 80% of their weekly goals across the full program period (ie, weeks 2 to 12). Participants categorized as demonstrating nonsustained program adherence

(7/26, 27%) included participants who met 80% of their weekly goals in the first half of the program during shaping (ie, weeks 2 to 6) but not during maintenance and fading (ie, weeks 7 to 12). Participants categorized as showing limited program adherence (7/26, 27%) included participants who did not meet 80% of their weekly goals during either half of the program. Of the 28 participants, 1 (4%) exhibited delayed program adherence (ie, met 80% of weekly goals only during maintenance and fading).

Physical Activity

Findings demonstrated a significant increase in tracked daily active minutes (P=.006) and steps (P<.001), with an average increase of 20.41 (SD 34.27) tracked active minutes per day and 924.00 (SD 2141.59) tracked steps per day found across the entire intervention. There was also a significant intercept by slope effect in the daily active minutes multilevel model (P=.005), indicating that adolescents who demonstrated greater active minutes per day at the start of the intervention also demonstrated the greatest increases in active minutes per day over the full intervention period. Full test statistics are presented in Tables 3-6.

Cummings et al

Table 3. Changes in daily active minutes (fixed effects).

Fixed effects	<i>b</i> (SE; 95% CI)	t test	P value
Intercept	54.80 (6.28; 67.10-42.50)	8.73	<.001
Within-subjects (level 1)			
Time	0.24 (0.08; 0.40-0.08)	2.96	.003

Table 4. Changes in daily active minutes (random effects).

Random effects (covariances)	<i>b</i> (SE; 95% CI)	Wald Z	P value
Within-subjects			
Residual	3113.47 (100.04; 3309.56-2917.39)	31.12	<.001
Between-subjects			
Intercept	859.48 (283.12; 1414.39-304.57)	3.04	.002
Time	0.10 (0.05; 0.20-0.01)	2.15	.03
Intercept and time	7.98 (2.82; 13.51-2.45)	2.83	.005

Table 5. Changes in daily steps (fixed effects).

Fixed effects	<i>b</i> (SE; 95% CI)	t test	P value	
Intercept	93.13 (3.84; 100.64-85.61)	24.28	<.001	
Within-subjects (level 1)				
Time	0.11 (0.05; 0.22- 0.01)	2.05	.04	

Table 6. Changes in daily steps (random effects).

Random effects (covariances)		<i>b</i> (SE; 95% CI)	Wald Z	P value
Within-subjects				
	Residual	1129.73 (36.32; 1200.91 to 1058.55)	31.11	<.001
Between-subjects				
	Intercept	322.18 (106.89; 531.69 to 112.68)	3.01	.003
	Time	0.05 (0.02; 0.09 to 0.01)	2.30	.02
	Intercept and time	0.42 (0.10; 2.57 to -1.74)	0.38	.71

Body Mass and Body Fat

Findings demonstrated a significant decrease in body fat percentage from week 1 to week 12 (P=.04). Change in

percentage of the 95th BMI percentile for age and sex was nonsignificant (P>.05). Full test statistics are documented in Table 7.

Table 7. Descriptive statistics for physical health outcomes at baseline to 12-week follow-up for the entire sample.

Outcomes	Baseline, mean (SD)	Follow-up, mean (SD)	t test	P value
Percentage of the 95th percentile for age and sex	110.20 (11.42)	110.46 (10.33)	-0.26	.80
Body fat (%)	35.54 (7.79)	34.61 (8.46)	2.17	.04

Discussion

RenderX

Principal Findings

This was a single group pre–post pilot study testing a novel mHealth physical activity program for adolescents with overweight and obesity. Despite the lack of a control group, this study provides preliminary support that an mHealth program

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32420

with incentives and text-delivered support and feedback may be an effective nonintensive alternative for increasing tracked physical activity and reducing body fat in adolescents with overweight and obesity. Adolescents reported a positive experience with each program component (ie, text-based coaching and use of Fitbit) and with the program as a whole. There was a low attrition rate (2/28, 7%). These indicators of program acceptability were consistent with program adherence

data that showed that participants wore their Fitbit over 90% of program days, and Fitbit adherence was consistent across sex, age, and percentage of the 95th BMI percentile for age and sex groups. In addition, most participants regularly met their weekly goals, especially in the shaping period of the program from weeks 1 to 6, during which 64.3% (18/28) of participants met at least 80% of their weekly goals. In addition, participants acquired bonuses for exceeding their predetermined goals in about half of the total weeks (5.3 of 11 possible weeks), suggesting positive program outcomes. Across all enrolled participants, the program led to significant improvements in tracked time spent engaging in daily active minutes with metabolic equivalents ≥3 and steps, as well as significant reductions in body fat percentage, although no significant changes in body mass were noted. Notably, these changes in health and health behavior were achieved with minimal human resources (eg, human contact involved 1 brief in-person start-up meeting with a bachelor's level coach and then 5 brief SMS each week, with incentives delivered text messages electronically).

Intensive, multi-component behavior modification studies for health behavior change have faced challenges in achieving high adolescent adherence and have struggled to maintain adolescent motivation throughout the program [9,35]. However, within this study, we had limited attrition, and participants reported favorable opinions of the program, including Fitbit use. Participants were also highly engaged, often meeting their activity goals-especially in the first half of the intervention-and wearing their Fitbit regularly. A reason for the promising level of adherence found within this program may be the low burden of participation combined with incentives. In addition, the use of sensor data collection, in lieu of self-report measures of physical activity, is likely less burdensome and provides a more objective and continuous measure of physical activity [36]. This low level of burden can be contrasted with multi-component intervention programs for treating overweight or obesity, which often involve parental engagement, family therapy, and nutritional changes [11,37]. The findings of the study are promising in that they suggest that an mHealth program with remote incentives, goal setting, and text-delivered support is acceptable within an adolescent sample.

Significant improvements in tracked daily active minutes and steps were also found, highlighting the promise of the program in facilitating relatively immediate health behavior change to support adolescents to manage overweight and obesity. Notably, participants demonstrated an average increase of >20 tracked active minutes per day and 924 tracked steps per day over the course of the 12-week program. Recent research suggests a 20-minute increase in activity per day in adults would lead to a 13% decrease in the number of deaths per year [38]. Therefore, the demonstrated physical activity improvements in response to this novel program are noteworthy and further underscore the feasibility of the program in evoking health behavior change in this high-risk population.

Although some research has shown that increased physical activity predicts decreased body mass [39], this study observed no change in percentage of the 95th BMI percentile for age and sex. This finding is more consistent with well-established weight

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32420
```

XSI-FC

loss research indicating that dietary changes rather than physical activity alone drive weight loss among individuals with overweight and obesity [40,41]. Nevertheless, participants demonstrated an overall decrease in body fat, underscoring the ways in which improved tracked physical activity improves physical health [42]. Dissemination of this type of physical activity program may reduce the risk of overweight and obesity, as well as of endocrine and cardiovascular diseases [43], in adulthood.

Limitations

The findings of the study should be interpreted in the context of its limitations. There was no control group in the study; thus, the effects found in the program cannot be attributed to the program alone. In addition, the sample size was small, and there were subgroups with varying mean levels of adherence, highlighting the need to further modify the program to address nonresponse in some participants. In addition, the reduction in body fat, although statistically significant, may not be clinically significant. In addition, participants were primarily White, and only a paucity of participants reported having public insurance, of which the latter is a strong indicator of low socioeconomic status (SES); thus, the findings might not be generalizable to racially or ethnically diverse samples and adolescents from low SES backgrounds. In addition, the sample includes adolescents at or above the 90th BMI percentile, such that the generalizability of findings to those adolescents with overweight but between the 85th and 89.9th BMI percentile is unknown. Although there was an even distribution of girls and boys, an assessment of differences in changes in physical activity and physical health based on sex could not be conducted. Notably, pubertal status was not assessed in this study, and pubertal changes over the course of the program may have affected physical health results.

In addition, it is possible that participants who enrolled in the study were more motivated to increase physical activity than those who declined. Nonetheless, we used universal outreach (ie, completed a chart review to identify potentially eligible participants) to identify those individuals who may be eligible but otherwise were not seeking behavioral care for the management of overweight or obesity. In addition, owing to the novelty of the Fitbit and monitoring of activity by the text-based health coach, there may have been an increase in activity during the baseline period relative to *usual* activity levels, and the true baseline level of activity before receiving the Fitbit was unknown. However, such an impact would lessen the increase in activity over the course of the intervention.

There also may have been measurement errors, as a recent meta-analysis indicated that Fitbit estimates of step count and moderate to vigorous active minutes might be less accurate than research-grade accelerometers [44], and there was no blinded research-grade measurement of activity before, during, and after the intervention. Regarding the physical health measures, there may have been measurement error in the body mass and body fat calculations, as participants were not given specific instructions to fast or avoid fluid intake before the physical health assessments, and all measurements were taken only once at each study time point.

There are also limitations in the program structure. First, owing to the lack of a universal guideline, participants were given a 10,000 daily step goal, which is lower than the physical activity recommendations used in other studies (eg, 12,000 daily step count, which is more strongly correlated with 60 active minutes) [45]. Second, long-term follow-up assessments were not conducted. In addition, as there were multiple treatment components, it is unknown which specific components guided program effects and whether the program would be as effective with even fewer components. Finally, participants were eligible to receive up to US \$510 in incentives, which may limit implementation by some health systems. It is important to note that participants had an average weekly earning of US \$25.34, which equated to only approximately 59% of the maximum possible incentive earnings (ie, average incentives earned per participant was only US \$302.04 across the entire 12-week program). The scalable program yielded a more optimal cost-effectiveness ratio than traditional, multi-component in-person interventions [46].

Conclusions and Future Directions

This pilot study provides preliminary support of the acceptability and feasibility of a remote, mHealth program comprising tracked physical activity goals, incentives, and text-based support from health coaches to improve tracked physical activity and reduce body fat in adolescents with overweight and obesity. Replication of findings in a randomized trial by involving a larger, more diverse sample is warranted, including youth with BMI percentiles >85th, and may further clarify the utility of the program in addressing the pediatric overweight and obesity epidemic. Importantly, future studies should explore individual-level factors (eg, sex, cultural background, SES, motivation to lose weight, and pubertal status) that may predict program adherence and changes in tracked activity levels, as well as examine whether program effects are *clinically* significant. To allow for comparison of findings across studies, it should also be a priority to establish a universal cutoff for Fitbit wear time (or adherence), including the minimum number of steps and minutes required to be considered a full day of wear time, as well as universal guidelines for daily step and active minutes for adolescents, specifically. Future studies could investigate the incremental efficacy of each program component using a factorial design to compare the efficacy of an SMS text

message only program, incentives only program, and SMS text message plus incentives program in increasing physical activity among adolescents with overweight or obesity. Researchers might also consider investigating the differential effects of varying incentive magnitudes on changes in tracked physical activity. Given that health insurers are poised to deliver incentives for health behavior change, a randomized trial of this program could advance the evidence-based use of incentives by health insurers. Researchers may also examine whether other incentive types, including parent-led behavior contracting and provision of rewards other than incentives (eg, time with peers and low-cost books or games), may evoke similar results. An adaptive program might also be tested, in which participants are initially offered smaller incentives for a brief period, with participants who demonstrate limited program adherence switching to a more intensive program (eg, parental involvement and larger incentives). In addition, the text-based mHealth program used in this study could be automated by using technology such as the Fitbit application programming interface to automate goal setting and deploy reinforcing SMS text messages every day. The program could also be lengthened to support greater reductions in body fat, as well as be modified to target only increased active minutes or only step counts. Importantly, all future iterations of the program should implement an intervention mapping framework [47].

Future research may also consider assessing mediators and moderators of change. Other adaptions that might be tested include personalized daily adaptive goals (in addition to weekly goals) and incentives for meeting daily goals to increase the number of adolescents meeting weekly goals. In addition, a longer fading period (eg, 12 weeks of weekly incentives, followed by 4-6 weeks of more gradual fading) may support sustained physical activity improvements and long-term program response. Finally, future research should investigate whether participation in an incentive program may increase motivation for additional lifestyle behavior changes (eg, diet and sleep patterns) associated with overweight and obesity, as well as guide the long-term prevention of having overweight and obesity and their common comorbidities during adulthood. Combined, such avenues for future program development may allow for a highly scalable, accessible, and sustainable program for adolescents with overweight and obesity.

Acknowledgments

This study was funded by the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences (principal investigator [PI]: CS; Co-PI: AHL), the National Institute on Drug Abuse (grant P30 DA029926; PI: Lisa A Marsch), and the National Institute of General Medical Sciences (grant P20 GM103644; PI: AHL).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

RenderX

 Fryar CD, Carroll MD, Ogden CL. Prevalence of overweight, obesity, and severe obesity among children and adolescents aged 2–19 years: United States, 1963–1965 through 2015–2016. National Center for Health Statistics. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hestat/obesity_child_15_16/obesity_child_15_16.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-03-18]

- Reilly JJ, Kelly J. Long-term impact of overweight and obesity in childhood and adolescence on morbidity and premature mortality in adulthood: systematic review. Int J Obes (Lond) 2011;35(7):891-898. [doi: <u>10.1038/ijo.2010.222</u>] [Medline: <u>20975725</u>]
- Tudor-Locke C, Craig CL, Beets MW, Belton S, Cardon GM, Duncan S, et al. How many steps/day are enough? For children and adolescents. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2011;8:78 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-8-78] [Medline: 21798014]
- 4. Kelley GA, Kelley KS, Pate RR. How many US children and adolescents with overweight and obesity could improve their percent body fat by exercising?: meta-analytic based estimates. Child Obes 2021;17(2):144-150. [doi: 10.1089/chi.2020.0245] [Medline: 33544030]
- Psaltopoulou T, Tzanninis S, Ntanasis-Stathopoulos I, Panotopoulos G, Kostopoulou M, Tzanninis IG, et al. Prevention and treatment of childhood and adolescent obesity: a systematic review of meta-analyses. World J Pediatr 2019;15(4):350-381. [doi: <u>10.1007/s12519-019-00266-y</u>] [Medline: <u>31313240</u>]
- Staiano AE, Abraham AA, Calvert SL. Adolescent exergame play for weight loss and psychosocial improvement: a controlled physical activity intervention. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2013;21(3):598-601 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1002/oby.20282</u>] [Medline: <u>23592669</u>]
- Cox CE. Role of physical activity for weight loss and weight maintenance. Diabetes Spectr 2017;30(3):157-160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/ds17-0013] [Medline: 28848307]
- 8. Jernigan MM. Exploring black girls' recommendations for healthy lifestyle interventions to address obesity. J Pediatr Psychol 2020;45(8):887-899. [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsaa062] [Medline: 32815540]
- 9. Skelton JA, Beech BM. Attrition in paediatric weight management: a review of the literature and new directions. Obes Rev 2011;12(5):e273-e281 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2010.00803.x] [Medline: 20880126]
- Alberga AS, Sigal RJ, Sweet SN, Doucette S, Russell-Mayhew S, Tulloch H, et al. Understanding low adherence to an exercise program for adolescents with obesity: the HEARTY trial. Obes Sci Pract 2019;5(5):437-448 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/osp4.357] [Medline: 31687168]
- 11. Levine MD, Ringham RM, Kalarchian MA, Wisniewski L, Marcus MD. Is family-based behavioral weight control appropriate for severe pediatric obesity? Int J Eat Disord 2001;30(3):318-328. [doi: <u>10.1002/eat.1091</u>] [Medline: <u>11746293</u>]
- 12. Wyatt TH, Bayless AK, Krauskopf P, Gaylord N. Using mHealth applications to promote self-managed health behaviors among teens. J Pediatr Nurs 2021;59:164-172. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pedn.2021.04.025</u>] [Medline: <u>33932646</u>]
- Adams MA, Hurley JC, Todd M, Bhuiyan N, Jarrett CL, Tucker WJ, et al. Adaptive goal setting and financial incentives: a 2 × 2 factorial randomized controlled trial to increase adults' physical activity. BMC Public Health 2017;17(1):286 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4197-8] [Medline: 28356097]
- Schoenfelder E, Moreno M, Wilner M, Whitlock KB, Mendoza JA. Piloting a mobile health intervention to increase physical activity for adolescents with ADHD. Prev Med Rep 2017;6:210-213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2017.03.003] [Medline: 28373931]
- Staiano AE, Beyl RA, Hsia DS, Jarrell AR, Katzmarzyk PT, Mantzor S, et al. Step tracking with goals increases children's weight loss in behavioral intervention. Child Obes 2017;13(4):283-290 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/chi.2017.0047] [Medline: 28440662]
- Newton KH, Wiltshire EJ, Elley CR. Pedometers and text messaging to increase physical activity: randomized controlled trial of adolescents with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2009;32(5):813-815 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc08-1974] [Medline: 19228863]
- Sirriyeh R, Lawton R, Ward J. Physical activity and adolescents: an exploratory randomized controlled trial investigating the influence of affective and instrumental text messages. Br J Health Psychol 2010;15(Pt 4):825-840. [doi: <u>10.1348/135910710X486889</u>] [Medline: <u>20156396</u>]
- Stanger C, Budney AJ. Contingency management approaches for adolescent substance use disorders. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am 2010;19(3):547-562 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2010.03.007] [Medline: 20682220]
- Stanger C, Lansing AH, Scherer E, Budney A, Christiano AS, Casella SJ. A web-delivered multicomponent intervention for adolescents with poorly controlled type 1 diabetes: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Ann Behav Med 2018;52(12):1010-1022 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/abm/kay005] [Medline: 30418521]
- 20. Wong CA, Miller VA, Murphy K, Small D, Ford CA, Willi SM, et al. Effect of financial incentives on glucose monitoring adherence and glycemic control among adolescents and young adults with type 1 diabetes: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA Pediatr 2017;171(12):1176-1183 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2017.3233] [Medline: 29059263]
- Mitchell MS, Orstad SL, Biswas A, Oh PI, Jay M, Pakosh MT, et al. Financial incentives for physical activity in adults: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med 2020;54(21):1259-1268. [doi: <u>10.1136/bjsports-2019-100633</u>] [Medline: <u>31092399</u>]
- 22. Burns RJ, Donovan AS, Ackermann RT, Finch EA, Rothman AJ, Jeffery RW. A theoretically grounded systematic review of material incentives for weight loss: implications for interventions. Ann Behav Med 2012;44(3):375-388. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-012-9403-4] [Medline: 22907712]

- Korinek EV, Phatak SS, Martin CA, Freigoun MT, Rivera DE, Adams MA, et al. Adaptive step goals and rewards: a longitudinal growth model of daily steps for a smartphone-based walking intervention. J Behav Med 2018;41(1):74-86. [doi: 10.1007/s10865-017-9878-3] [Medline: 28918547]
- 24. Schweitzer JB, Sulzer-Azaroff B. Self-control: teaching tolerance for delay in impulsive children. J Exp Anal Behav 1988;50(2):173-186 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1901/jeab.1988.50-173] [Medline: 3193054]
- 25. Defining childhood weight status. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/obesity/</u> <u>childhood/defining.html</u> [accessed 2022-03-18]
- 26. National health and nutrition examination survey data. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes/index.htm</u> [accessed 2022-03-18]
- 27. American Heart Association recommendations for physical activity in adults and kids. American Heart Association. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.heart.org/en/healthy-living/fitness/fitness-basics/aha-recs-for-physical-activity-in-adults</u> [accessed 2022-03-18]
- 28. Mitchell F, Gray S, Inchley J. 'This choice thing really works ... 'Changes in experiences and engagement of adolescent girls in physical education classes, during a school-based physical activity programme. Phys Educ Sport Pedagogy 2015;20(6):593-611. [doi: 10.1080/17408989.2013.837433]
- Chu AH, Ng SH, Paknezhad M, Gauterin A, Koh D, Brown MS, et al. Comparison of wrist-worn Fitbit Flex and waist-worn ActiGraph for measuring steps in free-living adults. PLoS One 2017;12(2):e0172535 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0172535] [Medline: 28234953]
- 30. Tudor-Locke C, Barreira TV, Schuna Jr JJ. Comparison of step outputs for waist and wrist accelerometer attachment sites. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2015;47(4):839-842. [doi: 10.1249/MSS.0000000000000476] [Medline: 25121517]
- 31. Kabiri LS, Hernandez DC, Mitchell K. Reliability, validity, and diagnostic value of a pediatric bioelectrical impedance analysis scale. Child Obes 2015;11(5):650-655. [doi: 10.1089/chi.2014.0156] [Medline: 26332367]
- 32. Goldfield GS, Cloutier P, Mallory R, Prud'homme D, Parker T, Doucet E. Validity of foot-to-foot bioelectrical impedance analysis in overweight and obese children and parents. J Sports Med Phys Fitness 2006;46(3):447-453. [Medline: <u>16998450</u>]
- Ritchie JD, Miller CK, Smiciklas-Wright H. Tanita foot-to-foot bioelectrical impedance analysis system validated in older adults. J Am Diet Assoc 2005;105(10):1617-1619. [doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2005.07.011] [Medline: 16183365]
- 34. Freedman DS, Butte NF, Taveras EM, Lundeen EA, Blanck HM, Goodman AB, et al. BMI z-Scores are a poor indicator of adiposity among 2- to 19-year-olds with very high BMIs, NHANES 1999-2000 to 2013-2014. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2017;25(4):739-746 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/oby.21782] [Medline: 28245098]
- 35. Karlson CW, Rapoff MA. Attrition in randomized controlled trials for pediatric chronic conditions. J Pediatr Psychol 2009;34(7):782-793. [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsn122] [Medline: 19064607]
- 36. Dyrstad SM, Hansen BH, Holme IM, Anderssen SA. Comparison of self-reported versus accelerometer-measured physical activity. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2014;46(1):99-106. [doi: 10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182a0595f] [Medline: 23793232]
- Kalarchian MA, Levine MD, Arslanian SA, Ewing LJ, Houck PR, Cheng Y, et al. Family-based treatment of severe pediatric obesity: randomized, controlled trial. Pediatrics 2009;124(4):1060-1068 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2008-3727] [Medline: 19786444]
- Saint-Maurice PF, Graubard BI, Troiano RP, Berrigan D, Galuska DA, Fulton JE, et al. Estimated number of deaths prevented through increased physical activity among US adults. JAMA Intern Med 2022;182(3):349-352 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2021.7755] [Medline: 35072698]
- Hills AP, Andersen LB, Byrne NM. Physical activity and obesity in children. Br J Sports Med 2011;45(11):866-870. [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2011-090199] [Medline: 21836171]
- Foster-Schubert KE, Alfano CM, Duggan CR, Xiao L, Campbell KL, Kong A, et al. Effect of diet and exercise, alone or combined, on weight and body composition in overweight-to-obese postmenopausal women. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2012;20(8):1628-1638 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/oby.2011.76] [Medline: 21494229]
- 41. Kumanyika SK, Obarzanek E, Stettler N, Bell R, Field AE, Fortmann SP, American Heart Association Council on Epidemiology and Prevention, Interdisciplinary Committee for Prevention. Population-based prevention of obesity: the need for comprehensive promotion of healthful eating, physical activity, and energy balance: a scientific statement from American Heart Association Council on Epidemiology and Prevention, Interdisciplinary Committee for Prevention (formerly the expert panel on population and prevention science). Circulation 2008;118(4):428-464. [doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.189702] [Medline: 18591433]
- 42. Barnes AS, Kimbro RT. Descriptive study of educated African American women successful at weight-loss maintenance through lifestyle changes. J Gen Intern Med 2012;27(10):1272-1279 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-012-2060-2] [Medline: 22539067]
- 43. Fernandes RA, Zanesco A. Early physical activity promotes lower prevalence of chronic diseases in adulthood. Hypertens Res 2010;33(9):926-931. [doi: 10.1038/hr.2010.106] [Medline: 20574424]
- 44. Feehan LM, Geldman J, Sayre EC, Park C, Ezzat AM, Yoo JY, et al. Accuracy of Fitbit devices: systematic review and narrative syntheses of quantitative data. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018;6(8):e10527 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10527] [Medline: 30093371]

- 45. Colley RC, Janssen I, Tremblay MS. Daily step target to measure adherence to physical activity guidelines in children. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2012;44(5):977-982. [doi: <u>10.1249/MSS.0b013e31823f23b1</u>] [Medline: <u>22051570</u>]
- 46. Sutherland R, Reeves P, Campbell E, Lubans DR, Morgan PJ, Nathan N, et al. Cost effectiveness of a multi-component school-based physical activity intervention targeting adolescents: the 'Physical Activity 4 Everyone' cluster randomized trial. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2016;13(1):94 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-016-0418-2] [Medline: 27549382]
- Fernandez ME, Ruiter RA, Markham CM, Kok G. Intervention mapping: theory- and evidence-based health promotion program planning: perspective and examples. Front Public Health 2019;7:209 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2019.00209] [Medline: 31475126]

Abbreviations

mHealth: mobile health **PI:** principal investigator **SES:** socioeconomic status

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 27.07.21; peer-reviewed by R Rosenkranz, J Zink, G ten Velde; comments to author 14.09.21; revised version received 02.02.22; accepted 14.02.22; published 28.03.22. Please cite as:

Cummings C, Crochiere R, Lansing AH, Patel R, Stanger C A Digital Health Program Targeting Physical Activity Among Adolescents With Overweight or Obesity: Open Trial JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e32420 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32420 doi:10.2196/32420 PMID:35343903

©Caroline Cummings, Rebecca Crochiere, Amy Hughes Lansing, Riya Patel, Catherine Stanger. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 28.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Parents' Experience With a Mobile Health Intervention to Influence Human Papillomavirus Vaccination Decision Making: Mixed Methods Study

Elisabeth RB Becker¹, MPH, PhD; Ross Shegog¹, PhD; Lara S Savas¹, PhD; Erica L Frost¹, MPH; Sharon P Coan¹, MS; C Mary Healy², MD; Stanley W Spinner³, MD; Sally W Vernon¹, PhD

¹University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, United States

²Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States

³Texas Children's Pediatrics, Houston, TX, United States

Corresponding Author:

Elisabeth RB Becker, MPH, PhD University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston 7000 Fannin St. Houston, TX, 77030 United States Phone: 1 (713) 500 9677 Email: elisabethrbecker@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: Human papillomavirus (HPV)-attributed cancers are preventable, yet HPV vaccination rates severely lag behind other adolescent vaccinations. HPVcancerFree (HPVCF) is a mobile health (mHealth) intervention developed to influence parental HPV vaccination decision making by raising awareness of HPV, reducing HPV vaccination barriers, and enabling HPV vaccination scheduling and reminders through a smartphone app. Evaluating the user experience of mHealth interventions is a vital component in assessing their quality and success but tends to be underreported in mHealth intervention evaluation.

Objective: We aimed to evaluate the user experience of HPVCF, an HPV cancer prevention app designed for a pediatric clinic network, using mixed methods data collected from log files, survey measures, and qualitative feedback.

Methods: Study data were evaluated from parents in a large US pediatric clinic network using HPVCF in the treatment study condition of a group randomized controlled trial. Log data captured HPVCF retention and use. Postintervention rating scales and items assessed HPVCF utility, usefulness, understandability, appeal, credibility, and perceived impact. Overall quality was evaluated using the user version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale (uMars). Open-ended responses assessed parent recommendations for HPVCF enhancement.

Results: The 98 parents were mainly female (n=94, 96%), 41 (5.67) years of age, college educated (n=55, 56%), and White and non-Hispanic (n=55, 56%) and had private health insurance for their children (n=75, 77%). Parents used HPVCF 197 times, with the average visit duration approximating 3.5 minutes. The uMARS app quality score was positively skewed (4.2/5.0). Mean ratings were highest for information (4.46 [SD 0.53]) and lowest for engagement (3.74 [SD 0.69]). In addition, of 95 parents, 45 (47%) rated HPVCF as helpful in HPV vaccination decision making and 16 (17%) attributed HPV vaccine initiation to HPVCF. Parents reported that HPVCF increased their awareness (84/95, 88%), knowledge (84/95, 88%), and HPV vaccination intentions (64/95, 67%). Most of the 98 parents rated the 4 HPVCF components as useful (72-92 [73%-94%]). Parents also agreed that HPVCF is clear (86/95, 91%), accurate (86/95, 91%), and more helpful than other HPV vaccine information they had received (89/95, 94%) and that they would recommend it to others (81/95, 85%). In addition, parents suggested ways to increase awareness and engagement with the app, along with opportunities to enhance the content and functionality.

Conclusions: HPVCF was well received by parents and performed well on indicators of quality, usefulness, utility, credibility, and perceived impact. This study contributes a multimethod and multimeasure evaluation to the growing body of literature focused on assessing the user experience of patient-focused technology-mediated applications for HPV education.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e30340) doi:10.2196/30340



KEYWORDS

human papillomavirus; vaccination; user experience; parent; mHealth; HPV; vaccine; HPV vaccine; parenting; pediatrics; sexual health; cervical cancer; adolescents; mHealth; app; application

Introduction

Background

Human papillomavirus (HPV) is a sexually transmitted infection that causes anogenital cancers and oropharyngeal cancers in men and women [1]. HPV is attributed to 630,000 new cancer cases per year worldwide [2] and 44,000 cases per year in the United States [3]. The majority of HPV-attributed cancers can be prevented with a 2-dose 9-valent HPV vaccine [4]. HPV vaccination is recommended for adolescents 11-12 years old, but rates severely lag behind other adolescent vaccinations, such as Tdap and meningococcal vaccines [5]. The Healthy People 2030 goal for HPV series completion is 80% of youth; however, only 60% of 13-17-year-olds have initiated and 40% have completed the HPV series in the United States [6].

National samples in the United States have found that 28% of parents have refused or decided not to get the HPV vaccine for their child and 8% of parents have delayed or put off getting the vaccine [7]. Refusal is associated with parental perceptions that the HPV vaccine is ineffective and harmful, and delay is associated with the parental need for more information [7]. Frequent reasons for HPV vaccine hesitancy also include perceptions that the vaccination is not necessary, a lack of provider recommendation, and a lack of parental knowledge [8]. Despite this, parent intervention can persuade HPV vaccination initiation, as over 85% of parents with a history of delay have reported initiating HPV vaccination or intending to do so after continued counseling and recommendation [7].

Factors at the individual, provider, and clinic levels have been positively associated with HPV vaccination outcomes. Interventions that address parental psychosocial factors (ie, knowledge, beliefs, and outcome expectations), provider behavior (ie, HPV vaccine recommendation), patient-targeted systems (ie, reminder systems), and provider-targeted systems (ie, assessment and feedback) can positively influence HPV vaccination rates [9]. Multimethod strategies demonstrate the highest rates of maintaining increases in HPV vaccination [10].

The use of parent- and patient-focused apps to promote HPV education and vaccination is on the rise [11-14]. Mobile health (mHealth) is rapidly becoming a dominant mode to deliver health education and health promotion interventions [15]. Evaluating the user experience of mHealth interventions is important in assessing their quality, acceptability to users, and application in real-world clinical settings [16-20] but is often underreported [21-23]. User experience is broadly defined as a person's perceptions and responses resulting from the use or anticipated use of a product, system, or service [24]. There is a lack of consensus on the best methods, measures, or scales to use when assessing mHealth user experience, although this field is maturing, and a number of scales have been developed that focus exclusively on usability [25,26], quality [27,28], and clinically meaningful risks and benefits [29]. The most frequently evaluated domains in assessments of commercially

available mHealth apps include the scientific and clinical basis, functionality, usability, accountability, impact, and popularity [23]. Nouri et al's [30] systematic review of mHealth evaluation criteria found 7 domains that are commonly used: design, content, usability, functionality, ethical issues, security and privacy, and user-perceived value. In addition, government bodies, such as the UK National Health Service, have developed their own mHealth evaluation standards, which include usability and accessibility to ensure they meet the needs of a diverse set of users, including people with disabilities or those with limited technical knowledge, for their health app marketplace [31]. Of 18 scales developed to evaluate the quality of mHealth apps, the Mobile Application Rating Scale (MARS) is the most frequently applied and is the only scale that has a user version for evaluation by nonhealth professionals [32]. A few studies have evaluated the aspects of user experience for patient-focused technology-mediated HPV interventions, including evaluating the usability of a conversational agent for HPV vaccine counseling of parents and college students using a Wizard of Oz methodology [11,33]; evaluating the feasibility, acceptability, and usability of a cervical cancer and HPV educational virtual agent for Hispanic women [34]; and evaluating the usability of a HPV information website for parents and adolescents [35]. These usability evaluations were done as part of the formative design process and did not include users enrolled in a randomized controlled trial (RCT), using the intervention longitudinally on their own. As HPV vaccination misinformation remains a significant public health problem, there is a need for HPV education apps that are usable, useful, and scalable to motivate parents to vaccinate their adolescent children.

mHealth Intervention: HPVcancerFree

HPVcancerFree (HPVCF) is an iOS- and Android-compatible smartphone app designed for parents of patients aged 10-17 years who have not initiated HPV vaccination. HPVCF is part of a multilevel intervention aimed at increasing HPV vaccination initiation and completion rates in a large US pediatric clinic network [36]. HPVCF was designed to (1) raise awareness of HPV and its prevention, (2) reduce barriers to HPV vaccination, and (3) enable parents to initiate HPV vaccination scheduling and reminders through their smartphone. Preliminary findings have demonstrated potential of HPVCF in changing parental knowledge and perceptions of HPV vaccination [37].

HPVCF was created using user-centered design principles and Intervention Mapping, an evidence- and theory-based systematic framework for developing behavior change interventions [38]. The design steps included (1) literature review and online synchronous text-based focus groups with parents from the pediatric clinic network to assess HPV attitudes, barriers, beliefs, and needs related to a digital behavior change solution [39]: (2) matrices describing target behaviors, psychosocial determinants of behavior, and change objectives; (3) delineation of theoretical methods and practical applications; (4) prototype build; (5) heuristic evaluation and in-house alpha testing; and (6) iterative user testing to assess app content, function, delivery channel,

XSL•FO RenderX

usability, value, desirability, and adoptability for both design and content.

HPVCF contains 4 self-tailored components: (1) HPV A-Z, a compendium of 9 content domains providing facts about HPV and the HPV vaccine; (2) Bust-a-Myth, 7 educational modules, including peer and health care provider testimonials addressing the most salient HPV vaccination barriers; (3) Notes 4 Doc, a medium to facilitate communication with health care providers about the HPV vaccine; and (4) Get the Vax, a feature to

schedule HPV vaccination appointments and receive tailored reminders (Figure 1). There were 77 app pages and links that parents had unlimited access to. HPVCF was designed for user-centric navigation and so did not prescribe an intended user path.

The purpose of this study is to evaluate the user experience of HPVCF, an HPV cancer prevention app designed for a pediatric clinic network, using mixed methods data collected from log files, survey measures, and qualitative feedback.





Methods

Study Design and Ethics Approval

Study data were drawn from parents who used HPVCF in a group RCT assessing HPVCF effectiveness within a large pediatric clinic network in Texas, USA, and completed a postintervention experience survey [37]. The study occurred between September 2017 and March 2019, where the 51 network clinics were randomized to either the treatment (HPVCF with usual care) or a comparison (usual care only) study condition. Parents in the 26 treatment clinics represented the analytic sample for this user experience evaluation. These parents were given instruction and links to download HPVCF from the Apple App Store (iPhone users) or Google Play Store (Android users). They were given a personal ID to enter the first time they launched HPVCF for tracking purposes. Study protocols were approved by the institutional review board at the University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston (HSC-SPH-15-0202).

Study Inclusion Criteria and Recruitment

Eligibility for the study included (1) having a 10-to-17-year-old child who was a patient in the clinic network, (2) having a child that had not initiated HPV vaccination, and (3) the ability to speak and write in English. Parents who had an eligible child

RenderX

were invited to participate in the study via patient health record portal invitations, flyers in the clinic waiting rooms, and posts on the clinic network Facebook page. Recruitment for the study took place on a rolling basis from September 2017 to September 2018. Each parent participated in the intervention for 5 months between September 2017 and March 2019, depending on when they were recruited and enrolled. Parent completed a presurvey before they were given access to the intervention and a postsurvey, which included an experience assessment, at the conclusion of their intervention time frame.

HPVCF Onboarding, Use, and Retention

HPVCF use data were gathered over the course of the 5-month intervention from log files, including total number of visits, number of visits per participant, actions (viewing an app page or link) per visit, and visit duration. A back-end data capture system (Matomo) [40] collected time-stamped use by participant. Actions were triggered when the parent visited a new app page.

Experience

HPVCF user experience was assessed with a postintervention survey using a quality rating scale, survey items, and an open-ended response item for recommended enhancements.

The survey items included utility, perceived impact, component usefulness, clarity, credibility, and motivational appeal.

App Quality

App quality was assessed by the user version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale (uMARS) [28]. uMARS is a reliable mHealth quality measure comprising 3 separate components: an app quality mean score, an app subjective quality scale, and perceived impact items. The app quality mean score contains 16 items evaluating 4 subscales: engagement (5 items), functionality (4 items), aesthetics (3 items), and information (4 items) on a 5-point response from 1 for "inadequate" to 5 for "excellent" and N/A if an app component is not used. uMARS has consistent internal consistency (Cronbach α =.90) for all subscales (engagement α =.80; functionality α =.70; aesthetics α =.71; information α =.78) [28]. The app quality score was calculated by averaging the combined scores for each of the 4 subscales (engagement, functionality, aesthetics, and information).

Survey Items

Utility

Two utility items assessed whether HPVCF information helped parents decide to get the HPV vaccine for their child (no, yes, no opinion) and whether parents got their child the HPV vaccine as a result of using HPVCF (no, yes, no opinion). These items were adapted from prior surveys used with patient-focused digital behavior change interventions in clinic and school settings [41-43].

Perceived Impact

Perceived impact was assessed with 5 items on user perceptions of HPVCF. These modified perceived impact uMARS items measured perceptions of change in awareness of HPV and the HPV vaccine, knowledge of HPV and the HPV vaccine, attitudes of HPV and the HPV vaccine, intentions to get their child the HPV vaccine, and communication with the child's pediatrician about the HPV vaccine. These items were evaluated on a 4-point scale with response options "strongly disagree," "somewhat disagree," "somewhat agree," and "strongly agree" [28]. For analysis, "somewhat agree" and "strongly agree" response options were collapsed into an "agreement" category.

Usefulness

Usefulness was assessed using ratings of 4 HPVCF components (HPV A-Z, Bust-a-Myth, Notes 4 Doc, and Get the Vax) with response options "did not use," "not very useful," "somewhat useful," "very useful," and "do not recall." For analysis, "very useful" and "somewhat useful" were collapsed into an "agreement" category.

Clarity

Clarity was assessed with a single item on whether the goal of HPVCF was clear (no, yes, no opinion).

Credibility

Credibility was assessed using 1 rating of accuracy of HPVCF content (inaccurate, accurate, no opinion) and 1 rating of

trustworthiness of HPVCF information (cannot be trusted, can be trusted, no opinion).

Motivational Appeal

Motivational appeal was assessed using 3 ratings: whether parents would use HPVCF again (no, yes, no opinion), a comparison of the helpfulness of HPVCF content against other HPV content received (less helpful, as helpful, more helpful), and the extent to which parents would recommend HPVCF to others who might benefit from it (few people, several people, many people, everyone). These items were adapted from prior surveys used with patient-focused digital behavior change interventions in clinic and school settings [41-43].

Recommended Enhancements

Recommended enhancements were solicited from an open-ended question, "What would make the HPVCF app more appealing so that parents would want to use it?" adapted from prior surveys used with patient-focused digital behavior change interventions in clinic and school settings [41-43].

Demographics

Parent sociodemographic variables were gathered from preintervention survey items at the start of the 5-month intervention. The parent sociodemographic variables included age, number of adolescent children, sex, race, ethnicity, education, child's health insurance status, and baseline HPV vaccination intention.

Results

HPVCF Onboarding, Use, and Retention

In total, 168 parents completed the postintervention survey, of whom 98 (58.3%) were included in this experience analysis as they also downloaded and used the intervention (viewed at least 1 page past the home screen on any visit; Figure 2).

Parents had a mean age of 41 years, and the majority were female (94/98, 96%), college graduates (55/98, 56%), and White and non-Hispanic (55/98, 56%) and had private health insurance for their children (75/98, 77%); see Table 1. Most parents had 1 child between 10 and 17 years of age, with a range of 1-4 children in that age group. At baseline, of 98 parents, 12 (12%) reported that they "don't intend" to vaccinate their child for HPV, 40 (41%) "definitely" planned to, and 46 (46%) were unsure ("haven't thought of it," "considering," and "will probably get"). These demographics reflected the RCT sample where parents had a mean age of 41 years, were majority female (358/375, 95.5%), were college graduates (233/375, 62.1%), and identified as White and non-Hispanic (210/375, 56%). Further, these results approximate the demographic characteristics of the clinic network population where among children 10-17 years old, 45% are White and non-Hispanic and 80% have private health insurance.

Parents visited HPVCF 197 times during the study period (Table 2). Most parents used HPVCF once (45/98, 46%) or twice (28/98, 29%) with a range of 1-8 visits. During a single visit, 2-84 actions occurred with a mode of 3 actions. The average visit duration was 3 minutes and 27 seconds with a mode of 24

seconds and a range from 3 seconds to just under 27 minutes. Of the 4 HPVCF main component pages, HPV A-Z (370 views) was visited most often by parents, followed by Bust-a-Myth

(273 views), Get the Vax (173 views), and Notes 4 Doc (110 views).

Figure 2. Recruitment and retention. HPV: human papillomavirus; HPVCF: HPVcancerFree.





Table 1. Parent demographics (N=98).

Characteristic	Value
Age (years), mean (SD); range	41.23 (5.67); 26-54
Number of adolescent children ^a , mean (SD); range; mode	1.42 (0.62); 1-4; 1
Parent sex, n (%)	
Male	4 (4)
Female	94 (96)
Parent race and ethnicity, n (%)	
White, non-Hispanic	55 (56)
Black or African American, non-Hispanic	7 (7)
Hispanic	30 (31)
Asian	4 (4)
Other	2 (2)
Parent education, n (%)	
Some high school	1 (1)
High school graduate or General Educational Development (GED)	7 (7)
Some college	35 (36)
College graduate	25 (25)
Graduate or professional degree	30 (31)
Child/children's health insurance status ^b , n (%)	
Private health insurance	75 (77)
Medicaid/Medicare/State Children's Health Insurance Program	20 (20)
Uninsured; no coverage of any type	3 (3)
Parent baseline HPV ^c vaccination intention, n (%)	
Haven't thought of it	8 (8)
Considering	19 (19)
Will probably get	19 (19)
Definitely	40 (41)
Don't intend	12 (12)

^a10-17 years old.

^bResponse options are inclusive.

^cHPV: human papillomavirus.



Table 2. HPVcancerFree (HPVCF) use (N=98).

Becker et al

Visit details	Value
Total number of separate visits ^a (all parents)	197
Number of visits ^a per parent, mean (SD); range	2 (1.25); 1-8
Distribution of parent visits, n (%)	
1 visit	45 (46)
2 visits	28 (29)
3 visits	13 (13)
4 visits	10 (10)
5 visits	2 (2)
8 visits	1 (1)
Actions ^b per visit, mean (SD); range; mode	11 (10); 2-84; 3
Visit duration (seconds), mean (SD); range; mode	207 (249); 3-1601; 24
Total views by main component page ^c , n	
HPV ^d A-Z	370
Bust-a-Myth	273
Notes 4 Doc	110
Get the Vax	173

^aA visit was defined as viewing at least 1 page past the home screen.

^bAn action was defined as viewing an app page or link. There were 77 app pages and links in total, which could be viewed unlimited times. ^cThe main component pages could be visited unlimited times while visiting the app.

^dHPV: human papillomavirus.

App Quality

The uMARS app quality rating was 4.2/5.0 (Table 3). The uMARS information subscale had the highest mean rating (4.46

[SD 0.53]), followed by functionality (4.32 [SD 0.65]), aesthetics (4.30 [SD 0.57]), and engagement (3.74 [SD 0.69]).

Table 3. User version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale (uMARS) mean scores (N=95).

Subscale ^a	Mean (SD)
Engagement (5 items)	3.74 (0.69)
Functionality (4 items)	4.32 (0.65)
Aesthetics (3 items)	4.30 (0.57)
Information (4 items)	4.46 (0.53)
Overall quality ^b (from subscales)	4.20 (0.48)

^aItems in the subscale measured on a 5-point response scale from 1 for "inadequate" to 5 for "excellent" and N/A if an app component was not used. ^bCalculated by averaging the combined scores for each of the 4 subscales (engagement, functionality, aesthetics, and information).

Utility, Perceived Impact, Usefulness, Clarity, Credibility, and Appeal

responded that they got their child the HPV vaccine as a result of HPVCF (Table 4).

Utility

RenderX

Overall, 45 (47%) of 95 parents rated HPVCF as helping them decide to get their child the HPV vaccine, and 16 (17%)

Becker et al

Table 4. Parent agreement on utility, perceived impact, usefulness, clarity, credibility, and appeal (N=95).

User experience survey parameter	Agreement, n (%)
Utility ^a	
The information I got from HPVCF ^b helped me decide to get my child the HPV ^c vaccine.	45 (47)
I got my child the HPV vaccine as a result of using the HPVCF app.	16 (17)
Perceived impact of HPVCF ^d	
Increased my awareness of HPV and HPV vaccine.	84 (88)
Increased my knowledge of HPV and HPV vaccine.	84 (88)
Changed my attitudes of HPV and HPV vaccine.	54 (57)
Increased my intentions to get my child the HPV vaccine.	64 (67)
Encouraged me to talk to my child's pediatrician about the HPV vaccine.	65 (68)
Usefulness by component ^e	
HPV A-Z	92 (94)
Bust-a-Myth	88 (90)
Notes 4 Doc	72 (73)
Get the Vax	73 (75)
Clarity ^c	
The goal/purpose of the HPVCF app was clear.	86 (91)
Credibility	
I think information I got from the HPVCF app was accurate. ^f	86 (91)
I think the information I got from the HPVCF app can be trusted. ^g	85 (90)
Appeal	
I would use HPVCF again. ^c	63 (66)
Compared to other information I have seen about the HPV the HPVCF app is as or more helpful. ^h	89 (94)
I would recommend HPVCF to others. ^d	81 (85)

^aResponded "yes" as opposed to "no" or "no opinion."

^bHPVCF: HPVcancerFree.

^cHPV: human papillomavirus.

^dIncludes "somewhat agree" and "strongly agree" response options.

^eN=98; combined responses of "very useful" and "somewhat useful." Combined percentage responses of "did not use" and "do not recall" were as follows: HPV A-Z (5/98, 5%), Bust-a-Myth (5/98, 5%), Notes 4 Doc (19/98, 19%), and Get the Vax (20/98, 20%).

^fRated as "accurate" as opposed to "inaccurate" or "no opinion."

^gRated as "can be trusted" as opposed to "cannot be trusted" or "no opinion."

^hRated as "as helpful" or "more helpful" as opposed to "less helpful."

Perceived Impact

Most parents (64/95, 67%) agreed that HPVCF increased their intentions to get their child the HPV vaccine. Parents reported that HPVCF positively impacted their awareness (84/95, 88%), knowledge (84/95, 88%), and attitudes (54/95, 57%) about HPV and the HPV vaccine and encouraged them to discuss the HPV vaccine with their child's pediatrician (65/95, 68%); see Table 4.

Component Usefulness

Most parents rated the 4 HPVCF components as useful (Table 4). HPV A-Z (92/98, 94%) scored the highest, followed by

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30340
```

RenderX

Bust-a-Myth (88/98, 90%), Get the Vax (73/98, 75%), and Notes 4 Doc (72/98, 73%). Most parents used Bust-a-Myth and HPV A-Z (both \geq 95%); however, 20 (20%) and 19 (19%) of 98 parents reported not using the Get the Vax and Notes 4 Doc components, respectively.

Clarity, Credibility, and Appeal

The majority of parents rated the purpose of HPVCF as clear (86/95, 91%) and that the information in HPVCF was accurate (86/95, 91%) and can be trusted (85/95, 89%). Parents also agreed that they would use HPVCF again (63/95, 66%), that it was more helpful than other information they had seen about

HPV and the HPV vaccine (89/95, 94%), and that they would recommend HPVCF to others (81/95, 85%); see Table 4.

Recommended Enhancements

Qualitative feedback gathered on how to improve HPVCF included themes of increasing awareness and engagement with the app and enhancing the content and functionality.

Increasing Awareness and Engagement

Parents commented that they forgot to use the app after the initial download and needed a reminder from the app, pediatrician, or clinic to use HPVCF:

It's been a long time since I used the app, so I don't remember if there was a function to remind the user in the future to make an appointment etc. That would prompt the user to reopen the app. I read all the information the first time I opened it and didn't open it again, so I've forgotten much of it now.

Due to a lack of repeated engagement, some parents reported they had forgotten much of the information they had originally reviewed. Parents suggested improving engagement by having push notifications with HPV facts instead of having to open and use the app to obtain information. Further, to improve marketability, one parent recommended incorporating HPVCF content into a broader app that included topics outside of HPV.

Parents also suggested making HPVCF more interactive and entertaining, especially by providing opportunities to engage and speak with adolescents about HPV and sexual health. To make HPVCF more adolescent friendly, parents suggested adding animations and games.

Enhancing Content and Functionality

To improve the content, parents suggested offering parent testimonials highlighting their struggle to decide to vaccinate and how they used HPVCF to make an informed decision:

I think offering parent testimonials about their struggle to decide to vaccinate and how they used the info offered to help make an educated decision.

Some parents were dissatisfied with the presentation of HPV's long-term effects, expecting to see more in-depth information and studies about complications and side effects of the vaccine:

This app, as a parent, did not give me the type of information I would want and need about HPV. I would prefer more information on the age of the vaccine. Credible studies completed. New research and side effects. More of that information would help. If the vaccine is less than 10 years old, I want more information on studies.

Parents wanted a tailored reminder system that conveyed information regarding their child's HPV vaccination status and recommendation:

[I would suggest] some type of electronic reminder from the doctor to review the app. I downloaded the app for the survey, reviewed it, but then forgot about it. Maybe the doctor's office can send email to parents of 9-, 10-, and 11-year-old patients. Also, [a] reminder should have information on [the] child's status (ie, for informational purposes only; needs first dose; received first dose, time for second; etc).

Parents noted some issues with the available functionality, such as the app not storing their appointment information caused by usability issues with the design. For future iterations, parents suggested the ability to share information in the app with existing social media outlets:

[It would be helpful if the app would] allow for flagging/sharing individual items to foster organic awareness through existing social outlets?

Discussion

Principal Findings, Strengths, and Limitations

This study evaluated the user experience of HPVCF, an HPV cancer prevention app designed for parents with children belonging to a large urban pediatric clinic network in the United States. Parents viewed HPVCF as having high quality, utility, and perceived impact. HPVCF quality ratings were robust (4.2) compared to quality scores of 2.4-4.6 for mHealth apps focused on prostate cancer risk [44], Alzheimer disease [45], alcohol use [46], occupational therapy [47], orthopedic rehabilitation [48], and medication adherence [49]. HPVCF quality was rated the highest for information and lowest for engagement subscales. This is consistent with the parents' perceptions of HPVCF information as accurate and trustworthy, while also acknowledging the need to enhance functions and features. The positively skewed quality rating is consistent with a considerable number of parents (16/95, 17%) attributing their child's HPV vaccination to HPVCF and the majority of parents (64/95, 67%) attributing HPVCF to increasing their intentions to vaccinate their child. This is promising, considering that the period of participation in the study was only 5 months, which is inadequate to fully track vaccinations through annual well visits. The study design was insufficient to determine whether these perceptions and vaccinations were significantly different from trends in parents not exposed to HPVCF, but it does appear that HPVCF was sufficiently persuasive to move at least a sample of parents to action. It is also unclear whether, in these instances, HPVCF was directly associated with vaccination or mediated through greater pediatrician dialogue that promoted vaccination.

Interestingly, 63 (66%) of 95 parents reported that they would use the app again, but log data indicated that 45 (46%) of 98 parents only used the app once. Triangulating these findings with information obtained in the qualitative feedback suggests possible reasons for this, including forgetting about the app after initial download, only using HPVCF on an as-needed basis, or no longer needing the app since it fulfilled its intended use after a single visit. Future iterations could be strengthened to help parents reengage by utilizing pediatricians and clinic staff to incorporate reminders as part of their standard communication. Exploring adjunct functionality that offers HPVCF information in more compact ways (ie, push notifications, text messages) may prove beneficial as most parents only looked at a few pages or links for a brief time (under 3.5 minutes).

Parents perceived HPVCF as more impactful for increasing awareness and knowledge than in changing attitudes about HPV. Knowledge is necessary but not necessarily sufficient to elicit behavior change. Negative attitudes around HPV vaccine safety are particularly pervasive [9], and strategies that are personalized, tailored, and require engagement beyond passive education may be needed to modify attitudes [50]. Concerns about HPV vaccination may have extended to HPVCF itself, with some parents feeling that HPVCF is biased in its portrayal of the long-term risks and safety of the HPV vaccine, despite high credibility ratings. A further behavioral impact was that the majority of parents also reported that HPVCF prompts greater communication with their pediatrician. This is an important adjunct function that helps the parent engage more competently with the pediatrician and provides the pediatrician with an opportunity to educate the parent during "teachable moments" at the clinic visit.

Importantly, parent engagement with the intervention was low, with about 70 (41.7%) of 168 parents choosing not to use HPVCF, making it difficult to generalize results to the clinic network. The low engagement is partially a reflection of the real-world nature of the study and accompanying challenges of competing for attention in an open market. Future iterations might adopt a more assertive approach by having parents download HPVCF during clinic visits and having clinic staff be more involved in providing reminders for its use. Future studies can explore promotional strategies to motivate parents to use HPVCF.

Additional limitations of this study should be considered. The intervention timeline did not include the back-to-school vaccination period (generally June-September) for many adolescent children, as the intervention took place on a 5-month rolling basis over the course of 1.5 years. This may have affected

the parents' decision to get their adolescents vaccinated. The 5-month intervention timeline also meant that some parents answered postintervention questions weeks after using HPVCF, possibly affecting their ability to accurately recall and report on some survey measures. A further limitation of the study was that the English-only content and the smartphone-based application may have excluded participation from parents with lower socioeconomic status or those who do not speak English. Although smartphone ownership among Americans is high (85% White, 85% Hispanic, 83% Black), there are disparities between Americans who are college educated (93%) and those with a high school diploma or less (75%) [51], and health app usage among low-income, racial minority, and ethnic minority patients in Texas remains low [52]. Future research addressing non-English-speaking and populations with a lower socioeconomic status is recommended. Finally, this analysis did not examine user experience by participant characteristics. However, subsequent analyses explored content-specific patterns of use that underlie psychosocial characteristics of parents [53].

As digital technologies continue to evolve, they stand to provide a paradigmatic shift in how health education and health behavior research are conducted [54], but doing so will require them to be perceived by users as being usable and useful applications. This study contributes a multimethod and multimeasure evaluation to the growing body of literature focused on assessing the user experience of patient-focused technology-mediated applications for HPV education [11,33-35].

Conclusion

HPVCF was well received by parents and performed well on indicators of quality, usefulness, utility, credibility, and perceived impact. HPVCF contributes to a multimethod and multimeasure evaluation strategy for user experience, which remains underreported in mHealth apps.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank the parents who participated in the study for their time and valuable insights. This research was supported by the Cancer Prevention and Research Institute of Texas (RP150014).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Saraiya M, Unger ER, Thompson TD, Lynch CF, Hernandez BY, Lyu CW, HPV Typing of Cancers Workgroup. US assessment of HPV types in cancers: implications for current and 9-valent HPV vaccines. J Natl Cancer Inst 2015 Jun;107(6):djv086 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jnci/djv086] [Medline: 25925419]
- 2. de Martel C, Plummer M, Vignat J, Franceschi S. Worldwide burden of cancer attributable to HPV by site, country and HPV type. Int J Cancer 2017 Aug 15;141(4):664-670 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/ijc.30716] [Medline: 28369882]
- 3. Cancers Associated with Human Papillomavirus, United States, 2012-2016. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/cancer/uscs/about/</u> <u>data-briefs/no10-hpv-assoc-cancers-UnitedStates-2012-2016.htm</u> [accessed 2022-02-13]
- Senkomago V, Henley SJ, Thomas CC, Mix JM, Markowitz LE, Saraiya M. Human papillomavirus-attributable cancers: United States, 2012-2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2019 Aug 23;68(33):724-728 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6833a3] [Medline: 31437140]
- Walker TY, Elam-Evans LD, Yankey D, Markowitz LE, Williams CL, Fredua B, et al. National, regional, state, and selected local area vaccination coverage among adolescents aged 13-17 years: United States, 2018. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2019 Aug 23;68(33):718-723 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6833a2] [Medline: 31437143]

- Walker TY, Elam-Evans LD, Singleton JA, Yankey D, Markowitz LE, Fredua B, et al. National, regional, state, and selected local area vaccination coverage among adolescents aged 13-17 years: United States, 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2017 Aug 25;66(33):874-882 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6633a2] [Medline: 28837546]
- Gilkey M, Calo W, Marciniak M, Brewer N. Parents who refuse or delay HPV vaccine: differences in vaccination behavior, beliefs, and clinical communication preferences. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2017 Mar 04;13(3):680-686 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/21645515.2016.1247134] [Medline: 27763818]
- Hirth JM, Fuchs EL, Chang M, Fernandez ME, Berenson AB. Variations in reason for intention not to vaccinate across time, region, and by race/ethnicity, NIS-Teen (2008-2016). Vaccine 2019 Jan 21;37(4):595-601 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2018.12.017] [Medline: 30580838]
- Rodriguez S, Mullen P, Lopez D, Savas L, Fernández ME. Factors associated with adolescent HPV vaccination in the U.S.: a systematic review of reviews and multilevel framework to inform intervention development. Prev Med 2020 Feb;131:105968 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.105968] [Medline: 31881235]
- 10. Holloway GL. Effective HPV vaccination strategies: what does the evidence say? An integrated literature review. J Pediatr Nurs 2019;44:31-41. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2018.10.006] [Medline: 30683279]
- 11. Amith M, Zhu A, Cunningham R, Lin R, Savas L, Shay L, et al. Early usability assessment of a conversational agent for HPV vaccination. Stud Health Technol Inform 2019;257:17-23 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>30741166</u>]
- 12. Ruiz-López T, Sen S, Jakobsen E, Tropé A, Castle P, Hansen B, et al. FightHPV: design and evaluation of a mobile game to raise awareness about human papillomavirus and nudge people to take action against cervical cancer. JMIR Serious Games 2019 Apr 08;7(2):e8540 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/games.8540] [Medline: 30958271]
- Baldwin AS, Denman DC, Sala M, Marks EG, Shay LA, Fuller S, et al. Translating self-persuasion into an adolescent HPV vaccine promotion intervention for parents attending safety-net clinics. Patient Educ Couns 2017 Apr;100(4):736-741 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2016.11.014] [Medline: 27912928]
- Gockley AA, Pena N, Vitonis A, Welch K, Duffey-Lind EC, Feldman S. Tablet-based patient education regarding human papillomavirus vaccination in colposcopy clinic. J Low Genit Tract Dis 2019 Apr 10;23(3):188-192. [doi: 10.1097/lgt.00000000000474]
- 15. Marcolino MS, Oliveira JAQ, D'Agostino M, Ribeiro AL, Alkmim MBM, Novillo-Ortiz D. The impact of mHealth interventions: systematic review of systematic reviews. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jan 17;6(1):e23 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8873] [Medline: 29343463]
- Sucala M, Ezeanochie N, Cole-Lewis H, Turgiss J. An iterative, interdisciplinary, collaborative framework for developing and evaluating digital behavior change interventions. Transl Behav Med 2020 Dec 31;10(6):1538-1548 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/tbm/ibz109] [Medline: 31328775]
- 17. Mummah SA, Robinson TN, King AC, Gardner CD, Sutton S. IDEAS (integrate, design, assess, and share): a framework and toolkit of strategies for the development of more effective digital interventions to change health behavior. J Med Internet Res 2016 Dec 16;18(12):e317 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5927] [Medline: 27986647]
- Patel S, Arya M. The BUS framework: a comprehensive tool in creating an mHealth app utilizing behavior change theories, user-centered design, and social marketing. J Mob Technol Med 2017 Apr;6(1):39-45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7309/jmtm.6.1.6] [Medline: 29104674]
- 19. Murray E, Hekler EB, Andersson G, Collins LM, Doherty A, Hollis C, et al. Evaluating digital health interventions: key questions and approaches. Am J Prev Med 2016 Nov;51(5):843-851 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.06.008] [Medline: 27745684]
- Yardley L, Morrison L, Bradbury K, Muller I. The person-based approach to intervention development: application to digital health-related behavior change interventions. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jan 30;17(1):e30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4055] [Medline: 25639757]
- 21. Floch J, Vilarinho T, Zettl A, Ibanez-Sanchez G, Calvo-Lerma J, Stav E, et al. Users' experiences of a mobile health self-management approach for the treatment of cystic fibrosis: mixed methods study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Jul 08;8(7):e15896 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15896] [Medline: 32673237]
- 22. Oliver-Williams C, Brown E, Devereux S, Fairhead C, Holeman I. Using mobile phones to improve vaccination uptake in 21 low- and middle-income countries: systematic review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Oct 04;5(10):e148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7792] [Medline: 28978495]
- 23. Grundy Q, Wang Z, Bero L. Challenges in assessing mobile health app quality: a systematic review of prevalent and innovative methods. Am J Prev Med 2016 Dec;51(6):1051-1059. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.07.009] [Medline: 27659122]
- 24. ISO 9241-210:2010 Ergonomics of Human-System Interaction—Part 210: Human-Centred Design for Interactive Systems. URL: <u>https://www.iso.org/standard/52075.html</u> [accessed 2022-02-13]
- Zhou L, Bao J, Setiawan IMA, Saptono A, Parmanto B. The mHealth App Usability Questionnaire (MAUQ): development and validation study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Apr 11;7(4):e11500 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/11500</u>] [Medline: <u>30973342</u>]
- 26. Schnall R, Cho H, Liu J. Health Information Technology Usability Evaluation Scale (Health-ITUES) for usability assessment of mobile health technology: validation study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2018 Jan 05;6(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8851] [Medline: 29305343]

- 27. Stoyanov S, Hides L, Kavanagh D, Zelenko O, Tjondronegoro D, Mani M. Mobile app rating scale: a new tool for assessing the quality of health mobile apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Mar 11;3(1):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3422] [Medline: 25760773]
- Stoyanov SR, Hides L, Kavanagh DJ, Wilson H. Development and validation of the user version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale (uMARS). JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Jun 10;4(2):e72 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5849] [Medline: 27287964]
- 29. Levine DM, Co Z, Newmark LP, Groisser AR, Holmgren AJ, Haas JS, et al. Design and testing of a mobile health application rating tool. NPJ Digit Med 2020 May 21;3(1):74 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-020-0268-9] [Medline: 32509971]
- 30. Nouri R, Niakan Kalhori SR, Ghazisaeedi M, Marchand G, Yasini M. Criteria for assessing the quality of mHealth apps: a systematic review. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2018 Aug 01;25(8):1089-1098 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocy050] [Medline: 29788283]
- 31. NHS Digital: Digital Assessment Questionnaire V2.1. URL: <u>https://developer.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/</u> <u>Digital-Assessment-Questions-V2.1-Beta-PDF.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-02-13]
- 32. Azad-Khaneghah P, Neubauer N, Miguel Cruz A, Liu L. Mobile health app usability and quality rating scales: a systematic review. Disabil Rehabil Assist Technol 2021 Oct;16(7):712-721. [doi: 10.1080/17483107.2019.1701103] [Medline: 31910687]
- 33. Amith M, Lin R, Cunningham R, Wu QL, Savas LS, Gong Y, et al. Examining potential usability and health beliefs among young adults using a conversational agent for HPV vaccine counseling. AMIA Jt Summits Transl Sci Proc 2020;2020:43-52 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>32477622</u>]
- 34. Mendu S, Boukhechba M, Gordon J, Datta D, Molina E, Arroyo G, et al. Design of a culturally-informed virtual human for educating Hispanic women about cervical cancer. Int Conf Pervasive Comput Technol Healthc 2018 May;2018:360-366 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1145/3240925.3240968] [Medline: 30555731]
- 35. Starling R, Nodulman JA, Kong AS, Wheeler CM, Buller DB, Woodall WG. Usability testing of an HPV information website for parents and adolescents. Online J Commun Media Technol 2015 Oct;5(4):184-203 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 26594313]
- 36. Vernon S, Savas L, Shegog R, Healy C, Frost E, Coan S, et al. Increasing HPV vaccination in a network of pediatric clinics using a multi-component approach. J Appl Res Child 2019;10(2):11 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 34231977]
- 37. Shegog R, Savas L, Healy C, Frost E, Spinner S, Vernon S. HPVcancerFree (HPVCF): a cluster randomized trail to examine a digital behavior change intervention to impact parent decision making about HPV vaccine. 2021 Presented at: National Foundation for Infectious Diseases Annual Conference on Vaccinology Research; April 2021; Virtual.
- 38. Bartholomew LK, Parcel GS, Kok G, Gottlieb NH, Fernandez ME. Planning Health Promotion Programs: An Intervention Mapping Approach. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass; 2011.
- Becker E, Shegog R, Savas LS, Frost EL, Healy CM, Spinner SW, et al. Informing content and feature design of a parent-focused human papillomavirus vaccination digital behavior change intervention: synchronous text-based focus group study. JMIR Form Res 2021 Nov 19;5(11):e28846 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/28846] [Medline: 34806991]
- 40. Matomo. URL: https://tinyurl.com/2p98zekw [accessed 2022-02-13]
- 41. Shegog R, Peskin M, Markham C, Thiel M, Karny E, Addy R, et al. It's your game-tech: toward sexual health in the digital age. Creat Educ 2014 Aug;5(15):1428-1447 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4236/ce.2014.515161] [Medline: 25705561]
- 42. Shegog R, Markham C, Peskin M, Dancel M, Coton C, Tortolero S. "It's your game": an innovative multimedia virtual world to prevent HIV/STI and pregnancy in middle school youth. Stud Health Technol Inform 2007;129(Pt 2):983-987. [Medline: <u>17911862</u>]
- 43. Begley C, Chong J, Shegog R, Sepulveda R, Halavacs N, Addy R, et al. MINDSET: clinical feasibility of utilizing the revised epilepsy self-management tool for Spanish speaking patients. Epilepsy Behav 2018 Nov;88:218-226. [doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2018.09.021] [Medline: 30300871]
- 44. Adam A, Hellig J, Perera M, Bolton D, Lawrentschuk N. 'Prostate Cancer Risk Calculator' mobile applications (apps): a systematic review and scoring using the validated user version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale (uMARS). World J Urol 2018 Apr;36(4):565-573. [doi: 10.1007/s00345-017-2150-1] [Medline: 29222595]
- 45. Choi SK, Yelton B, Ezeanya VK, Kannaley K, Friedman DB. Review of the content and quality of mobile applications about Alzheimer's disease and related dementias. J Appl Gerontol 2020 Jun;39(6):601-608 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0733464818790187] [Medline: 30049239]
- 46. Hides L, Quinn C, Cockshaw W, Stoyanov S, Zelenko O, Johnson D, et al. Efficacy and outcomes of a mobile app targeting alcohol use in young people. Addict Behav 2018 Feb;77:89-95. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.09.020</u>] [Medline: <u>28992580</u>]
- LeBeau K, Huey LG, Hart M. Assessing the quality of mobile apps used by occupational therapists: evaluation using the user version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 May 01;7(5):e13019 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13019] [Medline: 31066712]
- 48. Argent R, Slevin P, Bevilacqua A, Neligan M, Daly A, Caulfield B. Wearable sensor-based exercise biofeedback for orthopaedic rehabilitation: a mixed methods user evaluation of a prototype system. Sensors (Basel) 2019 Jan 21;19(2):A [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/s19020432] [Medline: 30669657]

- Carmody JK, Denson LA, Hommel KA. Content and usability evaluation of medication adherence mobile applications for use in pediatrics. J Pediatr Psychol 2019 Apr 01;44(3):333-342 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1093/jpepsy/jsy086</u>] [Medline: <u>30358863</u>]
- 50. Hekler E, Tiro J, Hunter C, Nebeker C. Precision health: the role of the social and behavioral sciences in advancing the vision. Ann Behav Med 2020 Nov 01;54(11):805-826 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/abm/kaaa018] [Medline: 32338719]
- 51. Mobile Fact Sheet. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/mobile/</u> [accessed 2022-02-13]
- Kumar D, Hemmige V, Kallen MA, Giordano TP, Arya M. Mobile phones may not bridge the digital divide: a look at mobile phone literacy in an underserved patient population. Cureus 2019 Feb 20;11(2):e4104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7759/cureus.4104] [Medline: 31057998]
- 53. Becker ERB, Myneni S, Shegog R, Fujimoto K, Savas LS, Frost EL, et al. Parent engagement with a self-tailored cancer prevention digital behaviour change intervention: exploratory application of affiliation network analysis. In: Studies in Health Technology and Informatics (forthcoming). Amsterdam: IOS Press; 2021.
- 54. Riley WT, Oh A, Aklin WM, Wolff-Hughes DL. National Institutes of Health support of digital health behavior research. Health Educ Behav 2019 Dec;46(2_suppl):12-19. [doi: 10.1177/1090198119866644] [Medline: 31742453]

Abbreviations

HPV: human papillomavirus HPVCF: HPVcancerFree mHealth: mobile health RCT: randomized controlled trial uMARS: user version of the Mobile Application Rating Scale

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 11.05.21; peer-reviewed by O Ilozumba, G Sabben, T Ntalindwa; comments to author 27.07.21; revised version received 25.10.21; accepted 17.11.21; published 21.02.22.

Please cite as:

Becker ERB, Shegog R, Savas LS, Frost EL, Coan SP, Healy CM, Spinner SW, Vernon SW Parents' Experience With a Mobile Health Intervention to Influence Human Papillomavirus Vaccination Decision Making: Mixed Methods Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e30340 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30340

doi:<u>10.2196/30340</u> PMID:<u>35188469</u>

©Elisabeth RB Becker, Ross Shegog, Lara S Savas, Erica L Frost, Sharon P Coan, C Mary Healy, Stanley W Spinner, Sally W Vernon. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 21.02.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Social Media–Driven Routes to Positive Mental Health Among Youth: Qualitative Enquiry and Concept Mapping Study

Janhavi Ajit Vaingankar¹, MSc; Rob M van Dam², PhD; Ellaisha Samari¹, BA; Sherilyn Chang¹, BSocSci; Esmond Seow¹, BA; Yi Chian Chua³, BSocSci; Nan Luo², PhD; Swapna Verma^{4,5}, MD; Mythily Subramaniam^{1,2}, MD, PhD

¹Research Division, Institute of Mental Health, Singapore, Singapore

²Saw Swee Hock School of Public Health, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore

³Department of Psychosis, Institute of Mental Health, Singapore, Singapore

⁴Institute of Mental Health, Singapore, Singapore

⁵Duke-National University of Singapore Graduate Medical School, Singapore, Singapore

Corresponding Author:

Janhavi Ajit Vaingankar, MSc Research Division Institute of Mental Health 10, Buangkok View Singapore, 539747 Singapore Phone: 65 63892794 Fax: 65 63892795 Email: janhavi_vaingankar@imh.com.sg

Abstract

Background: Social media influence almost every aspect of our lives by facilitating instant many-to-many communication and self-expression. Recent research suggests strong negative and positive impacts of social media exposure on youth mental health; however, there has been more emphasis on harmful relationships.

Objective: Given the limited research on the benefits of social media for mental health, this qualitative study explored the lived experiences of youth to understand how social media use can contribute to positive mental health among youth.

Methods: Using an interpretivist epistemological approach, 25 semistructured interviews and 11 focus group discussions were conducted with male and female youth of different ethnicities (aged 15 to 24 years) residing in Singapore, who were recruited through purposive sampling from the community. We conducted inductive thematic analysis and concept mapping to address the research aims.

Results: We found that youth engaged in a wide range of activities on social media from connecting with family and friends to participating in global movements, and these served as avenues for building positive mental health. Based on participants' narratives, our analysis suggested that positive mental health among youth could be influenced by 3 features of social media consumption (connection with friends and their global community, engagement with social media content, and the value of social media as an outlet for expression). Through these, pathways leading to the following 5 positive mental health components were identified: (1) positive relationships and social capital, (2) self-concept, (3) coping, (4) happiness, and (5) other relevant aspects of mental health (for example, positivity and personal growth).

Conclusions: The study results highlight the integral role of social media in the lives of today's youth and indicate that they can offer opportunities for positive influence, personal expression, and social support, thus contributing to positive mental health among youth. The findings of our research can be applied to optimize engagement with youth through social media and enhance the digital modes of mental health promotion.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e32758) doi:10.2196/32758

KEYWORDS

RenderX

teens; young adults; concept mapping; mental well-being; digital media; social media; mental health; social support; mental health promotion; self-expression

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32758

Introduction

Rapid developments in smartphone and internet use have broadened people's opportunities for the production and consumption of online content. Platforms and apps collectively termed social media, facilitate many-to-many communication in contrast to traditional one-to-one personal communication and one-to-many media communication [1]. Over the last decade, youth have been one of the biggest groups online [2]. In the United States, the proportion of adolescents who have a smartphone is estimated to be 89%, which has doubled over a 6-year period from 2012 to 2018; moreover, 70% of teenagers use social media multiple times per day, which is up from 30% in 2012 [3]. In Australia, a longitudinal study found that over 86% of students owned smartphones in grade 8, which increased to 93% by grade 11, with a marked increase in social media communication from teenage to early adulthood [4].

With this surge of online activity among youth, research into the relationship between social media use and health, especially among those in critical stages of development, such as the transition from teenage years to young adulthood, has gained importance [5]. Popular social media sites, such as Facebook, YouTube, Instagram, and Snapchat, provide extensive opportunities to youth to connect with others, express their creativity, and assert their self-identity through pictures, text, audio, or videos [6]. While the functionality and popularity of each platform varies, they are now well established as avenues for identity and self-presentation [7], building social capital [8], and participation in social activism [9] among youth.

Internet use and excessive social media engagement have, however, been linked to cyberbullying, social isolation, stress, and depression [10]. Frequent social media activity is also linked to harmful behaviors, such as addictions, self-harm, and suicidality that can be detrimental to mental health [11]. Although much of the narrative on social media implies an adverse effect on mental health, more recent research findings have been mixed. For instance, a review indicated that some uses of social media, such as suicide prevention [12] and authentic self-presentation, are associated with mental well-being in adolescents [5]. Mental well-being refers to several positive aspects of mental health, such as happiness, life satisfaction, positive relationships, positive outlook, and personal growth [13]. The positive impacts of social media are attributed to increased access to social capital and useful information that present various easy modes of social support in a virtual world [8]. These are of particular relevance among youth experiencing emotional problems who reportedly prefer anonymity offered by social media to in-person interactions [14].

Considering the centrality of social media in forming close connections, which contribute to positive youth development [15], and the high exposure to social media use among youth, understanding how social media influences positive mental health would be beneficial in improving youth mental health. However, the benefits of social media to youth mental health are not fully recognized. A scoping review of 79 studies investigating the association of social media use with mental health and well-being among adolescents found that

three-quarters of the studies focused on psychopathology, with limited data on positive outcomes, such as well-being, happiness, and quality of life [11]. The authors also identified a gap in the understanding of "how youth themselves experience and perceive relationships between social media and mental health" and thus highlighted the value of qualitative research in gaining a deeper understanding into this relationship from youths' perspectives. A recently proposed multidimensional model of social media use (MMSMU) explains the role of social media in relation to both beneficial and adverse effects on youth mental health but emphasizes the need for furthering research into its complex psychological implications [16]. In addition, given the disparate patterns of social media use and impacts among different age and racial groups, it is recommended to consider the unique psychological perspectives among target populations and sociocultural settings [6].

Singapore is a high-income nation in Southeast Asia with a population of 5.70 million, of which 4.03 million are citizens or permanent residents comprising Chinese (76.2%), Malays (15.1%), Indians (7.4%), and other ethnic groups (1.4%). Youth (age 15-24 years) constitute 11% of the local population. The 2016 National Youth Survey found that 42% of youth spent 10 hours or more daily on online activities [17]. The daily consumption of social media for networking, news, and entertainment also grew from an average of 65% in 2013 to 80% in 2016 in this population. The survey also found that the levels of life satisfaction and happiness have remained stable despite the increase in social media consumption. In Singapore, youth engagement in social media has been previously investigated in relation to psychological stress [18], suicidality [19], body esteem [20], daytime sleepiness [21], online bullying [22], and social activism [23]. However, to the best of our knowledge, the role of social media in positive mental health among youth is underexplored.

Given the lack of knowledge on the potentially beneficial links between social media and youth mental health in Singapore, this study explored lived experiences of youth on how social media contribute to positive mental health. Specially, we aimed to understand the components of and pathways to acquiring positive mental health from youths' perspectives through thematic analysis and concept mapping.

Methods

Study Design

Following an interpretivist approach [24], we used qualitative semistructured interviews and focus group discussions (FGDs) to explore youths' perspectives on the role of social media in positive mental health. This method enabled a deeper understanding into the subjective view and perceptions of youth.

Ethics Approval

Ethical approval was obtained from the National Healthcare Group's Domain-Specific Review Board (DSRB Reference 2020/00228). After discussing the aim of the study and the processes for safeguarding data and participants' identities, all participants and parents of those under 21 years of age provided written informed consent.

XSL•FO RenderX

Sample

A purposive sample of youth, aged 15 to 24 years, was selected for the study. This age group was selected to reflect the age range for youth specified by the United Nations [25]. Including this age group was of particular interest to this study because these are critical transitional life stages (from teenage to adulthood and from being a student to being employed) and are the best periods to introduce mental health interventions. Table 1 contains information on the participants' backgrounds. The sample was designed to include equivalent proportions of male and female participants, youth in the age ranges of 15 to 19 years and 20 to 24 years, and those belonging to the 3 main ethnic groups in Singapore (Chinese, Malay, and Indian), along with a smaller number of youth from other ethnic groups. This allowed collection of rich and balanced information from a diverse group of youth. Efforts were also taken to include participants with experiences of psychological distress, school drop-out, or risky behaviors, such as gang participation or substance use and incarceration, so that the findings represent a wider community of youth, who may not be in the academic setting, which seems to be the population in the majority of past research on youth mental health [11]. In order to recruit youth, the first few referrals were sought from colleagues and acquaintances, and the participants were provided with study brochures to disseminate to others and initiate snowball recruitment. Referrals were also sought from community-based youth welfare services.

Table 1. Participant background.

Variable	Focus group discussions (11 discussions; n=70)	Semistructured interviews (n=25)	Total (n=95)
Age (years), mean	20	21	20
Gender, n (%)			
Female	37 (52.9)	14 (56.0)	51 (53.7)
Male	33 (47.1)	11 (44.0)	44 (46.3)
Ethnicity, n (%)			
Chinese	25 (35.7)	7 (28.0)	32 (33.7)
Indian	20 (28.6)	7 (28.0)	27 (28.4)
Malay	21 (30.0)	7 (28.0)	28 (29.5)
Others	4 (5.7)	4 (16.0)	8 (8.4)
Highest education level attained, n (9	%)		
Primary	1 (1.4)	2 (8.0)	3 (3.2)
Secondary	32 (45.7)	4 (16.0)	36 (37.9)
Junior college	13 (18.6)	10 (40.0)	23 (24.2)
Diploma	12 (17.1)	4 (16.0)	16 (16.8)
Institute of Technical Education	6 (8.6)	2 (8.0)	8 (8.4)
Tertiary (graduate/postgraduate degree)	6 (8.6)	3 (12.0)	9 (9.5)
Employment, n (%)			
Employed, full time	4 (5.7)	3 (12.0)	7 (7.4)
Employed, part time	6 (8.6)	6 (24.0)	12 (12.6)
Unemployed, never worked	18 (25.7)	4 (16.0)	22 (23.2)
Unemployed, past work/internship experience	42 (60.0)	12 (48.0)	54 (56.8)

Data Collection

Data were collected through online videoconferencing using the Zoom platform for all FGDs and 21 interviews. The other 4 interviews were conducted in person. Data used in this study belonged to a larger study exploring the meaning and pathways to positive mental health among youth. Participants were also specifically asked about their experiences with social media use and how social media had benefitted their mental health. For this study, "social media" broadly referred to any social networking website or app that enabled them to share and access information in the form of posts, photos, videos, messages, news, comments, etc [26]. Participants were encouraged to share experiences with any sites and platforms if they considered them to be relevant to positive mental health. This provided adequate flexibility in the content generated through the study. Key probes included in the interview/discussion guide are listed in Textbox 1. In addition, FGD participants were asked to provide multiple single-word responses to the question "When I use social media, I feel..." to act as quick starting points for the discussion. The interviews lasted for approximately 1.5 hours, while FGDs took 2 hours on average.

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32758

Textbox 1. Interview guide to understand the beneficial role of social media for youth mental health.

Interview guide

- Thinking about places and practices youngsters are most exposed to nowadays, what are some of these that can influence their mental health?
- Which of these are beneficial to them/their mental health? And how?
- What about social media? How can social media benefit youth mental health?
- What about yourself? For example, in relation to social media how has this improved your mental health? Thinking about the past 1 year, can you give me some examples?
- What about your friends? Any pleasant or unpleasant experiences/incidents that you can recall in relation to social media? How does it make them feel?
- Activity (only for focus group discussions): "When I use social media, I feel..."
- When have you/your friends felt (experience/emotion)? Can you/someone describe any such incident or experience? How did it influence your/their mental health?
- Which aspects or components of positive/good mental health does social media influence? How?

These discussions were audio recorded with participants' permission, transcribed verbatim, and anonymized. The content of the discussions was regularly reviewed by the research team to assess adequate data saturation and allow for identification of key themes. Data collection was discontinued after 11 FGDs and 25 interviews. Data from interviews and FGDs were combined to conduct pooled analysis.

Data Analysis

Coding and data were managed with the NVivo 11 software [27]. In the initial stage, thematic analysis was undertaken through inductive coding, constructing categories, and continuously comparing codes between the transcripts and coders [28]. Preliminary codes representing broad categories on how social media benefitted mental health were created from the first 6 transcripts and discussed between coders, and based on their relevance to the research aims, refinements were incorporated. Codes were then grouped into wider categories to produce a coding framework [29], which was applied to the rest of the transcripts. The current analysis focused on positive influences of social media on youth mental health. The categories were reviewed, and key themes were generated from participants' narratives on positive experiences with social media and their relation to positive mental health. Qualitative concept mapping [30] was conducted using the transcripts to identify short statements or phrases that were then linked in unrestricted "chain" sequences [31] to generate interpretable pathways to positive mental health in youth. This method has been previously used to conceptualize information relating to mental health from a public health perspective [32,33] and has been found to be useful "as an evidence-gathering tool" in research [34].

Results

Participant Background and Social Media Use

A total of 36 data units were included in this study, comprising 25 interviews and 11 FGDs. Participants' details are presented in Table 1. There were 51 female participants and 44 male participants, and almost equal proportions of Chinese, Malay, and Indian participants, with a small number belonging to other ethnicities, such as Filipino and Burmese. Our participants included 8 youth with a history of psychological distress, school drop-out, or risky behaviors, such as gang participation, substance use, and incarceration.

All the participants had access to smartphones, and they used a wide array of social media platforms regardless of their demographic characteristics. These platforms included Instagram, TikTok, WhatsApp, Twitter, YouTube, Reddit, LinkedIn, Facebook, and others, with the first 3 being the most commonly quoted online platforms. They used social media platforms to create and follow online identities, communicate with friends and family, build social networks, and access information resources relating to news, fashion, hobbies, sports, health, and employment.

Role of Social Media in Attaining Positive Mental Health

Based on participants' narratives, our analysis suggested 3 features of social media consumption, namely, connection, content, and outlet for expression, with each influencing multiple aspects of positive mental health. These pathways contributed to the following 5 positive mental health components: (1) positive relationships and social capital (Figure 1), (2) self-concept (Figure 2), (3) coping (Figure 3), (4) happiness (Figure 4), and (5) other relevant aspects of mental health (positivity, personal growth, and psychological well-being) (Figure 5).



Vaingankar et al

Figure 1. Social media as a way to build positive relationships and social capital.







Figure 3. Social media improve the coping process.



Figure 4. Feeling happy through social media.



Figure 5. Influence of social media on other positive mental health aspects.



Theme 1: Social Media as a Way to Build Positive Relationships and Social Capital

Reflecting on the potential of social media as a mode to connect with others, participants discussed how they used different platforms to stay in touch with their family and communicate with friends virtually by posting messages on each other's pages. These actions often resulted in developing close relationships with mutual trust, recognition, and a sense of belonging.

I guess when my friends tagged me in a photo and all that. Some of my friends, they're more appreciative and expressive on Instagram posts, so they will have this long message, especially after Uni camps or like Poly camps everyone will start like appreciation posts and all that. I guess that's the sense I feel included or appreciated, in that sense, though it's not extremely significant for me lah, but I guess in that sense being tagged in that message or on a photo on Instagram,

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32758
```

on social media, it does make me feel included. [FGD participant #08]

The participants often used social media as a channel to share feelings with their friends and felt that they always had someone out there who was listening to them and willing to provide constructive feedback and support.

I use Instagram to be very cathartic, so when I'm feeling very angry or stressed, Instagram has this feature where you can have a close friends' group. So in that close friends group, I tend to rant and express my emotions, and then it's good because it's also another layer of a support system. [FGD participant #02]

If I Tweet out, "I'm sad," she can immediately send me ten memes rather than having to come directly over to my house or even like telephoning me by like being-- asking me directly, saying, "How are you

feeling?" Like it's a-- sorry, no. I think it's also another way-- instead of calling me on the phone, which is also effective, it's an alternative also, another immediate alternative. [Semistructured interview participant #13]

The youth also offered support and empathy to others who needed help. Through these, the participants narrated how they were able to grow close emotionally and bond with their peers.

I think apart from getting inspired or getting educated from other people, it gives ourselves a platform to do the same, as well. So for example... I also during the COVID [referring to Covid-19 pandemic] period, I also started out like a small business with my friend that... inspired [to donate] the profit... to donate it to other people. So that's kind of one of the positive change that we are trying to do, as well. So apart from getting educated from other people, we also are kind of inspired to do the same for others, as well. [FGD participant #02]

For our participants, social media provided opportunities to expand their social network and meet like-minded people beyond their family and friends. Furthermore, they considered how they were able to confide their personal experiences in their virtual network and derive a feeling of support and global citizenship.

Social media is a platform like how you can find other people, like-minded people, you can see, if they're trying to connect with people who have the same beliefs, ideas, or struggles that you have, so you can connect with them and talk with them. You can share with them your beliefs without being heavily judged. [FGD participant #06]

By expressing their feelings and preferences either anonymously or openly in the relatively nonjudgmental environment of social media platforms, our participants were able to bond with others who shared their values or sentiments, participated in popular trends, and showed solidarity with global movements, such as "Black Lives Matter" and climate change activism. They also often derived helpful knowledge from others' experiences and felt that they were not alone when encountering difficulties.

I have seen opportunities across the spectrum where people empower one another and support good causes and stuff. So relating back to this question, I guess seeing the way people can empower and help one another, like the recent Black Lives Matter stuff, I've seen how people will help one another, linking donation links and stuff. [FGD participant #02]

Besides the aspect of interaction that improved relationships between the youth and their local and global counterparts, our participants highlighted how social media were accessible 24/7 if they needed support or access to content such as memes, which they could share with their friends to bond with them and expand their social capital.

Memes....[where] people just put their words and stuff, and you need to have that context behind it. But it feels it's like a whole bonding thing for all the

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32758
```

people in that age group. Everyone kind of has that similar experience or relatable stuffs. So it's kind of like everyone coming together. Yeah. They'll be, "I'm not alone in all of these things that we are going through." It's a way for us to come together, despite the distance. It's not just people in a friend group, like 4 or 5 people. It's literally millions of teenagers around the world, who are all coming together like, "Yeah. Okay. Life sucks, but we're doing it together." [FGD participant #05]

Theme 2: Enriching Self-concept Through Social Media

Many of the participants narrated how they evaluated and perceived themselves while using social media platforms. It appeared to both reinforce and provide avenues for self-awareness and self-esteem. Some expressed how reviewing their older posts helped them gain insight into themselves, while others explained how presenting themselves in the way they truly were increased their self-acceptance, body positivity, and eventually self-esteem.

I think that's always very nice to be reconnected with someone and to kind of like start to share more about yourself. Like you say you've been up to and by doing that you kind of like also reflect on the achievements and things that have been happening in your life to see whether-- it kind of helps me kind of like have a little more insight on what I'm doing and how has that been helping me. [FGD participant #11]

Self-esteem was also gained through their social connections who provided encouragement and recognition due to which some participants were able to appraise themselves more positively and gain confidence.

At one point, I felt pressured to create things that was basic or simple so that more people can buy it. But then I felt frustrated because that was not the reason why I started the business in the first place. So I posted about that on my Instagram, ...[]...I was really actually speechless because I didn't even know these people and they showed me so much love. And it felt really good. Yeah. It helped me improve. Because I was feeling really down at that time, so it helped me become more confident and assured that I can do this. [FGD participant #07]

Our participants described how social media helped them gain a sense of achievement through accessing positive content that motivated them to achieve more, be it pursing their interests or growing their careers. Some participants shared how they derived confidence and self-worth by being able to motivate their friends or lend support to others or events happening around the world.

I felt confident and good knowing that I do care about world issues in my own perspective because I care about world issues. So it made me felt good as a citizen. It made me felt good as someone as part of this world, that I don't not care about the world, but I care about the world. So it kind of made me feel better as a person. [FGD participant #10]

Theme 3: Social Media Improve the Coping Process

From the narratives in our study, youth seemed to use social media to relieve stress in various ways. By being able to engage in relaxing activities or by expressing their frustrations or anger without being judged or shamed, our participants argued that it was a simple way to destress from problems.

I believe some of us are sacred to go to our parents and talk through some issues with our parents. So we choose instead to post on social media ... Because you get to rant it out on your [page]-- you get to rant it out either way. You get to express what you feel on a platform where you know you won't be judged. You know people won't shoot you down for it. At least you feel secure that-- you also feel secure that, one, they get to rant out their emotions. Two, they know that there are people who really care for them and want to know what's on their minds instead of just keeping it all in. [FGD participant #09]

Participants also recognized that they benefited from the content available on social media that involved reliving happy memories or spending time entertaining themselves through watching light and humorous videos. These provided them with a sense of normalcy and familiarity in a changing world and helped relieve their stress. The youth often used these techniques to cope, rest, and recharge.

I started realizing that a lot of people started to look back at the memories. So for Instagram there's this archive feature, ...where you can look back at your post like, years back. And whatnot. A lot of people started throwing back all these pictures so I don't know where did that sense of familiarity or rather, that sense of normalcy, kind of helped them cope. [Semistructured interview participant #10]

Young people also frequently accessed content related to their personal interests, such as sports and hobbies. The content helped them to engage actively and stay busy, distracting them from negativity and acting as a coping mechanism.

I think like itself as a platform for me to kind of distract myself because when I'm watching a video, I'm invested in what's going with video instead of whatever negativity that may be happening in life. [FGD participant #03]

Theme 4: Feeling Happy Through Social Media

The participants identified social media as a source of happiness in their daily routines. While describing instances when participants felt happy, they indicated how it could be rooted in meaningful relationships they had built with their social networks. Having a positive self-image or experiencing positive affirmation through "likes" from friends or when they supported popular global causes promoted their happiness. Participants' happiness was also enhanced when they cherished happy moments with their friends or participated in appreciating their friends' successes.

I guess when my best friend posts her baking videos on her stories right, I always react very excitedly. I'd

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32758

be like, "Oh my God. the buns look good." Yeah, that kind of thing. So yeah. I don't know why but her baking and showing everyone the end product makes me very happy, not only just looking at food but really happy that she's finding something that she really enjoys doing. So yeah. That gets me excited. [FGD participant #01]

Many of the participants used social media to distract themselves from stressors by consuming memes and funny videos on social media to feel happy. Our participants also often accessed motivational content to enhance their happiness.

TikTok videos for humor, I guess, it really helps you feel more happy. Recently discovered TikTok and there was 1 point of time, I think 2 months ago, I was pretty upset. So I downloaded TikTok, and I wasn't expecting much. I was just thinking it's some stupid app, stupid videos. But then I realized it was pretty funny and I was laughing for like 1 hour straight, and that made me feel happy. So I guess that's the good thing about social media. [Semistructured interview participant #08]

I think last year on Instagram, I started following a lot of these quotes pages and inspirational pages. And sometimes, every morning when I wake up, right, and before I see all the other celebrity posts or my friends going out and everything, sometimes I see these inspiring and really like motivational quotes. And I don't know. When I think about it and then I start my day off with something like that, then it just makes me happier, I guess. It just gives me that little boost to go about my day. [FGD participant #06]

Theme 5: Influence of Social Media on Other Positive Mental Health Aspects

Given that youth spend a considerable amount of time using social media, they described how the materials they access are beneficial to their overall mental health and well-being. Our participants viewed social media as a safe space that facilitated open expression of their emotions and experiences. This allowed them to take a break from others' judgement and avoid feeling the need to constantly explain themselves, unlike what might be expected of them in environments under adults' command.

I think the aspect of open-mindedness is much more influenced by social media. Because I think since social media is very-- it's very large. And it basically is exposed to-- I mean, almost all youth, right? And I think social media in itself is-- it's basically giving people the voice to speak up. So it's very unrelenting in that way because it accepts everyone's opinions, everyone's views, on topics and stuff like that. And it just exposes everyone to that. And I think being exposed to various topics and viewpoints and opinions, it sort of creates that open-mindedness quality in youth where they think where now it's more the norm to just accept other people's opinions I would say. Because it just become more normal to listen to other people's opinions and be

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

nonjudgmental about it I would say. [Semistructured interview participant #15]

Few participants also shared how seeing their friends' growth presented them with an opportunity for healthy competition and motivated them to raise their personal goals. This was deemed important as setting goals for themselves was recognized as an important aspect of positive mental health among youth. Others also shared how they grew their skills through coaching and educational content accessed on their social media platforms.

The competitive side, yes, is good, ... there is positive competition to outdo yourself, like outdo your friends. [FGD participant #06]

People learn a lot of tips and tricks online, something like, how to cook, how to make this, how to solve this, how to do financial stuff in Singapore (be)cause we are not taught to do that in school. So we learn it online and we educate ourselves online. [FGD participant #06]

Another benefit of using social media was access to feel-good and motivational content that could promote mental well-being by introducing participants to resources, which some participants mentioned improved awareness on their personal mental health. Specifically, through access to happy posts and motivational content, some participants were able to experience more positive emotions, hope, and positivity.

I think that's one thing about social media like, okay, you can also spread negativity, but at the same time, you can use that platform to spread positivity also. ...- so I have these friends who also post small happiness, like small bundles of joy that they experience and it could be like some aunty smiling at them when they are crossing the road or all those kind of small things. And sometimes, when you see those, then your faith in humanity is just restored. You're like, "Okay, maybe life is quite good." And there are lots to look forward to. So in that way, that's also another way of how social media is so hard to give up. Because sometimes a lot of people also focus on the negativity of social media. There's also so much of positivity that comes with it. It all depends on how you view it. [FGD participant #06]

Discussion

Increasing levels of internet and social media penetration in the daily lives of youth have resulted in significant influences of social media practices and culture on mental health among youth. Our study provides new insights into the ways youth can achieve and experience positive mental health through social media. Our analysis suggested 3 features (content, connectivity, and modes of expression) offered by social media as beneficial to positive mental health among youth. Five main themes were identified, namely, positive relationships and social capital, self-concept, coping, happiness, and other relevant aspects of mental health, such as positivity and personal growth, offering an in-depth understanding into the different pathways through which social media can affect positive mental health.

These routes are partly consistent with the MMSMU of Yang et al that proposed pathways to youth well-being resulting from their activities, motivators, and communication on social media [16]. The MMSMU was theoretically developed from past cross-sectional quantitative research. Thus, our qualitative study sheds further light on the important links between social media use and positive mental health using the lived experiences of youth contemporary to a generation of heightened technology users. Specifically, our study showed how attributes of social media, such as the content available on them, social connections formed on social media, and outlet for self-expression, lead to positive mental health through multiple interconnected pathways.

The relevance of positive mental health to positive relationships, social support, and social networks, often referred to as social capital, has been well established. According to the model of psychological well-being by Ryff [35], positive relationships with others relate to the establishment of close, trusting, and meaningful bonds with others, and being able to reciprocate by showing empathy and support to others. Research has shown that good relationships with friends and family in adolescence buffer the stresses of teenage life [36] and serve as early sources of emotional support and coping that can have long lasting impacts on the life course [37]. Our results indicate that social media can improve relationships and enhance youths' social capital, likely through mutually satisfying and close interactions with peers and by expressing their support on every day and global matters. The concept of solidarity, in combination with the aspects of social cohesion and capital, has gained prominence with the increase in social media-related activism [23]. Social activism can form integration, identity, and ties in a community, be it physical or virtual, and bind people to one another. It can also influence psychosocial processes by providing youth with a source of meaningful connection and mutual respect, thus increasing their sense of belonging and purpose in life [38]. Our results lend further support to this notion and indicate that social media can serve as a tool to enable youth to connect with a social community, thereby benefiting psychologically from the gained social capital.

Based on the experiences of our participants, we uncovered several mechanisms that develop and strengthen self-concept among youth. Self-concept refers to how people perceive themselves physically, socially, academically, or professionally. Youth is a critical age for the development of positive self-concept, which has shown long-term benefits to individuals [39]. Constructing profiles and receiving social feedback on social networking sites were associated with adolescents' self-esteem and achievement of self-concept clarity, which in turn were related to positive self-appraisal and a strong sense of personal identity [40]. Clarity of self-concept is also associated with better self-knowledge, personal goals, and relationships [41]. It is also considered vital to psychological well-being, particularly of young people, as people who feel good about themselves and their abilities are known to be more happy, motivated, and successful and have lower risks of depression and anxiety [42]. Social media sites empower users to take an active role in constructing their own self-identity [43]. Authentic self-disclosures can produce greater intimacy among

XSL•FO RenderX

peers [44] and lead to social support and autonomy [16]. Research has also shown that self-disclosure helps by getting feedback from peers and develops a sense of self [45]. Our study supported these results strongly and found that youth partake in self-disclosures through posts to show solidarity with global causes and seek support from their friends. Through social media, they also aim to receive attention from a broad spectrum of people in their virtual community in direct or indirect ways, and in doing so, enhance their self-worth and self-esteem. In addition, our study identified the value placed on older posts that can help youth reflect on their personal achievements and gain self-awareness, which has not been previously reported in research.

Coping involves a collection of behavioral and cognitive responses aimed at minimizing the effect of stressors [46]. Recent research on the physiology of stress mechanisms has shown the potential of social media in reducing biological stress responses, such as heart rate and cortisol production, with exposure to social media immediately after acute stress induction compared to other activities such as reading [47]. Studies also indicate that social support obtained from online relationships can be beneficial in coping. For example, youth are likely to discuss their mental health problems on social media [48] or connect with strangers who may be enduring similar problems [49]. Similarly, a recent study found that support from virtual communities is as effective as face-to-face support in terms of coping with stress [50]. There is also evidence that when adolescents received "likes" and positive affirmation for their posts, it resulted in reward processing that could help modulate brain areas involved in stress responses [51]. Our findings developed through qualitative enquiry are consistent with the findings from these previous studies and provide a single framework on how social media could benefit individuals seeking support and avenues for relaxation from stressors. The results from this study thus add to the literature on social media influence on coping mechanisms among youth and provide potential anchors for assessing and reducing the stress they experience.

In this study, our participants narrated several instances when they felt happy while using social media or used social media to feel happier. Happiness or subjective well-being is defined as a positive evaluation of how one's life is progressing [52]. It is associated with higher life satisfaction, quality of life, and self-esteem, and better academic outcomes in adolescents and young adults [52,53]. In relation to social media and the culture of self-presentation on popular platforms among youth, such as Instagram [3], it is believed that happiness is dependent on the cognitive and affective processes involved in drawing social comparisons with peers [54]. Comparisons on social media are more often associated with a negative body image and poor life satisfaction than positive mental health [5]. The relationship between social media and happiness can thus vary. However, a recent study found that the impact of social comparison through social media on happiness depends on the type of platform or the activities engaged by youth [54]. For example, platforms that relied heavily on visual appeal, such as Facebook, were found to reduce happiness, while writing or reading blogs was found to have a positive effect on life satisfaction and

overall happiness. Contrary to the current literature on the adverse impact of comparing with peers [54], our study participants mentioned that they felt happy to see their friends' achievements. It is possible that they were only referring to close friends, and it made them appraise their own life positively. In fact, much of the experiences relating to happiness were linked to close friends or community bonding, sharing light moments, and entertainment associated with social media, and it is possible that in an Asian setting, positive relationships influence the experience of happiness on social media. Future quantitative research should investigate our framework statistically to further understand the process of happiness in relation to social media.

Our participants also alluded to other components of positive mental health where social media featured prominently. These were related to deriving a sense of positivity, avenues for personal development and growth, and other ways in which social media were generally beneficial for participants' mental health and well-being. Creating environments with positive experiences and increasing competence have been indicated as relevant to positive youth development [15]. In relation to social media, positivity can result from news feeds and posts that make individuals feel good and inspire them to achieve more. Strategies to get into the habit of being motivated to embrace positive change and being able to contribute to others' motivation have been widely adopted lately by youth to tackle the negativity associated with social media [53]. Research findings also indicate that prioritizing positivity as opposed to the pursuit of happiness is associated with more positive emotions, self-compassion, resilience, and less depressive symptoms [55]. Given the limited research in this area, our findings provide a foundation for understanding the role of social media in youth positivity and mental well-being.

The strengths of this study include the generation of rich qualitative data with a large purposively selected sample of youth and the use of an online activity within the FGDs to prompt reflection on social media experiences and facilitate a rich discussion. This is also the first study to have exclusively investigated positive mental health among youth in a community sample comprising a population of teenagers and young adults, thus reflecting their experiences at important developmental milestones. However, the study also has some limitations. Our research does not provide a detailed account of the ways in which different social media platforms are experienced by youth in relation to their mental health or whether the frequency of use and patterns of use have any bearing on their experiences. Our study also lacks a deeper exploration of the negative context and experiences with social media that are often associated with depression and anxiety in youth [56]. In addition, participants' reflections on specific social media sites and online practices were grounded in their day-to-day experiences, which may be subject to rapid development in preferences and platforms. It is therefore necessary to review the findings in the context of technological developments in the future. Finally, our study sample mainly consisted of Asian ethnic groups living in a high-income country with high internet and smartphone access. The findings may therefore not be generalizable to youth residing in low-income and non-Asian settings.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

In conclusion, our study results highlight the integral role of social media in the lives of today's youth and indicate that social media can offer opportunities for positive influence, personal expression, and social support, thus contributing to positive mental health among youth. Among Singapore's youth, improved positive relationships and social capital, self-concept, coping, happiness, and other aspects, such as positivity and personal growth, are linked to self-expression, connections, and content on social media platforms that youth are exposed to. Our study indicates that social media have been used by youth for increasing connectivity, broadening social networks, and increasing knowledge, and for entertainment purposes. Advancements in digital and health technology have also prompted interest in social media as a potentially inexpensive way to implement mental health promotion, impart psychoeducation, and reduce stigma [57]. Our study findings could inform public health policies or mental health promotion measures focusing on interventions in youth who are connected to social media use in schools or other settings. Specifically, interventions can promote the ways in which social media engagement could bring about positive mental health, such as improving self-esteem and supportive social networks among adolescents and young adults. Furthermore, information on social media can be tailored to youth based on their priorities and value systems [58]. Our findings can thus be applied to inform and optimize engagement with youth through social media, and enhance digital modes for mental health promotion and intervention.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank our participants for volunteering for this study. We are also thankful for the kind assistance extended by the CHAT Hub, Human Hearts, The Green House Community, Limitless, and the Touch Community for disseminating study information to their patrons.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- 1. Hawn C. Take two aspirin and tweet me in the morning: how Twitter, Facebook, and other social media are reshaping health care. Health Aff (Millwood) 2009 Mar;28(2):361-368. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.28.2.361] [Medline: 19275991]
- 2. Lenhart A, Purcell K, Smith A, Zickuhr K. ERIC. 2010. URL: https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED525056 [accessed 2022-02-18]
- 3. Teens, Social Media and Technology 2018. Pew Research Center. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2018/05/</u> 31/teens-social-media-technology-2018/ [accessed 2021-07-25]
- 4. Vernon L, Modecki KL, Barber BL. Mobile Phones in the Bedroom: Trajectories of Sleep Habits and Subsequent Adolescent Psychosocial Development. Child Dev 2018 Jan 29;89(1):66-77. [doi: 10.1111/cdev.12836] [Medline: 28556891]
- 5. Best P, Manktelow R, Taylor B. Online communication, social media and adolescent wellbeing: A systematic narrative review. Children and Youth Services Review 2014 Jun;41:27-36. [doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2014.03.001]
- 6. Chou WS, Hunt YM, Beckjord EB, Moser RP, Hesse BW. Social media use in the United States: implications for health communication. J Med Internet Res 2009 Nov 27;11(4):e48 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1249] [Medline: 19945947]
- 7. Herring S, Kapidzic S. Teens, Gender, and Self-Presentation in Social Media. In: Wright JD, editor. International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences (Second Edition). Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier; 2015:146-152.
- Lee JY, Park S, Na E, Kim E. A comparative study on the relationship between social networking site use and social capital among Australian and Korean youth. Journal of Youth Studies 2016 Mar 07;19(9):1164-1183. [doi: 10.1080/13676261.2016.1145637]
- 9. Maher TV, Earl J. Barrier or Booster? Digital Media, Social Networks, and Youth Micromobilization. Sociological Perspectives 2019 Aug 16;62(6):865-883. [doi: 10.1177/0731121419867697]
- 10. Espinoza G, Juvonen J. The pervasiveness, connectedness, and intrusiveness of social network site use among young adolescents. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2011 Dec;14(12):705-709. [doi: 10.1089/cyber.2010.0492] [Medline: 21668346]
- Schønning V, Hjetland GJ, Aarø LE, Skogen JC. Social Media Use and Mental Health and Well-Being Among Adolescents

 A Scoping Review. Front Psychol 2020 Aug 14;11:1949 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01949] [Medline: 32922333]
- Robinson J, Bailey E, Hetrick S, Paix S, O'Donnell M, Cox G, et al. Developing Social Media-Based Suicide Prevention Messages in Partnership With Young People: Exploratory Study. JMIR Ment Health 2017 Oct 04;4(4):e40 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mental.7847] [Medline: 28978499]
- 13. Ryan RM, Deci EL. On happiness and human potentials: a review of research on hedonic and eudaimonic well-being. Annu Rev Psychol 2001 Feb;52(1):141-166. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.141] [Medline: 11148302]
- Naslund JA, Bondre A, Torous J, Aschbrenner KA. Social Media and Mental Health: Benefits, Risks, and Opportunities for Research and Practice. J Technol Behav Sci 2020 Sep 20;5(3):245-257 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1007/s41347-020-00134-x</u>] [Medline: <u>33415185</u>]

- Lee AR, Suzanne Horsley J. The role of social media on positive youth development: An analysis of 4-H Facebook page and 4-H'ers' positive development. Children and Youth Services Review 2017 Jun;77:127-138. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.04.014</u>]
- Yang C, Holden SM, Ariati J. Social Media and Psychological Well-Being Among Youth: The Multidimensional Model of Social Media Use. Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev 2021 Sep 24;24(3):631-650. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10567-021-00359-z</u>] [Medline: <u>34169391</u>]
- 17. A Snapshot of Our Singaporean Youth. National Youth Council. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.nyc.gov.sg/-/media/mccy/projects/</u> nyc/files/innitiatives/resource/2017-stats-handbook/nys2016.ashx [accessed 2022-02-18]
- Ngien A, Jiang S. The Effect of Social Media on Stress among Young Adults during COVID-19 Pandemic: Taking into Account Fatalism and Social Media Exhaustion. Health Commun 2021 Feb 18:1-8. [doi: <u>10.1080/10410236.2021.1888438</u>] [Medline: <u>33601985</u>]
- Seah JHK, Shim KJ. Data Mining Approach to the Detection of Suicide in Social Media: A Case Study of Singapore. 2018 Presented at: IEEE International Conference on Big Data (Big Data); December 10-13, 2018; Seattle, WA p. 5442-5444. [doi: 10.1109/bigdata.2018.8622528]
- 20. Chang L, Li P, Loh RSM, Chua THH. A study of Singapore adolescent girls' selfie practices, peer appearance comparisons, and body esteem on Instagram. Body Image 2019 Jun;29:90-99. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.bodyim.2019.03.005</u>] [Medline: <u>30884385</u>]
- Nasirudeen AMA, Lee Chin Adeline L, Wat Neo Josephine K, Lay Seng L, Wenjie L. Impact of social media usage on daytime sleepiness: A study in a sample of tertiary students in Singapore. Digit Health 2017 Apr 16;3:2055207617699766 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207617699766] [Medline: 29942584]
- 22. Holt TJ, Fitzgerald S, Bossler AM, Chee G, Ng E. Assessing the Risk Factors of Cyber and Mobile Phone Bullying Victimization in a Nationally Representative Sample of Singapore Youth. Int J Offender Ther Comp Criminol 2014 Oct 16;60(5):598-615. [doi: 10.1177/0306624x14554852]
- 23. Skoric MM, Poor N. Youth Engagement in Singapore: The Interplay of Social and Traditional Media. Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media 2013 Apr;57(2):187-204. [doi: 10.1080/08838151.2013.787076]
- 24. Green J, Thorogood N. Qualitative Methods for Health Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications Ltd; 2018.
- 25. Definition of Youth. United Nations. URL: <u>https://www.un.org/esa/socdev/documents/youth/fact-sheets/youth-definition.</u> pdf [accessed 2021-07-25]
- 26. Branley DB, Covey J. Is exposure to online content depicting risky behavior related to viewers' own risky behavior offline? Computers in Human Behavior 2017 Oct;75:283-287. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2017.05.023]
- 27. NVivo qualitative data analysis software. QSR International. URL: <u>https://www.qsrinternational.com/</u> <u>nvivo-qualitative-data-analysis-software/support-services/nvivo-downloads</u> [accessed 2022-02-18]
- 28. Braun V, Clarke V. What can "thematic analysis" offer health and wellbeing researchers? Int J Qual Stud Health Well-being 2014 Oct 15;9(1):26152 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3402/qhw.v9.26152] [Medline: 25326092]
- 29. Attride-Stirling J. Thematic networks: an analytic tool for qualitative research. Qualitative Research 2016 Nov 07;1(3):385-405. [doi: 10.1177/146879410100100307]
- 30. Novak JD, Cañas AJ. The Theory Underlying Concept Maps and How to Construct Them. Institute for Human and Machine Cognition. 2006. URL: <u>http://cmap.ihmc.us/publications/researchpapers/theorycmaps/TheoryUnderlyingConceptMaps.</u> <u>bck-11-01-06.htm</u> [accessed 2022-02-18]
- 31. Hay D, Kinchin I, Lygo Baker S. Making learning visible: the role of concept mapping in higher education. Studies in Higher Education 2008 May 29;33(3):295-311. [doi: 10.1080/03075070802049251]
- 32. Nabitz U, van Randeraad-van der Zee C, Kok I, van Bon-Martens M, Serverens P. An overview of concept mapping in Dutch mental health care. Eval Program Plann 2017 Feb;60:202-212. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2016.08.012</u>] [Medline: <u>27614364</u>]
- O'Campo P, Salmon C, Burke J. Neighbourhoods and mental well-being: what are the pathways? Health Place 2009 Mar;15(1):56-68. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.healthplace.2008.02.004</u>] [Medline: <u>18420446</u>]
- 34. Kinchin IM, Streatfield D, Hay DB. Using Concept Mapping to Enhance the Research Interview. International Journal of Qualitative Methods 2010 Mar 01;9(1):52-68. [doi: 10.1177/160940691000900106]
- 35. Ryff CD. Psychological well-being revisited: advances in the science and practice of eudaimonia. Psychother Psychosom 2014;83(1):10-28 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1159/000353263] [Medline: 24281296]
- 36. Stice E, Ragan J, Randall P. Prospective Relations Between Social Support and Depression: Differential Direction of Effects for Parent and Peer Support? Journal of Abnormal Psychology 2004 Feb;113(1):155-159. [doi: 10.1037/0021-843x.113.1.155]
- 37. Thoits PA. Mechanisms linking social ties and support to physical and mental health. J Health Soc Behav 2011 Jun 14;52(2):145-161. [doi: 10.1177/0022146510395592] [Medline: 21673143]
- Chen H, Li X. The contribution of mobile social media to social capital and psychological well-being: Examining the role of communicative use, friending and self-disclosure. Computers in Human Behavior 2017 Oct;75:958-965. [doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2017.06.011]
- Crocker PRE, Sabiston CM, Kowalski KC, McDonough MH, Kowalski N. Longitudinal Assessment of the Relationship Between Physical Self-Concept and Health-Related Behavior and Emotion in Adolescent Girls. Journal of Applied Sport Psychology 2007 Feb 23;18(3):185-200. [doi: 10.1080/10413200600830257]

- 40. Toma C, Chen Y, Olson C, Fan T, Brown B. Youth Social Media Use and Well-Being. In: The International Encyclopedia of Media Psychology. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell; 2020.
- 41. Hanley AW, Garland EL. Clarity of mind: Structural equation modeling of associations between dispositional mindfulness, self-concept clarity and psychological well-being. Pers Individ Dif 2017 Feb 01;106:334-339 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2016.10.028] [Medline: 28584390]
- 42. Craven R, Marsh H. The centrality of the self-concept construct for psychological wellbeing and unlocking human potential: Implicat. Educational and Child Psychology 2008;25(2):104-118.
- 43. Urista M, Dong Q, Day K. Explaining Why Young Adults Use MySpace and Facebook Through Uses and Gratifications Theory. Human Communication 2009;12(2):215-229 [FREE Full text]
- 44. Jiang L, Bazarova N, Hancock J. The Disclosure–Intimacy Link in Computer-Mediated Communication: An Attributional Extension of the Hyperpersonal Model. Human Communication Research 2011;37(1):58-77. [doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2958.2010.01393.x]
- 45. Pempek TA, Yermolayeva YA, Calvert SL. College students' social networking experiences on Facebook. Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology 2009 May;30(3):227-238. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.appdev.2008.12.010</u>]
- 46. Lazarus R, Folkman S. Stress, Appraisal, and Coping. New York, NY: Springer Publishing; 1984.
- Johnshoy Q, Moroze E, Kaser I, Tanabe A, Adkisson C, Hutzley S, et al. Social media use following exposure to an acute stressor facilitates recovery from the stress response. Physiol Behav 2020 Sep 01;223:113012. [doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2020.113012] [Medline: 32533973]
- Moreno MA, Jelenchick LA, Egan KG, Cox E, Young H, Gannon KE, et al. Feeling bad on Facebook: depression disclosures by college students on a social networking site. Depress Anxiety 2011 Jun 11;28(6):447-455 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/da.20805] [Medline: 21400639]
- 49. Wang V, Edwards S. Strangers are friends I haven't met yet: a positive approach to young people's use of social media. Journal of Youth Studies 2016 Mar 21;19(9):1204-1219. [doi: <u>10.1080/13676261.2016.1154933</u>]
- 50. Kothgassner OD, Goreis A, Kafka JX, Kaufmann M, Atteneder K, Beutl L, et al. Virtual social support buffers stress response: An experimental comparison of real-life and virtual support prior to a social stressor. J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry 2019 Jun;63:57-65. [doi: 10.1016/j.jbtep.2018.11.003] [Medline: 30454876]
- Sherman LE, Payton AA, Hernandez LM, Greenfield PM, Dapretto M. The Power of the Like in Adolescence: Effects of Peer Influence on Neural and Behavioral Responses to Social Media. Psychol Sci 2016 Jul 31;27(7):1027-1035 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0956797616645673] [Medline: 27247125]
- 52. Diener E, Ryan K. Subjective Well-Being: A General Overview. South African Journal of Psychology 2009 Dec 01;39(4):391-406. [doi: 10.1177/008124630903900402]
- 53. Datu JAD, King RB. Subjective well-being is reciprocally associated with academic engagement: A two-wave longitudinal study. J Sch Psychol 2018 Aug;69:100-110. [doi: 10.1016/j.jsp.2018.05.007] [Medline: 30558746]
- 54. Chae J. Reexamining the relationship between social media and happiness: The effects of various social media platforms on reconceptualized happiness. Telematics and Informatics 2018 Sep;35(6):1656-1664. [doi: 10.1016/j.tele.2018.04.011]
- MacLeod AK. Well-being, positivity and mental health: an introduction to the special issue. Clin Psychol Psychother 2012 May 16;19(4):279-282. [doi: 10.1002/cpp.1794] [Medline: 22589138]
- 56. Primack BA, Escobar-Viera CG. Social Media as It Interfaces with Psychosocial Development and Mental Illness in Transitional Age Youth. Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am 2017 Apr;26(2):217-233. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chc.2016.12.007</u>] [Medline: <u>28314452</u>]
- 57. Betton V, Woollard J. Teen Mental Health in an Online World: Supporting Young People around their Use of Social Media, Apps, Gaming, Texting and the Rest. London, United Kingdom: Jessica Kingsley Publishers; 2018.
- O'Reilly M, Dogra N, Whiteman N, Hughes J, Eruyar S, Reilly P. Is social media bad for mental health and wellbeing? Exploring the perspectives of adolescents. Clin Child Psychol Psychiatry 2018 Oct 20;23(4):601-613. [doi: 10.1177/1359104518775154] [Medline: 29781314]

Abbreviations

FGD: focus group discussion **MMSMU:** multidimensional model of social media use


Edited by S Badawy; submitted 09.08.21; peer-reviewed by A Tannoubi, T Ntalindwa; comments to author 29.09.21; revised version received 21.11.21; accepted 23.11.21; published 04.03.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Vaingankar JA, van Dam RM, Samari E, Chang S, Seow E, Chua YC, Luo N, Verma S, Subramaniam M Social Media–Driven Routes to Positive Mental Health Among Youth: Qualitative Enquiry and Concept Mapping Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e32758

URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32758</u> doi:<u>10.2196/32758</u> PMID:<u>35254285</u>

©Janhavi Ajit Vaingankar, Rob M van Dam, Ellaisha Samari, Sherilyn Chang, Esmond Seow, Yi Chian Chua, Nan Luo, Swapna Verma, Mythily Subramaniam. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 04.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Review

Understanding Information Needs and Barriers to Accessing Health Information Across All Stages of Pregnancy: Systematic Review

Yu Lu¹, MSc; Laura A Barrett¹, MSc; Rebecca Z Lin², BSc; Muhammad Amith³, MSc, PhD; Cui Tao³, PhD; Zhe He¹, MSc, PhD

¹School of Information, Florida State University, Tallahassee, FL, United States

²Washington University School of Medicine at St. Louis, St. Louis, MO, United States

³School of Biomedical Informatics, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, United States

Corresponding Author:

Zhe He, MSc, PhD School of Information Florida State University 142 Collegiate Loop Tallahassee, FL, 32306 United States Phone: 1 850 644 5775 Email: zhe@fsu.edu

Abstract

Background: Understanding consumers' health information needs across all stages of the pregnancy trajectory is crucial to the development of mechanisms that allow them to retrieve high-quality, customized, and layperson-friendly health information.

Objective: The objective of this study was to identify research gaps in pregnancy-related consumer information needs and available information from different sources.

Methods: We conducted a systematic review of CINAHL, Cochrane, PubMed, and Web of Science for relevant articles that were published from 2009 to 2019. The quality of the included articles was assessed using the Critical Appraisal Skills Program. A descriptive data analysis was performed on these articles. Based on the review result, we developed the Pregnancy Information Needs Ontology (PINO) and made it publicly available in GitHub and BioPortal.

Results: A total of 33 articles from 9 countries met the inclusion criteria for this review, of which the majority were published no earlier than 2016. Most studies were either descriptive (9/33, 27%), interviews (7/33, 21%), or surveys/questionnaires (7/33, 21%); 20 articles mentioned consumers' pregnancy-related information needs. Half (9/18, 50%) of the human-subject studies were conducted in the United States. More than a third (13/33, 39%) of all studies focused on during-pregnancy stage; only one study (1/33, 3%) was about all stages of pregnancy. The most frequent consumer information needs were related to labor delivery (9/20, 45%), medication in pregnancy (6/20, 30%), newborn care (5/20, 25%), and lab tests (6/20, 30%). The most frequently available source of information was the internet (15/24, 63%). PINO consists of 267 classes, 555 axioms, and 271 subclass relationships.

Conclusions: Only a few articles assessed the barriers to access to pregnancy-related information and the quality of each source of information; further work is needed. Future work is also needed to address the gaps between the information needed and the information available.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e32235) doi:10.2196/32235

KEYWORDS

RenderX

pregnancy; information needs; ontology; systematic review; fertility; parenting; pregnancy information; online information; health database

Introduction

As a widely discussed topic in women's health, pregnancy is an important phase of women's lives, a period in which women experience biological changes and gain a new identity at the same time [1]. Importantly, pregnancy is often accompanied by various complications. According to the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association [2], pregnancy complications occurred in 1 in 5 pregnancies among prospective mothers aged 18 to 44 years (2014-2018). Even though regular medical monitoring and prenatal testing are essential to ensure healthy pregnancy, they may provoke anxiety, especially for those who experience complications in their pregnancy. Besides pregnancy, infertility presents a concerning issue since 1 in 8 couples have experienced fertility problems [3]. The Centers of Disease Control and Prevention reported that about 6% of married women aged 15 to 44 years in the United States experience infertility after 1 year of trying [4]. The internet has been an important source of information that can help women deal with doubts and make pregnancy-related decisions [5]. According to a nationwide survey in the United States, more than 75% of childbearing women searched for information related to pregnancy and childbirth on the internet [6]. However, resources related to pregnancy are often scattered, conflicting, and hard to appraise and understand [7]. It was found that patients with limited health literacy often have difficulties finding useful medical information online that is contextualized to their conditions [8]. The emergence of Web 2.0 health technologies, such as blogs, smartphone apps, and online health communities, provides ways for pregnant women to proactively interact with the community by posting questions with detailed information, sharing their experiences, and providing answers to others pregnancy-related questions [9,10].

Previously, researchers have attempted to understand the consumer information needs related to pregnancy and infertility [11,12]. Moreover, systematic reviews have assessed the use of the internet, health information needs, sources of information, and barriers to accessing health information among pregnant women [13,14]. For example, Sayakhot and Carolan-Olah [14] reported that pregnant women often search the internet for different topics such as medication, nutrition, and fetal development during their pregnancy. Ghiasi [13] found that women expressed various information needs during their pregnancy. However, these reviews mostly focused on a certain stage of pregnancy. In reality, consumer information needs

across different stages are correlated with each other and certain needs may span all stages of pregnancy. Hence, a study that systematically organizes pregnancy-related information is necessary yet unavailable to date. Such a study would allow us to better understand the consumer information needs across the span of pregnancy and find opportunities to better meet these needs.

To fill this gap, we performed a systematic review of the published literature related to consumer information needs and sources across all stages of pregnancy: including prepregnancy, which refers to the stage prior to pregnancy [15]; pregnancy, the condition of being pregnant [15]; and postpartum, the period following childbirth [16]. To support subsequent development of pregnancy apps such as websites, mobile apps, and patient portals, we also created a taxonomy of pregnancy information. This has helped us to identify a number of important research gaps and opportunities.

Methods

Literature Search Strategy

In this study, following the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-analysis (PRISMA) guideline [17], we performed a systematic review of the literature regarding pregnancy-related consumer information needs from 2009 to 2019 from 4 major databases: CINAHL, Cochrane Reviews, PubMed, and Web of Science using the search queries "health information" and (pregnan* or fertility or infertility or conception or mother* or matern* or prenat* or pre-nat* or antenat* or ante-nat* or perinat* or pre-pregnancy or pre-pregna* or gestation*).

In total, we found 4583 articles. After removing duplicates, 2712 articles remained. We excluded 2573 articles after the title and abstract screening. Then we performed full-text review on the remaining 139 articles, including articles about pregnancy information needs or sources, pregnancy- or infertility-related, that were published in English from 2009 to 2019 and excluding articles that were not full papers, were opinion papers, or did not contain as abstract. The remaining 33 articles were evaluated using the Critical Appraisal Skills Program (CASP) [18] for quality assurance and were determined to have adequate quality to be included in the final full-text extraction. The detailed information about CASP review can be found in the Multimedia Appendix 1. The PRISMA workflow is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. PRISMA flowchart of paper selection process.



Data Extraction

In the evaluation of the full text of the 33 articles, we identified the following aspects of information: (1) year when the article was published, (2) topic of the study, (3) research method of the study, (4) sample size of the study (if human subjects were used), (5) sources of the health information, (6) stages of pregnancy on which the study focused, (7) target population, (8) country, and (9) consumer information needs.

Results

Overall Trends

The trend of the number of the included articles is shown in Figure 2. Between 2009 and 2015, there was a small number of studies about pregnancy-related consumer information needs and sources. Since 2015, there has been a surge in the number of studies published.



Figure 2. Number of extracted papers in each year (2009-2019).



Methods, Sample Sizes, Health Information Sources, and the Stages of Pregnancy

Characteristics of Included Papers

The characteristics (eg, topic, study type, sample size, health information source, stage of pregnancy, and target population) of all included studies are presented in Multimedia Appendix 2.

Methods Used for Data Collection in Included Studies

Among all methods, secondary data (11/33, 33%), interview (7/33, 21%), and survey/questionnaire (8/33, 24%) were the most frequently adopted methods, followed by systematic review (4/33, 12%), participatory design (1/33, 3%), randomized controlled trials (1/33, 3%), and focus group (1/33, 3%). We present these data collection methods as follows.

Secondary Data

Studies that leveraged secondary data assessed various population groups' consumer information needs about different aspects of pregnancy. For instance, Kallem et al [19] investigated new mothers' information needs related to newborn health. The results suggested that sleep and the appropriate use of screen time or media for infants were 2 topics that women commonly posted practices that were inconsistent with expert recommendations. Holton et al [20] analyzed group discussions of women with polycystic ovary syndrome on Facebook to assess their fertility-related consumer information needs. The results suggested that evidence-based information in various formats (eg, fact sheets, trusted websites, and podcasts) could help women with polycystic ovary syndrome make informed decisions about childbearing and achieve their reproductive goals. Van De Belt et al [12] analyzed questions in online forums and phone consultations to examine the gaps in information provision to infertile Dutch patients. The results showed that infertile patients demand high-quality health information and the information from health care providers did

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32235

RenderX

not cover all reported consumer information needs. Hence providers should explore new means of health information creation that involve the patient perspective [12].

Interview

Among the interview studies, Rotich and Wolvaardt [21] interviewed 15 pregnant women to assess Kenyan women's pregnancy-related consumer information needs. The results suggested that pregnant women sought information about the expected changes after delivery and health care providers did not provide enough explanations of routine activities for newborns (eg, drawing blood from babies). Owusu-Addo et al [22] performed interviews to assess the information-seeking behavior of pregnant teenagers in rural Ghana. The interviews revealed that participants generally relied on traditional sources, such as family and neighbors; thus, health promotion interventions should target both the expecting teenagers and the family/community. Zhu et al [10] interviewed 20 Chinese women who had conceived and were currently in any stage of pregnancy. The interviews were recorded and used in a thematic analysis to identify major themes of participants' information seeking and sharing via social media. The results suggested that participants' information needs spanned all stages of pregnancy (prepregnancy, during pregnancy, and postpartum) and most of them were moderately or highly satisfied with the current provision of pregnancy-related information. Pang et al [23] conducted semistructured interviews to investigate online health information-seeking behavior among women who had experienced miscarriage. The results demonstrated that women sought information about miscarriage, miscarriage prevention, and current research advances, along with online support through peer experience and support from family and friends.

Survey/Questionnaire

Among the survey studies, Song et al [24] conducted a survey to assess consumer information needs, information-seeking behavior, and family support among low-income expectant

mothers. The results indicated that information obtained from family can lead to the most positive difference in supporting women who are expecting or preparing to have a baby. Ceulemans et al [25] conducted a survey in Belgium to assess pregnant women's information needs and beliefs about medications in general. The results suggested that pregnant women generally showed positive attitudes toward medications and high education levels suggest high thresholds to use medications during pregnancy. Cramer [26] performed a survey study to investigate expectant fathers' health information-seeking behavior during pregnancy. The results suggested that paternal information needs were diverse and could change across stages of child development, interpersonal sources of information were important both before and after childbirth, and a close relationship between the expectant/new father and his partner is the key predictor of paternal health information seeking. Some studies used both survey and interview to assess pregnancy-related needs. For instance, Robinson et al [11] surveyed pregnant women and their caregivers about their demographic information; and then conducted interviews with the participants about their pregnancy-related consumer information needs. The results of the study suggested that consumers required pregnancy-related information about prognosis, health management, tests, interventions, logistics, and psychological support. Guerra-Reyes et al [27] used a survey and interviews to understand the postpartum health information-seeking behavior of low-income women using mobile apps. They found that mobile apps were used mostly during pregnancy but not postpartum, although low-income postpartum women do rely on mobile apps for infant care and personal health information.

Systematic Review of Websites, Apps, and Papers

Cannon et al [28] assessed pregnancy-related information on nutrition and physical activity websites and found that the nutrition-related information provided by those websites did not align with the guidelines. Brown et al [29] assessed nutrition-related information provided by mobile apps to pregnant women and found that these apps provided information about topics such as food safety, alcohol consumption, seafood consumption, caffeine consumption, and the recommended number of daily servings from key food groups for pregnant women. Ghiasi [13] conducted a systematic review of published papers to assess the health information needs of pregnant women and found that they often sought information about prenatal care, managing discomforts, environmental cleanliness, personal hygiene, sexual activity during pregnancy, medicine use, nutrition, and the development of fetus. Postpartum women often searched for information related to self-care after childbirth, breastfeeding, physical and mental complications after childbirth, newborn care, and family planning.

Focus Group

Arcia et al [30] conducted a focus group study to assess how low-income pregnant women characterize their information needs and found that this population's needs span a wide range of topics, including pregnancy discomforts, environmental exposures, cloth diapering, and treating anemia.

Participatory Design

Linden et al [31] performed a participatory design and evaluation to assess the web-based provision of information to pregnant women with diabetes. The design proved to be a functional way of creating appropriate health information for the target group.

Randomized Controlled Trial

Kallem et al [19] conducted a randomized controlled trial to assess low-income urban mothers' Facebook posts about infant health. They found that peers' answers to mothers' question posts generally did not contradict with the American Academy of Pediatrics guidelines.

Countries From Which Participants Were Recruited

Half of the studies which recruited human subjects recruited participants in the United States (9), followed by Australia (2), and 1 each from Canada, Belgium, China, Ghana, Iran, Kenya, and the Netherlands.

Sample Size

Over half of all human-subject studies had a sample size less than 50 (10/19, 53%), following by sample size of 51-100 (2/19, 11%), and 351-400 (2/19, 11%). Only a few studies (4/19) had a sample size over 400. We summarize the findings of the studies with over 100 participants as follows. Narasimhulu et al [32] conducted a cross-sectional study of 503 pregnant/postpartum women to assess their patterns of eHealth use. The findings implied that pregnant women frequently use eHealth resources but do not routinely share their findings with their providers. Kamali et al [33] performed a descriptive study on 400 women to assess their consumer information needs during pregnancy and childbirth. The main finding was that most women searched for information when they are suffering from a disease or pregnancy complication. Cramer [26] surveyed 186 expectant and recent fathers to investigate their health information behavior during pregnancy. The results suggested that paternal information needs were diverse and could change across stages of child development. Kriss et al [34] surveyed a total of 486 pregnant women to assess disparities in Tdap vaccination (tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid, and acellular pertussis) among pregnant women in the United States. They found that provider recommendation was one of the most important factors in Tdap vaccination. Brochu et al [35] surveyed 567 participants (men and women) to determine whether web-based sources met their consumer information needs related to infertility. The results implied that certain infertility-related consumer information needs were not always met and that patients may benefit form alternative sources. Ceulemans et al [25] investigated beliefs and consumer information needs about medicines among 372 pregnant women in Belgium. The results suggested that providers should be aware of pregnant women's beliefs about medicine and guide them toward reliable sources.

Stages of Pregnancy

A large proportion of the included articles only focused on during pregnancy (13/33, 39%), followed by during pregnancy and postpartum (8/33, 24%) and postpartum only (7/33, 21%). Other studies also assessed consumer information needs only

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

at the prepregnancy stage (4/33, 12%), and across all stages (1/33, 3%).

Consumer Information Needs

Out of the 33 articles, 20 mentioned pregnancy-related information. During prepregnancy stage, the most frequently raised topics was infertility (3/20,15%), such as the cause of infertility and treatment information and options. During pregnancy, the most frequently mentioned consumer information needs included lifestyle in pregnancy (9/20, 45%), such as nutrition for pregnant women and daily activities in pregnancy; labor/delivery (9/20, 45%), such as labor analgesia and labor pain and relief methods; prenatal care (8/20, 40%), such as the development and safety of the fetus; medication during pregnancy (6/20, 30%), such as the safety of medications; and vaccination during pregnancy (5/20, 25%), such as side effects of vaccines. At the postpartum stage, information about newborn care (5/20, 25%) was frequently sought, such as neonatal complications and newborn feeding. Across all stages of pregnancy, consumers often sought information about lab tests (6/20, 30%; eg, interpreting test results and DNA testing); and mental health (4/20, 20%; eg, preexisting or postpartum anxiety or depression and stress management).

Health Information Sources

We analyzed the percentage of health information sources in all applicable included studies (24). The most frequent health information source is the internet (15/24, 63%), followed by mobile apps (3/24, 13%), and health care providers (2/24, 8%). Some studies (2/24, 8%) used both the internet and health care providers as information sources. Another study mentioned using health care providers, family and friends, and the internet as sources (2/24, 8%). Some papers in this review described the sources of information they used [36,37]. For example, the World Health Organization [36], National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia [36], United Nations Children's Fund [36], Australian Society of Clinical Immunology and Allergy [36], AmericanPregnancy.org [37], WebMD [37], BabyCenter.com [37], BreastfeedingUSA.org [37], NHS.uk [37].

Types of Pregnancy-Related Information Available in Each Source

We noticed that although all sources of information (including the internet, mobile apps, and health care providers) provided information related to pregnancy symptoms [33,38], nutrition and physical activity [28,29,31,33,38], labor [31,33,38], and postpartum care [33,37,38]. However, each of these sources also provided various types of information about pregnancy that were not available in the other 2 sources. The internet often provided information related to preconception [37], fertility preservation options [39], maternal diet [36], sleep [28], and congenital heart defects [40]. Mobile apps often provided information related to body changes during pregnancy [38], weight gain [38], finding a doctor or midwife [38], planning for a newborn [38], and mental health [27]. Health care providers often provided information related to body changes during pregnancy [33], vaccines [33], tests [33], prenatal education [33], medication [12], infertility treatment [12],

abortion [33], personal hygiene [33], sexual activity in pregnancy [33], newborn feeding [33], newborn care [33], and physical/psychological complications after delivery [33].

Barriers to Access

Two articles pointed out that consumers face certain barriers to accessing pregnancy-related information [13,33]. Kamali et al [33] found that lack of knowledge and ignorance regarding existing resources are 2 frequent barriers to accessing health information among pregnant women. In addition, the systematic literature review by Ghiasi [13] classified the barriers to accessing health information into 7 categories: (1) affective barrier included feeling ashamed or embarrassed to talk about pregnancy-related issues; (2) cognitive barrier included negative attitudes of health care providers, lack of familiarity with the internet for information seeking, poor patient-provider communication, reliance on self, underestimation of the risks of pregnancy complications, and unawareness of relevant information sources; (3) cultural barrier mainly referred to the social stigma related to pregnancy; (4) availability barrier included long wait times to see a doctor in clinic, lack of adequate information sources, and inadequate information from health care providers; (5) accessibility barrier referred to lack of time; (6) affordability barrier included high cost of information sources; and (7) infrastructure barrier referred to erratic power supply to access electronic information.

In addition, as shown in the reviewed papers, there were 3 scenarios regarding the accessibility of information: (1) needed information does not exist [12,41], (2) needed information exists but is not easily accessible (eg, consumers do not know how to find it or it is not easily readable) [32,39,42], and (3) needed information exists but in an incomprehensive or inconsistent manner [12].

Quality of Information

Several studies also assessed the quality of information provided by these sources. For example, Brown et al [29] investigated the quality of information provided by iPhone apps for pregnancy and nutrition using the Mobile Application Rating Scale tool; the Coventry, Aberdeen and London-Refined taxonomy; and expert review. The results showed that the included apps were generally of moderate quality. De Man et al [39] assessed the availability and quality of online health information about fertility in the cancer setting using the DISCERN instrument, the Minervation validation instrument for health care websites, and a readability test. The results suggested that the included websites had moderate scores in readability and usability. However, the readability test did not consider medical jargon. Carlsson et al [40] assessed the quality of online information related to congenital heart defect following a prenatal diagnosis. The results showed that the majority of included websites scored poor in quality and readability with respect to the various themes about congenital heart defects.

Pregnancy Information Needs Ontology

A secondary contribution of this study is an ontology about pregnancy information needs that contains information across all stages of pregnancy (prepregnancy, during pregnancy, and postpartum). To develop the preliminary version of Pregnancy

Information Needs Ontology (PINO), one researcher (YL) first enumerated important terms about pregnancy information needs based on all reviewed papers. The goal of the enumeration was to obtain a comprehensive list of the terms. As certain terms may overlap with others in the meaning they represent, the researcher then synthesized terms that convey similar meanings. In the next step, the researcher developed a class hierarchy using a top-down approach, with the resulting hierarchy organizing information into themes and subnodes. The last step defined the properties of terms. PINO consists of 267 classes, 555 axioms, and 271 subclass relationships. In future work, we will evaluate both the intrinsic aspects (eg, concept orientation, consistency, soundness) and extrinsic aspects with the support of tools [43,44]. Table 1,2, 3, and 4 present subtaxonomies of PINO for each stage of the pregnancy trajectory, including prepregnancy, during pregnancy, postpartum, and across all stages.

Table 1. Taxonomy of pregnancy-related information: prepregnancy stage.

Theme and subnodes	N	Source
Preconception	1	[37]
Confirming pregnancy	1	[22]
Foster parenting	1	[35]
Infertility	3	[10,35,41]
Causes of infertility	1	[10]
Treatment information/options	1	[35]
Diagnosis of infertility	1	[35]
Medications used in treatment	1	[35]
Side effects of infertility treatment	1	[35]
Using donor sperm or eggs	1	[35]
Surrogacy	1	[35]
Foster parenting	1	[35]
Fertility preservation/infertility treatment options	1	[35,39]
Provider for infertility treatment	a	_
Success rates	1	[35,39]
Surrogacy	1	[35]

^aNot applicable.

Table 2. Taxonomy of pregnancy-related information: during pregnancy sta	age
---	-----

Theme and subnodes	N	Source
Transmittable disease	2	[24,26]
STI ^a	2	[24,26]
Nutrition, physical exercise, or lifestyle in pregnancy	9	[10,13,14,22,25,28,29,33,45]
Nutrition in pregnancy	7	[10,13,14,28,33,40,45]
Personal hygiene	2	[33,38]
Mother weight	1	[38]
Quality of oocyte, embryo, or semen	1	[12]
Food safety	2	[24,29]
Alcohol consumption during pregnancy	1	[29]
Fish and mercury consumption	1	[29]
Caffeine consumption	1	[29]
Daily activities in pregnancy	4	[28,31,33,38]
Sexual activity in pregnancy	2	[13,33]
Risk behavior in pregnancy	1	[10]
Maternal complication	1	[38]
Nausea or vomiting	1	[38]
Morning sickness	2	[24,38]
Maternal fatigue	1	[38]
Constipation	1	[38]
Heartburn	1	[38]
Bloating	1	[38]
Lower extremity edema	1	[38]
Increased urinary frequency	1	[38]
Difficulty sleeping	1	[38]
Gestational diabetes	2	[25,31]
Fetal complication	1	[40]
Congenital abnormality	1	[40]
Other concerns	b	—
Hospital and doctor choices	1	[10]
Birth control	1	[24]
Environmental exposures	1	[30]
Adoption or abortion	3	[24,26,33]
Prenatal care	8	[10,22,24,25,30,33,38,40]
Coping with minor discomforts during prenatal care	1	[13]
Physiology of pregnancy	1	[13]
Personal care and hygiene	1	[13]
Development, safety of the fetus	5	[10,14,22,25,33]
Hospital choices	1	[32]
Finding a doctor or midwife	1	[38]
Prenatal diagnostic and screening methods	1	[40]
Fetal echocardiography	1	[40]

XSL•FO RenderX

Theme and subnodes	N	Source
Amniocentesis	1	[40]
Chorionic villus sampling	1	[40]
Nuchal translucency scan	1	[40]
Blood tests	1	[40]
Risks of invasive methods	1	[40]
Umbilical cord sampling	1	[40]
Fetal magnetic resonance imaging	1	[40]
Anatomy scan	1	[11]
Issues related to prenatal visits	1	[38]
What to expect at prenatal visits	1	[38]
Facts about pregnancy	1	[38]
Rhogam	1	[38]
Dietary supplements during prenatal care	1	[38]
Suggestion to wait for labor at or >39 weeks	1	[38]
Information about disease in pregnancy	1	[38]
Expected body changes and how to handle them	2	[33,38]
Effects of pregnancy on mother's body	1	[33]
Effect of pregnancy on work	1	[33]
Medication in pregnancy	6	[13,24,25,28,33,35]
Side effects	1	[12]
Use or application of medication	1	[12]
Interaction with other medication	1	[12]
Vaccination during pregnancy	5	[19,25,33,34,38]
Vaccine safety	1	[34]
Pertussis disease	1	[34]
Effectiveness of vaccination during pregnancy	1	[34]
When to get Tdap ^c	1	[34]
Who else should get Tdap	1	[34]
Insurance coverage for Tdap	1	[34]
Where to get Tdap	1	[34]
Cost of Tdap	1	[34]
Health care products	2	[35,38]
Maternal product safety and product recalls	2	[35,38]
Insurance	1	[38]
Private health care coverage	1	[35]
Labor/delivery	9	[10,22,24,25,31-33,37,38]
Methods of delivery	1	[33]
Induction	1	[46]
Indications of induction	1	[46]
Oxytocin	1	[46]
Cervical ripening	1	[46]
Amniotomy	1	[46]

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32235

XSL•FO RenderX

```
JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022 | vol. 5 | iss. 1 |e32235 | p.226
(page number not for citation purposes)
```

Theme and subnodes	N	Source
Outpatient methods	1	[46]
Side effects of induction	1	[46]
Failed induction	1	[46]
Preparation for delivery	1	[10]
Common labor fears	1	[38]
Pack hospital bag	1	[38]
Obtaining a labor doula	1	[38]
Mode and process of delivery	1	[10]
Delivery stories	1	[10]
Due date	1	[24]
Peer experience of delivery	1	[32]
Labor pain relief methods	1	[32,33]
Opioids	1	[46]
Nitrous oxide	1	[46]
Relaxation techniques	1	[38]
Spinal anesthesia	1	[46]
Continuous labor support	1	[46]
Water immersion	1	[46]
Sterile water injection	1	[46]
Touch and massage	1	[46]
Acupuncture and acupressure	1	[46]
Hypnosis	1	[46]
Transcutaneous electrical stimulation unit	1	[46]
Heat and cold	1	[46]
Music and audioanalgesia	1	[46]
Aromatherapy	1	[46]
Biofeedback	1	[46]
Labor analgesia	1	[47]
Oral health	1	[38]
Maternal diet	1	[36]
Diagnostic information	1	[24]
Miscarriage	1	[23]
Causes of miscarriage	1	[23]
Frequency of miscarriage	1	[23]
Symptoms of miscarriage	1	[23]
Research and breakthroughs on miscarriage	1	[23]

^aSTI: sexually transmitted disease.

^bNot applicable.

XSL•FO RenderX

^cTdap: tetanus toxoid, reduced diphtheria toxoid, and acellular pertussis.

 Table 3. Taxonomy of pregnancy-related information: postpartum stage.

Theme and subnodes	N	Source
Maternal recovery	2	[10,32]
Parenting	1	[38]
Postpartum planning	1	[38]
Applying for baby's social security	1	[38]
Newborn jaundice checks	1	[38]
Swaddling	1	[38]
Nursing pillow	1	[38]
Cord blood banking	1	[38]
Newborn care	5	[13,24,33,37,38]
Finding pediatrician	1	[38]
Immunization	1	[40]
Side effect of vaccine	1	[34]
Newborn developmental milestones	1	[19]
Sleep	1	[19]
Fever	1	[19]
Outdoors	1	[19]
Stooling	1	[19]
Newborn coughs and colds	1	[19]
Newborn gas and burping	1	[19]
Newborn bathing	1	[19]
Newborn circumcision	1	[19]
Newborn growth	1	[19]
Pacifier	1	[19]
Teething	1	[19]
Neonatal complications	1	[32]
Health issues of newborn	1	[24]
Milk feeding	3	[13,19,24,27,31,33,36-38]
Bottle feeding	1	[27]
Breastfeeding	8	[19,24,27,31,36-38]
Continued breastfeeding	1	[36]
Breast milk substitutes	1	[36]
Formula feeding	1	[19]
Solid food	1	[36]
Solid foods-timing	1	[36]
First foods to introduce	2	[19,36]
Foods to avoid	1	[36]
Food allergens	1	[36]
Spacing of new foods	2	[10,45]
Postpartum care	1	[33]
Physical and psychological complications after de- livery	1	[33]
Self-care after birth	1	[13]

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32235

XSL•FO RenderX

Theme and subnodes	Ν	Source
Miscarriage	1	[23]
Causes of miscarriage	1	[23]
Frequency of miscarriage	1	[23]
Symptoms of miscarriage	1	[23]
Research and breakthroughs on miscarriage	1	[23]

Table 4. Taxonomy of pregnancy-related information: all-stage.

Theme and subnode	Ν	Source
Test	6	[11,24,32,33,35,40]
Special tests during pregnancy	1	[33]
DNA testing	1	[24]
Interpreting results of diagnostic tests	1	[35]
Blood sugar test	1	[31]
Family planning	1	[33]
Planning for a newborn	1	[38]
Preparing for a new pregnancy	1	[23]
Mental health	4	[24,27,33,38]
Preexisting or antepartum/postpartum anxiety or depression	1	[38]
Seeking support with friends, family, your doctor	1	[38]
Emotions in pregnancy	1	[38]
Establishing support network, including check- ing in with a friend, reaching out to other moms	1	[38]
Stress management	1	[38]
Relaxation techniques	1	[38]
Management	1	[38]
Genetic screening, amniocentesis, or chorionic villus sampling	1	[38]
Ultrasounds	1	[38]

Co-Occurrence of Consumer Information Needs

Figure 3 presents the network graph for the co-occurrence of consumer information needs in all 33 articles. Purple, blue, green, and yellow nodes refer to prepregnancy, during pregnancy, postpartum, and multistage, respectively. Gray, orange, red, and black edges refer to the co-occurrence of 1, 2, 3, and 4 times, respectively. For example, consumer information needs related to infertility co-occur with medication in pregnancy, health care products, lab test, nutrition, physical

exercise, or lifestyle in pregnancy, pregnancy taboo, prenatal care, labor/delivery, and maternal recovery once, respectively. Consumer information needs about labor/delivery co-occur with maternal recovery once, symptoms of pregnancy and diagnosis twice, test 3 times, and prenatal care 4 times. Consumer information needs about family planning co-occur with newborn care, postpartum care, and mental health once, respectively. Consumer information needs about mental health co-occur with health care products, insurance, oral health, parenting, planning for a newborn, and postpartum planning, respectively.



Lu et al

Figure 3. Network graph of co-occurring information needs in articles.



Intersection of Consumer Information Needs and Countries of Participants

For all human-subject studies in this review, Figure 4 presents the network graph for intersections between consumer information needs and countries of participants. For example, participants in Ghana sought information related to confirming pregnancy, labor/delivery, nutrition, physical exercise, and lifestyle in pregnancy, while information about medication in pregnancy was sought by participants in Belgium, Canada, Iran, Netherlands, and the United States. This figure only represents the demographics of needs of participants by country in all reviewed articles and could not be generalized to describe the needs of consumers in each of these countries.

Figure 4. Network graph of information needs in countries of participants.



XSL•FO RenderX

Discussion

Summary

Pregnancy is a major life-changing event and is considered one of the most sensitive periods of a women's life. Special care and various types of information are required during this period. However, due to reasons like health literacy and technology proficiency [32,37,38], women feel pregnancy-related information is insufficient and not well organized. Therefore, it is important to organize such information in a systematic way to meet the consumer information needs of this population. In this study, we assessed pregnancy-related consumer information needs and available information from different sources through the review of relevant articles. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to systematically assess consumers' pregnancy-related consumer information needs across all stages of the pregnancy trajectory. It is also the first study to derive a taxonomy of pregnancy-related information through a systematic literature review. Existing taxonomies of pregnancy-related needs in the included articles mainly focused on one or two stages of pregnancy [10,13,21,22,24,27,30,33,41] or a facet of pregnancy (eg, female infertility [12], nutrition [28,29,42], physical activity [28,48], vaccines [34], medications [25], labor analgesia [47], congenital heart defects [40], infant feeding [36], or miscarriage [23]). Our study systematically assessed consumer information needs and sources across the entire pregnancy trajectory, including preconception, during pregnancy, and postpartum.

In the last 50 years, the role of the patient has changed. Previously medical professionals were seen as the sole decision makers and information providers. Now patients are more responsible for decision making and personal information seeking. Given the nature of pregnancy decisions, this has definitely impacted this population. Consumers' online information seeking about pregnancy could be to obtain a sense of empowerment and preparedness in interacting with health care providers [49]. They also need to be able to understand the information presented by health care providers and better monitor decisions made with doctors [49]. High-quality information on the internet is often appreciated by consumers so that they can also use this information for decision making [50].

There are many theories that have been developed to provide a framework to examine information behaviors. One theory that applies to pregnancy information seeking is Dervin's sense-making theory [51]. The goal of sense-making may not always be finding relevant information but may include finding people in similar situations and avoiding bad information. Sense-making is not new and not limited to the information fields. It has also been seen in organization, communication, education, and human-computer interaction. In health care, it has been used in diabetes management [52], tumor contouring [53], and Down syndrome diagnosis [54]. One premise of this theory is the connection between how someone looks at a situation and how they are able to understand or make sense of this situation. Think about the gap between what you know and what you need or want to know. In pregnancy, this gap is almost

guaranteed even in individuals who have had successful pregnancies in the past. This gap can be influenced by many personal factors including history, previous education, adaptability, and skill at building connections with information. Ultimately, these factors are more individual and personal then situational. This moves the assumptions that are made from the individual to the instances of information seeking. This allows for studies like this to focus on the differences in the information and group the population together even though there are many differences in this population.

Traditional information sources (eg, health care providers) often provide critical and general information about pregnancy. However, such information is often not contextualized in personal situations. In addition, the medical jargon used in the information presented in traditional sources makes it difficult for consumers to understand [55]. As a result, the internet has become an alternative source of information. During the online information-seeking process, health literacy plays an important role. Prior studies found that consumers with low health literacy tend to use the internet less frequently [56,57] and find it challenging to retrieve and appraise online health information about pregnancy, which could in turn impair their ability in decision making and achieving better pregnancy outcomes [58]. Furthermore, our study found that only 2 out of the 33 articles about consumer information needs and sources assessed the barrier to accessing pregnancy-related information online and no article investigated the impact of health literacy on consumer information needs related to pregnancy. Therefore, future work should carefully examine consumers' health literacy so that information can be provided to consumers based on their different levels of health literacy.

We also found that most studies in this review assessed consumers' pregnancy-related information needs and the available information from different sources. However, only a few studies examined the quality of the information provided by these sources, which is consistent with the finding of the previous review [14]. Among the information quality criteria, readability was one of the most frequently cited issues [59]. Berland et al [7] found that English and Spanish websites required high levels of reading ability. Also, consumers often find that online health information contains a high level of technicality with lots of medical jargon [60]. To make better use of the internet, the readability of the content should be presented at or below a 5th grade reading level to accommodate people of all health literacy levels [61]. Last, the booming production of online health information has resulted in information overload [62]. To address these issues, it is important that health care providers and supportive technologies develop ways to direct consumers to high-quality sources that are layperson-friendly and pertinent to their situation.

In this review, we also intended to identify the types of information that are needed by consumers but have not been provided by different sources including websites, mobile apps, and health care providers. However, there are a few reasons why this goal could not be achieved. First, most of the articles are about consumer information needs but only a limited number of articles are about information sources. Also, the focus and ways of organizing information in these articles are different.

XSL•FO

For example, some articles focused on a specific stage of pregnancy while others focused on a specific disease or complication related to pregnancy, and thus there were not many common themes of information provided. Second, the included articles about information sources could not represent the comprehensive types of information available in different platforms. Hence, future work can consider using systematic approaches to assess themes of information about pregnancy available on all the different platforms.

In addition, our study resulted in a taxonomy of pregnancy-related information. This taxonomy can be implemented into supportive technologies (eg, webpages, smartphone apps, and patient portals) so that consumers can easily access and retrieve a structured body of information about pregnancy regardless of the stage of their pregnancy. We have uploaded our PINO taxonomy to our GitHub repository [63] and BioPortal [64]. Currently, PINO only includes 267 classes and 271 hierarchical relationships. In the future, we will improve PINO by adding more concepts and semantic relationships between concepts to further express the conceptual domain space across all stages of pregnancy—prepregnancy, during pregnancy, and postpartum.

Research Gaps

The result of this review suggested several research gaps. First, only a few studies assessed information quality of the sources of pregnancy-related information. Furthermore, these studies suggested that the quality of the provided information is questionable. Given that prior work has proposed a model for assessing consumer health information quality [65], future work can systematically extract and assess the quality of pregnancy-related information from all available sources (eg, providers' webpages, online health forums, mobile apps). In addition, this review suggests that very little is known about how much consumer information needs about pregnancy have been satisfied and what needs are not yet met. Future work can consider comprehensively examining both consumer satisfaction and unmet consumer information needs about pregnancy.

Last, given the overwhelming amount of available health information online and the filter failure of existing information retrieval systems [62], future work could explore ways to help consumers retrieve high-quality, customized, and layperson-friendly health information.

Limitations

This review has limitations. First, we only systematically assessed articles about pregnancy-related consumer information needs and sources published from 2009 to 2019. Second, articles in this study have different focuses and organization of pregnancy-related information themes. Neither consumer information needs nor available information could be generalized to all pregnant women or sources. Hence, conclusions regarding which consumer information needs have been met could not be made.

Conclusions

In this study, we reviewed 33 articles published from 2009 to 2019 about pregnancy-related consumer information needs and available information from different sources. The resulting taxonomy comprehensively covered and provided hierarchal themes of pregnancy-related consumer information needs across the stages of pregnancy. Last, findings of this study suggested several future research directions: systematically assessing the quality of pregnancy-related information from all available sources, comprehensively examining both consumer satisfaction and unmet consumer information needs about pregnancy, and exploring ways to help consumers retrieve high-quality, customized, and layperson-friendly health information.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Brittney Chang and Ruyi Ji for their help in screening the articles. This project was partially supported by grant UL1TR001427 from the University of Florida–Florida State University Clinical and Translational Science Award funded by the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health. The article processing charge was partially supported by Florida State University School of Information.

Authors' Contributions

ZH conceived and designed the study. LAB performed the initial database search of the related articles. LAB, YL, and ZH performed the screening of the articles. YL and ZH reviewed the articles and developed the PINO ontology. RZL, MA, CT, and ZH evaluated the PINO ontology. YL and ZH wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All the authors edited the manuscript. ZH supervised the entire project.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

RenderX

Multimedia Appendix 1

Detailed information about the Critical Appraisal Skills Program (CASP) review of the included papers. [XLSX File (Microsoft Excel File), 11 KB - pediatrics v5i1e32235 app1.xlsx]

References

- 1. Villani D. Integrating Technology in Positive Psychology Practice. Hershey: Information Science Reference; 2016.
- 2. Trends in pregnancy and childbirth complications in the US. 2020 Jun 17. URL: <u>https://www.bcbs.com/the-health-of-america/reports/trends-in-pregnancy-and-childbirth-complications-in-the-us</u> [accessed 2021-06-09]
- Chandra A, Copen C, Stephen E. Infertility and impaired fecundity in the United States, 1982-2010: data from the National Survey of Family Growth. Atlanta: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2013 Aug 14. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhsr/nhsr067.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-01-31]
- 4. Infertility FAQs. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/</u> infertility/index.htm [accessed 2022-06-09]
- 5. Lagan BM, Sinclair M, Kernohan WG. What is the impact of the Internet on decision-making in pregnancy? A global study. Birth 2011 Dec;38(4):336-345. [doi: 10.1111/j.1523-536X.2011.00488.x] [Medline: 22112334]
- Declercq ER, Sakala C, Corry MP, Applebaum S. Listening to mothers II: report of the Second National U.S. Survey of Women's Childbearing Experiences: conducted January-February 2006 for Childbirth Connection by Harris Interactive in partnership with Lamaze International. J Perinat Educ 2007;16(4):9-14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1624/105812407X244769] [Medline: 18769512]
- Berland GK, Elliott MN, Morales LS, Algazy JI, Kravitz RL, Broder MS, et al. Health information on the Internet: accessibility, quality, and readability in English and Spanish. JAMA 2001;285(20):2612-2621 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.285.20.2612] [Medline: 11368735]
- 8. Plovnick RM, Zeng QT. Reformulation of consumer health queries with professional terminology: a pilot study. J Med Internet Res 2004 Sep 03;6(3):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6.3.e27] [Medline: 15471753]
- 9. Gui X, Chen Y, Kou Y, Pine K, Chen Y. Investigating support seeking from peers for pregnancy in online health communities. Proc ACM Hum Comput Interact 2017 Dec 06;1(CSCW):1-19. [doi: <u>10.1145/3134685</u>]
- Zhu C, Zeng R, Zhang W, Evans R, He R. Pregnancy-related information seeking and sharing in the social media era among expectant mothers: qualitative study. J Med Internet Res 2019 Dec 04;21(12):e13694 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13694] [Medline: <u>31799939</u>]
- Robinson J, Anders S, Novak L, Simpson C, Holroyd L, Bennett K, et al. Consumer health-related needs of pregnant women and their caregivers. JAMIA Open 2018 Jul;1(1):57-66 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamiaopen/ooy018] [Medline: 30474071]
- Van De Belt TH, Hendriks AFW, Aarts JWM, Kremer JAM, Faber MJ, Nelen WLDM. Evaluation of patients' questions to identify gaps in information provision to infertile patients. Hum Fertil (Camb) 2014 Jun;17(2):133-140. [doi: 10.3109/14647273.2014.912762] [Medline: 24869518]
- Ghiasi A. Health information needs, sources of information, and barriers to accessing health information among pregnant women: a systematic review of research. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2019 Jul 01:1-11. [doi: <u>10.1080/14767058.2019.1634685</u>] [Medline: <u>31216921</u>]
- 14. Sayakhot P, Carolan-Olah M. Internet use by pregnant women seeking pregnancy-related information: a systematic review. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2016;16:65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-016-0856-5] [Medline: 27021727]
- 15. Prepregnancy. Merriam-Webster Medical Dictionary. URL: <u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/medical/prepregnancy</u> [accessed 2021-11-13]
- 16. Postpartum. Merriam-Webster Dictionary. URL: <u>https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/postpartum</u> [accessed 2021-11-13]
- Page MJ, Moher D, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. PRISMA 2020 explanation and elaboration: updated guidance and exemplars for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 2021 Mar 29;372:n160 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.n160] [Medline: 33781993]
- 18. Critical Appraisal Skills Program: qualitative studies checklist. URL: <u>https://casp-uk.b-cdn.net/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/CASP-Qualitative-Checklist-2018_fillable_form.pdf</u> [accessed 2020-09-27]
- Kallem S, Gruver RS, Virudachalam S, Fiks AG. Mothers' Facebook posts about infant health: findings from the Grow2Gether study. BMC Pediatr 2018 Oct 31;18(1):341 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12887-018-1315-4] [Medline: 30382827]
- 20. Holton S, Hammarberg K, Johnson L. Fertility concerns and related information needs and preferences of women with PCOS. Hum Reprod Open 2018;2018(4):hoy019 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/hropen/hoy019] [Medline: 30895260]
- 21. Rotich E, Wolvaardt L. A descriptive study of the health information needs of Kenyan women in the first 6 weeks postpartum. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2017 Nov 16;17(1):385 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12884-017-1576-1] [Medline: 29145804]
- 22. Owusu-Addo SB, Owusu-Addo E, Morhe ESK. Health information-seeking behaviours among pregnant teenagers in Ejisu-Juaben Municipality, Ghana. Midwifery 2016 Oct;41:110-117. [doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2016.08.007] [Medline: 27598434]

- 23. Pang P, Temple-Smith M, Bellhouse C, Trieu VH, Kiropoulos L, Williams H, et al. Online health seeking behaviours: what information is sought by women experiencing miscarriage? Stud Health Technol Inform 2018;252:118-125. [Medline: 30040693]
- 24. Song H, Cramer EM, McRoy S, May A. Information needs, seeking behaviors, and support among low-income expectant women. Women Health 2013;53(8):824-842. [doi: 10.1080/03630242.2013.831019] [Medline: 24215275]
- Ceulemans M, Van Calsteren K, Allegaert K, Foulon V. Beliefs about medicines and information needs among pregnant women visiting a tertiary hospital in Belgium. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 2019 Jul;75(7):995-1003. [doi: 10.1007/s00228-019-02653-w] [Medline: <u>30834472</u>]
- 26. Cramer EM. Health information behavior of expectant and recent fathers. Am J Mens Health 2018 Mar;12(2):313-325 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1557988316637576] [Medline: 26993996]
- 27. Guerra-Reyes L, Christie VM, Prabhakar A, Harris AL, Siek KA. Postpartum health information seeking using mobile phones: experiences of low-income mothers. Matern Child Health J 2016 Dec;20(Suppl 1):13-21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10995-016-2185-8] [Medline: 27639571]
- 28. Cannon S, Lastella M, Vincze L, Vandelanotte C, Hayman M. A review of pregnancy information on nutrition, physical activity and sleep websites. Women Birth 2020 Feb;33(1):35-40. [doi: 10.1016/j.wombi.2018.12.007] [Medline: 30905558]
- Brown HM, Bucher T, Collins CE, Rollo ME. A review of pregnancy iPhone apps assessing their quality, inclusion of behaviour change techniques, and nutrition information. Matern Child Nutr 2019 Jul;15(3):e12768. [doi: <u>10.1111/mcn.12768</u>] [Medline: <u>30569549</u>]
- Arcia A, Stonbraker S, Warner ERA. Continuing education module-information needs and information-seeking processes of low-income pregnant women in relation to digital maternity education resources. J Perinat Educ 2019 Jul 01;28(3):151-162. [doi: 10.1891/1058-1243.28.3.151] [Medline: 31341374]
- Linden K, Berg M, Sparud-Lundin C. Web-based information for pregnant women and new mothers with type 1 diabetes—a description of the development process. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2012 Nov 20;12:134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-12-134] [Medline: 23167552]
- 32. Narasimhulu DM, Karakash S, Weedon J, Minkoff H. Patterns of internet use by pregnant women, and reliability of pregnancy-related searches. Matern Child Health J 2016 Dec;20(12):2502-2509. [doi: 10.1007/s10995-016-2075-0] [Medline: 27456311]
- Kamali S, Ahmadian L, Khajouei R, Bahaadinbeigy K. Health information needs of pregnant women: information sources, motives and barriers. Health Info Libr J 2018 Mar;35(1):24-37. [doi: 10.1111/hir.12200] [Medline: 29131537]
- Kriss JL, Albert AP, Carter VM, Jiles AJ, Liang JL, Mullen J, et al. Disparities in Tdap vaccination and vaccine information needs among pregnant women in the united states. Matern Child Health J 2019 Feb;23(2):201-211. [doi: 10.1007/s10995-018-2633-8] [Medline: 30288661]
- Brochu F, Robins S, Miner SA, Grunberg PH, Chan P, Lo K, et al. Searching the internet for infertility information: a survey of patient needs and preferences. J Med Internet Res 2019 Dec 12;21(12):e15132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15132] [Medline: 31829963]
- 36. Netting MJ, Allen KJ. Advice about infant feeding for allergy prevention: a confusing picture for Australian consumers? J Paediatr Child Health 2017 Sep;53(9):870-875. [doi: 10.1111/jpc.13594] [Medline: 28603870]
- Artieta-Pinedo I, Paz-Pascual C, Grandes G, Villanueva G, Q Group E. An evaluation of Spanish and English on-line information sources regarding pregnancy, birth and the postnatal period. Midwifery 2018 Mar;58:19-26. [doi: 10.1016/j.midw.2017.12.002] [Medline: 29277038]
- O'Donnell BE, Lewkowitz AK, Vargas JE, Zlatnik MG. Examining pregnancy-specific smartphone applications: what are patients being told? J Perinatol 2016 Oct;36(10):802-807. [doi: <u>10.1038/jp.2016.77</u>] [Medline: <u>27195980</u>]
- de Man AM, Rashedi A, Nelen W, Anazodo A, Rademaker A, de Roo S, et al. Female fertility in the cancer setting: availability and quality of online health information. Hum Fertil (Camb) 2018 Sep 19:1-9. [doi: 10.1080/14647273.2018.1506891] [Medline: 30230389]
- 40. Carlsson T, Bergman G, Karlsson A, Mattsson E. Content and quality of information websites about congenital heart defects following a prenatal diagnosis. Interact J Med Res 2015;4(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/ijmr.3819] [Medline: 25608457]
- 41. Guerra-Reyes L, Christie VM, Prabhakar A, Siek KA. Mind the gap: assessing the disconnect between postpartum health information desired and health information received. Womens Health Issues 2017;27(2):167-173. [doi: 10.1016/j.whi.2016.11.004] [Medline: 28063847]
- 42. Storr T, Maher J, Swanepoel E. Online nutrition information for pregnant women: a content analysis. Matern Child Nutr 2017 Apr;13(2):e12315 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/mcn.12315] [Medline: 27353248]
- Zhu X, Fan J, Baorto DM, Weng C, Cimino JJ. A review of auditing methods applied to the content of controlled biomedical terminologies. J Biomed Inform 2009 Jun;42(3):413-425 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2009.03.003] [Medline: 19285571]
- 44. Amith M, He Z, Bian J, Lossio-Ventura JA, Tao C. Assessing the practice of biomedical ontology evaluation: gaps and opportunities. J Biomed Inform 2018 Apr;80:1-13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2018.02.010] [Medline: 29462669]

- 45. Uhm J, Choi M. Mothers' needs regarding partnerships with nurses during care of infants with congenital heart defects in a paediatric cardiac intensive care unit. Intensive Crit Care Nurs 2019 Oct;54:79-87. [doi: 10.1016/j.iccn.2019.07.003] [Medline: 31353190]
- English CL, Alden KR, Zomorodi M, Travers D, Ross MS. Evaluation of content on commonly used web sites about induction of labor and pain management during labor. MCN Am J Matern Child Nurs 2018;43(5):271-277. [doi: 10.1097/NMC.00000000000455] [Medline: 30113406]
- Boztas N, Omur D, Ozbilgin S, Altuntas G, Piskin E, Ozkardesler S, et al. Readability of internet-sourced patient education material related to "labour analgesia". Medicine (Baltimore) 2017 Nov;96(45):e8526 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000008526] [Medline: 29137057]
- 48. Harrison AL, Taylor NF, Frawley HC, Shields N. Women with gestational diabetes mellitus want clear and practical messages from credible sources about physical activity during pregnancy: a qualitative study. J Physiother 2019 Jan;65(1):37-42 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jphys.2018.11.007] [Medline: 30573442]
- 49. Xie B. Older adults' health information wants in the internet age: implications for patient-provider relationships. J Health Commun 2009 Sep;14(6):510-524. [doi: 10.1080/10810730903089614] [Medline: 19731124]
- 50. Shepperd S, Charnock D, Gann B. Helping patients access high quality health information. BMJ 1999 Oct 18;319(7212):764-766 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.319.7212.764] [Medline: 10488009]
- 51. Dervin B. Sense making theory and practice: an overview of user interests in knowledge seeking and use. J of Knowl Manag 1998 Dec;2(2):36-46. [doi: 10.1108/13673279810249369]
- 52. Mamykina L, Smaldone AM, Bakken SR. Adopting the sensemaking perspective for chronic disease self-management. J Biomed Inform 2015 Aug;56:406-417 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2015.06.006] [Medline: 26071681]
- Aselmaa A, van Herk M, Laprie A, Nestle U, Götz I, Wiedenmann N, et al. Using a contextualized sensemaking model for interaction design: a case study of tumor contouring. J Biomed Inform 2017 Jan;65:145-158 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2016.12.001] [Medline: 27932222]
- 54. Clark L, Canary H, McDougle K, Perkins R, Tadesse R, Holton A. Family sense-making after a Down syndrome diagnosis. Qual Health Res 2020 Oct;30(12):1783-1797 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1049732320935836] [Medline: 32618226]
- 55. Reynolds TL, Ali N, McGregor E, O'Brien T, Longhurst C, Rosenberg AL, et al. Understanding patient questions about their medical records in an online health forum: opportunity for patient portal design. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2017;2017:1468-1477 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29854216]
- 56. Shieh C, Mays R, McDaniel A, Yu J. Health literacy and its association with the use of information sources and with barriers to information seeking in clinic-based pregnant women. Health Care Women Int 2009 Nov;30(11):971-988. [doi: 10.1080/07399330903052152] [Medline: 19809901]
- 57. Estacio EV, Whittle R, Protheroe J. The digital divide: examining socio-demographic factors associated with health literacy, access and use of internet to seek health information. J Health Psychol 2019 Oct;24(12):1668-1675. [doi: 10.1177/1359105317695429] [Medline: 28810415]
- Mackert M, Mabry-Flynn A, Champlin S, Donovan EE, Pounders K. Health literacy and health information technology adoption: the potential for a new digital divide. J Med Internet Res 2016 Oct 04;18(10):e264 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6349] [Medline: 27702738]
- 59. Eysenbach G, Köhler C. How do consumers search for and appraise health information on the world wide web? Qualitative study using focus groups, usability tests, and in-depth interviews. BMJ 2002 Mar 09;324(7337):573-577 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.324.7337.573] [Medline: 11884321]
- 60. AWHONN. Are you using the Internet for nursing? AWHONN Lifelines 1997 Aug;1(4):17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1552-6356.1997.tb00942.x] [Medline: 9312436]
- 61. Hersh L, Salzman B, Snyderman D. Health literacy in primary care practice. Am Fam Physician 2015 Jul 15;92(2):118-124 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 26176370]
- 62. Klerings I, Weinhandl AS, Thaler KJ. Information overload in healthcare: too much of a good thing? Z Evid Fortbild Qual Gesundhwes 2015;109(4-5):285-290. [doi: 10.1016/j.zefq.2015.06.005] [Medline: 26354128]
- 63. He Z. Github Repository for PINO. URL: <u>https://github.com/henryhezhe2003/Pregnancy_Infomation_Needs_Ontology</u> [accessed 2021-07-19]
- 64. BioPortal homepage for Pregnancy Information Needs Ontology. URL: <u>https://bioportal.bioontology.org/ontologies/PINO</u> [accessed 2022-02-11]
- 65. Stvilia B, Mon L, Yi YJ. A model for online consumer health information quality. J Am Soc Inf Sci 2009 Sep;60(9):1781-1791. [doi: 10.1002/asi.21115]

Abbreviations

CASP: Critical Appraisal Skills Program **PINO:** Pregnancy Information Needs Ontology **PRISMA:** Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-analysis

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 27.07.21; peer-reviewed by X Jing, D Parry; comments to author 17.10.21; revised version received 15.11.21; accepted 08.12.21; published 21.02.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Lu Y, Barrett LA, Lin RZ, Amith M, Tao C, He Z Understanding Information Needs and Barriers to Accessing Health Information Across All Stages of Pregnancy: Systematic Review JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e32235 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32235 doi:10.2196/32235 PMID:35188477

©Yu Lu, Laura A Barrett, Rebecca Z Lin, Muhammad Amith, Cui Tao, Zhe He. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 21.02.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



COVID-19 and Pregnancy: Citation Network Analysis and Evidence Synthesis

Rebeca Ruiz-Roman¹, MD; Clara Martinez-Perez², PhD; Inés Gil Prados¹, MD; Ignacio Cristóbal^{1,3}, MD, PhD; Miguel Ángel Sánchez-Tena^{2,4}, PhD

¹Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Hospital Clínico San Carlos, Madrid, Spain

²Instituto Superior de Educação e Ciências, Lisboa, Portugal

³Faculty of Medicine, Universidad Francisco de Vitoria, Madrid, Spain

⁴Department of Optometry and Vision, Faculty of Optics and Optometry, Universidad Complutense de Madrid, Madrid, Spain

Corresponding Author:

Rebeca Ruiz-Roman, MD Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics Hospital Clínico San Carlos Calle del Prof Martín Lagos, s/n Madrid, 28040 Spain Phone: 34 913303000 Email: rebecaruizroman@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: COVID-19 spread quickly around the world shortly after the first outbreaks of the new coronavirus disease at the end of December 2019, affecting all populations, including pregnant women.

Objective: The aim of this study was to analyze the relationship between different publications on COVID-19 in pregnancy and their authors through citation networks, as well as to identify the research areas and to determine the publication that has been the most highly cited.

Methods: The search for publications was carried out through the Web of Science database using terms such as "pregnancy," "SARS-CoV-2," "pregnant," and "COVID-19" for the period between January and December 2020. Citation Network Explorer software was used for publication analysis and VOSviewer software was used to construct the figures. This approach enabled an in-depth network analysis to visualize the connections between the related elements and explain their network structure.

Results: A total of 1330 publications and 5531 citation networks were identified in the search, with July being the month with the largest number of publications, and the United States, China, and England as the countries with the greatest number of publications. The most cited publication was "Clinical characteristics and intrauterine vertical transmission potential of COVID-19 infection in nine pregnant women: a retrospective review of medical records" by Chen and colleagues, which was published in March 2020. Six groups identified as being close in the citation network reflect multidisciplinary research, including clinical characteristics and outcomes in pregnancy, vertical transmission, delivery mode, and psychological impacts of the pandemic on pregnant women.

Conclusions: Thousands of articles on COVID-19 have been published in several journals since the disease first emerged. Identifying relevant publications and obtaining a global view of the main papers published on COVID-19 and pregnancy can lead to a better understanding of the topic. With the accumulation of scientific knowledge, we now know that the clinical features of COVID-19 during pregnancy are generally similar to those of infected nonpregnant women. There is a small increase in frequency of preterm birth and cesarean birth, related to severe maternal illness. Vaccination for all pregnant women is recommended. Several agents are being evaluated for the treatment of COVID-19, but with minimal or no information on safety in pregnancy. These results could form the basis for further research. Future bibliometric and scientometric studies on COVID-19 should provide updated information to analyze other relevant indicators in this field.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e29189) doi:10.2196/29189



KEYWORDS

pandemic; COVID-19; SARS-CoV-2; pregnancy; perinatal; citation; bibliometric; network analysis; women; maternal health; fetal health; research; literature; transmission; delivery; impact

Introduction

In late December 2019, a cluster of novel human pneumonia cases in Wuhan City, China, were reported. Shortly after, on January 12, 2020, the World Health Organization temporarily termed the new virus "2019 novel coronavirus" (2019-nCoV) and then officially named this infectious disease COVID-19 on February 12, 2020, becoming the fifth pandemic after the 1918 flu pandemic, affecting people all over the world [1]. As of December 12, 2021, nearly 269 million confirmed cases and nearly 5.3 million deaths were reported globally. Recent reports of different variants of SARS-CoV-2 have raised concern and interest in the impact of viral changes [2].

Coronaviruses (Coronaviridae) are a family of viruses that cause infections in humans and animals. That is, coronavirus infections are considered to be zoonotic diseases that can be transmitted from animals to humans through direct contact with infected animals or their secretions. SARS-CoV-2, which causes COVID-19, exhibits human-to-human transmission by multiple means, namely by droplets, aerosols, and fomites [3]. Knowledge on COVID-19 in pregnant women has evolved tremendously; earlier reports from China considered the possibility of vertical transmission, but subsequent reports depicted a theoretical risk, and increased prevalence of preterm deliveries was also noticed [4].

The most frequent clinical characteristics of COVID-19 consist of fever, cough, fatigue or myalgia, sputum production, and headache [5]. Although viral pneumonia is an important cause of morbidity and mortality among pregnant women, the most common manifestations of COVID-19 during pregnancy are similar to those of infected nonpregnant women. However, infected mothers may be at increased risk for more severe respiratory complications [6,7].

Besides affecting the respiratory tract, COVID-19 has a remarkable impact on the mental health of pregnant women, since they are already at increased risk of developing mental health problems such as depression, anxiety, and posttraumatic stress symptoms [8]. This should be taken into account since it is proposed that the psychological stress of the COVID-19 pandemic during pregnancy can increase the risk of neurodevelopmental disorders in offspring [9]. Hence, it is important to proactively develop appropriate strategies to alleviate stress by screening, identifying, and managing perinatal mental health disorders during the pandemic.

Regarding the treatment of COVID-19, most guidelines include oxygen therapy, antiviral therapy, and supportive treatment. To date, dexamethasone is the only proven and recommended experimental treatment for pregnant patients with COVID-19 who are mechanically ventilated or who require supplemental oxygen [10]. Several other drugs are being used in research studies (eg, antiviral drugs, monoclonal antibodies, immunomodulators), but very few trials include pregnant people. Citation networks enable searching for scientific literature on a specific topic. That is, by means of a publication, other relevant publications can be sought to demonstrate, qualitatively and quantitatively, the relationships between articles and authors through the creation of groups [11]. This approach further enables quantifying the most cited publications in each group and studying the development of a research area or focusing the bibliographic search on a specific topic [12,13].

Great efforts in knowledge production about the COVID-19 pandemic caused by the SARS-CoV-2 virus have been made from the beginning of the outbreak. In early 2020, studies about the scientific literature on COVID-19 and bibliometric analyses were published to summarize the research hotspots and offer a review of the topic to provide a reference for researchers. From inception (ie, the beginning of the pandemic) to March 1, 2020, the first authors of these publications were from 20 different countries and the papers were published in 80 different journals [14]. A bibliometric analysis of publications in five high-impact journals indexed to the Web of Science Core Collection's Science Citation Index Expanded (SCI-EXPANDED) database was also published [15]. By June 2020, China, the United States, and the United Kingdom were the most represented countries, and The Lancet was the journal with the highest number of contributions on the topic [15,16]. In Italy, a systematic review and bibliometric analysis of the scientific literature on the early phase of COVID-19 was conducted, but with limited international impact [17]. Furthermore, citation networks were used to investigate the strategic themes, thematic evolution structure, and trends of publications during the first 8 months of the COVID-19 pandemic in the Web of Science database in 2020, providing new perspectives of the field [18]. This tool has also been used in the pediatrics literature to identify publication trends and topic dissemination, showing the relevance of the publishing authors, institutions, and countries [19]. Most recently, the interdisciplinary status of coronavirus-related fields was investigated via the COVID-19 Open Research Dataset (CORD-19). To this end, bibliometric indicators of interdisciplinarity were calculated and a cooccurrence analysis method was applied [20]. Interdisciplinary research can provide an effective solution to complex issues in the related field of coronavirus research.

Taking into account the significant increase in the number of publications on COVID-19 and pregnancy, the aim of this study was to analyze the relationship between different publications and their authors through citation networks, as well as to identify the research areas and determine which publication has been the most highly cited. For this purpose, the analysis was carried out using Citation Network Explorer (CitNetExplorer) software.

Methods

Database

The following search terms were used to search the publications in the Web of Science database: "pregnancy," "SARS-CoV-2,"

XSL•FC

"pregnant," and "COVID-19." These terms were selected according to the main objective of this study because they are the most common terms in all related research fields.

Given that the search results contained articles in common, the Boolean operators NOT and AND, along with the "*" character, were used to find the singular and plural forms of the words. In this way, the terms used were ([COVID-19 OR SARS-CoV-2] AND [pregnancy OR pregnant]). Likewise, the search field was selected by topic, thereby limiting the search by abstract, title, and keywords. The selected time interval was from January 2020 to December 2020.

In turn, Web of Science also makes it possible to add references to your library while performing bibliographic searches directly in external databases or library catalogs. With regard to the citation index, the Social Sciences Citation Index, SCI-EXPANDED, and Emerging Sources Citation Index were used. However, because of the different citation methods used by various authors and organizations, CiteSpace software was used to standardize the data. The publications were searched and downloaded on November 23, 2020.

Network Analysis

The publications were analyzed using CitNetExplorer software. This software allows for the analysis and visualization of the citation networks of scientific publications, and further allows for citation networks to be downloaded directly from Web of Science. It is also possible to manage citation networks including thousands of interrelated publications and citations. As such, researchers can use a citation network consisting of thousands of publications as the starting point, before going on to perform a deeper analysis of the most relevant publications to generate a small subnetwork containing ~100 publications on the same topic. The Citation Score attribute was used to perform quantitative analysis on the most cited publications within a specific time frame. In this way, both internal connections within the Web of Science database and external connections were quantified, meaning that other databases were also considered [13].

CitNetExplorer offers several techniques for analyzing the different citation networks. The *clustering function* is achieved using the formula developed by Van Eck and Waltman [13] in 2021. The clustering function was used to assign a group to each publication. As a result, the most interrelated publications tended to be within the same group based on the citation networks [13].

Finally, the main publications were analyzed using the *identifying core publications* function. This function is based on identifying the publications that are considered as the core of a citation network (ie, those with a minimum number of connections with other core publications), making it possible to eliminate publications that are considered unimportant. The number of connections is established by the researchers, so that a higher value of this parameter indicates a lower number of core publications [13]. Thus, in this study, the publications with four or more citations within the citation network were taken into account. The *drilling down* function was used since it allows for a deeper analysis of each group at different levels.

VOSviewer software (version 1.6.9) was used for generating figures [21,22].

With this approach, it was possible to carry out an in-depth network analysis to visualize the connections between the related elements and explain their network structure. We considered three main subnetworks: a country coauthorship network, cited references cocitation network, and author keyword cooccurrence network.

The coauthorship analysis allowed for the identification of collaboration networks between countries in this field of research. The nodes correspond to the countries participating in this field of research and the links between the elements imply cooperative relationships. The size of the node increases in parallel with an increase in the number of articles published by an individual country. The number of links shows the number of times that a given country shared coauthorship with others. Therefore, the strength of the link increases as the number of coauthors increases.

In the cocitation network, nodes represent scientific references and the size of the nodes represents the number of times a reference is cited. The correlation of the articles according to the cocitation links was represented according to the distance between two references. Self-citations were not considered for analysis.

In the author keyword cooccurrence network, nodes represent the most frequently cited author keywords, and the size of an individual node represents how many times that keyword is cited. The strength of the link between two nodes indicated the number of articles in which two keywords appeared together [21,22].

Each group is determined by a resolution value, which ranges from 1.0 to 0.50 [21,22].

Scientometric Analysis

CiteSpace (5.6.R2) software was used to perform the scientometric analysis. This software, developed by Chen Chaomei, is Java-based and is comprised of five basic theoretical aspects: Kuhn's model of scientific revolutions, Price's scientific frontier theory, the organization of ideas, the best information-foraging theory of scientific communication, and the theory of discrete and reorganized knowledge units [23,24]. In the scientometric analysis process, there are also some parameter indicators to carry out a specific assessment. The H-index is a mixed quantitative index, suggested by George Hirsch from the University of California, which is used to evaluate the quantity and level of the academic output of researchers and institutions. The H-index indicates that h out of N published articles in a journal have been cited at least htimes [25]. The degree indicates the number of connections that exist among the authors (organizations, countries) in the cooccurrence knowledge graph. A higher degree value indicates a greater level of communication and collaboration between the authors (organizations, countries). The centrality value measures the importance of the nodes within the research cooperation network. Intermediary centrality is a measure of the number of times a node acts as a waypoint along the shortest path between two other nodes, according to the geodetic distance. The half-life

XSL•FO

is a parameter that represents the continuity of institutional research from a time perspective [23], which is defined as the number of years a publication receives half of its citations since it was published. A low citation half-life suggests citation activity that peaks and declines rapidly. A high half-life suggests citation activity that peaks and then declines more slowly.

Results

Publication Trend

Since the first articles on COVID-19 were published at the beginning of 2020, the period of time selected for this analysis was from January 2020 to December 2020. A total of 1330 publications and 5531 citation networks were found in the search

Figure 1. Number of publications per month.

in all fields on Web of Science. Among all 1330 publications, 721 (54.21%) were articles, 268 (20.15%) were letters to the editor, 185 (13.91%) were reviews, 121 (9.10%) were letters, 17 (1.28%) were meeting abstracts, 9 (0.68%) were news items, 5 (0.38%) were corrections, and 4 (0.30%) were proceedings papers.

The number of publications on COVID-19 has increased since May 2020 (January to April 2020: 9.26% of the total publications; May to December 2020: 90.74% of the total publications). July was the month with the largest number of publications, with 194 publications and 27 citation networks (Figure 1). A detailed description of the publications is provided in Multimedia Appendix 1.



Most Cited Publications

The most cited article was that of Chen et al [26], published in March 2020, with a citation index of 279. The aim of their study was to evaluate the clinical characteristics of COVID-19 in pregnancy and the potential for the vertical intrauterine transmission of COVID-19 infection. To this end, clinical records, laboratory results, and chest computed tomography (CT) scans of nine pregnant women with COVID pneumonia who were admitted to Zhongnan Hospital of Wuhan University, Wuhan, China, from January 20 to 31, 2020, were reviewed retrospectively. Evidence of vertical intrauterine transmission was evaluated by testing for SARS-CoV-2 in amniotic fluid, cord blood, and neonatal pharyngeal smear samples. Breastmilk samples were also collected and analyzed from patients after the first breastfeeding. The results showed that all nine patients had a cesarean section in their third trimester. Seven patients presented with fever. Other symptoms were also observed, including cough (in four of the nine patients), myalgia (in three patients), sore throat (in two patients), and malaise (in two patients). Fetal distress was controlled in two cases. Five of the

nine patients had lymphopenia and three patients had increased aminotransferase concentrations. However, none of the patients developed severe pneumonia from COVID-19. Nine live births were recorded and no neonatal asphyxia was observed in newborns. All nine live births had an Apgar score of 8 to 9 at 1 minute and an Apgar score of 9 to 10 at 5 minutes. The clinical characteristics of COVID-19 pneumonia in pregnant women were similar to those reported for pregnant patients who did not develop COVID-19 pneumonia. In conclusion, the findings suggest that there is no evidence of intrauterine infection caused by vertical transmission in women with COVID-19 in late pregnancy.

Among the 20 most cited articles (Table 1), 18 address the clinical manifestations, and obstetric and neonatal outcomes of pregnant patients with COVID-19. They also refer to the vertical transmission of COVID-19 in late pregnancy, including vaginal delivery. The remaining 2 articles deal with how to evaluate the management and safety of epidural or general anesthesia for cesarean delivery in women with COVID-19 and their newborns, and evaluation of standardized procedures for the protection of medical staff.

Table 1. Top 20 most cited articles about COVID-19 and pregnancy (January to December 2020).

Author	Title	Journal	Citation index
Chen et al [26]	Clinical characteristics and intrauterine vertical transmission po- tential of COVID-19 infection in nine pregnant women: a retro- spective review of medical records		436
Rasmussen et al [27]	Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) and pregnancy: what obstetricians need to know	American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology	159
Schwartz et al [28]	Potential maternal and infant outcomes from (Wuhan) coronavirus 2019-nCoV infecting pregnant women: lessons from SARS, MERS, and other human coronavirus infections	Viruses	154
Breslin et al [29]	Coronavirus disease 2019 infection among asymptomatic and symptomatic pregnant women: two weeks of confirmed presenta- tions to an affiliated pair of New York City hospitals	American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology	144
Yu et al [30]	Clinical features and obstetric and neonatal outcomes of pregnant patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective, single- centre, descriptive study	Lancet Infectious Diseases	130
Schwartz [31]	An analysis of 38 pregnant women with COVID-19, their newborn infants, and maternal-fetal transmission of SARS-CoV-2: maternal coronavirus infections and pregnancy outcomes	Archives of Pathology & Labora- tory Medicine	123
Dashraath et al [32]	Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic and pregnancy	American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology	118
Zaigham et al [33]	Maternal and perinatal outcomes with COVID-19: A systematic review of 108 pregnancies	Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica	107
Di Mascio et al [34]	Outcome of coronavirus spectrum infections (SARS, MERS, COVID-19) during pregnancy: a systematic review and meta- analysis	American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology	92
Mullins et al [35]	Coronavirus in pregnancy and delivery: rapid review	Ultrasound in Obstetrics & Gyne- cology	87
Yan et al [36]	Coronavirus disease 2019 in pregnant women: a report based on 116 cases	American Journal Obstetrics and Gynecology	80
Alzamora et al [37]	Severe COVID-19 during pregnancy and possible vertical transmission	American Journal of Perinatology	78
Wang et al [38]	A case report of neonatal 2019 coronavirus disease in China	Clinical Infectious Diseases	75
Qiao et al [39]	What are the risks of COVID-19 infection in pregnant women?	The Lancet	74
Wang et al [40]	A case of 2019 novel coronavirus in a pregnant woman with preterm delivery	Clinical Infectious Diseases	74
Knight et al [41]	Characteristics and outcomes of pregnant women admitted to hospital with confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection in UK: national population based cohort study	ВМЈ	74
Hantoushzadeh et al [42]	Maternal death due to COVID-19	American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology	74
Baud et al [43]	Second-trimester miscarriage in a pregnant woman with SARS-CoV-2 infection	JAMA	65
Liang et al [44]	Novel corona virus disease (COVID-19) in pregnancy: what clinical recommendations to follow?	Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica	61
Ellington et al [45]	Characteristics of women of reproductive age with laboratory- confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection by pregnancy status - United States, January 22-June 7, 2020	Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report	61

Clustering Function

Using the clustering function, each publication in the citation network is assigned to a group, which means that publications that are close in the citation network must belong to the same group. Consequently, each of these groups consists of

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e29189

XSL•FO RenderX In this way, it could be interpreted that every group represents a different topic in the scientific literature. To differentiate among groups, each group was assigned a specific color. Additionally, the links between groups have been marked using colored lines. The clustering function identified 6 groups, 4 of

publications that are strongly connected through their citations.

which contained a significant number of articles; however, the remaining groups only accounted for 5.72% of the total number of citations (Figure 2). The citation networks show the publications with the highest weight and the group to which they belong. The size of the circle increases with the increase in the number of citations. The color of an article represents its group and the lines that connect the elements represent links. Thus, the articles of the same group will have the same color. Table 2 shows the information of the citation networks regarding the 4 main groups, listed from the largest to the smallest according to their size.

In group 1, 757 articles and 4407 citations were identified throughout the network. The most cited publication was that of Chen et al [26], published in March 2020 in *The Lancet*, which also ranked first among the 20 most cited publications. The publications of this group are focused on describing the clinical manifestations, and the obstetric and neonatal outcomes of pregnant patients with COVID-19. They also address the vertical transmission topic of COVID-19 in late pregnancy, including vaginal delivery (Figure 3) and treatment with chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine in pregnant women.

In group 2, 106 publications and 192 citations were identified throughout the network. The most cited publication was that of

Zaigham et al [33], published in April 2020 in Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica. The aim of this study was to summarize the clinical manifestations, and maternal and perinatal outcomes of COVID-19 during pregnancy. To accomplish this, the databases were searched using multiple terms and combinations: COVID-19, pregnancy, maternal maternal morbidity, complications, mortality, clinical manifestations, neonatal morbidity, intrauterine fetal death, neonatal mortality, and SARS-CoV-2. The results showed that most reports describe pregnant women in the third trimester with fever (68%) and cough (34%). Lymphocytopenia (59%) with elevated C-reactive protein (70%) was also observed, and 91% of the women delivered by cesarean section. One neonatal death and one intrauterine death were also found. Therefore, it is necessary to monitor pregnant women with COVID-19 and try to prevent neonatal infection. This group's publications also address how to evaluate the management and safety of epidural or general anesthesia for cesarean delivery in the context of COVID-19, and how to evaluate standardized procedures for the protection of medical staff. Besides avoiding nosocomial infections, recommendations for testing for gestational diabetes mellitus and the presence of sickle cell disease in patients with COVID-19 are provided (Figure 4).

Figure 2. Clustering function in the citation network on COVID-19 and pregnancy.



Table 2. Information on the citation network of the 4 main groups.

Main cluster	Number of publications	Number of citation links	Number of citations, median (range)	Number of publications with ≥4 citations	Number of publications in 100 most cited publications
Group 1	757	4407	0 (0-436)	506	91
Group 2	106	192	0 (0-107)	23	4
Group 3	32	56	0 (0-51)	9	4
Group 4	29	30	0 (0-25)	4	1



Figure 3. Citation network for Group 1.



In group 3, 32 publications and 56 citations were identified throughout the network. The most cited publication was Della et al [46], published in July 2020 in American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. The aim of this study was to perform a systematic review of reported clinical outcomes for pregnant patients with COVID-19. All studies of pregnant women who received a diagnosis of COVID-19 through a nucleic acid test, with reported data on pregnancy and delivery cases, were included. Among 51 pregnant women, 3 pregnancies were in progress. Of the remaining 48 pregnant women, 46 delivered by cesarean section and 2 delivered vaginally. In turn, 1 stillbirth and 1 neonatal death were reported in this study. In conclusion, although vertical transmission of COVID-19 infection has been excluded to date, and the outcome for mothers and newborns has been generally good, the high rate of premature cesarean deliveries is a cause for concern. Cesarean delivery was typically an elective surgical intervention, and it is reasonable to question whether cesarean delivery for pregnant patients with COVID-19 was justified. COVID-19 and respiratory failure association in late pregnancy certainly creates a complex clinical scenario. The publications of this group address the significant increase in the rate of cesarean deliveries (>90%) and whether the mode of delivery is associated with maternal complications or neonatal transmission. These studies also emphasize the importance of imaging modalities in the treatment of patients suspected of having COVID-19, highlighting pulmonary ultrasound. This can be a valid alternative to chest CT, especially for pregnant women, since it presents certain advantages: the ultrasound can be performed

RenderX

directly at the bedside by only one professional, which reduces the risk of spreading the disease. In addition, it is a test without radiation, which makes it safer and easier when monitoring patients who require a series of tests (Figure 5).

In group 4, 29 publications and 30 citations were identified throughout the network. The most cited publication was that of Corbett et al [47], published in August 2020 in American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology. The aim of this study was to examine the influence of COVID-19 on the prevalence of symptoms of depression and anxiety, as well as the corresponding risk factors among pregnant women in China. The results showed that pregnant women after the declaration of a pandemic had a higher rate of depressive symptoms than women evaluated previous to the appearance of COVID-19. These women are also at higher risk of thoughts of self-harm. It should be noted that women who were underweight before pregnancy, primiparous, under 35 years of age, and employed full time had a greater risk of developing depressive and anxiety symptoms during the disease. In conclusion, major life-threatening public health events such as COVID-19 increase mental health problems during pregnancy. Therefore, communication and the provision of psychological first aid can be useful to prevent negative results. Publications from this group assess the psychological impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on pregnant women (Figure 6).

When analyzing the relationship between groups, a connection was found between groups 1, 2, and 3. Therefore, these groups analyze topics that are clearly related to each other (Figure 7).

Figure 5. Citation network for Group 3.





Figure 7. Relation among the 4 main groups in the citation network.



Subclusters in Group 1

Six subclusters were found in group 1, three of which have a significant number of publications (Table 3). The rest of the

groups are relatively small, with fewer than 82 publications and 138 citation networks.

Table 3. Main citation network groups from the subclusters of Group 1.

Characteristic	Subcluster 1	Subcluster 2	Subcluster 3
Number of publications	430	241	35
Number of citation links	2002	979	36
Most cited publication	Chen et al [26]	Ferrazi et al [48]	Li et al [49]
Main keywords	COVID-19, vertical transmission, infection	neonatal, virus, labor	SARS-CoV-2, pregnancy, prenatal care
Topic of discussion	Assess clinical characteristics and out- comes in pregnancy and the potential for vertical transmission of COVID-19 infection	Report vaginal delivery or cesarean sec- tion and immediate neonatal outcome in women infected with COVID-19	Impact of SARS-CoV-2 on male repro- duction and pregnancy outcomes
Conclusion	COVID-19 infection during pregnancy is not associated with an increased risk of miscarriage or premature sponta- neous birth. There is no evidence of vertical transmission of COVID-19 in- fection when it occurs during the third trimester of pregnancy.	Although postpartum infection cannot be excluded with 100% certainty, these findings suggest that vaginal delivery is associated with a low risk of intrapartum transmission of SARS-Cov-2 to the newborn. In addition, SARS-CoV-2 has been found in breastmilk.	Male gonads may be potentially vulner- able to SARS-CoV-2 infection, so caution is advised for pregnant women and couples planning a natural pregnan- cy or assisted reproduction.

XSL•FO RenderX

Core Publications

We found 610 publications with 4 or more citations and the citation network included 4726 citations, representing 45.86% of the 1330 total publications retrieved. This indicates the diversity of the research topic, showing that many research topics are analyzed. However, there is a clear focus in scientific

investigation carried out in this field. In this analysis, the main topic was to describe the clinical manifestations, and the obstetric and neonatal outcomes of pregnant patients with COVID-19, along with the vertical transmission of COVID-19 in the late stage of pregnancy and at the time of delivery (Figure 8).

Figure 8. Core publications in the citation network of COVID-19 and pregnancy.



Discussion

Principal Findings

The main databases such as Web of Science or Scopus allow for the creation of citation networks. On the one hand, Scopus includes a greater variety of publications compared to PubMed and Web of Science. On the other hand, the citation analysis presented by Web of Science offers better graphics and is more detailed than that performed by Scopus. This is likely because Web of Science was developed for the purpose of analyzing citations. PubMed focuses on the clinical and biomedical literature, whereas Web of Science is interdisciplinary, and includes journals of the highest quality in each subject area [13]. However, the usefulness of some of these databases is limited to conducting a systematic review of the literature, since they fail to offer an overview of the connections between citations in a group of publications. This is the main reason that we used CitNetExplorer and CiteSpace software in this study, since these tools enable visualizing, analyzing, and exploring citation networks in scientific publications [13]. In this way, CitNetExplorer obtains a more detailed analysis through the creation of dating networks (ie, networks based on the date of publication) compared to other databases.

Web of Science is one of the most extensive databases, beginning its search framework in 1900. However, as a limitation of this study, Web of Science only accepts international journals and its selection process is exhaustive, which means that some publications that are not in Web of Science could have been excluded from this analysis.

The main goal of this study was to analyze the existing literature on COVID-19 and pregnancy. To identify relevant publications, the Web of Science database was used, and then connections between the fields of study and different research groups were analyzed. To obtain the results, the *clustering* function was used. This function allows for publications to be grouped according to the relationships that exist among citations. The *drilling down* function was also used to perform a more in-depth analysis of the existing bibliography for each group. The *core publications* function shows the main publications (ie, those with a minimum number of citations). Therefore, these functions make it possible for a complete analysis of the research in the field of interest.

Most of the knowledge about how a coronavirus infection might affect pregnant patients comes from the previous severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) and Middle Eastern respiratory syndrome (MERS) epidemics. These experiences showed that coronavirus infections could increase the risk of life-threatening maternal illness, intrauterine growth restriction, preterm delivery, miscarriage, and perinatal death [28]. Since the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic was declared, numerous case reports and reviews have been published regarding this new pathogen and its role in the course of pregnancy. The month with the largest number of publications on "COVID-19 and pregnancy" was July, which was only 1 month later in comparison to articles issued on "COVID-19" [50]. The article with the highest citation index was published by Chen et al [26] in March 2020. The

countries with the largest number of research articles published on the topic are the United States, China, and England. It is logical that most articles written at the beginning of the pandemic were by Chinese researchers. However, this has been a cause of major concern among frontline health workers and politicians due to the language barrier. Currently, the English language and high investment in research likely justifies why the United States and England are among the top 3 countries in terms of the number of publications. Another factor linked to this finding is the possibility to make connections between different research groups within the scientific community [51].

Clinical manifestations and obstetric and perinatal outcomes have been the main concern in this field, which have been addressed in 18 of the 20 most cited articles on COVID-19 and pregnancy. Most of these studies state that there are no differences in the symptomatology compared with that of nonpregnant patients. The article with the largest number of patients, written by Yan et al [36], reviewed the cases of 116 pregnant women and concluded that there is no evidence of increased risk of maternal death, spontaneous abortion, or preterm birth. Three single-center reviews with a small number of patients diagnosed with mild SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia (31 patients) came to the same conclusion, as none of them reported maternal deaths, intensive care unit admissions, nor poor perinatal outcomes [26,30,52]. In contrast, Zaigham et al [33] presented a systematic review of 108 patients, including 3 maternal intensive care unit admissions, 1 neonatal death, and 1 intrauterine death. Among these 20 most cited articles, the study by Hantoushzadeh et al [42] described the poorest maternal outcomes with 7 maternal deaths in a group of 9 pregnant women with severe SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia. It should be noted that most of the patients included in these publications were in the third trimester of pregnancy, and that no control groups were studied. In addition, some of the articles included cases of COVID-19 diagnosed by clinical criteria, without molecular (polymerase chain reaction) testing.

The imaging test used for diagnosis in the studies mentioned above was consistently chest CT. Two of the most cited articles presented in the second group identified after applying the clustering function addressed a radiation-free exam as a new alternative that could be particularly beneficial to pregnant patients. These publications were written by Moro et al [53] and Buonsenso et al [54], and propose using lung ultrasound examinations to recognize pathological patterns, some of which are especially suggestive of COVID-19 infection.

At the end of 2020, there was an upward trend in the numbers of studies that evaluated the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on the mental health of women during pregnancy and the perinatal period. Studies conducted in Qatar [55], Iran [56], and the United States [57], and a meta-analysis by Hessami et al [58] provide evidence that the COVID-19 pandemic significantly increases the risk of anxiety among women during these periods. They concluded that these findings can be used to inform public health interventions, among which, consideration should be given to routine mental health screening of vulnerable groups and support measures for susceptible populations.

Regarding birth, some colleges of obstetricians such as the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists in the United Kingdom initially developed guidance in March 2020 and affirmed that the delivery mode should be determined primarily by obstetric indication. They also recommended against routine separation of affected mothers and their babies [35]. In the most cited publication of this topic group, Della Gatta et al [46] stated that most pregnant patients with COVID-19 gave birth preterm by cesarean delivery, some of them on an elective basis. In most cases, the indication for cesarean delivery was not clearly specified, and it is certainly possible that the decision was influenced by the understandable anxiety toward the potential consequences of a new viral infection. It should be considered that this study was published in April 2020, when the available literature around the obstetric implications of COVID-19 was still very limited. Nevertheless, the fact that this elective intervention contributed to the favorable neonatal outcomes observed seemed unlikely even then. In this respect, on a review of the mode of delivery between December 2019 and April 2020, Debrabandere et al [59] also concluded that COVID-19 status alone became a common indication for cesarean delivery early in the pandemic, based on an attempt of obstetricians to serve their patients in the safest way possible given the climate of constantly evolving guidelines. As the literature expanded with no evidence for the intrauterine vertical transmission of COVID-19 from infected pregnant mothers to their fetuses [26,60], studies suggesting that vaginal delivery was associated with a low risk of intrapartum SARS-CoV-2 transmission to the newborn were also published [61]. A review article published in June 2020 concluded that neither vaginal delivery nor cesarean section conferred additional risks, and there was minimal risk of vertical transmission to the neonate from either mode of delivery [62]. In conclusion, as some clinical guidelines originally recommended, currently, the delivery mode should be decided based on contemplating the obstetric conditions, considering a cesarean delivery because of COVID-19 only if the mother has severe illness.

The precocity and efficacy of the vaccines developed against COVID-19 has been the most significant advance against the pandemic. Data from vaccinated pregnant people and small prospective cohort studies have not shown harmful effects, and have demonstrated a maternal immune response and transfer of maternal antibodies across the placenta and into breastmilk to confer passive immunity against SARS-CoV-2 in newborns after maternal vaccination with mRNA vaccines [63-65]. Based on these increasingly reassuring data regarding the safety and efficacy of COVID-19 vaccines during pregnancy, as well as data that pregnancy itself is associated with an increased risk of severe infection, currently, all pregnant women are recommended to undergo COVID-19 vaccination [66].

The development of vaccines has not prevented the constant search for therapeutic medicines, both among existing drugs with different indications and in the development of new drugs. Several antiviral agents are being used and evaluated for the treatment of COVID-19. Remdesivir, molnupiravir, and a combination of PF-07321332 (nirmatelvir) and ritonavir (marketed under the name Paxlovid) are three antivirals with different mechanisms of action that have demonstrated efficacy

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e29189

XSL•FO

in clinical trials in terms of different markers of disease progression [67]. Remdesivir has been used without reported fetal toxicity in some pregnant people with Ebola and Marburg virus disease [68], and is being used to treat pregnant patients with severe COVID-19 [69], although almost all randomized trials of the drug have excluded pregnant and breastfeeding people. To date, dexamethasone is the only proven and recommended experimental treatment for pregnant patients with COVID-19 who are mechanically ventilated or who require supplemental oxygen. Although hydroxychloroquine and lopinavir/ritonavir may be used during pregnancy and lactation within the context of clinical trials, data from nonpregnant populations have not shown a benefit [10]. In any case, for most of these drugs, studies on efficacy, safety, and tolerance in pregnant women are limited.

The number of citation network studies has been increasing, as this is a very accessible and intuitive method of analysis, which provides a global overview of the different fields of study within a specific topic. The COVID-19 pandemic context has led to an abundance of publications quickly since the beginning of the outbreak. From late 2020 through 2021, thousands of scientific papers have appeared on COVID-19. In early 2020, studies about the scientific literature on COVID-19 and bibliometric analyses were published to summarize the research hotspots and compile a review to provide a reference for researchers. From disease inception to March 1, 2020, the first corresponding authors of the publications were from 20 different countries and the papers were published in 80 different journals. Lou et al [14] performed a search in PubMed using the keyword "COVID-19," and identified and analyzed the data, including title, corresponding author, language, publication time, publication type, and research focus. Their results showed that China provided a large number of research data for various research fields during the outbreak of COVID-19, and most of the findings played an important role in preventing and controlling the epidemic around the world, which is expected since the pandemic began in China, as mentioned above. A bibliometric analysis of publications in five high-impact journals indexed to the SCI-EXPANDED database was also published [15]. By June, The Lancet was the journal with the highest number of contributions, and China, the United States, and the United Kingdom were the most represented countries [15,16]. Consistently, these countries were also identified to have the highest number of publications on COVID-19 and pregnancy in our analysis. In a textual analysis of 5780 publications extracted from the Web of Science, Medline, and Scopus databases, the most common topics found were guidelines for emergency care and surgery, viral pathogenesis, and global responses in the COVID-19 pandemic [16]. In Italy, a systematic review and bibliometric analysis of the scientific literature on the early phase of COVID-19 was performed, but with limited international impact [17]. Most articles focused on the hospital and clinical management of COVID-19.

Furthermore, citation networks were used to investigate the strategic themes, thematic evolution structure, and trends of coronavirus during the first 8 months of COVID-19 in the Web of Science database in 2020 [18]. The thematic evolution

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e29189

structure showed that the themes were evolving over time. The results of the strategic diagram highlighted "chloroquine," "anxiety," "pregnancy," and "acute respiratory syndrome," among others, as the clusters with the highest number of associated citations. Citation network analysis has also been used on the subject of pediatrics, identifying publication trends and topic dissemination, and showing the relevance of publishing authors, institutions, and countries [19]. The studies were published in 969 different journals, headed by The Lancet, and the authors were from 114 different countries with the most productive countries being the United States, China, and Italy. Pediatric research about COVID-19 has mainly focused on the clinical features, public health issues, and psychological impact of the disease. This is one of the few publications that has performed a bibliometrics analysis on COVID-19 and a specific health care area. Most recently, the interdisciplinary status of coronavirus-related fields was investigated via CORD-19. To this end, bibliometric indicators of interdisciplinarity were calculated and a cooccurrence analysis method was applied [20]. The disciplinary diversity of COVID-19-related papers published from January to December 2020 showed an upward trend. This reflects that COVID-19 has had a major impact not only on health but also on economics, politics, and the environment. Therefore, coronavirus-related issues are more complicated and difficult to adequately address by relying on a single field.

Moreover, CitNetExplorer software allows for the analysis of all existing studies on a particular topic, enabling much more in-depth studies to be performed. This might change the way in which research is performed in the different fields of study.

Conclusions

This study offers a specific and objective analysis of the main articles published on COVID-19 and SARS-CoV-2 during pregnancy. In addition, it was possible to visualize, analyze, and explore the most cited articles and citation networks existing to date using the Web of Science and CitNetExplorer databases.

In light of above, we can conclude that articles that make up the bibliographic reference for knowledge about COVID-19 and pregnancy at this point lack some qualities such as unification of diagnostic criteria, a high number of patients, and comparisons with control groups. Furthermore, the possibility of using specific alternatives for pregnancy, such as lung ultrasound for diagnosis, is not widely described.

Consequently, COVID-19 is a relevant field for researchers, with the number of publications continuously on the rise. Owing to the accumulation of scientific knowledge, we have been able to understand the clinical features during pregnancy and the effect on perinatal outcomes. Recent studies have also provided data regarding the safety and efficacy of COVID-19 vaccines during pregnancy. With respect to drugs for treatment of the disease, studies on efficacy, safety, and tolerance in pregnant women are limited. These results could form the basis for further research and guide decision-making in COVID-19 research and treatments. Future bibliometric and scientometric studies on COVID-19 should provide updated information to analyze other relevant indicators in this field.

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge the financial support of Journal of Medical Internet Research and the opportunity provided to a young research group. We would also like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Additional data. [DOCX File, 898 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e29189_app1.docx]

References

- Liu Y, Kuo R, Shih S. COVID-19: The first documented coronavirus pandemic in history. Biomed J 2020 Aug;43(4):328-333 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.bj.2020.04.007] [Medline: 32387617]
- 2. Weekly epidemiological update on COVID-19 14 December 2021. World Health Organization. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/weekly-epidemiological-update-on-covid-19---14-december-2021</u> [accessed 2021-12-20]
- 3. Wang J, Du G. COVID-19 may transmit through aerosol. Ir J Med Sci 2020 Nov 24;189(4):1143-1144 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11845-020-02218-2] [Medline: 32212099]
- Izhar R, Husain S, Tahir MA, Husain S, Hussain S. Pregnant during the COVID-19 pandemic: Knowledge, concerns, attitudes and practices of Pakistani women. Eur J Midwifery 2021;5:54 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.18332/ejm/142818] [Medline: 34888498]
- 5. Report of the WHO-China Joint Mission on Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). World Health Organization. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/who-china-joint-mission-on-covid-19-final-report.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-01-11]
- Karimi-Zarchi M, Neamatzadeh H, Dastgheib SA, Abbasi H, Mirjalili SR, Behforouz A, et al. Vertical transmission of Coronavirus Disease 19 (COVID-19) from infected pregnant mothers to neonates: a review. Fetal Pediatr Pathol 2020 Jun;39(3):246-250 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/15513815.2020.1747120] [Medline: 32238084]
- Chen S, Huang B, Luo DJ, Li X, Yang F, Zhao Y, et al. Pregnancy with new coronavirus infection: clinical characteristics and placental pathological analysis of three cases. Zhonghua Bing Li Xue Za Zhi 2020 May 08;49(5):418-423. [doi: 10.3760/cma.j.cn112151-20200225-00138] [Medline: 32114744]
- 8. Thapa SB, Mainali A, Schwank SE, Acharya G. Maternal mental health in the time of the COVID-19 pandemic. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2020 Jul 17;99(7):817-818. [doi: 10.1111/aogs.13894] [Medline: 32374420]
- Abdoli A, Falahi S, Kenarkoohi A, Shams M, Mir H, Jahromi MAM. The COVID-19 pandemic, psychological stress during pregnancy, and risk of neurodevelopmental disorders in offspring: a neglected consequence. J Psychosom Obstet Gynaecol 2020 Sep;41(3):247-248. [doi: 10.1080/0167482X.2020.1761321] [Medline: 32380881]
- 10. D'Souza R, Ashraf R, Rowe H, Zipursky J, Clarfield L, Maxwell C, et al. Pregnancy and COVID-19: pharmacologic considerations. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2021 Feb;57(2):195-203. [doi: <u>10.1002/uog.23116</u>] [Medline: <u>32959455</u>]
- 11. Leydesdorff L. Can scientific journals be classified in terms of aggregated journal-journal citation relations using the Journal Citation Reports? J Am Soc Inf Sci 2006 Mar;57(5):601-613. [doi: <u>10.1002/asi.20322</u>]
- 12. González CM. Análisis de citación y de redes sociales para el estudio del uso de revistas en centros de investigación: an approach to the development of collections. Ci Inf 2009 Aug;38(2):46-55. [doi: 10.1590/s0100-19652009000200004]
- van Eck NJ, Waltman L. CitNetExplorer: A new software tool for analyzing and visualizing citation networks. J Informetr 2014 Oct;8(4):802-823. [doi: 10.1016/j.joi.2014.07.006]
- Lou J, Tian S, Niu S, Kang X, Lian H, Zhang L, et al. Coronavirus disease 2019: a bibliometric analysis and review. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2020 Mar;24(6):3411-3421 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.26355/eurrev_202003_20712</u>] [Medline: <u>32271460</u>]
- 15. López-López W, Salas G, Vega-Arce M, Cornejo-Araya CA, Barboza-Palomino M, Ho Y. Publications on COVID-19 in high impact factor journals: a bibliometric analysis. Univ Psychol 2020 Jul 16;19:1-12. [doi: <u>10.11144/Javeriana.upsy19.pchi</u>]
- Tran BX, Ha GH, Nguyen LH, Vu GT, Hoang MT, Le HT, et al. Studies of novel coronavirus disease 19 (COVID-19) pandemic: a global analysis of literature. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Jun 08;17(11):4095 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17114095] [Medline: 32521776]
- Turatto F, Mazzalai E, Pagano F, Migliara G, Villari P, De Vito C. A systematic review and bibliometric analysis of the scientific literature on the early phase of COVID-19 in Italy. Front Public Health 2021;9:6666669. [doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.6666669] [Medline: 34239853]

- Furstenau LB, Rabaioli B, Sott MK, Cossul D, Bender MS, Farina EMJDM, et al. A bibliometric network analysis of coronavirus during the first eight months of COVID-19 in 2020. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Jan 22;18(3):952 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph18030952] [Medline: 33499127]
- Monzani A, Tagliaferri F, Bellone S, Genoni G, Rabbone I. A global overview of COVID-19 research in the pediatric field: bibliometric review. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2021 Jul 23;4(3):e24791 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24791] [Medline: 34081597]
- 20. Zhao Y, Liu L, Zhang C. Is coronavirus-related research becoming more interdisciplinary? A perspective of co-occurrence analysis and diversity measure of scientific articles. Technol Forecast Soc Change 2022 Feb;175:121344 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.techfore.2021.121344] [Medline: 34782813]
- 21. van Eck NJ, Waltman L. Software survey: VOSviewer, a computer program for bibliometric mapping. Scientometrics 2010 Aug 31;84(2):523-538 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11192-009-0146-3] [Medline: 20585380]
- 22. van Eck NJ, Waltman L. Citation-based clustering of publications using CitNetExplorer and VOSviewer. Scientometrics 2017 Feb 27;111(2):1053-1070 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11192-017-2300-7] [Medline: 28490825]
- 23. Chen C. CiteSpace II: detecting and visualizing emerging trends and transient patterns in scientific literature. J Am Soc Inf Sci 2006 Feb 01;57(3):359-377. [doi: 10.1002/asi.20317]
- 24. de Solla Price DJ. Little science, big science. New York, NY: Columbia University Press; 1963.
- 25. Hirsch JE. An index to quantify an individual's scientific research output. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2005 Nov 15;102(46):16569-16572 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1073/pnas.0507655102] [Medline: 16275915]
- Chen H, Guo J, Wang C, Luo F, Yu X, Zhang W, et al. Clinical characteristics and intrauterine vertical transmission potential of COVID-19 infection in nine pregnant women: a retrospective review of medical records. Lancet 2020 Mar 07;395(10226):809-815 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30360-3] [Medline: 32151335]
- Rasmussen SA, Smulian JC, Lednicky JA, Wen TS, Jamieson DJ. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) and pregnancy: what obstetricians need to know. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2020 May;222(5):415-426 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2020.02.017] [Medline: 32105680]
- Schwartz DA, Graham AL. Potential maternal and infant outcomes from (Wuhan) Coronavirus 2019-nCoV infecting pregnant women: lessons from SARS, MERS, and other human coronavirus infections. Viruses 2020 Feb 10;12(2):194 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/v12020194] [Medline: 32050635]
- Breslin N, Baptiste C, Gyamfi-Bannerman C, Miller R, Martinez R, Bernstein K, et al. Coronavirus disease 2019 infection among asymptomatic and symptomatic pregnant women: two weeks of confirmed presentations to an affiliated pair of New York City hospitals. Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM 2020 May;2(2):100118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajogmf.2020.100118] [Medline: 32292903]
- 30. Yu N, Li W, Kang Q, Xiong Z, Wang S, Lin X, et al. Clinical features and obstetric and neonatal outcomes of pregnant patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective, single-centre, descriptive study. Lancet Infect Dis 2020 May;20(5):559-564 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30176-6] [Medline: 32220284]
- Schwartz DA. An analysis of 38 pregnant women with COVID-19, their newborn infants, and maternal-fetal transmission of SARS-CoV-2: maternal coronavirus infections and pregnancy outcomes. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2020 Jul 01;144(7):799-805 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5858/arpa.2020-0901-SA] [Medline: 32180426]
- Dashraath P, Wong JLJ, Lim MXK, Lim LM, Li S, Biswas A, et al. Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic and pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2020 Jun;222(6):521-531 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2020.03.021] [Medline: 32217113]
- 33. Zaigham M, Andersson O. Maternal and perinatal outcomes with COVID-19: A systematic review of 108 pregnancies. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2020 Jul 20;99(7):823-829. [doi: <u>10.1111/aogs.13867</u>] [Medline: <u>32259279</u>]
- Di Mascio D, Khalil A, Saccone G, Rizzo G, Buca D, Liberati M, et al. Outcome of coronavirus spectrum infections (SARS, MERS, COVID-19) during pregnancy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM 2020 May;2(2):100107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajogmf.2020.100107] [Medline: 32292902]
- 35. Mullins E, Evans D, Viner RM, O'Brien P, Morris E. Coronavirus in pregnancy and delivery: rapid review. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2020 May;55(5):586-592. [doi: <u>10.1002/uog.22014</u>] [Medline: <u>32180292</u>]
- 36. Yan J, Guo J, Fan C, Juan J, Yu X, Li J, et al. Coronavirus disease 2019 in pregnant women: a report based on 116 cases. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2020 Jul;223(1):111.e1-111.e14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2020.04.014] [Medline: 32335053]
- Alzamora MC, Paredes T, Caceres D, Webb CM, Valdez LM, La Rosa M. Severe COVID-19 during pregnancy and possible vertical transmission. Am J Perinatol 2020 Jun 18;37(8):861-865 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1710050] [Medline: 32305046]
- Wang S, Guo L, Chen L, Liu W, Cao Y, Zhang J, et al. A case report of neonatal 2019 coronavirus disease in China. Clin Infect Dis 2020 Jul 28;71(15):853-857 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa225] [Medline: 32161941]
- 39. Qiao J. What are the risks of COVID-19 infection in pregnant women? Lancet 2020 Mar 07;395(10226):760-762 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30365-2] [Medline: 32151334]
- 40. Wang X, Zhou Z, Zhang J, Zhu F, Tang Y, Shen X. A case of 2019 novel coronavirus in a pregnant woman with preterm delivery. Clin Infect Dis 2020 Jul 28;71(15):844-846 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/cid/ciaa200] [Medline: 32119083]

- Knight M, Bunch K, Vousden N, Morris E, Simpson N, Gale C, UK Obstetric Surveillance System SARS-CoV-2 Infection in Pregnancy Collaborative Group. Characteristics and outcomes of pregnant women admitted to hospital with confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection in UK: national population based cohort study. BMJ 2020 Jun 08;369:m2107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.m2107] [Medline: 32513659]
- 42. Hantoushzadeh S, Shamshirsaz AA, Aleyasin A, Seferovic MD, Aski SK, Arian SE, et al. Maternal death due to COVID-19. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2020 Jul;223(1):109.e1-109.e16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2020.04.030] [Medline: 32360108]
- 43. Baud D, Greub G, Favre G, Gengler C, Jaton K, Dubruc E, et al. Second-trimester miscarriage in a pregnant woman with SARS-CoV-2 infection. JAMA 2020 Jun 02;323(21):2198-2200 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.7233] [Medline: 32352491]
- 44. Liang H, Acharya G. Novel corona virus disease (COVID-19) in pregnancy: what clinical recommendations to follow? Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2020 Apr;99(4):439-442. [doi: 10.1111/aogs.13836] [Medline: 32141062]
- 45. Ellington S, Strid P, Tong VT, Woodworth K, Galang RR, Zambrano LD, et al. Characteristics of women of reproductive age with laboratory-confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection by pregnancy status United States, January 22-June 7, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020 Jun 26;69(25):769-775. [doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6925a1] [Medline: 32584795]
- 46. Della Gatta AN, Rizzo R, Pilu G, Simonazzi G. Coronavirus disease 2019 during pregnancy: a systematic review of reported cases. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2020 Jul;223(1):36-41 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2020.04.013] [Medline: 32311350]
- Corbett GA, Milne SJ, Hehir MP, Lindow SW, O'connell MP. Health anxiety and behavioural changes of pregnant women during the COVID-19 pandemic. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2020 Jun;249:96-97 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2020.04.022] [Medline: 32317197]
- 48. Ferrazzi E, Frigerio L, Savasi V, Vergani P, Prefumo F, Barresi S, et al. Vaginal delivery in SARS-CoV-2-infected pregnant women in Northern Italy: a retrospective analysis. BJOG Int J Obstet Gy 2020 Aug 28;127(9):1116-1121 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.16278] [Medline: 32339382]
- Li M, Chen L, Zhang J, Xiong C, Li X. The SARS-CoV-2 receptor ACE2 expression of maternal-fetal interface and fetal organs by single-cell transcriptome study. PLoS One 2020 Apr 16;15(4):e0230295 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0230295] [Medline: <u>32298273</u>]
- Martinez-Perez C, Alvarez-Peregrina C, Villa-Collar C, Sánchez-Tena M. Citation network analysis of the novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Oct 21;17(20):7690 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17207690] [Medline: 33096796]
- 51. Lee M, Wu Y, Tsai C. Research trends in science education from 2003 to 2007: a content analysis of publications in selected journals. Int J Sci Educ 2009 Sep 11;31(15):1999-2020. [doi: <u>10.1080/09500690802314876</u>]
- Liu D, Li L, Wu X, Zheng D, Wang J, Yang L, et al. Pregnancy and perinatal outcomes of women with coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pneumonia: a preliminary analysis. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2020 Jul;215(1):127-132. [doi: 10.2214/AJR.20.23072] [Medline: 32186894]
- Moro F, Buonsenso D, Moruzzi MC, Inchingolo R, Smargiassi A, Demi L, et al. How to perform lung ultrasound in pregnant women with suspected COVID-19. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2020 May;55(5):593-598. [doi: <u>10.1002/uog.22028</u>] [Medline: <u>32207208</u>]
- Buonsenso D, Raffaelli F, Tamburrini E, Biasucci DG, Salvi S, Smargiassi A, et al. Clinical role of lung ultrasound for diagnosis and monitoring of COVID-19 pneumonia in pregnant women. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2020 Jul;56(1):106-109. [doi: <u>10.1002/uog.22055</u>] [Medline: <u>32337795</u>]
- 55. Farrell T, Reagu S, Mohan S, Elmidany R, Qaddoura F, Ahmed EE, et al. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the perinatal mental health of women. J Perinat Med 2020 Nov 26;48(9):971-976. [doi: 10.1515/jpm-2020-0415] [Medline: 32975206]
- 56. Salehi L, Rahimzadeh M, Molaei E, Zaheri H, Esmaelzadeh-Saeieh S. The relationship among fear and anxiety of COVID-19, pregnancy experience, and mental health disorder in pregnant women: A structural equation model. Brain Behav 2020 Nov;10(11):e01835. [doi: 10.1002/brb3.1835] [Medline: 32969190]
- 57. Moyer CA, Compton SD, Kaselitz E, Muzik M. Pregnancy-related anxiety during COVID-19: a nationwide survey of 2740 pregnant women. Arch Womens Ment Health 2020 Dec;23(6):757-765 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00737-020-01073-5] [Medline: 32989598]
- Hessami K, Romanelli C, Chiurazzi M, Cozzolino M. COVID-19 pandemic and maternal mental health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2020 Nov 01:1-8. [doi: <u>10.1080/14767058.2020.1843155</u>] [Medline: <u>33135523</u>]
- 59. Debrabandere ML, Farabaugh DC, Giordano C. A review on mode of delivery during COVID-19 between December 2019 and April 2020. Am J Perinatol 2021 Mar;38(4):332-341. [doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1721658] [Medline: 33285608]
- Karimi-Zarchi M, Neamatzadeh H, Dastgheib SA, Abbasi H, Mirjalili SR, Behforouz A, et al. Vertical transmission of coronavirus disease 19 (COVID-19) from infected pregnant mothers to neonates: a review. Fetal Pediatr Pathol 2020 Jun;39(3):246-250 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1080/15513815.2020.1747120] [Medline: 32238084]

- 61. Ferrazzi E, Frigerio L, Savasi V, Vergani P, Prefumo F, Barresi S, et al. Vaginal delivery in SARS-CoV-2-infected pregnant women in Northern Italy: a retrospective analysis. BJOG Int J Obstet Gyn 2020 Aug 28;127(9):1116-1121 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.16278] [Medline: 32339382]
- 62. Ryan GA, Purandare NC, McAuliffe FM, Hod M, Purandare CN. Clinical update on COVID-19 in pregnancy: a review article. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2020 Aug;46(8):1235-1245 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/jog.14321] [Medline: 32500549]
- 63. Fu W, Sivajohan B, McClymont E, Albert A, Elwood C, Ogilvie G, et al. Systematic review of the safety, immunogenicity, and effectiveness of COVID-19 vaccines in pregnant and lactating individuals and their infants. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2022 Mar;156(3):406-417. [doi: 10.1002/ijgo.14008] [Medline: 34735722]
- 64. Nir O, Schwartz A, Toussia-Cohen S, Leibovitch L, Strauss T, Asraf K, et al. Maternal-neonatal transfer of SARS-CoV-2 immunoglobulin G antibodies among parturient women treated with BNT162b2 messenger RNA vaccine during pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM 2022 Jan;4(1):100492 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajogmf.2021.100492] [Medline: 34547533]
- Zauche LH, Wallace B, Smoots AN, Olson CK, Oduyebo T, Kim SY, CDC v-safe Covid-19 Pregnancy Registry Team. Receipt of mRNA Covid-19 vaccines and risk of spontaneous abortion. N Engl J Med 2021 Oct 14;385(16):1533-1535 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMc2113891] [Medline: 34496196]
- 66. Interim clinical considerations for use of COVID-19 vaccines currently approved or authorized in the United States. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2021. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/ycksvxzb</u> [accessed 2021-12-20]
- García-Lledó A, Gómez-Pavón J, González Del Castillo J, Hernández-Sampelayo T, Martín-Delgado MC, Martín Sánchez FJ, et al. Pharmacological treatment of COVID-19: an opinion paper. Rev Esp Quimioter 2021 Dec 11:bouza11dec2021 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.37201/req/158.2021] [Medline: 34894208]
- Mulangu S, Dodd LE, Davey RT, Tshiani Mbaya O, Proschan M, Mukadi D, the PALM Writing Group. A randomized, controlled trial of Ebola virus disease therapeutics. N Engl J Med 2019 Dec 12;381(24):2293-2303. [doi: 10.1056/nejmoa1910993]
- 69. Jorgensen SCJ, Davis MR, Lapinsky SE. A review of remdesivir for COVID-19 in pregnancy and lactation. J Antimicrob Chemother 2021 Dec 24;77(1):24-30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jac/dkab311] [Medline: 34427297]

Abbreviations

CitNetExplorer: Citation Network Explorer CORD-19: COVID-19 Open Research Dataset CT: computed tomography MERS: Middle Eastern respiratory syndrome SARS: severe acute respiratory syndrome SCI-EXPANDED: Web of Science Core Collection's Science Citation Index Expanded database

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 29.03.21; peer-reviewed by V Guardabasso, Q Chen, J Yang; comments to author 02.12.21; revised version received 22.12.21; accepted 03.01.22; published 03.03.22.

Please cite as:

Ruiz-Roman R, Martinez-Perez C, Gil Prados I, Cristóbal I, Sánchez-Tena MÁ COVID-19 and Pregnancy: Citation Network Analysis and Evidence Synthesis JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e29189 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e29189</u> doi:10.2196/29189 PMID:<u>35044301</u>

©Rebeca Ruiz-Roman, Clara Martinez-Perez, Inés Gil Prados, Ignacio Cristóbal, Miguel Ángel Sánchez-Tena. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 03.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Using a Patient Portal to Increase Enrollment in a Newborn Screening Research Study: Observational Study

Lisa M Gehtland¹, MD; Ryan S Paquin¹, PhD; Sara M Andrews¹, MA, MPH; Adam M Lee², MBA; Angela Gwaltney¹, MSW, PhD; Martin Duparc¹, AA; Emily R Pfaff², MS, PhD; Donald B Bailey Jr¹, PhD

¹RTI International, Research Triangle Park, NC, United States

²Department of Medicine, University of North Carolina Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, United States

Corresponding Author: Lisa M Gehtland, MD RTI International 3040 E. Cornwallis Road Research Triangle Park, NC, 27709 United States Phone: 1 919 541 8054 Email: <u>lgehtland@rti.org</u>

Abstract

Background: Many research studies fail to enroll enough research participants. Patient-facing electronic health record applications, known as patient portals, may be used to send research invitations to eligible patients.

Objective: The first aim was to determine if receipt of a patient portal research recruitment invitation was associated with enrollment in a large ongoing study of newborns (Early Check). The second aim was to determine if there were differences in opening the patient portal research recruitment invitation and study enrollment by race and ethnicity, age, or rural/urban home address.

Methods: We used a computable phenotype and queried the health care system's clinical data warehouse to identify women whose newborns would likely be eligible. Research recruitment invitations were sent through the women's patient portals. We conducted logistic regressions to test whether women enrolled their newborns after receipt of a patient portal invitation and whether there were differences by race and ethnicity, age, and rural/urban home address.

Results: Research recruitment invitations were sent to 4510 women not yet enrolled through their patient portals between November 22, 2019, through March 5, 2020. Among women who received a patient portal invitation, 3.6% (161/4510) enrolled their newborns within 27 days. The odds of enrolling among women who opened the invitation was nearly 9 times the odds of enrolling among women who did not open their invitation (SE 3.24, OR 8.86, 95% CI 4.33-18.13; *P*<.001). On average, it took 3.92 days for women to enroll their newborn in the study, with 64% (97/161) enrolling their newborn within 1 day of opening the invitation. There were disparities by race and urbanicity in enrollment in the study after receipt of a patient portal research invitation but not by age. Black women were less likely to enroll their newborns than White women (SE 0.09, OR 0.29, 95% CI 0.16-0.55; *P*<.001), and women in urban zip codes were more likely to enroll their newborns than women in rural zip codes (SE 0.97, OR 3.03, 95% CI 1.62-5.67; *P*=.001). Black women (SE 0.05, OR 0.67, 95% CI 0.57-0.78; *P*<.001) and Hispanic women (SE 0.07, OR 0.73, 95% CI 0.60-0.89; *P*=.002) were less likely to open the research invitation compared to White women.

Conclusions: Patient portals are an effective way to recruit participants for research studies, but there are substantial racial and ethnic disparities and disparities by urban/rural status in the use of patient portals, the opening of a patient portal invitation, and enrollment in the study.

Trial Registration: ClinicalTrials.gov NCT03655223; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03655223

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e30941) doi:10.2196/30941

KEYWORDS

RenderX

electronic health records; patient portals; patient selection; research subject recruitment; race factors; racial disparities
Introduction

Advent of Patient Portals and Their Use in Research Recruitment

Failure to recruit a sufficient number of participants is a common barrier to the successful and timely completion of research studies [1]. Insufficient accrual of participants may require additional resources to achieve target enrollment, and failure to meet enrollment goals may result in underpowered studies [2,3].

Electronic patient portals are web-based applications owned and administered by health care institutions that allow patients to access their electronic health records (EHRs). In the past two decades, a growing number of patients have used this technology to manage their health care and communicate with their providers [4-6]. Estimates of patient portal use vary by study, subpopulation, and measured outcome, but reports range from 25.8% to 84.1%, and longitudinal analyses indicate that utilization rates are growing [7-16]. In a national US sample, Turner et al [17] found that 24.9% of participants reported using at least one patient portal tool in 2017, compared to only 12.6% in 2011. As adoption becomes widely accepted, researchers have recognized the opportunity to use EHR data to identify eligible research cohorts and send recruitment invitations to potential participants via the patient portal [18,19]. Direct messaging through patient portals enables a study to efficiently contact eligible patients and facilitates low-touch, low-cost outreach to large numbers of patients, an approach that is particularly advantageous for studies with large target sample sizes. In addition, once a system of electronic recruitment is established, the process of identification, prescreening, and outreach can be automated and repeated.

Studies using patient portal research invitations for recruitment report a wide range of study enrollment rates, with 1.8% to 24.7% of those who received an invitation consenting to participate [20-27]. A summary of 14 studies that sent research recruitment invitations through the patient portal at a single medical center found that condition-specific studies had higher response and enrollment rates compared to general health studies [23]. The ADAPTABLE (Aspirin Dosing: A Patient-Centric Trial Assessing Benefits and Long Term Effectiveness) study, a pragmatic trial with a recruitment target of 15,000 participants, reported enrollment rates from four different modes of outreach: patient portal, email, mailed letter, and in-person communication with the research coordinator. Although in-person recruitment had the highest enrollment rates of all the modes, patient portal, and email outreach yielded the most overall study enrollment because they allowed the study team to approach many more potential participants than did the other modes [24]. A recent study comparing in-person, email, and patient portal recruitment of adults from primary care and bariatric clinics also found that electronic forms of outreach resulted in the most overall study participants in spite of lower recruitment efficiency compared to in-person recruitment [27].

Despite the advantages of using patient portals to recruit for research, they remain primarily clinical tools, and using them to send research invitations may run the risk of decreasing patients' trust in the health care system or utilization of the

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30941
```

XSL•FO

platform for clinical purposes. However, there is some evidence that patients find recruitment through patient portals acceptable. Plante et al [25] reported only 2 complaints and 1 request to unsubscribe from future messages in a study that sent 6896 invitations, and Gleason et al [28] noted that most patients reported research recruitment to be an acceptable use of patient portals in a satisfaction survey from a study that sent 1303 invitations. Patients who find patient portal recruitment to be unacceptable, however, may not open a message, send a complaint, or complete a satisfaction survey. Thus an in-depth understanding of factors influencing acceptability of patient portal recruitment remains to be determined.

Demographic disparities between patient portal users and nonusers present a major barrier to the recruitment of a representative study sample. Studies have shown that patient portal nonusers are more likely to be racial/ethnic minorities, older, male, low socioeconomic status, low health literacy, and live in a rural area [8,23,29-31]. Patient portal recruitment may, however, decrease study population disparities that result from certain demographic groups being approached for research participation less frequently in clinic settings [32,33]. There is some evidence that clinicians as gatekeepers may contribute to the under-representation of certain populations, particularly among patients with minority backgrounds [33]. Mass electronic invitations may be a universal recruitment outreach approach reflective of demographic variation. Some studies have recommended that patient portal recruitment be one part of a comprehensive outreach approach, including approaches that specifically target traditionally under-represented groups [34].

Early Check: A Research Study Piloting the use of a Patient Portal to Recruit Pregnant Women

In this article, we describe our use of invitations sent through the Epic EHR and patient portal (MyChart) within UNC Health (UNCH). At UNCH, the patient portal is branded my UNC Chart. We used my UNC Chart to recruit for Early Check, a research study offering screening to all newborns in the state of North Carolina for a panel of genetic conditions. With a target recruitment rate of over 10,000 newborns per year, an online consent process that does not require contact with a research coordinator, and broad eligibility criteria, Early Check is a study for which recruitment messaging through patient portals is a good fit. Additionally, the target populations for recruitment outreach are pregnant women and mothers of newborns; this group is relatively younger and female, both groups which have been shown to be more likely to open a patient portal account and use patient portals to manage their health [15]. Two recent studies reported a rate of patient portal utilization between 34% and 72% of pregnant patients [21,35]. One study recruited pregnant women to a research study through a patient portal and found 34% of pregnant patients used their patient portal, and when invited to their study, 11% consented and completed their questionnaire [21].

Since Early Check began recruitment in October 2018, the primary outreach method has been personalized direct mail letters and emails on letterhead from the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services, a study partner, sent postnatally to all women with a listed mailing or email

address in the North Carolina newborn screening records. A social media outreach campaign was piloted from March to September 2019. We resumed social media advertising on Facebook and Instagram on April 1, 2020. An evaluation of the direct mail outreach impact on study enrollment showed that approximately 4% of all women who were sent a recruitment letter enrolled their newborn in the study, and the enrollment rate among women who also received a recruitment email was approximately 5% [36]. An analysis of the social media campaign from March 2019 to September 2019 showed that paid ads on social media resulted in 3.5 additional daily enrollments in the study for each day ads were run [37]. To further increase outreach to eligible participants, we used *my* UNC *Chart* to send recruitment invitations to pregnant women whose newborns would be eligible for Early Check.

Objective

In this article, we describe the use of a patient portal to recruit research participants for Early Check and report on characteristics of mothers who received and opened a research recruitment message and enrolled their newborns in the study. We addressed two research questions:

- 1. Is receipt of a research invitation through *my* UNC *Chart* patient portal associated with enrollment in the Early Check research study within 27 days after receipt of the invitation?
- 2. Is there a difference in opening a research invitation or enrollment in Early Check by a mother's race/ethnicity, age, or rural/urban home address location?

To address these questions, we examined data on 4510 UNCH patients who were invited to participate in Early Check through *my* UNC *Chart* between November 22, 2019, and March 5, 2020.

Methods

Early Check Research Study

A collaboration between RTI International, the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Wake Forest School of Medicine, Duke University, and the North Carolina State Laboratory of Public Health, Early Check is a large research study offering screening for a panel of conditions to all newborns in the state of North Carolina [38]. The panel includes fragile X syndrome (October 2018-current), spinal muscular atrophy (October 2018-March 2021), and Duchenne and related muscular dystrophies (November 2020-current). Newborns are eligible if they have a newborn screening in North Carolina and live in North Carolina or South Carolina. Newborns may be enrolled in the study by their mother or legally authorized representative in the event the mother is unavailable, between the start of the mother's second trimester and when the newborn is one month old. During the phase of the study described herein, permission for the newborn to participate was completed entirely online without direct engagement with a research recruiter [39]. The Office of Human Research Ethics at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill serves as the central Institutional Review Board for Early Check (#18-0009), and they approved these activities.

Recruitment Using my UNC Chart Invitations

The process of identifying women within UNCH to be sent an invitation to participate in Early Check via my UNC Chart began with a computable phenotype, a data query that "use[s] EHR data exclusively to describe clinical characteristics, events, and service patterns for a specific patient population [40]." UNCH's enterprise data warehouse, the Carolina Data Warehouse for Health (CDWH), was queried using the computable phenotype to identify invitation recipients. UNCH's appointment discharge paperwork provides patients with a unique ID that can be used to activate their my UNC Chart account. Women were invited if they had ever activated their my UNC Chart account, regardless of how recently they had logged into the account. The primary criteria in the computable phenotype were: a) having an active pregnancy "episode of care," and b) being in the second or third trimester of pregnancy (ie, 13-42 weeks' gestation).

In Epic@UNC, a pregnancy Episode of Care groups all prenatal encounters and diagnoses for a pregnancy. A pregnancy Episode of Care can be generated at any time during the pregnancy, although ideally, it is generated at the time a pregnancy is first confirmed or at the time a pregnant woman transfers her care from another health care system. Pregnancy Episodes of Care are designed to automatically resolve after delivery, specifically after any of the following: a) 48 weeks with no linked encounter; b) 364 days after the episode creation date; c) 84 days after the estimated delivery date in the patient's medical record. An Episode of Care may also be manually resolved after the baby is born. Pregnancy Episodes of Care are not designed to resolve automatically when a woman loses her pregnancy; the Episode of Care must be manually resolved (eg, closed out) in the case of pregnancy loss.

Since a cohort based on active pregnancy Episodes of Care may unintentionally include some women who have lost their pregnancy, women were excluded from receiving an invitation if their health record showed any of a series of International Classification of Diseases 10th revision or current procedural terminology codes associated with elective or spontaneous abortion within 10 months of the date that the CDWH was queried. Women were also excluded if they had indicated in their communication preferences that UNCH was not permitted to contact them through my UNC Chart. Women were only sent one invitation, so they were also excluded from the cohort if they had already been sent an invitation for the study during the same pregnancy Episode of Care. The computable phenotype with inclusionary and exclusionary codes and a figure showing the text of the research invitation can be found in the Multimedia Appendices 1 and 2.

Data

We consolidated data from four sources: (1) UNCH patient records with *my* UNC *Chart* invitation data; (2) ZIP code-level rural-urban commuting area (RUCA) approximation codes, from which we derived dichotomous urbanicity status; (3) newborn screening records gathered from the North Carolina State Laboratory of Public Health, to which Early Check mailing list data have been appended; and (4) enrollment information collected through the Early Check permission portal. After



cleaning and standardizing the data, we iteratively matched records from *my* UNC *Chart* to the newborn screening and Early Check permission portal datasets using several combinations of data fields appearing in two or more sources, including phone number, email address, name, date of birth, and street address (including ZIP codes). We visually inspected the combined data set after each pass to find and update mismatched records or duplicates. The final data set used in the analysis contained one record per patient with variables derived from all four sources.

The main analyses presented in this report focus on all 4510 women living in North Carolina or South Carolina who had not yet enrolled in Early Check and were sent invitations via my UNC Chart from November 22, 2019, through March 5, 2020. To standardize results from batches of invitations sent on different dates, we set a 27-day window for recruitment and enrollment outcomes starting from the date participants were sent a my UNC Chart invitation. We selected a 27-day window to avoid any overlap with a social media ad campaign for Early Check that began April 1, 2020. We also compiled aggregate data for women with patient records in the UNCH system who did not have an active my UNC Chart account but would have otherwise met the eligibility criteria for an invitation. We used this aggregate data to estimate the proportion of Early Check-eligible UNCH patients who were reachable through my UNC Chart and to examine whether there are differences by age, race and ethnicity, or urbanicity between women who received an invitation and those who did not.

Measures

Early Check Enrollment

We converted enrollment dates into a dichotomous variable indicating whether women granted permission for their babies to participate in Early Check within 27 days of being sent a *my* UNC *Chart* invitation, enrolled (1) or not enrolled (0). Among women who enrolled a child in the study within the 27-day timeframe, we also calculated the number of days it took them to enroll.

Opened my UNC Chart Invitation

Using the earliest date that women logged into their account to view the invitation, we derived a dichotomous variable recording whether women opened the invitation within 27 days of when it was sent, yes (1) or no (0). We also calculated the number of days it took women to open the invitation.

Contact Via Direct Mail and Email

Using variables recording the dates that postnatal Early Check outreach materials were sent, we created a set of dichotomous variables indicating whether each woman was sent a postnatal recruitment letter or email up to 27 days of being sent a *my* UNC *Chart* invitation (for each type of mailing, yes [1] or no [0]).

Age

We converted women's date of birth to age in years, anchoring it to the date when we sent the recipient a *my* UNC *Chart* invitation (ie, invitation date-date of birth/365.25). We then transformed this into a 5-level categorical variable: Under 20, 20 to 24, 25 to 29, 30 to 34, and \geq 35 years.

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30941
```

Race and Ethnicity

We used race and ethnicity data from the UNCH patient records and recoded these into a single variable that aligns with the race and ethnicity categories used in resident live birth reports published by the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services: non-Hispanic White alone, non-Hispanic Black alone, Hispanic, and non-Hispanic any other race or unknown [41].

Urbanicity

To measure urbanicity, we constructed a variable based on RUCA codes associated with the patient residential ZIP codes recorded in the my UNC Chart data. RUCA codes were developed by the US Department of Agriculture to classify Census tracts by population density, proximity to large urban centers, and daily commuting flows [42]. For this analysis, we used ZIP code RUCA approximation codes developed by the University of Washington and recoded these into a two-level urbanicity measure developed for the National Cancer Institute's Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results database [43,44]. Under this coding scheme, we collapsed RUCA codes associated with each ZIP code of residence into two categories indicating whether the location was urban area commuting focused (ie, urban) or not (ie, rural). ZIP codes with 1 of 10 RUCA codes (ie, 1.0, 1.1, 2.0, 2.1, 3.0, 4.1, 5.1, 7.1, 8.1, or 10.1) were classified as urban (1) and all other codes were classified as rural (0).

Statistical Analysis

We conducted logistic regressions to test for differences in whether women enrolled their newborns in the study or opened the my UNC Chart invitation by outreach methods, urbanicity, race and ethnicity, and age. The model estimating enrollment included whether women opened the invitation as a predictor variable; all other regressors were the same in both models. Cases with missing values on one or more regressors were excluded by listwise deletion in the logistic regression models. In addition to reporting model estimates, we also present the predicted probabilities for significant categorical variables, which represent the rates of enrollment and invitation-opening within levels of those variables while controlling for other regressors in the models. To examine potential differences by urbanicity, race and ethnicity, and age between women who were sent invitations through my UNC Chart and patients in the UNCH system who were otherwise eligible but did not have an active my UNC Chart account, we conducted χ^2 tests of independence. We followed up significant χ^2 tests involving independent variables with more than 2 categories using two-sample z tests for the difference of proportions. For these pairwise comparisons, we used a Bonferroni-adjusted alpha level of .0085. We conducted all analyses using Stata Statistical Software (version16.0; StataCorp).

Results

Sample Characteristics

In total, 12,036 patients within the UNCH system fit the computable phenotype that would have made them eligible to

receive an invitation from November 22, 2019, through March 5, 2020, but only 4510 out of 12,036 (37.5%) had an active my UNC Chart patient portal account. We compared the demographic characteristics of women to whom we sent a my UNC Chart invitation to those who did not receive an invitation because they did not have an active account. We found no significant differences by age (χ^2 [4, N=12,036]=3.51; P=.48) or urbanicity (χ^2 [2, N=12,036]=0.37; P=.54), but we did find differences by race/ethnicity (χ^2 [3, N = 12,036] = 180.99; P < .001, Cramér's V = 0.12). A greater percentage of non-Hispanic White patients (2527/5852, 43.2%) had an active my UNC Chart account compared to non-Hispanic Black patients (932/2738, 34.0%, z=8.05; P<.001), Hispanic patients (531/1,916, 27.7%, z=12.03; P<.001), or non-Hispanic patients of any other race (520/1530, 34.0%, z=6.50; P<.001). Hispanic patients were significantly less likely to have an active my UNC Chart account than patients in any of the other three race/ethnicity groups. The full contingency table comparing whether women had an active my UNC Chart account by race and ethnicity is shown in Table 1.

Characteristics of North Carolina or South Carolina residents who were sent an invitation to participate in Early Check from November 22, 2019, through March 5, 2020, are presented in Table 2. The sample excludes 18 patients who had already enrolled their newborns in Early Check before their my UNC Chart invitation was sent. Invitations were sent in five batches, with approximately half of the recipients (2466/4510, 54.7%) included in the first mailing on November 22, 2019. Two-thirds of all recipients (3054/4510, 67.7%) logged into their my UNC Chart accounts and opened the invitation within 27 days of when it was sent. Among women who opened the invitation, it took them 2.45 days (SD 4.83) on average to do so; however, the distribution is positively skewed, with 68.6% (2094/4510) opening it within 24 hours. Relatively few women (357/4510, 7.9%) were sent a postnatal recruitment letter or a personalized email (24/4510, 0.5%) within 27 days of being sent the my UNC Chart invitation. This observation is not unexpected, given that the computable phenotype was designed to target women with an active pregnancy as early as the 13th week of gestation.

Table 1. Cross-tabulation of having an active my UNC Chart account by race and ethnicity (N=12,036).^a

Active my UNC Chart account	Race/ethnicity, n(%)				
	White, n	Black	Hispanic	Other	Total
Yes	2527 (43.2)	932 (34.0 ^b)	531 (27.7 ^c)	520 (34.0 ^b)	4510 (37.5)
No	3325 (56.8)	1806 (66.0)	1385 (72.3)	1010 (66.0)	7526 (62.5)
Total	5852 (100.0)	2738 (100.0)	1916 (100.0)	1530 (100.0)	12,036 (100.0)

 $^{a}\chi^{2}(3,N=12036)=180.99$; P<.001, Cramér's V= 0.12

^{b, c}Percentages among participants with an active *my* UNC *Chartaccount* across race/ethnicity columns are significantly different at a Bonferroni-adjusted *P*<.009



Gehtland et al

Table 2. Characteristics of women who were sent a my UNC Chart invitation (N=4510).^a

Characteristic	Values, n (%) ^b	
Enrolled in Early Check within 27 days of my UNC Chart invitation ^c		
Yes	161 (3.6)	
No	4349 (96.4)	
Opened my UNC Chart invitation within 27 days		
Yes	3054 (67.7)	
No	1456 (32.3)	
Postnatal outreach methods sent within 27 days of my UNC Chart invitation		
Recruitment letter		
Sent letter	357 (7.9)	
No letter	4153 (92.1)	
Personalized email		
Sent email	24 (0.5)	
No email	4486 (99.5)	
Date invitation sent		
November 22, 2019	2466 (54.7)	
January 7, 2020	931 (20.6)	
January 29, 2020	423 (9.4)	
February 12, 2020	272 (6.0)	
March 5, 2020	418 (9.3)	
Age (years)		
Under 20	169 (3.7)	
20-24	791 (17.5)	
25-29	1224 (27.1)	
30-34	1386 (30.7)	
≥35	940 (20.8)	
Race/ethnicity		
White	2527 (56.0)	
Black	932 (20.7)	
Hispanic	531 (11.8)	
Other or unknown	520 (11.5)	
Urbanicity		
Urban	3615 (80.2)	
Rural	892 (19.8)	
Unknown	3 (0.1)	

^aAnalysis excludes 18 patients who were sent a my UNC Chart invitation after enrolling in Early Check.

^bPercentages may not sum to 100 due to rounding.

^cFor this analysis, we set a 27-day enrollment window from the date the *my* UNC *Chart* invitations were sent to normalize results from batches of invitations sent on different dates.

Early Check Enrollment

In all, 3.6% (161/4510) of women who received a *my* UNC *Chart* invitation enrolled their newborns in the study within 27 days. Excluding 8 women who enrolled their newborns in Early

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30941

XSL•FO

Check without opening the invitation, women took on average 3.92 days (SD 6.50) to enroll. Similar to the distribution for the time it took to open the invitation, the enrollment timing distribution was positively skewed, with 63.4% (97/4510) enrolling within 1 day of opening the invitation.

Our first research question examined whether and to what extent women who opened a research invitation sent to them through my UNC Chart were more likely to enroll in Early Check within 27 days of receiving the invitation. The overall logistic regression model predicting enrollment was significant (χ^2 [11, N=4507]=134.90; P<.001, $R^2_{McFadden}=.10$). As shown in Table 3, the odds of enrolling among women who opened the invitation was nearly 9 times the odds of enrolling among women who did not open and who therefore did not view their invitation (SE 3.24, OR 8.86, 95% CI 4.33-18.13; P<.001). Expressed in terms of predicted probabilities holding everything else in the model constant, 4.88% of women who opened the invitation (SE 0.38, 95% CI 4.13%-5.63%) enrolled their newborns in Early Check within 27 days of when it was sent compared to only 0.58% of women who did not open the invitation within that time frame (SE 0.02, 95% CI 0.18%-0.99%) and most likely became aware of the study through another outreach method Being sent a postnatal recruitment letter (P=.57 or a personalized email invitation (P=.53) did not have a significant additional impact on enrollment within the 27-day period.

Our second research question asked, in part, whether there are differences in enrollment by race/ethnicity, age, or urbanicity. Although we observed no significant differences in enrollment rates across age groups, race/ethnicity and urbanicity were both related to enrollment. The odds of enrolling for Black women who were sent a my UNC Chart invitation was 0.29 times the odds of White women (SE 0.09, OR 0.29, 95% CI 0.16-0.55; P < .001). Expressed in terms of predicted probabilities, whereas 4.49% of White women (SE 0.40, 95% CI 3.72%-5.27%) enrolled their newborns in Early Check within 27 days of when their invitations were sent, only 1.38% of Black women enrolled their newborns (SE 0.41, 95% CI 0.57%-2.19%). We found no other differences in enrollment by other race/ethnicity groups. Additionally, women with a home address in urban zip codes were more likely to enroll than women from rural zip codes (SE 0.97, OR 3.03, 95% CI 1.62-5.67; P=.001). Controlling for the other variables in the model and expressed in terms of predicted probabilities, 4.04% of urban women (SE 0.32, 95% CI 3.41%-4.67%) enrolled their newborns in Early Check compared to 1.40% of rural women (SE 0.42, 95% CI 0.57%-2.22%).



Table 3. Logistic regression analysis predicting Early Check enrollment (N= 4507).

Predictor	OR	SE	P values	95% CI ^a
Opened invitation within 27 days of when it was sent				
Reference = no	1.0	b	_	—
Yes	8.86	3.24	<.001	4.33-18.13
Postnatal recruitment letter				
Reference = not sent a recruitment letter	1.0	_	_	_
Sent a recruitment letter	1.20	0.37	.565	0.65-2.20
Postnatal personalized email invitation				
Reference = not sent an email invitation	1.0	_	_	_
Sent an email invitation	1.98	2.16	.531	0.23-16.82
Race/ethnicity				
Reference = White	1.0	_	_	—
Black	0.29	0.09	<.001	0.16-0.55
Hispanic	0.63	0.20	.135	0.34-1.16
Other	0.62	0.16	.068	0.36-1.04
Urbanicity ^c				
Reference = rural	1.0	_	_	_
Urban	3.03	0.97	.001	1.62-5.67
Age (years)				
Reference = under 20	1.0	_	_	—
20-24	0.97	0.75	.969	0.21-4.43
25-29	1.87	1.38	.396	0.44-7.92
30-34	1.92	1.41	.376	0.45-8.07
≥35	2.58	1.90	.198	0.61-10.90
Constant	0.00	0.00	<.001	0.00-0.01

^aThe analysis excluded 3 women for whom geolocation data were insufficient to compute urbanicity.

^bThe reference levels are fixed parameters, not estimates, so no measures of precision were calculated.

^c'Urbanicity' is a variable indicating whether women live in an urban or rural area based on residential ZIP code (see measures section).

Opened my UNC Chart Invitation

Our second research question also considers associations of race/ethnicity, age, and urbanicity on whether women opened the research invitation sent to them through my UNC Chart. As shown in Table 4, the logistic regression model that predicts opening the invitation was significant (χ^2 [10, *N*=4507]=62.38; P < .001, $R^2_{McFadden} = .01$). Women who were sent a postnatal recruitment letter by mail within 27 days of a my UNC Chart invitation were significantly less likely to open the invitation (SE 0.09, OR 0.76, 95% CI 0.60-0.96; P=.02). Holding everything else constant and expressed in terms of predicted probabilities, 62.1% of women who were sent a postnatal recruitment letter opened their my UNC Chart invitations (SE 2.6, 95% CI 56.9%-67.2%) versus 68.2% of women who were not sent a recruitment letter (SE 0.7, 95% CI 66.8%-69.6%). Whether women were sent a postnatal personalized email within the 27-day timeframe was not significantly associated with

significantly related to opening the invitation. Black women were significantly less likely than White women to open the invitation (SE 0.05, OR 0.67, 95% CI 0.57-0.78; P<.001), with 61.4% of Black women (SE 1.6, 95% CI 58.3%-64.5%) opening the invitation compared to 70.4% of White women (SE 0.9, 95% CI 68.6%-72.2%). Hispanic women were also less likely to open the invitation than were White women (SE 0.07, OR 0.73, 95% CI 0.60-0.89; P=.002), with an estimated 63.4% of Hispanic women opening their invitations. Lastly, opening the my UNC Chart invitation differed significantly by age. Compared to women under 20 years of age, women aged 25 to 29 years (SE 0.26, OR 1.51, 95% CI 1.08-2.10; P=.02), 30 to 34 years (SE 0.28, OR 1.67, 95% CI 1.20-2.33; P=.003), or 35 years or more (SE 0.25, OR 1.44, 95% CI 1.03-2.03; P=.35) were significantly more likely to open the invitation. The predicted probabilities of opening the my UNC Chart invitation by age are shown in Table 5.

opening the my UNC Chart invitation (P=.19), nor was

urbanicity (P=.75). However, race/ethnicity and age were both

Gehtland et al

Table 4. Logistic regression analysis predicting whether the my UNC Chart invitation was opened (N=4507).

Predictor	OR	SE	P values	95% CI
Postnatal recruitment letter			7	·
Reference = not sent a recruitment letter	1.0	a	_	_
Sent a recruitment letter	0.76	0.09	.022	0.60-0.96
Postnatal personalized email invitation				
Reference = not sent an email invitation	1.0	_	_	_
Sent an email invitation	0.57	0.24	.185	0.24-1.31
Race/ethnicity				
Reference = White	1.0	_	_	_
Black	0.67	0.05	< .001	0.57-0.78
Hispanic	0.73	0.07	.002	0.60-0.89
Other	0.99	0.11	.928	0.80-1.22
Urbanicity ^b				
Reference = rural	1.0	_	_	_
Urban	0.97	0.08	.747	0.83-1.14
Age, years				
Reference = under 20	1.0	_	_	_
20-24	1.26	0.22	.178	0.90-1.78
25-29	1.51	0.26	.015	1.08-2.10
30-34	1.67	0.28	.003	1.20-2.33
≥35	1.44	0.25	.035	1.03-2.03
Constant	1.70	0.29	.002	1.22-2.38

^aThe reference levels are fixed parameters, not estimates, so no measures of precision were calculated.

^bThe analysis excluded 3 women for whom geolocation data were insufficient to compute urbanicity.

Table 5. Predicted probability of opening a my UNC Chart invitation by age (N= 4507).

Predictor	% ^a	SE	95% CI
Age, years			
Under 20	58.9	3.8	51.5-66.3
20-24	64.4	1.7	61.0-67.7
25-29	68.3	1.3	65.7-70.9
30-34	70.4	1.2	68.0-72.8
≥35	67.3	1.5	64.3-70.4

^aPredicted probability expressed as a percentage controlling for covariates included in the logistic regression model.

Discussion

Principal Findings

We examined the utility of sending research invitations to pregnant women through a patient portal and whether opening an invitation was associated with enrollment in the study. We found an association between opening a patient portal research invitation and enrollment in the study but found disparities by race/ethnicity in having a *my* UNC *Chart* patient portal, opening the invitation, and enrolling in the study. The use of EHR data to identify and contact eligible participants through their patient portal proved to be successful. The findings show that the *my* UNC *Chart* patient portal within UNCH could be used to send recruitment invitations to over 4500 pregnant women whose newborns would be eligible for Early Check over a period of approximately 15 weeks. These results demonstrate the efficiency of using patient portals to send recruitment invitations to large numbers of potential research participants, compared to the time and effort it would require to contact thousands of participants through other methods like phone or in-person recruitment. As such, patient portals are especially

valuable for studies seeking to approach and enroll very large numbers of participants.

Despite contacting thousands of eligible women, those we contacted accounted for a minority (4510/12.036, 37.5%) of patients at UNCH who met the computable phenotype during the time period of this study; a majority of eligible women did not have active *my* UNC *Chart* accounts and thus could not receive a recruitment message. However, for a study like Early Check with broad eligibility criteria and for which patients will become newly eligible over time as women become pregnant, *my* UNC *Chart* still proved an efficient method to contact thousands of eligible women.

Overall, patient portal research invitations sent through *my* UNC *Chart* were associated with enrollment in the Early Check study among women who opened those invitations. We found that a majority of women who received a *my* UNC *Chart* research invitation opened it, and of those who opened it, 4.88%, expressed in predicted probability, enrolled their newborn. In comparison, a previous analysis of the other primary recruitment method for Early Check, postnatal letters and emails to new mothers showed an overall statewide enrollment rate of 4% [36]. For those women who were sent a postnatal letter in addition to the recruitment invitation through *my* UNC *Chart*, the receipt of the postnatal letter did not increase the odds of enrollment. We did not independently compare *my* UNC *Chart* recruitment with direct letters and emails.

The findings demonstrated disparities in the use of patient portals, opening of research invitations, and enrollment in the study by race/ethnicity. There were also disparities in enrollment by urban/rural home address and in opening research invitations by age. Black women and Hispanic women were less likely to open an Early Check recruitment invitation sent through my UNC Chart and were less likely to enroll in the study after opening the invitation compared to non-Hispanic White women. We also found disparities by race and ethnicity among women we had hoped to reach using my UNC Chart invitations because they did not have an active my UNC Chart account. Members of traditionally underrepresented racial and ethnic minority groups were less likely than non-Hispanic White women in our target audience to have an active my UNC Chart account. Hispanic women were least likely to be my UNC Chart users, a finding that may be partially due to the availability of my UNC Chart in English only.

In our analysis of *my* UNC *Chart* by age and rural/urban home address, we found that there was no difference by age or urbanicity in those who had an active *my* UNC *Chart* account. Age was not significantly associated with opening the message or enrolling in the study except for women less than 20 years of age who were less likely to open the invitation. We found that women from urban areas were significantly more likely to enroll their newborns in the study compared to women from rural areas. It is not clear why urban women were more likely to academic medical institutions and research familiarity may play a role.

Comparison With Prior Work

Our enrollment rate among women who received Early Check my UNC Chart patient portal research recruitment invitations was similar to other studies using patient portals for recruitment, including the ADAPTABLE study performed in the same health system using a similar messaging protocol (4.4%) and a review of 13 studies recruiting through the patient portal of a single health system (2.9%-3.4%) [20,23,24]. Some studies have reported higher enrollment rates using patient portals ranging from 7% to 38% [22,28,32,34]. Bower et al [21], a study that also recruited pregnant women through patient portals, had a higher enrollment rate (11%) compared to the enrollment rate we report here (161/4510, 3.6%). The reasons for the differing enrollment rates across these studies are unclear but may be partially due to the target study population, demographics of patient portal users at an institution, type of study, demand on participants, formatting of the message, and the timing of the invitation in relation to a scheduled medical appointment. More research is needed on the factors associated with successful recruitment through patient portals and on the acceptability of using patient portals to recruit for research, to identify those studies for which a patient portal recruitment approach is likely to be most productive and acceptable.

The findings of racial and ethnic disparities in the users of *my* UNC *Chart*, opening of the recruitment invitation, and enrollment in the study are consistent with the findings across other studies examining the use of patient portals for recruitment and the use of patient portals for clinical care [8,23,29,32,34]. It is important to recognize that patient portal recruitment approaches have limited reach and may compound the problem of underrepresentation in health research. Identifying barriers to patient portal use for clinical care and intervening with specific subgroups to address those barriers may improve the reach of patient portals and their utility in recruiting a diverse research sample [17]. In the meantime, research administrators should use patient portals as part of a broader recruitment strategy and not the sole recruitment method.

Limitations

The study examined patient portal research invitations sent to pregnant women, and findings may have limited generalizability to other types of patients. Findings may also have limited generalizability to organizations that use a patient portal other than Epic MyChart. It is also a limitation of the study that we did not directly compare the effectiveness of recruitment to Early Check through *my* UNC *Chart* research invitations to recruitment through postnatal letters and emails. We were unable to conclude whether one of these recruitment approaches was superior in enrolling newborns in the Early Check study or whether one approach would have resulted in a more representative sample.

Conclusions

Patient portals are an effective way to recruit participants for research studies and are especially useful for studies with large target sample sizes. There remain substantial racial and ethnic disparities in the use of patient portals, the response to receipt of an invitation, and enrollment in the study.

XSL•F(Render)

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences (NCATS) and the National Institutes of Health (grant number UL1TR002489). The Early Check infrastructure was supported by NCATS (grant number 5U01TR001792) and by grants from The John Merck Fund.

The findings and conclusions in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Public Health.

Authors' Contributions

LG, RP, SA, AL, AG, MD, EP, and DB conceptualized the study. EP, SA, AL, RP, LG, and DB contributed to the methodology, while AL and MD provided the software. RP performed the formal analysis, and MD, AL, RP, and SA completed the data curation. LG, RP, and SA drafted the original manuscript. LG, RP, SA, AL, AG, MD, EP, and DB reviewed and edited the manuscript. LG, SA, and AL administered the project, and DB acquired the necessary funding.

Conflicts of Interest

DBB reports current external funding to RTI from Janssen Pharmaceuticals and The John Merck Fund and prior external funding to RTI from Orchard Therapeutics, Travere, BioMarin, and Sarepta Pharmaceuticals. RTI also received donated reagents and equipment from Asuragen.

RSP reports prior external funding to RTI from Inflexxion, a subsidiary of Uprise Health, and Parent Project Muscular Dystrophy (PPMD) with support for PPMD's Patient Preference Research program provided by Solid Bioscience and Pfizer.

LMG reports receiving grants from Janssen Pharmaceuticals, the John Merck Fund, Sarepta Therapeutics, Muscular Dystrophy Association, and donated reagents and equipment from Asuragen, outside the submitted work.

AYG reports current external funding to RTI from Janssen Pharmaceuticals, the John Merck Fund, the Foundation for Angelman Syndrome Therapeutics, Alcyone Therapeutics, and Lipedema Foundation, and prior external funding to RTI from Orchard Therapeutics, Travere, BioMarin, Sarepta Pharmaceuticals, and the Parent Project Muscular Dystrophy. RTI also received donated reagents and equipment from Asuragen.

SMA reports current external funding to RTI from Janssen Pharmaceuticals, Sarepta Pharmaceuticals, The John Merck Fund, and the Foundation for Angelman Syndrome Therapeutics and prior external funding to RTI from Orchard Therapeutics, Travere Therapeutics, BioMarin, and the EveryLife Foundation for Rare Diseases. RTI also received donated reagents and equipment from Asuragen.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Computable Phenotype for Carolina Data Warehouse for Health Query (CDWH). [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 103 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e30941_app1.pdf]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Text of the Early Check *my* UNC *Chart* Research Invitation. [PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 100 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e30941_app2.pdf]

References

- Carlisle B, Kimmelman J, Ramsay T, MacKinnon N. Unsuccessful trial accrual and human subjects protections: an empirical analysis of recently closed trials. Clin Trials 2015 Feb;12(1):77-83 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1740774514558307] [Medline: 25475878]
- Treweek S, Pitkethly M, Cook J, Fraser C, Mitchell E, Sullivan F, et al. Strategies to improve recruitment to randomised trials. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018 Feb 22;2:MR000013 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.MR000013.pub6] [Medline: 29468635]
- Stein MA, Shaffer M, Echo-Hawk A, Smith J, Stapleton A, Melvin A. Research START: A Multimethod Study of Barriers and Accelerators of Recruiting Research Participants. Clin Transl Sci 2015 Dec;8(6):647-654 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/cts.12351] [Medline: 26643413]
- 4. Irizarry T, DeVito Dabbs A, Curran CR. Patient Portals and Patient Engagement: A State of the Science Review. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jun 23;17(6):e148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4255] [Medline: 26104044]
- Emani S, Yamin CK, Peters E, Karson AS, Lipsitz SR, Wald JS, et al. Patient perceptions of a personal health record: a test of the diffusion of innovation model. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(6):e150 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2278] [Medline: 23128775]
- 6. Powell KR. Patient-Perceived Facilitators of and Barriers to Electronic Portal Use: A Systematic Review. Comput Inform Nurs 2017 Nov;35(11):565-573. [doi: 10.1097/CIN.00000000000377] [Medline: 28723832]

- Bush RA, Barlow H, Pérez A, Vazquez B, Mack J, Connelly CD. Internet Access Influences Community Clinic Portal Use. Health Equity 2018;2(1):161-166 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/heq.2018.0019] [Medline: 30283863]
- Graetz I, Gordon N, Fung V, Hamity C, Reed ME. The Digital Divide and Patient Portals: Internet Access Explained Differences in Patient Portal Use for Secure Messaging by Age, Race, and Income. Med Care 2016 Aug;54(8):772-779. [doi: 10.1097/MLR.00000000000560] [Medline: 27314262]
- Peacock S, Reddy A, Leveille SG, Walker J, Payne TH, Oster NV, et al. Patient portals and personal health information online: perception, access, and use by US adults. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2017 Apr 01;24(e1):e173-e177. [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocw095] [Medline: 27413120]
- Lockwood MB, Dunn-Lopez K, Pauls H, Burke L, Shah SD, Saunders MA. If you build it, they may not come: modifiable barriers to patient portal use among pre- and post-kidney transplant patients. JAMIA Open 2018 Oct;1(2):255-264 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamiaopen/ooy024] [Medline: 31984337]
- Plate JF, Ryan SP, Bergen MA, Hong CS, Attarian DE, Seyler TM. Utilization of an Electronic Patient Portal Following Total Joint Arthroplasty Does Not Decrease Readmissions. J Arthroplasty 2019 Feb;34(2):211-214. [doi: 10.1016/j.arth.2018.11.002] [Medline: 30497899]
- 12. Rounds JA, Merianos AL, Bernard AL. Cardiometabolic risk factors and MyChart enrollment among adult patients. Health Policy and Technology 2017 Sep;6(3):302-308. [doi: 10.1016/j.hlpt.2017.06.001]
- 13. Siegel C, Gill A, Esteghamat N, Tu Y, Rodin MB. Barriers to online patient portal adoption among adult oncology patients. JCO 2017 Nov 01;35(31_suppl):44-44. [doi: 10.1200/jco.2017.35.31_suppl.44]
- 14. Son H, Nahm E. Older Adults' Experience Using Patient Portals in Communities: Challenges and Opportunities. Comput Inform Nurs 2019 Jan;37(1):4-10. [doi: 10.1097/CIN.00000000000476] [Medline: 30188353]
- 15. Wallace LS, Angier H, Huguet N, Gaudino JA, Krist A, Dearing M, et al. Patterns of Electronic Portal Use among Vulnerable Patients in a Nationwide Practice-based Research Network: From the OCHIN Practice-based Research Network (PBRN). J Am Board Fam Med 2016 Oct;29(5):592-603 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2016.05.160046] [Medline: 27613792]
- Woods SS, Forsberg CW, Schwartz EC, Nazi KM, Hibbard JH, Houston TK, et al. The Association of Patient Factors, Digital Access, and Online Behavior on Sustained Patient Portal Use: A Prospective Cohort of Enrolled Users. J Med Internet Res 2017 Oct 17;19(10):e345 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7895] [Medline: 29042345]
- 17. Turner K, Hong Y, Yadav S, Huo J, Mainous AG. Patient portal utilization: before and after stage 2 electronic health record meaningful use. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2019 Oct 01;26(10):960-967. [doi: <u>10.1093/jamia/ocz030</u>] [Medline: <u>30947331</u>]
- Coorevits P, Sundgren M, Klein GO, Bahr A, Claerhout B, Daniel C, et al. Electronic health records: new opportunities for clinical research. J Intern Med 2013 Dec;274(6):547-560. [doi: <u>10.1111/joim.12119</u>] [Medline: <u>23952476</u>]
- Obeid JS, Beskow LM, Rape M, Gouripeddi R, Black RA, Cimino JJ, et al. A survey of practices for the use of electronic health records to support research recruitment. J Clin Transl Sci 2017 Aug;1(4):246-252 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/cts.2017.301] [Medline: 29657859]
- Samuels MH, Schuff R, Beninato P, Gorsuch A, Dursch J, Egan S, et al. Effectiveness and cost of recruiting healthy volunteers for clinical research studies using an electronic patient portal: A randomized study. J Clin Transl Sci 2017 Dec;1(6):366-372 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/cts.2018.5] [Medline: 29707259]
- 21. Bower JK, Bollinger CE, Foraker RE, Hood DB, Shoben AB, Lai AM. Active Use of Electronic Health Records (EHRs) and Personal Health Records (PHRs) for Epidemiologic Research: Sample Representativeness and Nonresponse Bias in a Study of Women During Pregnancy. EGEMS (Wash DC) 2017;5(1):1263 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.13063/2327-9214.1263] [Medline: 28303255]
- 22. Leveille SG, Huang A, Tsai SB, Weingart SN, Iezzoni LI. Screening for chronic conditions using a patient internet portal: recruitment for an internet-based primary care intervention. J Gen Intern Med 2008 Apr;23(4):472-475 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-007-0443-6] [Medline: 18373147]
- 23. Miller HN, Gleason KT, Juraschek SP, Plante TB, Lewis-Land C, Woods B, et al. Electronic medical record-based cohort selection and direct-to-patient, targeted recruitment: early efficacy and lessons learned. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2019 Nov 01;26(11):1209-1217 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocz168] [Medline: 31553434]
- 24. Pfaff E, Lee A, Bradford R, Pae J, Potter C, Blue P, et al. Recruiting for a pragmatic trial using the electronic health record and patient portal: successes and lessons learned. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2019 Jan 01;26(1):44-49 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocy138] [Medline: 30445631]
- 25. Plante TB, Gleason KT, Miller HN, Charleston J, McArthur K, Himmelfarb CD, STURDY Collaborative Research Group. Recruitment of trial participants through electronic medical record patient portal messaging: A pilot study. Clin Trials 2020 Feb;17(1):30-38 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1740774519873657] [Medline: 31581836]
- 26. Obeid JS, Shoaibi A, Oates JC, Habrat ML, Hughes-Halbert C, Lenert LA. Research participation preferences as expressed through a patient portal: implications of demographic characteristics. JAMIA Open 2018 Oct;1(2):202-209 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamiaopen/ooy034] [Medline: 30474076]
- Bennett WL, Bramante CT, Rothenberger SD, Kraschnewski JL, Herring SJ, Lent MR, et al. Patient Recruitment Into a Multicenter Clinical Cohort Linking Electronic Health Records From 5 Health Systems: Cross-sectional Analysis. J Med Internet Res 2021 May 27;23(5):e24003 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/24003] [Medline: 34042604]

- Gleason KT, Ford DE, Gumas D, Woods B, Appel L, Murray P, et al. Development and preliminary evaluation of a patient portal messaging for research recruitment service. J Clin Transl Sci 2018 Feb;2(1):53-56 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1017/cts.2018.10] [Medline: <u>31660218</u>]
- 29. Anthony DL, Campos-Castillo C, Lim PS. Who Isn't Using Patient Portals And Why? Evidence And Implications From A National Sample Of US Adults. Health Aff (Millwood) 2018 Dec;37(12):1948-1954. [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2018.05117] [Medline: 30633673]
- Ancker JS, Barrón Y, Rockoff ML, Hauser D, Pichardo M, Szerencsy A, et al. Use of an electronic patient portal among disadvantaged populations. J Gen Intern Med 2011 Oct;26(10):1117-1123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-011-1749-y] [Medline: 21647748]
- Arcury TA, Quandt SA, Sandberg JC, Miller DP, Latulipe C, Leng X, et al. Patient Portal Utilization Among Ethnically Diverse Low Income Older Adults: Observational Study. JMIR Med Inform 2017 Nov 14;5(4):e47 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/medinform.8026] [Medline: 29138129]
- 32. Kannan V, Wilkinson KE, Varghese M, Lynch-Medick S, Willett DL, Bosler TA, et al. Count me in: using a patient portal to minimize implicit bias in clinical research recruitment. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2019 Aug 01;26(8-9):703-713 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocz038] [Medline: 31081898]
- Hussain-Gambles M, Atkin K, Leese B. Why ethnic minority groups are under-represented in clinical trials: a review of the literature. Health Soc Care Community 2004 Sep;12(5):382-388. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2524.2004.00507.x</u>] [Medline: <u>15373816</u>]
- Tabriz AA, Fleming PJ, Shin Y, Resnicow K, Jones RM, Flocke SA, et al. Challenges and opportunities using online portals to recruit diverse patients to behavioral trials. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2019 Dec 01;26(12):1637-1644 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocz157] [Medline: 31532482]
- 35. Ukoha EP, Feinglass J, Yee LM. Disparities in Electronic Patient Portal Use in Prenatal Care: Retrospective Cohort Study. J Med Internet Res 2019 Sep 23;21(9):e14445 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14445] [Medline: 31586367]
- Paquin RS, Lewis MA, Harper BA, Moultrie RR, Gwaltney A, Gehtland LM, et al. Outreach to new mothers through direct mail and email: recruitment in the Early Check research study. Clin Transl Sci 2020 Dec 31:880-889. [doi: <u>10.1111/cts.12950</u>] [Medline: <u>33382929</u>]
- 37. Guillory J, Jordan A, Paquin RS, Pikowski J, McInnis S, Anakaraonye A, et al. Using Social Media to Conduct Outreach and Recruitment for Expanded Newborn Screening. Front. Commun 2020 May 6;5:1-11. [doi: 10.3389/fcomm.2020.00021]
- Bailey DB, Gehtland LM, Lewis MA, Peay H, Raspa M, Shone SM, et al. Early Check: translational science at the intersection of public health and newborn screening. BMC Pediatr 2019 Jul 17;19(1):238 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12887-019-1606-4] [Medline: 31315600]
- 39. Early Check. URL: https://portal.earlycheck.org [accessed 2020-08-01]
- 40. Richesson RL, Hammond WE, Nahm M, Wixted D, Simon GE, Robinson JG, et al. Electronic health records based phenotyping in next-generation clinical trials: a perspective from the NIH Health Care Systems Collaboratory. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2013 Dec;20(e2):e226-e231 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2013-001926] [Medline: 23956018]
- 41. C. Department of Health and Human Services. URL: <u>https://schs.dph.ncdhhs.gov/schs/births/babybook/2018/northcarolina.</u> <u>pdf</u> [accessed 2020-10-01]
- 42. 2010 Rural-urban commuting area codes (revised 7/3/19). U.S. Department of Agriculture ER service. 2010. URL: <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/rural-urban-commuting-area-codes.aspx</u> [accessed 2020-10-01]
- 43. ZIP code RUCA approximation codes, 2. Rural Health Research Center U of W. URL: <u>https://depts.washington.edu/uwruca/</u> <u>ruca-download.php</u> [accessed 2020-10-01]
- 44. Moss JL, Stinchcomb DG, Yu M. Providing Higher Resolution Indicators of Rurality in the Surveillance, Epidemiology, and End Results (SEER) Database: Implications for Patient Privacy and Research. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2019 Sep;28(9):1409-1416 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-19-0021] [Medline: 31201223]

Abbreviations

CDWH: Carolina Data Warehouse for Health EHR: electronic health record NCATS: National Center for Advancing Translational Sciences RUCA: rural-urban commuting area UNCH: UNC Health



Edited by S Badawy; submitted 03.06.21; peer-reviewed by A Alishahi, T Payne; comments to author 30.07.21; revised version received 12.08.21; accepted 11.12.21; published 10.02.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Gehtland LM, Paquin RS, Andrews SM, Lee AM, Gwaltney A, Duparc M, Pfaff ER, Bailey Jr DB Using a Patient Portal to Increase Enrollment in a Newborn Screening Research Study: Observational Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e30941 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e30941 doi:10.2196/30941 PMID:35142618

©Lisa M Gehtland, Ryan S Paquin, Sara M Andrews, Adam M Lee, Angela Gwaltney, Martin Duparc, Emily R Pfaff, Donald B Bailey Jr. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 10.02.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Listening to Stakeholders Involved in Speech-Language Therapy for Children With Communication Disorders: Content Analysis of Apple App Store Reviews

Yao Du¹, PhD; Sarah Choe², BA; Jennifer Vega³, BA; Yusa Liu⁴, BA; Adrienne Trujillo⁵, MSc

¹Monmouth University, West Long Branch, NJ, United States

²California State University, Fullerton, Fullerton, CA, United States

³Long Beach Unified School District, Long Beach, CA, United States

⁴San Francisco State University, San Francisco, CA, United States

⁵Newport Heights Elementary School, Newport, CA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Yao Du, PhD Monmouth University 400 Cedar Ave West Long Branch, NJ, 07764 United States Phone: 1 7329234616 Email: yadu@monmouth.edu

Abstract

Background: With the plethora of mobile apps available on the Apple App Store, more speech-language pathologists (SLPs) have adopted apps for speech-language therapy services, especially for pediatric clients. App Store reviews are publicly available data sources that can not only create avenues for communication between technology developers and consumers but also enable stakeholders such as parents and clinicians to share their opinions and view opinions about the app content and quality based on user experiences.

Objective: This study examines the Apple App Store reviews from multiple key stakeholders (eg, parents, educators, and SLPs) to identify and understand user needs and challenges of using speech-language therapy apps (including augmentative and alternative communication [AAC] apps) for pediatric clients who receive speech-language therapy services.

Methods: We selected 16 apps from a prior interview study with SLPs that covered multiple American Speech-Language-Hearing Association Big Nine competencies, including articulation, receptive and expressive language, fluency, voice, social communication, and communication modalities. Using an automatic Python (Python Software Foundation) crawler developed by our research team and a Really Simple Syndication feed generator provided by Apple, we extracted a total of 721 app reviews from 2009 to 2020. Using qualitative coding to identify emerging themes, we conducted a content analysis of 57.9% (418/721) reviews and synthesized user feedback related to app features and content, usability issues, recommendations for improvement, and multiple influential factors related to app design and use.

Results: Our analyses revealed that key stakeholders such as family members, educators, and individuals with communication disorders have used App Store reviews as a platform to share their experiences with AAC and speech-language apps. User reviews for AAC apps were primarily written by parents who indicated that AAC apps consistently exhibited more usability issues owing to violations of design guidelines in areas of aesthetics, user errors, controls, and customization. Reviews for speech-language apps were primarily written by SLPs and educators who requested and recommended specific app features (eg, customization of visuals, recorded feedback within the app, and culturally diverse character roles) based on their experiences working with a diverse group of pediatric clients with a variety of communication disorders.

Conclusions: To our knowledge, this is the first study to compile and analyze publicly available App Store reviews to identify areas for improvement within mobile apps for pediatric speech-language therapy apps from children with communication disorders and different stakeholders (eg, clinicians, parents, and educators). The findings contribute to the understanding of apps for children with communication disorders regarding content and features, app usability and accessibility issues, and influential factors that impact both AAC apps and speech-language apps for children with communication disorders who need speech therapy.

KEYWORDS

eHealth; mobile health; mHealth; mobile app; communication disorders; speech therapy; language therapy; children; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

In recent decades, the Apple App Store has experienced a drastic increase in the number of mobile apps across multiple genres (eg, education, games, and health and fitness) for children. Many of these apps are designed for children with communication disorders; many are also used by their speech-language pathologists (SLPs) during assessments and interventions [1-3]. Different genres of mobile apps may be used for assistive, educational, and recreational purposes within the context of speech-language therapy depending on the communication abilities of children with communication disorders. For example, children with complex communication needs benefit from using augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) apps installed on mobile tablets (eg, iPad [Apple Inc]). Such devices enable AAC users to communicate with others via prestored symbols, pictures, and texts as an alternative communication modality [4,5]. In addition, educational speech therapy apps, including game apps that contain speech sound stimuli or language-based activities, have been implemented during therapy to target specific intervention domains [2,6,7].

The design and implementation of mobile apps for use by children with communication disorders is a research area that draws attention from both clinical researchers and human-computer interaction researchers. In recent years, human-computer interaction scholars have designed apps for children with autism, cleft palate, speech sound disorders, cochlear implants, and other communication disorders [8-12]. Given the variety of needs among children with communication disorders, developers and designers may encounter difficulties obtaining verbal or written user feedback on app content and features while creating and revising these apps; consequently, they must rely on reports from key stakeholders that surround the circle of care of children with communication disorders [13,14]. Some stakeholders included within the circle of care of children with communication disorders are SLPs; parents; teachers; and, sometimes, the children with communication disorders themselves. Involving all stakeholders in the initial design process would be costly, time-consuming, and unwieldy, and there are multiple obstacles to conducting empirical user studies examining the app use experience of children with communication disorders directly [15-17].

App Store reviews offer an opportunity to investigate app user experience from a multi-stakeholder perspective, which has heretofore been unexamined. App Store reviews are publicly available data sources from customers, serving as a communication avenue for app users to express their needs and challenges with the apps they purchased and downloaded. App Store reviews not only influence decisions by other users regarding app purchases but also bring awareness to developers about critical issues related to app design and development,

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e28661
```

Du et al

including but not limited to criticism of current app features and functions and ideas for new app features.

Relevant Work

Previous user review studies have examined thousands of app reviews from different genres of apps on the Apple App Store [18-20] and the Google Play Store [18,21-23]. Popular apps can receive a large volume of reviews daily. However, analyzing these linguistic data and categorizing reviews in large amounts may be difficult, specifically when dealing with varying quality of reviews and with mixed sentiments within a single review [18]. Researchers have used manual coding as well as automated data mining techniques (eg, natural language processing for topic, semantic, and sentiment analysis) to analyze linguistic data on a large scale, categorize various user intent, and organize user feedback for feature extraction [21,22,24,25]. Studies that analyze popular game, social, communication, and productivity apps (eg, Angry Birds [Rovio Entertainment], Facebook [Meta Platforms], Pinterest, WhatsApp [Meta Platforms], and Dropbox) have suggested that user reviews offer valuable feedback for information giving, information seeking, feature requests, and problem discovery, along with rich contextual descriptions of feature requests and ideas for improvements [18,20,22]. Fu et al [21] further found that even user complaints can be useful, as the number of complaints were highest following a release, with top complaints primarily related to content attractiveness, app stability, and cost. Khalid et al [20] found similar trends, with more than half of the complaints addressing functional errors, feature requests, and instances of the app crashing.

Although previous research on app reviews has focused on non-health-related apps, research is lacking regarding user reviews for apps targeting individuals with disabilities or apps related to health-related interventions. One area of research that is growing is regarding the efficacy of mental health apps. For example, researchers have begun to investigate the potential positive impact of mental health apps, particularly in increasing access to mental health interventions. Although prior studies on user reviews for general popular apps can be useful to guide review analysis for health-related apps [19-22,26], research on apps in health intervention highlights the additional importance of user engagement, especially among consumers who have specific health needs or disabilities [27,28]. Torous et al [29] and Stawarz et al [23] examined the effectiveness and user engagement of cognitive behavioral therapy apps and found that in addition to poor usability and failure to meet user needs, users also have low engagement and rising uncertainties about the effectiveness of mental health apps [29]. These studies have identified the need for further exploration of how App Store reviews might increase designer and developer knowledge of user issues, enabling evidence-based design practices that could increase the user-reported efficacy of health-intervention apps.

XSL•FO RenderX

Despite the vast number of commercial mobile apps available for children, there have been very few published studies related to user-reported satisfaction regarding the efficacy of speech-language therapy apps for children. A recent study [30] examined the content and quality of mobile apps for speech-language therapy in adults with communication disorders; however, to our knowledge, no published studies have examined publicly available user reviews to understand the user experience with speech-language apps of children with communication disorders. Investigating the review content for pediatric speech-language apps not only allows adult stakeholders to share the user challenges of children with communication disorders with app designers but also enables researchers to understand the communication needs of both children and adults. Children with communication disorders typically depend on their caregivers, educators, and therapists to make decisions regarding app recommendations; however, owing to the lack of up-to-date research regarding systematic guidelines for app selection and evaluation, clinical decision-making can be difficult for the adult stakeholders of children with communication disorders [31]. Parents often make purchase decisions based on usability reviews and ratings from the App Store, and even clinicians have to rely on word of mouth, marketing offers, or cost to make decisions when purchasing apps for use during therapy [1].

Investigating user reviews across different genres of mobile apps can inform design practitioners about specific usability issues that may impede the interaction of children with communication disorders with the apps, and helps clinicians learn about app content and features to make clinical recommendations that best serve their clients' needs. Previous studies have reported that app users often use the same linguistic patterns to communicate a problem but that linguistic patterns may vary more when making feature requests. This variance makes automatic analysis difficult to successfully identify and categorize user perspectives on feature requests [18,22]. This study uses automatic review extraction and manual review screening and analysis to examine user reviews from a selected set of mobile apps for pediatric speech therapy from the Apple App Store. By identifying app feature requests and critical usability issues, as well as multiple influential factors (eg, financial, sociocultural, ethical, and political) affecting user experiences, this study seeks to inform designers and developers who aim to create child-centered and clinically informed speech-language apps for children with communication disorders.

Methods

App Selection and Screening

This study builds on a prior qualitative interview study with 26 SLPs who reported a total of 284 mobile apps they use with

children during speech and language therapy [15,16]. These participating SLPs ranged across multiple settings such as schools, private practices, hospitals, and home health services from various states in the United States (Multimedia Appendix 1). Using apps collected from the SLPs' interviews enabled us to examine technological tools that clinicians reported using rather than querying app searches through researcher-designed keywords on the Apple App Store. We used multiple verification and categorization steps for app selection and screening, as indicated in Figure 1. First, we verified whether the 284 apps mentioned by SLPs were inactive or active on the Apple App Store. Inactive apps were apps that were no longer available on the Apple App Store, whereas active apps were apps available for consumers to download and use as of January 2021. We identified and excluded 33.8% (96/284) apps that were no longer active and classified the remaining 66.2% (188/284) active apps into four categories as follows: (1) AAC apps, (2) speech-language apps, (3) game apps that do not contain therapy content, and (4) utility apps. These four categories are consistent with prior research on app reviews for individuals with visual impairments, as Torres-Carazo et al [27] have reported that these individuals use games and utility apps in addition to various kinds of assistive technology apps. A previous study [1] suggested that in their university clinic, AAC apps (eg, Proloquo2Go) were the apps most frequently checked out by speech-language pathology clinicians. This study stated that student clinicians also preferred speech-language apps with content-specific visual feedback and apps that allowed them to target a variety of speech and language therapy goals [1]; therefore, researchers must consider both AAC apps and speech-language apps, as both genres of apps are designed for speech-language intervention and are frequently used by SLPs when working with children with communication disorders.

Next, to further categorize these apps into specific speech and language therapy domains, we followed the Big Nine intervention domains from the American Speech-Language-Hearing Association [32]. The Big Nine domains include articulation, fluency, voice and resonance, receptive and expressive language, hearing, swallowing, cognitive aspects of communication, social aspects of communication, and communication modalities [32]. The final 5.6% (16/284) of selected apps had the most user reviews and covered multiple American Speech-Language-Hearing Association Big Nine domains in the areas of articulation, receptive and expressive language, social aspects of communication language, and communication modalities. These 16 chosen apps include 7 (44%) AAC apps (Multimedia Appendix 2) and 9 (56%) speech-language therapy apps (Multimedia Appendix 3).



Figure 1. A flowchart for app selection, app review extraction, and content analysis. AAC: augmentative and alternative communication.



App Review Extraction

To ensure that the 16 selected apps had adequate app reviews, we organized these apps from the most to the least number of web-based app reviews available for content analysis. We used a Really Simple Syndication feed generator provided by Apple and an automatic Python crawler developed by our research team, which enabled app reviews and other related information, such as review date, reviewer name, review title, and content, to be extracted and exported to the comma-separated values file format for the iOS apps selected in this study. We extracted a total of 721 app reviews from all 16 apps, with review dates ranging from 2009 to 2020.

After app review extraction, we first manually reviewed and excluded 42.2% (304/721) of the app reviews, including 8.3% (60/721) AAC app reviews and 33.8% (244/721) speech therapy app reviews. These reviews were excluded because they were too short, repetitive, written in languages other than English, or not applicable for pediatric speech therapy. We then conducted a content analysis of a total of 418 reviews, including 115 (27.5%) AAC reviews and 303 (72.5%) speech therapy app reviews, all with at least 20 words per review to ensure adequate

RenderX

content was included in each review (Figure 1). For the app *Articulation Station* and *Word Vault Essential*, only reviews from the free versions were included because of an insufficient number of reviews for the pro version compared with the free version (Multimedia Appendices 2 and 3). This is consistent with a prior research [19], which discovered that more reviews were written for free apps than for paid apps; as a result, apps in the games category, which are typically free, tend to receive the highest number of reviews compared with other app categories where apps more frequently must be purchased.

Qualitative Coding of App Reviews

This study used manual coding for app reviews; for manual coding to be effective, it is vital to have a coding system that provides clear definitions and examples when determining what should be classified under each code. Although discrepancies can occur during manual analysis, a coding guide is one way to help limit the number of times reviews will need to be looked at by multiple individuals. The research team consisted of one licensed SLP, YD, one graduate clinician, AT, and three remaining authors, SC, JV, and YL, who were licensed SLP assistants. The qualitative coding process involves several steps.

First, we used a subset of apps, including 19% (3/26) AAC apps (Proloquo2Go, GoTalk NOW, and Language Acquisition Motor Planning Words for Life [LAMP WFL]) and 19% (3/26) speech-language apps (Articulation Station, Language Empires, and Between the Lines Level 1 HD), the SLP and the graduate clinician generated initial codes using a deductive coding scheme from a prior interview study [16,33] and literature in universal design guidelines [33,34] and educational app evaluation heuristics [35]. After the initial codes were developed, the 3 SLP assistants coded the remaining reviews of the other apps and used the constant comparison method [36-38] to merge codes into broader categories and developed a codebook (Multimedia Appendix 4). Disagreements with content analysis were resolved using the negotiated agreement approach [39]. Individual codes in the codebook covered several areas including client characteristics (eg, age, type of disability, level of ability, and length of app use), clinician characteristics (eg, clinical setting, clinician location, clinician specialty, and length of app use), additional stakeholders (technical vs nontechnical personnel), clinical practice (eg, intervention area and domain, therapy goals and activities, workplace productivity, evidence-based practice, and research), app characteristics (eg, genre, content, use technique, and data management), device issues (eg, hardware vs software), usability issues (with a focus on control, error, aesthetics, customization, and accessibility), and recommendations (eg, app referral, suggestions for improvement, and feature requests). In addition, each app review was labeled when the review content specified the identity of an individual reviewer (eg, an SLP or a parent). In the next section, we discuss specific findings related to app content and features, usability and accessibility issues, and recommendations for future improvement mentioned by the users based on 2 genres of AAC and speech-language apps. Finally, we concluded by discussing multiple influential factors (eg, financial, sociocultural, ethical, and moral) that affect the implementation and use of both AAC apps and speech-language apps.

Results

App Characteristics: Content and Features, Usability, and Recommendations for AAC Apps

AAC App Content and Features

In this study, app reviews were coded based on information related to the app genre, app use technique, app content, and data management. For AAC apps, reviews were written by a range of critical stakeholders for children with communication disorders, including parents, SLPs, and AAC specialists, as well as AAC app users themselves. Identification of stakeholders was determined by the AAC reviews' content (eg, pronouns mentioned, explicitly self-identified role, or unique characteristics). A total of 112 stakeholders were identified in the AAC reviews. The number of app reviewers were classified into six specific categories. Of the 112 stakeholders, the top 3 stakeholder groups who reviewed AAC apps included 51 (45.5%) parents, 24 (21.4%) AAC users, and 18 (16.1%) SLPs. In contrast, of the 112 stakeholders, only 1 (0.9%) educator, 2 (1.8%) AAC specialists, and 16 (14.3%) unknown stakeholders

left app reviews. App reviewers were marked as unknown when there was insufficient information to identify which stakeholder group they were a part of.

Users of 56% (9/16) of AAC apps cover a wide age range, from toddlers to school-aged children and young adults. Users' characteristics include various different types of physical and communication-related disabilities (eg, autism, language delay, Down syndrome, cognitive impairments, and mutism). When reviewing the 9 AAC apps, app reviewers compared design features and app characteristics across AAC apps (eg, Proloquo2Go, Speak For Yourself, and TouchChat HD). For instance, reviewers praised the app Proloquo2Go for its popularity in educational settings across elementary, junior, and high schools. A parent of a 6-year-old nonverbal autistic son praised the *Proloquo2Go* app, saying that it brings "the power of communication and made it accessible to some of the most vulnerable people in society." Specifically, reviewers stated that AAC apps such as Proloquo2Go provide users the opportunity to use a list of core vocabulary words or high-frequency words (eg, want and more) in an "easy to add or rearrange" layout. Similarly, 10 reviews reported positive features, such as easy customization and personalization in the app LAMP WFL. Some individuals use the LAMP WFL app as a primary source of communication, whereas others use it to supplement other modes of primary communication modalities, such as sign languages. Unlike Prologuo2Go, LAMP WFL has a fixed display with static core words to support the user's motor planning. This facilitates an evidence-based approach for AAC intervention, which was reported to be beneficial by parents. One parent specifically stated the following:

I like that the buttons on the original page can't be changed/moved around like in other apps. It helps the child memorize the placement of the buttons, so less frustration.

AAC App Usability Issues

Despite these positive reviews, user complaints were also reported, including usability issues such as missing content (eg, lack of fringe vocabulary or low frequency words) or unsatisfying content in relation to the high cost of AAC apps. App reviewers also noted difficulties accessing AAC apps across different types of devices owing to a lack of compatibility. Consequently, we categorized these hardware issues under the Level 2 code device, which primarily looks at AAC app issues related to hardware and software. An example of how this affects AAC users is that if they need to transition to a new device (eg, after breaking their current device), previously programmed app content may be lost or abandoned. To address this concern, apps such as CoughDrop and GoTalk NOW offer cloud-based storage systems to connect to Wi-Fi automatically. During the COVID-19 pandemic, many clinicians who have used these speech-language therapy apps with their clients in settings such as schools and private practice clinics have transitioned into providing therapy services on the web. One SLP who specializes in AAC and assistive technology used CoughDrop via teletherapy and stated the following:

Through telepractice ST services, I work with students across state lines and this app allows me the ability

```
XSL•FO
```

to create and synchronize boards from the comfort of my home to students in other states. This past year after collecting data in the reports sent by the app, two of the districts I contracted with purchased life-time apps for three students on trial. So what makes it a Guru AAC App? It is cloud based, user friendly, one can use the picture library within the app, or use your own cam pictures or web pictures, not to mention the great 1:1 communication from its developers any time I have reached out to them.

Enabling cloud-based data management solutions for AAC apps reduces the burden of transferring AAC data for both users and their therapists, which is especially beneficial during teletherapy.

AAC app reviews highlighted usability issues primarily in critical areas of user errors, controls, aesthetics, customization, and accessibility (Table 1). A total of 69 AAC reviews were coded for usability issues. The most common user errors for AAC apps were related to issues such as navigation and controls (eg, scrolling), selection (eg, icons), and delays during app use (eg, importing photos). These errors led to increased user frustration that impacted the ability of children with communication disorders to engage in functional communication. Analysis of 56% (9/16) of AAC app reviews related to user errors highlighted the importance of improving vocabulary and message selection and increasing efficient navigation and control to offer timely communication experiences for users with disabilities. Some recommendations in the reviews included allowing users to choose photos and edit icons to add vocabulary. Other challenges related to user control were reported to affect users' ability to personalize and customize AAC apps. Some complaints and recommendations included updates that changed button placement that were previously learned, inability to increase low volume in noisy environments, fast pace of programmed speech rate, and lack

of personalization and inclusion of user-specific voice output for aesthetic purposes. App reviews for *Speak For Yourself* and *TouchChat HD* emphasized the lack of diversity in options from the voice bank that failed to make users feel represented via their own voices when using AAC systems. For example, one review left on *TouchChat HD* requested voices that could represent children rather than adults, and another reviewer for Proloquo2Go mentioned the following:

More subtle adjustment of pitch is required - I don't want to sound like a mickey mouse at the level above normal! The acapella female voices do need to improve.

These reviews reflected user needs for controlling and using high-quality synthesized speech to represent voice profiles for users across different age groups and genders.

In addition to AAC app users, other stakeholders have also experienced app malfunction when using the app, which interfered with their clinical practices while trying to gather accurate data. Clinicians have reported varying user challenges, such as the inability to control language and images that were considered inappropriate for certain individuals. App reviews also revealed differences in perspectives between SLPs and parents. For instance, the app LAMP WFL has 15 reviews from parents reporting dissatisfaction, such as AAC item images that they consider inappropriate for their children; clinicians and special education teachers reported more dissatisfaction regarding therapy target areas that could be addressed via this app and recommended more social content to be included. In addition, caregivers specifically emphasized the critical need to have the support of a knowledgeable clinician to successfully program the AAC system onto its designated device. A user who downloaded CoughDrop felt that programing this particular AAC app can be challenging "unless you have a therapist that's well versed in making changes."



Table 1. User reviews on usability issues and recommendations for augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) apps.

AAC app name	App usability		App recommendations	
	Characteristic	Review	Characteristic	Review
CoughDrop	Compatibility	"Half of the time the changes I make on ei- ther the computer or iPad do not stay changed. With it only doing a few features it should be a lot easier to navigate."	Programing	"Keep looking unless you have a therapist that's well versed in making changes I wouldn't bother with this."
TouchChat HD	User errors	"The only problem is that when I edit a button in one screen my changes affect ab- solutely unrelated button in another screen, which is obviously a bug."	Compatibility	"In the very least, if you purchased the \$300 iPad app, they should offer a credit for the same iPhone app."
Speak for yourself	Visual aesthetics	"Too many buttons. They don't make sense (e.g., 'little'/mouse picture goes to page with about a hundred flowers???? What is that about?!!!!!)."	Aesthetics	"If I could change three things, it would be the voices, the rigidity, and the grammar."
Tobii Dynavox com- pass connect	Efficiency	"It's been an hour since the app finished downloading and I STILL haven't been able to get started on it." "I downloaded it on my new iPad and when I try to open it, the wheel just spins and then it closes down."	Data storage	"Not [recommend] takes up [too] much storage takes forever to install."
LAMP WFL ^a	Customization	"However, the main drawback is that for a 12 -year -old, the app's vocabulary is severely lacking. There are not enough words. (For example the words blueberry and coyote are not in the vocabulary along with other words.)"	Volume	"My son loves this app but the vol- ume is kinda low. Today I put it on maximum volume but could barely hear him while driving. It's fine if your at home with no noise otherwise it's difficult to hear. Please fix."
Proloquo2Go	Navigation and con- trol	"The sensitivity on this app is extremely annoying. Just scrolling will cause a button to be pushed at random. It's quite annoying when you're trying to use this and random buttons are getting pushed not by you inten- tionally."	User errors	"My one problem is that it's too easy for her to get into edit mode and start deleting/editing or adding nonsense buttons. Could you please add a password option to get into edit mode?"
GoTalk NOW	Programing	"Go Talk Now is an easily programmable communication app for sure. Updating but- tons is quick and there are video guides to show how-to's of creating books, even a free lite version to trial it."	Data storage	"On my wish list for GTN is an easier way to backup communication books of more than 5 pages at a time for an iPad 2."

^aLAMP WFL: Language Acquisition Motor Planning Words for Life.

App Characteristics: Content and Features, Usability, and Recommendations for Speech-Language Apps

Overview

In contrast to AAC apps, a total of 188 App Store reviews for speech-language apps were written by 51 (27.1%) SLPs, 39 (20.7%) educators, 32 (17%) parents, 5 (2.7%) other professionals, and 61 (32.4%) unknown stakeholders. This distribution of stakeholders is likely because, in addition to parents who actively seek apps to help their children, SLPs are the primary users of these apps. In the reviews for speech-language apps, clinicians not only recommended app content and features that addressed their clients' needs but also provided app critiques so that the app designers and developers could improve apps to align with clinical practice guidelines for speech and language intervention. In the following section, we describe reviewer feedback related to content and features and usability issues in areas of user errors, aesthetics design, and desirable control and customization.

Articulation Apps

Articulation apps were reported to be used by children from ages 2 to 6 years, including individuals who, according to the reviews, have autism, speech delays, articulation disorders, and apraxia. The desirable content and features of these articulation apps focused on four key components: (1) include a variety of articulation targets speech sounds and corresponding letters, along with a plethora of target words; (2) offer consistent verbal models and opportunities for high volumes of repetition; (3) enable the selection of speech sound targets based on the ability level of a client (eg, sounds in isolation, in all word positions, and at the sentence level); and (4) allow clients to progress at multiple linguistic hierarchy levels by following the development of phoneme acquisition and evidence-based practice guidelines. For example, clinicians especially enjoyed the function of recording voice production and data tracking in the app Articulation Station, as it offers direct feedback for children with communication disorders to improve perception of their own speech production. One SLP stated in the review that "the students love the record function and it is useful for

them to hear back their own productions." Clinicians also commented that having the data collection and tracking functions help them save time and allow them to compare data across multiple sessions to measure overall therapy progress. In addition, reviewers commented that picture-card apps such as *Word Vault Essential* are convenient and portable for use with various clients for multiple therapy goals beyond articulation and phonology, as some of the word lists can be used to target language and pragmatic intervention. In addition to SLPs, educators (eg, teachers and reading specialists) and parents also left reviews for these speech therapy apps, and parents especially praised that these articulation apps could be incorporated multiple times daily outside speech therapy sessions at school and, therefore, become a supplement to help complete speech therapy exercises at home.

In terms of usability, there were 11 reviews that praised the aesthetic design of apps, such as the Lively Letters-Phonics app and stated that the app content was stored in a "neat, organized fashion" and that the in-app activities were "visually appealing, clear, and fun;" 2 recent reviews from July 2020 specifically mentioned that the app Lively Letters-Phonics was "a huge help during remote learning with the ability to use the lively letters on screen" in the pandemic context it was "so easy to use with Zoom meetings. The students were engaged and the activities helped to keep the lesson moving." A total of 21 reviewers, mostly SLP clinicians, raised concerns regarding the app Speech Blubs: Language Therapy and its poor animation, incorrect pronunciations, inconsistent and low volume of sounds, and unnatural quality in voice recordings when computer-generated artificial speech is used instead of human voice recordings. One SLP raised a specific concern about the Speech Blubs: Language Therapy app by questioning the evidence-based design within the app, as well as the validity of parent reviews:

I am a speech-language pathologist. I was quite interested in this app to use in sessions and for parents to use at home. After looking through it, I wouldn't recommend it and am surprised other therapists do recommend it. First off, it really does not follow developmental speech milestones. It seems random to me and is not consistent with anything I do with children who are diagnosed with delays of expressive language, receptive language, apraxia, autism etc. Furthermore, from most of the reviews I read, it seems most parents are using this for their toddlers to develop language and first words. This app does not follow the typical developmental milestones of speech. It should start with early developing sounds to the early developing consonant-vowel combinations mixed with age appropriate play and functional communication words. I am sure that initially, children will say a few new words or sounds just from the novelty of the app (which occurs in speech therapy as well). However, I would like to hear from these parents after a month or so to see if progress continues or if they see some initial progress, wrote a positive review, then progress plateaus and they just cancel the subscription and forget about it. Because here's the thing, I feel like

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e28661

the majority of what I do with young children who aren't talking, is teaching parents how to play with their children with real toys, teaching how to securely attach (bond) with your child through play (no screens!), and how to elicit language during play. Children already get too much screen time and need to be interacting with and playing with real people and real toys. We need to be following developmental milestones with real play and interactions to build language and attachment together because communication is purely social so it needs to be done socially- not on their own with an app. This app will lead to mimicry but likely not lead to functional communication. This is my professional opinion. It appears other therapists find some merit in it (were they compensated for their reviews?) but I do not see how this could lead to functional communication and do not feel it should be called a speech therapy app.

Reviewers also complained about the app *Word Vault Essential* and reported incidents of erased data, frequent errors, too many advertisements, and incomplete content information, all of which affected user experiences for both clients and clinicians. Across all articulation apps, reviewers identified four usability issues and recommended the following user control and customization features: (1) enable selection of speech sound targets based on the client's ability level (eg, sounds in isolation, in all word positions, and at the sentence level); (2) allow pause and resume content to meet the clients' own pace; (3) hide certain visual stimuli (eg, junk food, rifles, and mythological characters) from younger children; and (4) integrate the use of games and reward systems to increase client engagement. These issues related to control, error, and customization were present in 21 reviews.

Receptive, Expressive, and Social Language Apps

Receptive, expressive, and social language apps were reported to be used by different age groups of users, including students in kindergarten, elementary, middle, and high school with autism, Asperger, and communication disorders spanning varying domains (eg, articulation, fluency, language, and social communication). For example, 1 SLP reported using the app ChatterPix Kids with students who have cochlear implants or hearing aids to encourage oral communication, although this app is not specifically designed for children with hearing impairments. Another SLP wrote a review for ConversationBuilder stating the following about the app:

A wonderful tool to use with my ASD students...what an amazing tool it is for facilitating other speech needs in a more spontaneous and naturalistic way: especially for my students with fluency issues...Also amazing for carryover of articulation and other expressive language needs.

Reviews of these language apps came from multiple adult stakeholders such as SLPs, educators, and parents, and they commented that apps such as *Language Empires*, *ConversationBuilder*, and *ChatterPix Kids* were easy to use by professional educators and clinicians as well as by caregivers (eg, parents). As versatile as articulation apps, these language apps can be used with clients with mixed language ability levels

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

via individual or group therapy in schools, clinics, and at home. Specifically, these apps were used to target various language goals (eg, vocabulary development, semantic relationship, sentence production, story retell, conversation expansion, and turn-taking), as well as social pragmatic skills (eg, listening to intonations, inferencing figurative speech, reading body language in social scenarios, and sequencing social stories). Reviewers also shared that apps such as *ChatterPix Kids* are customizable with individualized pictures and voices, allowing endless possibilities for creative play (eg, making a skit with multiple people and making videos to express feelings) in addition to promoting communication via listening and speaking.

Language app reviewers described the following desirable content and features: (1) ability to integrate web-based data collection; (2) ability to record and replay answers for users to identify correct and incorrect responses; (3) ability to allow users to choose the level of difficulty in clinical practice; (4) ability to allow users to import and upload their own photos and videos to differentiate between fiction and nonfiction concepts; (5) ability to allow users to save and email conversations generated through app use to reinforce skill use from home to school; (6) ability to provide more concrete differentiations for answer choices; and (7) ability to use reward systems (eg, trophies) as motivators to attend to and complete tasks. In reviews for the Social Detective app, one reviewer commented that the app "follows the concepts in from the book and asks the user to make a smart guess using their social tool boxes about different social behaviors and interactions" suggesting this app has been used in conjunction with a physical companion workbook based on the Social Thinking curriculum to reinforce student learning. However, owing to limited content, 4 reviews consisted of requests for more up-to-date content in the Social Detective app's video modules and specifically highlighted the need to diversify characters with more people of color in video modules to take on various character roles (eg, engaging in expected and unexpected behaviors). In addition

Du et al

to such features, users also requested automated reading features, despite the fact that many of these apps were designed to be used by children with adult assistance. In a review of the *ConversationBuilder* app, one English-as-a-second-language teacher in the elementary school commented the following:

One thing that would improve this app is if the language choices were read aloud by the iPad so that non-readers could access the app independent of a peer or adult who can do the reading.

Another parent also commented that she hopes that her 4-year-old daughter would be able to:

Touch the screen and hear the sentences. I am fine reading to my daughter but would like her to try reading on her own and getting hints if she needs them.

In terms of usability issues across 3 language apps (Between the Lines, Level 1 HD, and ChatterPix Kids), user errors were commonly seen with reports of the inability to save, email, and print the data of incidents of accidental removal or deletion of the data by the app. Clinicians suggested the following control and customization features across all the language apps: (1) customize controls to turn on or off background scenes to minimize visually distracting illustrations; (2) adjust sound effects for correct versus incorrect responses; (3) allow adequate response time for users; and (4) remove inappropriate slang and random reinforcers. It is worth mentioning that the adult stakeholder group had mixed reviews for the app ChatterPix Kids. Although one reviewer (identity unknown) stated that the app is "a perfect way to let the kids create fun stories in a safe and child friendly environment," another teacher warned parents that the app is not appropriate for children as user-generated video contents can easily contain profanity. Although not directly impacting usability, these mixed reviews highlighted additional user needs around content moderation and monitoring in these speech-language apps (Table 2).



Table 2. Feature requests and recommendation from speech-language app reviews.

Intervention domain	Feature requests and recommendation	Sample quotes from reviewers
Articulation apps (Articulation Station, Lively Letters-Phonics, Speech Blubs: Language Therapy; and Word Vault Essential)	 Add letters and a plethora of target words Offer consistent verbal models and a high-volume repetition Allow voice recordings for self-monitoring of own production Able to collect, track, and compare data Follow developmental milestones and evidence-based practice (eg, multiple linguistic hierarchy levels, and phonological processes) 	 Articulation Station: "It's easy to use, has a plethora of target words to choose from, includes multiple linguistic hierarchy levels for students to practice their targeted sound at, and it even has a record and play back button for students to work on self monitoring and correcting." Lively Letters-Phonics: "I'm a mom of two. One stronger reader and one weaker. They both LOVE this app! With letter sound stories, music, games and an opportunity to practice reading and spelling wordsI will NEVER go back to flash cards again!" Speech Blubs: Language Therapy: "This app does not follow the typical developmental milestones of speech. It should start with early developing sounds to the early developing consonant-vowel combinations mixed with age appropriate play and functional communication words." Word Vault Essential: "Would have been nice to know the app would erase all my students' data the day I decided not to continue the subscription. Trying to write IEPs and all profiles are gone."
Receptive, expressive, and social language apps (Language Empires, Conversation Builder, ChatterPix Kids, Social Detective, Between the Lines Level 1 HD)	 Integrate web-based data collection Ability to record and replay client answers Allow users to import individualized photos and voices Add reward systems (eg, trophies) as motivators Improve video and audio quality Reduce aversive sound effects Customize controls (eg, enable on or off) based on individual clients' needs 	 Language Empires: "I use this app with my high school students. Before my students check their answers I have them explain their reasons for their choices. My students especially enjoy the vocabulary, why, inference and predicting sections. The data collection is perfect for IEP goal updates." ConversationBuilder: "The different levels are helpful. Some students need the multiple choices of level one. Other students are ready for open-ended conversation turns. It is so interesting to compare the responses of my students with ASD to students who do not have difficulty with conversation." ChatterPix Kids: "It helps my class because we are doing writing on animals and we are using the app to sharereports on our animals. It is also fun to play with friends on the app. But, one thing I'd change though would be to have more time to say what you want to say." Social Detective: "The only criticism is that the sound effect for correct responses is aversive to some kids I know. They stopped playing the app because of the sound." Between the Lines Level 1 HD: "One minor complaint I have is found within game mode. The child has no control over the aiming of the item used to throw and whilst this may remove frustration for some children, it causes great frustration for others. I would recommend a control feature to allow an "on or off" for this area based on the individual needs of the child."

Influential Factors for AAC and Speech-Language Apps

User feedback on both AAC and speech-language apps highlighted multiple influential factors shaping the perceptions and attitudes toward the apps. These factors include financial factors (eg, cost and pricing models), sociocultural factors (eg, multilingual capability and inclusive design in-app content), and ethical factors (eg, related to inclusive design). All AAC app users complained about the cost of the apps, except for the AAC app CoughDrop. In contrast to other AAC apps, which use a one-time app purchase of several hundred dollars, CoughDrop implemented a subscription-based model of US \$6/month, which offered an alternative pricing model for AAC apps. This pricing model may have reduced the initial purchase cost burden for the users. AAC app users commented that, compared with other genres and categories of apps on the Apple App Store, the App Store lacks diversity on multiple devices despite the high cost. Users for some AAC apps (eg, Speak For Yourself, LAMP WFL, and Tobii Dynavox Compass Connect)

RenderX

have commented that these apps are priced too high given their limited customization or personalization capabilities (eg, Speak for Yourself). Other critiques include the argument that some apps demand too much time and storage to install (eg, Tobii *Dynavox Compass Connect*). With the change to a new Apple App Store design, more campaigns for specific apps have been featured, including apps for accessibility and health purposes. These likely made discounts more visible compared with before. For example, 1 user of LAMP WFL shared that "Last year iTunes offered this app half off on Autism Awareness Day." App reviews for speech and language apps have relatively fewer complaints related to cost, which is likely owing to the different types of pricing models available. In contrast to AAC apps, which can cost nearly US \$300, the most expensive speech-language app is less than US \$50 for a one-time purchase. In addition, many apps offered free and pro versions. Speech Blubs: Language Therapy was the only app that used a US \$9.99/month subscription-based model after a 7-day free trial. However, some users complained that their monthly subscription was charged for the whole year, whereas others

commented that they were unable to afford the price during the COVID-19 pandemic. App users also reported mixed sentiment and contrasting perceptions regarding pricing for different speech-language apps (eg, *Word Vault Essential, Lively Letters-Phonics*). User perception of pricing is closely related to the amount and quality of app content, as users of apps such as *Social Detective* and *Articulation Station* both expressed their desire to have more content (eg, sound stimuli and video modules) for better replay ability and repeated use.

In addition to these financial factors, some user comments addressed factors related to cultural–linguistic diversity and ethical design for children. For example, reviewers for *Articulation Station* commented that the apps designed for younger learners should use age-appropriate words and eliminate certain images (eg, rifles and guns) to minimize exposure to violent content. One *LAMP WFL* user commented that "the Spanish vocabulary is a wonderful addition," whereas another user of *Proloquo2Go* complained that:

Given the developers are from the Netherlands, I am surprised there is no Dutch language voice - only American, British and Indian English voices are available at present (although I would like to see more children's voices available in all these versions).

One reviewer for the speech-language app *Social Detective* stated that:

I work with primarily African-American students, so I find it troubling that the only person of color featured in the initial segment (16 video clips) of the app is an African-American tween male engaged in arguably the most overt "unexpected" behavior of all the children featured in the video clips within that segment. Perhaps I'm being too sensitive, but it strikes me as a subtle perpetuation of racial stereotypes.

Although such a report was only found in 1 review, it highlights the importance of inclusive design in app content for users from diverse cultural and ethnic backgrounds.

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study is one of the first to examine publicly available user reviews of speech-language therapy apps for children with communication disorders in the Apple App Store. Based on the analysis of a total of 418 reviews extracted across 16 apps written between 2009 and 2020, this study explored app content and features, as well as usability challenges related to both AAC apps and speech-language apps. Investigating user reviews regarding speech-language therapy apps informs app designers and developers who are interested in creating mobile apps for children with communication disorders that meet specific user needs and challenges. It also helps connect designers and developers with clinical recommendations based on SLPs' evaluation of app qualities while working with children with communication disorders from a wide range of age groups and abilities. User reviews differ across the two genres of apps, with AAC apps being reported to have more issues with usability and speech therapy apps having more requests for additional

app features to enhance clinical practice. Analysis of different stakeholder perspectives using AAC app reviews indicated that AAC apps gave users the ability to increase their communicative output. App reviewers praised AAC apps for giving their children a voice and the ability to interact with others, but also expressed that they would like to see improvements in app usability and accessibility. AAC app designers and developers should acknowledge features related to usability (eg, navigation and control) and appeal (eg, layout) and should focus on creating ease of learning, as well as programing and customization with compatibility across multiple hardware devices and systems (eg, mobile to desktop).

Reviews for speech-language apps also pointed to positive app content and features, as well as issues in usability for both children with communication disorders and their stakeholders. Primary complaints for speech-language apps were reported in areas of usability (eg, navigation and control and software and hardware compatibility) and appeal (eg, visual and audio features). Features such as child-friendly content and customization are highly preferred. Reviewers praised speech-language apps that followed evidence-based design practice guidelines and developmental milestones (eg, Lively Letters-Phonics), as well as apps that were available as supplementary companions to nondigital therapy materials (eg, Social Detective). Speech-language apps have dynamic visual features that make the apps engaging and entertaining for children to participate in speech therapy activities. As a result, these apps offered children pleasant experiences while completing speech activities at home as a carryover practice. In contrast, some apps (eg, Speech Blubs: Language Therapy and Word Vault Essential) were criticized owing to a lack of evidence-based design considerations in the app content. Therefore, it is highly recommended that speech-language app designers and developers consider collaborating with SLPs to implement developmentally appropriate app design practices [40] that are used during therapy sessions to align app features with evidence-based design.

The findings from this study contribute new insights regarding user experiences with different AAC apps and speech-language apps across multiple stakeholders (eg, parents, special education teachers, and clinicians). App Store reviews from different stakeholders further reinforced findings from prior ethnographic research that children with communication disorders interact with various assistive, educational, and even game apps as "a larger ecology of speech tools, including interactive games and apps" [13]. As many children with communication disorders are unable to communicate their needs directly owing to communication disorders, these reviews offer insight from and highlight the importance of adult stakeholders from the circle of care of children with communication disorders. These stakeholders not only share the use of apps, but also benefit from these apps as they support therapy intervention and home exercises outside the conventional therapy environments. Many recommendations in app reviews were specifically provided by parents and SLPs who thoughtfully explained their children and clients' individualized needs across a range of communication areas. For parents, speech-language apps offer direct understanding regarding the therapy activities that their children

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

can participate in to improve in different areas of communication (eg, articulation, language, and social pragmatics). Specific app features, such as data collection and visualization of progress across time frames (eg, day-to-day and month-to-month), provide parents with structured support to reinforce traditional therapy practices. Similarly, clinicians find value in tracking data within and across sessions, especially when working with clients who have different articulation and language goals. For SLPs, digitized speech-language apps also offer a greater portability across different settings compared with traditional paper-based therapy materials. As many apps can help increase engagement with therapy in children with communication disorders, clinicians are motivated to use speech apps as a dynamic way of teaching and targeting various goals. In addition, school-based SLPs have limited time with their clients and, therefore, often group clients with different types of disorders and levels of ability together. Apps that have the ability to collect data from clients (eg, Language Empires, Between the Lines Level 1 HD, and Articulation Station) and send data via emails for parents to view help bridge the home-school disconnect between different members of a child's care circle. For app designers and developers, it is critical to evaluate these multi-stakeholder considerations in the app design and development process to support functional therapy activities across home, educational, and medical settings [41]. These user insights can be beneficial for app designers and developers to develop additional content and features that support clients who receive speech therapy better.

This study also compared multiple influential factors related to both AAC and speech-language apps. It was reported that many individuals who rely on AAC apps to communicate experience financial burdens when purchasing and maintaining the ongoing use of AAC apps, as nearly all AAC apps had user reviews related to the financial factors of app purchase and use. Speech-language therapy apps are typically offered as free or as paid pro versions, with only the Speech Blubs: Language Therapy not offering a free version (after a 7-day trial) and operating on a subscription-based pricing model. On the basis of these different pricing models across all apps, app designers and developers may need to attend to other marketing decisions across different revenue models, such as offering one-time purchases (eg, Proloquo2Go and TouchChat HD), subscription-based models (eg, CoughDrop and Speech Blubs: Language Therapy), or free versus paid versions. In addition, app reviews also revealed issues with a lack of representation of cultural and linguistic diversity in app content and the need for more consideration of inclusive design, an area that warrants additional research in the mHealth literature in general. Specifically, reviewers indicated that app content did not represent characters or linguistic variations from a variety of cultural and ethnic groups; as a result, individuals with linguistic variations and from minority groups can be marginalized by being unrepresented. It is important to note that only very few prior mHealth literature have considered the impact that cultural background can have on app user experiences. The latest research by Guzman et al [26] attempted to investigate cultural differences by looking for correlations between certain cultural backgrounds and various features of App Store reviews. Researchers have reported that sentiment, content, rating, and

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e28661

length differ at the country level and that these reviews follow specific cultural patterns. App designers and developers need to be sensitive to variations in cultural and linguistic patterns to design accessible and inclusive AAC and speech-language apps for children with communication disorders.

Limitations

This study has several limitations that could be addressed in future research. First, although many apps have both iOS and Android versions, we only reviewed iOS apps owing to the high adoption of mobile devices (eg, the iPad) in the field of speech-language pathology. Second, as the goal of the study is to capture user insights from all app reviews over the period of the app's history, the app analysis focused primarily on review content and did not specifically track or categorize app content and features mentioned in the review over different app versions. Third, we did not conduct any analysis with the star rating of each review, which may offer additional quantitative evaluation for app reviews. Fourth, many app reviewer identities remained unknown, as the reviewers did not disclose personal information (eg, whether they are an SLP or a parent) in their review. Therefore, we were unable to infer the backgrounds of all the people who wrote the reviews. Fifth, for speech-language apps, we only reviewed free versions to obtain more reviews; however, given that free versions are limited in the content offering compared with pro versions, this may contribute to the large distribution of reviews that include complaints about financial barriers and lack of comprehensive content. Sixth, this study only included clinician-recommended apps and likely neglected apps that are primarily used by caregivers and parents, who are also important stakeholders in their children's speech and language development. Finally, despite our prior research indicating that clinicians use apps with their clients, clinicians' app use does not necessarily indicate that these apps are empirically supported by research.

Conclusions

Even with the vast number of iOS mobile apps for children with special needs, few research studies have investigated user insights regarding speech-language therapy apps designed for children with communication disorders. Owing to their communication disorders, the user experiences of children with communication disorders can be difficult to obtain and collect directly; however, analyses of App Store reviews from different stakeholders around the circle of care of children with communication disorders offers valuable information to researchers about specific app features that can support the communication development of children with communication disorders; the analyses also highlights usability issues that can be improved to reduce the frustration of children with communication disorders while using mobile apps. To our knowledge, this is the first study to analyze publicly available App Store reviews from different stakeholders (eg, SLPs, parents, and special educators) to examine pediatric speech-language therapy apps for children with communication disorders. These findings contribute to the understanding of desirable app content and features as well as the usability and accessibility issues with both AAC apps and speech-language apps. App reviews also revealed influential factors that highlight

XSL•FO RenderX

ongoing financial, sociocultural, and ethical and moral considerations for app design and development for children with communication disorders who need speech therapy. This study took place during the COVID-19 global pandemic, which resulted in lockdowns in many schools and clinics, preventing face-to-face therapy and resulted in more children with communication disorders learning from home with their caregivers. As many providers have transitioned to the use of remote learning and teletherapy, App Store reviews revealed

that many of these speech therapy apps have supported different stakeholders, such as SLPs and parents, during remote learning and teletherapy. Future research should seek to develop in-depth analysis from these App Store reviews and evaluate individual app content and features to generate design insights that can best support communication through different types of service modalities, including teletherapy, in children with communication disorders.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge Ms Karen P Hollman and Mr Brandon Jia Ying Lei for assisting with the app review crawler, Ms Kirstin Abigail Caspe Catapang and Ms Natalie Nazareno for their help with data analysis, and Dr Sue Ann Lee and Dr Elena Mazza for their valuable input in the final version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Interviewees and mobile apps they use. [XLSX File (Microsoft Excel File), 300 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e28661_app1.xlsx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 A list of 7 augmentative and alternative communication apps. [DOCX File , 501 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e28661_app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 A list of 9 speech-language therapy apps. [DOCX File , 495 KB - pediatrics v5i1e28661 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Codebook for app store review. [DOCX File , 22 KB - pediatrics v5i1e28661 app4.docx]

References

- 1. Edwards J, Dukhovny E. Technology training in speech-language pathology: a focus on tablets and apps. Perspect ASHA SIGs 2017 Jan;2(10):33-48. [doi: 10.1044/persp2.sig10.33]
- Furlong L, Morris M, Serry T, Erickson S. Mobile apps for treatment of speech disorders in children: an evidence-based analysis of quality and efficacy. PLoS One 2018 Aug 9;13(8):e0201513 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0201513] [Medline: 30092095]
- 3. Muñoz ML, Hoffman LM, Brimo D. Be smarter than your phone: a framework for using apps in clinical practice. CICSD 2013 Oct;40(Fall):138-150. [doi: 10.1044/cicsd 40 f 138]
- 4. Allen AA, Shane HC. Autism spectrum disorders in the era of mobile technologies: impact on caregivers. Dev Neurorehabil 2014 Apr;17(2):110-114. [doi: 10.3109/17518423.2014.882425] [Medline: 24694311]
- 5. Shane HC, Blackstone S, Vanderheiden G, Williams M, DeRuyter F. Using AAC technology to access the world. Assist Technol 2011 Mar;24(1):3-13. [doi: 10.1080/10400435.2011.648716] [Medline: 22590795]
- Ballard KJ, Etter NM, Shen S, Monroe P, Tan CT. Feasibility of automatic speech recognition for providing feedback during tablet-based treatment for apraxia of speech plus aphasia. Am J Speech Lang Pathol 2019 Jul 15;28(2S):818-834. [doi: 10.1044/2018 AJSLP-MSC18-18-0109] [Medline: 31306595]
- Heyman N. Identifying features of apps to support using evidence-based language intervention with children. Assist Technol 2020 Nov 01;32(6):306-316. [doi: 10.1080/10400435.2018.1553078] [Medline: 30570449]
- Duval J, Rubin Z, Segura E, Friedman N, Zlatanov M, Yang L, et al. SpokeIt: building a mobile speech therapy experience. In: Proceedings of the 20th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services. 2018 Presented at: MobileHCI '18: 20th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services; September 3 - 6, 2018; Barcelona Spain p. 1-12. [doi: 10.1145/3229434.3229484]

- Ahmed B, Monroe P, Hair A, Tan CT, Gutierrez-Osuna R, Ballard KJ. Speech-driven mobile games for speech therapy: user experiences and feasibility. Int J Speech Lang Pathol 2018 Oct 09:1-15. [doi: <u>10.1080/17549507.2018.1513562</u>] [Medline: <u>30301384</u>]
- Hair A, Monroe P, Ahmed B, Ballard K, Gutierrez-Osuna R. Apraxia world: a speech therapy game for children with speech sound disorders. In: Proceedings of the 17th ACM Conference on Interaction Design and Children. 2018 Presented at: IDC '18: Interaction Design and Children; June 19 - 22, 2018; Trondheim Norway p. 119-131. [doi: 10.1145/3202185.3202733]
- 11. Boyd LE, Ringland KE, Haimson OL, Fernandez H, Bistarkey M, Hayes GR. Evaluating a collaborative ipad game's impact on social relationships for children with autism spectrum disorder. ACM Transactions on Accessible Computing (TACCESS) 2015 Jun 09;7(1):1-18. [doi: 10.1145/2751564]
- Rubin Z, Kurniawan S. Speech adventure: using speech recognition for cleft speech therapy. In: Proceedings of the 6th International Conference on PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments. 2013 Presented at: PETRA '13: The 6th International Conference on PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments; May 29 - 31, 2013; Rhodes Greece p. 1-4. [doi: 10.1145/2504335.2504373]
- 13. Meryl A. Giving Voice: Mobile Communication, Disability, and Inequality. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press; 2017.
- Ibrahim S, Vasalou A, Clarke M. Design opportunities for AAC and children with severe speech and physical impairments. In: Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2018 Presented at: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; April 21-26, 2018; Montreal, Canada p. 1-13. [doi: 10.1145/3173574.3173801]
- 15. Yao D. Unpacking meaningful play in the clinical context: mobile app use between children with disabilities and their speech language pathologists. In: Proceedings of the 2018 International Academic Conference on Meaningful Play. 2018 Presented at: International Academic Conference on Meaningful Play; Oct 11-13, 2018; East Lansing, MI, USA p. 114-131 URL: https://www.monmouth.edu/directory/profiles/yadu/
- 16. Du Y, Tekinbas K. Bridging the gap in mobile interaction design for children with disabilities: perspectives from a pediatric speech language pathologist. Int J Child-Comput Interact 2020 Jun;23-24:100152. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijcci.2019.100152]
- 17. Sezgin E, Noritz G, Elek A, Conkol K, Rust S, Bailey M, et al. Capturing at-home health and care information for children with medical complexity using voice interactive technologies: multi-stakeholder viewpoint. J Med Internet Res 2020 Feb 13;22(2):e14202 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/14202] [Medline: 32053114]
- Guzman E, Maalej W. How do users like this feature? A fine grained sentiment analysis of app reviews. In: Proceedings of the IEEE 22nd International Requirements Engineering Conference (RE). 2014 Presented at: IEEE 22nd International Requirements Engineering Conference (RE); Aug. 25-29, 2014; Karlskrona, Sweden p. 153-162. [doi: 10.1109/re.2014.6912257]
- 19. Pagano D, Maalej W. User feedback in the appstore: an empirical study. In: Proceedings of the 21st IEEE International Requirements Engineering Conference (RE). 2013 Presented at: 21st IEEE International Requirements Engineering Conference (RE); July 15-19, 2013; Rio de Janeiro, Brazil p. 125-134. [doi: 10.1109/re.2013.6636712]
- 20. Khalid H, Shihab E, Nagappan M, Hassan AE. What do mobile app users complain about? IEEE Softw 2015 May;32(3):70-77. [doi: 10.1109/MS.2014.50]
- Fu B, Lin J, Li L, Faloutsos C, Hong J, Sadeh N. Why people hate your app: making sense of user feedback in a mobile app store. In: Proceedings of the 19th ACM SIGKDD international conference on Knowledge discovery and data mining. 2013 Presented at: KDD' 13: The 19th ACM SIGKDD International Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining; August 11 - 14, 2013; Chicago Illinois USA p. 1276-1284. [doi: 10.1145/2487575.2488202]
- 22. Panichella S, Sorbo A, Guzman E, Visaggio C, Canfora G, Gall H. How can I improve my app? Classifying user reviews for software maintenance and evolution. In: Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Software Maintenance and Evolution (ICSME). 2015 Presented at: IEEE International Conference on Software Maintenance and Evolution (ICSME); Sept. 29 Oct. 1, 2015; Bremen, Germany p. 281-290. [doi: 10.1109/icsm.2015.7332474]
- Stawarz K, Preist C, Tallon D, Wiles N, Coyle D. User experience of cognitive behavioral therapy apps for depression: an analysis of app functionality and user reviewsuser experience of cognitive behavioral therapy apps for depression: an analysis of app functionality and user reviews. J Med Internet Res 2018 Jun 06;20(6):e10120 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/10120] [Medline: 29875087]
- 24. Gao C, Zeng J, Xia X, Lo L, Lyu M, King I. Automating app review response generation. In: Proceedings of the 34th IEEE/ACM International Conference on Automated Software Engineering (ASE). 2019 Presented at: 34th IEEE/ACM International Conference on Automated Software Engineering (ASE); Nov. 11-15, 2019; San Diego, CA, USA. [doi: 10.1109/ase.2019.00025]
- 25. Martin W, Harman M, Jia Y, Sarro F, Zhang Y. The app sampling problem for app store mining. In: Proceedings of the IEEE/ACM 12th Working Conference on Mining Software Repositories. 2015 Presented at: IEEE/ACM 12th Working Conference on Mining Software Repositories; May 16-17, 2015; Florence, Italy. [doi: 10.1109/msr.2015.19]
- Guzman E, Guzman L, Steiner Y, Wagner L, Glinz M. User feedback in the app store: a cross-cultural study. In: Proceedings of the 40th International Conference on Software Engineering: Software Engineering in Society. 2018 Presented at: ICSE '18: 40th International Conference on Software Engineering; May 27 June 3, 2018; Gothenburg Sweden p. 13-22. [doi: 10.1145/3183428.3183436]

Du et al

- 27. Torres-Carazo M, Rodríguez-Fórtiz M, Hurtado M. Analysis and review of apps and serious games on mobile devices intended for people with visual impairment. In: Proceedings of the IEEE International Conference on Serious Games and Applications for Health (SeGAH). 2016 Presented at: IEEE International Conference on Serious Games and Applications for Health (SeGAH); May 11-13, 2016; Orlando, FL, USA p. 1-8. [doi: 10.1109/segah.2016.7586263]
- 28. Shen N, Levitan M, Johnson A, Bender JL, Hamilton-Page M, Jadad AA, et al. Finding a depression app: a review and content analysis of the depression app marketplace. JMIR mHealth and uHealth 2015 Feb;3(1):e16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3713] [Medline: 25689790]
- Torous J, Nicholas J, Larsen ME, Firth J, Christensen H. Clinical review of user engagement with mental health smartphone apps: evidence, theory and improvements. Evid Based Ment Health 2018 Aug 05;21(3):116-119. [doi: 10.1136/eb-2018-102891] [Medline: 29871870]
- 30. Vaezipour A, Campbell J, Theodoros D, Russell T. Mobile apps for speech-language therapy in adults with communication disorders: review of content and quality. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Oct 29;8(10):e18858. [doi: 10.2196/18858]
- 31. Gosnell J, Costello J, Shane H. Using a clinical approach to answer "What Communication Apps Should We Use?". Perspect Augment Alternat Commun 2011 Sep;20(3):87-96. [doi: 10.1044/aac20.3.87]
- 32. SLP education summit glossary. American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (ASHA). 2021. URL: <u>https://www.asha.org/events/slp-summit-glossary/</u> [accessed 2021-12-22]
- 33. Pinelle D, Wong N, Stach T. Heuristic evaluation for games: usability principles for video games design. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2008 Presented at: CHI '08: CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; April 5 10, 2008; Florence Italy p. 1453-1462. [doi: 10.1145/1357054.1357282]
- 34. Byrne K. Universal principles of design: 100 ways to enhance usability, influence perception, increase appeal, make better design decisions, and teach through design. Inform Design J 2006 Jul 7;14(2):185-186. [doi: 10.1075/idj.14.2.11byr]
- 35. Callaghan MN, Reich SM. Are educational preschool apps designed to teach? An analysis of the app market. Learn Media Technol 2018 Aug 09;43(3):280-293. [doi: 10.1080/17439884.2018.1498355]
- 36. Dye J, Schatz I, Rosenberg B, Coleman S. Constant comparison method: a kaleidoscope of data. Qual Rep 2015 Feb 2:1-9. [doi: 10.46743/2160-3715/2000.2090]
- 37. Leech NL, Onwuegbuzie AJ. Beyond constant comparison qualitative data analysis: using NVivo. Sch Psychol Q 2011 Mar;26(1):70-84. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0022711</u>]
- 38. Memon S, Umrani S, Pathan H. Application of constant comparison method in social sciences: a useful technique to analyze interviews. J Grassroot 2017;51(1):152-165 [FREE Full text]
- 39. Garrison D, Cleveland-Innes M, Koole M, Kappelman J. Revisiting methodological issues in transcript analysis: negotiated coding and reliability. Internet High Edu 2006 Jan;9(1):1-8. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.iheduc.2005.11.001</u>]
- 40. Niksch AL. mHealth in pediatrics-finding healthcare solutions for the next generation. Mhealth 2015;1:7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2306-9740.2015.03.09] [Medline: 28293567]
- 41. Morse SS, Murugiah MK, Soh YC, Wong TW, Ming LC. Mobile health applications for pediatric care: review and comparison. Ther Innov Regul Sci 2018 May 30;52(3):383-391. [doi: 10.1177/2168479017725557] [Medline: 29714538]

Abbreviations

AAC: augmentative and alternative communication LAMP WFL: Language Acquisition Motor Planning Words for Life SLP: speech-language pathologist

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 10.03.21; peer-reviewed by R Pitt, Y Lin, S D'Arcy; comments to author 20.04.21; revised version received 09.10.21; accepted 01.11.21; published 21.01.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Du Y, Choe S, Vega J, Liu Y, Trujillo A Listening to Stakeholders Involved in Speech-Language Therapy for Children With Communication Disorders: Content Analysis of Apple App Store Reviews JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e28661 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e28661</u> doi:10.2196/28661 PMID:<u>35060912</u>

©Yao Du, Sarah Choe, Jennifer Vega, Yusa Liu, Adrienne Trujillo. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 21.01.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction

in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Using Wearable Cameras to Categorize the Type and Context of Screen-Based Behaviors Among Adolescents: Observational Study

George Thomas^{1,2*}, PhD; Jason A Bennie^{2*}, PhD; Katrien De Cocker^{2,3*}, PhD; Fitria Dwi Andriyani^{2,4*}, MOr; Bridget Booker^{5*}, BA; Stuart J H Biddle^{2*}, PhD

¹School of Allied Health, Curtin University, Bentley, Australia

²Centre for Health Research, University of Southern Queensland, Springfield Central, Australia

³Department of Movement and Sports Sciences, University of Gent, Gent, Belgium

⁴Department of Sports Education, Yogyakarta State University, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

⁵Institute for Positive Psychology and Education, Australian Catholic University, North Sydney, Australia

^{*}all authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

George Thomas, PhD School of Allied Health Curtin University 208 Kent Street Bentley, 6102 Australia Phone: 61 473195605 Email: george.thomas@curtin.edu.au

Abstract

Background: Automated wearable cameras present a new opportunity to accurately assess human behavior. However, this technology is seldom used in the study of adolescent's screen exposure, and the field is reliant on poor-quality self-report data.

Objective: This study aimed to examine adolescents' screen exposure by categorizing the type and context of behaviors using automated wearable cameras.

Methods: Adolescents (mean age 15.4 years, SD 1.6 years; n=10) wore a camera for 3 school evenings and 1 weekend day. The camera captured an image every 10 seconds. Fieldwork was completed between February and March 2020, and data were analyzed in August 2020. Images were date and time stamped, and coded for screen type, content, and context.

Results: Data representing 71,396 images were analyzed. Overall, 74.0% (52,842/71,396) of images contained screens and 16.8% (11,976/71,396) of images contained multiple screens. Most screen exposures involved television sets (25,950/71,396, 36.3%), smartphones (20,851/71,396, 29.2%), and laptop computers (15,309/71,396, 21.4%). The context of screen use differed by device type, although most screen exposures occurred at home (62,455/64,856, 96.3%) and with solitary engagement (54,430/64,856, 83.9%). The immediate after-school period saw high laptop computer use (4785/15,950, 30.0%), while smartphone use (2059/5320, 38.7%) peaked during prebedtime hours. Weekend screen exposure was high, with smartphone use (1070/1927, 55.5%) peaking in the early morning period and fluctuating throughout the day.

Conclusions: There was evidence for high screen use during the after-school and weekend period, mostly through solitary engagement, and within the home environment. The findings may inform the basis of larger studies aimed at examining screen exposure in free-living conditions.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e28208) doi:10.2196/28208

KEYWORDS

adolescent; screen time; smartphone; television



Introduction

Electronic screens, such as those of smartphones, tablets, and televisions, are ubiquitous in modern society [1]. Systematic reviews and meta-analyses have shown that higher levels of adolescent screen use are associated with detrimental health outcomes, such as increased adiposity [2,3] and depression [4,5], as well as low academic achievement [6]. Others argue that the health effect of screen use is complex [7], and for well-being, it may be negligible [8] or, in some cases, beneficial [9]. To better understand the impact on adolescent outcomes, it is important to use robust methods of measuring screen use [10]. However, the current evidence is limited by several methodological factors.

First, the vast majority of screen use evidence has relied on self-reported data [11]. There is widespread consensus that such reporting of sedentary behavior lacks measurement precision due to recall difficulties and is prone to numerous biases (eg, social desirability) [12]. In addition, traditional self-reported measures of screen use, such as questionnaires and time use diaries, focus primarily on televisions, computers, and video games, and have largely ignored smartphones and tablets, which make up an increasingly large proportion of adolescent discretionary screen use [13,14]. Furthermore, there have been recent increases in newer digital media use among adolescents, such as social networking and online communication [15], which might be replacing television viewing [16]. Therefore, measurement needs to adapt to the modern reality of screen use and be flexible to allow for the incorporation of new technologies as they emerge [1].

Second, there is the issue of *multiscreening*, the simultaneous use of multiple screens, which may have implications for the measurement of screen use. At present, most questionnaires assess each screen use behavior independently and then sum these individual behaviors to calculate *total* screen time. Therefore, this may preclude accurate estimates of an individual's overall screen exposure if they are using multiple screens concurrently [17]. Given that self-reported and other-reported data indicate that adolescents may be more likely to use multiple screens than any other age group [18,19], it is important to gather information about the patterns of use in this population. This includes examining the task combinations that underpin these patterns, in addition to which media types are typically used for the primary activity or the secondary activity.

Third, most studies have used aggregated *total* screen use measures or have grouped them into broad categories (eg, television and computer). Such methodology fails to investigate the different types of content that may moderate the effects of screen exposure on children's health, social, and developmental outcomes [20]. When these aspects have been measured, the context of these behaviors is often overlooked, specifically, "when," "where," and "with whom" adolescents are using screens. Using aggregates of behavior masks the context specificity of each behavior and thus precludes accurate conclusions about specific behaviors occurring at specific time points and in specific contexts [21]. Such contextual information might be used when designing interventions to inform new

policies specifically designed to influence adolescents' screen use.

Fourth, despite the importance of temporal patterning to better understand the physical activity levels of young people [22], studies that have investigated this aspect of screen use are limited. When temporal patterning is measured, the evidence tends to rely on self-report, such as time use diaries [21,23]. While these allow for the recording of behaviors as well as locations throughout the day [24], the recording of activities relies on the judgement and memory of participants, depending on the time completed. Moreover, time use diaries can also be burdensome for participants, possibly causing involuntary changes in activity behavior throughout the day [23]. It is necessary to identify and corroborate the trends in the temporal, social, and environmental contexts of adolescents' screen-based behaviors using less obtrusive low-burden device-based measures.

Automated wearable cameras present an emerging opportunity to more accurately assess adolescents' exposures to screens, including the social and environmental contexts in which they occur [25]. Such cameras have the advantage of monitoring behaviors through a first-person perspective in free-living conditions [26,27]. Human behavior research has increasingly employed this technology, as the devices become smaller, more affordable, and capable of capturing more data [28-32]. For example, wearable cameras have been used to investigate children's physical activity [33], diet [34], exposure to blue space [35], food and alcohol marketing [36,37], green space, transport, and smoking [38]. Moreover, wearable cameras have been applied to examine adult's sedentary behaviors [32]. However, few studies on adolescent's sedentary behaviors have used this technology, with the field being mainly reliant on poor quality self-reported data.

Smith et al recently demonstrated wearable cameras to be a feasible and acceptable method of measuring evening screen exposure among New Zealand adolescents [39]. This study collected 41,734 images across 39 evenings, showing that almost half of the images contained screens, most commonly those of smartphones, while 5% contained multiple screens. However, data were derived largely from nonschool days, owing to examination during study breaks or holidays, and thus, the findings may not reflect adolescents' typical screen use. For instance, available evidence suggests that adolescents spend over 70% of their after-school time sitting [40], with a large proportion spent using screens [41,42].

To address current gaps in evidence, this study aimed to use automated wearable cameras to examine adolescents' screen exposure during the evenings and weekends of a typical school term. In particular, we aimed to describe (1) the frequency and the types of devices being used; (2) the content being viewed; (3) the social and environmental context in which such behaviors occur; and (4) the temporal patterning of screen-based behaviors. We also aimed to describe differences in screen time between weekdays and weekend days.

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e28208

XSL•FO

Methods

Ethics Approval

Ethical approval was obtained from the University of Southern Queensland Human Research Ethics Committee (H19REA248). In line with international guidelines [43], this study adhered to strict procedures for using wearable cameras in human research. Data were collected between February and March 2020 (before any effects of COVID-19 restrictions) and analyzed in August 2020. Written informed parental and adolescent consents were obtained before data collection.

Sampling and Recruitment

Ten participants (aged 13-17 years) were recruited from a secondary school in Queensland, Australia. All students in grades 8 to 11 (age 13-17 years; N=100) attended a face-to-face information session in which they were invited to take part in a research study. At the end of the session, the principal investigator (GT) answered questions and provided research packs to adolescents interested in participating (n=17). Written parental and adolescent consents were obtained for 10 adolescents (response rate 59%).

Measures

Sociodemographic Questionnaire

Before data collection commenced, parents were asked to complete a brief questionnaire concerning demographic characteristics, including the highest education level, household income, and employment status.

Automated Wearable Cameras

Participants were asked to wear an automated camera (Brinno TLC120) on 4 randomly allocated days (using an online random number generator), including 3 school weekday evenings (all waking hours after returning home from school) and 1 weekend day (all waking hours). The automated camera was programmed to take a picture every 10 seconds. The camera had a weight of 101 g, had a size of $60 \times 60 \times 35$ mm, captured a 112° field of view, and did not record audio or video. The battery had a capacity of 6 days when using the 10-second interval. Images

were date- and time-stamped. Participants were instructed to wear the camera on an adjustable chest-mounted harness. An information session, facilitated by the first author, provided instructions on how to turn the camera on/off, how to wear the harness, and how to charge the camera, if necessary. Information sheets were also provided to participants that offered examples of when participants should remove or turn the camera off (eg, going to the bathroom or getting undressed). Lastly, a statement of research was handed to participants to help explain the study to third parties (eg, public, friends, and family), if required.

The camera automatically processed images into time-lapse videos (.avi), which were then manually converted into single images (.jpg) using the open-source software FFmpeg (version 4.3). Participants and parents were offered an opportunity to review and delete images before the first author viewed them. To protect participant privacy, the remaining images were securely stored using a password-protected storage server only accessible to the image coders.

Image Coding

Examples of images and coding are presented in Figure 1. Image coding was completed between April and July 2020. Images for each participant were manually coded by the first author in a spreadsheet, based on a pre-established codebook for wearable camera research on children's screen use. The coding protocol was structured into different annotation groups (Multimedia Appendix 1). For each annotation group, the coder identified all the images and categorized only the screen components specific to that group. Images with multiple screens were coded for multiscreening, detailing the primary, secondary, or background activity. Images with inactive or absent screens were also coded, in addition to blurry or blocked images because of the position of the camera. Obscured images (such as those where the camera was facing the ceiling) in the middle of image sequences containing screens were coded based on the nonobscured preceding and subsequent images. A subset of images (10%) was repeat coded by a second researcher, and interrater reliability was tested using the Krippendorf (α) statistic to determine consistency between coders for all coding categories. Interrater reliability was interpreted using the guidelines of Krippendorf [44].



Thomas et al

Figure 1. Sample of images and coding of screen-based behaviors. (A) Primary screen: television; content: game > action; content classification: recreational; secondary screen: smartphone; content: TV programs > action animation; content classification: recreational; location: home > living room. (B) Primary screen: laptop computer; content: creative > productivity software; content classification: educational; background screen: television; content: TV programs > action; content classification: educational; background screen: television; content: TV programs > action; content classification: recreational; location: home > bedroom. (C) Primary screen: smartphone; content: social media > Instagram; content classification: social; location: transport > public transport; other behavior: food > beverage. (D) Primary screen: smartphone; content: game > simulation; content classification: recreational; location: public > food retail.



Data Analyses

IBM SPSS Statistics version 21.0 was used for descriptive analyses. Daily camera wear time was calculated as the total number of minutes the camera was turned on. Captured time (minutes) was the number of images divided by 6 (assuming each image represented 10 seconds). The frequency and percentage of images were calculated for each screen-based device for each annotation group (eg, location and social interaction). Descriptive data are provided to describe the frequency and types of devices being used, the content being viewed, and the social and environmental context in which such behaviors occur. To analyze the temporal patterning and to compare screen-based behaviors between the different evening segments, equal time segments of 3 hours were utilized. For each time period, the frequency of each screen-based behavior was computed, and the percentage of behaviors occurring at that time period has been reported. Temporal data were analyzed and reported separately for weekdays and weekend days because they have different structures and are likely to lead to different behavioral choices. Differences between weekday and weekend screen use were analyzed using the chi-squared test, and expressed as a percentage of images (standardized by weekday and weekend wear times). Based on previously established definitions [45], weekday after-school time segments were

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e28208

RenderX

defined as follows: "after school to 18:00," "18:00 to 21:00," and "21:00 to sleep" (eg, when the camera was removed prior to bedtime).

Results

Interrater Reliability

The average reliability between the 2 coders across all categories was acceptable (α =.81) [44]. With regard to agreement, the α values were .89 for device attention, .86 for device type, .77 for content type, .88 for content classification, .60 for physical setting, .85 for social setting, .84 for social interaction, .72 for co-existing behaviors, and .88 for the uncodable category.

Sample Characteristics

The characteristics of the participants are presented in Table 1. Five girls and five boys participated, with an average age of 15.4 years (SD 1.6 years). The main language spoken at home was English (9/10, 90%), with an average of 4 persons living in the household. Participants' parents who responded were mainly mothers (8/10, 80%), married (9/10, 90%), and earning a total annual household income >AUD 78,000 (9/10, 90%; 1 AUD = 0.73 USD), and had completed a university or tertiary qualification (8/10, 80%).

Table 1. Characteristics of the sample.

Thomas et al

Variable	Value (N=10)
Gender (% female)	50
Parent gender (% female)	80
Age (years), mean (SD)	15.4 (1.6)
Number of people in the household, mean (SD)	4.0 (1.1)
Main language, n (%)	
English	9 (90)
Other	1 (10)
Total annual household income (AUD ^a), n (%)	
>78,000	9 (90)
31,200-41,599	1 (10)
Parents' highest level of education, n (%)	
University or tertiary qualification	8 (80)
High school	1 (10)
Year 12 or equivalent	1 (10)
Parental marital status, n (%)	
Married	9 (90)
Separated/divorced	1 (10)

^a1 AUD = 0.73 USD.

Overview of Images

A total of 71,396 images, derived from 30 school weekday evenings and 10 weekend days, were coded and included in the analysis. This represented just under 200 hours of total camera wear time. Multimedia Appendix 2 shows the mean and median (IQR) numbers of images collected, camera wear time, captured time, and screen time per day for weekdays and weekend days. The camera wear time averaged 230.5 minutes on a weekday evening and 508.1 minutes on a weekend day. The camera captured, on average, 1365 images per weekday evening and 3045 images per weekend day, equating to 227.5 minutes and 504.2 minutes of captured time, respectively. Of this, 167.7 minutes were spent, on average, using screens on a weekday evening, and 371.3 minutes were spent on a weekend day. The results showed that there was no significant difference between weekday and weekend screen use (72.7% vs 73.1%, P=.23).

Device and Content Type

Table 2 shows the frequency and percentage of different screens and activities in the entire image set (N=71,396). In total, 52,842 (74.0%) images contained screens. The most common screens were televisions (25,950/71,396, 36.3%), smartphones (20,851/71,396, 29.2%), and laptop computers (15,309/71,396, 21.4%), while fewer images contained tablets (2720/71,396, 3.8%), desktop computers (20/71,396, <1%), and wearable smartwatches (1/71,396, <1%).

The most common activities, as determined by the proportion of images recorded by the wearable camera, differed according to the screen domain. For instance, our data showed that conventional television sets were popular among adolescents, although this comprised mostly playing action games (ie, including fighting, shooter, or platform games) via gaming consoles (14,032/25,950, 54.1%), rather than watching traditional action television programs (ie, programs with real people or animals), which accounted for less than half of all television occurrences (11,803/25,950, 45.5%). Given this information, the results for "television set" occurrences were described by (1) television set: television viewing and (2) television set: action gaming. For smartphones, watching television programs through online streaming sites, such as Netflix and YouTube (10,432/20,851, 50.0%), social networking (5642/20,851, 27.1%), and communicating (1618/20,851, 7.8%) constituted the main content types, compared to creative content, such as productivity software (eg, Word, Excel, and PowerPoint), which made up 39.5% (6051/15,309) of all laptop computer occurrences. Watching television programs (4763/15,309, 31.1%) and internet use (3409/15,309, 22.3%) also made up a large proportion of content engaged on the laptop computer, while the same content accounted for 51.0% (1387/2720) and 30.3% (825/2720) across all tablet occurrences, respectively. A wearable smartwatch was captured in 1 image, showing the home screen interface. For all desktop computer images (n=20), specific content could not be determined owing to inadequate resolution.

Table 2. Description of devices and types of content.

Device ^a , broad content ^b , and specific content ^b	Value, n (%)
Any screen	52,842 (74.0)
No screen	18,554 (26.0)
Multiple screens	11,976 (16.8)
Television	25,950 (36.3)
Television set: gaming (via console)	14,032 (54.1)
Action	14,032 (54.1)
Television set: television viewing	11,803 (45.5)
Action	11,250 (43.4)
Action animation	464 (1.8)
Animation cartoon	89 (0.3)
Unclassifiable	115 (0.4)
Smartphone	20,851 (29.2)
Television programs	10,432 (50.0)
Action	6658 (31.9)
Animation cartoon	2794 (13.4)
Action animation	980 (9.4)
Social media	5642 (27.0)
Instagram	3153 (15.1)
TikTok	2046 (9.8)
Snapchat	286 (1.4)
Facebook	157 (0.8)
Communication	1618 (7.8)
Instant/text messaging	1182 (5.7)
Video chatting	230 (1.1)
Calling	206 (1.0)
Creative	675 (3.2)
Camera apps	475 (2.3)
Art apps	119 (0.6)
Productivity software	81 (0.3)
General	618 (3.0)
Home page, lock screen notifications	618 (3.0)
Internet	585 (2.8)
Browsing	320 (1.5)
Article/book/blog	265 (1.3)
Gaming	555 (2.7)
Simulation	405 (1.9)
Action	150 (0.7)
Interactive screen media	436 (2.1)
Other	411 (2.0)
Unclassifiable	25 (0.1)
Unclassifiable	290 (1.4)
Laptop computer	15,309 (21.4)

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e28208

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022 | vol. 5 | iss. 1 |e28208 | p.287 (page number not for citation purposes)

Thomas et al

Device ^a , broad content ^b , and specific content ^b	Value, n (%)
Creative	6579 (43.0)
Information processing apps	6051 (39.5)
Art apps	528 (3.4)
Television programs	4763 (31.1)
Action	4119 (26.9)
Animation cartoon	644 (4.2)
Internet	3409 (22.3)
Article/book/blog	3070 (20.1)
Browsing	339 (2.2)
General	409 (2.7)
Home page, lock screen notifications	409 (2.7)
Social media	72 (0.4)
TikTok	72 (0.4)
Interactive screen media	44 (0.3)
Other	44 (0.3)
Unclassifiable	33 (0.2)
Tablet	2720 (3.8)
Television programs	1387 (51.0)
Action	1387 (51.0)
Internet	825 (30.3)
Article/book/blog	728 (26.8)
Browsing	97 (3.6)
Creative	420 (15.4)
Productivity software	252 (9.3)
Art apps	168 (6.2)
Communication	66 (2.5)
Instant/text message	66 (2.5)
General	13 (0.5)
Home page, lock screen notifications	13 (0.5)
Interactive screen media	9 (0.3)
Other	9 (0.3)
Desktop computer	20 (0.0)
Unclassifiable	20 (100.0)
Unclassifiable	20 (100.0)
Wearable smartwatch	1 (0.0)
General	1 (100.0)
Home page, lock screen notifications	1 (100.0)
Unclassifiable	5 (0.0)
Unclassifiable	5 (100.0)

^aFor the device variables, the number and percentage of images are based on the total image set (71,936 images).

^bFor the broad and specific content variables, the number and percentage of images are based on the respective device image set (eg, television and smartphone).

XSL•FO RenderX
Content Classification

As shown in Table 3, *recreational* activities made up the majority (45,218/64,856, 69.7%) of all screen occurrences, compared with other content classifications, such as *educational* (10,603/64,856, 16.3%) and *social* (7450/64,856, 11.5%) activities. Concerning individual device types, all traditional

television viewing was classified as *recreational*, over half of laptop computer activities were *educational* (9361/15,309, 61.1%), and more than a third of smartphone exposure was deemed *social* (7265/20,851, 34.9%). Tablets were commonly used for *recreational* (1627/2720, 59.8%) and *educational* (1014/2720, 37.3%) purposes, although tablets comprised only 3.8% (2720/71,936) of total screen exposure.

Table 3. Content classification of adolescents' screen-based activities.

Device and nature of content Value, n (%)				
All screens ^a (n=64,856)				
Recreational	45,218 (69.7)			
Educational	10,603 (16.3)			
Social	7450 (11.5)			
Other	1022 (1.6)			
Unclassifiable	563 (0.9)			
Television set (n=25,950)				
Recreational	25,788 (99.4)			
Unclassifiable	115 (0.4)			
Social	47 (0.2)			
Television set: action gaming (n=14,032)				
Recreational	13,985 (99.7)			
Social	47 (0.3)			
Television set: television viewing ^b (n=11,803)				
Recreational	11,803 (100.0)			
Television set: unclassifiable (n=115)				
Unclassifiable	115 (100.0)			
Smartphone (n=20,851)				
Recreational	12,369 (59.3)			
Social	7265 (34.9)			
Other	615 (2.9)			
Unclassifiable	374 (1.8)			
Educational	228 (1.1)			
Laptop computer (n=15,309)				
Educational	9361 (61.1)			
Recreational	5434 (35.5)			
Other	393 (2.6)			
Social	66 (0.4)			
Unclassifiable	49 (0.4)			
Tablet (n=2720)				
Recreational	1627 (59.8)			
Educational	1014 (37.3)			
Social	66 (2.4)			
Other	13 (0.5)			
Desktop computer (n=20)				
Unclassifiable	20 (100.0)			
Wearable smartwatch (n=1)				
Other	1 (100.0)			
Unclassifiable (n=5)				
Unclassifiable	5 (100.0)			

^aBased on all screen-based coding interactions (including images with multiple screens).

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e28208

XSL•FO RenderX

Thomas et al

^bComprises action, action animation, and animation cartoon programs.

Multiscreening

As shown in Multimedia Appendix 3, more than 16% (11,976/71,936, 16.7%) of images contained multiple screens, with the most prevalent combinations of screens being (1) television-smartphone (7324/11,976, 61.2%), (2)smartphone-laptop (2558/11,976, 21.4%), and laptop-television (985/11,976, 8.2%). The majority of multiscreening involved (1) televisions as the primary screen and smartphones as the background screen (5029/11,976, 42.0%) used for gaming and watching television programs, respectively; (2) smartphones as the primary screen and televisions as the background screen (2285/11,976, 19.1%) used for watching television programs and gaming, respectively; and (3) smartphones as the primary screen and laptops as the background screen (1465/11,976, 12.2%) used for social networking and internet use, respectively.

Physical Setting

As shown in Multimedia Appendix 4, nearly all screen exposures occurred in the home setting (62,455/64,856, 96.3%), such as the *living room* (37,364/64,856, 57.6%) and *bedroom* (19,473/64,856, 30.0%). Concerning individual screen domains, all action gaming (via television set) and the majority of traditional television viewing (10,793/11,803, 91.4%) occurred in the *living room*, whereas laptop computers were commonly used in the *bedroom* (8974/15,309, 58.6%). Smartphones were used in several areas, including the *living room* (8719/20,851, 41.8%) and *bedroom* (7932/20,851, 38.0%), and when in *private transport* (1564/20,851, 7.5%), while the *bedroom* (1709/2720, 62.8%) and *kitchen/dining room* (848/2720, 31.2%) served as popular locations for tablet use.

Social Setting and Interaction

The social contexts surrounding adolescents' screen exposure are presented in Multimedia Appendix 5. Most involved no in-person social interaction (54,430/64,856, 83.9%), although this differed by screen domain. In-person social interaction was greater when watching television programs, including *co-viewing* with an adult (1719/11,803, 14.6%) or child (1368/11,803, 11.6%), whereas nearly all action games were played alone (12,915/14,032, 92.0%). For smartphones, 12.8% (2668/20,851) of images involved an adult in the *background*, while fewer in-person social interactions were experienced with laptop computers, tablets, and desktop computers (with 92%-100% of all occurrences engaged in alone).

Co-existing Behaviors

As shown in Multimedia Appendix 6, the majority of screen use was in isolation (56,656/64,856, 87.4%). Some co-existing behaviors that occurred alongside screen-based behaviors included writing using a *pen and paper* (3873/64,856, 6.0%), eating a *snack* (1755/64,856, 2.7%), or eating a *meal* (1454/64,856, 2.2%), but this varied according to screen domain. Laptop (2430/15,309, 15.9%) and tablet (800/2720, 29.4%) computers were commonly used when writing with a *pen and paper*, while over 10% (1288/11803, 10.9%) of television viewing occurrences involved consuming food (eg, *snack* or *meal*).

Temporal Patterns

For each time period, the frequency of each screen-based behavior was computed. These data represent the percentage of behaviors occurring at that time period; thus, the results reported are necessarily descriptive. Figures 2 (weekdays) and 3 (weekends) compare the temporal patterns of screen-based behaviors.



Figure 2. Occurrences of screen-based behaviors during school weekday evenings. TV: television.



Figure 3. Occurrences of screen-based behaviors during weekends. TV: television.



Weekday

RenderX

Television occurrences were most common in the middle evening segment (18:00-21:00; 6593/16,359, 40.3%). This comprised mostly of playing action games (3440/16,359, 21.0%), which continued to increase into the prebedtime period (\geq 21:00; 1738/5314, 32.7%), compared to television viewing, which was highest during the middle evening (2875/14,896, 19.3%). During the immediate after-school period (\leq 18:00), occurrences of laptop computers (4785/15,950, 30.0%) peaked

and then consistently decreased throughout the evening. The use of smartphones increased from the early evening period (4337/15,944, 27.2%) through to the prebedtime period (2059/5320, 38.7%). Tablet computers were most common after school (1918/15,950, 12.0%), while no occurrences were captured after 21:00.

Weekend

Temporal patterns on the weekend were more varied than during the school weekday evening. Smartphone use peaked

(1070/1927, 55.5%) during the time period from waking to 09:00, followed by fluctuating occurrences throughout the day. Television occurrences were fairly consistent across the day, but differed by content domain, with larger occurrences of watching action programs from 18:00 (1671/8569, 19.5%) through to sleep (612/2409, 25.4%%). In contrast, playing action games was common during the afternoon hours, peaking between 12:00 and 15:00 (2016/7694, 26.2%), before declining throughout the evening. Concerning laptop computer use, 38.7% (691/1785) of occurrences were captured during the prebedtime period, doubling that during the previous time period between 18:00 and 21:00 hours. Tablet computers were uncommon during the day, comprising only 2.4% (158/6583) of occurrences in the morning and 2.9% (163/5620) between 15:00 and 18:00.

Discussion

Summary and Interpretation of Results

This study aimed to use automated wearable cameras to describe adolescents' screen exposure. Consistent with a recent systematic scoping review [46], our data indicated that adolescents are exposed to high amounts of screen use. In particular, our data showed a greater percentage of time on smartphones, with engagement in various activities, such as watching programs, social networking, and communicating online, compared to time using television sets and engaging in conventional television viewing. This finding supports the perception that use of newer digital media is increasing, with some displacement of traditional forms of media for adolescents [16]. Indeed, reports show a decline in watching programs on conventional television sets, despite an increase in consuming television content on the internet [47]. This is likely caused by the multiple functions that smartphones offer, including the social and recreational tasks performed online [48]. Moreover, the portability of smartphones allows adolescents to use these devices ubiquitously [49]; almost anywhere in free-living conditions as reported here. Future studies need to determine effective strategies for the responsible use of contemporary screen engagement, paying attention to the use of smartphones [13]. Moreover, these findings have implications for the assessment of television viewing, a common category for screen time measurement. If television programs are watched on television sets, as well as other devices, we may be estimating behaviors incorrectly, depending on the nature of the question asked. Hence, it is possible that there may be conflating of the assessment of behaviors and devices. Better measurement that captures the types of devices used for watching television programs, in addition to the social environmental contexts of such viewing, is warranted.

This study also showed that multiscreening is evident in screen use among adolescents, supporting conclusions from a previous study [50]. Here, we revealed that multiple screens were identified in approximately 17% of images across the entire image set. This rate was more than 3 times the rate reported by Smith et al among adolescents in New Zealand [39]. An important part of understanding multiscreening is examining the combinations of tasks undertaken. Contrary to previous findings based on self-report data [19,51], our data showed that gaming via television together with watching programs on a smartphone was the most common combination of screen exposure. Previously, it has been argued that gaming is harder to combine with another screen because it demands many cognitive capacities and behavioral responses [52]. One explanation for our findings is that although gaming was used concurrently with smartphones, the latter was predominantly used in the background and therefore was less likely to interfere with adolescents' cognitive demands of gaming. Other possible explanations are that smartphones were used to temper impatience or boredom whilst waiting for a game to load [17,48], or offered an opportunity to socialize with friends whilst watching television shows [48]. Further investigations on why adolescents engage in certain multiscreening behaviors (eg, social functions) are needed to help researchers deliver effective interventions to change screen-based behaviors, if deemed necessary. Models and theories, specific to multiscreening behaviors among adolescents, might also warrant further enquiry.

The home environment may serve as an important setting for interventions that aim to influence adolescents' screen exposure. Participants in this study spent the majority of their time at home and, as such, engaged in most of their screen time at home. Consistent with previous findings [21], the living room was strongly linked to television viewing. While expected, this finding suggests that if reductions in television viewing are sought, this location may be a target for interventions, such as through environmental restructuring involving reconfiguring seating arrangements or family rules for behaviors while in the room. In addition to the living room, the bedroom may also be an important context for screen use, particularly involving smartphones, tablets, and laptop computers, as shown in the current study. It is possible that adolescents feel they have greater privacy and have fewer interruptions from family members in this setting. This might encourage prolonged recreational use of screens in this location, often whilst sitting or lying down [48]. Indeed, reducing access to screen-based devices in the bedroom has been identified as a facilitator to reduce screen use [53], although this will not guarantee a reduction in sedentary behavior as other sedentary pursuits may be adopted as a substitute.

Corroborating recent qualitative data [41], the present study found that adolescents had very little in-person social interactions with others whilst using screens. Such findings support the hypothesis of time displacement for social interaction, that is, more adolescents spending time on digital media and less time on face-to-face social interaction [54]. This has led to concern over the detrimental impacts of screen use on adolescents' psychological well-being, with some finding links to depression, loneliness, and lower social connectedness [55-57], although the associations might be small and complex [8,56,58]. Others argue that digital media may instead compliment *in-person* social interaction, particularly media involving opportunities to interact online [59]. For instance, despite a lack of *in-person* social interactions observed in this study, it is highly likely that adolescents engaged in numerous online interactions whilst using screens, for example, through online communication or playing interactive video games. The

XSL•FO RenderX

mechanisms of the putative effects of screen use on psychological well-being should be explored further to better understand the impact of lower *in-person* social interactions that might be characteristic of traditional solitary screen use, in addition to higher digital social interactions that might be typical of newer digital media. Such research may need to account for the types of devices as well as physical and social settings.

By investigating the temporal patterns of screen use, we were able to understand the typical schedule of adolescents and identify timeframes when specific screen-based behaviors compete against each other. Similar to previous self-report data [21,23], screen-based behaviors were shown to be prominent throughout the evening, starting immediately after school until the end of the day. As shown in a systematic review [42], the after-school period is linked to high screen use in adolescents. This was particularly apparent for laptop computers, which were likely used to complete educational tasks, such as homework. Despite the sedentary nature of this behavior, such tasks are generally considered to be important and valuable; thus, whether it should be reduced or replaced with other behaviors, such as physical activity, is debatable [23]. This supports the argument that sedentary behaviors should not be viewed in isolation [21].

As for television viewing, this behavior most likely occurred in the middle evening segment, corroborating previous findings using self-report [21]. However, the same behavior reduced rapidly in the prebedtime hours, comprising just 2.4% of all screen occurrences. This may be due to the changes in patterns of media consumption among young people. Here, we found that smartphones peaked in the hours before bedtime, supporting evidence that portable devices are increasingly part of the adolescent sleeping environment [60]. For instance, using data from a large population-based survey of adolescents in Norway (n=9846), Hysing et al showed that approximately 80% of boys and 90% of girls used a cell phone in the hour before going to sleep [61]. Together, these findings may cause a rise in public health concern, especially given the evidence for associations between prebedtime screen use and a number of poor sleep markers (eg, inadequate sleep quantity, poor sleep quality, and excessive daytime sleepiness) [62]. As such, smartphones may be an important target for interventions that aim to mitigate the risks associated with prebedtime screen use [63] and sleep interventions in general.

Strengths, Limitations, and Future Research

A strength of this study was the measurement of adolescents' screen exposure, which was significantly enhanced through the use of wearable cameras. Such devices offer an improvement over existing self-report measures of lifestyle behaviors and the contexts in which they occur. A high agreement between coders was reported, similar to a previous study using wearable cameras [39]. However, these devices also have limitations. First, the 10-second epoch between image capture may have missed possible screen exposure, particularly quick and sporadic smartphone checking [49]. Future studies that compare a continuous video or 1-second epoch with longer intervals between image capture are warranted. Second, if we wish to

ascertain the function (eg, relaxation and entertainment) that different screens serve for adolescents, we are unlikely to do this through camera images. While we were able to infer the content being viewed, further qualitative work will enable a more in-depth understanding of what functions are being served by engaging in different devices and platforms. Third, there is the possibility of the Hawthorne effect, whereby participants modified their behavior in response to wearing an automated wearable camera. This may have implications for the validity of this study. Fourth, the annotation of wearable camera images was based on decisions made by the coders. This limitation may have been offset by conducting interrater reliability tests, showing an almost perfect agreement between coders [44]. The recent development of an annotation protocol for sedentary behavior in children using wearable cameras [64] shows promise, and once applied to larger samples of children, this protocol can help better understand adolescents' contemporary screen engagement. In addition to coding issues, the data processing and coding times are limiting factors and may be unsuitable for use in large-scale studies, unless an automatic recognition algorithm is developed to classify different aspects of human behavior [26].

Other limitations include a small sample size and the relatively homogenous demographic characteristics of the sample. Therefore, the results are unlikely to be generalizable to the wider adolescent population. Future research needs to consider other sociodemographic groups to confirm the key findings observed in this study. A further limitation was that due to ethical concerns raised by school principals regarding camera wearing on school grounds, we only examined screen use during the after-school period and weekends. Since screen use before and during school may yield different results and patterns, future studies are needed to examine the exposure to screen use across the day. Finally, as with other wearable camera studies, the sample size was small, and thus, the study was insufficiently powered to use temporal patterns as a means for testing differences. This should be considered in future studies with larger sample sizes.

Conclusion

Among a small sample of adolescents, we showed high amounts of screen use, most of which occurred in the home, with little social interaction. This information might be used when designing interventions to inform new policy to influence adolescents' screen use. For example, Australian guidelines for physical activity and sedentary behavior recommend no more than two hours of recreational screen use daily for this age group [63]. Moreover, we showed that wearable cameras may provide a new approach to collect more accurate data on screen-based behaviors in free-living conditions, and with some volume. As such, we were able to both enhance traditional self-report and provide context and temporal specificity surrounding screen-based behaviors in free-living settings. Our findings may be used to inform guidelines and protocols for visual research on screen-based behaviors, and form a basis for larger-scale studies for comparisons.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank all students who volunteered to participate in the study. The input and advice of Professor Chris Lonsdale and Dr Taren Sanders (Australian Catholic University) are also gratefully acknowledged. GT was supported by an Australian Government Research Training Scheme scholarship and fee offset program.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Summary of the coding framework. [DOCX File , 20 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e28208_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2 Frequency of images and camera wear time per day. [DOCX File , 17 KB - pediatrics v5i1e28208 app2.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 3 Description of multiscreening among adolescents. [DOCX File , 18 KB - pediatrics v5i1e28208 app3.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Physical setting of adolescents' screen-based activities. [DOCX File, 18 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e28208_app4.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Social setting and interaction of adolescents' screen-based activities. [DOCX File , 17 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e28208_app5.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 6 Co-existing behaviors of adolescents' screen-based activities. [DOCX File, 23 KB - pediatrics v5i1e28208 app6.docx]

References

- LeBlanc AG, Gunnell KE, Prince SA, Saunders TJ, Barnes JD, Chaput J. The Ubiquity of the Screen: An Overview of the Risks and Benefits of Screen Time in Our Modern World. Translational Journal of the ACSM 2017;2(17):104-113. [doi: 10.1249/TJX.000000000000039]
- Stiglic N, Viner RM. Effects of screentime on the health and well-being of children and adolescents: a systematic review of reviews. BMJ Open 2019 Jan 03;9(1):e023191 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023191] [Medline: 30606703]
- Carson V, Hunter S, Kuzik N, Gray CE, Poitras VJ, Chaput J, et al. Systematic review of sedentary behaviour and health indicators in school-aged children and youth: an update. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2016 Jun;41(6 Suppl 3):S240-S265 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1139/apnm-2015-0630] [Medline: 27306432]
- 4. Boers E, Afzali MH, Newton N, Conrod P. Association of Screen Time and Depression in Adolescence. JAMA Pediatr 2019 Sep 01;173(9):853-859 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2019.1759] [Medline: 31305878]
- Liu M, Wu L, Yao S. Dose-response association of screen time-based sedentary behaviour in children and adolescents and depression: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Br J Sports Med 2016 Oct 09;50(20):1252-1258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2015-095084] [Medline: 26552416]
- Adelantado-Renau M, Moliner-Urdiales D, Cavero-Redondo I, Beltran-Valls MR, Martínez-Vizcaíno V, Álvarez-Bueno C. Association Between Screen Media Use and Academic Performance Among Children and Adolescents: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr 2019 Nov 01;173(11):1058-1067 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2019.3176] [Medline: 31545344]
- Biddle S, Pearson N, Salmon J. Sedentary Behaviors and Adiposity in Young People: Causality and Conceptual Model. Exerc Sport Sci Rev 2018 Jan;46(1):18-25. [doi: <u>10.1249/JES.00000000000135</u>] [Medline: <u>28885266</u>]
- 8. Orben A. Teenagers, screens and social media: a narrative review of reviews and key studies. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol 2020 Apr 10;55(4):407-414. [doi: 10.1007/s00127-019-01825-4] [Medline: 31925481]

- 9. Przybylski AK, Weinstein N. A Large-Scale Test of the Goldilocks Hypothesis. Psychol Sci 2017 Feb 13;28(2):204-215 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0956797616678438] [Medline: 28085574]
- Saunders TJ, Vallance JK. Screen Time and Health Indicators Among Children and Youth: Current Evidence, Limitations and Future Directions. Appl Health Econ Health Policy 2017 Jun 31;15(3):323-331. [doi: <u>10.1007/s40258-016-0289-3</u>] [Medline: <u>27798796</u>]
- 11. Atkin AJ, Gorely T, Clemes SA, Yates T, Edwardson C, Brage S, et al. Methods of Measurement in epidemiology: sedentary Behaviour. Int J Epidemiol 2012 Oct 07;41(5):1460-1471 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/ije/dys118] [Medline: 23045206]
- Lubans D, Hesketh K, Cliff D, Barnett L, Salmon J, Dollman J, et al. A systematic review of the validity and reliability of sedentary behaviour measures used with children and adolescents. Obes Rev 2011 Oct;12(10):781-799. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2011.00896.x] [Medline: 21676153]
- 13. Simon L, Aibar A, Garcia-Gonzalez L, Abos A, Sevil-Serrano J. "Hyperconnected" adolescents: sedentary screen time according to gender and type of day. European Journal of Human Movement 2019;43:49-66 [FREE Full text]
- 14. Auhuber L, Vogel M, Grafe N, Kiess W, Poulain T. Leisure Activities of Healthy Children and Adolescents. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019 Jun 12;16(12):2078 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph16122078] [Medline: 31212786]
- Thomas G, Bennie JA, De Cocker K, Ireland MJ, Biddle SJ. Screen-based behaviors in Australian adolescents: Longitudinal trends from a 4-year follow-up study. Prev Med 2020 Dec;141:106258. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106258</u>] [Medline: <u>33022322</u>]
- Twenge JM, Martin GN, Spitzberg BH. Trends in U.S. Adolescents' media use, 1976–2016: The rise of digital media, the decline of TV, and the (near) demise of print. Psychology of Popular Media Culture 2019 Oct;8(4):329-345. [doi: 10.1037/ppm0000203]
- Jago R, Sebire SJ, Gorely T, Cillero I, Biddle SJ. "I'm on it 24/7 at the moment": a qualitative examination of multi-screen viewing behaviours among UK 10-11 year olds. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2011 Aug 03;8(1):85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-8-85] [Medline: 21812945]
- Voorveld HAM, van der Goot M. Age Differences in Media Multitasking: A Diary Study. Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media 2013 Jul;57(3):392-408. [doi: 10.1080/08838151.2013.816709]
- Carrier LM, Cheever NA, Rosen LD, Benitez S, Chang J. Multitasking across generations: Multitasking choices and difficulty ratings in three generations of Americans. Computers in Human Behavior 2009 Mar;25(2):483-489. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.chb.2008.10.012</u>]
- Sanders T, Parker PD, Del Pozo-Cruz B, Noetel M, Lonsdale C. Type of screen time moderates effects on outcomes in 4013 children: evidence from the Longitudinal Study of Australian Children. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2019 Nov 29;16(1):117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-019-0881-7] [Medline: 31783878]
- 21. Biddle SJH, Marshall SJ, Gorely T, Cameron N. Temporal and environmental patterns of sedentary and active behaviors during adolescents' leisure time. Int J Behav Med 2009 Feb 24;16(3):278-286. [doi: 10.1007/s12529-008-9028-y] [Medline: 19238558]
- 22. Master L, Nye RT, Lee S, Nahmod NG, Mariani S, Hale L, et al. Bidirectional, Daily Temporal Associations between Sleep and Physical Activity in Adolescents. Sci Rep 2019 May 22;9(1):7732 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-44059-9] [Medline: 31118441]
- 23. De Baere S, Lefevre J, De Martelaer K, Philippaerts R, Seghers J. Temporal patterns of physical activity and sedentary behavior in 10-14 year-old children on weekdays. BMC Public Health 2015 Aug 19;15(1):791 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2093-7] [Medline: 26285826]
- 24. Dunton GF, Whalen CK, Jamner LD, Floro JN. Mapping the social and physical contexts of physical activity across adolescence using ecological momentary assessment. ann. behav. med 2007 Jun;34(2):144-153. [doi: 10.1007/bf02872669]
- 25. Barnett TA, Kelly AS, Young DR, Perry CK, Pratt CA, Edwards NM, et al. Sedentary Behaviors in Today's Youth: Approaches to the Prevention and Management of Childhood Obesity: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation 2018 Sep 11;138(11):e142-e159. [doi: 10.1161/cir.0000000000000591]
- 26. Doherty AR, Moulin CJA, Smeaton AF. Automatically assisting human memory: a SenseCam browser. Memory 2011 Oct;19(7):785-795. [doi: 10.1080/09658211.2010.509732] [Medline: 20845223]
- Loveday A, Sherar LB, Sanders JP, Sanderson PW, Esliger DW. Technologies That Assess the Location of Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior: A Systematic Review. J Med Internet Res 2015 Aug 05;17(8):e192 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.4761] [Medline: 26245157]
- 28. Doherty AR, Hodges SE, King AC, Smeaton AF, Berry E, Moulin CJ, et al. Wearable cameras in health: the state of the art and future possibilities. Am J Prev Med 2013 Mar;44(3):320-323. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2012.11.008</u>] [Medline: <u>23415132</u>]
- 29. Doherty AR, Kelly P, Kerr J, Marshall S, Oliver M, Badland H, et al. Using wearable cameras to categorise type and context of accelerometer-identified episodes of physical activity. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2013 Feb 13;10(1):22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-10-22] [Medline: 23406270]
- 30. Doherty AR, Kelly P, Kerr J, Marshall S, Oliver M, Badland H, et al. Use of wearable cameras to assess population physical activity behaviours: an observational study. The Lancet 2012 Nov;380:S35. [doi: <u>10.1016/s0140-6736(13)60391-8</u>]

- Kerr J, Marshall SJ, Godbole S, Chen J, Legge A, Doherty AR, et al. Using the SenseCam to improve classifications of sedentary behavior in free-living settings. Am J Prev Med 2013 Mar;44(3):290-296. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2012.11.004</u>] [Medline: <u>23415127</u>]
- 32. Gurrin C, Qiu Z, Hughes M, Caprani N, Doherty AR, Hodges SE, et al. The smartphone as a platform for wearable cameras in health research. Am J Prev Med 2013 Mar;44(3):308-313. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2012.11.010] [Medline: 23415130]
- Everson B, Mackintosh KA, McNarry MA, Todd C, Stratton G. Can Wearable Cameras be Used to Validate School-Aged Children's Lifestyle Behaviours? Children (Basel) 2019 Feb 01;6(2):20 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.3390/children6020020</u>] [Medline: <u>30717207</u>]
- 34. Beltran A, Dadabhoy H, Ryan C, Dholakia R, Jia W, Baranowski J, et al. Dietary Assessment with a Wearable Camera among Children: Feasibility and Intercoder Reliability. J Acad Nutr Diet 2018 Nov;118(11):2144-2153 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2018.05.013] [Medline: 30115556]
- 35. Pearson A, Bottomley R, Chambers T, Thornton L, Stanley J, Smith M, et al. Measuring Blue Space Visibility and 'Blue Recreation' in the Everyday Lives of Children in a Capital City. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2017 May 26;14(6):563 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph14060563] [Medline: 28587134]
- 36. Barr M, Signal L, Jenkin G, Smith M. Capturing exposures: using automated cameras to document environmental determinants of obesity. Health Promot Int 2015 Mar 09;30(1):56-63. [doi: <u>10.1093/heapro/dau089</u>] [Medline: <u>25301856</u>]
- Chambers T, Pearson A, Kawachi I, Stanley J, Smith M, Barr M, et al. Children's home and school neighbourhood exposure to alcohol marketing: Using wearable camera and GPS data to directly examine the link between retailer availability and visual exposure to marketing. Health Place 2018 Nov;54:102-109. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.healthplace.2018.09.012</u>] [Medline: <u>30253378</u>]
- Signal LN, Smith MB, Barr M, Stanley J, Chambers TJ, Zhou J, et al. Kids'Cam: An Objective Methodology to Study the World in Which Children Live. Am J Prev Med 2017 Sep;53(3):e89-e95. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2017.02.016</u>] [Medline: <u>28455122</u>]
- 39. Smith C, Galland BC, de Bruin WE, Taylor RW. Feasibility of Automated Cameras to Measure Screen Use in Adolescents. Am J Prev Med 2019 Sep;57(3):417-424. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2019.04.012</u>] [Medline: <u>31377085</u>]
- 40. Arundell L, Salmon J, Koorts H, Contardo Ayala AM, Timperio A. Exploring when and how adolescents sit: cross-sectional analysis of activPAL-measured patterns of daily sitting time, bouts and breaks. BMC Public Health 2019 Jun 11;19(1):653 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6960-5] [Medline: 31182044]
- 41. Haycraft E, Sherar LB, Griffiths P, Biddle SJ, Pearson N. Screen-time during the after-school period: A contextual perspective. Prev Med Rep 2020 Sep;19:101116 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2020.101116] [Medline: 32455103]
- 42. Arundell L, Fletcher E, Salmon J, Veitch J, Hinkley T. A systematic review of the prevalence of sedentary behavior during the after-school period among children aged 5-18 years. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2016 Aug 22;13(1):93 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12966-016-0419-1] [Medline: 27549588]
- 43. Kelly P, Marshall SJ, Badland H, Kerr J, Oliver M, Doherty AR, et al. An ethical framework for automated, wearable cameras in health behavior research. Am J Prev Med 2013 Mar;44(3):314-319. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2012.11.006] [Medline: 23415131]
- 44. Krippendorff K. Content Analysis: An Introduction to Its Methodology. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2004.
- 45. Arundell L, Salmon J, Veitch J, O'Connell E, Hinkley T, Hume C. Standardising the 'after-school' period for children's physical activity and sedentary behaviour. Health Promot J Austr 2013 Mar 21;24(1):65-67. [doi: 10.1071/he12910]
- Thomas G, Bennie JA, De Cocker K, Castro O, Biddle SJH. A Descriptive Epidemiology of Screen-Based Devices by Children and Adolescents: a Scoping Review of 130 Surveillance Studies Since 2000. Child Ind Res 2019 Jul 19;13(3):935-950. [doi: <u>10.1007/s12187-019-09663-1</u>]
- 47. Silva KS, da Silva Lopes A, Dumith SC, Garcia LMT, Bezerra J, Nahas MV. Changes in television viewing and computers/videogames use among high school students in Southern Brazil between 2001 and 2011. Int J Public Health 2014 Feb 4;59(1):77-86. [doi: 10.1007/s00038-013-0464-3] [Medline: 23552993]
- 48. Thomas G, Bennie JA, De Cocker K, Biddle SJ. Exploring contemporary screen time in Australian adolescents: A qualitative study. Health Promot J Austr 2021 Oct 27;32 Suppl 2:238-247. [doi: <u>10.1002/hpja.440</u>] [Medline: <u>33185908</u>]
- 49. Toh SH, Howie EK, Coenen P, Straker LM. "From the moment I wake up I will use it...every day, very hour": a qualitative study on the patterns of adolescents' mobile touch screen device use from adolescent and parent perspectives. BMC Pediatr 2019 Jan 24;19(1):30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12887-019-1399-5] [Medline: 30678720]
- 50. Cain MS, Leonard JA, Gabrieli JDE, Finn AS. Media multitasking in adolescence. Psychon Bull Rev 2016 Dec 17;23(6):1932-1941. [doi: 10.3758/s13423-016-1036-3] [Medline: 27188785]
- 51. Roberts DF, Foehr UG. Trends in media use. Future Child 2008;18(1):11-37. [doi: 10.1353/foc.0.0000] [Medline: 21338004]
- 52. Wang Z, Irwin M, Cooper C, Srivastava J. Multidimensions of Media Multitasking and Adaptive Media Selection. Hum Commun Res 2014 Aug 19;41(1):102-127. [doi: 10.1111/hcre.12042]
- Minges KE, Owen N, Salmon J, Chao A, Dunstan DW, Whittemore R. Reducing youth screen time: qualitative metasynthesis of findings on barriers and facilitators. Health Psychol 2015 Apr;34(4):381-397 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/hea0000172] [Medline: 25822054]

- Twenge JM, Spitzberg BH, Campbell WK. Less in-person social interaction with peers among U.S. adolescents in the 21st century and links to loneliness. Journal of Social and Personal Relationships 2019 Mar 19;36(6):1892-1913. [doi: 10.1177/0265407519836170]
- 55. van den Eijnden RJJM, Meerkerk G, Vermulst AA, Spijkerman R, Engels RCME. Online communication, compulsive Internet use, and psychosocial well-being among adolescents: a longitudinal study. Dev Psychol 2008 May;44(3):655-665. [doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.44.3.655] [Medline: 18473634]
- Keles B, McCrae N, Grealish A. A systematic review: the influence of social media on depression, anxiety and psychological distress in adolescents. International Journal of Adolescence and Youth 2019 Mar 21;25(1):79-93. [doi: 10.1080/02673843.2019.1590851]
- 57. Arundell L, Salmon J, Veitch J, Timperio A. The Relationship between Objectively Measured and Self-Reported Sedentary Behaviours and Social Connectedness among Adolescents. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2019 Jan 18;16(2):277 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph16020277] [Medline: 30669392]
- 58. Orben A, Przybylski AK. The association between adolescent well-being and digital technology use. Nat Hum Behav 2019 Feb 14;3(2):173-182. [doi: 10.1038/s41562-018-0506-1] [Medline: 30944443]
- Hall JA, Kearney MW, Xing C. Two tests of social displacement through social media use. Information, Communication & Society 2018 Feb 02;22(10):1396-1413. [doi: <u>10.1080/1369118x.2018.1430162</u>]
- 60. Owens J, Adolescent Sleep Working Group, Committee on Adolescence. Insufficient sleep in adolescents and young adults: an update on causes and consequences. Pediatrics 2014 Sep;134(3):e921-e932 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-1696] [Medline: 25157012]
- Hysing M, Pallesen S, Stormark KM, Jakobsen R, Lundervold AJ, Sivertsen B. Sleep and use of electronic devices in adolescence: results from a large population-based study. BMJ Open 2015 Feb 02;5(1):e006748-e006748 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006748] [Medline: 25643702]
- Carter B, Rees P, Hale L, Bhattacharjee D, Paradkar MS. Association Between Portable Screen-Based Media Device Access or Use and Sleep Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. JAMA Pediatr 2016 Dec 01;170(12):1202-1208 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2016.2341] [Medline: 27802500]
- 63. Australian 24-hour movement guidelines for children (5 to 12 years) and young people (13 to 17 years): an integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. Commonwealth of Australia. 2019. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/2p8n6nkf</u> [accessed 2022-02-24]
- Hänggi JM, Spinnler S, Christodoulides E, Gramespacher E, Taube W, Doherty A. Sedentary Behavior in Children by Wearable Cameras: Development of an Annotation Protocol. Am J Prev Med 2020 Dec;59(6):880-886 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2020.06.033] [Medline: 33160796]

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 24.02.21; peer-reviewed by JR Bautista, S Badawy; comments to author 01.06.21; revised version received 19.09.21; accepted 26.01.22; published 21.03.22.

Please cite as:

Thomas G, Bennie JA, De Cocker K, Dwi Andriyani F, Booker B, Biddle SJH Using Wearable Cameras to Categorize the Type and Context of Screen-Based Behaviors Among Adolescents: Observational Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e28208 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e28208 doi:10.2196/28208 PMID:<u>35311672</u>

©George Thomas, Jason A Bennie, Katrien De Cocker, Fitria Dwi Andriyani, Bridget Booker, Stuart J H Biddle. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 21.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

An Objective System for Quantitative Assessment of Television Viewing Among Children (Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television): System Development Study

Anil Kumar Vadathya¹, MSc; Salma Musaad², MD, PhD; Alicia Beltran², MSc; Oriana Perez², MSc; Leo Meister¹, MSc; Tom Baranowski², PhD; Sheryl O Hughes², PhD; Jason A Mendoza^{3,4}, MPH, MD; Ashutosh Sabharwal¹, PhD; Ashok Veeraraghavan¹, PhD; Teresia O'Connor², MD, MPH

¹Department of Electrical & Computer Engineering, Rice University, Houston, TX, United States

²Agricultural Research Service, US Department of Agriculture, Children's Nutrition Research Center, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States

³Public Health Sciences Division, Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, Seattle, WA, United States

⁴General Pediatrics, Department of Pediatrics, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Teresia O'Connor, MD, MPH Agricultural Research Service, US Department of Agriculture Children's Nutrition Research Center Baylor College of Medicine 1100 Bates Street Houston, TX, 77030 United States Phone: 1 7137986782 Email: teresiao@bcm.edu

Abstract

Background: Television viewing among children is associated with developmental and health outcomes, yet measurement techniques for television viewing are prone to errors, biases, or both.

Objective: This study aims to develop a system to objectively and passively measure children's television viewing time.

Methods: The Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television (FLASH-TV) system includes three sequential algorithms applied to video data collected in front of a television screen: face detection, face verification, and gaze estimation. A total of 21 families of diverse race and ethnicity were enrolled in 1 of 4 design studies to train the algorithms and provide proof of concept testing for the integrated FLASH-TV system. Video data were collected from each family in a laboratory mimicking a living room or in the child's home. Staff coded the video data for the target child as the gold standard. The accuracy, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value, and negative predictive value were calculated for each algorithm, as compared with the gold standard. Prevalence and biased adjusted κ scores and an intraclass correlation using a generalized linear mixed model compared FLASH-TV's estimation of television viewing duration to the gold standard.

Results: FLASH-TV demonstrated high sensitivity for detecting faces (95.5%-97.9%) and performed well on face verification when the child's gaze was on the television. Each of the metrics for estimating the child's gaze on the screen was moderate to good (range: 55.1% negative predictive value to 91.2% specificity). When combining the 3 sequential steps, FLASH-TV estimation of the child's screen viewing was overall good, with an intraclass correlation for an overall time watching television of 0.725 across conditions.

Conclusions: FLASH-TV offers a critical step forward in improving the assessment of children's television viewing.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e33569) doi:10.2196/33569

KEYWORDS

RenderX

television; screen media; digital media; measurement; child; gaze; machine learning; mobile phone

Introduction

Television Viewing and Other Screen Use Among Youth

The American Academy of Pediatrics Council on Communications and Media has reported that children spend more time using screen media (television, movies, smartphones, tablets, computers, etc) than time in school [1]. Data from the Kaiser Family Foundation for the United States found children aged 8-18 years spend about 7.5 hours using screen media on a typical day, with some of the screen exposure involving multitasking several screens [2]. Nationally representative data of US children in 2020 found that children aged 5 to 8 years use an average of 3 hours and 5 minutes of screen media daily [3]. The types of screens children use have changed over the last decade [3,4]. Web-based videos, subscription streaming services, and television account for 73% of screen media use by children aged <8 years [3]. Similarly, in 2015, 62% of youths aged 9-12 years reported they watched television every day and television viewing remained one of the media activities enjoyed the most by tweens [5]. Television viewing therefore remains an important component of children's overall screen use, which has been linked to detrimental cognitive development [6], worse child psychosocial outcomes [7], lower school achievement [7], child obesity [7,8], cardiometabolic risk [7], and decreased fitness [8]. Thus, higher levels of screen media use is a public health concern [9].

Measuring Television Viewing Among Youth

Unfortunately, current methods to assess children's television viewing and other screen media use remain inadequate, making it unclear how accurate television and screen media exposure estimates are. Tools are needed to objectively measure children's use of screens across screen media platforms to ultimately inform a composite measure of screen use. New tools to track people's screen use on mobile devices rely on background apps that record smartphone use [10,11] or obtain intermittent automatic screenshots of the mobile device to record how it is being used over a specific period [12]. Although both are important contributions to improve the assessment of children's screen media use, they do not account for exposure to larger screens, such as televisions, computers, and stationary video game consoles. The risk of obesity differs based on the type of screen media used by a child [13,14], highlighting the importance of measuring all forms of screen media exposure. Although children's screen media use is rapidly evolving with the use of many different devices and multiple web-based platforms for viewing content [15], television viewing is still a prominent behavior among youth [1,3,5,16].

The current gold standard to measure children's screen use is direct or video-recorded observations that allow coding of the time a child spends watching a television screen [17-19]. Although accurate, this is too expensive and intrusive for most research studies, especially in-home settings. Most previous

studies have relied on subjective recall by youth or their parents to assess television viewing and screen use [2,4,11,17]. This subjective assessment is prone to many sources of bias and errors, resulting in low accuracy estimates [18]. The most common method, self-reported or parent proxy-reported surveys of television viewing behaviors [17,19], has rarely been compared with a gold standard. Those that have, did not perform well. Anderson et al [18] compared parent-reported television diaries and general estimates of television viewing to the gold standard in a child's home over the same period. Parent completed television diaries correlated moderately well with coded video observations (r_{91} =0.67-0.86; P<.001). However, the correlation between parent estimates and coded video observations was significantly weaker ($r_{92}=0.27$; P<.01) [18]. Furthermore, there was significant sample selection bias of families willing to participate in the study involving a high participant burden (television diaries), biased toward White, middle-class, and 2-parent households.

Objective automatic or passive methods for measuring children's television viewing and use of other large stationary screens (computers and videogame systems) are needed to better assess children's typical screen viewing and use behaviors. In the future, objective assessment of television viewing could be added to output from assessment tools of other screen platforms, such as mobile devices [11], for a composite measure of screen use among children. We are therefore developing an objective and automatic system to measure television viewing to allow a more comprehensive and accurate assessment of screen media exposure. This paper describes the design and development of the resulting assessment tool, Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television (FLASH-TV), and the data acquired by the FLASH-TV system.

Methods

Ethics Approval

The Institutional Review Board at Baylor College of Medicine reviewed and approved the study protocol (H-40556).

Overview of FLASH-TV Development

The overall goal of FLASH-TV is to estimate the total time a target child views a television or other large screen. To achieve this, FLASH-TV consists of a video camera (Logitech c930e 1080p) placed directly on or near the television, with the camera facing the viewers. The video camera records high-resolution images (approximately 1 megapixel or greater) at a rate of 15-30 frames/s. Computer vision and machine learning algorithms analyze each frame of the recorded video. Video analysis follows three stages: (1) *face detection*—to detect any faces present in every frame of the video, (2) *face verification*—to isolate and localize the presence of the target child in any frame, and (3) *gaze estimation*—to determine whether the target child is looking at the television (Figure 1).

Figure 1. The integrated Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television (FLASH-TV) system. The FLASH-TV system takes as input video frames and processes it through a sequence of 3 steps: (1) Face detection, (2) Face verification, and (3) Gaze estimation to create a log containing a child's television viewing time.



Data Collection Using the FLASH-TV System

Four small, iterative design tests were conducted to obtain video data to develop, train, and test the 3 steps required for a robust FLASH-TV. Three of the design tests were conducted in an observation laboratory at Baylor College of Medicine, which was set up as a living room. One of the design tests was conducted at the family's home to test the system under natural circumstances. A parent and 2 siblings (one who was identified as the target child) were invited to participate in the task-based protocols. Inclusion criteria for each parent-sibling triad were: parent or legal guardian of children; target child aged 6-11 years and sibling aged 6-14 years; family fluent in English; and parents willing to allow their children to watch age-appropriate television or movies and play age-appropriate digital games. Exclusion criteria were: parent or child with developmental, medical, mental, or physical diagnosis that would prevent him or her from following the protocol. The research protocol was reviewed and approved by the institutional review board at Baylor College of Medicine with institutional review board reciprocity by Rice University via an established authorized agreement. All methods were performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and according to the federal and institutional guidelines. Informed written consent was provided by the parents of each triad for participation in the study and assent provided by all the children who participated. Participants in all design studies were offered an opt-in on the consent form to have their images used in reports and presentations that describe the development of FLASH-TV. All parents and children depicted in this document opted-in and additionally provided consent for their images to be used in publications by reviewing and signing the Baylor College of Medicine, media

release form. Of the 22 participating families, one triad's video data from design test 2 was corrupt. Here, we present the data from the remaining 21 triads.

Each design test protocol lasted approximately 90 minutes and contained minor variations. Each protocol required participants to watch television, engage with a mobile tablet, or play with physical toys while being video recorded by the observation room cameras as well as the prototype FLASH-TV system. Participants were asked to change their positions in the room (eg, from the couch to the floor) while performing each task for a few minutes at a time. For certain protocol segments, participants were asked to leave the room for a short period to ensure that FLASH-TV would detect their absence and return. The lighting of the room was varied for some tasks during several of the design tests to assess the robustness of FLASH-TV under bright, dim, and dark conditions. Each protocol included a 20- to 30-minute free-play portion to capture naturalistic viewing of a television screen by children when toys and a mobile device were also available. The room set up varied for each family, including different locations of the television and chairs in room and different room decorations. Design test 3 differed from design tests 1 and 2 as it included 2 separate, approximately 30-minute visits, 1 week apart from the observation laboratory so that the face verification could be assessed with participants across days. Design test 4 was conducted at the family's home using a slightly modified protocol. An example of task-based protocols is provided in Multimedia Appendix 1.

FLASH-TV consisted of a high-definition, wide-angle video camera (Logitech 1080p webcam running at 15-30 frames/s) placed on top of the stationary screen (large computer monitor

in the laboratory observation room or a television at the family's home). The FLASH-TV video data from each of the design tests were reviewed and coded by trained behavioral research staff to determine whether the child was watching television. The research staff coded video data (available at the frame level) was considered the gold standard for training and testing the FLASH-TV machine learning algorithms. The target child was identified in each video frame, and then coded with one of four codes for the target child: watching screen, not watching screen, out of frame, or cannot tell using duration coding (one code was applied to the video data and remained until the child's behavior changed). Eight research staff were trained and certified to correctly label gaze or no gaze ≥90% of the time. Overall, 10% of each family's video data were double coded by 2 independent staff to determine interrater reliability (κ =0.88 with an SD 0.23 for laboratory observations; κ =0.83 with an SD 0.25 for in-home observations).

Face Detection

YOLOv2 [20], a state-of-the-art convolutional neural network (CNN) originally proposed for object detection, was modified to develop the face detection component of FLASH-TV, using a publicly available code base [21]. The modification was based on a transfer learning paradigm in which previously learned model information from the YOLOv2 system was refined and adapted to the FLASH-TV context. YOLOv2 CNN was

originally trained to detect common objects (eg, cars, humans, traffic lights, and animals), but was adapted for the FLASH-TV face detector to extract the parents', siblings', and target children's faces from design test videos. We retained the first 16 layers of the original YOLOv2 model, whereas all the YOLOv2 layers after layer 16 were replaced with our own convolution and detection layers. The entire network was retuned using large-scale public facial data sets [22-24] to refine the FLASH-TV face detector. The FLASH-TV face detector returned *bounding boxes* with the 2D spatial coordinates around all detected faces in each video frame, as shown in the second box from the left in Figure 1.

A receiver operating curve analysis was performed on 10,000 test frames from design test triads 1, 2, and 3, stratified according to the task and lighting conditions to identify the threshold for the face detector. At the selected operating point, the false positive rate per second was 0.79, and the sensitivity was 92.5%. The goal was to set the face detector threshold in a range to avoid missing faces (false negatives) in exchange for accepting higher false positives. A false positive rate of 0.79 per second could be tolerated because most of these false positives would be screened out during the next stage of processing (the face verification step; Figure 2). In practice, about 96% of the false positives were screened out by face verification, achieving an effective false positive rate of 0.03 false positive face detections per second.



Figure 2. Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television (FLASH-TV) face detection. (a) FLASH-TV face detector takes an input frame and detects faces in the image, shown in red boxes (b) Receiver operating curve (ROC) for the face detector. The region indicated in the blue box in the ROC is enhanced in an inset to show the selection of the operating point. At the operating point, we have 0.79 false positives per second and a sensitivity of 92.5% to optimize false negatives.

(a) FLASH-TV face detection

Input video frame

Output with detected faces (red box)



(b) ROC curve for the FLASH-TV face detector



Face Verification

The goal of FLASH-TV face verification was to determine whether any of the detected faces corresponded to the target child. DeepFace [25], a state-of-the-art method for face verification, was used to learn the face-specific features for face verification using deep neural networks with residual connections. A publicly available implementation of this approach from FaceNet [26,27] was trained for face verification on a publicly available data set, VGGFace2 [28], consisting of 3.3 million faces of 9000 identities. The resulting algorithm was tested on the Labeled Faces in the Wild test set [29] consisting of 5749 celebrities that were divided into 6000 face pairs, and DeepFace accuracy on this data set was 99.6%.

To compute the similarity between the face in the bounding box (output of face detector) to the gallery of images of the target child, the correlation among their FaceNet features was measured. For design tests 1 and 2, approximately 33,000 randomly selected test frames were used, and for design test 3,

RenderX

approximately 4000 randomly selected test frames were used. As seen in Figure 3, the match score is closer to 1 when comparing the faces of the target child to another image of the target child. A match score threshold of 0.93 (identified by receiver operating curve analysis) was used in our implementation of FLASH-TV as it provided a reasonable trade-off between false positives and false negatives.

Preliminary analysis of face verification performance indicated that the low-light level with the resultant noisy image was the principal cause of face verification errors. Therefore, we refined the face verification model by retraining the system on a large data set of synthetic low-light, high-noise videos (where noise was added to existing video data to simulate low-light conditions). Further, we exploited the continuity of face identity across successive video frames by automatically tracking and smoothing identity evolution across frames. FLASH-TV face verification resulted in 93% accuracy in identifying the target child (see *Results* section for details).

Vadathya et al

Figure 3. Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television (FLASH-TV) face verification. Demonstration of the FLASH-TV face verification approach. All faces identified in the face detection step are compared with a series of images of the target child's face obtained at the start of the study protocol. The FLASH-TV algorithm assigns a similarity score of each face identified to an image of the target's child's face. At a match score threshold of 0.932, we optimize our true positives and true negatives compared with staff coding of faces among a random sample of 6000 pairs of faces with half pairs being similar faces. Face pairs with match scores above the threshold are considered as similar faces and below that as dissimilar faces. We show example face pairs with match scores in the range (0.991-0.822). Actual false positives and miss detection rates were much lower but we show several examples of each here simply for illustrative purposes.



Gaze Detection

The goal of FLASH-TV gaze detection was to determine whether the target child was looking directly at the television (from which we inferred attention to the television). This was done by first detecting the target child's eyes and then estimating their gaze direction (in relation to the location of the television). Prior gaze detection systems focused on estimating gaze direction from high-resolution images of eyes recorded on mobile phones, tablets, or laptops, where the distances were less than a meter [30-34]. Unfortunately, the FLASH-TV gaze detector had to work with the small facial image sizes (typically <50×50 pixels) captured in the bounding boxes from the video

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e33569
```

XSL•FO

data as the subjects were farther away (2-4 m), and the camera had to cover a large field of view. Consequently, existing trained models for gaze estimation could not be directly used within the FLASH-TV context.

We adapted the Gaze360 approach of Kellnhofer et al [35] for FLASH-TV gaze estimation using a publicly available code base [36]. Gaze360 [35] provided a direction vector specifying the direction in which the person was looking (Figure 4). For FLASH-TV gaze detection, a dichotomous output, whether the child's gaze was or was not on the television was desired. To obtain this dichotomous output from the gaze direction, angular limits were set on the direction of the vector, which should be

Vadathya et al

identified as gaze, and outside, which should be no-gaze. These angular vector limits depended on where the face was in the frame and the relative position of the television (eg, notice the gaze directions for different locations in the video frame shown in Figure 4). To address this, the video frame was divided into multiple regions, for which we identified the angular limits for each. To account for the location of the television in the room, we labeled each FLASH-TV data set with relative position information between the FLASH-TV camera and the television. For example, of the 16 triads for design tests 1, 2, and 3, we have 10 triads with television in the center and 5 with television in the left. One family's data were obtained from a unique position (below television) and could not be used in gaze estimation training or testing.

Figure 4. Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television (FLASH-TV) gaze estimation. All images identified as the target child by the FLASH-TV face verification step in a bounding box are processed for the direction of the child's gaze based on Gaze360 algorithms [35]. This illustrates the resulting gaze vector (red arrow) that are classified as true positives (gaze) or true negatives (no gaze) by the system. Note, the angle of the gaze vector that is considered a true positive (gaze) will depend on the location of the television in the foreground. The approximate television location is indicated by a green box at the bottom of each image.



XSL•FO

We used the leave-one-out strategy to evaluate the Gaze360 on FLASH-TV data. For each design test, we removed one of the family triads as test data and used the remaining families' video data to train the algorithm. This was repeated for each triad in the design tests. The training data were used to obtain the angular limits for the gaze vector, which were then applied to the test data, resulting in a dichotomous gaze or no-gaze output. This binary output was compared with the gold standard human coding of the video data. Our FLASH-TV gaze detector achieved an accuracy of 87% (see the *Results* section for details).

At the end of each data collection session, the parents were asked about their perceptions of FLASH-TV using a structured interview guide. The brief interviews were audio-recorded, transcribed, and coded for themes by 2 trained staff members using NVivo (version 11, QSR International; 2015).

Statistical Analysis

A summary of the algorithms used by FLASH-TV for face detection, face verification, and gaze estimation can be found in Table 1. For each individual step of video data processing, FLASH-TV output was compared with the gold standard (staff-coded video data), and the accuracy, sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV), negative predictive value (NPV), false positives per second, and processing time were calculated within each family and then averaged across families (Table 2).

Table 1. Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television (FLASH-TV) algorithms.

FLASH-TV methods	Algorithm used	FPS ^a processing
Face detection	Modified YoLo [20]	20
Face verification	FaceNet [26,27]	12
Gaze estimation	Gaze360 [35,36]	30

^aFPS: frames per second.

Table 2. Outcome metrics assessed.

Outcome metric	Formula	Interpretation in reference to gaze
Accuracy	TP ^a +TN ^b /(TP+TN+FP ^c +FN ^d)	Overall how often does FLASH-TV ^e make a correct prediction for gaze
Sensitivity	TP/(TP+FN)	High sensitivity indicates that when the child is watching television, FLASH-TV reports it as "Gaze" (few false negatives)
Specificity	TN/(TN+FP)	High specificity indicates that frames in which child is not watching television, FLASH-TV reports it as "no gaze" (few false positives)
PPV^{f}	TP/(TP+FP)	High PPV indicates FLASH-TV "gaze" output corresponds to the child actually watching television
NPV ^g	TN/(TN+FN)	High NPV indicates FLASH-TV "no gaze" output corresponds to the child actually NOT watching television
FPR ^h	FP/(FP+TN)	High FPR corresponds to incorrectly identifying the child is watching television, when the child is actually NOT watching television

^aTP: true positive (ie, FLASH-TV gaze agrees with the gold standard).

^bTN: true negative (ie, FLASH-TV no gaze agrees with the gold standard.

^cFP: false positive (ie, FLASH-TV gaze does not agree with the gold standard).

^dFN: false negative (ie, FLASH-TV no gaze does not agree with the gold standard).

^eFLASH-TV: Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television.

^tPPV: positive predictive value.

^gNPV: negative predictive value.

^hFPR: false positive rate.

For face detection and face verification, the results were presented for the overall video data and stratified on whether the child's gaze was on the television or not, as identified during the gold standard staff-coded video data. Stratifying by child gaze allows FLASH-TV to be evaluated in the context in which FLASH-TV needs to perform well, when the child is actually watching television, to estimate the target child's screen viewing or use time. The robustness or reliability of the face verification to identify the target child across different days was assessed in design test 3, when the parent-sibling triad returned to the observation laboratory for a second data collection session about 1 week after the initial data collection. As the 2 visits were

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e33569

conducted on the same family, the average difference between visits in the outcome metrics (sensitivity, specificity, accuracy, PPV, NPV, and false positive rate) was calculated and tested using the nonparametric Wilcoxon signed-rank test.

To further assess the face verification across different days, exploratory generalized linear modeling was conducted to determine the difference in the outcome metrics (sensitivity, specificity, accuracy, PPV, NPV, and false-positive rate) by visit. A compound symmetry correlation structure was assigned to account for the nesting of repeated measurements within each family per visit (because of multiple frames per visit). A Poisson

distribution was specified for all metrics except PPV, where a binomial was specified to fit the data. The effects of visit and family were tested as the main effects. The estimated difference in the response probabilities (least square means) of the outcome was obtained.

The goal of FLASH-TV was to estimate the target child's television viewing time. The target child's total television viewing time was estimated by sequentially running the 3 steps of FLASH-TV and summing the duration of time the child's gaze was on the screen (given in minutes:seconds format). To assess the target child's television viewing time estimated by the FLASH-TV system compared with the gold standard, the agreement between the number of frames identified as television viewing (after sequentially running each step) by the FLASH-TV was compared with staff codes using the prevalence and bias-adjusted ĸ. Moreover, reliability was assessed by means of the intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) using a generalized linear mixed model accounting for the binary outcome (television viewed or not viewed). A random frame nested within the family effect was specified to reflect the ordering of the frames within family. Correlations of ≤0.35 were defined as weak, 0.36 to 0.67 as moderate, \geq 0.68 as high, and \geq 0.9 as very high [37]. The ICC was also used to determine the

reliability of the target child's total television viewing time estimated by the FLASH-TV system compared with the gold standard using a generalized linear mixed model specifying a lognormal distribution for the continuous outcome and random frame nested within the family. Data from the in-home data collection were used to independently test each algorithm step and then the sequential assessment of each step for the overall estimation of television viewing time for the child. Analyses were conducted using SAS (version 9.4, SAS Institute, Inc). Significance was determined using a two-sided α value of .05. Face recognition and verification algorithms can introduce potential race bias if the algorithm accuracy varies according to the race of the child [38]. Therefore, we report television viewing time estimates from FLASH-TV and the gold standard stratified by child race, but the small sample size precludes statistical comparisons.

Results

Overview

The demographics of the 21 parent-child triads (Table 3) indicate a racially and ethnically diverse sample of families took part in the design tests.



Table 3. Demographics.

	Overall	Design test 1	Design test 2	Design test 3 (2 visits)	Design test 4 (in-home)
Parent-sibling triads (n)	21	5	6	5	5
Children, n (%)	42 (100)	10 (100)	12 (100)	10 (100)	10 (100)
Age (years), mean (SD)	10.2 (2.1)	10.1 (2.5)	9.9 (2.1)	10.5 (1.9)	10.5 (2.0)
Sex (female), n (%)	25 (57)	6 (60)	5 (42)	7 (70)	7 (70)
Race and ethnicity, n (%)					
Non-Hispanic White	16 (38)	4 (40)	4 (33)	2 (20)	6 (60)
Hispanic White	8 (19)	2 (20)	0 (0)	4 (40)	2 (20)
Non-Hispanic Black	10 (24)	2 (20)	6 (50)	2 (20)	0 (0)
Hispanic Black	2 (5)	0 (0)	0 (0)	2 (20)	0 (0)
Asian	2 (5)	0 (0)	2 (17)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Other (mixed or Hispanic Other)	4 (10)	2 (20)	0 (0)	0 (0)	2 (20)
Parent, n (%)	21 (100)	5 (100)	6 (100)	5 (100)	5 (100)
Age (years), mean (SD)	43.9 (8.7)	42.6 (6.9)	46 (9.4)	43.8 (8.6)	42.8 (6.7)
Sex (female), n (%)	19 (91)	5 (100)	6 (100)	5 (100)	3 (60)
Race and ethnicity, n (%)					
Non-Hispanic White	9 (43)	3 (60)	2 (33)	1 (20)	3 (60)
Hispanic White	4 (19)	1 (20)	0 (0)	2 (40)	1 (20)
Non-Hispanic Black	5 (24)	1 (20)	3 (50)	1 (20)	0 (0)
Hispanic Black	1 (5)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (20)	0 (0)
Asian	1 (5)	0 (0)	1 (17)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Other (mixed or Hispanic Other)	1 (5)	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (20)
Education, n (%)					
High school	2 (10)	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (20)	1 (20)
Some college	6 (29)	2 (40)	1 (17)	2 (40)	1 (20)
College	9 (43)	3 (60)	3 (50)	1 (20)	2 (40)
Graduate school	4 (19)	0 (0)	2 (33)	1 (20)	1 (20)

Face Detection

Table 4 reports the outcomes for FLASH-TV face detection algorithm alone. The FLASH-TV face detector achieved a mean conditional (ie, when the child's gaze was on the television) sensitivity of 95.5% (SD 4.79%) with 0.43 (SD 0.51) false positives per second for design tests 1 and 2 on approximately 33,000 test frames. For design test 3, the conditional sensitivity was 96.4% (SD 3.61%) with 0.2 (SD 0.06) false positives per second on approximately 4000 randomly selected test frames. The face detector was also tested with the in-home data from design test 4, which provided 7.5 hours of video data from 5 parent-sibling triads. The face detector's conditional sensitivity was 97.9% (SD 0.02%) with 0.3 (SD 0.15) false positives per

second on approximately randomly selected 20,000 test frames, supporting a high accuracy in real-life scenarios and providing greater confidence that the face detector is functioning at an appropriate accuracy to be used in the three-step process of estimating a child's screen use on larger screens. Our current FLASH-TV face detector is running at 20 frames per second. Exploratory qualitative review of the false positives (regions that are not human face) identified by the FLASH-TV face detector included patterns in cushions and surroundings, cartoon faces, and animal faces (Figure 5). Examples of false negatives (human faces that are not detected) identified by FLASH-TV face detector (lacking a red bounding box) included instances when the faces were not oriented upright (eg, reclining on sofa), were partially occluded, or were in low-light settings.

 Table 4. Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television face detection^a.

	Sensitivity (%; range)	Positive predictive value (%; range)
Design tests 1 and 2 (n=11 triads)	·	
Overall (target child, sibling, and parent)	91.9 (83.2-96.7)	86.6 (67.4-93.9)
With gaze on television (target child)	95.5 (78.8-96.9)	74.9 (53.6-93.0)
Without gaze on television (target child)	87.7 (78.8-96.9)	55.1 (26.8-73.0)
Design test 3—two visits combined (n=5 triads)		
Overall (target child, sibling, and parent)	96.2 (93.4-98.7)	83.5 (72.3-89.8)
With gaze on television (target child)	96.4 (87.5-100.0)	61.9 (38.4-73.4)
Without gaze on television (target child)	89.8 (73.0-96.4)	48.1 (37.6-64.0)
Design test 4—in-home observation (n=5 triads)		
Overall (target child, sibling, and parent)	92.0 (83.9-99.5)	70.1 (54.5-86.6)
With gaze on television (target child)	97.9 (94.7-99.9)	52.5 (30.8-75.4)
Without gaze on television (target child)	86.1 (65.2-97.5)	42.1 (30.7-71.7)

^aTrue negatives are not meaningful to assess for face detection because they represent everything in the video that is not detected as a face. Therefore, accuracy, specificity, and negative predictive values (that depend on true negatives) were not calculated for face detection.



Vadathya et al

Figure 5. Face detection results. (a) Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television (FLASH-TV) face detector captures the faces (indicated in red boxes) across tasks and lighting conditions. (b) Examples of false positives (regions that are not human face) identified by FLASH-TV face detector. Notice the patterns identified as faces (B1, B3, B4, B6, B7, and B9); also the cartoon face detected (B2) and the animal face detected (B8). (c) Examples of false negatives (human faces that are not detected) by FLASH-TV face detector (lacking a red bounding box). The face detector has difficulty in detecting faces, when the faces are not orientated upright (C3, C4, and C7), when the face is partially occluded (C5, C6, and C8), and when the lighting is dark (C2 and C9).

(a) Face detection results (faces detected in red bounding box)



(b) False positives (in cyan bounding box) from the face detector



Face Verification

Table 5 reports the outcomes for FLASH-TV face verification algorithm alone. For design tests 1 and 2, our face verification method achieved a mean conditional (ie, when the child's gaze was on the television) sensitivity of 93.1% (SD 7.03%) for identifying the target child on approximately randomly selected 33,000 test frames. For design test 3, a conditional sensitivity

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e33569
```

XSL•FO

(c) False negatives (pointed by blue arrow) from the face detector



of 96.1% (SD 3.77%) was achieved on randomly selected approximately 4000 test frames. Similarly, on our in-home data set from design test 4, the sensitivity was 91.3% (SD 15.71%) for identifying the target child. The current speed of face verification is 12 frames per second. Examples of false positives and false negatives for face verification for the target child can be found in Figure 6. Exploratory qualitative review of the errors revealed these happened when the target child's face was

partially occluded when they were not watching television and when the lighting in the room was dim, similar to face detection. Note that not identifying the target child's face when there is no-gaze will not affect our final television watching time.

Using the Wilcoxon signed-rank test to test the mean difference across visits 1 and 2 in design study 3, small differences in mean sensitivity (-0.05, SD 0.46), accuracy (-0.01, SD 0.18), and NPV (-0.01, SD 0.15) were identified, with mean values being lower in visit 2 than in visit 1. These differences were identified overall, and were no longer significant for times when the child's gaze was on television for all outcomes except NPV. The

generalized linear models showed that the outcome metrics (sensitivity, specificity, accuracy, PPV, NPV, and false positive rate) did not differ by visit. Mean differences in response probabilities for visit 2 relative to visit 1 for the sensitivity was 0.99 (P=.86), specificity 0.99 (P=.37), accuracy 0.99 (P=.93), PPV 0.87 (P=.48), NPV 1.0 (P=.87), and the false-positive rate 1.07 (P=.27). Mean differences did not change remarkably after stratifying by gaze status (not shown). However, large differences between family pairs (>20%) were observed only for PPV, specifically 23.32% (95% CI 16.71%-32.29%) and 44.41% (95% CI 32.77%-60.18%). These differences persisted only when the child was viewing television.

Table 5. Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television face verification of target child.

		Accuracy	Sensitivity	Specificity	Positive predictive	Negative predictive	
		(%; range) ^a	(%; range) ^a	(%; range) ^a	value (%; range) ^a	value (%; range) ^a	
De	sign tests 1 and 2 (n=11 triads ^a)						
	Overall	92.8 (83.6-96.8)	78.0 (59.2-92.3)	97.2 (88.6-99.6)	89.0 (65.0-98.8)	93.8 (88.9-97.7)	
	With gaze on television	97.8 (94.6-99.6)	93.1 (77.1-98.9)	99.4 (96.9-100)	98.2 (90.5-100)	97.7 (93.4-99.6)	
	Without gaze on television	91.2 (87.7-96.5)	71.9 (51.9-92.0)	96.6 (84.9-99.4)	85.9 (54.8-98.8)	92.4 (87.1-97.4)	
De	sign test 3—two visits combined	l (n=5 triads)					
	Overall	94.5 (85.5-99.0)	83.7 (42.2-97.2)	97.3 (90.3-99.6)	89.7 (64.2-98.9)	95.84 (87.3-99.1)	
	With gaze on television	96.1 (83.5-99.6)	96.1 (85.9-98.6)	96.2 (82.8-100)	89.5 (53.7-100)	98.08 (95.9-99.5)	
	Without gaze on television	92.9 (84.7-98.7)	73.9 (24.6-98.2)	97.7 (90.2-100)	90.1 (65.5-100)	93.80 (84.6-99.4)	
De	sign test 4—in-home observatio	n (n=5 triads)					
	Overall	94.3 (82.6-99.1)	86.9 (66.3-98.7)	99.1 (98.5-99.75)	97.7 (93.9-99.5)	92.7 (73.8-99.4)	
	With gaze on television	95.7 (81.3-99.9)	91.3 (63.4-99.9)	99.8 (99.5-100)	99.7 (99.3-100)	93.6 (72.6-99.5)	
	Without gaze on television	91.2 (83.3-96.1)	79.7 (42.0-97.0)	96.8 (94.8-98.8)	92.3 (81.0-98.7)	89.9 (79.7-98.6)	

^aData analyzed at the frame (ie, bounding box). Given the small sample sizes in each design test, the mean and range (minimum-maximum) are reported.



Vadathya et al

Figure 6. Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television (FLASH-TV) face verification results. This figure shows the frames from different participants where the FLASH-TV face verification identifies the target child in the frame. True positives indicate when the child is identified correctly. False positives indicate when a parent or sibling is mistaken as the target child and false negatives indicate when the target child is not identified correctly. Most of the errors occur when the target child's face is partially occluded when they are not watching television and when the lighting in the room is dim. Note that if the target child's face is not identified when there is no-gaze, it will not affect our television viewing time.



Gaze Detection

Table 6 reports the output for the gaze estimation algorithm alone. For gaze detection with television position in center (10 families), the mean accuracy was 87.2% (SD 7.38%) and mean sensitivity and specificity of 81% (SD 25.3%) and 86.8% (SD 7.14%), respectively (Table 5). For television position to the

left of the room (5 families), the mean accuracy was 87% (SD 6.05%) and mean sensitivity and specificity of 76.2% (SD 20.9%) and 90.8% (SD 2.94), respectively. The current speed at which our gaze detection processes the frames is 30 frames per second. Figure 7 illustrates the most common errors for gaze estimation.

XSL•FO

Table 6. Gaze detection of target child.

Television position	Accuracy (%; range)	Sensitivity (%; range)	Specificity (%; range)	Positive predicative value (%; range)	Negative predictive value (%; range)	False positives rate (%; range)
Center of wall (n=10) ^a	88.0 (74.1-93.1)	73.2 (27.8-95.3)	91.2 (75.8-96.9)	82.1 (68.1-93.7)	87.8 (75.3-98.1)	8.82 (3.1-24.3)
Left corner of room (n=5) ^{a,b}	87.1 (76.8-91.8)	76.2 (54.0-96.1)	90.8 (87.3-94.4)	74.2 (65.5-86.2)	91.5 (76.5-98.7)	9.2 (5.62-12.7)
In-home television position varied (n=5) ^c	75.6 (54.9-93.7)	73.4 (45.2-95.4)	82.7 (71.2-91.1)	90.8 (73.4-97.3)	55.1 (30.7-80.6)	17.3 (8.9-28.8)

^aDesign tests 1 to 3 (in observation laboratory data collection).

^bOne family's data from design tests 1 to 3 were obtained from a unique position (below television) and could not be used in gaze estimation training or testing.

^cDesign test 4 (in-home data collection).

Figure 7. Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television (FLASH-TV) gaze estimation errors. This illustrates examples of errors from the FLASH-TV gaze estimator. The top two rows show false negatives resulting from FLASH-TV identifying no gaze on television, but staff coded gaze (gold standard). Qualitative assessment identified common reasons for false positives included low-light conditions (second row), the child's face orientation not orientated upright (first row leftmost). Bottom two rows show false negatives when FLASH-TV identified gaze, but the staff coded no gaze (gold standard). Qualitative assessment identified common reasons for false negatives included that gaze estimator has difficulty when children pay attention to something close to the television but not on the television (third row) and low-resolution (fourth row middle). The television location is indicated by a green box at the bottom of each image.



Overall Television Viewing Time Estimation

When implementing the 3 steps sequentially to estimate the target child's television viewing time, the ICC was 0.725 when comparing the child's estimated television viewing time per the FLASH three-step algorithm to the gold standard for total time, coded by staff (Table 7). The prevalence and bias-adjusted κ statistic was 0.728 (95% CI 0.727-0.729; *P*<.001) and the ICC comparing the number of frames identified as television viewing

by the FLASH-TV with the human labelers was 0.401. The breakdown of correlations under different conditions is shown in Table 7. Figure 8 shows the comparison of television viewing time between FLASH-TV and the gold standard across 20 triads from our design tests.

A comparison of the television viewing time estimated by FLASH and the gold standard by race and ethnicity found that FLASH-TV underestimated television viewing time in all groups (Table 8).

Vadathya et al

 Table 7. Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television (FLASH-TV) estimation of target child's television viewing time during a 90-minute observation period.

Television position	FLASH-TV estimated television viewing time (minutes; range)	Gold standard televi- sion viewing time (minutes; range)	Television viewing frame by frame, κ^a (95% CI)	ICC ^b of total television viewing time	ICC of television viewing frame by frame
Overall	17.47 (4.7-44.0)	21.72 (8.93-43.0)	0.728 (0.727-0.729) ^c	0.725	0.401
Center of wall (n=10) ^d	17.08 (4.7-44.0)	20.2 (12.2-43.0)	0.787 (0.786-0.788) ^c	0.717	0.428
Left corner of room $(n=5)^{d,e}$	12.26 (5.5-23.3)	13.24 (8.93-22.5)	0.791 (0.789-0.793) ^c	0.762	0.392
In home, television position varied (n=5) ^f	23.5 (9.9-37.4)	33.3 (23.3-42.7)	0.499 (0.497-0.502) ^c	0.354	0.293

^aPrevalence and bias-adjusted κ statistic.

^bICC: intraclass correlation.

^c*P*<.001.

^dDesign tests 1 to 3 (in observation laboratory data collection).

^eOne family's data from design tests 1 to 3 were obtained from a unique position (below television) and could not be used in gaze estimation training or testing.

^fDesign test 4 (in-home data collection).

Figure 8. Scatter plot of gold standard television viewing time versus Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television (FLASH-TV) prediction. This plot compares gold standard television viewing time with FLASH-TV prediction for the 20 triads from our design tests. The television position for each data point is indicated in the legend. Most of our data points lie along the reference diagonal line (y = x) indicating the agreement between FLASH-TV and gold standard. The points below the diagonal indicate FLASH-TV underestimates (y < x) the television viewing time, whereas the points below the diagonal indicate that FLASH-TV overestimates (y > x) the viewing time. CNRC: Children's Nutrition Research Center.





Vadathya et al

Table 8. Exploration of race bias of Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television (FLASH-TV) television viewing estimates.

Child race and ethnicity	FLASH-TV estimated television viewing time (minutes), mean (SD)	Gold standard television viewing time (minutes), mean (SD)
Black ^a (n=5)	7.62 (2.41)	13.26 (3.45)
Hispanic ^b (n=5)	25.17 (10.46)	27.93 (9.95)
Non-Hispanic White (n=8)	20.0 (12.38)	25.16 (13.43)
Other ^c (n=2)	12.06 (3.85)	12.63 (0.92)

^aBlack includes African American and Hispanic Black

^bHispanic includes Hispanic-White and Hispanic-unknown

^cOther includes Asian and Hispanic-Filipino.

Participants' Thoughts About FLASH-TV

Most parents felt comfortable with or neutral toward having FLASH-TV in their home, especially as it would be helpful for them to see how much screen time their children obtained. Some participants were concerned with privacy: whether the camera would be recording all the time and who will have access to their data. Suggestions for improvement included having the ability to turn off the device at will, limiting to only video or audio data, and getting a breakdown about how their data are stored and processed.

Discussion

Principal Findings

FLASH-TV is being developed as an automated, objective assessment for measuring children's screen use on stationary screens (eg, televisions, gaming systems, and computers) in the home, using deep-learning computer vision algorithms to process video data obtained from in front of a stationary screen. The FLASH-TV system estimates the time a child spends watching a specific screen by processing video data in three sequential steps for (1) face detection, (2) face verification of the target child, and (3) gaze detection of the target child. The findings from our study suggest that with further refinement, the FLASH-TV system can be a useful assessment tool for children's viewing of large stationary screens. Output from FLASH-TV could be used in combination with other new assessment tools of other screen media use [11] to develop a composite of children's screen media use across platforms.

FLASH-TV Performance of Algorithms

The current version of FLASH-TV demonstrated high sensitivity for detecting faces when the child's gaze was on the television (95.5%-97.9%) and poor-to-moderate PPV (52.5%-74.9%; Table 4). In developing the FLASH system, a low PPV was accepted for face detection to maximize the sensitivity (true positive rate) and keep false negatives low. This allows the FLASH-TV system to have a larger pool of images for the second step, face verification, which filters out all segments from step 1 that are not the target child, resulting in fewer false negatives from incorrect detection of the target child.

FLASH-TV demonstrated high (all >90%) accuracy, sensitivity, specificity, NPV, and PPV (Table 5) for correctly identifying the target child's face under the condition that the child's gaze

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e33569
```

RenderX

was on the television, even when tested in the child's home. The small differences in outcome metrics identified for face verification across visits by the same child were only present when the child was not watching television, except for the NPV. A significant difference in NPV between the 2 visits may indicate that FLASH-TV has some difficulty in identifying true negatives across days for a child. However, in this small sample, there were no differences in the outcome metrics by visit with the generalized linear models, which accounted for the correlation of data within a family. However, differences were found between families only for PPV. Qualitative assessment of the video data for face verification, where FLASH-TV performed the worst, suggests that the primary sources of error were when the child's face was partially occluded or in dim lighting. Training the FLASH-TV face verification further in simulated darkened images of the child may help alleviate this moving forward.

The accuracy, specificity, and NPV were relatively high (>85%) for FLASH-TV when the gaze assessment was in the observation laboratory, compared with the home (>75%). However, the sensitivity was only moderate (73.2%-76.2%) and similar for each condition. PPV was higher and NPV was lower for in-home assessments. Data collected in the home, a free-living situation, are likely to contain more variability that will need to be addressed. In addition, qualitative assessment of gaze estimation suggests that the primary sources of error were low light, low resolution, and the child's head orientation not being upright. Training the FLASH-TV gaze estimator on more varied data from different room configurations, different-sized televisions, and different locations of the television in the room should help address this moving forward. Simulating the current data with different head configurations and lighting conditions can provide additional training data to further refine the gaze estimator.

FLASH-TV Estimation of Television Viewing

When combining the 3 sequential CNN visual-processing steps, FLASH-TV estimation of the child's television viewing time was overall good (ICC for overall time watched television of 0.725 across conditions). However, a moderate ICC (0.401) was obtained when comparing the FLASH-TV system output for television viewing with the staff codes at the frame level. This suggests that sources of variability other than FLASH-TV or staff contribute to the estimation of a child's television viewing time at the frame level, such as family unit, television position, or lighting during data collection. Therefore,

FLASH-TV should not be used to assess gaze at extremely refined time increments defined at the frame level (1/30th of a second). In fact, researchers are unlikely to analyze children's television viewing data at the second or minute level, reducing the impact of these unexplained sources of variability at the frame level. The next steps in refining the FLASH-TV output will include assessing whether smoothing the data into longer time epochs (eg, 5 s, 15 s, or 30 s) will smooth the variability caused by errors at the frame level to help improve the robustness of FLASH-TV in estimating children's television viewing.

Qualitative analyses of the video data for the families where FLASH-TV performed the worst in estimating the child's television watching time found that differences in the child's viewing position were the most common challenge. Similar to other approaches using video images to measure children's screen use [39], accuracy was impaired when children were reclining or laying on a couch or chair causing part or most of their face to be obscured. In these instances, the FLASH-TV often would not correctly identify the target child or their gaze, causing underestimation of television viewing. Training the FLASH-TV algorithms on larger data sets with the child reclining or laying down may help this.

Despite its current limitations, FLASH-TV is a significant improvement over current self- or parent-report methods that estimate how much time children spend watching television using gross categories. The ICC for the child's total television viewing time for FLASH-TV was high (0.725), slightly better than that previously reported for television diaries (r=0.67), and much better than general estimates by parents (r=0.27) [18], which are commonly used in research [17]. Given how the data are collected within a family, our ICC estimates take into account nesting within the family unit, making them pragmatic and beneficial for powering future family-based studies. FLASH-TV also substantially decreases participant burden, which was noted to generate selection bias when using television diaries [18]. Other tools, such as TV Allowance, have been proposed as an objective assessment of television viewing among children [40]. The TV Allowance was developed for parents to limit their child's access to television screens and required the child or parent to enter the child-specific code each time the child watches television. This may cause misclassification errors if the child is not watching the entire time the television is turned on or watches under another family member's code. The TV Allowance only had a moderate correlation with parental estimates of television viewing in 4-to 7-year-old children [40] and preschool children [41]. In both studies, no comparison was made to the gold standard for direct or video-recorded observations. To our knowledge, the TV Allowance is no longer available for purchase. Forward-facing, wearable cameras automated to record images at frequent time intervals have also been investigated to estimate children's screen use [39]. Such cameras appear to effectively capture images of screens (televisions, laptops, and smartphones) to which the child is exposed when the child is upright. However, similar to FLASH-TV, these cameras had problems when the child was laying down (capturing ceiling images instead). In addition, exposure to a screen does not mean that the child is

XSL•FO

attending to the programming. Furthermore, such cameras are dependent on the child wearing the camera, and wear time declines every evening over a 3-day study period from 78% to 51% of the evening time [39]. Placing the camera on the television instead, like FLASH-TV, places less burden on the child to complete the television watching assessment.

Race Bias

Machine learning algorithms for face recognition and verification have come under scrutiny for not being as accurate across races, termed race bias [38]. Previous work has demonstrated that the source of race bias is related to both data-driven factors (eg, the representativeness of training data sets, the representativeness of the study population, and image conditions) and scenario-modeling factors (eg, thresholds used for face verification) [38]. Exploratory analyses of FLASH-TV suggest FLASH-TV underestimation of television viewing in all groups, but this may be greater among Black and non-Hispanic White children. However, the small sample size and variability in television viewing time between groups make statistical comparisons difficult at this stage. The design studies intentionally included a diverse sample of children to provide diverse training data to minimize the data-driven causes of race bias with FLASH-TV. Further refinement of FLASH-TV is needed, with continued attention to prevent the possibility of a race bias. If race bias occurs with larger sample sizes, approaches to mitigate race bias will be explored such as race-specific thresholds for face verification [38].

Privacy Concerns

Assessments based on the collected images of a child's varied surroundings raise concerns about privacy. Scientists using forward-facing wearable cameras have developed frameworks to manage the ethical considerations for capturing vast amounts of image data in various contexts [42,43]. The single location and context of the image data collected by FLASH-TV is different from that of wearable cameras. However, privacy issues remain. Some parents who participated in the design studies raised concerns about privacy issues with FLASH-TV. Once developed and deployed as a tool for measuring children's television watching, the goal is to have FLASH-TV preserve privacy by only storing the processed output of the FLASH-TV machine learning algorithms and not storing the video data. This should address most of the parents' concerns, but illustrating this to families before data collection may be important. However, until FLASH-TV has undergone further refinements and enhancements, studies require the video data to be stored to allow a gold standard for training the machine learning algorithms and to compare the FLASH-TV output. Such validation studies are critical to ensure the resulting system accurately captures a child's television viewing behaviors and times [17] to allow for higher quality assessment in exposure studies and to assess the effect of television viewing reduction interventions.

Limitations

To date, FLASH-TV has only been assessed during relatively short periods in task-based protocols to simulate scenarios of children's typical screen use behaviors. Future studies will need

to assess how robust FLASH-TV is in estimating a child's screen use across multiple days. Most of the design tests conducted during the development of FLASH-TV were conducted in an observational laboratory. The location of the television in the room varied slightly across families, in addition to the participants' location during each protocol. However, gaze estimation depends on the gaze vectors of the child. Therefore, the algorithms need to be trained on additional video data to capture a child's gaze on a television screen in different positions in the room, resulting in different potential gaze vectors for the child. The sample of participants who took part in the design tests to help develop FLASH-TV were of varied race and ethnic backgrounds. FLASH-TV may not perform equally well for face detection and face verification across all families. Future analyses in larger, diverse data sets should evaluate whether child race, ethnicity, age, and similarity to sibling affect FLASH-TV time estimates for television viewing to ensure FLASH-TV works well across all groups of children.

Finally, FLASH-TV does not assess content watched, or whether the child was active or sedentary while watching television or playing videogames. Future research should investigate the integration of FLASH-TV output with other data sources, such as accelerometer data, to better characterize the activity levels of children as they engage with screens.

Conclusions

We have designed, developed, and performed initial design tests of FLASH-TV, the first-of-its-kind, quantitative, objective, automatic measurement tool for children's television viewing. FLASH-TV offers a critical step forward in the assessment of children's television viewing. Objective assessment of television viewing from FLASH-TV could be added to output from assessment tools of other screen platforms, for a composite measure of screen use among children to better inform research on the impact of screen use on children's health and developmental outcomes.

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases of the National Institutes of Health (grant number R01DK113269). This work was also supported by the United States Department of Agriculture and Agricultural Research Service (cooperative agreement 58-3092-0-001, [TO]). The contents of this work are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health or United States Department of Agriculture. The authors would also like to acknowledge all the hard work by students and staff who were trained, certified, and helped with labeling the video data for the gold-standard assessment: Olivia Hindera and Alexa Mason; Staff: Edgar Galdamez, Saira Sarwar, and Tatyana Garza.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Sample task-based protocol for design test 1. [DOCX File, 14 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e33569_app1.docx]

References

- 1. Council on Communications and Media. Children, adolescents, and the media. Pediatrics 2013;132(5):958-961. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2013-2656] [Medline: 28448255]
- 2. Rideout VJ, Foehr UG, Roberts DF. Generation M2: media in the lives of 8- to 18-year-olds. Kaiser Family Foundation. 2010. URL: <u>https://www.kff.org/other/poll-finding/report-generation-m2-media-in-the-lives/</u> [accessed 2020-06-29]
- Rideout V, Robb MB. The common sense census: media use by kids age zero to eight. Common Sense Media. 2020. URL: https://www.commonsensemedia.org/sites/default/files/uploads/research/2020_zero_to_eight_census_final_web.pdf [accessed 2021-12-02]
- 4. Byrne R, Terranova CO, Trost SG. Measurement of screen time among young children aged 0-6 years: a systematic review. Obes Rev 2021;22(8):e13260 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/obr.13260] [Medline: 33960616]
- 5. Rideout V, Robb MB. The common sense census: media use by tweens and teens. Common Sense. 2019. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/3zdn39ae</u> [accessed 2021-12-02]
- Carson V, Kuzik N, Hunter S, Wiebe SA, Spence JC, Friedman A, et al. Systematic review of sedentary behavior and cognitive development in early childhood. Prev Med 2015;78:115-122. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.07.016</u>] [Medline: <u>26212631</u>]
- Carson V, Hunter S, Kuzik N, Gray CE, Poitras VJ, Chaput JP, et al. Systematic review of sedentary behaviour and health indicators in school-aged children and youth: an update. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2016;41(6 Suppl 3):S240-S265. [doi: 10.1139/apnm-2015-0630] [Medline: 27306432]
- Tremblay MS, LeBlanc AG, Kho ME, Saunders TJ, Larouche R, Colley RC, et al. Systematic review of sedentary behaviour and health indicators in school-aged children and youth. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2011;8:98 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-8-98] [Medline: 21936895]

- 9. Christakis DA, Zimmerman FJ. Media as a public health issue. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2006;160(4):445-446. [doi: 10.1001/archpedi.160.4.445] [Medline: 16585492]
- Wilcockson TD, Ellis DA, Shaw H. Determining typical smartphone usage: what data do we need? Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw 2018;21(6):395-398. [doi: <u>10.1089/cyber.2017.0652</u>] [Medline: <u>29781716</u>]
- 11. Radesky JS, Weeks HM, Ball R, Schaller A, Yeo S, Durnez J, et al. Young children's use of smartphones and tablets. Pediatrics 2020;146(1):e20193518. [doi: 10.1542/peds.2019-3518] [Medline: 32482771]
- Ram N, Yang X, Cho MJ, Brinberg M, Muirhead F, Reeves B, et al. Screenomics: a new approach for observing and studying individuals' dgital lives. J Adolesc Res 2020;35(1):16-50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0743558419883362] [Medline: 32161431]
- 13. Bickham DS, Blood EA, Walls CE, Shrier LA, Rich M. Characteristics of screen media use associated with higher BMI in young adolescents. Pediatrics 2013;131(5):935-941 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-1197] [Medline: 23569098]
- Falbe J, Willett WC, Rosner B, Gortmaker SL, Sonneville KR, Field AE. Longitudinal relations of television, electronic games, and digital versatile discs with changes in diet in adolescents. Am J Clin Nutr 2014;100(4):1173-1181 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3945/ajcn.114.088500] [Medline: 25240080]
- 15. The new multi-screen world: understanding cross-platform consumer behavior. Think with Google. 2012. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/5xczcjc</u> [accessed 2022-02-23]
- Canadian Paediatric Society, Digital Health Task Force, Ottawa, Ontario. Digital media: promoting healthy screen use in school-aged children and adolescents. Paediatr Child Health 2019;24(6):402-417 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/pch/pxz095] [Medline: 31528113]
- 17. Bryant MJ, Lucove JC, Evenson KR, Marshall S. Measurement of television viewing in children and adolescents: a systematic review. Obes Rev 2007;8(3):197-209. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789x.2006.00295.x] [Medline: 17444962]
- Anderson DR, Field DE, Collins PA, Lorch EP, Nathan JG. Estimates of young children's time with television: a methodological comparison of parent reports with time-lapse video home observation. Child Dev 1985;56(5):1345-1357. [doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.1985.tb00202.x] [Medline: 4053746]
- 19. Borzekowski DL, Robinson TN. Viewing the viewers: ten video cases of children's television viewing behaviors. J Broadcast Electron Media 1999;43(4):506-528. [doi: 10.1080/08838159909364507]
- Redmon J, Farhadi A. YOLO9000: better, faster, stronger. In: 2017 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition. 2017 Presented at: CVPR '17; July 21-26, 2017; Honolulu, HI p. 6517-6525. [doi: <u>10.1109/cvpr.2017.690</u>]
- 21. Redmond J. Darknet. Github. 2016. URL: https://github.com/pjreddie/darknet [accessed 2021-02-21]
- Yang S, Luo P, Loy C, Tang X. Wider face: a face detection benchmark. In: 2016 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition. 2016 Presented at: CVPR '16; June 27-30, 2016; Las Vegas, NV p. 5525-5533. [doi: 10.1109/cvpr.2016.596]
- Zhu X, Ramanan D. Face detection, pose estimation, and landmark localization in the wild. In: IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition. 2012 Presented at: CVPR '12; June 16-21, 2012; Providence, RI p. 2879-2886. [doi: 10.1109/cvpr.2012.6248014]
- 24. Koestinger M, Wohlhart P, Roth PM, Bischof H. Annotated facial landmarks in the wild: a large-scale, real-world database for facial landmark localization. In: 2011 IEEE International Conference on Computer Vision Workshops. 2011 Presented at: ICCVW '11; November 6-13, 2011; Barcelona, Spain p. 2144-2151. [doi: 10.1109/iccvw.2011.6130513]
- 25. Taigman Y, Yang M, Ranzato M, Wolf L. DeepFace: closing the gap to human-level performance in face verification. In: 2014 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition. 2014 Presented at: CVPR '14; June 23-28, 2014; Columbus, OH p. 1701-1708. [doi: 10.1109/cvpr.2014.220]
- Schroff F, Kalenichenko D, Philbin J. FaceNet: a unified embedding for face recognition and clustering. In: 2015 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition. 2015 Presented at: CVPR '15; October 15, 2015; Boston, MA p. 815-823. [doi: 10.1109/cvpr.2015.7298682]
- 27. Sandberg D. FaceNet. GitHub. 2017. URL: <u>https://github.com/davidsandberg/facenet</u> [accessed 2021-02-21]
- Cao Q, Shen L, Xie W, Parkhi OM, Zisserman A. Vggface2: a dataset for recognising faces across pose and age. In: 13th IEEE International Conference on Automatic Face & Gesture Recognition. 2018 Presented at: AFGR '18; May 15-19, 2018; Xi'an, China p. 67-74. [doi: 10.1109/fg.2018.00020]
- 29. Huang GB, Mattar M, Berg T, Learned-Miller E. Labeled faces in the wild: a database for studying face recognition in unconstrained environments. In: Workshop on Faces in 'Real-Life' Images: Detection, Alignment, and Recognition. 2008 Presented at: ECCV '08; October 17, 2008; Marseille, France.
- Valenti R, Sebe N, Gevers T. Combining head pose and eye location information for gaze estimation. IEEE Trans Image Process 2012;21(2):802-815. [doi: <u>10.1109/TIP.2011.2162740</u>] [Medline: <u>21788191</u>]
- Krafka K, Khosla A, Kellnhofer P, Kannan H, Bhandarkar S, Matusik W, et al. Eye tracking for everyone. In: 2016 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition. 2016 Presented at: CVPR '16; June 27-30, 2016; Las Vegas, NV p. 2176-2184. [doi: 10.1109/cvpr.2016.239]
- 32. Zhang X, Sugano Y, Fritz M, Bulling A. Appearance-based gaze estimation in the wild. In: 2015 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition. 2015 Presented at: CVPR '15; June 7-12, 2015; Boston, MA p. 4511-4520. [doi: 10.1109/cvpr.2015.7299081]

- Zhang X, Sugano Y, Fritz M, Bulling A. It's written all over your face: full-face appearance-based gaze estimation. In: 2017 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition Workshops. 2017 Presented at: CVPRW '17; July 21-26, 2017; Honolulu, HI p. 2299-2308. [doi: 10.1109/cvprw.2017.284]
- 34. Zhang X, Sugano Y, Fritz M, Bulling A. MPIIGaze: real-world dataset and deep appearance-based gaze estimation. IEEE Trans Pattern Anal Mach Intell 2019;41(1):162-175. [doi: 10.1109/TPAMI.2017.2778103] [Medline: 29990057]
- Kellnhofer P, Recasens A, Stent S, Matusik W, Torralba A. Gaze360: Physically unconstrained gaze estimation in the wild. In: IEEE/CVF International Conference on Computer Vision. 2019 Presented at: ICCV '19; October 27-November 2, 2019; Seoul, South Korea p. 6912-6921. [doi: 10.1109/iccv.2019.00701]
- 36. Gaze360. GitHub. URL: <u>https://github.com/erkil1452/gaze360/</u> [accessed 2021-02-21]
- 37. Taylor R. Interpretation of the correlation coefficient: a basic review. J Diagn Med Sonogr 1990;6(1):35-39. [doi: 10.1177/875647939000600106]
- Cavazos JG, Phillips PJ, Castillo CD, O'Toole AJ. Accuracy comparison across face recognition algorithms: where are we on measuring race bias? IEEE Trans Biom Behav Identity Sci 2021;3(1):101-111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1109/tbiom.2020.3027269] [Medline: 33585821]
- 39. Smith C, Galland BC, de Bruin WE, Taylor RW. Feasibility of automated cameras to measure screen use in adolescents. Am J Prev Med 2019;57(3):417-424. [doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2019.04.012] [Medline: 31377085]
- 40. Robinson JL, Winiewicz DD, Fuerch JH, Roemmich JN, Epstein LH. Relationship between parental estimate and an objective measure of child television watching. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2006;3:43. [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-3-43] [Medline: 17129381]
- 41. Mendoza JA, McLeod J, Chen TA, Nicklas TA, Baranowski T. Convergent validity of preschool children's television viewing measures among low-income Latino families: a cross-sectional study. Child Obes 2013;9(1):29-34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/chi.2012.0116] [Medline: 23270534]
- 42. Kelly P, Marshall SJ, Badland H, Kerr J, Oliver M, Doherty AR, et al. An ethical framework for automated, wearable cameras in health behavior research. Am J Prev Med 2013;44(3):314-319. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2012.11.006</u>] [Medline: <u>23415131</u>]
- 43. Segura Anaya LH, Alsadoon A, Costadopoulos N, Prasad PW. Ethical implications of user perceptions of wearable devices. Sci Eng Ethics 2018;24(1):1-28. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11948-017-9872-8</u>] [Medline: <u>28155094</u>]

Abbreviations

CNN: convolutional neural network FLASH-TV: Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television ICC: intraclass correlation coefficient NPV: negative predictive value PPV: positive predictive value

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 13.09.21; peer-reviewed by S Trost, AS Lu; comments to author 06.11.21; accepted 11.01.22; published 24.03.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Vadathya AK, Musaad S, Beltran A, Perez O, Meister L, Baranowski T, Hughes SO, Mendoza JA, Sabharwal A, Veeraraghavan A, O'Connor T An Objective System for Quantitative Assessment of Television Viewing Among Children (Family Level Assessment of Screen Use in the Home-Television): System Development Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e33569 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e33569 doi:10.2196/33569 PMID:<u>35323113</u>

©Anil Kumar Vadathya, Salma Musaad, Alicia Beltran, Oriana Perez, Leo Meister, Tom Baranowski, Sheryl O Hughes, Jason A Mendoza, Ashutosh Sabharwal, Ashok Veeraraghavan, Teresia O'Connor. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 24.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Original Paper

Usability Testing of a Patient-Centered Mobile Health App for Supporting and Guiding the Pediatric Emergency Department Patient Journey: Mixed Methods Study

Jessica Rochat^{1,2*}, MSc; Frédéric Ehrler^{2*}, PhD; Johan N Siebert^{3*}, MD; Arnaud Ricci², MSc; Victor Garretas Ruiz², MSc; Christian Lovis^{1,2}, MPH, MD

¹Faculty of Medicine, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland

²Division of Medical Information Sciences, University Hospitals of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland

³Department of Pediatric Emergency Medicine, Geneva Children's Hospital, University Hospitals of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Jessica Rochat, MSc Faculty of Medicine University of Geneva Rue Gabrielle-Perret-Gentil 4 Geneva, 1205 Switzerland Phone: 41 793925251 Email: Jessica.Rochat@unige.ch

Abstract

Background: Patient experience in emergency departments (EDs) remains often suboptimal and can be a source of stress, particularly in pediatric settings. In an attempt to support patients and their families before, during, and after their visit to a pediatric ED, a mobile health (mHealth) app was developed by a multidisciplinary team based on patient-centered care principles.

Objective: This study aims to evaluate the usability (effectiveness, efficiency, and satisfaction) of a new mHealth app, *InfoKids*, by potential end users through usability testing.

Methods: The app was assessed through an in-laboratory, video-recorded evaluation in which participants had to execute 9 goal-oriented tasks, ranging from account creation to the reception of a diagnostic sheet at the end of the emergency care episode. Effectiveness was measured based on the task completion rate, efficiency on time on task, and user satisfaction according to answers to the System Usability Scale questionnaire. *Think-aloud* usability sessions were also transcribed and analyzed. Usability problems were rated for their severity and categorized according to ergonomic criteria.

Results: A total of 17 parents participated in the study. The overall completion rate was 97.4% (149/153). Overall, they reported good effectiveness, with the task successfully completed in 88.2% (135/153) of cases (95% CI 83%-93%). Each task, with the exception of the first, created difficulties for some participants but did not prevent their completion by most participants. Users reported an overall good to excellent perceived usability of the app. However, ergonomic evaluation identified 14 usability problems occurring 81 time. Among these, 50% (7/14) were serious as their severity was rated as either *major* or *catastrophic* and indicated areas of improvements for the app. Following the suggested usability improvements by participants, mitigation measures were listed to further improve the app and avoid barriers to its adoption.

Conclusions: Usability of the InfoKids app was evaluated as good to excellent by users. Areas of improvement were identified, and mitigation measures were proposed to inform its development toward a universal app for all ED patients visiting a digitalized institution. Its contribution could also be useful in paving the way for further research on mobile apps aimed at supporting and accompanying patients in their care episodes, as research in this area is scarce.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e25540) doi:10.2196/25540

KEYWORDS

RenderX

usability; user-centered design; information systems; mobile apps; emergency service; hospital; pediatrics; mobile phone

Introduction

Background

An emergency department (ED) visit is often the first point of contact for patients with a health care institution and thus a showcase of its efficiency. Providing patients with a positive experience should take high priority [1] and is one of the fundamental determinants of health care quality [2]. In a recent meta-synthesis, a study by Graham et al [1] conceptualized a model to understand the most commonly identified drivers of the ED patient experience. These included interpersonal and informational communication, patients' expectations and empowerment, recognition of emotional needs, actual and perceived waiting times, competent care, and physical and environmental needs [1]. A similar conceptual framework was also developed by Sonis et al [3,4]. The same drivers have been observed in other studies focusing on identifying the determinants of patient and family experience in the pediatric EDs [5-11]. This highlights the essential nature of these drivers and the attention that should be paid to them when implementing an intervention to improve the adult or pediatric ED patient experience and ED efficiency. Several recent reviews have demonstrated a strong correlation between a positive ED patient experience and a range of benefits at the individual and institutional levels. These include increased therapeutic compliance [12]; improved health clinical outcomes [1,13,14]; outpatient [15], inpatient [16], and staff satisfaction [12]; reduced complaints and medicolegal risks [17]; institutional profitability and reputation in the community [12,18,19]; and other health care system goals [13].

Unfortunately, the hectic, unpredictable, crowded, demanding, and time-pressured environment of the ED may adversely affect patient experience [13]. In particular, there is strong pressure from public and institutional leaders to alleviate overcrowding and long waiting times experienced in the ED [20]. Overcrowding because of nonurgent visits negatively impacts the quality of care and patient safety (prolonged waiting times, delays in diagnosis and treatment, delays in treating seriously ill patients, and medication errors). It also affects the costs of care and patient experience. For hospitals, crowding results in loss of revenue because of patients leaving the ED without being seen, diversion of EDs secondary to patient dissatisfaction, and shifting of the market share to competitors [21]. Moreover, overcrowding exposes ED staff to stressful and unpredictable work-related events, resulting in decreased productivity and increased turnover [22,23].

The body of literature assessing conventional intervention strategies aimed at improving these specific ED issues is highly heterogeneous [24-34]. Proposed interventions vary widely and often require major structural or organizational changes that are not necessarily easily scalable to all hospitals. Importantly, a few address the aforementioned drivers of the ED experience in a scoping and integrative manner along the entire patient journey. Successfully addressing these dimensions requires enlisting patients and families as allies in designing, implementing, and evaluating care systems through patient-centered care approaches [35]. One solution to the

serious challenges facing the ED today may be found in information technologies, which have the potential to both reduce institutional burdens and improve patients' experience [36]. Supported by the rapid spread of mobile devices in the community and their innovative features (eg, versatile connectivity, on-board computing and communication capabilities, privacy, and small size), mobile apps may provide such a solution within the easy reach of end users. However, to date, there is a lack of studies on the potential use of mobile apps to individually support the entire emergency care journey. On the basis of this finding and guided by the principles of patient- and family-centered care [5,35], we developed InfoKids [37], an integrated eHealth solution composed of 3 modules connecting patients, caregivers, and administrative clerks through a web and mobile app, with the aim of supporting the entire emergency care process, thus facilitating caregiving and administrative work and streamlining the arrival of patients in the ED [38]. This system is freely available at Geneva University Hospitals, Geneva, Switzerland, for pediatric patients. It is expected to be soon redesigned to cover the entire population seeking ED care (ie, adult, geriatric, and gynecologic) in a service area of more than 1 million individuals. Before scaling up this app to such a large population, an essential step in determining the potential for the success of this patient-centered eHealth intervention was to assess its capacity to meet end users' needs and improve health care at our institution before clinical effectiveness testing [39-42].

Objective

This study aims to evaluate the usability of the InfoKids mobile app to support the entire patient's ED journey through quantitative and qualitative usability metrics in a laboratory setting. We then aim to identify potential problems related to its use and formulate mitigation measures to inform both the development of its upcoming version as a universal app for all ED outpatient consultations in our hospitals and future mobile app development in this medical field by other research groups.

Methods

Study Design

The usability of the app was assessed through a scenario-based, summative evaluation of human-computer interactions using a mixed methods approach [43]. Multitask quantitative and qualitative usability metrics were used and are described in detail in subsequent sections.

Definition of Usability

Usability is defined as "the extent to which a product can be used by specified users to achieve specified goals with effectiveness, efficiency and satisfaction in a specified context of use" [44]. Usability of a mobile app can be measured by the completeness and successfulness whereby users solve specified tasks centered around the main features of the app. Conversely, systems with poor usability can lead to low goal achievement efficiency or technology not being used [45].

Participants and Setting

The study was conducted in a medical informatics usability laboratory room at Geneva University Hospitals to standardize the intervention and technically facilitate measurements. The evaluation framework was a user-task-system interaction, deliberately omitting the user's real environments [43]. Tasks were performed on an LG G5 mobile phone with a 5.3-inch screen size at a resolution of 2560×1440 pixels and an Android operating system V7. According to recommendations on the minimum sample size required to conduct a summative evaluation, at least 15 participants were planned to be recruited [46]. Participants were recruited through advertisements posted on Facebook groups and displayed at the Geneva University Medical Center. Participation was open to adults with children of pediatric age (0-16 years). Exclusion criteria were non-French-speaking persons and those who had previously used the app.

InfoKids Mobile App

Overview

The app was developed by a multidisciplinary team using a user-centered design approach to support each dimension of patient-centered care [37], which is an important approach to consider when developing a mobile health (mHealth) tool for patients. It is primarily defined by considering the needs and

values of each patient and helping them to be more actively engaged with shared decision-making about their care [35,47]. Such patient involvement is a key element in high-quality health care [48].

A needs analysis guided by the Picker Institute's patient-centered care dimensions was conducted among patients and their relatives to identify the specific requirements for the app [49]. System specifications were also identified to translate them into functionalities based on the collected needs of pediatric emergency physicians and nurses and observations of the workflow of caregivers and administrative clerks (Figure 1) [37]. Observations were performed to map out a generic patient journey [37,50]. Improvements were identified from this upstream work and incorporated into the app. In the previous stages of the app's development, heuristic evaluations were performed by 3 ergonomics experts following the guidelines given by Nielsen and Mack [51] to identify any problems and correct them before proceeding with usability testing. In its current version, the InfoKids mobile app is designed to support parents throughout their entire journey in the pediatric ED; that is, from the onset of the first symptoms to their return home. The interface was designed using hedonic elements to make it more enjoyable and aiming to increase its acceptance. The app is available to the local community through free downloads from the Apple App and Google Play stores.

Figure 1. The InfoKids app process.



Preconsultation Stage

The app guides parents through a hierarchical organization of symptoms with medical advice on actions to take; that is, manage the symptom at home, need to visit a private practitioner, or require an ED visit. Classification of symptom terminology was established through a card-sorting study [52]. First, this allows parents to make better decisions on how to deal with symptoms and decide whether to consult. Second, the app contains educational videos aimed at responding to the most common questions that parents may have when visiting the ED. Third, it emotionally supports patients by avoiding unrealistic expectations through the display of ED waiting room occupancy in real time. Occupancy is represented by a metaphoric display of a road where patients are represented as cars queuing (Figure 2). According to the Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale [53], 5

levels of emergency are represented by 5 lanes, as displayed on the screen. Each patient is represented by a car in the sequential order of arrival from right to left for each lane, left being the most recent arrivals. Patients with the highest level of urgency are represented by an ambulance rather than a car. Notably, the same view is displayed on a large television screen hanging on the wall of the ED waiting room. The app also provides a graphic forecast of daily occupancy based on statistics from the 5 previous days. This allows a better distribution of visits throughout the day by offering patients the possibility to consult during the least busy periods (Figure 3) and better perceive expected wait times before being seen by a physician. The app also provides guidance on the hospital location through GPS features and informs the hospital in real time of the patient's upcoming arrival.

Figure 2. Screenshot of the *InfoKids* mobile app displaying the emergency department occupancy in the waiting room in real time. The Canadian Triage and Acuity Scale categorizes patients by both injury and physiological findings and ranks them by severity from 1 (highest, red) to 5 (blue). By clicking the 144 icon, the user is connected directly to the national emergency call center. HUG: Hôpitaux Universitaires de Genève.

<	HLG InfoKids	a 144
Wait	ting times	
		¥
		۲
		e
		~
		۲
Ex; This eme	Dlanations: is the current occupancy of the pediatric rgency waiting room.	
	infos Family Map	≡

Figure 3. Screenshot of the *InfoKids* mobile app displaying forecasts of daily occupancy based on the statistics of the previous 5 days. The vertical graduation from green (bottom) to red (top) indicates the expected daily occupancy rate from low to high. HUG: Hôpitaux Universitaires de Genève.

< HLG InfoKids	a 144
Forecast	
High waiting time Low waiting time midnight 6h	noon 18h
Explanations: This is a prediction of the department attendance b is not a guarantee of cur	e pediatric emergency ased on the last 5 days. It rent wait times.
(i) Infos	Family Map



XSL•FO RenderX
Per-Consultation Stage

When parents decide to consult, they can inform the ED of their arrival by a simple click. By doing so, administrative entries recorded in advance within the app are automatically and securely communicated to the hospital. This aims to empower the patient as warrantor of the quality of the administrative data stored in the clinical information system and to reduce the risk of patient misidentification [54]. It also aims to improve the efficacy of ED organizations by shifting the paradigm from an impromptu influx of patients arriving *at the door* to an anticipated occupation, allowing a more efficient management of medical resources. In addition, after triage and when appropriate, patients with nonurgent conditions are offered the possibility to leave the ED temporarily without losing their position in the waiting queue and then called by semiautomated phone messages as soon as a physician is available. These

features enable the hospital to act upstream for the regulation of patient flow and overcrowding by a more judicious allocation of health care resources, such as a more rational repartition of caregivers and consultation rooms.

Postconsultation Stage

At the time of discharge, the app automatically sends an informative sheet based on the patient's diagnosis, thus assuring a personalized follow-up. Each sheet offers clear explanations regarding the current condition or trauma, appropriate treatment, prerequisites for a return to the community, and symptoms that require medical attention. The quality and safety of the information provided rely on the core information library supplied by pediatric emergency physicians and endorsed by Geneva University Hospitals. All these features (Table 1) are explained in an in-app tutorial composed of pop-ups and videos.

Table 1. Summary of InfoKids functionalities per stage of consultation.

Stage	Functionality	Goal	User actions
Preconsultation	Creation of a user profile	Share securely patient information with the hospital.	Enter parent and child legal information (identity, postal address, insurance, etc) and health records.
Preconsultation	Tutorial	Inform how to use the app and how a consultation at the ED^a takes place.	Browse the tutorial.
Preconsultation	Real-time visualization of ED waiting room occupancy	Assist in making decisions about the most appropriate time to consult at the ED.	Visualize occupancy and forecasts.
Preconsultation	Symptoms decision tree classifier	Help with the decision to consult and improve the patient experience.	Identify the symptoms and obtain advice on how to manage them.
Preconsultation	Guidance	Find the ED location (GPS).	Follow the GPS.
Per-consultation	ED already informed upon patient arrival	Anticipate the patient's arrival.	Confirm departure.
Per-consultation	Symptoms, chronic illnesses, allergies, and usual treatments entered by the parent into the app are automatically communi- cated to the ED	Empower patient as warrantor of the quality of the administrative data stored in the clinical information system; reduce patient misidentification.	Enter the child's administrative and per- sonal data in the app beforehand; automat- ed sending of this information at the time of announcement of departure to the ED by a simple click.
Per-consultation	Temporarily leave the ED while waiting for a scheduled consultation	Reduce the waiting time and improve the patient experience.	Accept the legal discharge document, al- lowing to temporarily leave the ED.
Postconsultation	Personalized diagnostic sheet	Improve therapeutic adherence and the patient experience.	Provide access to diagnostic and therapeu- tic follow-up.

^aED: emergency department.

Procedure

Participants were invited by emails to individual sessions. The study procedure was explained to the participants upon arrival at the evaluation laboratory. Written informed consent was obtained from all the participants. After completing a baseline questionnaire on demographics and user experience with smartphones, the participants were asked to imagine themselves in a situation where they had heard about the InfoKids app and to follow a scripted and timed standardized scenario. The scenario was developed to sequentially guide the user toward the completion of 9 goal-oriented tasks covering the main functionalities of the app (Textbox 1; Multimedia Appendix 1). The sequence of tasks reflected the sequence of actions that parents seeking medical advice for their sick child with worrying

symptoms at home would have to perform. For reasons related to the study design and use of the app, the possibility of patients being able to temporarily leave the ED while waiting for a scheduled consultation was not evaluated but will be the subject of further research. For greater realism, the dates and times were adapted to the time of the experiment. No training on the app was offered before the evaluation began to avoid preparation bias. The participants were not given any assistance to complete the tasks. Study investigators only intervened to encourage participants to keep talking during the intervention, thus avoiding bias of results and minimizing any disruption of participants' thoughts. The participants were informed that their interaction with the app and their verbal exchanges would be video recorded.

Textbox 1. Goal-oriented test tasks.

Goal-oriented test tasks

- Task 1: open the app, enter your personal data as requested, and accept the terms of use.
- Task 2: create a profile for your child and close the app (Multimedia Appendices 2 and 3).
- Task 3: imagine that 2 days later, your child has cough and you are seeking medical advice. Open the app and look for advice (Multimedia Appendix 4). Read the tips on what you can do at home to manage the situation on your own. Also read the tips on when you should go to the pediatrician in the next 24 hours. Close the app.
- Task 4a: 1 week later, you plan to go to the pediatric emergency room because of the worsening of your child's cough and health condition. You are wondering about the current emergency room occupancy and want to see how busy the waiting room is (Figure 2). The date is (date of examination), current time is (time of examination). Are there many people in the emergency department (ED)? Can you describe what the cars represent on the screen? Can you describe what the different lines represent?
- Task 4b: Does occupancy in the ED over the last few days allow you to predict whether the wait on that day will be long? Can you describe what the graph represents (Figure 3)?
- Task 5: you decide to go to the ED with your child. Inform the ED of your arrival and return to the home page (Multimedia Appendix 5).
- Task 6a: you are seeking information on the location of the ED. Go to the tutorial to find information on how to use the mapping tool (GPS).
- Task 6b: after viewing the tutorial, indicate the location of the ED building on the map and return to the home page (Multimedia Appendix 6).
- Task 7: you went to the emergency room and came home. You receive a notification on your app regarding the diagnosis made in the ED and read it. What is the physician's diagnosis? What home care information is necessary?

To understand participants' thoughts, the concurrent *think-aloud* method was applied by asking them to verbalize during task completion [55]. Upon completion of the scenario, the moderator had a debriefing with each participant following a semistructured grid interview, with the aim of assessing overall experience with the tool and usability improvements and perform a retrospective *think-aloud* method to analyze difficulties encountered and understand their causes [56]. Finally, to assess user satisfaction, the participants were asked to complete the System Usability Scale (SUS) questionnaire [57,58].

Scenario

A pediatric emergency physician (JNS) wrote a credible and standardized scenario based on these tasks, which was then screened and approved by two ergonomists (JR and AR) at the evaluation laboratory. In the scenario, the participant decides to install the app in the eventuality that an ED visit might be necessary. Shortly after, the participant (ie, the parent) needs to use the app for the first time following the onset of cough in their child. A week later, when the cough and the child's health had deteriorated, the parent had to use the app again to be guided and supported to go to the ED with the child.

Usability Analysis

Quantitative Evaluation

The participant's task performance was measured by the following metrics:

- 1. *Effectiveness* is defined as the accuracy and completeness in which users achieve the specified goals [44]. Effectiveness is calculated in three different ways:
 - *Task completion rate (TCR) per participant*, that is, the percentage of tasks successfully completed, whether with ease or difficulty [59]. This is calculated using the following equation:

TCR per participant = (number of tasks completed successfully / total number of tasks undertaken) \times 100 (1)

When a task cannot be started and evaluated (ie, because of a problem with the Wi-Fi connection), it is coded as *nonavailable*.

• *TCR per task*, that is, the percentage of participants who successfully completed a given task, whether with ease or difficulty [59]. This is calculated using the following equation:

TCR per task = (number of participants who completed successfully / total number of participants) \times 100 (2) When a task cannot be started and evaluated (ie, because of a problem with the Wi-Fi connection), it is coded as *nonavailable*.

- Distribution of task success by task is defined as the proportion of participants completing a task according to three possible levels of achievement: (1) the task is considered *completed with ease* when the user has successfully completed the task without any errors or difficulties; (2) *completed with difficulty* when the task was completed, but with difficulties that could have been solved by the participant; and (3) *failed to complete* when the task is left incomplete or abandoned or the participant gave incorrect answers. When a task cannot be started and evaluated (ie, because of a problem with the Wi-Fi connection), it is coded as *nonavailable*.
- 2. *Efficiency* is defined as the level of resource use required for users to achieve specified goals in relation to accuracy and completeness [44]. This is calculated in three different ways:
 - *Time on task* is defined as the average amount of time (in seconds) taken to complete a given task from the moment the participant finished reading the instructions

until the task was completed (whether with ease or with difficulty) or abandoned.

- *Time-based efficiency (TBE)* is defined as the time spent by users in absolute value to ensure the accurate and complete achievement of tasks using the 2 equations described in a study by Ben Ramadan et al [59].
- Overall relative efficiency (ORE) is defined as the ratio of the time spent by effective users to ensure accurate and complete achievement of tasks to the total time taken by all users (ie, including the time spent by ineffective users) using the 2 equations described in a study by Ben Ramadan et al [59].
- 3. Satisfaction measured by administering the SUS questionnaire designed by Brooke [57,58], a highly robust and versatile tool to measure participants' subjective assessment of usability [60]. SUS is a 10-item questionnaire (Multimedia Appendix 7), with 5 response options for respondents for each item, based on their level of agreement from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Following the Brooke scoring system [57,58], for odd-numbered statements 1, 3, 5, 7, and 9 (positively worded items), the score contribution is equal to the scale position minus 1 (eg, strongly agree 5–1=4). For even-numbered statements 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10 (negatively worded items), the score contribution is equal to 5 minus the scale position (eg, strongly agree 5-5=0). Each score contribution falls within the range of 0 to 4. The participants' scores for each item are then summed and multiplied by 2.5 to convert the original scores from 0 to 40 to 0 to 100. Although the scores range from 0 to 100, these are not percentages of usability and should be considered only in terms of their percentile ranking. To obtain an SUS score of 100, the respondent must answer 5 to all odd questions and 1 to all even questions. It is generally considered that a score is good starting from 75 and fair between 50 and 75. A score below 50 reveals strong disagreement in terms of satisfaction [60]. As the participants were French speaking, the French translation of the questionnaire was used [61]. As age could be a potential confounder correlated with usability scores [60], we also analyzed SUS scores according to two age categories (≤ 40 years and >40 years).

Qualitative Evaluation

Qualitative data from the concurrent, retrospective think-aloud and debriefing were used to assess the overall experience with the tool, identify usability problems, understand the cause of difficulties, and identify usability improvements. Usability problems encountered by the participants during the tasks were rated using the Nielsen severity scale [62] and categorized using the ergonomic criteria of Bastien and Scapin [63]. The Nielsen scale ranges from 0 to 4, with higher scores positively correlated with greater problems (0=no usability problem; 1=cosmetic problem that does not need to be addressed unless extra time is available on the project; 2=minor usability problem: fixing this should be given low priority; 3=major usability problem: important to fix and should be given high priority; and 4=usability catastrophe: imperative to fix this before releasing the product). The Nielsen criteria [51] used to rate the severity of usability problems are (1) the frequency of occurrence of a

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e25540
```

problem (common or rare?), (2) its impact on the user's experience (easy or difficult for users to overcome?), and (3) its persistence (a unique problem on first use or will it persist to bother users?). As some studies have shown that severity ratings are subjective and can vary significantly from one assessor to another [64], they were conducted independently by 2 ergonomists. In case of disagreement, the ratings were averaged [65]. However, to avoid disagreement, both ergonomists agreed to classify usability problems that led to failure as a *usability catastrophe*. The Bastien and Scapin [63] method consists of a list of 18 ergonomic criteria that are generally used to identify and understand the most well-known interface problems. The categorization of usability problems following these criteria was performed independently by both ergonomists. In case of disagreement, the evaluators discussed together to reach a consensus.

Data Collection

Participants' task performance was video-recorded and audio-recorded to retrospectively analyze the usability of the app. Video and audio captures were acquired with an Elmo L-l2iD camera document placed above the phone. Morae software (TechSmith Corporation) was used to analyze the video and audio recordings of participants' interactions with the app. Subsequently, the recordings and usability metrics were transcribed onto Microsoft Excel spreadsheets. The SUS paper questionnaires were collected immediately after the intervention and subsequently transcribed onto Microsoft Excel spreadsheets. Two researchers (JR and VGR) analyzed the success rates of each task and their duration independently of each other. In case of disagreement, both researchers discussed together to reach a consensus. All data collected were anonymized.

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to summarize continuous measures at a significance level of .05. Frequency counts were used for summarizing categorical measures. Age categories and SUS mean scores were compared to make comparisons between user characteristics and satisfaction. Data were analyzed, and graph figures were created with GraphPad Prism 9 and Microsoft Excel.

Ethics Approval and Consent to Participate

The study was submitted to the Regional Research Ethics Committee (Req-2021-00505), which waived the need for further evaluation by issuing a *no objection* statement, as such projects did not fall within the scope of the Swiss federal law on human research [66]. Only data from a fictitious patient were used in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants before the intervention. No participants' medical information was used. Participants were not identifiable on video and audio recordings. Participants' data and results obtained through the intervention were deidentified and assigned an individual identifying code that did not contain identifying information. Data were secured by protected access passwords at Geneva University Hospitals on secured hard disks. This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki [50] and principles of Good Clinical Practice [51].

XSL•FO RenderX

Between June and September 2017, a total of 17 participants

participated in the study. Baseline demographic characteristics

are shown in Table 2.

Results

Participant Characteristics

 Table 2. Demographic characteristics of study participants (N=17).

Characteristics	Values, n (%)
Gender	
Woman	15 (88)
Man	2 (12)
Age categories (years)	
21-30	3 (18)
31-40	4 (24)
41-50	8 (47)
51-60	2 (12)
Number of children	
1	9 (53)
2	5 (29)
3	2 (12)
4	1 (6)
Parents with a child aged (years)	
0-3	6 (35)
3-6	7 (41)
6-9	7 (41)
9-12	1 (6)
12-15	3 (18)
Already visited Geneva pediatric ED ^a	
Yes	12 (71)
No	5 (29)
Type of phone	
iOS	7 (41)
Android	9 (53)
Windows phone	1 (6)
Possession of a smartphone	
<1 year	0
From 1 to 2 years	0
More than 2 years	17 (100)
Frequency of mobile apps use	
Often (daily)	17 (100)
Regularly (several times per week)	0
Sometimes (once to several times per month)	0
Rarely (once to several times per year)	0
Never	0

^aED: emergency department.

XSL•FO RenderX

Quantitative Evaluation

Effectiveness Per Participant

The overall completion rate (tasks completed and failed) was 88.2% (135/153). A total of 4 participants did not perform some tasks, 2 (50%) participants ignored task 6a, 1 (25%) participant experienced a problem with the Wi-Fi connection in task 6b, and 1 (25%) participant experienced a software bug in task 7.

The mean overall success rate, defined as the percentage of tasks that participants completed successfully (whether with ease or difficulty), was 88.2% (135/153; SD 10.63%; 95% CI 83%-93%). An analysis of almost 1200 usability tasks showed that the minimum accepted average TCR was 78% [67]. In this study, the TCR per participant ranged from 67% to 100% (Figure 4).

Figure 4. Task completion rate per participant for the 9 assigned tasks. *Task completed* represents the percentage of tasks successfully completed by a participant, whether with ease or difficulty. *Failed to complete* defines the percentage of tasks that participants failed to complete. *Nonavailable* represents the percentage of missing data when a task could not be started and evaluated.



Effectiveness Per Task

Of the 9 assigned tasks, 4 (44%) were achieved 100% by all participants (Figure 5); 2 (22%; tasks 4b and 7) reached a TCR per task of 94%; 1 (11%; task 6a) reached a TCR of 82%; and 2 (22%) scored below 78%: task 6b with a value of 71% and

task 4a with a value of 53%. Of note, all tasks with a value of less than 100% were related to either browsing through the pages of the app or understanding the information displayed. Figure 5 shows that task 4a appeared to be most complicated. Tasks 4b, 6a, and 6b also seemed problematic for some participants.



Figure 5. Task completion rate per task (N=17 participants). *Task completed* represents the percentage of participants who successfully completed the task, whether with ease or difficulty. *Failed to complete* defines the percentage of participants who failed to complete the task. *Nonavailable* represents the percentage of missing data when a task could not be started and evaluated.



Task Success Distribution Per Task

The observed task success distribution is shown in Figure 6. Task 1 was completed with ease by all the participants (17/17, 100%), followed by task 4b (13/17, 76%). Tasks 2 and 7 were completed with ease by 71% (12/17) of the participants. Task 3 was completed with ease by 65% (11/17) of the participants,

but tasks 6a, 6b, 5, and 4a were completed with ease by only 47% (8/17), 41% (7/17), 24% (4/17), and 6% (1/17) of the participants, respectively. Apart from task 1, all tasks led to difficulties with a *completed with difficulties* rate ranging from 18% to 76%. Participants encountered failures during four tasks (4a, 4b, 6a, and 6b), with a *failed to complete* rate ranging from 6% to 47%.



Rochat et al

Figure 6. Task success distribution per task (N=17 participants). *Completed with ease* represents the percentage of participants who completed the task with ease. *Completed with difficulty* represents the percentage of participants who completed the task with difficulties. *Failed to complete* defines the percentage of participants who failed to complete the task. *Nonavailable* represents the percentage of missing data when a task could not be started and evaluated.



Efficiency: Time on Task

The mean overall time on task for all tasks was 101.26 (SD 44.07) seconds. Tasks 1, 2, and 4a had a higher time on task than the other tasks (Table 3). These findings showed that the

most complicated task (ie, task 4a) was the third most time-consuming task, although it did not require much action compared with tasks 1 and 2, which were the longest and required several pieces of data to be entered into the app, thus explaining their duration.

Table 3. Time on task per study task.

Task	Time on task (seconds), mean (SD)
Task 1: Create a parental account	142.58 (38.96)
Task 2: Create a child profile	182.56 (58.64)
Task 3: Find the symptoms page	96.86 (46.36)
Task 4a: Find and understand the waiting times page	138.61 (71.4)
Task 4b: Find and understand the forecast page	55.93 (34.27)
Task 5: Inform of the departure to ED ^a	80.08 (58.98)
Task 6a: Find the tutorial page	59.93 (27.06)
Task 6b: Find the map page	62.34 (47.16)
Task 7: Find the <i>diagnostic</i> sheet	92.46 (52.84)

^aED: emergency department.

XSL•FO RenderX

Multimedia Appendices 8 and 9 show the TBE and ORE for every single performed task, respectively. Multimedia Appendix

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e25540

8 shows that tasks 1, 2, and 4a had the shortest TBE. Therefore, creating the parental account and the child's profile was not the

most efficient task. Task 4a showed the lowest efficiency, with the shortest TBE (0.0065 tasks per second) and lowest ORE (50.2%).

Satisfaction: SUS Questionnaire

The mean overall SUS score was 80.88 (SD 8.57; Table 4). This shows that the usability of the InfoKids app was perceived as

Table 4.	System	Usability	Scale	(SUS)	questionnaire	results.
----------	--------	-----------	-------	-------	---------------	----------

good to excellent [68] (Figure 7). The detailed scores indicate that of the 17 participants, 4 (24%) assessed the app as fair, 5 (29%) as good, and 8 (47%) as excellent. Mean SUS scores were similar when analyzed by two age categories, \leq 40 years (mean 82.14, SD 9.94 years) and >40 years (mean 80, SD 8.42 years; Mann–Whitney *U* test=29.5; *P*=.60).

	Question 1	Question 2	Question 3	Question 4	Question 5	Question 6	Question 7	Question 8	Question 9	Question 10	SUS score (sum×2.5; maxi- mum 100)
P1	3	3	3	4	4	4	4	4	4	4	92.5
P2	3	3	4	4	3	4	3	4	4	3	87.5
P3	3	2	2	4	3	3	3	2	3	3	70
P4	4	3	3	4	3	3	4	4	3	4	87.5
P5	3	3	3	4	3	2	3	4	3	2	75
P6	3	3	3	4	3	2	3	4	3	4	80
P7	3	1	2	4	3	3	3	4	3	4	75
P8	4	3	3	4	4	4	3	4	4	3	90
P9	3	3	4	4	3	3	4	4	4	3	87.5
P10	4	0	4	0	3	1	4	4	3	3	65
P11	4	3	3	4	3	4	3	4	4	4	90
P12	3	3	3	2	3	3	4	4	4	3	80
P13	4	3	3	3	4	3	4	4	4	4	90
P14	4	3	3	2	3	3	3	4	3	3	77.5
P15	4	3	3	4	4	4	4	4	4	1	87.5
P16	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	2	3	70
P17	2	3	3	3	3	3	3	2	3	3	70
Values, mean (SD)	3.35 (0.59)	2.65 (0.84)	3.06 (0.54)	3.35 (1.08)	3.24 (0.42)	3.06 (0.8)	3.41 (0.49)	3.65 (0.76)	3.41 (0.6)	3.18 (0.78)	80.88 (8.57)
Values, median (IQR)	3 (3-4)	3 (3-3)	3 (3-3)	4 (3-4)	3 (3-3)	3 (3-4)	3 (3-4)	4 (4-4)	3 (3-4)	3 (3-4)	80 (75-87.5)

Figure 7. Overview of the modified System Usability Scale rating table with inserted value ranges [68].



Qualitative Evaluation

Usability Problems

The *think-aloud* method identified 14 usability problems with a total of 81 occurrences. Table 5 describes the frequency of

Table 5. Frequency of 14 usability problems, difficulties, and failure.

usability problems per task and the frequency of each usability problem that led to task completion with difficulties or failures. A total of 9 usability problems led to difficulties to complete a task only, and 5 led to difficulties to complete a task and failures.

Tas	ks and usability problems	Frequency of the usability problem (n=81), n (%)	Frequency with which it led to task completion with difficulty (n=62), n (%)	Frequency with which it led to failure to complete the task (n=19), n (%)
Tas	k 1: create a parental account			
	None	0 (0)	0 (0)	0 (0)
Tas	k 2: create a child profile			
	Participants expected to access the child's profile by clicking directly on the card	1 (1)	1 (2)	0 (0)
	Participants wondered if information had been properly saved	4 (5)	4 (6)	0 (0)
Tas	k 3: find the symptoms page			
	Participants did not directly find the symptoms' list	5 (6)	5 (8)	0 (0)
	Participant did not directly find the cough symptom	1 (1)	1 (2)	0 (0)
Tas	k 4a: find and understand the waiting times page			
	Participants did not directly find the waiting times page	13 (16)	8 (13)	5 (26)
	Participants faced difficulties to understand the meaning of the cars and the different colored lines	10 (12)	2 (3)	8 (42)
Tas	k 4b: find and understand the <i>forecast</i> page			
	Participants had difficulties in finding the page.	4 (5)	3 (5)	1 (5)
Tas	k 5: inform of the departure to the ED ^a			
	Participants had difficulties in finding this feature.	7 (9)	7 (11)	0 (0)
	Participants did not understand that they had to select the child.	13 (16)	13 (21)	0 (0)
Tas	k 6a: find the <i>map tutorial</i> page			
	Participants expected to access the <i>map tutorial</i> directly in the <i>map</i> page.	6 (7)	5 (8)	1 (5)
	Participants had difficulties in finding the <i>map tutorial</i> because of a pop-up hiding the button.	2 (2)	2 (3)	0 (0)
Tas	k 6b: find the location of the ED			
	Participants did not understand the meaning of the "H" icon indicating the location of the ED on the map.	9 (11)	5 (8)	4 (21)
Tas	k 7: find the <i>diagnostic</i> sheet			
	Participants did not directly find the page.	4 (5)	4 (6)	0 (0)
	Participants had difficulties in finding the section to access the <i>diagnostic</i> sheet.	2 (2)	2 (3)	0 (0)

^aED: emergency department.

Identified usability problems were rated by their severity scores. Of the 81 occurrences of usability problems, 2 (2%) were rated with a severity score of 1 (cosmetic), 22 (27%) were rated 2 (minor), 17 (21%) were rated 2.5 (between minor and major), 11 (14%) were rated 3 (major), and 29 (36%) were rated 4 (catastrophic; Table 6; Multimedia Appendix 10 [62,63]). None of the participants experienced major or catastrophic usability problems when completing tasks 1, 3, and 7 but tasks 2, 4a, 4b,

5, 6a, and 6b were the most problematic. When analyzing the time on task, the longest time taken to complete task 2 seemed to be related to the time required to access and fill this page compared with other tasks, although the completion rate was optimal and usability problems were reported as minor. The third longest time taken to complete task 4a appeared to be related to the many usability problems graded as catastrophic.

Table 6. Severity scores, identification of usability problems, frequency, percentage, and related task.^a

Usability problems	Value (n=81), n (%)	Related task	
Severity score 1	2 (2)	N/A ^b	
Access the child's profile	1 (1)	2	
Find the cough symptom	1 (1)	3	
Severity score 2	22 (27)	N/A	
Select the child	13 (16)	5	
Message hiding the button to access the map tutorial	2 (2)	6a	
Find the symptom page	5 (6)	3	
Find the diagnostic sheet: Select the history section	2 (2)	7	
Severity score 2.5	17 (21)	N/A	
Find the waiting times page	13 (16)	4a	
Find the diagnostic sheet: Reach the information page	4 (5)	7	
Severity score 3	11 (14)	N/A	
Record the information entered	4 (5)	2	
Find the page to inform about departure to the ED ^c	7 (9)	5	
Severity score 4	29 (36)	N/A	
Find the forecast page	4 (5)	4b	
Find the location of the ED	9 (11)	6b	
Understand the waiting times page	10 (12)	4a	
Find the map tutorial	6 (7)	6a	

^aSeverity score: 1=cosmetic, 2=minor, 3=major, and 4=catastrophic.

^bN/A: not applicable.

^cED: emergency department.

Most problems identified (34/81, 42%) were related to the significance of codes' criteria, whereas 35% (28/81) problems

were related to compatibility criteria, 21% (17/81) to the guidance criterion, and 2% (2/81) to explicit control (Table 7).



Rochat et al

Table 7. Ergonomic criteria associated with identified usability problems with its number of occurrence and frequency.

Ergonomic criteria	Usability problems	Number of occurrence and percentage of the usability problem, n (%)
Guidance		17 (21)
Guidance—prompting	Select the child	13 (16)
Guidance—immediate feedback	Recording of information entered	4 (5)
Explicit control		2 (2)
User control	Message hiding the button to access the map tutorial	2 (2)
Significance of codes		34 (42)
	Find the symptom page	5 (6)
	Find the <i>cough</i> symptom	1 (1)
	Find the waiting times page	13 (16)
	Find the <i>forecast</i> page	4 (5)
	Find the location of the ED ^a	9 (11)
	Find the <i>diagnostic</i> sheet: select the <i>history</i> section	2 (2)
Compatibility		28 (35)
	Access the child's profile	1 (1)
	Understand the waiting times page	10 (12)
	Find the page to inform about departure to the ED	7 (9)
	Find the map tutorial	6 (7)
	Find the <i>diagnostic</i> sheet: reach the information page	4 (5)

^aED: emergency department.

Debriefing Interviews

All participants (17/17, 100%) reported positive feedback regarding their overall experience with the app. More specifically, when asking them about the strengths of the app by an open question, 71% (12/17) of participants emphasized the usefulness of the proposed features, such as the information on waiting times, advice according to symptoms, the diagnostic sheet, and the ability to inform the ED of their arrival. Moreover, 65% (11/17) noted the ease of use because of the quickly accessible menu and its intuitiveness.

Regarding app improvements and mitigation measures, 35% (6/17) of participants expressed several needs: (1) an improved ED geolocalization on the map; (2) rewording the *history* section to *diagnostic history* to find the sheet more easily; (3) improved explanation of the meaning of the 5 colored emergency lanes; and (4) placement of the *I am coming to the ED* button on the home page to facilitate its access. Participants also expressed their wish to have new features such as information about the laboratory results and treatment plan in the *diagnostic* sheet (3/17, 18%), ability to exchange with the ED directly through the app with a *chat* option (1/17, 6%), and the ability to share the *diagnostic* sheet with another family member (1/17, 6%).

Discussion

Principal Findings

In this study, we report an overall good-to-excellent perceived usability of a patient-centered mHealth app aimed at covering the entire emergency care process by supporting patients before, during, and after an ED visit. Given the high percentage of patient-centered assigned tasks that participants successfully completed, we observed a good overall rate of understanding of how the app worked. Participants found most of the features useful, particularly the recommendations provided according to their child's symptoms, access to information related to waiting times and the diagnosis made in the ED, and ability to inform the ED upon their arrival. However, the ergonomic evaluation identified 81 occurrences of 14 usability problems, of which 50% (7/14) were serious, as their severity ratings were either major or catastrophic. These results indicated areas for app improvements. From participants' and ergonomists' suggested usability improvements, mitigation measures were listed to further improve the app and avoid barriers to its adoption (Table 8).

Rochat et al

Table 8. Identified usability problems and mitigation measures.

Mitigation measures
The whole patient's profile card should be made clickable.
Entries for chronic conditions and regular medications should be visible on the patient's profile page.
The <i>I am coming to the ED</i> button should also be placed on the home page.
The history page should be changed to diagnostic history.
The <i>map tutorial</i> should be placed directly in the <i>map</i> page. The tutorial could start automatically when the map is used for the first time, as is the case in many apps.
The tree-testing and card-sorting techniques should be used to improve the information architecture and the nomenclature. A search bar should also be added.
A search bar and more redundancy should be added.
The busy screen should be redesigned using a more explicit graphic representation and adding a caption. Representing patients by avatars and not by cars could be more intuitive for the user.
Knowing that icons are images and that images can be polysemic, their understanding can vary from one person to another. To reduce this effect, a locator pin with a textual indication could be used. In addition, it could be enlarged and bounced to attract the user's attention.
A selection checkbox should be set up so that users understand that they need to select a child.
The chevron must be enlarged to make it more visible.

^aED: emergency department.

Apps' attrition has emerged as an area of particular concern in recent literature on new technological innovations [69,70]. Even when apps are evidence based, this does not guarantee that they will be used consistently over time. Similar to other health information technologies, the benefits of apps can only be achieved if end users intend to adopt them [71]. Poor usability and a lack of user-centered design have been described as 2 drivers for low adoption rates of mobile apps [45]. Although usability has been identified as a key component of good practice in the development of digital apps [72], only a small fraction of medical apps publish their usability evaluation results, despite their growing number [42]. The main concerns of these apps are health conditions or diseases such as mental health [45,73], cancer [74,75], nutrition [76], diabetes [77,78], chronic disease self-management [79,80], and child health [81-86], among others [42].

However, there is no app that addresses more broadly patients' accompaniment throughout their entire ED care journey (ie,

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e25540

XSL•F() RenderX before, during, and after their visits), as well as providing personalized health information and support to manage illness or trauma. We found only 2 studies describing the usability evaluation of prototype app versions providing a personalized treatment schedule and an indoor navigation service for outpatients [87,88]. Moreover, both apps seem to be limited to this sole in-hospital purpose, without patient-centered information regarding their disease, and restricted to Android operating software systems. A study by Westphal et al [89] described a very promising web-based system for providing real-time information to ED patients regarding the procedures that they may encounter during their journey. However, similar to the previous 2 studies, this system focused only on the patient's journey within the hospital and did not address the patient's experience over the entire course of care.

The InfoKids app aims to bridge these gaps. Importantly, it is intended for wider use within our institution. Through the current iterative processes of development and evaluation, it is

intended to soon become a more universal tool to connect the whole population seeking ED care (ie, adults, geriatric, and gynecologic) in a service area of more than 1 million people. In this sense, this study contributes to this iterative development process. Given its interconnection with the hospital's computerized system, this app has the potential to ensure better coordination, continuity, and transition of care, thus improving both the patient experience and hospital efficiency.

Strengths

This study had several strengths. To our knowledge, this was the first report of findings of the usability evaluation of an app supporting the longitudinal patient care transition from home up to ED discharge. Second, the mixed methods approach used in combination with different types of usability methods was another strength already identified by studies recognizing the utility of using qualitative and quantitative approaches for app usability testing [72,90]. Third, the 9 goal-oriented tasks assessed were centered around the main features of the app. The fact that users can perform a set of tasks centered around these features that are representative of those that users would normally use in clinical care was identified as a good way to determine the usability of the app and its features and workflow [91]. Fourth, this study added to the literature that recommends more usability studies focused on patient-centered apps [72,91-97]. It also contributed to the effort to publish usability studies based on academic development and patient-centered care, rather than a purely commercial development approach [42].

Limitations

Our study had some limitations. First, we used an artificial laboratory environment, which has a low degree of fidelity. As a result, the generalizability and transferability of the results may be limited in real-life settings. Furthermore, the results obtained were based on an assessment of usability with participants who were naïve to its use. Therefore, it can be assumed that in-depth use of the app beforehand could have improved the perception of its usability among people who had used it before and avoided certain problems of comprehension and navigation. Interestingly, the use of a tutorial that was supposed to correct these problems seems to have been a source of difficulties for users in itself, if only to find it in the app. Therefore, it might be judicious in future versions to replace it with an interface offering contextual help on each page, rather than a long tutorial to memorize or search for. These assumptions should be addressed in future studies. Another limitation is that the small sample of 17 users might not have been sufficiently large to reveal all usability issues. However, it was assumed that 5 users are already a sufficient sample to reveal 85% of usability problems, whereas 15 users were sufficient to uncover almost 97% of problems [98]. In contrast, the fact that only one scenario was proposed to users in an arbitrary order set by the investigators raises concerns about the applicability of the results to any other clinical situations or

navigational pattern in the app. This scenario was chosen to test most of the functions of the app according to a logical workflow model that parents wishing to consult with their child in the emergency room would follow. However, it cannot be excluded that other scenarios could have generated other navigation schemes and usability problems or facilitation. For example, if task 4a (evaluated as the most complicated task) had not been interposed between the choice of symptoms (task 3) and the announcement of departure to the ED (task 5) in this scenario, it is possible that no navigational problems would have occurred. It might be interesting in a future study to test the usability of the app based only on several standardized scenarios without predefined tasks. Instead, tasks and navigation would be left to users' discretion, as in real life. Finally, as the InfoKids app is intended to be used in case of emergency (or at least perceived as such by parents), the quiet and nonstressful laboratory environment used in the study may appear to be a limitation. Guidelines for conducting usability testing recommend establishing a calm and relaxed atmosphere in which users can work without feeling stressed [99-101], although stress in usability testing has rarely been studied so far. One of the few existing studies by Janneck and Dogan [99] compared a usability test performed in a laboratory under calm and relaxed conditions with a test situation in which several stressors (time pressure, noise, and social pressure) were applied. They observed that participants under stressful conditions demonstrated poorer performance in the execution and accuracy of tasks and rated the usability and user experience of the software much more negatively. However, it should be noted that although various situations tend to elicit different patterns of stress responses, there are also individual differences in perceived and behavioral stress responses to the same situation [102]. Indeed, future research assessing the impact of stressors on the usability of InfoKids would provide valuable input for future development in the adult setting.

Conclusions

The usability of mHealth apps is an important factor for their adoption and use. This study addresses a gap in the literature by reporting findings from a usability evaluation relevant to a patient-centered mobile app designed to support the entire emergency care process by assisting patients before, during, and after an ED visit. Our results show that the usability of the current version of InfoKids is rated as good to excellent by users. However, areas for app improvement are identified and mitigation measures are proposed. These usability problems will be addressed in updated releases of InfoKids and will be used to inform the development of its next version as a universal app for all patients seeking ED care. The next step would be to determine whether this mobile app benefits ED patient experience and ED efficiency in a real-life patient environment and clinical conditions. Given the paucity of research in this area, we conclude that our findings could also be useful in paving the way for further research on mobile apps aimed at supporting and accompanying patients in their care episodes.



Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the Private Foundation of Geneva University Hospitals for funding to develop the InfoKids app and Rosemary Sudan for providing editorial assistance.

Conflicts of Interest

FE has business interests in a company that may be affected by the research reported in the enclosed paper. FE has fully disclosed those interests and has in place an approved plan for managing any potential conflicts arising from that involvement.

Multimedia Appendix 1

Description of the expected handling tasks of the app and criteria for the determination of completion for each task. [DOCX File, 14 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e25540_app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Screenshot of the *family* page. On the *family* page, each child is represented by a card containing their photo, the child's first name, and an *edit* button located at the bottom right of the card. To access the child's profile and edit the data, it is necessary to click this button. As many children as necessary can be added. [PNG File, 443 KB - pediatrics v5i1e25540 app2.png]

Multimedia Appendix 3

Screenshot of the child's profile page. The *chronic illnesses* button must be clicked to view the child's chronic illnesses. [PNG File, 143 KB - pediatrics v5i1e25540 app3.png]

Multimedia Appendix 4 Screenshot of the *symptom* page. [PNG File, 260 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e25540_app4.png]

Multimedia Appendix 5 Screenshot of the child selection page. [PNG File , 108 KB - pediatrics v5i1e25540 app5.png]

Multimedia Appendix 6 Screenshot of the *H* icon indicating the localization of the emergency department on the map. [PNG File, 1043 KB - pediatrics v5i1e25540 app6.png]

Multimedia Appendix 7 The 10-item System Usability Scale questionnaire. [DOCX File , 12 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e25540_app7.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 8 Time-based efficiency per task (N=17 participants). [PNG File, 6 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e25540_app8.png]

Multimedia Appendix 9 Overall relative efficiency per task (N=17 participants). [PNG File, 7 KB - pediatrics v5i1e25540 app9.png]

Multimedia Appendix 10 Details regarding the usability problems identified. [DOCX File, 19 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e25540_app10.docx]

References

RenderX

 Graham B, Endacott R, Smith JE, Latour JM. 'They do not care how much you know until they know how much you care': a qualitative meta-synthesis of patient experience in the emergency department. Emerg Med J 2019 Jun 19;36(6):355-363. [doi: 10.1136/emermed-2018-208156] [Medline: 31003992]

- 2. Male L, Noble A, Atkinson J, Marson T. Measuring patient experience: a systematic review to evaluate psychometric properties of patient reported experience measures (PREMs) for emergency care service provision. Int J Qual Health Care 2017 Jun 01;29(3):314-326 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzx027] [Medline: 28339923]
- 3. Sonis JD, Aaronson EL, Castagna A, White B. A conceptual model for emergency department patient experience. J Patient Exp 2019 Sep 21;6(3):173-178. [doi: 10.1177/2374373518795415] [Medline: 31535004]
- 4. Sonis JD, White BA. Optimizing patient experience in the emergency department. Emerg Med Clin North Am 2020 Aug;38(3):705-713. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.emc.2020.04.008</u>] [Medline: <u>32616289</u>]
- Dudley N, Ackerman A, Brown KM, Snow SK, American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Pediatric Emergency Medicine, American College of Emergency Physicians Pediatric Emergency Medicine Committee, Emergency Nurses Association Pediatric Committee. Patient- and family-centered care of children in the emergency department. Pediatrics 2015 Jan;135(1):255-272. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2014-3424</u>] [Medline: <u>25548335</u>]
- 6. Perret S, Gehri M, Pluies J, Rossi I, Akre C. [Families' experiences and satisfaction with a pediatric emergency service]. Arch Pediatr 2017 Oct;24(10):960-968. [doi: 10.1016/j.arcped.2017.08.006] [Medline: 28911938]
- Barbarian M, Bishop A, Alfaro P, Biron A, Brody DA, Cunningham-Allard G, et al. Patient-reported experience in the pediatric emergency department: what matters most? J Patient Saf 2021 Dec 01;17(8):1166-1170. [doi: 10.1097/PTS.000000000000472] [Medline: 29432338]
- Parra C, Vidiella N, Marin I, Trenchs V, Luaces C. Patient experience in the pediatric emergency department: do parents and children feel the same? Eur J Pediatr 2017 Sep;176(9):1263-1267. [doi: <u>10.1007/s00431-017-2954-4</u>] [Medline: <u>28669089</u>]
- 9. Parra C, Carreras N, Vergés A, Trenchs V, Luaces C. Patient experience in a Spanish pediatric emergency department. Pediatr Emerg Care 2020 Aug;36(8):456-459. [doi: <u>10.1097/PEC.000000000001713</u>] [Medline: <u>30702644</u>]
- 10. Bal C, AlNajjar M, Thull-Freedman J, Pols E, McFetridge A, Stang AS. Patient reported experience in a pediatric emergency department. J Patient Exp 2020 Feb;7(1):116-123 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2374373519826560] [Medline: 32128380]
- Byczkowski TL, Fitzgerald M, Kennebeck S, Vaughn L, Myers K, Kachelmeyer A, et al. A comprehensive view of parental satisfaction with pediatric emergency department visits. Ann Emerg Med 2013 Oct;62(4):340-350. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.annemergmed.2013.04.025</u>] [Medline: <u>23787210</u>]
- Natesan P, Hadid D, Harb YA, Hitti E. Comparing patients and families perceptions of satisfaction and predictors of overall satisfaction in the emergency department. PLoS One 2019;14(8):e0221087 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0221087] [Medline: 31408490]
- Sonis JD, Aaronson EL, Lee RY, Philpotts LL, White BA. Emergency department patient experience: a systematic review of the literature. J Patient Exp 2018 Jun 29;5(2):101-106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2374373517731359] [Medline: 29978025]
- Kelley JM, Kraft-Todd G, Schapira L, Kossowsky J, Riess H. The influence of the patient-clinician relationship on healthcare outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. PLoS One 2014;9(4):e94207 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0094207] [Medline: 24718585]
- Welch SJ. Twenty years of patient satisfaction research applied to the emergency department: a qualitative review. Am J Med Qual 2010;25(1):64-72. [doi: 10.1177/1062860609352536] [Medline: 19966114]
- 16. Davenport PJ, O'Connor SJ, Szychowski JM, Landry AY, Hernandez SR. The relationship between emergency department wait times and inpatient satisfaction. Health Mark Q 2017;34(2):97-112. [doi: <u>10.1080/07359683.2017.1307066</u>] [Medline: <u>28467280</u>]
- 17. Cydulka R, Tamayo-Sarver J, Gage A, Bagnoli D. Association of patient satisfaction with complaints and risk management among emergency physicians. J Emerg Med 2011 Oct;41(4):405-411. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jemermed.2010.10.021</u>] [Medline: <u>21215554</u>]
- 18. Richter JP, Muhlestein DB. Patient experience and hospital profitability: is there a link? Health Care Manage Rev 2017;42(3):247-257. [doi: 10.1097/HMR.00000000000105] [Medline: 27050925]
- Aaronson EL, Mort E, Sonis JD, Chang Y, White BA. Overall emergency department rating: identifying the factors that matter most to patient experience. J Healthc Qual 2018;40(6):367-376. [doi: <u>10.1097/JHQ.000000000000129</u>] [Medline: <u>29315153</u>]
- 20. Mohiuddin S, Busby J, Savović J, Richards A, Northstone K, Hollingworth W, et al. Patient flow within UK emergency departments: a systematic review of the use of computer simulation modelling methods. BMJ Open 2017 May 09;7(5):e015007 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-015007] [Medline: 28487459]
- 21. Stead LG, Jain A, Decker WW. Emergency department over-crowding: a global perspective. Int J Emerg Med 2009 Sep 30;2(3):133-134 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s12245-009-0131-x] [Medline: 20157461]
- 22. Arora M, Asha S, Chinnappa J, Diwan AD. Review article: burnout in emergency medicine physicians. Emerg Med Australas 2013 Dec 09;25(6):491-495. [doi: 10.1111/1742-6723.12135] [Medline: 24118838]
- 23. Adriaenssens J, De Gucht V, Maes S. Causes and consequences of occupational stress in emergency nurses, a longitudinal study. J Nurs Manag 2015 Apr;23(3):346-358. [doi: <u>10.1111/jonm.12138</u>] [Medline: <u>24330154</u>]

- Austin EE, Blakely B, Tufanaru C, Selwood A, Braithwaite J, Clay-Williams R. Strategies to measure and improve emergency department performance: a scoping review. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med 2020 Jun 15;28(1):55 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s13049-020-00749-2] [Medline: 32539739]
- 25. Hesselink G, Sir O, Schoon Y. Effectiveness of interventions to alleviate emergency department crowding by older adults: a systematic review. BMC Emerg Med 2019 Nov 20;19(1):69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12873-019-0288-4] [Medline: 31747917]
- Morley C, Unwin M, Peterson GM, Stankovich J, Kinsman L. Emergency department crowding: a systematic review of causes, consequences and solutions. PLoS One 2018;13(8):e0203316 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0203316] [Medline: 30161242]
- 27. Rasouli HR, Esfahani AA, Farajzadeh MA. Challenges, consequences, and lessons for way-outs to emergencies at hospitals: a systematic review study. BMC Emerg Med 2019 Oct 30;19(1):62 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12873-019-0275-9] [Medline: 31666023]
- Elder E, Johnston AN, Crilly J. Review article: systematic review of three key strategies designed to improve patient flow through the emergency department. Emerg Med Australas 2015 Oct;27(5):394-404. [doi: <u>10.1111/1742-6723.12446</u>] [Medline: <u>26206428</u>]
- 29. De Freitas L, Goodacre S, O'Hara R, Thokala P, Hariharan S. Interventions to improve patient flow in emergency departments: an umbrella review. Emerg Med J 2018 Oct;35(10):626-637. [doi: 10.1136/emermed-2017-207263] [Medline: 30093379]
- 30. Ming T, Lai A, Lau P. Can team triage improve patient flow in the emergency department? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Adv Emerg Nurs J 2016;38(3):233-250. [doi: 10.1097/TME.00000000000113] [Medline: 27482995]
- Abdulwahid MA, Booth A, Kuczawski M, Mason SM. The impact of senior doctor assessment at triage on emergency department performance measures: systematic review and meta-analysis of comparative studies. Emerg Med J 2016 Jul;33(7):504-513. [doi: 10.1136/emermed-2014-204388] [Medline: 26183598]
- 32. Gonçalves-Bradley D, Khangura JK, Flodgren G, Perera R, Rowe BH, Shepperd S. Primary care professionals providing non-urgent care in hospital emergency departments. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2018 Feb 13;2:CD002097 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD002097.pub4] [Medline: 29438575]
- Holden RJ. Lean Thinking in emergency departments: a critical review. Ann Emerg Med 2011 Mar;57(3):265-278 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2010.08.001] [Medline: 21035904]
- Sayah A, Lai-Becker M, Kingsley-Rocker L, Scott-Long T, O'Connor K, Lobon LF. Emergency department expansion versus patient flow improvement: impact on patient experience of care. J Emerg Med 2016 Feb;50(2):339-348. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.jemermed.2015.06.068</u>] [Medline: <u>26381804</u>]
- 35. Barry MJ, Edgman-Levitan S. Shared decision making--pinnacle of patient-centered care. N Engl J Med 2012 Mar 01;366(9):780-781. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMp1109283] [Medline: 22375967]
- 36. Institute of Medicine. Hospital-based emergency care: at the breaking point. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2007:81-164.
- Ehrler F, Siebert JN, Rochat J, Schneider F, Galetto A, Gervaix A, et al. Connecting parents to a pediatric emergency department: designing a mobile app based on patient centred care principles. Stud Health Technol Inform 2017;244:13-17. [Medline: <u>29039368</u>]
- 38. Siebert J, Gervaix A, Ehrler F. InfoKids: a transversal and longitudinal solution enhancing patients and caregivers experience in emergency departments by disrupting the care process paradigm. World Hosp Health Serv 2018;54(2):5-9 [FREE Full text]
- Bruce C, Harrison P, Giammattei C, Desai S, Sol JR, Jones S, et al. Evaluating patient-centered mobile health technologies: definitions, methodologies, and outcomes. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2020 Nov 11;8(11):e17577 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17577] [Medline: <u>33174846</u>]
- 40. Chiu TM, Eysenbach G. Stages of use: consideration, initiation, utilization, and outcomes of an internet-mediated intervention. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2010 Nov 23;10:73 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6947-10-73] [Medline: 21092275]
- 41. Paz F, Pow-Sang JA. A systematic mapping review of usability evaluation methods for software development process. Int J Software Engin Appl 2016 Jan 31;10(1):165-178. [doi: <u>10.14257/ijseia.2016.10.1.16</u>]
- 42. Maramba I, Chatterjee A, Newman C. Methods of usability testing in the development of eHealth applications: a scoping review. Int J Med Inform 2019 Jun;126:95-104. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2019.03.018] [Medline: 31029270]
- 43. Yen P, Bakken S. Review of health information technology usability study methodologies. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2012;19(3):413-422 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/amiajnl-2010-000020] [Medline: 21828224]
- 44. Ergonomics of human-system interaction Part 11: Usability: definitions and concepts (ISO 9241-11). International Organization for Standardization. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.iso.org/standard/63500.html</u> [accessed 2021-10-10]
- 45. Inal Y, Wake JD, Guribye F, Nordgreen T. Usability evaluations of mobile mental health technologies: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jan 06;22(1):e15337 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/15337] [Medline: 31904579]
- 46. Wiklund ME, Kendler J, Strochlic AY. Usability Testing of Medical Devices. Boca Raton (FL): CRC Press; 2016:154-188.
- 47. Epstein RM, Street RL. The values and value of patient-centered care. Ann Fam Med 2011;9(2):100-103 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.1239] [Medline: 21403134]

- 48. National Academy of Engineering and Institute of Medicine. Building a Better Delivery System: A New Engineering/Health Care Partnership. Washington, DC: National Academies Press; 2005:115-138.
- 49. Rochat J, Ehrler F, Siebert J, Galetto A, Gervaix A, Lovis C. Needs analysis of patients and relatives during their visit to the pediatric emergency department. In: Journées Francophones d'Informatique Médicale Proceedings. 2016 Presented at: Journées Francophones d'Informatique Médicale; June 28-29, 2016; Geneva, Switzerland URL: <u>https://archive-ouverte.unige.ch/unige:125015/ATTACHMENT01</u>
- McCarthy S, O'Raghallaigh P, Woodworth S, Lim YL, Kenny LC, Adam F. An integrated patient journey mapping tool for embedding quality in healthcare service reform. J Decision Syst 2016 Jun 16;25(sup1):354-368. [doi: 10.1080/12460125.2016.1187394]
- 51. Nielsen J, Mack RL. Heuristic evaluation. In: Usability Inspection Methods. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons; 1994:25-62.
- Rochat J, Siebert J, Galetto A, Lovis C, Ehrler F. Communication of children symptoms in emergency: classification of the terminology. Stud Health Technol Inform 2017;235:456-460. [Medline: <u>28423834</u>]
- 53. Beveridge R, Clarke B, Janes L, Savage N, Thompson J, Dodd G, et al. Implementation Guidelines for The Canadian Emergency Department Triage & Acuity Scale (CTAS). 1999. URL: <u>https://www.colleaga.org/sites/default/files/ctased16.</u> pdf [accessed 2021-10-10]
- 54. Hospital: national patient safety goals. The Joint Commission. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.jointcommission.org/-/media/tjc/</u> <u>documents/standards/national-patient-safety-goals/2021/simplified-2021-hap-npsg-goals-final-11420.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-01-01]
- 55. Jaspers MW, Steen T, van den Bos C, Geenen M. The think aloud method: a guide to user interface design. Int J Med Inform 2004 Nov;73(11-12):781-795. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2004.08.003] [Medline: 15491929]
- 56. McDonald S, Zhao T, Edwards HM. Dual verbal elicitation: the complementary use of concurrent and retrospective reporting within a usability test. Int J Hum-Comput Interact 2013 Oct 03;29(10):647-660. [doi: 10.1080/10447318.2012.758529]
- 57. Brooke J. SUS: A 'Quick and Dirty' usability scale. In: Usability Evaluation In Industry. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press; 1996.
- 58. Brooke J. SUS: a retrospective. J Usab Stud 2013;8(2):29-40 [FREE Full text]
- Ben Ramadan AA, Jackson-Thompson J, Schmaltz CL. Usability assessment of the Missouri Cancer Registry's published interactive mapping reports: round two. Online J Public Health Inform 2019;11(2):e3 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5210/ojphi.v11i2.9483] [Medline: 31632597]
- 60. Bangor A, Kortum PT, Miller JT. An empirical evaluation of the system usability scale. Int J Hum-Comput Interact 2008 Jul 30;24(6):574-594. [doi: 10.1080/10447310802205776]
- 61. Lallemand C, Gronier G. 30 méthodes fondamentales pour concevoir des expériences optimales. In: Méthodes de Design UX. Paris, France: Eyrolles; 2018:520-539.
- 62. Nielsen J. Severity ratings for usability problems. Computer Science. 2006. URL: <u>https://http://www.nngroup.com/articles/</u> how-torate-the-severity-of-usability-problems/ [accessed 2022-02-24]
- 63. Bastien J, Scapin D. A validation of ergonomic criteria for the evaluation of human computer interfaces. Int J Hum-Comput Interact 1992 Apr;4(2):183-196. [doi: 10.1080/10447319209526035]
- 64. Tullis T, Albert B. Chapter 4 Performance metrics. In: Measuring the User Experience (2nd Edition). Boston, MA: Morgan Kaufmann; 2013:63-97.
- 65. Nielsen J. Reliability of severity estimates for usability problems found by heuristic evaluation. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems.: Association for Computing Machinery; 1992 Presented at: SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems; May 3 7, 1992; Monterey California USA p. 129-130. [doi: 10.1145/1125021.1125117]
- 66. Federal Act on Research involving Human Beings (Human Research Act, HRA). The Federal Assembly of the Swiss Confederation. 2011. URL: <u>https://www.fedlex.admin.ch/eli/cc/2013/617/en</u> [accessed 2021-10-10]
- 67. Sauro J. What is a good task-completion rate? Measuring U. 2011 Mar 21. URL: <u>https://measuringu.com/task-completion/</u> [accessed 2021-10-10]
- 68. Bangor A, Kortum P, Miller J. Determining what individual SUS scores mean: adding an adjective rating scale. J Usab Stud 2009;4(3):114-123. [doi: 10.5555/2835587.2835589]
- 69. Meyerowitz-Katz G, Ravi S, Arnolda L, Feng X, Maberly G, Astell-Burt T. Rates of attrition and dropout in app-based interventions for chronic disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2020 Sep 29;22(9):e20283 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20283] [Medline: 32990635]
- 70. Peiris D, Miranda JJ, Mohr DC. Going beyond killer apps: building a better mHealth evidence base. BMJ Glob Health 2018;3(1):e000676 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2017-000676] [Medline: 29527353]
- Gordon WJ, Landman A, Zhang H, Bates DW. Beyond validation: getting health apps into clinical practice. NPJ Digit Med 2020;3:14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-019-0212-z] [Medline: 32047860]
- 72. Zapata BC, Fernández-Alemán JL, Idri A, Toval A. Empirical studies on usability of mHealth apps: a systematic literature review. J Med Syst 2015 Feb;39(2):1. [doi: 10.1007/s10916-014-0182-2] [Medline: 25600193]
- 73. Liverpool S, Mota CP, Sales CM, Čuš A, Carletto S, Hancheva C, et al. Engaging children and young people in digital mental health interventions: systematic review of modes of delivery, facilitators, and barriers. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jun 23;22(6):e16317 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16317] [Medline: 32442160]

- 74. Bender JL, Yue RY, To MJ, Deacken L, Jadad AR. A lot of action, but not in the right direction: systematic review and content analysis of smartphone applications for the prevention, detection, and management of cancer. J Med Internet Res 2013 Dec 23;15(12):e287 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2661] [Medline: 24366061]
- 75. Ginossar T, Shah SF, West AJ, Bentley JM, Caburnay CA, Kreuter MW, et al. Content, usability, and utilization of plain language in breast cancer mobile phone apps: a systematic analysis. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Mar 13;5(3):e20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7073] [Medline: 28288954]
- 76. Ferrara G, Kim J, Lin S, Hua J, Seto E. A focused review of smartphone diet-tracking apps: usability, functionality, coherence with behavior change theory, and comparative validity of nutrient intake and energy estimates. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 May 17;7(5):e9232 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.9232] [Medline: 31102369]
- 77. Larbi D, Randine P, Årsand E, Antypas K, Bradway M, Gabarron E. Methods and evaluation criteria for apps and digital interventions for diabetes self-management: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2020 Jul 06;22(7):e18480 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/18480] [Medline: 32628125]
- 78. Fu H, McMahon SK, Gross CR, Adam TJ, Wyman JF. Usability and clinical efficacy of diabetes mobile applications for adults with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2017 Sep;131:70-81. [doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2017.06.016] [Medline: 28692830]
- 79. Scott IA, Scuffham P, Gupta D, Harch TM, Borchi J, Richards B. Going digital: a narrative overview of the effects, quality and utility of mobile apps in chronic disease self-management. Aust Health Rev 2020 Feb;44(1):62-82. [doi: 10.1071/AH18064] [Medline: 30419185]
- Woods L, Duff J, Cummings E, Walker K. Evaluating the development processes of consumer mHealth interventions for chronic condition self-management: a scoping review. Comput Inform Nurs 2019 Jul;37(7):373-385. [doi: 10.1097/CIN.00000000000528] [Medline: <u>31135468</u>]
- Richardson B, Dol J, Rutledge K, Monaghan J, Orovec A, Howie K, et al. Evaluation of mobile apps targeted to parents of infants in the neonatal intensive care unit: systematic app review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Apr 15;7(4):e11620 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11620] [Medline: 30985282]
- Carmody JK, Denson LA, Hommel KA. Content and usability evaluation of medication adherence mobile applications for use in pediatrics. J Pediatr Psychol 2019 Apr 01;44(3):333-342 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsy086] [Medline: 30358863]
- Fiks AG, Fleisher L, Berrigan L, Sykes E, Mayne SL, Gruver R, et al. Usability, acceptability, and impact of a pediatric teledermatology mobile health application. Telemed J E Health 2018 Mar;24(3):236-245. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2017.0075</u>] [Medline: <u>28731848</u>]
- Webb MJ, Wadley G, Sanci LA. Improving patient-centered care for young people in general practice with a codesigned screening app: mixed methods study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Aug 11;5(8):e118 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.7816] [Medline: 28801302]
- 85. DeForte S, Sezgin E, Huefner J, Lucius S, Luna J, Satyapriya AA, et al. Usability of a mobile app for improving literacy in children with hearing impairment: focus group study. JMIR Hum Factors 2020 May 28;7(2):e16310 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16310] [Medline: 32205305]
- 86. English LL, Dunsmuir D, Kumbakumba E, Ansermino JM, Larson CP, Lester R, et al. The PAediatric Risk Assessment (PARA) mobile app to reduce postdischarge child mortality: design, usability, and feasibility for health care workers in Uganda. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Feb 15;4(1):e16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5167] [Medline: 26879041]
- 87. Yoo S, Jung S, Kim S, Kim E, Lee K, Chung E, et al. A personalized mobile patient guide system for a patient-centered smart hospital: lessons learned from a usability test and satisfaction survey in a tertiary university hospital. Int J Med Inform 2016 Jul;91:20-30 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2016.04.003] [Medline: 27185506]
- Zini F, Ricci F. Guiding patients in the hospital. In: Proceeding of the Advances in User Modeling: UMAP 2011 Workshops. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2012 Presented at: Advances in User Modeling: UMAP 2011 Workshops; July 11-15, 2011; Girona, Spain. [doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-28509-7_29</u>]
- Westphal M, Yom-Tov GB, Parush A, Carmeli N, Shaulov A, Shapira C, et al. A patient-centered information system (myED) for emergency care journeys: design, development, and initial adoption. JMIR Form Res 2020 Feb 25;4(2):e16410 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/16410] [Medline: 32130144]
- 90. Alwashmi MF, Hawboldt J, Davis E, Fetters MD. The iterative convergent design for mobile health usability testing: mixed methods approach. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Apr 26;7(4):e11656 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/11656] [Medline: 31025951]
- 91. Usability 101: introduction to usability. Nielsen Norman Group. URL: <u>https://www.nngroup.com/articles/</u> usability-101-introduction-to-usability/ [accessed 2021-10-10]
- 92. Slater H, Campbell JM, Stinson JN, Burley MM, Briggs AM. End user and implementer experiences of mHealth technologies for noncommunicable chronic disease management in young adults: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2017 Dec 12;19(12):e406 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8888] [Medline: 29233804]
- 93. Lesselroth B, Monkman H, Adams K, Wood S, Corbett A, Homco J, et al. User experience theories, models, and frameworks: a focused review of the healthcare literature. Stud Health Technol Inform 2020 Jun 16;270:1076-1080. [doi: 10.3233/SHTI200327] [Medline: 32570547]

- 94. Ergonomics of human-system interaction Part 210: Human-centred design for interactive systems. International Standard Organisation. 2018. URL: <u>https://www.iso.org/standard/77520.html</u> [accessed 2021-10-10]
- 95. Rowland SP, Fitzgerald JE, Holme T, Powell J, McGregor A. What is the clinical value of mHealth for patients? NPJ Digit Med 2020 Jan 13;3(1):4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/s41746-019-0206-x] [Medline: 31970289]
- 96. Nouri R, Kalhori SR, Ghazisaeedi M, Marchand G, Yasini M. Criteria for assessing the quality of mHealth apps: a systematic review. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2018 Aug 01;25(8):1089-1098 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocy050] [Medline: 29788283]
- 97. Vo V, Auroy L, Sarradon-Eck A. Patients' perceptions of mHealth apps: meta-ethnographic review of qualitative studies. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019 Jul 10;7(7):e13817 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/13817] [Medline: 31293246]
- 98. Faulkner L. Beyond the five-user assumption: benefits of increased sample sizes in usability testing. Behav Res Methods Instrum Comput 2003 Aug;35(3):379-383. [doi: 10.3758/bf03195514] [Medline: 14587545]
- 99. Janneck M, Dogan M. The influence of stressors on usability tests-an experimental study. In: Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Web Information Systems and Technologies (WEBIST 2013).: SciTePress; 2013 Presented at: 9th International Conference on Web Information Systems and Technologies (WEBIST 2013); May 8-10, 2013; Aachen, Germany p. 581-590. [doi: 10.5220/0004501405810590]
- 100. Schrier JR. Reducing Stress Associated with Participating in a Usability Test. Proc Hum Fact Society Ann Meet 2016 Aug 06;36(16):1210-1214. [doi: 10.1177/154193129203601606]
- 101. Sova D, Nielsen J. 234 tips and tricks for recruiting users as participants in usability studies. Nielsen Norman Group. 2010. URL: <u>https://media.nngroup.com/media/reports/free/How_To_Recruit_Participants_for_Usability_Studies.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-10-10]
- 102. Schneiderman N, Ironson G, Siegel SD. Stress and health: psychological, behavioral, and biological determinants. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 2005;1:607-628 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.1.102803.144141] [Medline: 17716101]

Abbreviations

ED: emergency department ORE: overall relative efficiency SUS: System Usability Scale TBE: time-based efficiency TCR: task completion rate

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 05.11.20; peer-reviewed by R Marcilly, O Ogundaini, M Rahimian; comments to author 29.12.20; revised version received 18.03.21; accepted 21.12.21; published 15.03.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Rochat J, Ehrler F, Siebert JN, Ricci A, Garretas Ruiz V, Lovis C Usability Testing of a Patient-Centered Mobile Health App for Supporting and Guiding the Pediatric Emergency Department Patient Journey: Mixed Methods Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e25540 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e25540</u> doi:<u>10.2196/25540</u> PMID:<u>35289754</u>

©Jessica Rochat, Frédéric Ehrler, Johan N Siebert, Arnaud Ricci, Victor Garretas Ruiz, Christian Lovis. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 15.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Health Care Professional and Caregiver Attitudes Toward and Usage of Medical Podcasting: Questionnaire Study

Clement Lee¹, MSc, MD; Melissa S Zhou¹, MD; Evelyn R Wang¹, MD; Matthew Huber¹, MSc; Katie K Lockwood^{1,2}, MD, MEd; Joanna Parga¹, MD

¹Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, PA, United States ²University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States

Corresponding Author:

Clement Lee, MSc, MD Children's Hospital of Philadelphia 3401 Civic Center Blvd Philadelphia, PA, 19104 United States Phone: 1 626 660 4428 Email: theclem@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: Podcasts are used increasingly in medicine. There is growing research into the role of podcasts in medical education, but the use of podcasting as a tool for pediatric parent/caregiver health education is largely unexplored. As parents/caregivers seek medical information online, an understanding of parental preferences is needed.

Objective: We sought to explore health care professional and parent/caregiver awareness and views on podcasting as a health education tool.

Methods: This survey study was conducted and distributed via in-person collection from parents/caregivers (\geq 18 years old) in the waiting room of an academic pediatric primary care clinic, targeted social media promotion, and professional listservs for health care professionals in pediatrics. Statistical analysis included chi-square tests of independence between categorical variables.

Results: In total, 125 health care professionals and 126 caregivers completed the survey. Of those surveyed, 81% (101/125) of health care professionals and 55% (69/126) of parents/caregivers listened to podcasts (P<.001). Health care professionals and parents/caregivers listed the same top 3 quality indicators for medical podcasts. Podcast listeners were more likely to have higher incomes and use professional websites for information. The survey elicited a variety of reasons for podcast nonengagement.

Conclusions: Health care professionals appear to be more engaged in medical education podcasts than parents/caregivers. However, similar factors were valued when evaluating the quality of a pediatric podcast: accuracy, transparency, and credibility. Professional websites may be one avenue to increase podcast uptake. More needs to be done to explore the use of podcasts and digital media for medical information.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e29857) doi:10.2196/29857

KEYWORDS

podcasts; social media; caregiver; parent; parenting; education; pediatrics; podcasting; patient education

Introduction

Since 2006, podcasts have been growing in popularity and influence [1]. Within the medical profession, podcasting is also on the rise. An increasing number of research studies have been conducted on designing podcast content, ensuring the quality of that content, and using audio learning in continuing medical education [2-7]. Although the fields of emergency medicine and critical care appear to have the highest engagement in this medium, there are a number of notable pediatric podcasts that

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e29857
```

RenderX

have a growing listenership (PediaCast, Primary Care Perspectives, Peds RAP, Pediatrics On Call) [8-11].

Podcasting as a medium for delivery of medical and health information has many advantages for both parents and health care professionals. Many pediatric podcasts are produced by professionals who elevate evidence-based messaging during a time where antiscience messaging is a widespread problem. Podcasts provide health information in a medium that is easily accessed in times of need, such as overnight when health care providers are not immediately available and parents are looking

for digital health information. This is facilitated by podcast archives, which can serve as educational repositories that can be accessed over time [3]. Podcasts also afford real-time and up-to-date learning, so health care professionals can efficiently stay abreast of recent guidelines and field advancements [3,12].

Ongoing assessments of podcasts as a tool for medical education have highlighted their growing popularity—likely due in part to their accessibility and free content—and support continued promotion and content creation in this arena [3,8,13]. However, a review of podcasting and medical education from 2017 showed that no papers were published on the impact of podcasting on patients [2]. This is likely because much of the focus in the literature revolves around continuing medical education for physicians and student learners, and not on parental/caregiver engagement or experience with this medium [14].

In a world that is increasingly digitally connected, our goal was to survey both pediatric health care professionals and parents/caregivers on their views of podcasting as a form of medical education, to explore which podcasts pediatric health care professionals are engaging with for their own education and may be recommending to patients, and to identify how podcasts compare to other digital media in meeting the educational needs of pediatric health care professionals and parents/caregivers.

Methods

A cross-sectional prospective survey study to collect data on podcasting as a tool for medical education for both health care professionals and parents/caregivers was performed. Survey design and analysis were modeled after the CHERRIES (Checklist for Reporting Results of Internet E-Surveys) format [15]. The target population included both pediatricians at Children's Hospital of Philadelphia (CHOP) and parents/caregivers bringing their children to a CHOP outpatient pediatrics practice in South Philadelphia (CHOP Primary Care, South Philadelphia). The survey was created in REDCap and survey completion was through the REDCap website for all participants. The survey was disseminated to physicians through an American Academy of Pediatrics and internal CHOP listserv. The study was reviewed by a CHOP Institutional Review Board and granted an exemption due to the anonymous collection of data.

The survey was created and developed by the investigators to answer how podcasting is used for pediatric medical education for health care professionals and parents/caregivers. Based on existing consensus quality indicators, we designed our questions around the 3 themes of credibility (eg, "The information presented by the podcast is accurate"), content (eg, "The content is relevant particularly for my practice/patients"), and design (eg, "The content is conversational/entertaining") [16]. The complete survey is provided in Multimedia Appendix 1.

The survey was distributed as an open survey without password protection, as no identifying data points were collected on participants. Contact with pediatric health care professionals was made online and the survey was distributed over listservs. Contact with parents/caregivers was made in person by visiting the CHOP Primary Care, South Philadelphia practice. For the recruitment of both health care professionals and parents/caregivers, notice of the survey was also posted on Facebook and Instagram via accounts held by the authors of the study. No incentives were offered for study completion except the ability to add to current scientific literature. The survey was distributed from May 2019 through August 2019. The entire electronic survey consisted of 4 screens without the ability to review entries once they were made. All items on the survey had to be completed for the survey to be submitted.

Descriptive statistics, such as means, medians, and counts/percentages were used to describe the population. Differences between subgroups of the populations (health care providers versus parents/caregivers and podcast listeners versus nonlisteners) were examined using chi-square tests of independence to test for association between categorical variables. A *P* value of >.05 was considered significant. All statistical analyses were done using R (version 3.6.1; R Foundation for Statistical Computing).

Results

The survey was completed by 251 participants (Table 1). Of the survey respondents, 125 were health care professionals and 126 were parents/caregivers. The median ages of the respondents were 30-39 years for health care professionals, and 30-39 years for parents/caregivers. Notably, parents/caregivers were significantly more likely to be under the age of 30 (P=.02). There were no significant differences in gender and self-identified race between the two groups. Health care respondents were more likely to have higher educational attainment and incomes (P<.001 for both), with the median annual income being ≥US \$200,000 for health care professionals and US \$125,000 for parents/caregivers. Of the health care professionals, pediatricians made up the largest group of respondents (95/125, 76%). No health care professionals surveyed used Facebook, Instagram, or YouTube for learning, whereas a larger contingency of parents/caregivers used Facebook (1/126, 1%), Instagram (10/126, 8%), or YouTube (9/126, 7%) for medical information. In addition, 2.4% (3/125) of health care professionals and 0.8% (1/126) of parents/caregivers used Twitter as a source of medical information.



Table 1. Demographics.

Characteristic	Podcast listeners (N=170), n (%)	Podcast nonlisteners (N=81), n (%)			
Age cohort (years)					
18-20	3 (1.8)	2 (2.5)			
21-29	26 (15.3)	12 (14.8)			
30-39	90 (52.9)	33 (40.7)			
40-49	33 (19.4)	22 (27.2)			
50-59	15 (8.8)	8 (9.9)			
≥60	3 (1.8)	4 (4.9)			
Male sex	28 (16.5)	18 (22.2)			
Race					
White	144 (84.7)	57 (70.4)			
Black	6 (3.5)	8 (9.9)			
Asian	17 (10)	12 (14.8)			
Other	3 (1.8)	4 (4.9)			
Hispanic or Latino	13 (7.7)	8 (9.9)			
Annual income (US \$)					
0-9999	2 (1.2)	6 (7.4)			
10,000-24,999	3 (1.8)	4 (4.9)			
25,000-49,999	4 (2.4)	6 (7.4)			
50,000-74,999	11 (6.5)	13 (16.1)			
75,000-99,999	9 (5.3)	4 (4.9)			
100,000-124,999	18 (10.6)	5 (6.2)			
125,000-149,999	14 (8.2)	3 (3.7)			
150,000-174,999	15 (8.8)	5 (6.2)			
175,000-199,999	17 (10)	6 (7.4)			
≥200,000	68 (40)	19 (23.5)			
Decline to answer	9 (5.3)	10 (12.4)			
Marital status					
Single	25 (14.7)	20 (24.7)			
Married	141 (82.9)	56 (69.1)			
Widowed	0 (0)	0 (0)			
Divorced	3 (1.8)	1 (1.2)			
Separated	0 (0)	4 (4.9)			
Other	1 (0.6)	0 (0)			
Education					
Less than high school	1 (0.6)	3 (3.7)			
High school degree/equivalent	4 (2.4)	10 (12.4)			
Some college	6 (3.5)	8 (9.9)			
Associate	2 (1.2)	9 (11.1)			
Bachelor	25 (14.7)	8 (9.9)			
Graduate	132 (77.7)	43 (53.1)			
Role					
Health care provider	101 (59.4)	24 (29.6)			

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e29857

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022 | vol. 5 | iss. 1 |e29857 | p.346 (page number not for citation purposes)

JMIR PEDIATRICS AND PARENTING				
Characteristic	Podcast listeners (N=170), n (%)	Podcast nonlisteners (N=81), n (%)		
Parent/caregiver	69 (40.6)	57 (70.4)		

Although over half of respondents in both groups listened to podcasts, far more health care professionals engaged in the medium (101/125, 81%) than parents/caregivers (69/126, 55%; P<.001). Of the parents/caregivers who listened to podcasts, more than half (58/69, 84%) had a bachelor's degree or higher and most of the respondents were White (47/69, 68%). Approximately 5% (6/126) of parents/caregivers had never heard of a podcast. As a whole, podcast listeners were more

likely to have higher incomes (P=.001). Those who used podcasts were more likely to use professional websites as additional sources of information, whereas those who did not favored YouTube (P<.001). Both health care professionals and parents/caregivers agreed on the top 3 desired qualities of a podcast: accuracy of the information presented, a distinction made on the podcast between fact and opinion, and podcast host qualifications (Textbox 1).

Textbox 1. Podcast qualities valued by listeners, ranked by percentage of respondent 5/5 ("always") ratings.

Phy	sicians	;
,		

- 1. Accuracy of information (107/125, 85.6%)
- 2. Authors are qualified (98/125, 78.4%)
- 3. Fact vs opinion is clear (86/125, 68.8%)
- 4. Professionalism (65/125, 52%)
- 5. Relevancy to patients (64/125, 51.2%)

Caregivers

- 1. Accuracy of information (77/126, 61.1%)
- 2. Authors are qualified (69/126, 54.8%)
- 3. Fact vs opinion is clear (65/126, 51.6%)
- 4. Content is entertaining (47/126, 37.3%)
- 5. Professionalism/relevancy (39/126, 31%)

The most commonly listed reason for not listening to podcasts was a lack of time (19/125, 15.2% of providers and 36/126, 28.6% of parents/caregivers); however, a majority of respondents who did not listen to podcasts cited other reasons, including finding them too slow, being overwhelmed by the options, lacking a routine for them, and not finding them entertaining. Even though most health care professionals listened to podcasts themselves, only 21/125 (17%) recommended podcasts to their patients as a form of education.

Discussion

In a survey completed by 251 health care professionals and patients' parents/caregivers, there were significant differences in the pattern of podcast use between the two groups. Although a majority of each group surveyed listened to podcasts, health care professionals were significantly more likely to use podcasts as an educational medium. Given the extensive amount of research and quality improvement that has gone into the medical podcasting sphere, this is perhaps not a surprising finding [4,16].

Both educational status and income level were higher in those who listened to podcasts. Lower income in the parent/caregiver group compared to the health care professional group resulting in fewer resources may explain the disparity seen in podcast use between the two groups of individuals. Smartphones have been shown to be the most popular device for listening to podcasts: 65% of podcast consumers listen to podcasts on mobile

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e29857
```

devices, compared to 25% on computers or laptops, and 10% on smart speakers [1]. In low-income households with incomes below US \$30,000 a year, 29% do not own a cell phone and 44% do not have broadband internet services, and therefore have limited access to podcasts [17].

Podcast listeners, whether health care providers or parents/caregivers, tended to agree on the 3 top qualities they look for in medical podcasts, identified in this study as the following: accuracy of the information presented, a distinction made on the podcast between fact and opinion, and podcast host qualifications. This was a surprising finding, given previous literature suggesting health care educators seemed to require less stringent qualifications for podcasts as compared to other media, with coherence, citations, and expertise required for blogs but not for podcasts [4]. Accessibility across multiple platforms, identified as a major criterion for a quality podcast in that study, was not one of the top 3 qualities identified in our study. We hypothesize this could relate to advancements in smartphone and streaming technology in the past few years making podcasts more accessible overall.

Our study shows a high rate of listenership among surveyed health care providers (101/125, 81%), which is consistent with numbers from other recent studies showing podcast listenership rates among internal medicine and emergency medicine residents of 59% and 89%, respectively [18,19]. Medical podcasts represent an accessible and flexible means of continuing medical

XSL•FO RenderX

education (CME) for health care professionals who have completed formal training, as well as for trainees who seek supplementation to more traditional avenues of medical education. Many currently available pediatric podcasts offer CME credits for their audience, such as Peds RAP [20], and cover seasonal and salient topics of interest, such as diagnosing and treating "long COVID" in children (Pediatrics on Call Episode 64 [21]). There are also examples of national societies as well as residents/fellows creating podcasts with specialty-specific content (eg, "Bowel Sounds: The Pediatric GI Podcast" [22]), showcasing the ability of the medium to serve diverse medical education needs [23,24]. For trainees who attend required didactics as live lectures or case discussions, often 30-60 minutes in length and during the workday, a podcast covering the same material that can be archived and listened to on a flexible timetable is an invaluable self-directed learning resource that gives listeners the discretion to engage when they so desire. Further studies on the efficacy of podcasting as a medical education tool should be explored.

Interestingly, in our study, while a large majority of health care professionals listen to educational podcasts, only 17% (21/125) of them recommend podcasts as a resource to patients or parents/caregivers. Although this study did not specifically address the reasons why they did not refer parents/caregivers to these podcasts, this may be due to the types of podcasts being consumed and the motivations behind their use. An iTunes search of pediatric podcasts at the time of writing uncovered 25 podcasts, only 5 of which included parents/caregivers in their targeted audience. Instead, the majority of podcasts aim to be "edutainment," or medically educational entertainment, for physicians [24]. Pediatricians in remote hospitals have previously reported that podcasts help them stay connected to colleagues in their field and up to date with recent practice patterns [25]. More recently, a subset of medical podcasts has targeted early-stage trainees with the goal of increasing exposure to different areas of interest within pediatrics (eg, Charting Pediatrics [26]). The style and content of these pediatric podcasts cater more to health care professionals and trainees than to patients and parents/caregivers, which likely factors into why so few providers surveyed indicated they would recommend medical podcasts to patients and their families. Health care professionals may not want to direct their patients toward resources that use medical jargon or present health care information that is difficult for a family to interpret in the context of their individual situations. Health care professionals value the physician-patient relationship and may wish to preserve direct communication of medical advice between the provider and patient/guardian. Finally, the electronic medical record has been designed to facilitate the inclusion of more traditional paper printouts for patient education, a more historic form of guidance and a tested resource. Given the time-pressured environment of outpatient medicine and the lack of a centralized medical podcast repository, describing and facilitating access to podcasts would place an additional cognitive load on the health care professional, making it less likely that such an action would be taken. Further qualitative research may elucidate the reasoning behind provider hesitancy to recommend podcasts to patient families. This information would guide podcast creators

on how to broaden their audience to include patients and parent/caregivers in addition to health care professionals.

The vast majority of health care professionals and parents/caregivers did not use social media platforms as a source of medical information, despite their known popularity in the personal lives of both groups. Of note, the listed social media platforms (Facebook, Instagram, Twitter, YouTube) lack the quality indicators our study's participants cited as most important when they seek educational podcasts, such as accuracy, transparency, and a qualified host. This is an interesting contrast to prior surveys that have identified a high percentage of health professionals who use social media for education [27]. Differences may be due to the demographic surveyed (eg, attending physicians versus graduate medical trainees) or survey wording that precluded the consideration of subconscious consumption of information on social media.

Our study is subject to the many limitations inherent to an online survey. There was no way to ensure the survey was only filled out once per respondent. Recruitment through social media may make the data regarding other sources of information difficult to interpret (eg, a patient responding to the survey through Facebook evidently uses Facebook for information). The survey was internally created and not a previously validated survey. A popular pediatric podcast is hosted by one of the authors, so an internally distributed survey may skew the physician population toward higher listenership. In addition, because the survey was distributed in one clinic within a hospital network in one city, the results have narrow generalizability, although the demographics of the listeners surveyed were typical of national podcast listeners [1]. Of note, the sampled parents/caregivers were mostly White, though the clinic where they were surveyed serves a primarily non-White demographic (26% White). This highlights potential biases in the administration of the survey, such as selection bias, language barriers (the survey was only offered in English), nonresponse bias, or the use of a White surveyor. Next steps may attempt to address this by reaching a more representative sample of the communities served. Other future work might include examining the motivations of physician versus parent/caregiver in listening to podcasts, qualitative studies on effective presentation of podcast information to parent/caregivers to promote message uptake, and optimizing dissemination of podcasts as an education tool at different points of contact with the health care system (primary care versus the emergency room versus the hospital setting).

In summary, although many health care professionals and parents/caregivers alike use podcasts as a source of information, there is unrealized potential for more engagement with this medium that health care professionals can help to facilitate. With the evolving world of data overload, targeted efforts at improving use of podcasts in patients and parents/caregivers may offer this population a source of updated, accurate medical information. Furthermore, awareness of trustworthy messaging is urgently needed in the setting of rising antivaccine and antiscience sentiment. There are data supporting the sustainability of podcasts over time, suggesting that a medical professional's recommendation of podcast use, if accepted, may lead to lasting use and ongoing education for parents/caregivers

XSL•FO RenderX

[28,29]. This may be particularly salient during the COVID-19 pandemic and the increasing use of telemedicine and other virtual ways of delivering health care and medical information, particularly in remote areas, where reliable medical information is not as easy or as convenient to access. Given that both health care providers and parents/caregivers primarily used professional websites to obtain medical information, podcasters should consider partnering with professional websites among other creative solutions to increase uptake of the medium. Educational podcasts that can offer accurate, transparent, and credible medical information to health care providers, patients, and their families are likely to continue to grow as an enduring form of medical education.

Authors' Contributions

JP and KKL conceptualized and designed the study, drafted the initial manuscript, and reviewed and edited the manuscript. CL, MSZ, and ERW performed the literature search and reviewed and edited the manuscript. MH organized and analyzed the data, generated figures, and drafted sections of the manuscript. All authors approved the final manuscript as submitted and agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Sample of survey administered to participants. [DOCX File, 19 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e29857_app1.docx]

References

- 1. The Podcast Consumer 2018. Edison Research. URL: <u>https://www.edisonresearch.com/podcast-consumer-2018</u> [accessed 2020-09-25]
- Cosimini M, Cho D, Liley F, Espinoza J. Podcasting in Medical Education: How Long Should an Educational Podcast Be? J Grad Med Educ 2017 Jun;9(3):388-389 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4300/JGME-D-17-00015.1] [Medline: 28638533]
- Patrick MD, Stukus DR, Nuss KE. Using podcasts to deliver pediatric educational content: Development and reach of PediaCast CME. Digit Health 2019 Feb 26;5:2055207619834842 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055207619834842] [Medline: 30834137]
- 4. Lin M, Thoma B, Trueger NS, Ankel F, Sherbino J, Chan T. Quality indicators for blogs and podcasts used in medical education: modified Delphi consensus recommendations by an international cohort of health professions educators. Postgrad Med J 2015 Oct 14;91(1080):546-550. [doi: 10.1136/postgradmedj-2014-133230] [Medline: 26275428]
- Wilson P, Petticrew M, Booth A. After the gold rush? A systematic and critical review of general medical podcasts. J R Soc Med 2009 Feb;102(2):69-74 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1258/jrsm.2008.080245] [Medline: 19208871]
- Cho D, Cosimini M, Espinoza J. Podcasting in medical education: a review of the literature. Korean J Med Educ 2017 Dec;29(4):229-239 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3946/kjme.2017.69] [Medline: 29207454]
- Nwosu AC, Monnery D, Reid VL, Chapman L. Use of podcast technology to facilitate education, communication and dissemination in palliative care: the development of the AmiPal podcast. BMJ Support Palliat Care 2017 Jun;7(2):212-217 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2016-001140] [Medline: 27580942]
- Cadogan M, Thoma B, Chan TM, Lin M. Free Open Access Meducation (FOAM): the rise of emergency medicine and critical care blogs and podcasts (2002-2013). Emerg Med J 2014 Oct;31(e1):e76-e77. [doi: <u>10.1136/emermed-2013-203502</u>] [Medline: <u>24554447</u>]
- Wolpaw J, Toy S. Creation and Evaluation of an Anesthesiology and Critical Care Podcast. J Educ Perioper Med 2018;20(1):E620 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 29928667]
- Mallin M, Schlein S, Doctor S, Stroud S, Dawson M, Fix M. A survey of the current utilization of asynchronous education among emergency medicine residents in the United States. Acad Med 2014 Apr;89(4):598-601 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000000170] [Medline: 24556776]
- Purdy E, Thoma B, Bednarczyk J, Migneault D, Sherbino J. The use of free online educational resources by Canadian emergency medicine residents and program directors. CJEM 2015 Mar 01;17(2):101-106. [doi: <u>10.1017/cem.2014.73</u>] [Medline: <u>25927253</u>]
- 12. Peterson MW, Rowat J, Kreiter C, Mandel J. Medical students' use of information resources: is the digital age dawning? Acad Med 2004 Jan;79(1):89-95. [doi: 10.1097/00001888-200401000-00019] [Medline: 14691004]
- Nickson CP, Cadogan MD. Free Open Access Medical education (FOAM) for the emergency physician. Emerg Med Australas 2014 Feb;26(1):76-83. [doi: 10.1111/1742-6723.12191] [Medline: 24495067]
- Kazlauskas A, Robinson K. Podcasts are not for everyone. British Journal of Educational Technology;(43) 2011:321-330. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1467-8535.2010.01164.x</u>]

- 15. Eysenbach G. Improving the quality of Web surveys: the Checklist for Reporting Results of Internet E-Surveys (CHERRIES). J Med Internet Res 2004 Dec 29;6(3):e34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6.3.e34] [Medline: 15471760]
- Paterson Q, Thoma B, Milne W, Lin M, Chan T. A Systematic Review and Qualitative Analysis to Determine Quality Indicators forHealth Professions Education Blogs and Podcasts. J Grad Med Educ 2015 Dec;7(4):549-554 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4300/JGME-D-14-00728.1] [Medline: 26692965]
- 17. Mobile Fact Sheet. Pew Research Center. URL: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/fact-sheet/mobile</u> [accessed 2020-10-17]
- Bernstein E, Bhardwaj N, Pfoh ER, Yudelevich E. A Nationwide Survey of Educational Resource Utilization and Perception Among Internal Medicine Residents. J Gen Intern Med 2021 Jun;36(6):1598-1604 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-06441-6] [Medline: 33506391]
- Riddell J, Swaminathan A, Lee M, Mohamed A, Rogers R, Rezaie SR. A Survey of Emergency Medicine Residents' Use of Educational Podcasts. West J Emerg Med 2017 Feb;18(2):229-234 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5811/westjem.2016.12.32850] [Medline: 28210357]
- 20. Peds RAP. HIPPO Education. URL: https://www.hippoed.com/peds/rap/episode [accessed 2022-01-19]
- 21. Pediatrics On Call Podcast. American Academy of Pediatrics. URL: <u>https://www.aap.org/en/pages/podcast</u> [accessed 2022-01-19]
- 22. Bowel Sounds Podcast. North American Society For Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology & Nutrition. URL: <u>https://naspghan.org/bowel-sounds/</u> [accessed 2022-01-19]
- 23. Cai F, Burns R, Kelly B, Hampton B. CREOGs Over Coffee: Feasibility of an Ob-Gyn Medical Education Podcast by Residents. J Grad Med Educ 2020 Jun;12(3):340-343 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4300/JGME-D-19-00644.1] [Medline: 32595856]
- 24. Young B, Pouw A, Redfern A, Cai F, Chow J. Eyes for Ears-A Medical Education Podcast Feasibility Study. J Surg Educ 2021 Jan;78(1):342-345. [doi: 10.1016/j.jsurg.2020.06.041] [Medline: 32709568]
- Malecki SL, Quinn KL, Zilbert N, Razak F, Ginsburg S, Verma AA, et al. Understanding the Use and Perceived Impact of a Medical Podcast: Qualitative Study. JMIR Med Educ 2019 Sep 19;5(2):e12901 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/12901] [Medline: 31538949]
- 26. Charting Pediatrics. URL: https://chartingpediatrics.libsyn.com/ [accessed 2022-01-19]
- 27. Tarchichi TR, Szymusiak J. Continuing Medical Education in an On-Demand World: Is Podcasting the Netflix of Medical Education? Hosp Pediatr 2019 Oct 03;9(10):818-819. [doi: 10.1542/hpeds.2019-0093] [Medline: 31481459]
- 28. Galiatsatos P, Porto-Carreiro F, Hayashi J, Zakaria S, Christmas C. The use of social media to supplement resident medical education the SMART-ME initiative. Medical Education Online 2016 Jan 08;21(1):29332. [doi: 10.3402/meo.v21.29332]
- 29. Nour R. A Systematic Review of Methods to Improve Attitudes Towards Childhood Vaccinations. Cureus 2019 Jul 02;11(7):e5067 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.7759/cureus.5067] [Medline: 31516778]

Abbreviations

CHERRIES: Checklist for Reporting Results of Internet E-Surveys **CHOP:** Children's Hospital of Philadelphia **CME:** continuing medical education

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 22.04.21; peer-reviewed by H Osborne, M Mackert; comments to author 08.08.21; revised version received 28.09.21; accepted 11.10.21; published 01.02.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

Lee C, Zhou MS, Wang ER, Huber M, Lockwood KK, Parga J Health Care Professional and Caregiver Attitudes Toward and Usage of Medical Podcasting: Questionnaire Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e29857 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e29857 doi:10.2196/29857 PMID:35103616

©Clement Lee, Melissa S Zhou, Evelyn R Wang, Matthew Huber, Katie K Lockwood, Joanna Parga. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 01.02.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e29857

Original Paper

Pediatric Tele–Home Care Compared to Usual Care: Cost-Minimization Analysis

Cristina Adroher Mas^{1,2}, MSc; Candela Esposito Català², BA; Astrid Batlle Boada¹, MD; Ricard Casadevall Llandrich¹, MSc; Marta Millet Elizalde¹, MSc; Juan José García García¹, MD, PhD; Manel del Castillo Rey¹, MD; Francesc García Cuyàs¹, MD, PhD; Miquel Pons Serra¹, MD; Francesc López Seguí², PhD

¹Sant Joan de Déu Hospital, Catalan Ministry of Health, Esplugues de Llobregat, Spain ²Centre de Recerca en Economia i Salut, Pompeu Fabra University, Barcelona, Spain

Corresponding Author:

Cristina Adroher Mas, MSc Sant Joan de Déu Hospital Catalan Ministry of Health Passeig de Sant Joan de Déu, 2 Esplugues de Llobregat, 08950 Spain Phone: 34 932 53 21 00 ext 73041 Email: <u>cristina.adroher@sjd.es</u>

Abstract

Background: Although home hospitalization has been a well-known and widespread practice for some time in the adult population, it has not been the same case in the pediatric setting. Simultaneously, telemedicine tools are a facilitator of the change in the health care model, which is increasingly focused on home care. In a pioneering way in Spain, the in-home hospitalization program of the Hospital Sant Joan de Déu in Barcelona allows the child to be in their home environment at the time they are being monitored and clinically followed by the professionals. Besides being the preferred option for families, previous experience suggests that pediatric home hospitalization reduces costs, primarily thanks to savings on the structural cost of the stay.

Objective: The aim of this study is to compare the average cost of a discharge by tele–home care with the usual care and to analyze the main drivers of the differential costs of both care models.

Methods: A cost-minimization analysis is conducted under a hospital's perspective, based on observational data, and estimated retrospectively. A historical control group of similar patients in terms of clinical casuistry to children hospitalized at home was used for comparison.

Results: A 24-hour stay at the hospital costs US \$574.19, while the in-home hospitalization costs US \$301.71 per day, representing a saving of almost half (48%) of the cost compared to usual care. The main saving drivers were the personnel costs (US \$102.83/US \$284.53, 35.5% of the total), intermediate noncare costs (US \$6.09/US \$284.53, 33.17%), and structural costs (US \$55.16/US \$284.53, 19.04%). Home hospitalization involves a total stay 27.61% longer, but at almost half the daily cost, and thus represents a saving of US \$176.70 (9.01%) per 24-hour stay.

Conclusions: The cost analysis conducted under a hospital perspective shows that pediatric tele–home care is 9% cheaper compared to regular hospital care. These results motivate the most widespread implementation of the service from the point of view of economic efficiency, adding to previous experiences that suggest that it is also preferable from the perspective of user satisfaction.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e31628) doi:10.2196/31628

KEYWORDS

RenderX

cost analysis; pediatric tele-home care; home care service; health economics; telehealth; economic evaluation; telemedicine; pediatrics

Introduction

Although home hospitalization in adult hospitals is widespread and well known, and has been well studied from an economic perspective [1-3], it is not the same case in the pediatric environment, with a few exceptions [4,5]. Home is a child's natural environment. The European Association for Children in Hospital Charter establishes that a child should only be admitted to the hospital if absolutely necessary and must be discharged as soon as possible [6]. At the same time, currently available telemedicine tools allow real-time monitoring of a patient's clinical status and regular follow-up with families [7]. In this sense, technology is a facilitator of the change in the care model, and it is increasingly oriented toward home care [8,9].

The Sant Joan de Déu Hospital in Barcelona is a third-level university hospital located in Catalonia, Spain, specializing in the fields of pediatrics, gynecology, and obstetrics. It is a privately owned hospital that operates as part of the public health system. It sees approximately 26,000 discharges annually, with around 250,000 outpatient consultations; 15,000 surgical interventions; and 120,000 emergencies. This health center plays a double role in the Catalan health system: on the one hand it is the reference hospital for the population of the nearest geographical area; on the other, it is a high-complexity reference center at a Catalan, Spanish, and international level. Consequently, the population treated in the hospital presents pathologies of both low and high complexity. The program "SJD a Casa" (SJD At Home) of the Sant Joan de Déu Hospital, a pioneering initiative in Spain, was born in response to this need, and it allows the child to be monitored in their home environment while being followed clinically by the hospital professionals. It is an alternative for stable patients who require hospital treatment but not its infrastructure. Home hospitalization empowers the patient and their families, who can get involved in the direct care of the child, increasing their comfort and promoting family-centered care. Prior studies show that home hospitalization is safe [10] and that clinical effectiveness is not significantly different to conventional hospitalization, even for pediatric patients [11]. Furthermore, prior reporting states that experiences are positive [12-19]. After the success of the pilot program, with families preferring home hospitalization in 94% (61/65) of cases [20], "SJD a Casa" started operating in an ordinary way on November 1, 2019.

In a situation where the capacity to expand hospital beds is limited by the lack of space, especially in an urban context, this model of care frees up space by increasing the capacity to care for highly complex patients [21]. Previous experience suggests that pediatric home hospitalization reduces costs, relative to usual care, especially because of the effect of savings on the structural cost of the stay, which more than offsets the costs of possible readmission [22]. In addition, in a pandemic state, minimizing contact with users may be especially appropriate to prevent outpatient infections [23]. In this context, the aim of this study is to perform a cost-minimization analysis from a hospital perspective.

Methods

Study Design

A cost-minimization analysis was performed based on an observational study, including both direct and indirect costs. The analysis followed the Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards (CHEERS) [24,25]. The study spans from November 1, 2019, to June 30, 2020; it assesses the time horizon from admission to discharge, and it has been conducted under a hospital perspective. No discount rate was used. Unidentified clinical and sociodemographic data from the patients was extracted from the hospital administrative database, while the economic analysis relies on observational data (hospital's accounting department) and was estimated retrospectively. The study was carried out in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration [26]. Data was analyzed using a Google Drive Spreadsheet.

The SJD Home Intervention

The intervention and characteristics of the families who used the service has been documented in previous studies [20]. When the care team, whether from the hospitalization ward, outpatient department, or emergency department, detects a potential case of hospitalization at home, it contacts the referent of this program, which evaluates it according to the inclusion criteria (30 minutes of isochronous, clinical stability, voluntary consent, and adequate living conditions in the home). The family is then informed about the home care service, and if they agree to participate, they are asked to give informed consent. Finally, the nurse of the team trains the family to be able to carry out the necessary care and delivers a kit. The program is thought to have a maximum of 12 patients; therefore, 15 kits are available. This kit contains the four devices for remote telemonitoring (thermometer, pulse oximeter, blood pressure monitor, and scale) and a tablet that uses Bluetooth with specific software that records device information and allows video calls. The service includes two types of health care: face-to-face, with a daily visit from a pediatrician or nurse, and 24-hour continuous care with real-time telemonitoring by nurses (between 8 AM to 10 PM) and by the emergency department staff (between 10 PM to 8 AM).

Participants

From November 1, 2019, to June 30, 2020, a total of 357 patients received the pediatric tele-home care service. Among these episodes, only those who were first admitted to the hospital and subsequently were admitted to home hospitalization were selected. We detected three types of patients. First, some were admitted to the tele-home care program to end their treatment; these patients were fairly stable and had shorter stays. Second, some patients had pathologies that required a longer stay. Third, some patients had an underlying pathology. With the aim of having a more precise control group, we only included the first group of patients. The principal pathologies seen at home are acute respiratory diseases (bronchospasm, bronchiolitis, pneumonia), infections in need of intravenous treatment (eg, urinary infections, sepsis, skin and soft tissue infections, and otorrinolaringologic infections), nephrotic syndromes, and wounds in need of nurses' healing. The main procedures done

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e31628
```

XSL•FO

at home are oxygen therapy, nebulizations, and intravenous treatments (antibiotics and serum therapy). Although the main referral service is general pediatrics, other departments that also refer patients to the tele–home care program are surgery, nephrology, or oncology among others. The resulting study population included 181 patients.

A historical control group of patients with the same clinical casuistry and diagnostics to the children hospitalized at home were used for comparison. A review was made for diagnoses of comparable patients maintaining the same criteria of principal diagnostic, principal procedure, and service origin (pediatrics). All patients of the usual care that were used as a comparison group met all the inclusion criteria to be admitted to the program, except the 30 minutes of isochronous (children living further cannot be included in the treatment group for logistic reasons).

Outcome Measures

Although in the usual care model personnel expenses include wages of pediatricians, nurses, residents, and nursing assistants, the tele-home care program is operated only by pediatricians and nurses. With respect to operating expenses, pharmacy, fungibles, and various purchase costs are included. Expenses per patient consist of the costs of the medicines given to patients. Laboratory, anatomy, diagnostic imaging, and blood bank costs are covered in the intermediate care costs. Intermediate noncare costs include the costs of admissions, stretcher bearers, cleaning of the spaces and clothing, menus offered to the hospital's patients, and other intermediate expenses. Of these, the only ones attributable to the tele-home care program are laboratory, admissions, and blood bank costs. Some expenses are specific to the tele-home care program, such as the cost of the transportation, the renting of the tablet, and other purchases. Lastly, there are some structural expenses, such as the costs of supplies, amortizations of the computer system, and other expenses. Only the last two are included as tele-home care costs. The quantification of costs is done by the hospital's own accounting department using administrative data. All costs are with prices for the year 2020. The study does not take into account any other amortization costs, as they are considered nonsignificant.

Results

A total of 181 patients with ages between 0 and 21 (average 3.95, SD 5.00, median 2) years used the program. A total of 91 (50.3%) were female. The most frequent diagnoses were related to a respiratory disease (86/181, 47.5%), infection (51/181, 28.2%), and other less common pathologies. On average, patients spent 1.94 (SD 1.25) days at the hospital before being transferred to their homes, where they stayed for 2.82 (SD 1.25, min 1.10, max 8.38) days. This means that, in total, the mean of the whole hospitalization (conventional hospitalization plus home hospitalization) was 4.76 days. In comparison, the average total hospitalization of the control group was 3.73 (SD 2.47) days.

Table 1 shows the total average expenditure for a hospital and in-home hospitalization of a 24-hour stay, the difference between both to estimate the savings, and the percentage that each type of cost represented in the total amount of savings.

Table 1.	Costs per	day, according	to type of	hospitalization,	by size of saving.
----------	-----------	----------------	------------	------------------	--------------------

Type of cost	Usual care (US \$)	Tele-home care (US \$)	Variation (US \$)	Total variation (%) ^a	Total savings (%)
Staff	261.51	158.67	102.83	33.52	35.50
Noncare intermediates	118.08	21.99	96.09	31.32	33.17
Structural	140.80	85.63	55.16	17.98	19.04
Intermediates	27.29	7.37	19.91	6.49	6.88
Operating	26.50	10.85	15.65	5.10	5.40
Tele-home care	N/A ^b	17.17	-17.17	5.60	N/A
Total	574.19	301.71	272.48	100.00	100.00

^aIn absolute terms.

^bN/A: not applicable.

A 24-hour stay at the hospital costs US \$574.19, while the in-home hospitalization costs US \$301.71 per day, representing a saving of almost half (48%) of the cost compared to usual care. The main saving drivers were the personnel costs (US \$102.83/US \$289.66, 35.5% of the total), intermediate noncare costs (US \$96.09/US \$289.66, 33.17%), and structural costs (US \$55.17/US \$289.66, 19.04%), all of them accounting for

87.72% (US \$254.09/US \$289.66) of the total savings. The cost types are detailed in Table 2, which also shows that the only incremental expense between the two interventions was the operating cost of the home hospitalization program (mainly the professional's travel costs and the devices used for telemonitoring).



Table 2.	Costs per day,	by type of hospitalization.	Most important items	(disaggregated).
----------	----------------	-----------------------------	----------------------	------------------

Type of cost	Conventional care (US \$)	Tele-home care (US \$)	Difference (US \$)	Savings (%)
Personal	·			
Optional	83.92	65.76	18.16	6.66
Residents	21.45	N/A ^a	21.45	7.87
Nursery	116.46	92.91	23.55	8.64
Auxiliaries	39.67	N/A	39.67	14.56
Total staff	261.51	158.67	102.83	37.74
Intermediation care				
Admissions + secretariat	23.47	21.99	1.48	0.54
Bedding holders	16.35	N/A	16.35	6.00
Cleaning + laundry	25.57	N/A	25.57	9.38
Menu	40.01	N/A	40.01	14.69
Intermediate	12.66	N/A	12.66	4.65
Total intermediate noncare	118.08	21.99	96.09	35.27
Structure				
Informatics	8.41	8.41	N/A	0.00
Supplies/maintenance	53.69	N/A	53.69	19.71
Structural	77.22	77.22	N/A	0.00
Depreciation	1.47	N/A	1.47	0.54
Total structure	140.80	85.63	55.16	20.25

^aN/A: not applicable.

In relation to staff costs, the results shown are lower for all types of professionals. The main savings are due to the absence of auxiliary staff (US \$39.67/US \$272.48, 14.56% of the total). As for other professionals, the costs are lower due to the lower ratio of professionals per patient. Regarding the intermediate noncare expenses, the main savings are given by the costs of food (US \$40.01/US \$272.48, 14.69%), cleaning and laundry (US \$25.57/US \$272.48, 9.38%), and bedding (US \$16.36/US

\$272.48, 6%). Finally, in terms of structure, most savings were given by supply costs (US \$53.69/US \$272.48, 19.71%).

Table 3 summarizes the costs by discharge, weighting the daily cost of each type of stay by its average duration. Home hospitalization involves a total stay 27.61% longer but at a daily cost of almost half; it represents a saving of US \$176.70 (9.01%) per stay.

Table 3. Cost per discharge.

	Hospital stay (days), mean	Home stay (days), mean	Total stay (days)	Total cost (US \$)
Home	1.94	2.82	4.76	1964.76
Hospital	3.73	0	3.73	2141.75

Discussion

Principal Findings

This study is an economic analysis from a hospital's perspective that compares the costs of two competing treatments. On the one hand, home hospitalization allows the release of hospital beds occupied by patients who, due to their clinical situation, can stay at home. This space is especially needed in the winter because there are peaks in demand motivated by the high incidence of respiratory viruses. Thus, this intervention represents a *de facto* expansion of the hospital bed capacity. On the other hand, at times, with few patients hospitalized at home, the flexibility in human resource management and the ability of professionals to carry out their work in other services or areas of the hospital would minimize their opportunity cost. With these conditions, home hospitalization would be an efficient option thanks to the abundance of variable costs associated with this model. This is consistent with a recent study centered in telemedicine in pediatrics that emphasizes that patients, health care professionals, and caregivers may benefit from using both telemedicine services and traditional, in-person health care services [27].

In terms of safety, some articles show that it appears that hospital at home is a safe and acceptable form of care [28]. Additionally, some studies demonstrate that clinical effectiveness of both services was not significantly different:

children presenting common pathologies that require hospital treatment but not its infrastructure could be managed at home with similar outcome measures to traditional hospital care [11]. For example, a recent systematic review that focuses on malignant and nonmalignant hematology concluded telemedicine provides similar or improved health care compared to face-to-face encounters in both pediatric and adult populations [29]. The readmission rate for home care was not significantly higher than for hospital care [20]. Additionally, in terms of satisfaction, a British study shows that 90% of parents and 63% of children stated a clear preference for home hospitalization, citing less psychosocial disruption and a perception that children recover more quickly with comfortable surroundings [11].

The facilities offered by digital health tools, combined with a gradual decline in the cost of gadgets to comparatively insignificant levels, open the door to a set of possibilities for cost-effective interventions in the field of health. The result of this work fits in with other studies that point to the positive economic impacts of telemedicine [30,31]. In the context of COVID-19, these possibilities make even more sense insofar as they can reduce travel, social contact, and consequently intrahospital infections [32]. Recent studies claim that digital approaches have played and will play substantial roles as invaluable and reliable resources to overcome restrictions and challenges imposed during the COVID-19 pandemic and to increase access to effective, accessible, and consumer-friendly care to more pediatric patients and families [33]. For example, another recent paper states that despite its limitations, the expansion of digital health care due to the COVID-19 pandemic is likely to have equitably increased access to health care for

many families, especially those living rurally and with limited financial means. It is also likely to have reduced the anxiety experienced by some children in medical settings and allowed health professionals to gain a better understanding of their patients' living circumstances [34].

This analysis has several limitations. First, this study spans from November 1, 2019, to June 30, 2020. This includes some important times for the Spanish health system due to COVID-19, and special measures had to be implemented: COVID-19 patients used the program, and although the hospital is pediatric, it accommodated adult patients. Hospital occupancy declined due to the low incident of COVID-19 and other pathologies on children in this period. Second, this analysis only includes one typology of patients: the ones who were admitted to the tele-home care program to end their treatment. It would be interesting to include the other patients in future studies. Third, provider's perspective does not include aspects that go beyond their interests, such as the possible cost of caring for the child at home by families (loss of productivity, material costs). Further research should enlarge the focus of the study and include and broaden all the potential effects of in-home hospitalization.

Conclusion

Our analysis shows that pediatric tele-home care is 9% less expensive compared to regular hospital care while offering a quality service preferred for the children and their families, and that emptied beds for more complex cases. The use of telemedicine in the pediatric setting may serve for improving provider efficiency, lowering health system costs, and achieving greater patient satisfaction [18]. These results motivate the most widespread implementation of the pediatric tele-home care.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Estrada Cuxart O, Massa Domínguez B, Ponce González, Mirón Rubio M, Torres Corts A, Mujal Martínez A, et al. Proyecto HAD 2020: una propuesta para consolidar la hospitalización a domicilio en España. Hosp Domic 2017 Apr 26;1(2):93
 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.22585/hospdomic.v1i2.13]
- Caplan GA, Sulaiman NS, Mangin DA, Aimonino Ricauda N, Wilson AD, Barclay L. A meta-analysis of "hospital in the home". Med J Aust 2012 Nov 05;197(9):512-519. [doi: <u>10.5694/mja12.10480</u>] [Medline: <u>23121588</u>]
- González-Ramallo VJ, Mirón-Rubio M, Mujal A, Estrada O, Forné C, Aragón B, et al. Costs of outpatient parenteral antimicrobial therapy (OPAT) administered by Hospital at Home units in Spain. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2017 Jul;50(1):114-118. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2017.02.017] [Medline: 28499957]
- Castor C, Hallström IK, Landgren K, Hansson H. Accessibility, utilisation and acceptability of a county-based home care service for sick children in Sweden. Scand J Caring Sci 2019 Dec;33(4):824-832 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/scs.12678] [Medline: 30865330]
- Garne Holm K, Brødsgaard A, Zachariassen G, Smith AC, Clemensen J. Parent perspectives of neonatal tele-homecare: a qualitative study. J Telemed Telecare 2019 May;25(4):221-229. [doi: <u>10.1177/1357633X18765059</u>] [Medline: <u>29792079</u>]
- 6. The EACH Charter with annotations. ACH European Association for Children in Hospital. 2016. URL: <u>https://each-for-sick-children.org/each-charter/</u> [accessed 2022-01-02]
- Parker G, Spiers G, Gridley K, Atkin K, Birks Y, Lowson K, et al. Systematic review of international evidence on the effectiveness and costs of paediatric home care for children and young people who are ill. Child Care Health Dev 2013 Jan;39(1):1-19. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2214.2011.01350.x] [Medline: 22329427]
- Burke B, Hall R, Section on Telehealth Care. Telemedicine: pediatric applications. Pediatrics 2015 Jul;136(1):e293-e308 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-1517] [Medline: 26122813]

- Notario PM, Gentile E, Amidon M, Angst D, Lefaiver C, Webster K. Home-based telemedicine for children with medical complexity. Telemed J E Health 2019 Nov;25(11):1123-1132 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2018.0186] [Medline: 30628860]
- 10. Montalto M. How safe is hospital-in-the-home care? Med J Aust 1998 Mar 16;168(6):277-280. [doi: 10.5694/j.1326-5377.1998.tb140161.x] [Medline: 9549535]
- 11. Sartain S, Maxwell MJ, Todd PJ, Jones KH, Bagust A, Haycox A, et al. Randomised controlled trial comparing an acute paediatric hospital at home scheme with conventional hospital care. Arch Dis Child 2002 Nov;87(5):371-375 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/adc.87.5.371] [Medline: 12390903]
- Parab C, Cooper C, Woolfenden S, Piper S. Specialist home-based nursing services for children with acute and chronic illnesses. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013 Jun 15(6):CD004383 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004383.pub3] [Medline: 23771694]
- Hansson H, Kjaergaard H, Johansen C, Hallström I, Christensen J, Madsen M, et al. Hospital-based home care for children with cancer: feasibility and psychosocial impact on children and their families. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2013 May;60(5):865-872. [doi: 10.1002/pbc.24474] [Medline: 23335455]
- 14. Hansson H, Kjaergaard H, Schmiegelow K, Hallström I. Hospital-based home care for children with cancer: a qualitative exploration of family members' experiences in Denmark. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl) 2012 Jan;21(1):59-66. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2354.2011.01280.x] [Medline: 21848580]
- 15. von Lützau P, Otto M, Hechler T, Metzing S, Wolfe J, Zernikow B. Children dying from cancer: parents' perspectives on symptoms, quality of life, characteristics of death, and end-of-life decisions. J Palliat Care 2012;28(4):274-281. [Medline: 23413763]
- Kassam A, Skiadaresis J, Alexander S, Wolfe J. Parent and clinician preferences for location of end-of-life care: home, hospital or freestanding hospice? Pediatr Blood Cancer 2014 May;61(5):859-864. [doi: <u>10.1002/pbc.24872</u>] [Medline: <u>24265171</u>]
- 17. Cooper S, Valleley R, Polaha J, Begeny J, Evans J. Running out of time: physician management of behavioral health concerns in rural pediatric primary care. Pediatrics 2006 Jul;118(1):e132-e138. [doi: <u>10.1542/peds.2005-2612</u>] [Medline: <u>16818528</u>]
- Hamline M, Speier R, Vu P, Tancredi D, Broman A, Rasmussen L, et al. Hospital-to-home interventions, use, and satisfaction: a meta-analysis. Pediatrics 2018 Nov;142(5):e20180442 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2018-0442] [Medline: 30352792]
- 19. Eskola K, Bergstraesser E, Zimmermann K, Cignacco E. Maintaining family life balance while facing a child's imminent death-A mixed methods study. J Adv Nurs 2017 Oct;73(10):2462-2472. [doi: 10.1111/jan.13304] [Medline: 28329430]
- 20. López Seguí F, Batlle Boada A, García García JJ, López Ulldemolins A, Achotegui Del Arco A, Adroher Mas C, et al. Families' degree of satisfaction with pediatric telehomecare: interventional prospective pilot study in Catalonia. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020 Mar 26;3(1):e17517 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/17517] [Medline: 32213471]
- Simon T, Berry J, Feudtner C, Stone B, Sheng X, Bratton S, et al. Children with complex chronic conditions in inpatient hospital settings in the United States. Pediatrics 2010 Oct;126(4):647-655 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-3266] [Medline: 20855394]
- 22. Rasmussen MK, Clemensen J, Zachariassen G, Kidholm K, Brødsgaard A, Smith AC, et al. Cost analysis of neonatal tele-homecare for preterm infants compared to hospital-based care. J Telemed Telecare 2020;26(7-8):474-481. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X19843753] [Medline: 31046543]
- Shen J, Sun J, Zhao D, Li S, Xiao W, Cai X, et al. Characteristics of nosocomial infections in children screened for SARS-CoV-2 infection in China. Med Sci Monit 2020 Dec 18;26:e928835 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.12659/MSM.928835] [Medline: 33335084]
- 24. Husereau D, Drummond M, Petrou S, Carswell C, Moher D, Greenberg D, ISPOR Health Economic Evaluation Publication Guidelines-CHEERS Good Reporting Practices Task Force. Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards (CHEERS)--explanation and elaboration: a report of the ISPOR Health Economic Evaluation Publication Guidelines Good Reporting Practices Task Force. Value Health 2013;16(2):231-250 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2013.02.002] [Medline: 23538175]
- 25. Drummond MF, Sculpher MJ, Claxton K, Stoddart GL, Torrance GW. Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes. Oxford University Press: Oxford; 2015:1-2.
- 26. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: Ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. JAMA 2013 Nov 27;310(20):2191-2194. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2013.281053</u>]
- 27. Shah AC, Badawy SM. Telemedicine in pediatrics: systematic review of randomized controlled trials. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2021 Feb 24;4(1):e22696 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/22696] [Medline: 33556030]
- 28. Montalto M, Portelli R, Collopy B. Measuring the quality of hospital in the home care: a clinical indicator approach. Int J Qual Health Care 1999 Oct;11(5):413-418. [doi: 10.1093/intqhc/11.5.413] [Medline: 10561033]
- 29. Shah AC, O'Dwyer LC, Badawy SM. Telemedicine in malignant and nonmalignant hematology: systematic review of pediatric and adult studies. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2021 Jul 08;9(7):e29619 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/29619] [Medline: 34255706]

- 30. López Seguí F, Franch Parella J, Gironès García X, Mendioroz Peña J, García Cuyàs F, Adroher Mas C, et al. A cost-minimization analysis of a medical record-based, store and forward and provider-to-provider telemedicine compared to usual care in Catalonia: more agile and efficient, especially for users. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020 Mar 18;17(6):2008 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph17062008] [Medline: 32197434]
- 31. López Seguí F, Walsh S, Solans O, Adroher Mas C, Ferraro G, García-Altés A, et al. Teleconsultation between patients and health care professionals in the Catalan primary care service: message annotation analysis in a retrospective cross-sectional study. J Med Internet Res 2020 Sep 17;22(9):e19149 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/19149] [Medline: 32687477]
- Vidal-Alaball J, Acosta-Roja R, Pastor Hernández N, Sanchez Luque U, Morrison D, Narejos Pérez S, et al. Telemedicine in the face of the COVID-19 pandemic. Aten Primaria 2020;52(6):418-422 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.aprim.2020.04.003] [Medline: 32402477]
- Badawy S, Radovic A. Digital approaches to remote pediatric health care delivery during the COVID-19 pandemic: existing evidence and a call for further research. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020 Jun 25;3(1):e20049 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20049] [Medline: 32540841]
- Serlachius A, Badawy M, Thabrew H. Psychosocial challenges and opportunities for youth with chronic health conditions during the COVID-19 pandemic. JMIR Pediatr Parent 2020 Oct 12;3(2):e23057 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/23057] [Medline: 33001834]

Abbreviations

CHEERS: Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 28.06.21; peer-reviewed by J Varela, Z Reis, T Ntalindwa, M Sehgal; comments to author 17.09.21; revised version received 01.10.21; accepted 18.10.21; published 20.01.22.

Please cite as:

Adroher Mas C, Esposito Català C, Batlle Boada A, Casadevall Llandrich R, Millet Elizalde M, García García JJ, del Castillo Rey M, García Cuyàs F, Pons Serra M, López Seguí F Pediatric Tele–Home Care Compared to Usual Care: Cost-Minimization Analysis JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e31628 URL: <u>https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e31628</u> doi:10.2196/31628 PMID:<u>35049513</u>

©Cristina Adroher Mas, Candela Esposito Català, Astrid Batlle Boada, Ricard Casadevall Llandrich, Marta Millet Elizalde, Juan José García García, Manel del Castillo Rey, Francesc García Cuyàs, Miquel Pons Serra, Francesc López Seguí. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 20.01.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Changes in Use of a Leisure Activity Mobile App for Children With Disabilities During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Retrospective Study

Paul Yejong Yoo¹, OT, MSc; Mehrnoosh Movahed^{1*}, MD, PhD; Ishana Rue^{1*}, BSc; Carlos Denner Dos Santos^{2,3}, PhD; Annette Majnemer¹, OT, PhD; Keiko Shikako¹, OT, PhD

¹Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada

²Management Department, University of Brasilia, Brazil

³Computer Science Department, Ecole de Technologie Supérieure, Montreal, QC, Canada

^{*}these authors contributed equally

Corresponding Author:

Keiko Shikako, OT, PhD Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences McGill University 3654 prom Sir-William-Osler Montreal, QC, H3G 1Y5 Canada Phone: 1 514 398 4400 ext 0802 Email: <u>keiko.thomas@mcgill.ca</u>

Abstract

Background: Participation in leisure activities is essential for child development and a human right as per the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. Children with disabilities face several restrictions when participating in leisure activities as compared to same age peers without disabilities. Access to information about accessible, inclusive leisure activities is one of the barriers limiting participation, and one potential health promotion strategy is to provide access to information to increase participation. The Jooay App is a mobile app listing such activities in Canada and Australia. With the COVID-19 global pandemic and subsequent public health measures, most community-based facilities providing the activities listed on Jooay were closed. The app therefore started listing online activities offered with the expectation of continuing to provide information for families and understanding the extent to which users relied on the mobile app as a tool to identify new safe leisure opportunities.

Objective: This study aims to describe the engagement of the Jooay app before and during COVID-19, and to estimate the extent to which the listing of online activities was related to the engagement of the Jooay app.

Methods: We conducted a retrospective study comparing Jooay app use between March 2020 and February 2021 to the engagement between March 2019 and February 2020 by Jooay users. Spearman rank correlations were carried out to identify associations between the activities listed and the users' engagement from May 2020 to February 2021.

Results: Active engagement with the Jooay app from March 2020 to February 2021 dropped by an average of 135 engagements (64.2%) compared to engagements in 2019-2020. The largest monthly drop in engagement was observed in May 2020 by 239 engagements (88.8%). There was a strong positive correlation between the number of active users and the number of online activities listed on the app (r_s =0.900).

Conclusions: The engagement with the Jooay App presented an expected decrease during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. The addition of online adapted leisure activities to the app's listings during the pandemic increased app use. Access to information about inclusive activities is a barrier for children with disabilities to engage in leisure. Mobile health solutions can be responsive to contextual factors and consider the social determinants of health such as socioeconomic and public health emergency issues that can impact the participation of vulnerable populations such as children with disabilities and help eliminate barriers to participation. The provision of online leisure opportunities during the pandemic could facilitate participation in these activities during the pandemic and beyond, which is essential and beneficial for the physical and mental well-being of children with disabilities and their families.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e32274) doi:10.2196/32274



KEYWORDS

COVID-19; participation; childhood disability; online leisure; app engagement; mHealth; children; parents; mobile apps; mobile health; digital health; pandemic; online leisure activities; user engagement; app usability

Introduction

Participation of children with disabilities in leisure activities is a key determinant of their physical and mental health, and that of their families [1]. Participation in a variety of leisure activities is associated with quality of life [2]. Participation in leisure and play is also a human right as stated in the United Nations' Convention on the Rights of the Child [3], and participation in the community is a key human right as articulated in the Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities [4].

Despite the benefits and importance of participation, children with disabilities face participation restrictions in comparison to their peers who do not have a disability [5,6]. Several barriers contribute to this reduced participation, one of which is limited access to information about existing activities that meet the child and families' needs [7,8]. In fact, families of children with disabilities and health care professionals indicated that information about existing resources and leisure opportunities that will include children with developmental challenges is difficult to find, requiring additional effort on the part of already overwhelmed parents. Additionally, existing activities often do not accommodate for the child's disability needs or are not aligned with the child's context (eg, are far from the house or the school) [9,10]. The Jooay App was launched in Spring 2015 to overcome this gap between families, health care providers, and community-based leisure activities. This mobile health (mHealth) solution lists inclusive and adapted leisure activities across Canada and Australia, providing free crowdsourced information about the characteristics of leisure activities offered based on geographical location.

With the COVID-19 global pandemic declared by the World Health Organization (WHO) in March 2020 [11], countries worldwide, including Canada, had to implement massive emergency public health stringency measures to protect the public with prevention protocols to limit the spread of the virus. These public health measures included self-isolation, social distancing, and stay-at-home recommendations in Canada [12]. With these measures in place, many public and private facilities were obliged to close, including most leisure activities listed on Jooay. Access to any form of leisure was made much more challenging for children with disabilities and their families, limiting essential opportunities for development and health promotion.

Lockdown restrictions following the COVID-19 pandemic had significant negative effects on the physical activity levels and mental and behavioral health of children with disabilities [13]. It was reported that these negative effects were brought on by the lack of access to facilities and activities [13]. With technology becoming essential during the COVID-19 pandemic, children need virtual opportunities to learn, live, and stay connected to maintain their physical, social, and mental well-being [14].

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32274
```

Before the COVID-19 pandemic, all leisure activities listed in Jooay were in-person activities requiring physical attendance. Online leisure activities began being offered as an alternative to provide some form of connection during the pandemic. In response, the Jooay App crowdsourced online activities being offered worldwide for children with disabilities on the Jooay app. As of February 2021, there were a total of 382 online activities listed.

The objective of this study was to explore the extent to which families of children with disabilities use a mobile app to access information about leisure activities for their child by understanding the changes in the pattern of use of a geolocation-based mHealth solution during the COVID-19 pandemic and to estimate the extent to which the listing of online activities was related to the users' engagement with the Jooay app. It was hypothesized that parents do use mobile apps to find activities that are appropriate for their child, and as such, the availability of online activities on the app would be positively correlated with app engagement.

Methods

Study Design

This study was a retrospective study that compared the Jooay app engagement between March 2020 and February 2021, for a total of 12 months, to the engagement between March 2019 and February 2020 (prepandemic). March 2020 was chosen as the beginning of the timeframe of this study because it was the month when the WHO declared COVID-19 as a global pandemic and mass closures of public facilities started happening in Canada [11,15]. The STROBE (Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology Statement) checklist was used to guide the reporting of this study [16]. This study was approved by the Research Ethics Board of McGill University as part of a larger study.

Population and Sample

The population of this study was users of the Jooay mobile app in Canada. Users included youth with disabilities, parents of children with disabilities, educators, and health care providers. Users of the app provide consent to have their deidentified data analytics used for research purposes upon registration with the app. Data on Jooay app engagement was collected each month within the time frame previously listed.

Jooay App

Jooay is a free mobile and web-based app that helps children with disabilities and their families locate leisure opportunities that are inclusive and accessible, are in the communities where they live, suit their needs and abilities, match their preferences, and can help them develop and participate in society [17]. Jooay is also a social platform to help parents, rehabilitation professionals, educators, and communities connect, exchange, and learn from each other's experiences. Currently, as of February 28, 2021, Jooay lists 3250 activities across all 10

XSL•FO

Canadian provinces and 1 territory (Yukon), with 3124 total users. As of March 2021, Jooay is also available in Australia. This study reports on app use in Canada only.

Measures: Variables

Two variables were investigated for this study. The first variable was the number of online leisure activities available on the Jooay app; this is a discrete variable (ie, count). The addition of online leisure activities started in May 2020, 2 months after the declaration of a pandemic in March 2020 and continued to be updated and expanded until February 2021. The second variable was app engagement over the determined periods of time. App engagement was determined by the number of unique users that activated a session on the Jooay app in the specified month [18].

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were performed using Excel software (Microsoft Corporation). App engagement was compared in the 12-month period of the COVID-19 pandemic (March 2020 to February 2021) to the engagement in the corresponding months before the pandemic (March 2019 to February 2020). Spearman

Table 1. User characteristics.

rank correlation analysis was conducted using SPSS 27 (IBM Corp) between the number of online activities available to users and the app engagement from May 2020 to February 2021, as previously defined, to estimate the relationship between the two variables.

Results

User Characteristics

As of February 28, 2020, there were 3124 registered users of the Jooay app. Of those who have reported their sex (n=936), 627 (67%) were female and 309 (33%) were male. Participants' characteristics are described in Table 1. Users were asked to select the category that best represented who they were (eg, parent, health professional, or educator) and the classification of disability that best described the individuals they were seeking activities for (could select more than one). The majority of participants were parents of children with disabilities, and their children had a range of disabilities, predominantly autism spectrum disorder or physical disabilities, though 37.7% (n=1400) of participants did not select one specific disability type.

Characteristics	Users, n (%)				
User types (n=3124)	User types (n=3124)				
Parents	1260 (40.3)				
Health care professionals	656 (21.0)				
Other	267 (8.5)				
Community organizations	251 (8.0)				
Educators	222 (7.1)				
Individuals	167 (5.3)				
Not disclosed ^a	301 (9.6)				
Disability ^b (n=3714)					
Autism spectrum disorder	660 (17.8)				
Physical	651 (17.5)				
Intellectual	524 (14.1)				
Behavioral	234 (6.3)				
Visual	141 (3.8)				
Auditory	104 (2.8)				
Not disclosed ^a	1400 (37.7)				

^aNot disclosed users are users who did not report their user type.

^bA single user could report multiple disability types.

Activity Characteristics

The Jooay app has activities across 10 different provinces, with a higher concentration of activities listed in urban centers, and the majority of activities listed in the largest provinces (Ontario and Quebec). The types of activities are categorized as arts, sports, camps, and other on the app; the other category includes, for example, activities like life skills activities, money management, respite, and cooking. The distribution of activities listed per province can be found in Table 2.


Table 2.	Activity	characteristics	$(N=3250)^{a}$.
	/		

Province	Activity type, n (%)					
	Arts	Camps	Sports	Other		
Ontario (n=627)	71 (11.3)	187 (29.8)	209 (33.3)	160 (25.5)		
Quebec (n=530)	56 (10.5)	122 (23.0)	181 (34.2)	171 (32.3)		
Alberta (n=333)	40 (12.0)	45 (13.5)	161 (48.3)	87 (26.1)		
British Columbia (n=227)	9 (4.0)	25 (11.0)	130 (57.3)	63 (27.8)		
Manitoba (n=124)	21 (16.9)	17 (13.7)	67 (54.0)	19 (15.3)		
Saskatchewan (n=124)	8 (6.5)	33 (26.6)	31 (25.0)	52 (41.9)		
Prince Edward Island (n=109)	9 (8.3)	20 (18.3)	52 (47.7)	28 (25.7)		
New Brunswick (n=94)	6 (6.4)	29 (30.9)	31 (33.0)	28 (29.8)		
Nova Scotia (n=84)	11 (13.1)	22 (26.2)	29 (34.5)	22 (26.2)		
Newfoundland and Labrador (n=44)	5 (11.4)	1 (2.3)	32 (72.7)	6 (13.6)		
Yukon (n=15)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	10 (66.7)	5 (33.3)		

^aOf these 3250 activities, 939 were activities in Australia, activities across Canada, and activities without specified provinces.

Jooay App Engagement

Figure 1 illustrates the app engagement pattern for the periods of March 2019 to February 2020 (prepandemic) and that of March 2020 to February 2021 (pandemic). There is a predictable trend in app engagement for the 2019-2020 period. Higher

number of app engagements were observed in April and May 2019, being the months preceding registration for summer activities; then again in September, the time for registration for Fall activities; and then finally in February, the time for registration for activities during March break in most Canadian grade schools.

Figure 1. The number of monthly active app engagements across the two different time periods and corresponding COVID-19 pandemic directives. WHO: World Health Organization.



Figure 1 also presents the monthly total app engagements during the main events of the COVID-19 pandemic between March 2020 and February 2021. The active engagement of the Jooay app from the months of March 2020 to February 2021 dropped an average of 135 engagements per month (64.2%) compared to engagements by users during that same period in 2019-2020. The greatest monthly drop in engagement was observed in May 2020, with a drop of 239 monthly active users compared to that of 2019, which was a drop of 88.8%. The lowest drop in engagement was observed in March 2020, with a drop of 38 monthly active users compared to that of 2019, a 17.3% decrease.

Availability of Online Activities

Online activities were posted on the Jooay app starting in May 2020 up until February 2021. Following the addition of online activities on the app, the number of active users gradually increased (Figure 2). There was a strong positive correlation between the number of monthly app engagements and the number of online activities listed on the app at that time (r_s =0.900). Figure 3 presents the number of online activities available on the app and the active users.







Figure 3. The number of online activities on the Jooay app and the number of monthly active users from May 2020 to February 2021.



Discussion

Principal Results

This study presents the use patterns of an mHealth app targeting adapted and inclusive leisure activities for children with disabilities and describes changes that were observed during the COVID-19 pandemic and the subsequent health measures that were implemented in Canada [11]. This study shows an average drop in the monthly active engagement of the app by 135 engagements (64.2%) from the months of March 2020 to February 2021 compared to that of the same period in 2019-2020. This drop in engagement likely relates to closures and ongoing insecurity in the offering of community activities, possibly reflecting a gap in the existing opportunities for physical and leisure activities for children worldwide during this pandemic.

The global spread of COVID-19 led to unprecedented governmental measures that resulted in many restrictions in Canada. As a result, organizations providing services and activities for children with disabilities were forced to close, along with other sectors of society. Data from Statistics Canada and a WHO report on disabilities identified the lack of leisure opportunities, along with school closures and limited health care services as critical components for their child's health and well-being during the pandemic [19].

On March 11, 2020, the WHO declared the COVID-19 outbreak to be a global pandemic [11]. A day before this declaration,

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32274
```

RenderX

Canada published the recommendation for the adoption of work-from-home policies and the guidance on self-isolation [20]. This acted as a reinforcement for the provincial policies that were being rolled out and as groundwork for future provincial health policies. In Canada, although the health care system is largely determined by the Canadian Constitution, many of the roles and mandates of delivering health and social services fall under provincial jurisdiction [21]. This includes the planning and implementation of public health initiatives [21].

In the time frame of this study, the majority of activities listed on the Jooay app were found within the four largest provinces in Canada: Ontario, Quebec, British Columbia (BC), and Alberta. In all four of these provinces, recreational facilities and entertainment venues were required to close, while gatherings of more than five people in Ontario, more than 15 people in Alberta, and more than 50 people in BC were prohibited; in Quebec, gatherings of any size were prohibited, while BC recommended avoidance of gatherings of any size in March [20]. The smallest decrease in the monthly app engagement was observed in March by 38 engagements (17.3%). This may be due to engagement that was not impacted in the first half of the month and the immediacy of the implementation of the measures.

The greatest decrease in the monthly app engagement was observed in the month of May, with engagement for that month dropping by 239 engagements (88.8%) in 2020 compared to 2019. With the end of the academic year and the start of the summer season approaching, May has traditionally been the

month of high app use, during which parents and families of children with disabilities use the Jooay app to search for activities/camps that are scheduled for the summer of that year. However, with the residual fears and uncertainty of COVID-19 and the restrictions in place in May 2020, the decrease in app engagement can be understood. Closures and restrictions were maintained until June 2020; the number of people allowed in gatherings gradually increased and facilities reopened in many provinces around this time. Even with the eased measures, the engagement of the app did not change. These use patterns can shed light into important features of mobile app use as a source of information for "secondary health outcomes." In times of crises like this, children with disabilities are likely to face greater challenges due to attitudinal, environmental, and institutional barriers [22,23]. These barriers often stem from the lack of governmental response and the persistent neglect of this vulnerable group by society [22]. In the immediate responses to the pandemic, public health measures and governmental support were not necessarily appropriately targeted to the needs of the disability community and much less to the needs of children with disabilities [24]. No specific resources nor support were provided for children with disabilities in the first year of the pandemic by the federal government, while parents and families of children with disabilities reported high concern for the well-being of their child during the pandemic [19]. Families of children with disabilities and the children themselves reported heightened levels of stress and anxiety surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic; coupled with the increased responsibility for parents to be home with the children, these families felt overwhelmed [25]. This experience of high stress and uncertainty, as well as the overwhelming demands of providing immediate care for their child at home, may explain the continued low engagement of the Jooay app in summer 2020, despite the eased restrictions. The access to online activities listed in the app as of summer 2020 may have helped families identify new safe venues for their children, but at a point of distress, a geolocation-based app may not be consulted. Previous studies found that fear linked with insufficient knowledge about the pandemic has led to a lack of understanding and incorrect decision-making by parents [26]. It could be understood that the parents just did not have the resources, support, and sufficient knowledge about the ever-evolving situation to use the app. The use of a mobile app to provide information for vulnerable groups is not largely explored and represents an untapped potential for future research.

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic and the closures of facilities following health measures, online leisure activities were listed in the Jooay app starting in May 2020. Although the overall engagement of the app decreased by an average of 64.2% in the year 2020 compared to 2019, this study shows that as more online leisure activities were made available in the Jooay app, the number of active monthly users also increased. The number of users gradually increased, possibly because users were not aware that online activities were being added to the app, and this took time to gradually disseminate. According to Statistics Canada, more than 60% of parents reported concerns with their general mental health, loneliness, and lack of opportunities to socialize for their children [19]. In addition, 50% of parents were concerned about their children's amount

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32274
```

XSL•FO

of physical activity. Therefore, the positive association between the number of online activities listed and greater Jooay app engagement can be explained in part by parent's taking action to address these pressing concerns. A previous study found that activities listed in the app are less present in areas with lower socio and material deprivation, meaning that the number of offerings of activities is already skewed to urban centers and areas with higher population density. Closures of facilities and subsequent cancellation of in-person activities undoubtedly decreased opportunities for children to participate. Although online activities listed in the app offer an alternative to in-person activities, the lack of access to a mobile phone and to a computer and the internet poses an extra layer of inequity in the access to services, which was also exacerbated during the pandemic. Virtual platforms have become essential during the COVID-19 pandemic; it has become a solution through which children can play and interact with other peers [14]. Although the Statistics Canada report showed that approximately 70% of parents were concerned with the amount of screen time experienced by their child, technology, when accessible and available, allowed children to maintain their social, physical, emotional, intellectual, and spiritual well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic [19].

Practical Implications

The continual offering of online leisure opportunities by service providers and organizations could help facilitate leisure participation of children with disabilities. The Jooay app will indeed continue to list online leisure opportunities. Furthermore, future health measures and policies should proactively consider the potential effects of those measures on marginalized groups such as children of the disability community by involving youth with disabilities and their families in the development and implementation of those measures and include equity and access considerations in the development of both emergency and continuous provision of services.

The combined use of mHealth solutions such as the Jooay app and other online platforms that present opportunities of essential activities such as education and leisure, provide an interesting future model to consider in the promotion of health, social inclusion, and equity. The provision of online resources for children was made an essential matter during the pandemic, accelerating the mitigation of digital access issues that persisted for many decades [27]. This study presents the reactions and habits of stakeholders in the childhood disability community, including families of children with disabilities, following a major health emergency and subsequent measures. It offers insight into how health measures and policy can affect their engagement with an online platform and how that engagement can change with the provision of online leisure opportunities. The study highlights the necessity of including marginalized groups, such as the disability community, and children and youth in the development of new solutions during emergency responses and beyond [28]. We can also understand that families do use mobile apps to find relevant information for services for their children, and therefore, this is a resource that should be further explored to decrease barriers to participation in health promotion initiatives.

Limitations

This study presents the active engagement of Jooay, a free mobile and web-based app that helps children with disabilities and their families locate leisure opportunities that are inclusive and accessible in the communities where they live [17]. This noncommercial app has had exclusively word of mouth dissemination, and the data in the app is crowdsourced and may not be representative of leisure participation patterns both prior to and during the pandemic. The engagement does not directly translate into participation of the child with disability and does not determine if the child did indeed participate in a specific activity. However, access to information about leisure activities has been found to be a facilitator to participation [1]. The study also does not take into consideration the increase in the overall number of users over time, which may have an influence on the number of active users.

Comparison With Prior Work

No prior work that is similar to this study has been conducted in the literature. However, the literature does show that the COVID-19 pandemic has caused an abrupt change worldwide while significantly affecting the lives of children with disabilities [29]. A recent sentiment analysis conducted by Boon-Itt and Skunkan [30] using Twitter data showed an overall negative emotion toward COVID-19, with fear as the most negative sentiment expressed [30]. Despite the scarce literature on the use of online/virtual environments for leisure activities for children with disabilities, the parent perspectives of pediatric telehealth during the pandemic, where therapeutic activities were provided on an online platform or by telephone, were discussed in a recent study [31]. Parents found that the greater need for management of technology and exacerbated feelings of isolation were disadvantages. However, many more advantages were reported, including emphasis on building relationships and rapport, less barriers when doing activities in the natural (home) environment, less travel, more time in the day to schedule other things, continuity of care, and decreased

stress about physical interaction during the pandemic [31]. The perceived advantages of telehealth may have also been realized with the increased engagement of the Jooay app once online activities were listed for consideration. Furthermore, a recent study by Rovetta and Bhagavathula [32] presenting the global infodemiology of COVID-19 during the pandemic showed that there is a growing number of people worldwide who are using online search engines like Google to acquire information surrounding COVID-19 and to also disseminate information related to COVID-19 using social media platforms like Instagram [32]. Online activity, engagement, and presence is something that is being observed, as the COVID-19 pandemic and its restrictions have limited the availability of other methods of communication and information transfer. Future research should study the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the actual participation of children with disabilities in leisure activities. This should include a focus on the benefits and challenges of online leisure activities on the participation of children with disabilities.

Conclusion

The global COVID-19 pandemic has led to restrictions and closures in local communities, including leisure activities that are important for child health. User engagement of Jooay, a free mobile and web-based app listing adapted and inclusive leisure opportunities for children with disabilities, decreased during the pandemic. However, the subsequent listing of online activities on the app had a strong positive correlation with the gradual increase in engagement of the Jooay app once a large number of online activities appropriate for children with disabilities were added. The Jooay app has the potential to be a medium through which children with disabilities and their families can readily access information and resources related to online leisure activities in which children can participate. The provision of online leisure opportunities during the pandemic could lead to increased participation, which is essential and beneficial for the physical and mental well-being of children with disabilities and their families.

Conflicts of Interest

KS and AM have developed the Jooay App; however, there is no monetary gain associated with the use of the App.

References

- Shikako-Thomas K, Kolehmainen N, Ketelaar M, Bult M, Law M. Promoting leisure participation as part of health and well-being in children and youth with cerebral palsy. J Child Neurol 2014 Aug;29(8):1125-1133. [doi: 10.1177/0883073814533422] [Medline: 24907136]
- Dahan-Oliel N, Shikako-Thomas K, Majnemer A. Quality of life and leisure participation in children with neurodevelopmental disabilities: a thematic analysis of the literature. Qual Life Res 2012 Apr;21(3):427-439. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11136-011-0063-9</u>] [Medline: <u>22101860</u>]
- 3. Convention on the rights of the child. UNICEF. 1989. URL: <u>https://www.unicef.org/child-rights-convention</u> [accessed 2021-10-17]
- 4. Convention on the rights of persons with disabilities. United Nations. 2006. URL: <u>https://www.un.org/development/desa/</u> <u>disabilities/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities-2.</u> <u>html</u> [accessed 2021-10-17]
- Bedell G, Coster W, Law M, Liljenquist K, Kao Y, Teplicky R, et al. Community participation, supports, and barriers of school-age children with and without disabilities. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2013 Feb;94(2):315-323. [doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2012.09.024] [Medline: 23044364]

- Law M, Anaby D, DeMatteo C, Hanna S. Participation patterns of children with acquired brain injury. Brain Inj 2011;25(6):587-595. [doi: <u>10.3109/02699052.2011.572945</u>] [Medline: <u>21534736</u>]
- Askari S, Anaby D, Bergthorson M, Majnemer A, Elsabbagh M, Zwaigenbaum L. Participation of children and youth with autism spectrum disorder: a scoping review. Rev Autism Developmental Disord 2014 Nov 5;2(1):103-114. [doi: 10.1007/s40489-014-0040-7]
- Zeidan J, Joseph L, Camden C, Shevell M, Oskoui M, Lamotte P, et al. Look around me: environmental and socio-economic factors related to community participation for children with cerebral palsy in Québec. Phys Occup Ther Pediatr 2021;41(4):429-446. [doi: 10.1080/01942638.2020.1867693] [Medline: 33487079]
- Bult M, Verschuren O, Jongmans M, Lindeman E, Ketelaar M. What influences participation in leisure activities of children and youth with physical disabilities? A systematic review. Res Dev Disabil 2011;32(5):1521-1529. [doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2011.01.045] [Medline: 21388783]
- Shikako-Thomas K, Shevell M, Schmitz N, Lach L, Law M, Poulin C, QUALA Group. Determinants of participation in leisure activities among adolescents with cerebral palsy. Res Dev Disabil 2013 Sep;34(9):2621-2634. [doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2013.05.013] [Medline: 23751302]
- 11. WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19 11 March 2020. World Health Organization. 2020. URL: https://www.who.int/director-general/speeches/detail/
- who-director-general-s-opening-remarks-at-the-media-briefing-on-covid-19---11-march-2020 [accessed 2021-10-17]
 12. COVID-19: prevention and risks. Canada.ca. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/diseases/</u>2019-novel-coronavirus-infection/prevention-risks.html [accessed 2021-10-17]
- Theis N, Campbell N, De Leeuw J, Owen M, Schenke KC. The effects of COVID-19 restrictions on physical activity and mental health of children and young adults with physical and/or intellectual disabilities. Disabil Health J 2021 Jul;14(3):101064 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2021.101064] [Medline: 33549499]
- 14. Goldschmidt K. The COVID-19 pandemic: technology use to support the wellbeing of children. J Pediatr Nurs 2020;53:88-90 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2020.04.013] [Medline: 32317129]
- 15. Vogel L, Eggertson L. COVID-19: a timeline of Canada's first-wave response. CMAJ News. 2020. URL: <u>https://cmajnews.com/2020/06/12/coronavirus-1095847/</u> [accessed 2021-10-17]
- 16. von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gøtzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP, STROBE Initiative. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. Bull World Health Organ 2007 Nov;85(11):867-872 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2471/blt.07.045120] [Medline: 18038077]
- 17. About us. Jooay.com. 2021. URL: https://jooay.com/about-us/ [accessed 2022-02-17]
- 18. Active users. Google Help. 2021. URL: <u>https://support.google.com/analytics/answer/6171863?hl=en#zippy=%2Cin-this-article</u> [accessed 2021-10-17]
- 19. Arim R, Findlay L, Kohen D. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on Canadian families of children with disabilities. Statistics Canada. 2020. URL: <u>https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/45-28-0001/2020001/article/00066-eng.htm</u> [accessed 2021-10-17]
- 20. COVID-19 intervention timeline in Canada. Canadian Institute for Health Information. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.cihi.ca/en/covid-19-intervention-timeline-in-canada</u> [accessed 2021-10-17]
- 21. Canada's health care system. Canada.ca. 2019. URL: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/health-care-system/</u> reports-publications/health-care-system/canada.html#a1 [accessed 2021-10-16]
- 22. Schiariti V. The human rights of children with disabilities during health emergencies: the challenge of COVID-19. Dev Med Child Neurol 2020 Jun;62(6):661. [doi: 10.1111/dmcn.14526] [Medline: 32227474]
- 23. COVID-19 and the rights of persons with disabilities: guidance. United Nations. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.ohchr.org/</u> <u>Documents/Issues/Disability/COVID-19 and The Rights of Persons with Disabilities.pdf</u> [accessed 2021-10-17]
- 24. COVID-19 and people with disabilities in Canada. Canada.ca. 2021. URL: <u>https://www.canada.ca/en/public-health/services/</u> <u>diseases/2019-novel-coronavirus-infection/guidance-documents/people-with-disabilities.html</u> [accessed 2021-10-16]
- 25. Asbury K, Fox L, Deniz E, Code A, Toseeb U. How is COVID-19 affecting the mental health of children with special educational needs and disabilities and their families? J Autism Dev Disord 2021 May;51(5):1772-1780 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s10803-020-04577-2] [Medline: 32737668]
- 26. Tandon R. The COVID-19 pandemic, personal reflections on editorial responsibility. Asian J Psychiatr 2020 Apr;50:102100 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102100] [Medline: 32354694]
- 27. Alexiou G. Covid reminds us that web accessibility helps all users, not just the disabled. Forbes. 2020. URL: <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/gusalexiou/2020/08/23/covid-reminds-us-that-web-accessibility-helps-all-users-not-just-the-disabled/</u>?sh=7300558e6df1 [accessed 2021-10-15]
- Pineda VS, Corburn J. Disability, urban health equity, and the coronavirus pandemic: promoting cities for all. J Urban Health 2020 Jun;97(3):336-341 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11524-020-00437-7] [Medline: 32328866]
- 29. Cacioppo M, Bouvier S, Bailly R, Houx L, Lempereur M, Mensah-Gourmel J, ECHO Group. Emerging health challenges for children with physical disabilities and their parents during the COVID-19 pandemic: The ECHO French survey. Ann Phys Rehabil Med 2021 May;64(3):101429 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.rehab.2020.08.001] [Medline: 32818674]

- Boon-Itt S, Skunkan Y. Public perception of the COVID-19 pandemic on Twitter: sentiment analysis and topic modeling study. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2020 Nov 11;6(4):e21978 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/21978] [Medline: 33108310]
- Camden C, Silva M. Pediatric teleheath: opportunities created by the COVID-19 and suggestions to sustain its use to support families of children with disabilities. Phys Occup Ther Pediatr 2021;41(1):1-17. [doi: 10.1080/01942638.2020.1825032] [Medline: 33023352]
- Rovetta A, Bhagavathula AS. Global infodemiology of COVID-19: analysis of Google web searches and Instagram hashtags. J Med Internet Res 2020 Aug 25;22(8):e20673 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/20673] [Medline: 32748790]

Abbreviations

BC: British ColumbiamHealth: mobile healthSTROBE: Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology StatementWHO: World Health Organization

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 20.07.21; peer-reviewed by M Lotto, M Fritze; comments to author 23.09.21; revised version received 31.10.21; accepted 17.12.21; published 25.02.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Yoo PY, Movahed M, Rue I, Santos CDD, Majnemer A, Shikako K Changes in Use of a Leisure Activity Mobile App for Children With Disabilities During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Retrospective Study JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e32274 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32274 doi:10.2196/32274 PMID:35100129

©Paul Yejong Yoo, Mehrnoosh Movahed, Ishana Rue, Carlos Denner Dos Santos, Annette Majnemer, Keiko Shikako. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 25.02.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Original Paper

Evidence-Based Behavioral Strategies in Smartphone Apps for Children's Sleep: Content Analysis

Stacey L Simon¹, PhD; Jill L Kaar¹, PhD; Ishaah Talker¹, BSc; Jennifer Reich², PhD

¹Department of Pediatrics, University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus, Aurora, CO, United States ²Department of Sociology, University of Colorado Denver, Denver, CO, United States

Corresponding Author: Stacey L Simon, PhD Department of Pediatrics University of Colorado Anschutz Medical Campus 13123 E 16th Ave Box B395 Aurora, CO, 80045 United States Phone: 1 720 777 5681 Email: stacey.simon@childrenscolorado.org

Abstract

Background: Empirically supported treatments for pediatric sleep problems exist, but many families turn to other sources for help with their children's sleep, such as smartphone apps. Sleep apps are easy for families to access, but little evidence exists regarding the validity of the services and information provided in the developer descriptions of the apps.

Objective: The goal of this study was to examine the features and claims of developer descriptions of sleep apps for children.

Methods: A search of the Apple iTunes store and Google Play was conducted using the terms "kids sleep," "child sleep," and "baby sleep." Data on the type of app, price, user rating, and number of users were collected. Apps were analyzed in comparison with evidence-based behavioral strategies and were thematically coded on the basis of claims provided in developer descriptions.

Results: A total of 83 app descriptions were examined, of which only 2 (2.4%) offered sleep improvement strategies. The majority were sound and light apps (78%) and 19% were bedtime games or stories. Only 18 of 83 (21.6%) apps were identified as containing empirically supported behavioral sleep strategies. Despite this, many apps asserted claims that they will help children "fall asleep instantly," "cry less and sleep better," or improve child development.

Conclusions: A large variety of sleep apps exist for use among children, but few include evidence-based behavioral strategies according to the developer descriptions of the apps. Addressing sleep difficulties in children is important to promote physical, cognitive, and emotional development. Collaboration between sleep researchers and technology developers may be beneficial for creating evidence-supported apps to help with children's sleep in the future.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e32129) doi:10.2196/32129

KEYWORDS

pediatrics; technology; smartphones; health behavior; sleep applications; children; mobile health; mHealth; smartphone applications; health applications; sleep disorders; sleep problems; developer descriptions; apps

Introduction

Sleep problems in young children are common and associated with significant negative behavioral and physical consequences for children as well as increased sleep disruption and stress for their parents [1]. Approximately 20%-30% of infants, toddlers, and children have significant difficulties with falling asleep and night wakings, and pediatric sleep difficulties are among the most common complaints reported by parents to pediatricians

[2,3]. Empirically supported treatments for pediatric sleep problems exist, but many families face barriers in seeking appropriate care, such as difficulty accessing a provider with specialized sleep training [4,5]. In particular, pediatricians may lack knowledge about appropriate sleep interventions for children [5]. Hence, many parents may turn to other sources for help with their children's sleep, including technological strategies such as smartphone apps.

While no studies have previously examined sleep apps for children, 2 studies have examined sleep apps for adults. One study examined behavioral constructs contained within the apps to evaluate how well these apps are grounded in behavioral theory, which has a strong evidence base for sleep interventions [6]. Grigsby-Toussaint et al [6] evaluated 35 sleep apps for adults and found that only 34% incorporated evidence-based behavioral constructs. The most common behavioral constructs were realistic goal setting, time management, and self-monitoring. Authors also found a positive but nonsignificant association between higher user rating of the app and number of behavioral constructs. Another study examined empirical evidence contained within the developer descriptions of sleep apps targeted to adults from Google Play and found that only 33% of sleep apps contained empirical evidence to support claims made in the app descriptions [7]. The most common empirical evidence provided was information on how sleep is affected by drugs and alcohol (24%), food (13%), daily activities (13%), and stress (13%). User ratings were higher for the apps containing at least one source of empirical information compared to those without empirical information. However, user ratings were also higher for apps that contained a "sleep tip" function, regardless of whether these tips were based on empirical evidence. Thus, sleep apps available on the market may not be grounded in behavioral constructs or contain evidence-based



information, but this has not yet been examined for apps aimed at children.

Sleep apps are easy for families to access given today's high rates of smart phone usage and mobile internet availability [8], but little evidence exists about the sleep apps available for children, or the validity of the services and information provided in the developer description of the apps. Because families may search for these apps independently (eg, without support of a health care professional), it is essential that the app descriptions contain accurate information. Thus, the goal of this study was to (1) examine the number and characteristics of sleep apps for children and (2) analyze the purported features and claims in the developer description of these apps. We hypothesized that a large number of sleep apps for children would exist, but that few would describe evidence-based behavioral strategies.

Methods

An English language search of the Apple iTunes store and Google Play was conducted in December 2019, using the terms "kids sleep," "child sleep," and "baby sleep." A total of 649 apps were initially identified. Apps were excluded if they were not specifically for children (n=165) or not for sleep (n=156). To focus analysis on apps that are actually used by parents, apps that had <100,000 downloads (n=245) were also excluded from the analysis. Figure 1 shows a flow chart of the app search.



Data on the type of app, price, user rating, and number of users were collected. The developer descriptions of the apps were analyzed in terms of comparison to evidence-based behavioral strategies, using a checklist of evidence-based behavioral strategies derived from the ABC's of SLEEPING pediatric sleep

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32129
```

RenderX

recommendations [9]. Recommendations that received a rating of Strong or Moderate support, defined as support for the recommendation from at least 3 studies from well-designed studies without clearly contradicting findings, were included [9]. Inclusion of each strategy within the app description was

coded as 0 (not present) or 1 (present). The specific strategies included are outlined in Table 1. Additionally, descriptions were thematically coded to identify patterns in these claims [10]. Codes were generated by reading the descriptions and generating

a list of claims made by app developers. Data were coded by author IT and cross-checked by first author SLS. If there was a discrepancy in the coded data, all authors discussed and agreed upon the final data.

Table 1.	Evidence-based	behavioral	strategies	described	in pediat	ric sleep	apps ^a .
----------	----------------	------------	------------	-----------	-----------	-----------	---------------------

Behavioral strategies	Apps, n (%)	App name	Example description
Sufficient sleep opportunity for age	1 (1)	• Huckleberry: Baby & Child Tracker ^b	"Tailored sleep schedules taking into ac- count your child's sleep needs"
Bedtime no later than 9 PM	0 (0)	N/A ^c	N/A
Consistent sleep schedule	2 (2)	 Huckleberry: Baby & Child Tracker^b JOHNSON'S BEDTIME Baby Sleep 	"Tracks your child's day-to-day schedule to assist with setting bed and wake times"
Bedtime routines	4 (5)	 Goodnight My Baby Huckleberry: Baby & Child Tracker JOHNSON'S BEDTIME Baby Sleep^b Moshi Twilight Sleep Stories: Kids Bedtime App 	"Promotes a 3-step nighttime routine to help baby fall asleep and sleep through night"
Limited access to electronics dur- ing and after bedtime	0 (0)	N/A	N/A
Positivity and relaxation to help transition to sleep	16 (19)	 Baby Lullabies Baby Mozart Effect Baby Sleep Baby Sleep Lullabies Baby Sleep Lullaby Music Box Baby Sleep Music 2019 Baby Sleep Sounds White Noise Baby Sleep: White Noise Baby Sleeping Music Baby Songs (Bipfun) JOHNSON'S BEDTIME Lullaby for Babies Lullaby for babies (desenvdroid) Moshi Twilight Sleep Stories: Kids Bedtime App^b Music Box to sleep Sleeptot: Baby White noise 	"Audio plays to calm children prior to bed- time to prepare them to fall asleep"
Independent sleep skill develop- ment	0 (0)	N/A	N/A
Emotional needs met during the day	0 (0)	N/A	N/A

^aA total of 18 out of 83 (21%) sleep apps had at least one strategy.

^bApp from which the example description was taken.

^cN/A: not applicable.

Results

Results Overview

A total of 83 app descriptions were examined. Only 2% (2/83) specifically claimed to offer sleep improvement strategies, while the majority (78%, 65/83) were white noise or music apps, and

19% (16/83) were bedtime games or stories. The apps were highly rated (average 4.4; range 1-5, with 5 being the most favorable rating) and most were free (65%, 54/83); the price of paid apps ranged from US \$0.99-\$239.99 (annual subscription). Table 2 contains a complete list of the characteristics of all of the apps examined.



Table 2. Characteristics of sleep apps for children.

App name	Price (US \$)	Rating	Users, n	Themes	Behavioral strategies
Apps with sleep improvement strategies					
Huckleberry: Baby & Child Tracker, Sleep Experts	119.99	4.80	>100,000	Good sleep habits	Sleep opportunity, Sleep Schedule, and routines
JOHNSON'S BEDTIME Baby Sleep	0.00	3.70	>100,000	Help fall asleep and good sleep habits	Sleep schedule, routines, and relaxation
White noise or music apps					
Baby Lullabies	0.00	4.50	>100,000	Stop crying	Relaxation
Baby Lullaby Songs to Sleep ^a	0.00	4.00	>500,000	Help falling asleep and good sleep habits	None
Baby Lyrics & Songs	2.99	4.50	>500,000	Help falling asleep	None
Baby Mozart Effect ^b	0.00	4.40	>100,000	Well-being and help falling asleep	Relaxation
Baby Night Light: Instant Sleep Aids & White Noises ^b	3.49	4.40	>1,000,000	None	None
Baby Sleep ^b	0.00	4.70	>500,000	Well-being and help falling asleep	Relaxation
Baby Sleep Instant ^b	1.00	3.80	>100,000	Stop crying	None
Baby Sleep Lullabies ^a	0.00	4.10	>1,000,000	Help falling asleep	Relaxation
Baby Sleep Lullaby Music Box	5.99	4.70	>500,000	Well-being	Relaxation
Baby Sleep music (leopfinpamcev) ^b	0.00	4.00	>100,000	Help falling asleep	None
Baby Sleep Music 2019 ^b	0.00	4.40	>500,000	Stop crying	Relaxation
Baby Sleep Sounds	0.00	4.80	>500,000	Help falling asleep	None
Baby Sleep Sounds- Sleep Sounds for Baby ^b	0.00	4.30	>100,000	None	None
Baby Sleep Sounds White Noise	0.99	4.10	>500,000	Help falling asleep	Relaxation
Baby Sleep: White Noise	3.99	4.80	>1,000,000	Stop crying	Relaxation
Baby Sleep: White Noise Lullabies for Newborns ^b	0.00	4.70	>1,000,000	Help falling asleep and trusted by parents	None
Baby Sleeping Music ^b	0.00	4.70	>100,000	Well-being and help falling asleep	Relaxation
Baby Sleeping Music (Free) ^b	0.00	4.10	>500,000	Help falling asleep	None
Baby Songs ^b	0.00	4.50	>1,000,000	Help falling asleep and good sleep habits	None
Baby Songs & Lullaby: Sounds for Bedtime & Naptime ^b	0.99-3.59	3.80	>100,000	None	None
Baby Songs (Bipfun)	3.59	3.80	>100,000	Well-being and help falling asleep	Relaxation
Baby Stop Crying and Sleep ^b	0.00	3.90	>500,000	None	None
Bedtime Music Lullaby Songs ^b	5.99	4.70	>100,000	None	None
Brahm's Lullaby for Babies ^b	0.00	4.70	>100,000	None	None
Calming music for kids to go to sleep ^b	0.00	4.20	>1,000,000	Well-being and help falling	None
Calms Baby with Womb Sound ^b	0.00	4.20	>100,000	None	None
Children Sleep Songs ^b	0.00	4.10	>1,000,000	None	None
Classical Music for Baby ^b	9.99	4.80	>100,000	None	None

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32129

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022 | vol. 5 | iss. 1 |e32129 | p.371 (page number not for citation purposes)

Simon et al

App name	Price (US \$)	Rating	Users, n	Themes	Behavioral strategies
Colic Baby-Baby Sleeping Sound ^b	0.00	4.60	>100,000	Stop crying	None
Don't Cry My Baby (Lullaby)	0.00	4.60	>1,000,000	Stop crying, well-being, help falling asleep	None
Hair Dryer Sounds ^b	0.00	4.50	>100,000	Help falling asleep	None
Hatch Baby Rest	0.00 ^c	4.60	>100,000	None	None
iWhite Noise Baby Bedtime Sound ^b	0.00	4.40	>100,000	None	None
Kids Sleep Songs Free ^b	0.00	4.20	>1,000,000	None	None
Lullabies Relax & Sleep Baby ^b	3.99	4.70	>1,000,000	Help falling asleep	None
Lullabo: Lullaby for Babies ^b	3.99	4.80	>100,000	Help falling asleep	None
Lullaby for Babies (dream_studio) ^b	0.00	4.80	>1,000,000	Well-being and help falling asleep	Relaxation
Lullaby for babies (desenvdroid) ^b	0.00	4.80	>5,000,000	Well-being and help falling asleep	Relaxation
Lullaby for Babies (desenvemax) ^b	0.00	4.60	>100,000	Help falling asleep	None
Lullaby for Babies 2 ^b	0.00	4.80	>1,000,000	Help falling asleep	None
Lullaby for babies offline ^b	0.00	4.70	>100,000	Help falling asleep	None
Lullaby for Baby	7.99	4.70	>500,000	None	None
Lullaby Sleep Music for Babies ^b	0.00	4.60	>100,000	None	None
Lullaby Songs for Baby	9.99	4.60	>100,000	Help falling asleep	None
Lullaby Songs- Relax Music for Baby Sleep Light ^b	1.99	4.80	>100,000	None	None
Mozart Baby Sleep ^b	1.99	4.40	>100,000	Well-being	None
Music Box to sleep ^b	0.00	4.80	>1,000,000	Stop crying	Relaxation
Night Light	0.00	4.40	>500,000	Help falling asleep	None
Pinkfong Bedtime	9.99	4.40	>500,000	Help falling asleep	None
Sleep Baby Sleep	0.00	4.50	>100,000	Help falling asleep	None
Sleep Baby Sweet Dreams ^a	0.99	4.50	>100,000	Help falling asleep	None
Sleep Cute Baby Lullaby	0.99	4.50	>100,000	None	None
Sleeptot: Baby White Noise	28.99	4.50	>1,000,000	Well-being, help falling asleep, and trusted by par- ents	Relaxation
Sleepy Sounds	0.00	4.30	>1,000,000	Help falling asleep	None
Sound Sleeper	15.99	4.90	>100,000	Good sleep habits	None
Sound to Children Sleep	0.00	4.70	>1,000,000	Well-being, help falling asleep, and trusted by par- ents	None
Sounds for Baby Sleep Music ^b	0.00	4.70	>1,000,000	Help falling asleep	None
Sweet Dreams- Baby Songs ^b	0.00	3.90	>100,000	Help falling asleep	None
Sweet Lullabies ~Voice & Piano ^b	0.00	4.30	>100,000	None	None
White Noise & Deep Sleep Sounds- Fan & Baby Sleep ^b	19.99	4.50	>100,000	None	None
White Noise Baby	0.99	4.80	>1,000,000	Stop crying and well-being	None
White Noise: Baby Sleep Sounds	0.00	4.60	>100,000	Well-being	None

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32129

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022 | vol. 5 | iss. 1 |e32129 | p.372 (page number not for citation purposes)

App name		Price (US \$)	Rating	Users, n	Themes	Behavioral strategies
	White Noise Baby Sleep Sounds ^b	0.00	4.80	>1,000,000	Help falling asleep and trusted by parents	None
	White Noise for Baby ^b	0.00	4.80	>100,000	Well-being	None
	White Noise: Baby Sleep & Lullaby Songs Calm & Nap ^b	1.98	4.90	>100,000	None	None
Be	dtime games and story apps					
	Bedtime Stories for Children- Story Books to $read^b$	1.99-19.99	4.40	>100,000	None	None
	Bedtime Stories for Kids	2.49	4.30	>1,000,000	Well-being and help falling asleep	None
	Bedtime Stories Goodnight: short stories	0.00	3.90	>100,000	Good sleep habits	None
	Best Kids Stories: bedtime ^b	38.99	4.40	>1,000,000	None	None
	Children's Songs Lullabies ^b	5.99	4.80	>100,000	None	None
	Good Night Hippo	1.99	4.40	>1,000,000	None	None
	Goodnight Caillou	6.99	4.10	>5,000,000	None	None
	Goodnight, My Baby ^b	0.00	4.10	>1,000,000	Well-being and good sleep habits	Routines
	Kids Bedtime Stories- Fairy Tales ^b	3.49	4.10	>100,000	None	None
	Little Stories: Read Bedtime Story Books For Kids	13.99	4.30	>100,000	Well-being	None
	Lullabies and Bedtime Stories ^b	0.00	3.80	>100,000	None	None
	Masha and the bear: good night	5.49	3.70	>5,000,000	None	None
	Moshi Twilight Sleep Stories: Kids Bedtime App	239.99	4.00	>500,000	Help falling asleep and trusted by parents	Routines and relaxation
	Nighty Night- Bedtime Story	1.99	4.60	>500,000	None	None
	Storybook- Bedtime Stories & Baby Sleep Massage	5.99-47.99	2.70	>100,000	None	None
	Teddy Bears Bedtime Stories	3.49	4.50	>500,000	Help falling asleep	None

^aOnly available on the Apple App store.

^bOnly available on the Google Play store.

^cRequires purchase of device.

Types of Apps

Sleep Improvement Strategy Apps

Sleep improvement strategies apps (n=2) are both designed for parents of young children and contain parenting advice alongside sleep logs that allow users to track their children's sleep patterns. Both of the sleep improvement apps have recommendations from sleep experts and guided steps for how to help children fall asleep. The *Huckleberry: Baby & Child Tracker, Sleep Experts* app is described as offering "an all-star team of sleep experts, personalized analysis and personalized step-by-step guidance of a traditional sleep consultant with the convenience of an app." The sleep experts reportedly include nurse practitioners, certified sleep consultants, and board-certified behavioral therapists. For a fee, users can log their children's sleep schedule and receive an analysis and recommendations. The *JOHNSON'S BEDTIME Baby Sleep* app states that it

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32129

RenderX

"answers your sleep related questions, gives advice and helps track and learn your baby's sleep habits." It recommends a 3-step bedtime routine consisting of bath, massage, and quiet time, which states has been tested in infants 7 months of age and older for at least 1 week of use. While not cited in the description of the app, the *JOHNSON'S BEDTIME* app indeed has published data supporting these claims: a trial of over 400 infants (mean age 8.3 months) found that parents reported increased sleep duration and improved sleep quality after use of the app [11].

White Noise or Music Apps

White noise or music apps (n=65) feature music or various sounds that are intended to be played during the night to help children sleep better. Most of the apps appear targeted for use with infants, with 45 of 83 (69%) containing the word "baby" in the app name. Two of the apps (3%) specify that they have timers to shut off the sounds after a predetermined time, while

5 apps (8%) have the ability to play sounds continuously; the remainder did not specify the duration or timing features of the sounds. In addition to playing music and sounds, the *Baby Night Light – Sleep Aid* app features sound detection such that if the app hears noises in the room, it will automatically turn on a nightlight to "soothe and put your child to sleep again when a baby wakes up." In contrast, the *White Noise Baby* app features "looped ambient sounds and music," allowing it to be played and maintained the entire night. These apps do not offer evidence of efficacy.

Bedtime Games or Story Apps

The apps featuring games and stories (n=16) feature animals or other creatures going through a bedtime routine, becoming sleepy, and falling asleep, accompanied by music. All apps encourage parents to use the app with their toddler, preschool, or school-aged child as part of a nightly routine. For example, the *Nighty Night!* app is described as a "daily go-to-sleep ritual with cute animals, sweet lullaby music, and great narration." Some apps indicate they should be used simultaneously while children attempt to fall asleep, such as the *Sweet Dreams: Good Night Books* app which states, "[the animals] all fall asleep and so will do [*sic*] your little one at the end of the app." Only one app, *Moshi Twilight Sleep Stories: Kids Bedtime App*, utilized audio-only stories, meditations, music and sounds to help "settle and soothe kids into peaceful and restful sleep."

Themes From Content Analysis

Several themes emerged from the descriptions of the apps, including the common claim that the app has the ability to help children fall asleep quickly, improve child well-being and development, stop children from crying, help children develop good sleeping habits, and are trusted by parents.

Helps Children Fall Asleep

Many of the apps purported to be able to help children fall asleep quickly and easily (38/83, 46%). The *Sleep Baby Sweet Dreams* app stated, "the app will help you put your infant children to sleep quickly and calmly," while the *Lullaby for Baby* app stated "children fall asleep immediately" with its use. None of the app descriptions explained the mechanisms by which the app will accomplish this nor cited evidence for this statement.

Improve Well-being and Development

Another theme was that use of the app would improve the well-being or development of children (18/83, 22%). *Mozart Baby Sleep* stated it will help babies "brain development, memory stimulation, and positive emotions." The *Little Stories: Read Bedtime Story Books for Kids* app stated, "these stories have a positive impact on the development of your child." Similarly, the *Baby Mozart Effect* app claimed that it "quickly helps calm your baby, reduces the stress of new life, enhances auditory and emotional awareness, induces relaxation and sleep." However, none of these claims of supporting well-being and development were backed with evidence.

Stop Crying

One common theme was a claim that the app can stop children from crying at bedtime or at night (8/83, 9%). The *White Noise Baby* app stated that it will "help your baby relax, stop crying,

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32129
```

and sleep better." Similarly, *Baby Lullabies* stated that its "natural white noise and soothing sounds helps babies cry less and sleep better." However, none of the apps making this statement addressed evidence-based behavioral management strategies to help children learn self-soothing strategies to fall asleep independently.

Develop Good Sleeping Habits

One theme of the apps was that they could help children develop positive sleeping habits and routines, often through use of games, stories, or songs (7/83, 8%). The Goodnight, My Baby app "let[s] your children develop a good sleeping habit when they encourage their friends to do the same." The Baby Songs music app states, "with these wonderful tunes, your baby will establish a healthy bedtime routine!" Most of the apps did not provide support or describe how the app would accomplish sleep routine development. However, both the Huckleberry: Baby & Child Tracker, Sleep Experts app and the JOHNSON'S BEDTIME Baby Sleep app reported empirical support and use of behavioral strategies to improve child sleep habits. The Huckleberry app stated users can "access guidance from pediatric sleep experts, and daily personalized sleep plans for your child." The JOHNSON'S app includes a "3-step nighttime routine, the only one that has been clinically proven to help baby fall asleep faster and sleep through the night better."

Trusted by Parents

Several apps implied that they should be used because they are endorsed by parents (5/83, 6%). The *White Noise Baby Sleep Sounds* app stated it has been "proven to be effective by generations of parents." The *Moshi Twilight Sleep Stories: Kids Bedtime App* claims that "97% of parents surveyed agree it helps get their kids to sleep quicker, 95% say makes bedtime less stressful." No information on survey methodology or citations were provided for these claims.

Behavioral Strategies

In total, 18 (21.6%) apps were found to contain at least one evidence-based behavioral sleep strategy, most commonly relaxation (16/83, 19.3%). Table 1 includes the behavioral strategies described in the apps. None of the descriptions of the apps explicitly included strategies such as bedtime no later than 9 PM, limiting access to electronics during and after bedtime, independent sleep skill development, or meeting emotional needs during the day. Three of the apps included more than one behavioral strategy: the JOHNSON'S BEDTIME Baby Sleep app included both bedtime routines and a consistent sleep scheduling, the Moshi Twilight Sleep Stories: Kids Bedtime App included relaxation and bedtime routines, while the Huckleberry: Baby & Child Tracker, Sleep Experts app included four strategies (relaxation, bedtime routines, consistent sleep scheduling, and sufficient sleep opportunity for age). The JOHNSON'S BEDTIME Baby Sleep app is the only app found to have supportive evidence from a nonrandomized real-world effectiveness trial [11].

Discussion

Principal Findings

Over 80 sleep apps were analyzed, which were created for the purpose of improving a child's sleep, each downloaded more than 100,000 times. Most of these are apps that purport to offer white noise or soothing music but do not actually address sleep habits specifically. Several themes emerged from the developer descriptions of the apps, including the ability to help children fall asleep quickly, improve well-being and development, stop children from crying, help develop good sleeping habits, and that the apps are trusted by parents. The majority of apps did not include evidence-based behavioral strategies for sleep in their description or claims. The apps that did include behavioral strategies mentioned the use of relaxation, consistent sleep scheduling, bedtime routines, and allowing sufficient sleep opportunity for age.

Overall, our findings show that apps targeting sleep in pediatric populations were less likely to incorporate evidence-based behavioral strategies than sleep apps targeted to adult populations (only 21.6% vs 33%-34%) [6,7]. Our findings are consistent with a lack of evidence-based support in apps for other childhood difficulties, such as apps for infant feeding [12,13]. Of note, an app may have promoted one evidence-based strategy while simultaneously being in contradiction of another; for example, many of the white noise or music apps and bedtime games or stories apps stated they could be used for relaxation at bedtime, and they appeared to be intended for use visually during the bedtime routine (in opposition to the recommendation to limit electronics during or after bedtime) [9,14]. Using an app while children are falling asleep could create a sleep onset association such that children may then not be able to fall asleep independently without utilizing electronic devices [2].

However, 3 apps contained more than one evidence-based behavioral sleep strategy. As our analysis was based solely on the app description, it is possible that the content within the app may have indicated even more of these strategies. These findings suggest that apps can be developed, which are in line with the evidence base for pediatric sleep. Unfortunately, the majority of currently available sleep apps may not be a good source of evidence-based behavioral strategies for pediatric sleep problems. Moreover, the *JOHNSON'S BEDTIME Baby Sleep* app was the only app with support from a real-world effectiveness trial [11]. Future research examining the efficacy and effectiveness of sleep apps for pediatric sleep problems is recommended.

Strengths and Limitations

Sleep apps targeted at improving children's sleep have room for improvement regarding input from the scientific and clinical community. To our knowledge, this is the first review of such apps, and although a systematic approach was followed to assess each apps content, this analysis does have limitations. The current examination was for apps found with the search terms "kids sleep," "child sleep," and "baby sleep," but future analysis of apps aimed specifically at adolescents is important owing to the ubiquitous use of technology and the high risk for insufficient and delayed sleep in that age range. Our criteria excluding apps with <100,000 downloads may have resulted in missing newer apps that may possibly contain more evidence-based behavioral sleep strategies. Moreover, previous studies that examined sleep apps in adults excluded relaxing music apps, while we chose to include sound or music apps, and, in fact, they made up the majority of the apps examined. Our study did not include apps intended for general use, but we felt it was important to include sound or music apps if they indicated that they were intended to improve children's sleep and were specifically for bedtime or nighttime purposes. Finally, examination of the developer-provided app description is important since this is information parents may use to help choose which app to use for their children. However, future research is warranted to more comprehensively evaluate children's sleep apps using an empirically supported rating tools such as the Mobile App Rating Scale [8] and by downloading and user testing the specific features of each app.

Conclusions

In summary, addressing sleep difficulties in children is important to promote physical, cognitive, and emotional development [1]. Brief behavioral interventions based on learning principles have demonstrated efficacy for children with sleep difficulties [4]. However, families face barriers in accessing evidence-based care owing to a shortage of pediatric sleep specialists and lack of training and knowledge of sleep treatments among non–sleep specialist health professionals [5]. A large variety of sleep apps aimed for use with children exist; yet, the descriptions for each app often do not include evidence-based behavioral sleep strategies. Collaboration between sleep researchers and technology developers may be beneficial for the creation of evidence-supported apps to help with children's sleep in the future. Additionally, clinicians can support families in selecting apps that align with the evidence base for pediatric sleep.

Acknowledgments

This study was supported by National Institutes of Health's National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases grant (K23DK117021).

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

	ht
XSL•	FO
Rend	erX

- 1. Byars KC, Yolton K, Rausch J, Lanphear B, Beebe DW. Prevalence, patterns, and persistence of sleep problems in the first 3 years of life. Pediatrics 2012 Feb;129(2):e276-e284 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-0372] [Medline: 22218837]
- 2. Honaker SM, Meltzer LJ. Bedtime problems and night wakings in young children: an update of the evidence. Paediatr Respir Rev 2014 Dec;15(4):333-339. [doi: 10.1016/j.prrv.2014.04.011] [Medline: 24908611]
- 3. Meltzer LJ, Johnson C, Crosette J, Ramos M, Mindell JA. Prevalence of diagnosed sleep disorders in pediatric primary care practices. Pediatrics 2010 Jun;125(6):e1410-e1418 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-2725] [Medline: 20457689]
- 4. Meltzer LJ, Mindell JA. Systematic review and meta-analysis of behavioral interventions for pediatric insomnia. J Pediatr Psychol 2014 Sep;39(8):932-948. [doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsu041] [Medline: 24947271]
- Boerner KE, Coulombe JA, Corkum P. Barriers and facilitators of evidence-based practice in pediatric behavioral sleep care: qualitative analysis of the perspectives of health professionals. Behav Sleep Med 2015;13(1):36-51. [doi: 10.1080/15402002.2013.838766] [Medline: 24364693]
- Grigsby-Toussaint DS, Shin JC, Reeves DM, Beattie A, Auguste E, Jean-Louis G. Sleep apps and behavioral constructs: A content analysis. Prev Med Rep 2017 Jun;6:126-129 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.1016/j.pmedr.2017.02.018</u>] [Medline: <u>28316907</u>]
- Lee-Tobin PA, Ogeil RP, Savic M, Lubman DI. Rate My Sleep: Examining the Information, Function, and Basis in Empirical Evidence Within Sleep Applications for Mobile Devices. J Clin Sleep Med 2017 Nov 15;13(11):1349-1354 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5664/jcsm.6814] [Medline: 28992831]
- Stoyanov SR, Hides L, Kavanagh DJ, Zelenko O, Tjondronegoro D, Mani M. Mobile app rating scale: a new tool for assessing the quality of health mobile apps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Mar 11;3(1):e27 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3422] [Medline: 25760773]
- 9. Allen SL, Howlett MD, Coulombe JA, Corkum PV. ABCs of SLEEPING: A review of the evidence behind pediatric sleep practice recommendations. Sleep Med Rev 2016 Oct;29:1-14. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.smrv.2015.08.006</u>] [Medline: <u>26551999</u>]
- 10. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol 2006 Jan;3(2):77-101. [doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa]
- Leichman ES, Gould RA, Williamson AA, Walters RM, Mindell JA. Effectiveness of an mHealth Intervention for Infant Sleep Disturbances. Behav Ther 2020 Jul;51(4):548-558 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.beth.2019.12.011] [Medline: 32586429]
- 12. Taki S, Campbell KJ, Russell CG, Elliott R, Laws R, Denney-Wilson E. Infant Feeding Websites and Apps: A Systematic Assessment of Quality and Content. Interact J Med Res 2015 Sep 29;4(3):e18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/ijmr.4323] [Medline: 26420339]
- Zhao J, Freeman B, Li M. How Do Infant Feeding Apps in China Measure Up? A Content Quality Assessment. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2017 Dec 06;5(12):e186 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.8764] [Medline: 29212627]
- 14. Akacem LD, Wright KP, LeBourgeois MK. Sensitivity of the circadian system to evening bright light in preschool-age children. Physiol Rep 2018 Mar;6(5):e13617 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.14814/phy2.13617] [Medline: 29504270]

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 15.07.21; peer-reviewed by J Huberty, M Connelly; comments to author 14.08.21; revised version received 17.01.22; accepted 19.01.22; published 03.03.22.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Simon SL, Kaar JL, Talker I, Reich J Evidence-Based Behavioral Strategies in Smartphone Apps for Children's Sleep: Content Analysis JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e32129 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e32129 doi:10.2196/32129 PMID:35238787

©Stacey L Simon, Jill L Kaar, Ishaah Talker, Jennifer Reich. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 03.03.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

Navigating the Online World of Lifestyle Health Information: Qualitative Study With Adolescents

Rebecca Raeside¹, BBiomedSc, MPH; Si Si Jia¹, BSc, MND; Julie Redfern^{1,2}, BSc, BAppSc, PhD; Stephanie R Partridge^{1,3}, BSc, PhD

¹Engagement and Co-Design Research Hub, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney, Westmead, Australia

²The George Institute for Global Health, University of New South Wales, Sydney, Australia

³Prevention Research Collaboration, Faculty of Medicine and Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, Australia

Corresponding Author:

Rebecca Raeside, BBiomedSc, MPH Engagement and Co-Design Research Hub Faculty of Medicine and Health University of Sydney Level 6, Block K Westmead Hospital Westmead, 2145 Australia Phone: 61 412961432 Email: rebecca.raeside@sydney.edu.au

Abstract

Background: Adolescence is a critical life stage characterized by an interplay of biological, social, and environmental factors. Such factors influence lifestyle health-related trajectories, including dietary behaviors, physical activity levels, body weight, and sleep. Generation Z (born 1995-2015) is the most internet-dependent and technologically savvy generation in history with increasing rates of smartphone ownership across high- and low-income countries. Gaps exist in understanding what online platforms adolescents are using and barriers and facilitators of these platforms to seek lifestyle health information.

Objective: We evaluated adolescents' perceptions on the use of contemporary digital platforms (websites, social media platforms, smartphone apps) to seek lifestyle heath information or advice.

Methods: Virtual focus groups were held via Zoom teleconference between July 2021 and August 2021. Eligible participants were 13 years to 18 years old, were living in Australia, and had searched for online lifestyle health information in the previous 3 months. For this study, lifestyle health information referred to key behaviors and risk factors for chronic disease, namely, diet, physical activity, weight management, and sleep. Participants were recruited through an existing database of research participants and networks of the research team. Focus groups were analyzed using the framework approach, in which data are systematically searched to recognize patterns in the data and manage, analyze, and identify themes. Focus group audio files were transcribed verbatim and independently coded by 2 researchers (RR, SSJ). Through an iterative, reflexive process, a final coding matrix was agreed on by all researchers and used to thematically analyze the data.

Results: We held 5 focus groups (n=32; mean age: 16.3 [SD 1.4] years; 18/32, 56% female; 13/32, 41% spoke language other than English at home). Thematic analysis revealed participants searched for information both actively (eg, on Google or YouTube) and passively (eg, scrolling social media and using existing apps preloaded to their smartphone such as Apple Health, Samsung Health, or Google Fit apps). Participants identified that the most helpful information was well-presented in terms of aesthetic appeal and layout and came from a credible and reliable source (eg, any sponsorships disclosed), and they expressed the need for the information to be relatable. Mixed views were reported for the application of lifestyle health information found online. Some participants reported behavior change, while others noted that certain advice was hard to maintain and incorporate into their lifestyle.

Conclusions: This study highlights the abundance and complexity of lifestyle health information online for adolescents. Adolescents in the digital age seek access to information that is appealing, credible, relevant, and actionable for lifestyle health behaviors. To appeal to needs of adolescents, future interventions for adolescents relating to lifestyle health must consider co-design

methodological approaches. Furthermore, the regulation of lifestyle health information available online warrants further investigation.

(JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e35165) doi:10.2196/35165

KEYWORDS

adolescents; chronic disease prevention; websites; social media; smartphone applications

Introduction

Today's adolescents, defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) as aged 10 years to 19 years, make up 16% of the global population [1]. Adolescence is a critical life stage during which a complex interplay of biological, social, and environmental factors determines the trajectory of lifestyle health behaviors into adulthood [2]. Lifestyle health behaviors and risk factors that are of great importance during adolescence are diet, physical activity, weight management, mental health, and sleep hygiene, as they are predictors of adverse health outcomes in adulthood, such as obesity and cardiovascular disease [3]. Globally, most adolescents do not meet diet or physical activity guidelines [4,5], and there has been a dramatic increase in the prevalence of overweight and obesity, jumping from 4% to over 18% in the last 40 years [6]. In Australia, very few adolescents meet guidelines for diet and physical activity [7,8], and adolescents do not get enough sleep on school nights [9]. Adolescence is an opportunistic window for establishing good lifestyle health behaviors [10]. Despite this, research priorities during adolescence are often focused on reducing other high-risk behaviors such as suicides, substance use, and sexual activity, with limited attention given to research that effectively harnesses digital technologies to target prevention of chronic diseases through lifestyle risk factor management [11,12].

Adolescents are known as "digital natives" as they have been born into a ubiquitous digital environment [13], which has grown exponentially in the last 20 years. In Australia, 94% of adolescents own a mobile phone, 95% are accessing the internet daily, and they use an average of 4 different social media platforms [14]. Previous research has shown that adolescents frequently turn to online sources such as internet websites and social media for lifestyle health information [15]. A national US survey found that adolescents are primarily looking at diet and fitness information online, with more trust placed on the internet than social media [16]. Furthermore, studies have explored how adolescents search for and appraise online health information and the extent to which they trust this information [17,18]. Furthermore, there is a constant expansion in the variety of digital platforms, including the uprise of contemporary platforms such as TikTok and Discord. As such, the current evidence base exploring the use of digital platforms to obtain information on lifestyle health behaviors is outdated. Contemporary digital platforms are a highly appealing and easily accessible way for adolescents to obtain lifestyle health information, given the increasing rates of smartphone ownership and their widespread use among adolescents for the pursuit of lifestyle health information.

As the digital health space is growing, gaps exist in our understanding of what contemporary digital platforms

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e35165
```

adolescents are using to seek this information and the barriers and facilitators of obtaining lifestyle health information on these platforms. Understanding the barriers and facilitators is crucial for governments, health organizations, researchers, and policy makers to be able to deliver appealing and effective lifestyle health promotion and support adolescents with management of chronic disease risk factors. Therefore, the aim of this study was to explore adolescent perceptions of obtaining information or advice related to lifestyle health from contemporary digital platforms.

Methods

This study adhered to the consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ) guidelines for reporting qualitative research (Multimedia Appendix 1) [19]. The study protocol was approved by the University of Sydney Human Research Ethics Committee (approval number 2020/613), and participants gave informed e-consent prior to participation.

Participants

Participants who were eligible to take part in the focus groups were aged 13 years to 18 years (inclusive). The WHO defines adolescents as 10 years to 19 years old; however, the range of 13 years to 18 years was selected to coincide with the age range of secondary education in Australia, which is a common setting for health promotion interventions by governments. Further eligibility criteria included living in Australia and having had accessed lifestyle health information online at least once in the previous 3 months. For this study, lifestyle health information referred to key behaviors and risk factors for chronic disease, namely, diet, physical activity, weight management, and sleep.

Recruitment

Participants were recruited through an existing database from a previous cross-sectional survey (Digitalize Study) [20] and known networks to the research team. The Digitalize Study was a cross-sectional survey to find out how young people (13-18 years old) search for lifestyle health information online including which digital platforms were most used, perceived helpfulness of information on digital platforms, helpfulness for positive behavior changes, and the quality of platforms' health information. Email invitations were sent with a link to the participant information sheet. All prospective participants read the participant information sheet online, provided informed e-consent, and were directed to an online survey to indicate demographic characteristics (age, gender, postcode, and language spoken at home) and how often they searched for lifestyle health information online in the previous 3 months. A 3-month time frame was chosen so that participants had up-to-date knowledge of lifestyle health information on these digital platforms. If participants had not accessed lifestyle health

XSL•FO RenderX

information in the previous 3 months, they were not able to complete the survey and therefore were not contacted to take part in the focus groups. All eligible participants were contacted via text message to confirm date and time of focus group and were emailed the secure teleconference link.

Data Collection

A semistructured discussion guide was developed by the research team based on the outcomes of the Digitalize study [20] to further explore the perceptions of obtaining and using lifestyle health information online. To assess whether the focus group questions were easy to understand and acceptable, the interview guide was piloted with 2 youth advisors who currently work with the research team. The discussion guide is provided as supplementary material (Multimedia Appendix 2).

One researcher (RR) gave a brief overview of the discussion at the commencement of the focus groups. Participants were asked about where they accessed health information online (internet websites, social media platforms, and smartphone apps), why they used online sources, what type of content they found most engaging, and any potential changes to their lifestyle behaviors as a result of applying the information they obtained online. Based off their responses, the 2 platforms of most interest to the group were discussed in more detail. Questions explored how they searched for information on these online sources, what made these sources most and least appealing, and how they judged the reliability and usefulness of the information they found.

The focus groups were conducted by 2 researchers (RR, SSJ) via videoconferencing (Zoom Video Communications Inc, San Jose, CA) at a time convenient for participants. The focus groups were led by RR, and SSJ took detailed notes for each session. Each focus group took approximately 45 minutes to complete. RR has training and previous experience in conducting focus groups and semistructured interviews. Focus groups were recorded and transcribed verbatim into Microsoft Word (Version

16.54, Microsoft 365, Microsoft Corp, Redmond, WA) by RR. Recruitment of participants for focus groups ceased when thematic saturation was reached. Participants were not contacted for further focus groups or validation of transcripts. Each participant was provided with an Aus \$20 (US \$14.26) gift voucher for participation.

Data Analysis

The framework approach was used to analyze qualitative data [21], where data are systematically searched to recognize patterns in the data and manage, analyze, and identify themes. On completion of focus groups, RR and SSJ familiarized themselves with the data and undertook thematic analysis independently. RR and SSJ developed coding labels relevant to the research question and identified emergent themes. After systematically coding all the transcripts, the research team (RR, SSJ, and SRP) discussed themes that were further developed through an iterative and reflexive process. Consensus on final themes were developed and agreed on by all researchers. Qualitative data analysis was performed using NVivo 12 (12.2.0).

Results

Participant Characteristics

Focus group attendance was confirmed by 37 participants; 5 participants did not attend the focus groups without providing a reason, leaving a total sample of 32. Participant characteristics are reported in Table 1. Participants had a mean age of 16.3 years. From the study sample, 56% (18/32) of participants identified as female, with most participants residing in New South Wales (22/32, 69%). Two-fifths (13/32, 41%) spoke a language other than English at home. Participants varied in their frequency of accessing health information online with over one-third accessing health information online 1 to 2 times a month (12/32, 38%).



Table 1. Focus group participant characteristics (n=32).

Participant characteristics	Results				
Age (years), n (%)					
13-14	4 (13)				
15-16	11 (34)				
17-18	17 (53)				
Age (years), mean (SD)	16.3 (1.4)				
Gender, n (%)					
Male	13 (41)				
Female	18 (56)				
Prefer not to say	1 (3)				
Residential state in Australia, n (%)					
New South Wales	22 (69)				
Victoria	6 (19)				
Western Australia	4 (13)				
Language spoken at home, n (%)					
English only	19 (59)				
>1 other languages spoken	13 (41)				
Frequency of accessing lifestyle health information online, n (%)					
1-2 times a month	12 (38)				
Once a week	7 (22)				
A few times a week	8 (25)				
Once a day	1 (3)				
More than once a day	4 (13)				

Themes

Overall Findings

Thematic analysis identified a complex interplay of 5 main themes relating to obtaining lifestyle health information across contemporary digital platforms (Figure 1). These 5 themes included the processes of accessing lifestyle health information online, the presentation of lifestyle health information online, the importance of credible and reliable information, having information relevant to adolescents, and perceived behavior changes from application of lifestyle health information found online. These themes emerged across the 3 digital platforms that were discussed in-depth (internet websites, social media platforms, and smartphone applications). Across different digital platforms, there were distinct similarities and differences, which are explored in detail in each theme in the next sections. Despite attempting to ascertain which type of lifestyle health content (ie, diet, physical activity, weight management, or sleep) would be most engaging to adolescents, all 5 focus groups did not have a clear emerging theme, with all aspects of lifestyle health discussed. The 5 emergent themes are discussed in detail in the following sections.



Figure 1. Conceptualization of emergent themes related to participants obtaining lifestyle health information across contemporary digital platforms.



Theme 1: Processes for Accessing Lifestyle Health Information Online

Adolescents identified internet websites and social media platforms as the top 2 sources for lifestyle health information online. However, they described the process for accessing information from these 2 sources differently. On digital platforms such as Google and YouTube, participants described actively searching for information of interest to them. Google searching for information was reported by most participants, who stated that they would only visit the first few websites that appeared in the search results. Websites that were commonly frequented by participants for health information were government-based websites and blogs. Some participants searched on YouTube for health information, especially relating to exercise and recipes.

I think that I would probably go and just do a google search honestly, and then whatever would come up there is what I would do. I don't think I'd refer to a specific website. [FG2, 18M]

For me, it's like on Google, I usually get my information from the first like 10 or 8 websites or something, like the more backdated it is like in the second or third page, I feel like it would be less relevant to me. [FG3, 17M]

Accessing health information on social media platforms was described differently as participants would passively receive information that appeared in their feed (from people who they

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e35165
```

chose to follow) or by scrolling through explore pages. Participants also identified that the information that they came across on social media platforms may have been targeted to them due to algorithms used by these platforms.

...it's not really like me actively searching up on Instagram; it's more me following like a few organizations and people like government, a few athletes, and physios and things like that. [FG4, 16F]

I don't search that much for things cause things I [want to] know, they usually just come to me on my feed because you know TikTok and Instagram, they are really customized... [FG5, 13F]

Smartphone applications were also identified by some participants as being used to access lifestyle health information. Similarly, for smartphone applications, participants mostly reported using applications that were already available on their smartphone (eg, Apple Health, Samsung Health, Google Fit) rather than searching app stores for new applications. When exploring reasons behind app usage, cost was a major factor, which supports this finding of using apps that are readily available to them.

I've [got to] say, I also use the standard health app on my phone, which is actually quite helpful cause I can track how much I exercise, how much I run, also other health-related things. [FG4, 16F]

As I said, my phone already came with the app, so I didn't look for it. [FG4, 17M]

I wouldn't spend money on an app to tell me all those things cause (sic) I can just find it on the internet. [FG4, 16F]

Theme 2: Presentation of Lifestyle Health Information Online

Participants placed a large emphasis on the importance of how lifestyle health information is presented and organized for them online to be able to easily read and to interpret the information. This included the importance of white space and the use of dot points and subheadings on websites that would make them "easy to navigate" [FG4, 17F]. They reported that, if websites were not laid out logically or in an aesthetically appealing manner, they would often look elsewhere for the same information.

I'd say like organized well, like I don't want it to have all these clunks of information that is not actually relevant to what I'm looking for...and also like, you know, have lots of like white space on the page so it's easier to interpret and like dot points. [FG1, 14M]

If the layout is really bad or like the words are all really close together, it just overwhelming to look at the website so I would be way more likely to click off. [FG2, 18F]

Another subtheme that emerged was the importance of the quality of the content. This was reported both in terms of the actual information that was being presented and the production quality of videos or posts on social media. When information was presented in a way that appeared to be high quality and aesthetically appealing, most participants reported that they found it more credible. On social media, the production of posts or videos needed to be of good quality for them to follow that person and to "dig deeper" [FG5, 13F] into the account.

It's kind of a mix of both because if I like their content, I'll probably follow them, but if they have put like no effort into their page, it kind of like throws me off because I'm the type to like aesthetic-looking stuff. [FG5, 14F]

I think the information they put out is important, but I think I'm less likely to actually follow them if the production is not as good as other people. [FG5, 15M]

Theme 3: Credible and Reliable Lifestyle Health Information Online

Nearly all participants identified that they assessed whether the health information online was credible or reliable and this was achieved differently depending on the online source. For websites, participants reported looking if the information was referenced or included a bibliography. It was also recognized that participants mostly trusted government websites and well-known health organizations, but when it came to other websites, that they would "cross check" [FG1, 18F] to see whether there was a scientific backing to the information presented. By verifying this information with other sources, this demonstrates an awareness of where credible information originates.

I think it is based off your source, but most of the government stuff is pretty good. [FG1, 17F]

I look for research papers, and if it's a government website or any sort of university and if it's a newsletter or something like that, then I try to check it twice with something else. [FG3, 17M]

I think usually when you look at information, you can just kind of judge just by the way that they're putting forward the information and also just to cross check just Google to see whether their information matches up what other people are saying majority of the time. [FG1, 18F]

On social media platforms, participants identified multiple ways they assessed whether what they saw was credible or reliable. First, participants emphasized the importance of having a person behind the account with their credentials clearly stated. Many participants also stated that if they had a blue tick, meaning that the account was verified, this would also increase their credibility. Furthermore, the follower count of the social media account was also seen to increase reliability, with more followers making them more reliable.

I think knowing more about the person behind it is useful because sometimes you will find information and you can tell that it is like really biased. It's information for sure, but it's what they want you to know, it's not really always true. So, if they could say like who they are and where they got the information, it would be a lot more trustworthy. [FG2, 17F]

Well, if I see like a tick...like that blue tick, that they're like professional, I guess, and also like if I see that they have a lot of followers, I don't know sometimes, some organizations they have [been] verified by the NSW government and things like that. [FG4, 16F]

Nearly all participants were acutely aware of sponsorships and advertising online. On social media, influencers are often paid to promote certain products or services. For most participants, if an account was constantly promoting one product, this would be a deterrent to trusting the information that they portrayed and was seen to be "off putting" [FG2, 18F]. Participants also understood that this was a way in which these accounts generated income.

I was just going to say that I think the content really matters and whether or not they're putting it out for the right reasons. I see, like sometimes, influencers, is that they are just kind of putting up information because they're getting paid to, you know, to advertise for those things. [FG1, 18F]

I think if they are constantly advocating for like 1 idea or like 1 diet or, you know, 1 product or something like that, kind of puts you off because it shows that it's like, it's not genuine, it doesn't show other sides, and then you're kind of being biased. [FG2, 17F]

If it's really pushing it and especially like Instagram and social media where it's just dedicated to that thing, to that endorsement, it's a little more off

```
https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e35165
```

putting. But you know it's how it goes, they have to do it, so if I'm good with the content that they provide otherwise, then it's OK. [FG3, 17M]

Regarding advertising on websites, participants reported the type of advertisements were important. If the advertisement was unrelated to the website itself, then the website would be seen to be unreliable. However, having advertisements in general was seen to be acceptable, and when the information was referenced correctly, they would still consider the website to be reliable.

Definitely the type of ads, like if I see something that I'm like no that's not right, I'll probably get off the website as soon as like I see it. [FG5, 14F]

Just the ads doesn't really deduct from the website for me, cause for me, it's like if they cross reference it with at least one or two sites, like the first three sites no matter how un-user friendly they are if they say the same thing, then I just take that away from it. [FG3, 17M]

Another subtheme that was identified was that some participants assessed other people's comments on social media posts to see other opinions about whether the information that was presented was reliable. Likewise, when assessing mobile applications that they would potentially download, some participants looked at reviews on app stores to see whether other people thought the app was helpful for them.

I do go to the comments every single video or pretty much that I'm interested in to see what other people think about it, not for information purposes but sort of to see what other people's opinion on that particular post is. [FG5, 15M]

I would also definitely look at the reviews and not just what the reviews say but the amount of the reviews, how many people access the app, how many people say this or that, that kind of thing. [FG4, 16F]

Theme 4: Lifestyle Health Information Relevant to Adolescents

Most participants reported that searching for health information online was convenient. Participants reported online information as being easy to access, readily available, and regularly updated. Also, many participants reported that they accessed lifestyle health information from a variety of sources to compare the information themselves rather than seeing a health professional, which takes time and money and they may not provide the extent of information that can be found online.

Mainly because it's very accessible and just easy to access, very like fast, just search it up, and you basically have an answer. Um, also, I guess, you can find people who are going through similar situations, like same age group just people that are, who you can relate to, and I think that's generally where you can get a lot of advice from. [FG4, 16F]

I think because it's always like updated, whereas if you've got like an out-of-date leaflet or something, it might not be relevant. [FG1, 18F]

https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e35165

I definitely think it's easier to look it up online because then you just get a bigger range of answers as well like if you go to a doctor, they normally just give you one straight answer. [FG2, 18F]

When referring to social media specifically, many participants reported following accounts that were relatable. For an account to be relatable, they had to engage frequently with their followers in terms of posts or stories and have lifestyle health information and advice that would be easy to implement into their own lives. Also, it was recognized that the person behind the account was important in terms of relatability, due to a sense of familiarity. This did depend on the size of their existing following, with smaller accounts being favored as they were more likely to respond and engage with followers, whereas larger accounts were viewed as more reliable.

I'll generally follow accounts that like I can relate to so I can kind of use their posts in my own life. [FG2, 18F]

You can also find people who are in the same position as you like, for example people who are the same age...and it's really easy to see if their lifestyle, like you can take something from that so that's definitely been really helpful for me. [FG4, 16F]

I feel like you can, you know, you can build a better relationship and get familiar with what they do on social media and if they are also influencing you in fitness, etc, you follow that. [FG3, 17M]

Something like lifestyle, for example, I definitely go for the people who have less followers, if it's specifically like workout videos I tend to go for the big names like Chloe Ting or those sort of ones. [FG3, 17F]

Websites were often reported by participants as being too generalized and therefore were sometimes viewed as unrelatable and unhelpful for obtaining health information. Some participants identified that the information may not be specifically directed toward young people or in line with what they were wanting to achieve in terms of their personal goals. It was also identified that they had visited websites that provided a large variety of information but not enough detail; therefore, they were unable to make a judgement of whether that information would be relevant to them.

I think sort of just having information that is like more relevant to you. I know that a lot of the sort of diet information that I find on the internet, it's more sort of geared towards adults. [FG3, 17F]

For just general health and stuff, I find the government websites pretty lackluster, like they kind of just go through the motions and give the minimum information, so like, for what I'm interested in with training, the government websites aren't that great. [FG5, 15M]

Sometimes, it's just like you're not there for a really wordy essay, for example, like you guys are professionals but please make it understandable for us, you know, you're not trying to show off your skills,

you're trying to provide information that is useful and understandable. [FG3, 16M]

Theme 5: Perceived Behavior Changes Based on Online Lifestyle Health Information

When regarding behavior change from online health information, participants reported a mixed variety of personal effectiveness. Some participants reported making changes based on information that they had seen online, including dietary changes such as restricting calories and physical activity changes including trying specific workouts that were not effective for them and subsequently viewed these behavioral changes negatively. As the behavioral changes were viewed undesirably, the changes were not sustained long term. Contrary to this, other participants reported making changes such as intermittent fasting and increasing total sleep time, which were viewed by participants as positive changes. It is important to note that, for some lifestyle changes, some of the participants viewed these positively, and others viewed them negatively, demonstrating the complexities of lifestyle health information and how individual preference also plays an important role. Furthermore, some participants outlined desire to make changes; however, the information that they found was "too hard to integrate" [FG4, 17F] or "doesn't last a very long time" [FG4, 16F].

I saw something online about like how much you should be eating...a day, and I severely restricted my like caloric intake, and I noticed, like, straight away that that in it had an impact. [FG3, 17F]

When I found this out about intermittent fasting, it just sort of like suited me better than what the government guidelines tell you. [FG1, 18F]

I googled how much sleep someone of my age should be getting, and it turns out it was a lot more...than what I was getting, so I try to go to bed a bit earlier and try to wake up a bit later each day. [FG2, 14F]

Additional quotes for all themes are listed in Textbox 1.



Textbox 1. Quotes illustrating participants' experiences related to obtaining lifestyle health information online.

Theme 1. Process for accessing lifestyle health information online

- "I guess I wouldn't go to like Instagram or Facebook to look up health stuff but if it comes up on there, then I might like read it." [FG1, 17F]
- "I don't really like go on social media for like health info, but when I like scroll on Facebook and I see like news articles or like advice, I just click on the link if I'm interested, and if it's helpful, then I will just keep reading." [FG1, 18M]
- "I think that the majority of the information I find is accidental...so it's just stuff that I come across...on social media platforms. Most notably, Instagram because of the explore feature and like its content that is tailored to you." [FG3, 15F]
- "I feel like for us, like teenagers, there aren't as many people going on websites ... being regularly would more be like the accounts on Instagram." [FG5, 15M]
- "I guess for day-to-day info would be social media, but I would trace that if I actually get interested in it and go look at backup research on google or like a research facility who have done research on it." [FG3, 17M]
- "I think it's kind of a waste of money, like when you can get the exact same thing for free, and it's not like I really need it cause I'm like only 15." [FG5, 15M]
- "I use the health app as well, it kind of just tracks my sleep and steps and everything because I usually have my phone on me wherever I go." [FG5, 14F]

Theme 2. Presentation of lifestyle health information online

- "Some of the websites, they [are] just really convoluted and confusing, so if it's the first one that pops up but it's confusing, I will just like go to another one." [FG1, 18F]
- "I really like the pages that just kind of just sum all the points up like when they speak really, you know, sophisticated, it like, it allows you to trust what they are saying. I also like it when they sum it up at the end in just real simple English so it's straight to the point." [FG2, 16F]
- "If there's like...subheadings within the website or like the answer to it is straightforward rather than in like big paragraphs, because like I wouldn't be likely to read that and in dot points would be even easier." [FG3, 17M]
- "Yeah sorry, like headings and it being like scientific, so it is reliable but not um too scientific that we don't understand what is going on." [FG3, 18F]
- "A lot of the people who I'm like friends with, they would follow the person as well. And then like, just seeing their content, I kind of go through it, like if they're professional, you can [kind of] tell, and like they have it in their bios." [FG5, 14F]
- "The, um, production has to be eye catching for me to actually sort of dig a bit deeper into their account, but otherwise if the content is good, then I'll follow them." [FG5, 13F]
- "If they have consistently posted the same sort of content. Not necessarily about the same issue per se but like just if they have got a consistent amount of information like at least 30 posts, if it's something that I can sort of have a look through." [FG3, 15F]
- "It's definitely good if they do have a nice aesthetic side to it, but the content has to be like pretty clear and concise." [FG5, 13F]

Theme 3. Credible and reliable lifestyle health information online

- "Normally, if there is a verified tick or someone like known that's more trustworthy in that area, in health. So, it's like, if there is someone new with barely any followers...then it makes it less likely for you to follow that person." [FG3, 17M]
- "I just go back to the same ones if I find something useful or if it's helped me, I'll tend to go back to it because I know it's reliable and I've had a good experience with it." [FG3, 16M]
- "Usually, it's sort of based on the quality of the website because usually if it is based... and it looks nice they are sort of putting effort into it, and if it looks dodgy, then it's probably not going to be as credible." [FG3, 15F]
- "I just think the ah, the idea of having something government certified, and I think a clear distinction between advice and information." [FG4, 17M]
- "It's quite hard to sift through things that are unbiased, especially on the internet, especially with influencers as well when they are paid." [FG2, 18F]
- "I also agree with the sponsorship thing because when I found out some of the sponsorships, that's when I realized that some of this information it wasn't...like true, it was just because they were being paid to say that." [FG2, 14F]
- "Another thing that I do sometimes is before I download it, some people leave comments on App Store, which can actually end up being pretty helpful...and then if I think I don't want it anymore, I just don't download it." [FG5, 14F]

Theme 4. Lifestyle health information relevant to adolescents

- "I do it because a lot of the times, I feel like the health advice I'm trying to find is when a problem isn't that big of a deal, so I don't think it's worth going to someone like important." [FG2, 14F]
- "And it's also like having to see a person in real life is more daunting than actually searching up information for yourself." [FG3, 17M]

• "I would often go to an influencer even knowing that their information may not be as trustworthy just for the convenience aspect." [FG5, 15M]

- "I say when you talk about the engaging part, social media really takes the lead there because the type of video they make is captivating and the target audience can always be found." [FG3, 17M]
- "When it comes to diet information, I don't really find it helpful because um, because often the diet information is only helpful for like one specific type of group and it's like, it's hard to find something that is directed towards me." [FG2, 14F]
- "So, maybe if there's a government or some other organization released like a bunch of websites that they think would be really useful and then you could check them out and like maybe get feedback from young people to see which websites they like and things like that, that would definitely help." [FG4, 16F]

Theme 5. Perceived behavior changes based on online lifestyle health information

- "So, in high school, we were always told, oh you have to have 3 meals a day, and I feel like that didn't really suit my lifestyle, but then when I found this out about intermittent fasting, it just sort of like suited me better than what the government guidelines tell you." [FG1, 18F]
- "There is this documentary on YouTube called Dominon, and I watched probably only the first 20 minutes, and it's made me vegan for 2 years so far. It was like, yeah it showed you like a complete other different side to the information that's on the internet, and so yeah, it kind of did make a big change in my life." [FG2, 17F]
- "There was this craze about like skipping for fitness, and it was like... I tried it for a bit, and I didn't really have any results, so I stopped doing it." [FG3, 17M]
- "I saw some different posts and things like TikTok things on Instagram of bad side effects of drinking dairy, so it was one of the factors that made me not drink dairy anymore." [FG3, 15F]
- "With most of the things I see, it's either too hard to integrate for myself or I already do it, so I wouldn't say that I do anything specific that I've seen online." [FG4, 17F]

Discussion

Principal Findings

Overall, this qualitative study provides strong insight from adolescents into the barriers and facilitators of accessing and using lifestyle health information on contemporary digital platforms. To our knowledge, this study is among the first to explore adolescents' perceptions on their use of these contemporary digital platforms to obtain information and advice about lifestyle health. The results demonstrate that adolescents' methods for searching for lifestyle health information differ across online platforms, with active searching for information across platforms such as Google and YouTube and passive receiving of information across other social media including Facebook, Instagram, TikTok, and Twitter. Furthermore, adolescents desired information to be well-presented, credible, and relevant to them. The findings from this study can be used to inform future research into the development of effective online lifestyle health promotion strategies and interventions for adolescents.

Comparison With Prior Work

Previous research has shown that nearly 63% of adolescents use online information broadly to maintain a healthy lifestyle [22]. Many previous studies assessed online information as a whole, without differentiating between online platforms (eg, websites, social media). Our findings from this study appear consistent with previous research regarding the processes that adolescents use to search for health information online; however, this study elicited new findings across the different contemporary digital platforms. From an adolescent perspective, it is apparent why social media is favored over websites when it comes to lifestyle health information. Social media is a common feature in many adolescents' everyday lives, with mobile devices making access to social media more frequent and personalized [23]. Features available on social media platforms, such as Instagram stories and turning on notification features for favorite accounts, allow content to be highly engaging and of higher production quality. These features increased the perceived credibility of the account by adolescents and allow adolescents to curate who they follow on social media and thereby ensure that the information that they are digesting is relevant to them.

Processes used to search for lifestyle health information by adolescents included searching for information on websites and both actively and passively using social media platforms [17,22]. The passive nature of information exchange on social media is potentially increasing due to the increasing amount of targeted advertising across different social media platforms. In 2021, social media advertising was projected to reach Aus \$199 million (US \$21.7 million), which is a growth of 4.9% [24]. Users now have less control over the information content within their social media feeds [25]. A study by Hausmann et al [15] suggested only 25% of adolescents agreed that social media could help them obtain useful health information, despite almost ubiquitous use of social media among adolescents. In this study, participants identified several barriers to ascertain whether information on social media was useful. Such barriers included the use of sponsorships and advertising by companies and influencers on social media and the targeted nature of information due to algorithms employed on these platforms. eHealth literacy is the ability to seek, find, evaluate and appraise, integrate, and apply information to solve a health problem in an electronic environment [26]. eHealth literacy was not assessed as part of this study; however, adolescents demonstrated awareness of broad social media advertising and sponsorship strategies. Evaluations of eHealth literacy in the

XSL•FO RenderX

context of contemporary digital platforms warrant further investigation.

Co-design is widely used in the development of eHealth interventions to increase their acceptability and effectiveness among adolescent populations, as they are particularly hard to engage [27,28]. This same methodology can be applied to the development of online health information to increase its appeal in terms of organization of information and relevance to adolescents. A previous systematic review of Australian websites found that very few websites were written specifically for adolescents and none were found to be excellent quality, interactive, and written in plain English [29]. This finding was also demonstrated in our study, with adolescents reporting that information found on websites was often too hard to understand, too difficult navigate, or not relevant to them. To ensure that information is presented in a format that adolescents understand and is relevant to them, co-design of online health information with adolescents could be utilized to increase its acceptability and effectiveness in management of chronic disease risk factors.

The digital space is highly unregulated, and this challenges the credibility of online health information. Due to the rise in user-generated content on digital platforms and popularity of using social media to access lifestyle health information, it is becoming increasingly difficult to regulate digital content, with authors often unidentifiable [30]. As explored in this study, participants reported a preference for "a face behind the account" and being clearly able to see their qualifications in the biography section of their profile to increase credibility and trust in the account. Furthermore, adolescents are acutely aware of advertising and sponsorships within content across social media platforms. The WHO has recognized the influence of food marketing as detrimental to children in many countries. Although regulations have been put in place surrounding advertising to children in Australia (aged 0-14 years) [31], regulations around the world rarely address adolescents [32]. This is despite an increase of more than US \$400 million spend on advertising between 2012 and 2019 by the fast food industry targeting children and adolescents [33]. Social media platforms are commercial companies with advertising as their sole generation of income [34]. Currently, there are minimal laws surrounding advertising on social media in Australia, particularly sponsored posts [35]. For example, advertising of weight loss products in Australia must be truthful, accurate, and not mislead consumers [36], but this does not apply to sponsorships. It is important to note that adolescents currently have access to what they perceive as both helpful and harmful lifestyle health information online. Through the addition of regulation and legislation around these areas, there is the capability to make information more useful and credible and potentially lead to behavior change that is helpful for the prevention of chronic

disease while also causing minimal harm. Therefore, the regulation of advertising toward adolescents is a challenging space, and further research is required to explore the influence of advertising on contemporary digital platforms toward lifestyle health behaviors of adolescents.

Strengths and Limitations

This qualitative study has several strengths as well as limitations. We were able to recruit a diverse sample of adolescents to take part in this study, including 41% of participants who spoke a language other than English at home and from different states throughout Australia. Also, this qualitative study is among the first to provide insights into perceived barriers and facilitators of lifestyle health information on contemporary digital platforms, allowing opinions and thoughts to be gathered from the target population. However, it should be emphasized that, as this study was advertised and took place virtually, it may limit the generalizability of the findings to adolescents with higher eHealth literacy skills. For this study, we did not capture data on the eHealth literacy skills of participants. It is possible that groups with lower eHealth literacy may also offer useful insights into their perceptions of online lifestyle health information.

Recommendations for Development of Online Lifestyle Health Information

Considering the findings from this qualitative study and previous research, a series of recommendations has been developed regarding the development of online lifestyle health information to ensure relevancy, appeal, and engagement for adolescents:

- Employ co-design of lifestyle health information with adolescents for contemporary digital platforms.
- Conduct further research into the regulation of online lifestyle health information for adolescents.
- Consider the eHealth literacy level of adolescents in the development of online lifestyle health information for contemporary digital platforms.

Conclusions

In summary, this study highlights the abundance and complexity of online lifestyle health information available to adolescents, which is exponentially growing across contemporary digital platforms. Adolescents in this study reported wanting access to information that was credible, appealing, and relevant to them. To develop effective online lifestyle health promotion strategies and interventions, future research should include co-design of information with adolescents and consider their eHealth literacy levels. Furthermore, the influence of advertising on contemporary digital platforms and regulations around this warrants further investigation.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge Ms Nicole Halim, Mr Matthew Armstrong, Ms Mariam Mandoh, Professor Philayrath Phongsavan, Ms Anna Singleton, and Dr Karice Hyun for their contribution to the cross-sectional study design and analysis, which informed this study.

RR is supported by a University of Sydney Postgraduate Research Scholarship in Digital Health, Youth and Nutrition. SSJ is supported by a University Postgraduate Award Scholarship. JR is supported by a National Health and Medical Research Council Career Development Fellowship [APP1143538]. SRP is supported by a National Health and Medical Research Council and National Heart Foundation Early Career Fellowship [APP1157438].

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

Multimedia Appendix 1 Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ) checklist. [DOCX File , 20 KB - pediatrics v5i1e35165 app1.docx]

Multimedia Appendix 2

Supplementary File 2: Focus Group Discussion Guide – Digitalize Study. [DOCX File , 43 KB - pediatrics_v5i1e35165_app2.docx]

References

- 1. Adolescents overview. UNICEF. 2019 Oct. URL: <u>https://data.unicef.org/topic/adolescents/overview/</u> [accessed 2022-02-04]
- 2. The adolescent brain: a second window of opportunity. UNICEF. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/</u> adolescent brain a second window of opportunity a compendium.pdf [accessed 2022-02-04]
- Nagata JM, Ganson KT, Liu J, Gooding HC, Garber AK, Bibbins-Domingo K. Adolescent body mass index and health outcomes at 24-year follow-up: a prospective cohort study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2021 Jun 29;77(25):3229-3231 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2021.04.071] [Medline: 34167649]
- 4. UNICEF. The State of the World's Children: Children, food and nutrition: growing well in a changing world. 2019. URL: https://www.unicef.org/reports/state-of-worlds-children-2019 [accessed 2022-02-04]
- 5. Guthold R, Stevens G, Riley L, Bull F. Global trends in insufficient physical activity among adolescents: a pooled analysis of 298 population-based surveys with 1.6 million participants. The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health 2020 Jan;4(1):23-35 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/s2352-4642(19)30323-2]
- 6. Obesity and overweight. World Health Organization. 2021 Jun 09. URL: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight</u> [accessed 2022-02-04]
- 7. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Health Survey: Nutrition and Physical Activity 2011-12. 2013. URL: <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/health-conditions-and-risks/australian-health-survey-physical-activity/latest-release</u> [accessed 2022-02-07]
- 8. National Health Survey: First Results. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2017. URL: <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/</u> <u>health-conditions-and-risks/national-health-survey-first-results/latest-release</u> [accessed 2022-02-04]
- 9. Australian teens not getting enough sleep. Australian Government. 2019 Dec 3. URL: <u>https://aifs.gov.au/media-releases/</u> <u>australian-teens-not-getting-enough-sleep</u> [accessed 2022-02-04]
- Sawyer SM, Azzopardi PS, Wickremarathne D, Patton GC. The age of adolescence. Lancet Child Adolesc Health 2018 Mar;2(3):223-228. [doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(18)30022-1] [Medline: 30169257]
- 11. Akseer N, Mehta S, Wigle J, Chera R, Brickman ZJ, Al-Gashm S, et al. Non-communicable diseases among adolescents: current status, determinants, interventions and policies. BMC Public Health 2020 Dec 14;20(1):1908 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09988-5] [Medline: 33317507]
- Hargreaves D, Mates E, Menon P, Alderman H, Devakumar D, Fawzi W, et al. Strategies and interventions for healthy adolescent growth, nutrition, and development. The Lancet 2022 Jan;399(10320):198-210. [doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(21)01593-2]
- 13. Lusk B. Digital natives and social media behavior: an overview. The Prevention Researcher 2010:173-176. [doi: 10.1037/e510232011-001]
- 14. Digital lives of Aussie teens. eSafety Commissioner. URL: <u>https://www.esafety.gov.au/research/digital-lives-aussie-teens</u> [accessed 2022-02-04]
- Hausmann JS, Touloumtzis C, White MT, Colbert JA, Gooding HC. Adolescent and young adult use of social media for health and its implications. J Adolesc Health 2017 Jun;60(6):714-719 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.12.025] [Medline: 28259620]
- 16. Wartella E, Rideout V, Montague H, Beaudoin-Ryan L, Lauricella A. Teens, health and technology: a national survey. MaC 2016 Jun 16;4(3):13-23. [doi: 10.17645/mac.v4i3.515]
- 17. Freeman JL, Caldwell PHY, Bennett PA, Scott KM. How adolescents search for and appraise online health information: a systematic review. J Pediatr 2018 Apr;195:244-255.e1. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2017.11.031] [Medline: 29398062]
- 18. Freeman JL, Caldwell PHY, Scott KM. The role of trust when adolescents search for and appraise online health information. J Pediatr 2020 Jun;221:215-223.e5. [doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.02.074] [Medline: 32446485]

- Tong A, Sainsbury P, Craig J. Consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research (COREQ): a 32-item checklist for interviews and focus groups. Int J Qual Health Care 2007 Dec;19(6):349-357. [doi: <u>10.1093/intqhc/mzm042</u>] [Medline: <u>17872937</u>]
- 20. Armstrong M, Halim NK, Raeside R, Jia SS, Hyun K, Boroumand F, et al. How helpful and what is the quality of digital sources of healthy lifestyle information used by Australian adolescents? A mixed methods study. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021 Dec 06;18(23):12844 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph182312844] [Medline: 34886569]
- Gale NK, Heath G, Cameron E, Rashid S, Redwood S. Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. BMC Med Res Methodol 2013 Sep 18;13:117 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-13-117] [Medline: 24047204]
- 22. Kang M, Robards F, Sanci L, Steinbeck K, Jan S, Hawke C, et al. project protocol: young people and health system navigation in the digital age: a multifaceted, mixed methods study. BMJ Open 2017 Aug 07;7(8):e017047 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017047] [Medline: 28790044]
- 23. Swist T, Collin P, McCormack J, Third A. Social media and the wellbeing of children and young people: A literature review. Commissioner for Children and Young People Western Australia. 2015 Jul. URL: <u>https://www.westernsydney.edu.au/</u> <u>data/assets/pdf_file/0019/930502/Social_media_and_children_and_young_people.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-02-04]
- 24. Social Media Advertising. Statista. URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/outlook/dmo/digital-advertising/social-media-advertising/worldwide?currency=AUD</u> [accessed 2022-02-04]
- 25. Oremus W. Who Controls Your Facebook Feed. The Slate Group. 2016 Jan. URL: <u>http://www.slate.com/articles/technology/</u> <u>cover_story/2016/01/how_facebook_s_news_feed_algorithm_works.html</u> [accessed 2022-02-04]
- 26. Norman CD, Skinner HA. eHealth literacy: essential skills for consumer health in a networked world. J Med Internet Res 2006 Jun 16;8(2):e9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.8.2.e9] [Medline: 16867972]
- 27. Colditz JB, Woods MS, Primack B. Adolescents Seeking Online Health Information: Topics, Approaches, and Challenges. In: Moreno MA, Radovic A, editors. Technology and Adolescent Mental Health. Cham, Switzerland: Springer; 2018:21-35.
- 28. Raeside R, Partridge SR, Singleton A, Redfern J. Cardiovascular disease prevention in adolescents: eHealth, co-creation, and advocacy. Med Sci (Basel) 2019 Feb 24;7(2):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/medsci7020034] [Medline: 30813490]
- Ruan S, Raeside R, Singleton A, Redfern J, Partridge SR. Limited engaging and interactive online health information for adolescents: a systematic review of Australian websites. Health Commun 2021 May;36(6):764-773. [doi: 10.1080/10410236.2020.1712522] [Medline: 31964190]
- 30. Moorhead SA, Hazlett DE, Harrison L, Carroll JK, Irwin A, Hoving C. A new dimension of health care: systematic review of the uses, benefits, and limitations of social media for health communication. J Med Internet Res 2013 Apr 23;15(4):e85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1933] [Medline: 23615206]
- 31. Self-Regulation: Children's Advertising Code. The Australian Association of National Advertisers. URL: <u>https://aana.com.au/self-regulation/codes-guidelines/aana-code-for-advertising-marketing-communications-to-children/</u> [accessed 2022-02-04]
- 32. World HO. Marketing of unhealthy foods and drinks. World Health Organization Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean. URL: <u>http://www.emro.who.int/nutrition/marketing-of-unhealthy-foods/index.html</u> [accessed 2022-02-04]
- Harris JL, Fleming-Milici F, Phaneuf L, Jensen M, Choi YY, McCann M. Fast food advertising: Billions in spending, continued high exposure by youth. UConn Rudd Center for Food Policy & Obesity. 2021 Jun. URL: <u>https://media.</u> <u>ruddcenter.uconn.edu/PDFs/FACTS2021.pdf</u> [accessed 2022-02-04]
- 34. McFarlane G. How Facebook (Meta), Twitter, Social Media Make Money From You. Investopedia. 2021 Nov 04. URL: https://www.investopedia.com/stock-analysis/032114/how-facebook-twitter-social-media-make-money-you-twtr-lnkd-fb-goog. aspx [accessed 2022-02-04]
- 35. Social media. Australian Competition & Consumer Commission. URL: <u>https://tinyurl.com/2p9cav2x</u> [accessed 2022-02-04]
- 36. What restrictions are there for advertising weight loss products? Legal Vision. URL: <u>https://legalvision.com.au/q-and-a/</u> <u>what-restrictions-are-there-for-advertising-weight-loss-products/</u> [accessed 2022-02-04]

Abbreviations

COREQ: consolidated criteria for reporting qualitative research **WHO:** World Health Organization



PMID:35147506

Edited by S Badawy; submitted 23.11.21; peer-reviewed by J Freeman, M Vajravelu; comments to author 15.12.21; revised version received 17.12.21; accepted 03.01.22; published 11.02.22. <u>Please cite as:</u> Raeside R, Jia SS, Redfern J, Partridge SR Navigating the Online World of Lifestyle Health Information: Qualitative Study With Adolescents JMIR Pediatr Parent 2022;5(1):e35165 URL: https://pediatrics.jmir.org/2022/1/e35165 doi:10.2196/35165

©Rebecca Raeside, Si Si Jia, Julie Redfern, Stephanie R Partridge. Originally published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting (https://pediatrics.jmir.org), 11.02.2022. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Pediatrics and Parenting, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on https://pediatrics.jmir.org, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

